
 
County Offices 

Newland 
Lincoln 

LN1 1YL 
 

19 January 2022 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 
 

A meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Management Board will be held on Thursday, 27 
January 2022 at 10.00 am in the Council Chamber, County Offices, Newland, Lincoln LN1 1YL 
for the transaction of the business set out on the attached Agenda.  
 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
Debbie Barnes OBE 
Chief Executive 
 
 
Membership of the Overview and Scrutiny Management Board (11 Members of the Council 
and 3 Added Members) 
 
Councillors R B Parker (Chairman), T J N Smith (Vice-Chairman), Mrs J Brockway, P M Dilks, 
A M Hall, R J Kendrick, C S Macey, C E H Marfleet, N H Pepper, E W Strengiel and R Wootten 
 
Added Members 
 
Church Representative: Reverend P A Johnson 
 
Parent Governor Representatives: Mrs M R Machin and Miss A E I Sayer 
 

Public Document Pack





OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD AGENDA 
THURSDAY, 27 JANUARY 2022 
 
 
Item Title 

 
Pages  

1  Apologies for Absence/Replacement Members  
 

 

2  Declarations of Interest  
 

 

3  Minutes of the meeting held on 25 November 2021  
 

5 - 22 

4  Minutes of the meeting held on 16 December 2021  
 

23 - 34 

5  Announcements by the Chairman, Executive Councillors and Chief 
Officers  
 

 

6  Consideration of Call-Ins  
 

 

7  Consideration of Councillor Calls for Action  
 

 

8  Service Revenue and Capital Budget Proposals 2022/23  
(To receive a report by Keith Noyland (Head of Finance (Communities)), 
which invites the Board to consider a report on the  service revenue and 
capital budget proposals for 2022/23, which is due to be presented to 
the Executive on 8 February 2021. The views of the Board will be 
reported to the Executive as part of their consideration of this item) 
 

35 - 44 

9  Council Budget 2022/23  
(To receive a report by Michelle Grady (Assistant Director – Finance), 
which invites the Board to consider a report on the Council Budget 
2022/23, which is due to be presented to the Executive on 8 February 
2022. The views of the Board will be presented to the Executive as part 
of their consideration of this item) 
 

45 - 98 

10  Performance of the Corporate Support Services Contract  
(To receive a report by Sophie Reeve (Assistant Director – Commercial), 
and Arnd Hobohm (Serco Contract Manager), which provides an update 
of Serco's performance against contractual Key Performance Indicators 
specified in the Corporate Support Services Contract between August 
and December 2021) 
 

99 - 106 

11  Scrutiny Committee Work Programmes  
(To receive a report which sets out the work programmes of the 
Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee and the Public 
Protection and Communities Scrutiny Committee in accordance with the 
Board's agreed programme) 
 
 
 

107 - 120 



ITEMS FOR INFORMATION ONLY  
 

 

12  Overview and Scrutiny Management Board Work Programme  
(To receive a report which enables the Board to note the content of its 
work programme for the coming year) 
 

121 - 136 

13  Local Transport Plan  
(To receive a report which enables the Board to note the contents of the 
Local Transport Plan report, prior to its consideration by the Executive 
on the 8 February 2022) 
 

137 - 338 

 

 
 
 

Democratic Services Officer Contact Details  
 
Name: Emily Wilcox 

 
Direct Dial 07557 486687 

 
E Mail Address emily.wilcox@lincolnshire.gov.uk 

 

Please note:  for more information about any of the following please contact the 
Democratic Services Officer responsible for servicing this meeting 
 

 Business of the meeting 

 Any special arrangements 

 Copies of reports 
 
Contact details set out above. 
 
Please note: This meeting will be broadcast live on the internet and access can be 
sought by accessing Agenda for Overview and Scrutiny Management Board on 
Thursday, 27th January, 2022, 10.00 am (moderngov.co.uk) 
 
All papers for council meetings are available on: 
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/council-business/search-committee-records 
 

 

https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=553&MId=6211&Ver=4
https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=553&MId=6211&Ver=4
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/council-business/search-committee-records


  1 

 
 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT 

BOARD 
 25 NOVEMBER 2021 

 

PRESENT:  COUNCILLOR R B PARKER (CHAIRMAN) 
 
Councillors T Smith (Vice-Chairman), Mrs J Brockway, P M Dilks, R J Kendrick, C S Macey, 
C E H Marfleet, N H Pepper, R Wootten, Dr M E Thompson and A M Hall 
 
Added Members 
 
Parent Governor Representatives: Miss A E I Sayer 
 
Councillor H Spratt attended the meeting as an observer 
 
Councillors M J Hill OBE, PA Skinner, M Whittington and S Woolley attended the meeting as 
observers via Microsoft Teams.  
 
Officers in attendance:- 
 
Debbie Barnes OBE (Chief Executive), Andrew Crookham (Executive Director Resources), 
James Drury (Executive Director Commercial), Brendan Gallagher (Principal Planning Officer 
– Infrastructure), Michelle Grady (Assistant Director – Finance), Tracy Johnson (Senior 
Scrutiny Officer), Sue Maycock (Head of Finance (Corporate)), Nigel West (Head of 
Democratic Services and Statutory Scrutiny Officer) and Emily Wilcox (Democratic Services 
Officer) 
 
Officers in attendance via Microsoft Teams: Pam Clipson (Head of Finance, Adult Care and 
Community Wellbeing), Caroline Jackson (Head of Corporate Performance), Andrew McLean 
(Assistant Director - Transformation), Keith Noyland (Head of Finance - Communities), Mark 
Popplewell (Head of Finance (Children's Services)), Heather Sandy (Executive Director of 
Children's Services), Karen Tonge (Treasury Manager) 
 
68     APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE/REPLACEMENT MEMBERS 

 
Apologies for absence had been received from Councillor E W Strengiel and Megan Machin 
(Parent Governor Representative).  
 
It was reported that, under Regulation 13 of the Local Government (Committee and Political 
Groups) Regulations 1990, Councillor Dr M E Thompson had been appointed as a 
replacement for Councillor E W Strengiel and Councillor A M Hall had been appointed as a 
replacement for the Conservative Vacancy, for this meeting only.  
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



2 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD 
25 NOVEMBER 2021 
 
69     DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
There were no declarations of interest at this point in the meeting.  
 
70     MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 28 OCTOBER 2021 

 
In relation to the minutes, it was questioned whether the increase in slips, trips and falls had 
any correlation to the fact that the Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue Service had continued to 
work throughout the pandemic.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
 That minutes of the meeting held on 28 October be approved as a  correct record and 
signed by the Chairman.   
  
 
71     ANNOUNCEMENTS BY THE CHAIRMAN, EXECUTIVE COUNCILLORS AND CHIEF 

OFFICERS 
 

With great sadness the Chairman announced the passing of Councillor Bob Adams, who had 
been the Chairman of the Highways and Transport Scrutiny Committee and a member of the 
Board since 17 May 2019.  The Board held a minute’s silence in honour of Councillor Adams.  
 
The Leader of the Council informed the Board that there had been an announcement on the 
Adult Care Reform which would have dramatic changes for Lincolnshire County Council (LCC) 
as the authority responsible for Adult Care. The three year budget settlement from the 
Chancellor had proposed levels of caps on council tax and extra money for local government 
which was expected to be taken up by the extra costs, but this would be dealt within the 
budget process. It was expected that councils would receive their settlement figures on 13 
December 2021. A further update would be provided when details had been announced.  
  
In relation to a white paper for Devolution , an announcement was expected before 
Christmas, which would set out any proposed future plans for Devolution  and Levelling Up.  
 
72     CONSIDERATION OF CALL-INS 

 
 
None had been received. 
 
73     CONSIDERATION OF COUNCILLOR CALLS FOR ACTION 

 
None had been received. 
 
 
 
 

Page 6



3 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD 

25 NOVEMBER 2021 
 

74     CORPORATE PLAN SUCCESS FRAMEWORK 2021/22 - AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2021 
 

The Executive Director – Commercial introduced the report and highlighted the work that 
had been carried out to improve and support the delivery of the Corporate Plan Success 
Framework, including the introduction of Power BI which was part of the Microsoft suite of 
programmes which has allowed the Council to better understand and analyse data.   
  
The Head of Corporate Performance then invited the Board to consider the report on the 
2021/2022 Corporate Plan performance as at 30 September 2021, which would be 
presented to the Executive on 07 December 2021.  The report also set out the performance 
of the service level performance indicator for 2021/22 Quarter 2 that was within the remit of 
the Board.  
 
Of the 36 activities with milestones due to be reported, eight were ahead of plan and 28 
were on plan.  
 
There had been significant changes with the types of KPI being used in the reporting of the 
Corporate Plan, in particular a focus on measures which were ‘for context’ which meant that 
the delivery activity relating to these measures may not be within the direct control of the 
Council, but were a way of understanding the progress needed to achieve wider ambitions 
for the residents, communities, businesses and visitors of Lincolnshire.  
 
It was hoped that the change would enable future iterations of the reporting to be 
developed with Executive Councillors and for agreement to be reached on which, if any, of 
the context measures require ambitions to be set in order to support targeted change.  
 
Of the KPIs reported, six could be compared with a target that had been set for Quarter 2. Of 
the six KPI’s that were comparable, there was one KPI that had not met its target - 
Percentage of people who are unemployed (PI 11). Details were set out within the report.  
 
The Board was advised that Covid-19 had impacted a number of the KPI’s, namely schools 
Ofsted rating as inspections were ceased during the Covid period. In addition, a number of 
KPIs were not able to be recorded as a result of Covid-19 and in particular because 
educational attainment data had not been released.  
 
The relevant performance data had been updated on the Council’s website to provide the 
public with a more accessible account of performance information across the Council.  The 
Board received a short demonstration of the website.  
 
The Board considered the report and during the discussion, the following points were noted:  
 

 In relation to the Government’s financial settlement, it was announced in October 
2021 that £4.8bn would be spread fairly evenly over the three years of the spending 
review period. There were some specific funding announcements such as around 
supporting families and cyber security, and once these had been taken into account, 

Page 7



4 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD 
25 NOVEMBER 2021 
 

the remaining amount was around £1.4bn. The Council usually received around 1% of 
the national funding announcement which would equate to about £14m.  

 There were numerous cost pressures facing the Council, which included Adult Care 
cost pressures of between £7m and £9m per year, increase in inflation which was 
expected to peak at around 5% in 2022, and the potential ending of the public sector 
pay freeze. In addition, the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local 
Government had recently started to indicate potential changes such as moving away 
from the localised business rates system which could open the door for a potential 
fairer funding review which the Council had lobbied for over the last six years due to 
the County’s rural and sparse nature. Different factors, such as deprivation, would 
need to be taken into account in a distribution formula. The general levels of reserves 
held by councils might also impact on a fairer funding distribution formula. 

 A lot of the capital programme expenditure was reliant on Government grants 
coming from the Department for Transport (DfT) and the Department for Education 
(DfE). These grants often did not line up with the Government’s announcements on 
the financial settlement which made it difficult to plan for these areas. The financial 
settlement for Highways maintenance in 2021/22 was reduced leading to the 
shortfall being backfilled with local money. There were currently no announcements 
in relation to the DfT’s settlement for 2022/23 but it was expected to be similar to 
the current year’s settlement. 

 The United States $1 trillion Infrastructure Bill could have a huge impact on global 
supply issues and inflation if agreed by the Senate. There were already supply issues 
impacting on the construction industry and IT, which was already leading to long 
waiting times for items such as cars and laptops due to the supply issues, as well as 
the issue of the delivery of the supply and finding tradespeople to undertake the 
work. Significant increase in demand anywhere globally would impact negatively on 
global supply which was already insufficient to meet current demand. This would 
have an impact on the UK and possibly lead to increased inflation as well. 

 There was currently no direct data about the potential US impact on supply but the 
Council was monitoring the impact on individual programmes from a corporate 
perspective to understand what those impacts were. The market was also being 
analysed to try to understand the impact, and currently supply was beginning to 
slightly even out in some areas but was still very short in other areas. Costs were 
plateauing but at a higher level, and there was very little expectation that these costs 
would drop back to previous levels.  

 The capital programme was being monitored regularly including what impact any 
slippage would have. This was being looked at project by project and programme to 
see what the overall impact would be on budget setting in future years. 

 The whole life budget position was roughly on target. However, it was too early to 
understand the full impact on the capital programme from inflation pressures and 
potential changes in interest rates. There was a need to reach a settled position 
before making any changes to the capital programme, but the Council would need to 
absorb some post Covid-19 costs into the capital programme.  

 Power BI was a data manipulation and analysis tool which could also produce visuals 

of the data analysis. Another product was needed to collect the data from the several 

Page 8



5 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD 

25 NOVEMBER 2021 
 

different systems used across the Council, and it was being investigated how to make 

this as automated as possible. In addition, there was a commentary collection 

process for the lead officer narrative which was another process completed outside 

of Power BI. Power BI was an efficient and powerful tool which the Council had not 

been using for very long and was still in the early stages of development. The 

Performance team would be looking to make it as efficient and effective as possible 

by reducing the amount of inputting and making it more streamlined. However, there 

would still need to be an element of data entry by officers due to the volume and 

variety of data and the requisite commentary. 

 It was recognised that the interactive tool on the website would enable the public to 

also be able to access all the data available. The interactive tool had been tested 

against accessibility standards, and had been reviewed and developed so that it was 

a similar experience to other websites.  

 In relation to the ‘Percentage of people who are unemployed’ (PI 11) measure, it was 

confirmed that this was a target which the Council had influence over but not direct 

control. There were several sectors in Lincolnshire which were difficult to recruit to 

as they were very specific, such as the care sector, hospitality sector, and the 

transport sector, but the people who were unemployed in Lincolnshire may not 

possess those necessary skills. There were a number of nationally commissioned 

programmes to support people from unemployment back into employment, and the 

Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) also delivered programmes. The Council 

was working with the DWP to put on programmes around HGV driving licenses, but 

this was for a very small number of people. In addition, the HGV driver shortage was 

compounded by a large number of current drivers retiring for a variety of reasons, 

and that the role was not seen as very attractive and rest facilities for HGV drivers 

needed improving. There was a need for Lincolnshire to diversify its employment 

offer so that it was less reliant on specific sectors, some of which were low paid. 

 There were challenges around the training, skills and courses available which were 

led by the FE sector. However, the FE sector was funded on lagged learner numbers 

for the number of people they had on courses in the previous year. Therefore, if the 

FE sector wanted to put on additional courses around care, hospitality and HGV 

driving to respond to the demand, then they would not receive the funding for these 

for another year. The skills agenda was currently led by the Greater Lincolnshire Local 

Enterprise Partnership who had produced a skills strategy. With the possibility of a 

future Devolution / Levelling Up deal, the Council could bring coherence to a very 

complicated skills landscape that it could currently only influence and do something 

completely different if it had the power to do so. In addition to the post 16 sector, 

there was a need to influence the curriculum post 14 and bring businesses into 

schools and colleges to develop those relationships. It was suggested that the 

Page 9



6 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD 
25 NOVEMBER 2021 
 

Environment and Economy Scrutiny Committee should consider the skills strategy 

and what work was being undertaken around the skills agenda.   

 The direction of travel for monitoring and managing performance had changed with 

the introduction of business intelligence and changes from a system perspective at 

an officer level with the establishment of Corporate Leadership Team monthly 

performance meetings where the information was reported, and all Directorate 

Leadership Teams were also now required to have monthly performance boards. 

Some directorates were already fairly advanced in this process, but for some 

directorates this was a completely new expectation of managers to look and analyse 

the data and decide what to do about it. The structure and training had been put in 

place to enable the Council to become much better at its analytical ability and how to 

improve performance. It was suggested that this needed to brought through scrutiny 

and the Executive so that this work could be acknowledged by councillors. 

 In relation to ‘Percentage of children in care living within a family environment’ (PI 

15) it was confirmed that this included those placed with relatives, foster carers, or 

with independent foster carers. At the start of the Covid-19 pandemic, there was a 

decline in the number of foster carers and independent foster carers, so the Council 

had to rely on out of county placements. These young people were being closely 

tracked and careful consideration was being given to how and when to move these 

young people back into family placements in Lincolnshire to minimise the impact. 

The Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee had recently discussed this issue 

at its last meeting on 19 November 2021. 

 It was suggested that a guide for the website should be developed to help the public 

and Members to navigate through Power BI. It was agreed that the Chairman and 

Vice Chairman of the Board would meet with officers to develop this. 

 It was suggested that a printout of all the performance measures should be included 

with the report to the Executive. However, it was confirmed that this would be 

complex and lead to very long reports, plus it would not enable the data to be 

interrogated in more detail like on Power BI. In addition to the report received by the 

Board and the Executive, there were quarterly reports on the service level 

performance measures reported to the relevant scrutiny committees. It was further 

suggested that training for Members on how to use Power BI should be considered. 

 In relation to former Measure 114 (Percentage of completed safeguarding referrals 

where source of risk was a service provider), it was agreed that officers would check 

if this or a similar measure was now included in the Corporate Plan Success 

Framework. This measure had previously been reported to the Adults and 

Community Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee. The development of the measures would 

have been done through a lot of co-production with the Corporate Leadership Team 

and Assistant Directors to decide what was included in the Corporate Plan Success 

Framework. It was suggested that consideration be given to whether there was a 

Page 10



7 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD 

25 NOVEMBER 2021 
 

need for a new safeguarding measure where the source of risk was the service 

provider if one no longer existed. 

 The clarity provided in the report regarding which measures were for context and 

which the Council had direct control over was welcomed as this would help to 

manage expectations. 

 Consideration should be given to altering the wording for those measures which had 

not achieved their target, as it did not recognise the achievements that had been 

made while working towards the target.    

 Concerns were raised that some targets were highlighted as being achieved despite 

some residents still experiencing issues. An example was given with the measure 

‘Percentage of superfast broadband coverage in residential & business premises’ (PI 

32) where the target was highlighted as achieved, but there were residents in 

Lincolnshire who still struggled to access broadband. It was confirmed that this 

measure was county wide but highly populated areas were more commercially 

attractive to individual companies as there were huge numbers of customers that 

they could access and get their money back quickly. The Council was currently 

working with the Government and BDUK to try to change the fibre to premises model 

which did not work as well in rural areas, whereas a wireless connection would be 

much cheaper and simpler to do. It was suggested that the Environment and 

Economy Scrutiny Committee should consider looking at the options for broadband 

across Lincolnshire. 

 Consideration should be given to reviewing those measures which had already 

achieved their target to ensure the target was stretching enough. There was a very 

robust target setting process, but for those measures already significantly 

overachieving their target early in the year, it was suggested that these targets 

should be reviewed within year. 

 
RESOLVED:  
 

1. That the recommendations as set out in the Executive report be supported;  
2. That a summary of the comments made be reported to the Executive for its 

consideration.  
 
75     REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING REPORT 2021/22 - QUARTER 2 TO 30 SEPTEMBER 

2021 
 

During this item, Councillor Mrs J Brockway declared a personal interest as a member of her 
family accessed the Home to School Transport Service.  
 
Consideration was given to a report by the Assistant Director – Finance, which invited the 
Board to consider the Revenue Budget Monitoring 2021/22 Quarter 2 report which was due 
to be considered by the Executive on 07 December 2021.  

Page 11



8 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD 
25 NOVEMBER 2021 
 
 
The Board was advised that the Council was forecasting an underspend of £5.760m 
(excluding schools and Covid-19), which mainly related to grants that had been received by 
the Council, particularly the grant of £1.4m for Domestic Abuse Services, as well as a net gain 
of £2m on the pool for business rates, both of which had not been accounted for when the 
budget had been set originally.  
 
The impact of Covid-19 on the Council’s Revenue Budget was set out in Appendix K to the 
report and Appendix I set out the total number of grants that had been received from the 
government which related to the support for Covid-19 and Appendix L showed that all 
budget savings were on target to be delivered for 2021/22.  
 
Members considered the report and during the discussion the following points were noted:  
 

 The extra funding of £1.445m for Domestic Abuse services was welcomed,  with the 
sharp increase in the number of reports of domestic violence particularly during the 
Covid-19 pandemic.  

 It was confirmed that a Domestic Abuse Strategy was being drafted by officers which 
would be brought through the Public Protection and Communities Scrutiny 
Committee on 14 December 2021 before approval by the Executive Councillor for 
Children's Services, Community Safety and Procurement. The strategy would focus on 
supporting victims and signposting to support. 

 The lack of provision for male domestic abuse victims across the country was 
emphasised. The Chairman of the Environment and Economy Scrutiny Committee 
highlighted that he would raise questions to the Police and Crime Commissioner 
(PCC) on the policy of domestic violence at the meeting of the Police and Crime Panel 
on 26 November 2021. The Chief Executive further highlighted the work being 
undertaken with the PCC in terms of victim support and that she would investigate 
what support was provided to male domestic abuse victims. It was agreed that a 
briefing note on this issue would be circulated to the Board. 

 The budget setting process for 2021/22, which started back in October 2020, had 
been more difficult due to the Covid-19 pandemic, and the budget approved in 
February 2021 had since been impacted by the Covid grants received from the 
Government. There was a need to maximise the grants received to the benefit of 
local tax payers and recycle the underspends for use elsewhere.   

 The Public Health underspend of £1.283m had arisen due to redirecting resources 
into supporting the Covid-19 pandemic and these costs had been covered by the 
Covid grant which was causing an underspend in the core activity, such as track and 
trace and outbreak management.  For the 2021/22 financial year, Public Health and 
Wellbeing had received £50m of Covid grants in addition to its core budget. At the 
time when the budget was set in February 2021, it was expected that this core 
activity would be required to continue and was therefore budgeted for. The 
announcements about the additional Covid grants came after the Council’s budget 
had been set. For example, it was at the end of March 2021 when the Council 
received notification that it would receive £160,000 in support grants per month for 

Page 12



9 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD 

25 NOVEMBER 2021 
 

four months, which then turned into a £1.3m grant continuing to the end of March 
2022. The late notification made it very difficult to plan for in terms of utilising the 
money while ensuring there were exit strategies for all these grants so that the 
Council did not incur any ongoing financial pressure. 

 The Resources underspend of £1.820m was partly due to the new Domestic Abuse 
grant of £1.445m, and reduced staffing costs due to Business Support staff being 
redeployed to work on Covid-19 activity and therefore some of the staffing costs had 
been covered by the Covid grant.  

 Members commended the Home School transport service which was considered 
exemplary and essential for families to ensure children and young people could 
access their education. 
 

RESOLVED:  
 

1. That the recommendations as set out in the Executive report be supported;  
2. That a summary of the comments made be reported to the Executive for its 

consideration.  
 
76     CAPITAL BUDGET MONITORING REPORT 2021/22 - QUARTER 2 TO 30 SEPTEMBER 

2021 
 

Consideration was given to a report by the Assistant Director – Finance, which invited the 
Board to consider a report on the Council’s Capital Budget Monitoring for 2021/22, which 
was due to be considered by the Executive on 07 December 2021.  
 
The Council was currently forecasting an underspend of £33.9m, a breakdown of which 
could be found in Appendix A to the report.  
 
The largest underspend to the Capital Programme was currently for contingency planning, 
with £7.5m being allocated for contingency plans. The main variances across projects related 
to some of the major highways schemes, in particular the Spalding Western Relief Road 
which had been subject to some delays in land acquisition and design requirements.  
 

The Board considered the report and during the discussion the following points were 
noted:  

 

 In relation to the Government’s financial settlement, it was announced in October 
2021 that £4.8bn would be spread fairly evenly over the three years of the spending 
review period. There were some specific funding announcements such as around 
supporting families and cyber security, and once these had been taken into account, 
the remaining amount was around £1.4bn. The Council usually received around 1% of 
the national funding announcement which would equate to about £14m.  

 There were numerous cost pressures facing the Council, which included Adult Care 
cost pressures of between £7m and £9m per year, increase in inflation which was 
expected to peak at around 5% in 2022, and the potential ending of the public sector 
pay freeze. In addition, the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local 

Page 13



10 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD 
25 NOVEMBER 2021 
 

Government had recently started to indicate potential changes such as moving away 
from the localised business rates system which could open the door for a potential 
fairer funding review which the Council had lobbied for over the last six years due to 
the County’s rural and sparse nature. Different factors, such as deprivation, would 
need to be taken into account in a distribution formula. The general levels of reserves 
held by councils might also impact on a fairer funding distribution formula. 

 A lot of the capital programme expenditure was reliant on Government grants 
coming from the Department for Transport (DfT) and the Department for Education 
(DfE). These grants often did not line up with the Government’s announcements on 
the financial settlement which made it difficult to plan for these areas. The financial 
settlement for Highways maintenance in 2021/22 was reduced leading to the 
shortfall being backfilled with local money. There were currently no announcements 
in relation to the DfT’s settlement for 2022/23 but it was expected to be similar to 
the current year’s settlement. 

 The United States $1 trillion Infrastructure Bill could have a huge impact on global 
supply issues and inflation if agreed by the Senate. There were already supply issues 
impacting on the construction industry and IT, which was already leading to long 
waiting times for items such as cars and laptops due to the supply issues with chips. 
There was then the issue of the delivery of the supply and finding tradespeople to 
undertake the work. If there was a significant increase in demand anywhere globally, 
this would impact negatively on global supply which was already insufficient to meet 
current demand. This would have an impact on the UK and possibly lead to increased 
inflation as well. There was currently no direct data about the potential US impact on 
supply but the Council was monitoring the impact on individual programmes from a 
corporate perspective to understand what those impacts were. The market was also 
being analysed to try to understand the impact, and currently supply was beginning 
to slightly even out in some areas but was still very short in other areas. Costs were 
plateauing but at a higher level, and there was very little expectation that these costs 
would drop back to previous levels.  

 The capital programme was being monitored regularly including what impact any 
slippage would have. This was being looked at project by project and programme by 
programme to see what the overall impact would be on budget setting in future 
years. The key point was that the whole life budget position was roughly on target. 
However, it was too early to understand the full impact on the capital programme 
from inflation pressures and potential changes in interest rates. There was a need to 
reach a settled position before making any changes to the capital programme, but 
the Council would need to absorb some post Covid-19 costs into the capital 
programme. New intelligence would be fed in as it became available. 

 
 
RESOLVED:  
 

1. That the recommendations as set out in the Executive report be supported;  
2. That a summary of the comments made be reported to the Executive for its 

consideration.  
 

Page 14



11 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD 

25 NOVEMBER 2021 
 

77     DRAFT INFRASTRUCTURE FUNDING STATEMENT 
 

Consideration was given to a report by the Principal Planning Officer – Infrastructure, which 
invited the Board to consider a report on the Draft Infrastructure Funding Statement, which 
was due to be considered by the Executive on 07 December 2021.  
 
The Draft Infrastructure Funding Statement, set out at appendix A to the Executive Report, 
provided financial and other contributions Lincolnshire County Council had secured and/or 
spent for the year ending March 2021 and fulfilled the obligations set out in the Regulations. 
 
The Board was advised that there were three parts to the statement:  

 A statement which was future looking 

 A report which looked at the funding position for the previous year  

 A report on the Section 106 monies received.  
 
The Board was referred to Appendix B to the Executive Report, the draft web text, which set 
out a description of what the Infrastructure Funding Statement was for including on the 
Council’s website.  
 
Members were advised that there were three districts in Central Lincolnshire which had 
moved forward with Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL), which were, the City of Lincoln, 
North Kesteven and West Lindsey.  
 
Within the current year, the Council had obtained approximately £700,000 in CIL Receipts by 
the relevant districts, which was used to pay back some of the investment in the Lincoln 
Eastern Bypass.  
 
The Board was referred to page 123 of the report, which set out the Council’s Section 106 
and highways agreements in further detail.  
 
Consideration was given to the report and during the discussion the following points were 
noted:  
 

 There was no reserve pool of developer contributions held by Lincolnshire County 
Council to resolve small issues which a community would have liked addressed as 
part of the planning application, such as new footpaths or cycle paths to the new 
housing development. This was because the Section 106 money was requested 
through the district councils as and when required, following the guidance around its 
use. For those district councils which had CIL in place, the parish councils would 
receive a percentage of CIL, which was 15% by default and potentially 25% if they 
had a local neighbourhood plan. Therefore, in the areas of the county covered by CIL, 
the parish councils would have their own reserve pools to spend as they wish. It was 
highlighted that if an issue such as a footpath was wanted after planning agreements 
were in place, then there would need to be a bid for funding as a highways scheme. 
Under the statutes for Section 106 and CIL, the money requested from developers 
had to be justified, but it was suggested whether these rules and the law could be 

Page 15



12 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD 
25 NOVEMBER 2021 
 

interpreted in different ways. It was recommended that the rules for developer 
contributions should be considered to determine whether a reserve pool could be 
created. 

 In terms of the long term impact for the Council once the legacy applications were 
out of the system and were not still chargeable, it was anticipated that the Council 
would receive approximately £1m of CIL receipts per year, assuming everything 
stayed about the same on other factors. This would vary depending on the level of 
housing delivery each year.  

 The two processes of Section 106 and CIL were both informed by development 
viability and with housing costs not being very high in Lincolnshire, there was a limit 
to how much could be requested. There was a political process to go through to 
establish policies and procedures around this in local plans and the CIL documents.  

 Education and Highways and Transport were the main areas for funding 
requirements. Educational requests were built on how many additional places in the 
local schools were needed for the additional housing in the area. However, if a 
number of pupils at a school in the local area were from outside the area, then it 
would be difficult to argue for Section 106 money to increase places as they would 
not be counted in the pupil figures because it was not their local school.  

 An update on the implementation of the recommendations from the Developer 
Contributions Scrutiny Review undertaken in 2020 would be considered at the 
meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Management Board on 16 December 2021. 

 The £4,628 cost for a TRO to move the 30mph speed limit on Linchfield Road, 
Deeping St. James would have included the legal costs for changing the legal limits in 
addition to the physical costs of moving the posts. 

 To determine developer contribution levels, the district council would assess the 
potential impacts with Lincolnshire County Council of what was on that site and how 
it was proposed for that site to be developed and come to an agreement as to what 
impacts needed to be mitigated in order for planning permission to be granted. 

 In relation to a planning application for Theddlethorpe, this would be a national 
determination because it would be a large application, and therefore there would be 
national regulations around developer contributions. If the working group was 
turned into a community group, then the local area would receive £1m a year and if 
bore holes were drilled, then this would rise to £2m a year.  

 Concerns were raised about the disconnect in a lot of local areas between the money 
received for a housing development in an area to mitigate the impact, but the money 
was then spent in another area of the county. It was recommended that how and 
where the money was spent should be considered further to ensure the local area 
benefitted from the developer contributions received as well.   

 
RESOLVED:  
 

1. That the recommendations as set out in the Executive report be supported;  
2. That a summary of the comments made be reported to the Executive for its 

consideration.  
 

Page 16



13 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD 

25 NOVEMBER 2021 
 

78     SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMMES 
 

During this item, Councillor T J N Smith declared a non-pecuniary interest as a member of 

the Transport for North Board. 

 

Consideration was given to a report by the Chairman of the Environment and Economy 

Scrutiny Committee, which provided an update on the recent work of the Committee and its 

future work programme, as set out on pages 134 – 142. As part of its recent work, the 

Committee had debated and expressed its views in relation to the invitation to join a 

Geological Disposal Facility Working Group in Eastern Lincolnshire and recorded its support 

towards being a part of the working group with a view to help the local community and 

shape any future decision in relation to the subject. As part of the consideration of this topic, 

the Committee welcomed the attendance and contribution to the discussion of the leader of 

a campaigners’ group. Another important topic that the Committee had the opportunity to 

consider and contribute to was in relation to the discontinuity of the Supplementary Waste 

Collection Services at Stamford and Mablethorpe. In relation to this, the Committee received 

a petition from a resident of Stamford and gave them the opportunity to attend the session 

and put on record their views and arguments.  

 

The Chairman of the Environment and Economy Scrutiny Committee thanked Members and 

Officers involved with the Committee for their support during the current Council year.  

 

The Board welcomed the consideration of the Tree Strategy and the planting of more trees 

across the County for visual and environmental reasons.  

 

In relation to a question, the Board was advised that the largest benefit to Lincolnshire from 

the £96.1bn Integrated Rail Plan was the upgrades to the East Coast Mainline as well as the 

replacement of the flat level crossing in Newark, which was widely used by Lincolnshire 

residents and would see significant improvements for Lincolnshire’s rail services. The Local 

Transport Plan, which was currently out for consultation, identified a number of priorities 

around rail networks for Lincolnshire. The Council was working with Network Rail colleagues 

and it was hoped that Lincolnshire would benefit from improvements to rail services out of 

Kings Cross on the East Coast Mainline.  

 

 

Consideration was given to a report by the Vice Chairman of the Highways and Transport 

Scrutiny Committee which provided an update on the recent work of the Committee and its 

future work programme, as set out on pages 143 – 147.  

 

Page 17



14 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD 
25 NOVEMBER 2021 
 
The Vice Chairman paid tribute to Councillor Bob Adams, and offered his condolences to his 

family, who had been the Chairman of the Highways and Transport Scrutiny Committee since 

May 2019.  

 

It was suggested that the enforcement of double yellow lines could be put forward for future 

consideration by the Highways and Transport Scrutiny Committee.  

 

The Board also requested that all Members be provided with an opportunity to comment on 

the Speed Limit Policy review.  

 

Consideration was then given to a report by the Chairman of the Flood and Water 

Management Scrutiny Committee, which provided an update on the recent work of the 

Committee and its future work programme, as set out on pages 148-151.  

 

It was noted that there had been a number of schemes delivered by the Flood and Water 

Partnership such as the Stamp End and Digby schemes and the tidal barrier in Boston had 

been used for the first time.  

 

RESOLVED:  

 
1) That the Board's satisfaction be recorded with the activity undertaken since June 2021 

by:  
 

(a) the Environment and Economy Scrutiny Committee; 

(b) the Highways and Transport Scrutiny Committee; and  

(c) the Flood and Water Management Scrutiny Committee.    

 
2) That the Board's satisfaction be recorded with the planned work programme of:  
 

(a) the Environment and Economy Scrutiny Committee; 

(b) the Highways and Transport Scrutiny Committee; and  

(c) the Flood and Water Management Scrutiny Committee.    

 
79     TREASURY MANAGEMENT PERFORMANCE 2021/22 - QUARTER 2 TO 30 

SEPTEMBER 2021 
 

Consideration was given to a report by the Treasury Manager, which detailed the treasury 
management activities and performance for Quarter 2 of 2021/22 to 30 September 2021 
against the Treasury Management Strategy for 2021/22.   
 

Page 18



15 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD 

25 NOVEMBER 2021 
 

With regards to interest rates, the short-term base rate had remained flat over the period. 
There had been market expectations of an increase in the base rate by November, which had 
not materialised. The movement of Key Interest Rates in 2021/22 to date was set out at 
Appendix A to the report. The Council’s Treasury Advisors, Link Asset Services expected the 
next increase in interest rates to be of only 0.15%, meaning an expected interest rate of 
around0.25% for early 2022.  
 
Long term rates remained volatile it was expected that there would be a gradual increase of 
long-term rates by around 0.1% per annum.  
 
The Council was currently investing around £363m and further details of the Council’s 
investments were set out at Appendix B to the report.  
 
Cash flows had stabilised following an unstable year due to the uncertainties faced with 
Covid-19 and no external borrowing had been taken in the year to date.  
 
The Board was informed that the revised Treasury Management Code of Practice and 
Prudential Code would be issued in December with a proposed implementation by 2023. The 
Treasury Manager welcomed feedback on the recent training undertaken by the Board.  
 
The Board considered the report and during the discussion the following points were noted:  
 

 It was expected that interest rates would increase around February 2022. Increases 
often occurred following the quarterly inflation report from the Bank of England, but 
there were many other factors that could also influence rates. It was expected that 
rates would only rise by around 0.25%.  

 The Board commended the informative training session that had been undertaken by 
the Board.  

 Concerns were raised over the high levels of taxation that was currently imposed by 
the Government and suggested Councillors monitored the situation and write to MPs 
if necessary.  

 There was no set formula that was used for the allocation of liquid assets which 
included call funds and money market funds. It was noted that money market funds 
provided instant access. Officers looked to maximise the return which comes with 
the longest period and to manage the period and take opportunities to maximise 
returns when they arose.  

RESOLVED:  
 

1. That the report be noted; 
2. That the comments made by the Board be passed on the Executive Councillor for 

Resources, Communication and Commissioning for his consideration. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 19



16 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD 
25 NOVEMBER 2021 
 
80     PEOPLE MANAGEMENT UPDATE - QUARTERS 1 AND 2 

 
Consideration was given to a report by the Assistant Director – HR and Organisational 
Support, which provided an update on HR Management Information and Corporate HR 
Projects.  
 
The Board was informed that following the easing of Covid-19 restrictions, voluntary 
turnover had risen from around 6% to 8.34% at the end of Quarter 2 which was mainly due 
to attraction and retention of key roles prior to the pandemic and the effects of the 
pandemic. Officers were implementing the people strategy and action plans were in place to 
look to improve attraction and retention including the implementation of an attraction and 
retention framework.  
 
Agency spend had increased due to challenges faced as a result of the pandemic and high 
turnover rates, particularly in Adult Care and Community Wellbeing and Children’s Services. 
It was possible that rates would continue to increase throughout the financial year. It was 
noted that agency spend had an important role to play in the stabilisation and support of 
services, particularly in early help and residential services.  
 
There had been a slow reduction in sickness absence during the pandemic which was due to 
the restrictions in place. However, the easing of restrictions had seen a rise in sickness 
absence levels to 7.16% in Quarter 2, which was still below the Council’s target of 7.5%. 
There were many proactive measures in place to address issues with sickness absence, in 
particular an increase in mental health support with the launch of the Mental Health First 
Aiders Programme and other investments around employee support and counselling offers.  
 
The Council was working hard on its apprenticeship offer and the Assistant Director – HR and 
Organisation Support was pleased to note that the number of apprenticeships was above 
target. 
 
The Council continued to support apprenticeships through the levy transfer scheme and as 
at the end of October 2021, the Council had a total number of 312 apprenticeships active.  
 
In response to a question, it was confirmed that the sickness absence was recorded in days, 
rather than percentages. Therefore, the level of sickness absence was around 7.5 days per 
employee per year, which equated to around 4%.  
 
RESOLVED:  
 
 That assurance be provided to the Board on the HR Management  Information and 
the progress on corporate HR projects. 
 
81     COVID-19 UPDATE 

 
Consideration was given to a report by the Assistant Director – Corporate Recovery, which 
provided an overview of the work by the Local Resilience Forum (LRF), partners, and 

Page 20



17 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD 

25 NOVEMBER 2021 
 

Lincolnshire County Council (LCC) to manage Lincolnshire's response to the Covid-19 
pandemic, since the last update to the Board on the 28 October 2021.  
 
The Board was referred to the following data, which was detailed within the report:  

  Rate of Positive Cases per 100,000 Population is 404.4 per 100,000 (22nd November 
2021) in comparison to the 25th October 2021, which was reported at 521.4 per 
100,000. 

 On the 22nd November 2021, Lincolnshire Covid-19 cases reported in the last seven 
day period was 3,099, in comparison to the figure reported on the 25th October 2021 
which was 3,996.  

 Deaths reported in the last seven day period up to the 24th October 2021 for 
Lincolnshire was reported as seven, in comparison in the last seven day period up to 
the 21st November 2021 it was reported as 16. 

 Number of Covid-19 vaccines administered up to the 17th October 2021 for 
Lincolnshire was 1,131,705, as of the 14th November 2021 this was reported as 
1,145,465.  

 
As requested by the Board in October, data on cases in surrounding areas of the country to 
provide a comparison was included, which could be found on pages 3-4 of the report.  
The – LRF, Recovery Strategic Coordination Group (RSCG) had received assurance 
presentations from the Business and Economy Group, Enforce, Engage, and Comply group, 
and a representative from Lincolnshire Event Safety Partnership  setting out the direction of 
travel.   All representatives had provided  a positive position and indicated stability in their 
respective sectors. Plans were in place to address the ongoing vulnerabilities and risks.   
 
The  vaccination programme continued to make good progress through the NHS. T in 
addition there had been confirmation that funding would continue to be provided until the 
end of March 2022, allowing the Council to deliver ongoing testing and tracing provision 
locally. This additional funding would provide support to deliver the ongoing response 
activity at a county level via the public health team. 
 
The LRF has now come to the end of their forward plan for the oversight and assurance 
phase as part of the recovery 2021 arrangements   for the pandemic.  Providing that partners 
no longer needed any further assurance or coordination of recovery activity from the LRF, 
and the information and evidence provided assurance that recovery could be sustained 
within everyday core business activity, it was  likely that there would be a decision to stand 
down the existing recovery command structures. The Council’s Emergency Planning team 
would continue to support all of the necessary arrangements under the Civil Contingencies 
Act.  
 
The Board considered the report and during the discussion the following points were noted:  
 

 The Board requested that the outcome of the recovery strategic coordination group 
meeting be reported to the Board.  

 The online booking system for vaccinations was an NHS function and using the online 
booking system limited the number of venues that were available to the user. It was 

Page 21



18 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD 
25 NOVEMBER 2021 
 

noted that GP’s were able to assist with booking vaccinations at a number of 
locations more local to the user when eligible they would be contacted directly by 
their surgery.  
 

RESOLVED:  
 
 That the update be noted.  
 
82     OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD WORK PROGRAMME 

 
This item was for information only.  
 
 
The meeting closed at 1.30 pm 

Page 22



  1 

 
 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT 

BOARD 
 16 DECEMBER 2021 

 

PRESENT:  COUNCILLOR R B PARKER (CHAIRMAN) 
 
Councillors T J N Smith (Vice-Chairman), Mrs J Brockway, P M Dilks, R J Kendrick, C S Macey, 
C E H Marfleet, N H Pepper, E W Strengiel, R Wootten and A M Hall 
 
Added Members 
 
Church Representative:   
 
Parent Governor Representatives: Miss A E I Sayer 
 
Councillors: M J Hill OBE, M A Whittington and Mrs S Woolley attended the meeting as 
observers 
 
Officers in attendance:- 
 
Debbie Barnes OBE (Chief Executive), Sue Cline (ICT Contracts and Licenses Officer), James 
Drury (Executive Director Commercial), Paul Elverstone (ICT Contracts and Licenses Officer), 
Simon Evans (Health Scrutiny Officer), Louisa Harvey (ERP System Delivery Manager), 
Andrew Houseman (Senior Procurement Officer), Tracy Johnson (Senior Scrutiny Officer), 
Andrew McLean (Assistant Director - Transformation), Warren Peppard (Head of 
Development Management), Sadie Rossington (Business World Project Manager), Clare 
Rowley (Head of Transformation), Nigel West (Head of Democratic Services and Statutory 
Scrutiny Officer), John Wickens (Assistant Director - IMT and Enterprise Architecture), Emily 
Wilcox (Democratic Services Officer) and Carrie Forrester (Programme Manager - SEND 
Transformation) 
 
83     APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE/REPLACEMENT MEMBERS 

 
An apology for absence had been received from Megan Machin, Parent Governor 
Representative.  
 
It was reported that, under Regulation 13 of the Local Government (Committee and Political 
Groups) Regulations 1990, Councillor A M Hall had been appointed as a replacement for the 
Conservative Vacancy until further notice.  
 
Apologies were also noted from the Executive Councillor for People Management, Legal and 
Corporate Property and the Executive Director – Resources. 
 
84     DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Page 23

Agenda Item 4



2 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD 
16 DECEMBER 2021 
 

 
There were no declarations of interest at this point in the meeting.  
 
85     MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 25 NOVEMBER 2021 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
 That minutes of the meeting held on 25 November 2021 be approved  as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman.   
  
 
86     ANNOUNCEMENTS BY THE CHAIRMAN, EXECUTIVE COUNCILLORS AND CHIEF 

OFFICERS 
 

The Chairman announced that he had attended the last meeting of the Executive on the 7th 

December and presented the comments from the Board on the Revenue and Capital budget 

monitoring reports, the Corporate Plan Success Framework and the Infrastructure Funding 

Statement.  

 

In light of the new Government guidelines and the current situation in relation to Covid-19, 

it was noted that officers attending for Items 7 to 12 of the agenda were in attendance via 

Microsoft Teams.  

 

The Executive Support Councillor for Resources, Communications and Commissioning 

informed the Board that a ministerial statement on the budget was expected to be received 

on the 16 December and Officers would be working to assess the financial implications for 

the Council. 

 
87     CONSIDERATION OF CALL-INS 

 
None had been received. 
 
88     CONSIDERATION OF COUNCILLOR CALLS FOR ACTION 

 
None had been received. 
 
89     APPROVAL TO AWARD A CONTRACT FOR GAS PROVISION FOR LINCOLNSHIRE 

COUNTY COUNCIL'S CORPORATE PROPERTY PORTFOLIO 
 

Consideration was given to a report by the Commercial and Procurement Manager, which 
invited the Board to consider a report on the Approval to Award a Contract for Gas Provision 
for Lincolnshire County Council's Corporate Property Portfolio, which was due to be 
considered by the Executive Councillor for Children’s Services, Community Safety and 
Procurement between the 17 and 23 December 2021.  

Page 24



3 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD 

16 DECEMBER 2021 
 

 
In line with the National Procurement Strategy and as a result of ongoing uncertainty and 
price rises in energy, it was proposed that the Council continued to maintain the Purchase in 
Advance commodity strategy, which also provided the flexibility to annually consider green 
gas as the market developed as well as providing a complete bill validation service that 
would eradicate the need for utility bill audits. The Purchase in Advance Strategy provided 
budgetary certainty in an exceptionally volatile market. 
 
It was proposed that the Council award the contract for Gas Services and Provision to ESPO 
as they had performed well historically and provided value for money in past contracts. As a 
member of ESPO, the Council was unable to influence the Energy Market but could influence 
its commodity trading strategy having a seat on the Energy Governance Panel.  
 
The report also proposed that the Council continued to purchase brown gas, which would be 
reviewed annually.  
 
Consideration was given to the report, and during the discussion the following points were 
noted:  
 

 The annual consideration of whether to purchase green gas would be based 
on availability and financial viability when compared to the cost of purchasing 
brown gas, taking into account the green agenda as well. It was recommended 
that the first annual review of whether to purchase green or brown gas should 
be brought back through the decision-making process to consider the financial 
viability of purchasing green gas and whether the market had changed.  

 The green gas market was very new and underdeveloped. There was 
currently not enough green gas available to enable ESPO to meet all its 
portfolio. It was noted that no council under the ESPO portfolio was currently 
buying green gas. In addition, the current prices for green gas were extremely 
high.  

 The Council had made a commitment to net zero carbon by 2050 and had 
developed the Green Masterplan which set out the guiding principles of how 
this challenge would be met. It was recognised that moving to green gas 
would contribute to this ambition, but that this was not currently achievable 
due to the underdeveloped market. It was unlikely that this situation would 
change within the next 12 months. 

 Support was given to the Purchase in Advance approach as this would allow 
the Council to fix its price for 12 months to ensure stable costs and reduce the 
financial implications for the Council. This approach had saved the Council 
over £234,000 in 2021/22 based on the current wholesale gas costs. 

 It was recognised that the disparity in price between green and brown gas was 
likely to reduce in the future, which would then enable the Council to give due 
consideration between financial viability and the green agenda. 

 
RESOLVED:  
 

Page 25



4 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD 
16 DECEMBER 2021 
 

1. That the recommendations, as set out in the Executive Councillor report, be 
supported;  

2. That a summary of the comments made by the Board be reported to the 
Executive Councillor for Children’s Services, Community Safety and Procurement 
as part of her consideration of this item.  

 
 
 
90     BUSINESS WORLD ERP SYSTEM RE-DESIGN UPDATE 

 
Consideration was given to a report by the ERP System Delivery Manager, which provided an 
update on the progress of the re-design of the Council's Business World ERP system 
following approval from the Executive on 17 December 2019 to move to the Hoople Limited 
platform.  
 
The Board received a presentation, which gave an overview of the project including the 
following:  
 

- A recap of the business case 
- The approach to the project 
- The design of the system 
- How the system was built 
- The testing methods used 
- Change management 
- Proposed plans for the system to ‘go live’ including ongoing monitoring  

 
The Board was advised that the Council was currently in the ‘test’ stages of implementation, 
which included full system testing and payroll testing ahead of the system going live. Testing 
activities had also been used as a method of identifying any issues with that data to ensure 
that all of the issues were resolved and that where possible, existing (un-necessary) manual 
calculation work-arounds were removed to prevent manual error and automate processes. 
Changes to the payroll system to date had been positive and testing had been successfully 
completed for each of the four areas of the Council’s payroll systems. A training strategy 
with guidance had been implemented and all relevant Officers would be trained on the new 
system.  
 
It was recommended that a report on the progress of the project be reported to the Board at 
its meeting on 26 May 2022, subject to the completion of the next test phase, which was 
scheduled for 29 April 2022.   
 
Consideration was given to the report and during the discussion the following points were 
noted:  
 

 The Board was reassured that although Hoople Ltd was a Limited Company, the 
Council attended Board meetings alongside other shareholders, allowing them to 
have input into the development of systems and future priorities. 

Page 26



5 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD 

16 DECEMBER 2021 
 

 Assurance was provided that there were stringent requirements in place to ensure 
that the Council’s data was secure within the system. Officers worked closely with 
the Council’s information assurance team to ensure that data was as secure as 
possible which included routine testing on a regular basis to ensure the security of 
the Council’s data. The Board was assured that before entering into the agreement 
with Hoople Ltd, stringent information assurance checks were made and were 
carried out on an ongoing basis to ensure the security of the Council’s data.  

 The team was focused on the immediate benefits that the system would bring 
alongside introducing a development plan which would be implemented in the 
following 12 months to ensure the system was being used to its fullest effect.  

 Officers were working with the HR service on the complexities of the system which 
would highlight any areas for review to ensure that the system was as streamlined as 
possible despite the number of payment and deduction codes.  

 The Board was reassured that the project was taking longer than expected because 
the Officers were passionate about ensuring that all due diligence had been carried 
out and that the roll-out was successful and systems as accurate as possible. Officers 
were therefore satisfied that the time taken on the project was necessary to ensure 
that the roll-out was a success.  

 At the next update to the Committee there would be a clearer picture of the next 
milestones and a date in which the system would ‘go live’.  

 Providing that all testing was successful and carried out to the proposed schedule, it 
was hoped that the system could go live around three months after the final test 
phase, which was planned for April 2022.   

 As a result of challenges posed by the pandemic, there had been some challenges for 
the availability of testing and training within schools. Extra support was being 
brought in to ensure they were familiar with the system and were confident using it.  

 Assurance was provided that lessons had been learned from the previous change in 
payroll system and that systems would be much simpler to use with the changes 
made.   

 Delays were due to staffing resources and difficulty in obtaining experienced and 
appropriately trained staff for the new payroll system. The Council had faced 
challenges in finding staff that were experienced and resourced to investigate and 
review the system, as well as data migration exercises taking considerably longer to 
complete than anticipated.  It was also noted that the delay in the project had 
impacted other areas in the Council as it had reduced the ability for project officers 
and IT officers to support other areas of the Council whilst ensuring that the Business 
World  programme is delivered to its fullest.  

 
RESOLVED:  
 

1. That consideration be given to the report and the comments made be noted; 
That a report be received by the Board on progress of the Business World ERP System Design 
at its meeting on 26 May 2022, subject to the completion of the next test phase, which was 
scheduled for 29 April 2022. 
 

Page 27



6 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD 
16 DECEMBER 2021 
 
91     TRANSFORMATION PROGRAMME UPDATE 

 
During this item, Councillor J Brockway declared an interest as her grandchild was in receipt 
of SEND support.  
 
Consideration was given to a report by the Head of Transformation, which  
provided the Board with an update on the Transformation Programme, including a focussed 
section on the Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) High Needs project, to 
demonstrate the positive impact of the Transformation Programme.  
 
A presentation was received by the Board which provided further detail on:  
 

 The focus of the Council’s overall transformation programme which was to Deliver 
Council Policy and Corporate priorities; contribute to the sustainability of the 
organisation and delivery high complexity and high risk projects requiring a different 
approach 

 The key projects as part of the overall Transformation Pfrogramme were contributing 
to – enabling everybody to live life to the full; provide good value council services 
and deliver high aspirations 

 
The presentation then provided further detail on the Transformation programme in relation 
to the transformation for Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) High Needs, 
including: 
 

 Context of the SEND programme both nationally and locally in relation to the SEND 
code of practice 2015 

 Data and intelligence gathered during the initial stages of the programme 

 The eight elements of the high needs strategy which sought to reduce demand; 
prevent escalation; and step down inappropriate support 

 The work carried out to date, which involved improving earlier identification and 
response to reduce the level of new demand for statutory support; reducing the 
escalation of need and ensuring that children and young people are placed in a 
setting which best meets there need. This may include stepping down children from 
specialist provision to mainstream where better outcomes can be achieved 

 Achievements and differences that had been made as a result of the implementation 
of the strategy so far 

 Key messages of performance for the transformation of SEND high needs 
 
The Board was advised that the SEND Code of Practice 2015 included an expectation that the 
majority of children with SEND would have their needs met and outcomes achieved through 
mainstream education provision without the need for an Education, Health and Care (EHC) 
plan.  Initial findings from the transformation project into SEND high needs concluded that 
the local offer was not sufficiently understood to divert partners and parents to early 
intervention and that there had been a significant rise in the number of EHC plans that were 
being made, of which practitioners felt that 69% could have had needs prevented, reduced 

Page 28



7 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD 

16 DECEMBER 2021 
 

or delayed. It was therefore felt that there was a need to move to a social model of SEND 
and trauma-informed practice to which work was carried out to produce a high needs 
strategy which would look to reduce demand, prevent escalation and step down where in 
the best interests of the child.  
 
The Board was advised that the SEND programme had commenced at the end of 2019, in 
which a full review of SEND began. As part of the project, it was found that career prospects 
and other long term outcomes may be better achieved for some children if they were able to 
move from a special education setting to a mainstream education settings, where they 
would have access to a wider curriculum. The project would look to support the transition 
from special education to mainstream education, so that where possible children achieved 
the best outcomes and their needs were best met. For some children in special education 
their needs could be better served in a mainstream school.  
 
As part of the transformation project, six children had begun their transition from special to 
mainstream school, in which summaries of the children’s circumstances, next steps and RAG 
rated actions are being monitored by the Project Board to ensure timely support for the 
children, parents and schools involved. Other benefits had included a reduction in requests 
for EHC assessment being received monthly; a reduction in requests for EHC assessment 
converting to full assessments monthly and a reduction in new plans being created monthly.  
 
11:52am – Councillor E W Strengiel left the meeting and did not return.  
 
11:56am – Councillor N H Pepper left the meeting and did not return.  
 
Consideration was given to the report and during the discussion the following points were 
noted:  
 

 The Board raised concerns that children could become lost within mainstream 
schools and would often be separated from other children due to displaying different 
behaviours as well as there being frequent errors within EHCP’s, which were often 
not communicated to parents. Officers acknowledged the concerns raised, and the 
Board was reassured that an educational psychologist would assess the support 
available to each young person to ensure that any means of support would be put in 
place. Valuing Send Assessment Tool was discussed as well as assessing the needs of 
the child, looked at the school’s ability to meet those needs, which would include the 
perception of other pupils within the educational setting as well as the parents 
confidence in how their child’s need was being met within the home. Care Plans were 
child centric and would always consider the child’s view. Regular reviews would take 
place to assess how the child was integrating into their new setting.  

 The Young Voices group had been established which would provide an opportunity 
for young people to show things from their perspective.  

 Members emphasised the importance of early intervention and carrying out timely 
assessments of SEND needs where appropriate to ensure that children received the 
correct support as quickly as possible to prevent a need for escalation. Members 
were advised that strategies such as ‘Ask SALL’ could access support from an 

Page 29



8 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD 
16 DECEMBER 2021 
 

educational psychologist for complex cases to assess whether a child needed to apply 
for an EHCP or could be managed within a mainstream education setting. If it was 
concluded that a child needed intervention, a request would be made and the 
process would be reviewed within six weeks of the receipt of the request and by 20 
weeks a plan would be in place if it was deemed necessary.  

 As part of its prevention work, ask SALL had access to an educational psychologist 
one and a half days a week which was fully utilised and was having a positive impact. 
It was agreed that Officers provide further information on the availability or support 
from an Educational Psychologist as part of the statutory process.  

 Members raised concerns that not all schools had the appropriate knowledge to 
effectively support pupils with SEND needs. 

 Concerns were also raised that the removal of specialisation for some schools could 
be quite harmful.  

 It was suggested that SEND plans should work to a social model, rather than a 
medical model as this would best meet the individual needs of young people with 
SEND.  

 It was noted that some parents may wish to put their child onto an EHCP as it 
provided the most protection and rights under current legislation. Officers 
emphasised that in many situations EHC Plans delivered the best outcome for the 
child. Members were assured that the programme only sought to reduce the number 
of EHC Plans that were seen to be inappropriate and hindered progress for the child.  

 Assurance was provided that the process was carefully managed and reviewed to 
ensure the best outcome for the child.  During transition, children did not lose their 
registration to their previous school until all parties involved were completely 
assured that the move was the best outcome for the child.  

 The Board was advised that since the publication of the report, the Corporate 
Leadership Team had agreed that Children in Care transformation, SEND and adult 
improvement and development would remain active on the transformation 
programme to ensure regular monitoring of  critical projects.  

 It was noted that special schools were not able to offer such a wide range of subjects 
as secondary schools could as they did not have the same level of staff to cover a 
wider range of subjects.  

 
RESOVLED:  
 

1. That consideration be given to the report and that the comments made be noted;  
2. That an update on Transformation Programme be reported to the Board in three 

months’ time.  
 
92     DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS SCRUTINY REVIEW - FIRST MONITORING UPDATE OF 

ACTION PLAN 
 

Consideration was given to a report by the Head of Development Management, which 
provided an update on the recommendations from Scrutiny Panel A’s review on Developer 
Contributions.  

Page 30



9 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD 

16 DECEMBER 2021 
 

 
On 5 January 2021 the Executive considered and approved Scrutiny Panel A’s 
recommendations to the Executive on Developer Contributions, which were set out at 
Appendix A to the report.  
 
The Board was advised that relationships with stakeholders were continuing to be 
strengthened to ensure that the Council were communicating with local communities where 
possible.  
 
In addition, all statutory responses made by the Council in response to planning applications 
were now also being posted on the Council’s website, which would allow the public to have 
visibility of planning applications including all responses and requests for contributions that 
were being made in relation to individual applications. 
 
In relation to recommendation six, it was noted that Officers had offered a training session 
to all Members to raise awareness of developer contributions and their role in the process. 
Feedback to the training had been positive and the Head of Development Management 
invited Members to provide any further feedback on the training. It was emphasised that 
proactive engagement with Members was critical to build an early picture of the desires of 
the public before the Council requested developer contributions.  
 
Consideration was given to the report and during the discussion the following points were 
noted:  
 

 Concerns were raised over the unfair distribution of Section 106 monies within some 
developments, with monies being distributed to communities outside of the area of 
development, when there were opportunities to develop within the community. 
Officers acknowledged that further work could be carried out to better understand 
the local need of communities. It was hoped that the development of frameworks 
would build a more collaborative coordinated picture of local needs.  

 The Board emphasised the need for even distribution between the needs of urban 
areas with a high density of population and housing and rural areas. 

 
RESOLVED:  
 
 That the progress made on implementing the recommendations from  the 
Developer Contributions review be noted.  
 
93     UPDATE ON IMT SERVICES - DATA SERVICES AND SERCO CONTRACT 

PERFORMANCE 
 

Consideration was given to a report by the Head of Data Services and Data Intelligence and 
the Assistant Director - IMT and Enterprise Architecture which provided an update on the 
function and current work programme of the IMT Data Services Department and Serco’s 
performance against its contract Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) between June 2021 and 
October 2021.  

Page 31



10 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD 
16 DECEMBER 2021 
 
 
IMT services had continued to establish an embedded function of the data services team 
within the last 12 months and were supporting key pieces of work, such as the 
implementation of the business intelligence strategy as well as continuing to help and 
support service areas in the management and transformation of their data to assist 
improvements in their reporting. 
 
Examples of key improvements over the last year included making available a large data set 
from the Care Quality Commission, which related to providers of regulated services and in 
particular, their inspection outcomes that had been released; working with the home to 
school transport service to provide a reporting solution for their new home to school 
application solution and working with colleagues in corporate finance to define their 
reporting needs, which when implemented would remove manual processes and create a 
central data set for use by all. 
 
Over the next 12 months, there were a number of key activities scheduled including the 
consumption of data from core Lincolnshire County Council databases such as Business 
World and the Mosaic case management system, which would streamline reporting and data 
processing and reduce costs for service areas who were maybe using other solutions at 
present. The IMT team would continue to promote the use of Power BI as a reporting 
solution and its benefit to service areas and colleagues who wish to consume reports.  
 
Consideration was given to the report and during the discussion the following points were 
noted:  
 

 The Board was reassured that work undertaken on data services had increased 
capacity of the data services team to support with elements of the transformation 
programme, in particular work to move from the Business Objects System to Power 
BI, which looked at all data available and transitioned onto two platforms that were 
available as part of the Microsoft Office licensing. Officers had worked to embed the 
data services function as a corporate function within the organisation. 

 Officers would be working to identify some performance measurements for the data 
services team in the coming months which would allow the Board to monitor 
progress.   

 
In relation to the Serco contract performance for IMT, the Lead IT Contract and Vendor 
Relationship Officer highlighted that the KPI09 had been relaced by two new KPI’s, which 
were KPI18 and KPI19, which would balance the performance on the two activities.  
 
 
RESOLVED:  
 
 That the Board be assured on the performance of  the: 
 

1. IMT Data Services Department; and  
 

Page 32



11 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD 

16 DECEMBER 2021 
 

 2. the Serco contract against its Key Performance Indicators.  
 
 
94     SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMMES   

 
 

95     OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD WORK PROGRAMME 
 

Members were advised that this item was for information only.  
 
The Democratic Services Officer advised Members that the minutes of the last minute 
contained some duplication and were missing the correct information for minute number 74 
and were therefore not a true record of the meeting for that item. It was therefore agreed 
that the minutes of the meeting on the 25 November be amended and the amended version 
be considered at the next meeting.  
 
 
The meeting closed at 12.54 pm 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



       
 

Open Report on behalf of James Drury, Executive Director - Commercial and  
Andrew Crookham, Executive Director - Resources 

 

Report to: Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 

Date: 27 January 2022 

Subject: Service Revenue and Capital Budget Proposals 2022/23 

Decision Reference:   Key decision? No   

Summary:  

The report outlines the service budget proposals for the next financial year 2022/23.  
 
The Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement for 2022/23 was issued on 16 
December 2021. The Final Settlement, which is expected to be in line with the draft, is 
due to be published in February 2022. Further budgetary information is also awaited 
from the Lincolnshire District Councils, therefore the budget proposals for 2022/23 are 
estimated at this stage. 
 
This report specifically looks at the budget implications for the Council's Commercial, 
Resources and Corporate services. 
 
The Executive approved budget proposals, including those set out in this report, as its 
preferred option for the purposes of further consultation at its meeting on 5 January 
2022.  
 
Members of the Board have the opportunity to scrutinise them and make comment, 
prior to the Executive meeting on 8 February 2022 when it will make its final budget 
proposals for 2022/23. 

 
 

Actions Required: 

The Overview and Scrutiny Management Board is asked to consider this report and 
provide comments on the budget proposals for consideration by the Executive at its 
meeting on 8 February 2022. 

 

 
1. Background 
 
1.1. On 27 October 2021, the Chancellor of the Exchequer announced the outcome of 

the 2021 comprehensive spending review (SR2021) alongside his Autumn Budget 
2021. Although this was a spending review setting government departmental 
budgets up to 2024-25, continuing uncertainty about the fair funding review and 

Page 35

Agenda Item 8



possible Business Rates retention reform resulted in it remaining unclear whether 
the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) would 
conduct a one-year or three-year settlement.  

 

1.2. The Spending Review announcement included notification of additional funding for 
local authorities in 2022/23 to help councils deal with some of the pressures, 
including inflationary pressures, currently being experienced. Announcements 
included: 

 Local government in England will receive an additional £4.8bn in grant 
funding over the next three years (£1.6bn in each year), which was 
described as “for social care and other services”. 

 There will be additional funding of £3.6bn over three years for adult social 
care reform, to implement the cap on personal care costs and changes to 
the means test. This will be weighted towards later years as the costs of the 
changes will grow over time. 

 Councils providing Adult Social Care services can charge an adult social care 
precept of up to 1% in 2022/23 and the same again in 2023/24 and 2024/25 
(this is in addition to any adult social care precept which may have been 
deferred from 2021/22 and which can be charged in 2022/23). 

 The Business Rates multiplier, which is used to increase Business Rates 
charges, is to be frozen in 2022/23 and councils will be compensated for 
this loss of income, most likely by way of additional Section 31 grant. 

 Following the previous year’s announcement of a public sector pay freeze, 
SR2021 confirmed a return to the usual process for setting pay awards. 

 The National Living Wage will increase to £9.50 per hour from April 2022 
(the impact of this increase has been included in the budget proposals). 

 A number of other specific grants will be received, although the amounts 
per council are not yet known. These include grants for: Supporting 
Families £500m (formerly Troubled Families), cyber security £12m, roads 
£2.7bn over the next three years, Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 
school places £2.6bn. 

 
1.3. The Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement for 2022/23 was issued on 

16 December 2021 and confirmed funding for one year only (2022/23) and has 
aimed to offer some stability in funding with primarily a roll-over of existing 
funding ahead of an assessment of needs and existing resources.  

 
1.4. The provisional settlement confirmed the following funding arrangements for the 

Council in 2022/23: 
 

 A new tranche of Social Care Support grant of £9.342m; it is assumed that 
this grant will continue at the same level into future years. 

Page 36



 The Lincolnshire County Council (LCC) share of the new funding to deal with 
local authority pressures (to be called “Services Grant”) was confirmed at 
£7.684m and for the 2022/23 year only.  

 Rural Services Delivery Grant – LCC allocation was confirmed at £7.277m, 
which is the same as in 2021/22. 

 New Homes Bonus grant – LCC allocation is £1.659m, which is an increase 
of £0.190m compared to 2021/22. 

 Revenue Support grant – LCC allocation is £21.220m, which is an increase 
of £0.640m compared to 2021/22. 

 Business Rates Top-Up grant – LCC allocation is £91.302m, which is the 
same as in 2021/22. This stagnation of the grant level is due to the business 
rates multiplier freeze announced as part of the Spending Review. It is 
assumed that the total of the different elements of business rates will be in 
line with the total amount received in the current year, but this will not be 
known until the end of January when we receive budgetary information 
from the Lincolnshire District Councils. 

 The council tax referendum limit will be 2% for general council tax increases 
and social care authorities can raise up to 1% for a further Adult Social Care 
precept. Social Care authorities can also raise an Adult Social Care precept 
in 2022/23 for any element of the 3% precept for 2021/22 which was 
deferred but this cannot be carried-forward again. 

 Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) was confirmed at £34.255m, which is 
£1.006m higher than the current level of grant. It is assumed that this is to 
fund new activities and therefore a corresponding cost pressure of 
£1.006m has been added. 

 A new grant called Market Sustainability and Fair Cost of Care Fund was 
confirmed at £2.273m. This relates to the reforms to Adult Social Care 
funding announced in the autumn and it is again assumed that there will be 
new burdens arising from compliance with the grant conditions, resulting in 
a corresponding cost pressure. 

 
1.5. Members will be aware that central Government planned to implement significant 

funding reforms for the local government sector. There are two aspects to these 
reforms: the Review of Relative Needs and Resources (known as the Fair Funding 
Review), and 75% Business Rates Retention. These reforms were originally due to 
be implemented from April 2020 but were later deferred to April 2021 and then 
again to April 2022. The provisional settlement announcement indicates that work 
will start in the coming months to look at updating how local government funding 
is distributed. It is therefore possible that these long-awaited reforms could be 
implemented from 2023/24, however at this point no definite implementation 
date has been announced. 

 
1.6. The coronavirus pandemic continued to impact on both Council services and the 

local economy in the 2021/22 financial year with the Council's costs and losses 

Page 37



arising directly from the pandemic being funded by additional government grants. 
It is assumed that no such funding will be available in 2022/23.  

 
1.7. In view of the continuing uncertainties about future levels of funding, a one-year 

budget is proposed for 2022/23. 
 

1.8. At its meeting on 5 January 2022, the Executive approved proposals for the 
Council's revenue and capital budgets to be put forward as a basis for consultation 
including a proposed Council Tax increase in 2022/23 of 3.00%. This results from 
the proposed implementation of the Adult Social Care (ASC) Precept that was 
deferred in 2021/22. The charging of this 2021/22 ASC precept cannot be deferred 
again.  
 

 
Revenue Budget 
 
1.9. Budgets have been reviewed in detail based on the latest available information to 

arrive at the proposals set out in this report. A number of new cost pressures have 
emerged in addition to the pressures identified for 2022/23 in the previous year's 
budget process. In some areas, savings which can be made through efficiencies 
with no or minimal impact on the level of service delivery have also been 
identified. In developing the proposed financial plan, budget holders have 
considered all areas of current spending, levels of income and council tax plus use 
of one-off funding (including use of reserves and capital receipts) to set a balanced 
budget. 

 
1.10. Table A shows the total proposed revenue budget for the Council's Commercial, 

Resources and Corporate services. 
 

Page 38



TABLE A 

2021/22 

Budget

Cost 

Pressures
Savings

Proposed 

Budget 

2022/23

£000 £000 £000 £000

Information Management & 

Technology
14,757 1,079 -503 15,334 

Corporate Property (including 

County Farms)
11,037 134 -153 11,018 

Commercial Services (including 

Customer Services Centre)
8,716 82 -153 8,645 

Transformation 4,653 -46 -10 4,598 

Total - Commercial 39,164 1,249 -819 39,595 

Legal & Governance Services 2,025 0 -27 1,998 

Human Resources & Organisational 

Support
14,830 0 -892 13,938 

Finance 7,322 46 -44 7,325 

Public Protection * 4,656 10 -18 4,648 

Total - Resources 28,833 56 -981 27,909 

Strategic Communications 1,287 35 -3 1,318 

Corporate Services & Chief 

Executive
790 0 -15 775 

Total - Corporate 2,077 35 -18 2,094 

GRAND TOTAL 70,075 1,340 -1,817 69,598 

2022/23 Revenue Budget

COMMERCIAL 

RESOURCES

CORPORATE

* Included for information only , Public Protection is scrutinised by the Public 

Protection and Communities Scrutiny Committee
 

 

 
1.11. The overall budget proposals have allowed for pay inflation of 2% in 2022/23. This 

is however, currently being held centrally pending agreement of any pay 
settlement, following which service budgets will be updated and it is therefore not 
currently reflected in the table above. 

 
1.12. There are unavoidable service specific cost pressures for 2022/23 totalling 

£1.330m which will support the delivery of Council services. These are more than 

Page 39



offset by savings and efficiencies of £1.799m which do not negatively impact the 
level of service delivery. 

 
Commercial 

 
1.13. In Information Management and Technology, increased licencing and support costs 

to enable the utilisation of improved, cloud-based technologies in support of agile 
working, an increasing requirement for document storage, and additional staffing 
resource required to support increased demand, activity and pace of 
implementation, create a cost pressure of £0.836m. This will enable the service to 
continue to provide increased reliability and more effective remote support in the 
future. Migration of storage to the Azure cloud platform will result in savings of 
£0.500m which will be used to partially fund this pressure. 
 

1.14. Telephony licencing costs, previously a perpetual licence funded from the capital 
programme, is now an annual licence giving rise to a further revenue pressure of 
£0.243m. Although this is an additional revenue cost, the capital programme can 
be reduced thereby achieving corresponding capital financing savings over the 
duration of the medium-term financial plan.  
 

1.15. Increases in utility costs, rates and insurance premiums in Corporate Property 
result in cost pressures totalling £0.134m. This is offset by savings of £0.153m 
resulting from a reduction in the rent payable to the Crown Estate, improved 
contractual arrangements for the commissionaires service and savings arising from 
revised, agile working practices.  
 

1.16. A cost pressure of £0.082m due to the creation of a Commissioning Hub to support 
more efficient and collaborative procurement is offset by savings of £0.153m from 
the Customer Service Centre and agile working practices. 
 

1.17. In Transformation, the reversal of a previous short-term pressure due to additional 
software licensing no longer being required and agile working generates a 
reduction of £0.056m in the budget requirement. 
 

Resources 
 

1.18. The ongoing cost of maintaining Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard 
(PCI DSS) compliance creates a £0.046m cost pressure in Finance which is offset by 
savings of £0.044m from increased income generated from audit clients, services 
to support schools and agile working. 

 
1.19. In Organisational Support the review of Executive and Management Support 

arrangements and the continued implementation of the revised printing strategy is 
forecast to yield efficiency savings of £0.874m in 2022/23. 

 
1.20. Further increases in the income generated from external clients and schools in 

Human Resources combined with agile working, provides savings of £0.018m.  

Page 40



 
1.21. Savings of £0.027m are anticipated in 2022/23 from revised, agile working 

practices in Legal and Governance Services.  
 
Corporate 

 
1.22. In Strategic Communications, a pressure of £0.035m is due to creation of a Web 

Officer post as part of the implementation of the Digital Engagement Strategy. This 
is offset by savings from agile working practices of £0.018m.  

 
 
 

Capital Programme 
 

1.23. The ten-year Capital Programme previously approved has been reviewed in line 
with the principles set out in the Council's Capital Strategy, including the principle 
of affordability. The full Gross Programme totals £113.730m for 2022/23 plus a 
further £268.569m in future years. After grants and contributions are taken into 
account, the Net Programme is £87.734m for 2022/23 plus a further £261.075m 
for future years. 

 
1.24. Due to the uncertainty of future funding, no new projects have been added to the 

Capital Programme in this budget process. Instead, the block budgets for rolling 
maintenance programmes have been continued forward for the full ten years, and 
the capital budgets for some existing schemes have been increased due to rising 
costs.  The capital programme net budget has therefore increased since last year's 
budget process by a net amount of £7.741m. 

 
1.25. Table B shows the proposed gross capital programme for the Council's 

Commercial, Resources and Corporate services. 
 
 

Page 41



TABLE B 

Capital Programme

(2021/22 plus Future Years)

Revised 

Gross 

Programme

2021/22

£m

Revised 

Gross 

Programme

2022/23

£m

Gross 

Programme

Future Years

£m

PROPERTY

Property

Maintenance and improvement 

programme for council properties, 

asbestos works and improvements to the 

County Farm estates.

0.325 0.929 0.000

Property maintenance

To fund the maintenance and 

improvement programme for council 

properties

3.331 3.500 31.500

Orchard House Repairs

To complete essential repair work to the 

Lincoln County offices / Orchard House 

campus 

0.072 0.000 0.000

Bluelight - wider estates (other funding will 

support this)

Programme of works to support dual and 

tri service occupation throughout 

Lincolnshire.

0.208 0.000 0.000

Lexicon House
Refurbishment of Lexicon House for 

office accommodation.
0.000 0.950 0.000

Property Area Reviews
Programme of works for leased 

properties.
0.100 0.343 0.000

County Farms Private Roads
The improvement of private roads on the 

County Farms Estates.
0.000 0.020 0.000

County Farms Grain Stores
The improvement to County Farms grain 

stores.
0.000 0.145 0.098

County Farms Block
Improvements to the County Farm 

estate.
0.165 0.000 0.000

School Mobile Classroom Replacement
The replacement of school mobile 

classrooms.
0.416 0.300 2.700

Castle Motte

Contribution towards the programme of 

works to remove Lincoln Castle from the 

Heritage at Risk Register.

0.510 0.000 0.000

Total - Property 5.127 6.187 34.298

IMT

Broadband
Provision of superfast broadband across 

the county.
1.223 4.287 3.751

Infrastructure and Refresh Programme

General IT programmes including: IT 

development, replacement of PCs, other 

IT equipment and ICT infrastructure.

1.303 6.292 0.000

Improvement Transformation

To support the Transforation Programme 

by delivering enabling stategies in line 

with the Council's IMT strategy

0.000 4.000 0.000

Replacement ERP Finance System
Improvements to the ERP Finance 

system.
0.284 0.000 0.000

Care Management System (CMPP) Installation of the Mosaic system. 0.014 0.000 0.000

ICT Development Fund
Improvements to ICT infrastructure and 

network.
0.145 0.181 0.000

IMT (Cloud Navigator/Windows 10)

Upgrade of hardware to Windows 10 

system and development of Cloud 

Navigator to enable digital transformation 

of services to citizens.

0.035 0.066 8.000

Azure Data Migration
Migration of data from a physical to a 

cloud platform.
0.811 0.024 0.000

Total - IMT 3.815 14.851 11.751

COMMERCIAL

 
 
 

1.26. Other than some re-phasing of existing project expenditure there have been no 
changes to the previously approved capital programme relating to Commercial, 
Resources and Corporate services. 
 

 

Page 42



Further consultation 
 

1.27. A consultation meeting with local business representatives, trade unions and other 
partners is scheduled to take place on 28 January 2022. 

 
1.28. The proposals will be publicised on the Council’s website together with the 

opportunity for the public to comment. 
 
1.29. All consultation comments and responses will be available to be considered when 

the Executive makes its final budget proposals on 8 February 2022. 
 
 
2. Conclusion 
 
2.1. These budget proposals reflect the level of government funding expected to be 

available to the Council and an assumed increase in Council Tax in 2022/23 of 
3.00%.  

 
2.2. A thorough review of the Council's services was carried out during the budget 

process which has identified unavoidable cost pressures, some savings with 
minimal or no impact on the level of service provided and the capital programme 
has been reviewed. The budget proposals therefore aim to reflect the Council's 
priorities whilst operating within the resources available to it. 

 
3. Consultation 

 
a)  Risks and Impact Analysis 

An Equality Impact Assessment will be completed for the proposed increase in Council 
Tax. This will be reported to the Executive at its meeting on 8 February 2022. 

 
Further risk and impact assessments will need to be undertaken on a service by service 
basis. 

 
4. Background Papers 
 
The following background papers as defined in the Local Government Act 1972 were relied 
upon in the writing of this report. 
 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 

Council Budget 
2022/23 
Executive Report  
5 January 2022 

https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId
=121&MId=6153  

 
This report was written by Keith Noyland, who can be contacted at 
keith.noyland@lincolnshire.gov.uk.  

Page 43

https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=121&MId=6153
https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=121&MId=6153
mailto:keith.noyland@lincolnshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



       
 

Open Report on behalf of Andrew Crookham, Executive Director - Resources 

 

Report to: Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 

Date: 27 January 2022 

Subject: Council Budget 2022/23  

Decision Reference:   Key decision? No   

Summary:  

The Executive, at its meeting on 5 January 2022, approved the budget proposals 
described in the attached report (Appendix 1) for consultation.  

 
 

Actions Required: 

The Committee is asked to consider and comment upon the Executive's budget 
proposals, as set out in Appendix 1. 

 

 
1. Background 
 
1.1 The Executive, at its meeting on 5 January 2021, approved the budget proposals set 

out in the report as the preferred option for consultation. The report to the Executive 
describes these proposals in detail (Appendix 1). 

 
Further Consultation 
 
1.2 In addition to the review of budget proposals by the Overview and Scrutiny 

Management Board further scrutiny and consultation arrangements are: 
 

 All other Council Scrutiny Committees will have the opportunity to scrutinise 
budget proposals in detail in January; 

 

 Budget proposals were publicised on the Council's website following the 
Executive’s meeting and provide the opportunity for the public to comment; 
 

 Public awareness of the impact of the budget proposals on Council Tax will be 
raised using social media channels; and 
 

 A consultation meeting with local business representatives, trade unions and other 
partners will take place on 28 January 2022. 

 

Page 45

Agenda Item 9



1.3 Consultation responses and comments will be available to be considered when the 
Executive makes its final budget proposals on 8 February 2022. 

 
 
2. Conclusion 

2.1 These budget proposals reflect the level of government funding available to the 
Council in 2022/23, as well as the proposal to increase Council Tax in 2022/23 by 
3.00%, which is the Adult Social Care precept allowed to be charged in 2021/22 but 
which this Council deferred. Service areas have been reviewed and the budget 
proposals aim to support the Council's priorities within the financial resources 
available. 

 
3. Consultation 

 
 

 

 

 
 

a)  Risks and Impact Analysis 

An Equality Impact Assessment will be completed for the proposed increase in Council 
Tax. This will be reported to the Executive at its meeting on 8 February 2022.  
 
Further Risk and Impact Assessments will need to be undertaken on a service by service 
basis. 

 

 
4. Appendices 

 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

Appendix 1 Executive Report on Council Budget 2022/23 (including appendices) - 5 
January 2022 

 
 

5. Background Papers 
 
The following background papers as defined in the Local Government Act 1972 were relied 
upon in the writing of this report. 
 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 

Provisional Local 
Government Finance 
Settlement 
announcements 

Executive Director - Resources 

 
 
This report was written by Michelle Grady, who can be contacted on 01522 553235 or 
michelle.grady@lincolnshire.gov.uk.  
 
 

Page 46

mailto:michelle.grady@lincolnshire.gov.uk


APPENDIX 1 

       
 

Open Report on behalf of Andrew Crookham, Executive Director - Resources 

 

Report to: Executive 

Date: 05 January 2022 

Subject: Council Budget 2022/23 

Decision Reference: I025386 

Key decision? Yes 
 

Summary:  

This report outlines budget proposals for the next financial year 2022/23.  The 
Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement for 2022/23 was issued on 16 
December 2021 and is expected to be in line with the Final Settlement, which is due to 
be published in February 2022. We await further budgetary information from the 
Lincolnshire District Councils so the budget proposals for 2022/23 are therefore 
estimated at this stage. 
 
The Executive is asked to approve the proposals for the Council's budget for 2022/23, 
set out in this report and based on these estimates, for internal and external 
consultation. 

 
 

Recommendation(s): 

That the Executive approves the budget proposals described in this report as its 
preferred option for the purposes of further consultation, namely: 
 

1. The key budget setting assumptions set out in Appendix A, 

2. A 3% Adult Social Care (ASC) precept in 2022/23, which is the amount of ASC 

precept allowed for 2021/22 but which this Council deferred, 

3. The budget savings and cost pressures, covering the years 2022/23 to 2025/26 

set out in Appendix B, 

4. The draft capital programme 2022/23 onwards set out in Appendix C, 

5. The allocation of the remaining Development Fund Initiatives earmarked reserve 

set out in paragraph 1.47. 

 
 

 

Page 47



Alternatives Considered: 

1. 
 
 
2. 
 
 
3. 

The proposals for the Revenue Budget, Capital Programme and Council Tax as 
described in this report. 
 
Higher levels of spending and consequently a higher level of Council Tax next 
year. 
 
Lower levels of spending and consequently a lower level of Council Tax next year. 
 

 

Reasons for Recommendations: 

The recommended option takes account of the anticipated levels of Government grant 
and Business Rates funding to the Council and allows for an increase in Council Tax of 
3.00% for the Adult Social Care precept which was deferred from 2021/22. There are 
Adult Social Care cost pressures of £13.501m in 2022/23 and the proposed Adult Social 
Care precept is required to help fund these. 
 
The budget includes unavoidable cost pressures which will support the delivery of 
Council services, and a number of savings and efficiencies which do not impact 
negatively on services.  The recommendation is for a one-year budget for the financial 
year 2022/23, which reflects the fact that the provisional Local Government Finance 
Settlement only covers one year.  The recommended option currently reflects a 
balanced budget, although this may change once all budgetary information has been 
received by the end of January 2022. If the final position is a deficit budget, then a 
contribution from reserves will be used to balance the budget for 2022/23. 

 
 

1. Background 

 

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 

1.1 An updated Medium Term Financial Strategy was approved last year and has 
supported our budget setting process this year. The Strategy is being refreshed 
with minor changes and will be included with the report for the meeting of the 
Executive on 1 February 2022.  

 

The Budget Process 

1.2 This year's budget process started in the spring of 2021 with a re-assessment of 
our high-level budget assumptions.  Following this, budgets have been examined in 
detail, and a number of new cost pressures have emerged in addition to the 
pressures identified for 2022/23 in the previous year's budget process. In some 
areas, cost pressures previously identified have been reduced. The Council has 
adopted a longer term strategy to deliver efficiency savings and this is described in 

Page 48



more detail in paragraphs 1.4 to 1.8. As this year has progressed, our assumptions 
have been refined as new information has emerged. 

1.3 In terms of budget holder input, the budget process is complete, and we have 
received confirmation of next year's funding from central Government in the form 
of the Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement on 16 December 2021. 
Following this, the Final Local Government Finance Settlement is expected to 
confirm the Provisional Settlement in February 2022, and at the end of January 
2022 we will receive confirmation of Council Taxbase and Collection Fund balances 
from our local District Councils. Once all this information has been received, the 
budget proposals for 2022/23 will be confirmed at the meeting of the Executive on 
1 February 2022.  

 

Savings Strategy 

1.4 The longer-term savings strategy referred to above is to deliver efficiency savings 
with the aim of reducing bureaucracy and reliance on manual processes, whilst 
also ensuring back office services are optimised, and this will be delivered in the 
main via the developing Transformation Programme.  This approach will continue 
to allow the council to maintain and invest in its valued frontline services at a time 
when other councils are still reducing theirs.  

 

1.5 The savings presented in this report total £9.543m for 2022/23. The Medium Term 
Financial Plan includes further savings over the period 2023/24 to 2025/26 
totalling £16.041m cumulatively in addition to the £9.543m for 2022/23 i.e. 
£25.585m in total over the four years. These represent savings that we know that 
can be delivered over the four year period, as robust work has been undertaken to 
verify them.  If accelerated delivery allows them to be brought forward, we will do 
so but will always seek to place them in the year they can be delivered in their 
entirety to ensure that the council’s overall reputation for robust financial 

management is maintained.  

 

1.6 The nature of the savings presented are twofold.  Upfront, we have sought to 
maximise the benefits of the home working arrangements and Smarter Working 
programme.  We are significantly reducing administrative support posts, with a 
further phase to follow, whilst also profiling in surplus building closures and a 
£1.300m reduction to supplies and services and travel budgets over the plan 
reflecting changes in behaviour and reduced mileage and car use.  Further 
opportunities to maximise efficiencies from the new arrangements will continue to 
be sought including assessing whether staffing structures remain fit for purpose in 
the new operating model. Further into the plan, we have started to introduce, but 
haven’t concluded adding in, savings arising from our various transformational 
activities.  

 

1.7 The savings that will be delivered from the programme can be broadly split into 
two parts.  Firstly, such as in our demand led services, are projects reducing 

Page 49



exposure to future cost increases, for example in the adult care front door and in 
Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND).  Secondly, and the broader thrust 
of the programme, are projects designed to reduce bureaucracy, increase digital 
capabilities and ensuring back-office services provide optimised service delivery 
once they have been implemented.  Savings in this paper related to this strand 
include Home to School Transport and better use of available technology in 
processes used across the council. Projects that haven’t yet got efficiencies profiled 
in as they are too early in their development, but should do so in future budgets, 
are related to transforming our broader customer services offering, the remainder 
of corporate services support following the end of the Serco contract in 2024 and 
back office transformation on the back of the Business World implementation 
arrangements with Hoople Limited.  

 
1.8 Supplementing the savings, as in previous years, has been a fundamental review of 

our income generation opportunities, and as with the saving opportunities above, 
we expect developments in some specific service areas, such as Registrations, will 
see further income added in future budgets once developmental work has been 
completed.  

 

Spending Review 2021 

1.9 The Spending Review 2021 results were announced by the Chancellor of the 
Exchequer on 27 October 2021. This was a spending review covering the three 
years 2022/23 to 2024/25.  

1.10 The Spending Review announcement included notification of additional funding for 
local authorities in 2022/23 to help councils deal with some of the pressures 
currently being experienced, including inflationary pressures. This is on the back of 
improvements in the UK economy. Other announcements included: 

 Local government in England will receive an additional £4.8bn in grant 
funding over the next three years (£1.6bn in each year), which was 
described as “for social care and other services”; 

 There will be additional funding of £3.6bn over 3 years for adult social care 
reform, to implement the cap on personal care costs and changes to the 
means test. This will be weighted towards later years as the costs of the 
changes will grow over time. 

 Councils providing Adult Social Care services can charge an adult social care 
precept of up to 1% in 2022/23 and the same again in 2023/24 and 2024/25 
(this is in addition to any adult social care precept which may have been 
deferred from 2021/22 and can be charged in 2022/23);  

 The referendum limit is expected to remain at 2% for general council tax.  
This means that a total council tax increase of up to 3% can be charged by 
Councils providing Adult Social Care services (plus any social care precept 
which may have been deferred from 2021/22); 

Page 50



 The Business Rates multiplier, which is used to increase Business Rates 
charges, is to be frozen in 2022/23 and councils will be compensated for 
this loss of income, most likely by way of additional Section 31 grant; 

 Following the previous year’s announcement of a public sector pay freeze, 
the Spending Review 2021 confirmed a return to the usual process for 
setting pay awards;  

 The National Living Wage will increase to £9.50 per hour from April 2022 
(the impact of this increase has been included in the budget proposals); 

 A number of other specific grants will be received, although the amounts 
per council are not yet known. These include grants for: Supporting 
Families £500m (formerly Troubled Families), cyber security £12m, roads 
£2.7bn over the next three years, Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 
school places £2.6bn. 

Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement 
 
1.11 The provisional settlement announced on 16 December 2021 covered the year 

2022/23 only and confirmed the following funding streams for the Council in 
2022/23: 

 

 A new tranche of Social Care Support grant was confirmed at £9.342m, and 
we have assumed that this grant will continue at level into future years; 

 Our share of the new funding to deal with local authority pressures was 
confirmed at £7.684m and for the year 2022/23 only. It is called “Services 
Grant”; 

 Rural Services Delivery Grant – our allocation is confirmed at £7.277m, 
which is the same as it was in 2021/22; 

 New Homes Bonus grant – our allocation is £1.659m, which is an increase 
of £0.190m compared to 2021/22; 

 Revenue Support grant – our allocation is £21.220m, which is an increase of 
£0.640m compared to 2021/22 ; 

 Business Rates Top-Up grant – our allocation is £91.302m, which is the 
same as in 2021/22. This stagnation of the grant level is due to the business 
rates multiplier freeze announced as part of the Spending Review. Our 
combined assumptions for the different elements of business rates are 
expected to be in line with the total amount we receive in 2022/23, but this 
will not be known until the end of January when we receive budgetary 
information from the Lincolnshire District Councils. 

 

1.12 Other confirmations received in the provisional settlement were: 
 

 The council tax referendum limit will be 2% for general council tax increases 
and social care authorities can raise up to 1% for a further Adult Social Care 

Page 51



precept. Social care authorities can also raise an Adult Social Care precept 
in 2022/23 for any element of the 3% precept for 2021/22 which was 
deferred to 2022/23 – this cannot be deferred again; 

 Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) was confirmed at £34.255m, which is 
higher than the current level of grant by £1.006m. We have assumed that 
this is to fund new activities and we have added in a corresponding cost 
pressure for £1.006m. 

 The existing Social Care grants received in 2020/21 were all rolled forward – 
a total of £25.849m. 

 A new grant called Market Sustainability and Fair Cost of Care Fund was 
confirmed at £2.273m. This relates to the reforms to Adult Social Care 
funding announced in the autumn and we have again assumed that there 
will be new burdens arising from compliance with the grant conditions and 
we have added in a corresponding cost pressure. 

 There was an indication that work will start in the coming months to look at 
updating how local government funding is distributed. It is therefore 
possible that the long-awaited reforms could be implemented from 
2023/24. There are two streams to these reforms: the Review of Relative 
Needs and Resources (formerly known as the Fair Funding Review), and 
75% Business Rates Retention. These reforms were originally due to be 
implemented from April 2020 but were later deferred to April 2021 and 
then again to April 2022. At this point no definite implementation date has 
been announced. 

1.13 In view of the continuing financial uncertainties about our future levels of funding, 
a one-year budget is proposed for 2022/23. 

 
The Medium Term Financial Plan 

1.14 At this point in time, the Medium Term Financial Plan shows that we cannot 
achieve a balanced budget in any of the three years from 2023/24 through to 
2025/26. The budget shortfall in each year will need to be supported by reserves 
to achieve a balanced budget.  However, this is prior to receiving the Lincolnshire 
District Councils confirmation of Council Taxbases and Collection Fund positions 
affecting 2022/23, and prior to expected reforms to local government funding 
potentially affecting 2023/24 onwards. 

1.15 The Medium Term Financial Plan includes a number of savings and efficiencies 
which arise from various projects within our Transformation Programme. These 
include savings from changes to delivery models in Adult Care and Children’s 
Services; savings on travel and office-related costs arising from Smarter Working, 
as well as savings from reductions in office space and savings from Digital 
transformation. 

1.16 Our key assumptions within the Medium Term Financial Plan are shown in 
Appendix A and will be amended as new information on our future funding is 
received. Currently, in 2022/23 the budget is balanced, however in 2023/24 there 
is a budget shortfall of £9.335m, in 2024/25 there will be a budget shortfall of 

Page 52



£6.480m, and in 2025/26 a budget shortfall of £6.909m. The main drivers for the 
budget shortfall over the three later years are higher cost pressures, particularly in 
Adult Care, inflationary pressures and levels of grant funding which, although are 
overall increasing over the period, are not rising sufficiently to cover the cost 
pressures.  

1.17 There is a temporary cost pressure in Children’s Services for external placements 
of Children in Care. This is £3.013m in 2022/23 (see paragraph 1.23 for further 
detail on this cost pressure). The current financial position allows for this cost 
pressure to be funded, however as this is a temporary cost pressure which is 
planned to be fully reversed by 2025/26, it is proposed that if this pressure cannot 
be funded by the time the budget is finalised, then the Financial Volatility 
Earmarked Reserve is used to fund this cost pressure over the period of the 
Medium Term Financial Plan. This would mean that £3.013m of the Financial 
Volatility Reserve would be used for this purpose in 2022/23, with a further 
£2.798m required to be used in future years i.e. £5.811m in total. 

 

1.18 The Financial Volatility reserve currently stands at £44.483m.  This reserve is 
essential for the management of an uncertain financial situation in terms of both 
costs and future funding.  The Executive Director of Resources (Section 151 Officer) 
advice is that a Financial Volatility Reserve level of around £40m to £50m is 
prudent, given the uncertainty of the future funding reforms outlined in paragraph 
1.12 above.  The current balance is sufficient to support the overall budget deficits 
in the three future years, as well as the Children in Care cost pressure referred to 
in paragraphs 1.17 and 1.23 if this is required. As stated above, these figures will 
change once we know our Council Taxbase and Collection Fund positions. At this 
point in time, the four year view indicates that a total of £22.724m would need to 
be drawn from the Financial Volatility Reserve to balance the budget over those 
years and this would leave £21.759m remaining in the reserve. This earmarked 
reserve is available to support budget deficits arising over the medium term and 
will allow us time to transition to a lower base budget if this is required after 
funding reforms are implemented.  

Page 53



1.19 The current position for 2022/23 is shown in Table A: 

Table A – Summary Revenue Budget 
2022/23

£m

EXPENDITURE:

Net Base Budget 502.809

Cost Pressures (including inflation) 41.249

Savings & Additional Income -4.818

Other Movements (PH Grant, BCF Grant & Market Sustainability Grant) -4.725

Total Expenditure 534.515

Transfer to Earmarked Reserves 0.000

Transfer to/from General Reserve 0.000

Budget Requirement 534.515

INCOME:

Business Rates Local Retention 124.265

Revenue Support Grant 21.220

Other Grants 55.884

County Precept 333.146

Total Income 534.515

SUMMARY REVENUE BUDGET

 

Revenue Budget 2022/23 

1.20 Table A above shows our overall proposed budget for 2022/23 at this point in time, 
with a budget requirement of £534.515m (the budget requirement was £505.448m 
in 2021/22 so this is an increase of 5.2%). Following receipt of budgetary 
information from the District Councils at the end of January 2022, there may be a 
need for funding to be drawn from the Financial Volatility Reserve if there is a 
resulting budget deficit. The changes in our anticipated funding are explained in 
paragraphs 1.11 to 1.12 above. 

1.21 A number of unavoidable cost pressures have been added into the proposed 
budget, totalling £41.249m, and these are summarised in Appendix B. The most 
significant of these are: 

1.22 Adult Care and Community Wellbeing 

 £6.262m in respect of the financial rate paid to providers.  The largest cost 
pressure facing adult social care relates to the rate paid for care across all 
services and service types. The rates set are paid per person per week in 
residential care and an hourly rate for non-residential care.  The rate 
increase is higher in 2022/23 reflecting the announced increase in the 
National Living Wage to £9.50 per hour.  For the residential rates, we are 
proposing a one-year rate rather than the usual three given the continued 
volatility in the market resulting from the pandemic and the uncertainty 
surrounding the pace and scale of the Fair Cost for Care reforms. 

 £3.507m reflecting demand across adult social care, working age adults in 
particular.   Based on 2021/22 demand, we are forecasting an average 4% 
increase in demand across all services in this area with the higher increase 
in community-based care. 

Page 54



 £2.273m new costs arising from the Market Sustainability and Fair Cost of 
Care Fund 2022/23 published December 2021.  The grant funding is 
identified below. 

 £1.006m assumed new costs arising from the accelerated discharge 
pathway.  Adult care has seen an increase in costs across its services to 
manage the increase pace and scale of hospital discharge. 
 

1.23 Children's Services 

 £3.013m cost pressure reflecting the impact of the pandemic from 
increased Children in Care numbers, which has also been seen nationally, 
and a requirement to secure more specialist external placements. This is 
due to limited internal residential capacity, which is being taken forward 
with the creation of new children’s homes, and reduced capacity within 
internal foster carers during the pandemic. The market force challenges for 
securing external placements can result in a significant greater unit cost 
resulting in a material impact for the Council. Lincolnshire’s Children in Care 
per 10,000 population figures (47) compare favourably with statistical 
neighbours (63). Transformational work plans are in place to help realise 
our ambition of improving outcomes for children and achieving financial 
sustainability, which will see spending reduce to similar levels seen before 
the pandemic over a 3-year period which will require a temporary increase 
in funding. It is proposed that if this £3.013m cost pressure in 2022/23 
cannot be funded by the time the budget is finalised, it will be funded by 
the Council’s financial volatility earmarked reserve, given its temporary 
nature. 

 

 £6.546m cost pressure for the delivery of home to schools transport to 
meet its statutory and policy requirements due to challenging market 
conditions and circumstances. There are additional, significant external 
factors currently impacting on the cost of passenger transport: national 
living wage rises, inflationary challenges, a national drivers’ shortage 
(including more favourable pay rates in other delivery sectors) and a 
shortage of passenger assistants, rising fuel prices, and higher operational 
costs for larger suppliers including requirements of public service vehicle 
accessibility legislation. Assumptions have been applied on this volatile and 
demand-led budget building on from the current contractual commitments 
in this academic year. A transformational programme is underway which 
will have a focus on external factors, including developing new 
procurement tools and approaches, market engagement and management 
activity, improved contract management, an overhaul of routing and 
demand management activity. These activities aim to take back control of 
the supply market, increase competition and reduce the impact of external 
factors on costs. This is forecast to secure £1.239m of cost reductions in 
year 1, therefore an overall net budget increase of £5.307m in 2022/23. 
Budget stabilisation and securing value for money are fundamental factors 
going forward. It is proposed that responsibility for delivering home to 

Page 55



schools transport will transfer from the Children’s Services Directorate to 
the Place Directorate from April 2022. 

 

1.24 Other Budgets 

 £1.350m for the additional cost of the Local Government Pension Scheme 

lump sum deficit. 

 £4.775m for pay awards – this is based on an assumption of 2% for all 

groups for employees in 2022/23, and includes £1.655m relating to the 

expected additional cost of the 2021/22 pay awards for employees, which is 

likely to be above the level assumed in last year’s budget process. 

 £2.055m, which is the expected cost of the 1.25% increase in employers’ 

National Insurance Contributions from April 2022. 

 £3.500m – our usual contingency budget is £3.000m. It has been increased 

by £3.500m to £6.500m to allow for inflation uncertainty affecting our 

major contracts. The current economic environment is showing rising 

inflation in many areas and this increase to the contingency reflects a 2% 

volatility risk and also allows for the risk of some continuing Covid-19 costs, 

for which we would not expect to receive government funding. 

 £1.127m – an increase to the capital financing charges budget to reflect the 

on-going costs of the capital programme. 

 

1.25 Budgetary savings and increased specific grant income are also summarised in 
Appendix B, and total £9.043m. The most significant of these relate to: 

1.26 Adult Care and Community Wellbeing 

 £2.273m Market Sustainability and Fair Cost of Care grant funding.  This 
grant funding provides initial financial support for the implementation of 
the recently announced social care reforms.   Lincolnshire adult social care 
services need to be in the position to deliver the ambitions set out in the 
reforms.  In addition, the market effect of the reforms is that, over time, 
there is the need to reduce reliance on state-funded care from self-funders.  
Aligned to the conditions of the grant, this funding will support Lincolnshire 
to begin the implementation of the reforms as we head towards October 
2023. 

 £1.097m income expectation through national announcements to support 
the provider rate needed to promote market sustainability and growing 
demand across the sector. 

 £1.006m increase to the Improved Better Care Fund grant.  The 2022-23 
Better Care Fund Framework is not yet published, therefore any associated 
conditions attached to this funding are not yet confirmed. 

 

Page 56



1.27 Children’s Services 

£1.239m of cost reductions in home to school transport arising from 
transformational activity, which is described in paragraph 1.23 above. 

1.28 Resources 

 Our review of Business Support will deliver savings, not just in terms of posts which 
is a saving of £0.817m in 2022/23 (£1.783m in total over 2022/23 and 2023/24) 
but also in printing and photocopying (£0.157m over the two years). In total this 
represents a saving of almost 17% of the original budget. 

1.29 The table below shows the Net Revenue Budget by service area for 2022/23 at this 
point in time, with comparative budgets for 2021/22. 

Page 57



Table B – Net Revenue Budgets by Service 

2021/22 2022/23 2022/23

BUDGET REVENUE BUDGETS BUDGET PROPOSED

CHANGES BUDGET

£ £ £

COMMITTEE AREA

12,771,373 Children's Education -105,750 12,665,623

76,886,717 Children's Social Care 3,666,096 80,552,813

118,832,212 Adult Frailty & Long Term Conditions 6,656,712 125,488,925

86,310,919 Adult Specialities 5,808,483 92,119,402

29,355,056 Public Health & Community Wellbeing 328,556 29,683,612

80,287,899 Communities 5,052,460 85,340,359

344,105 Lincolnshire Local Enterprise Partnership 0 344,105

2,136,848 Growth -16,120 2,120,728

24,111,431 Highways 713,800 24,825,231

21,602,296 Fire and Rescue 107,961 21,710,257

Public Protection & Emergency Planning 4,969,917

Finance 7,324,796

Organisational Support 13,938,343

Legal and Governance 1,998,413

Corporate Property 11,018,347

Commercial 8,645,077

Transformation 4,597,546

Information Technology 15,333,673

2,943,487 Corporate Services 15,770 2,959,257

-33,546,137 Public Health Grant Income -348,993 -33,895,130

-52,233,341 Better Care Funding -2,102,911 -54,336,252

0
Market Sustainability and Fair Cost of Care 

(New Grant)
-2,273,366 -2,273,366

438,122,806 Total Committee 17,008,870 455,131,676

SCHOOLS BUDGETS

454,763,789 Schools Block 63,325,730 518,089,519

91,982,435 High Needs Block 18,134,077 110,116,512

3,728,205 Central School Services Block -336,555 3,391,650

42,131,646 Early Years Block -1,229,511 40,902,135

-595,281,990 Dedicated Schools Grant -79,893,741 -675,175,731

-2,675,915 TOTAL SCHOOLS BUDGETS 0 -2,675,915

OTHER BUDGETS

3,000,000 Contingency 3,500,000 6,500,000

41,661,946 Capital Financing Charges 1,327,361 42,989,307

22,699,741 Other 9,869,974 32,569,715

67,361,687 TOTAL OTHER BUDGETS 14,697,335 82,059,022

502,808,578 TOTAL NET EXPENDITURE 31,706,205 534,514,783

2,438,950 Transfer to/from Earmarked Reserves -2,438,950 0

200,000 Transfer to/from General Reserves -200,000 0

505,447,528 BUDGET REQUIREMENT 29,067,255 534,514,783

MET FROM:  

120,825,180 Business Rates Local Retention 3,439,743 124,264,923

20,579,898 Revenue Support Grant 640,216 21,220,114

44,416,116 Other Non Specific Grants 11,467,982 55,884,098

319,626,334 County Precept 13,519,314 333,145,648

505,447,528 TOTAL MET FROM 29,067,255 534,514,783

REVENUE EXPENDITURE

39,164,413 430,230

-924,05829,155,528

 

Page 58



Note: detailed budgets are still being worked on so there may be some changes on 
individual lines in the above table. These will be finalised in the Council Budget 2022/23 
report to the Executive in February. 

Revenue Support Grant 2022/23 

1.30 Our Revenue Support Grant, which is the Government's General Grant funding for 
councils, will be £21.220m in 2022/23. 

Other Revenue Government Grants 2022/23 

1.31 The table below summarises our other non-ringfenced Revenue Grants and the 
amounts confirmed for these in 2022/23. As stated in paragraph 1.10 above, some 
new specific grants were announced in the Spending Review statement, however 
these are not shown in the table below and the amounts are not yet known.  

Table C – Other Government Grants  

Amount Amount

Other Government Grant 2021/22 2022/23

£000's £000's

Social Care Support Grant 25,849 25,849

New Social Care Support Grant 22/23 0 9,342

New Services Grant 22/23 0 7,684

Rural Services Delivery Grant 7,277 7,277

New Homes Bonus Grant 1,469 1,659

Independent Living Fund (est) 1,515 1,477

Fire Pensions (est) 1,437 1,437

Extended Rights to Free Travel (est) 639 639

School Improvement Grant 649 293

Inshore Fisheries Conservation (est) 128 128

Virtual School Head (est) 98 98

Total Other Government Grant 39,061 55,883
 

Council Tax 2022/23 

1.32 It is assumed at this point in time that Council Tax will be increased by 3.00% in 
2022/23, which is all Adult Social Care (ASC) Precept and is the amount of ASC 
precept that adult social care authorities could have charged in 2021/22. This 
Council decided to defer the charging of this precept last year, which was allowed 
under the regulations. The charging of this 2021/22 ASC precept cannot be 
deferred again.  

1.33 The referendum threshold limit for 2022/23 was proposed by the Provisional 
Finance Settlement as 2.00%, which will be confirmed in the Final Local 
Government Finance Settlement. At this point in time a general council tax 
increase is not proposed. We will also have the ability to raise an ASC Precept of up 
to 1.00% for 2022/23 but at this point in time a further ASC Precept for 2022/23 is 
not proposed. 

Page 59



1.34 It is estimated that a Council Tax increase of 3.00% will generate additional income 
of £9.567m based on the Council Taxbase for the current year. The assumed 
increase in Council Taxbase will generate a further £4.928m of income. Together 
these increases total £14.495m in 2022/23. By way of illustration, a 1.0% increase 
in Council Tax would generate £3.189m of additional income based on the Council 
Taxbase for the current year. This means that a 1% increase in Council Tax would 
create surplus income of £3.189m which could be used to fund additional 
investment and / or budget pressures and a 1% decrease would create a deficit 
budget position of £3.189m which would need to be funded by the Financial 
Volatility Reserve. 

1.35 The final figures on the Council Taxbase and any surpluses or deficits on the 
Council Tax element of the Collection Fund will not be received from Lincolnshire 
District Councils until 31 January 2022.  We have currently assumed an increase in 
Taxbase of 1.5% for 2022/23.  

1.36  The Council Tax Collection Fund position in 2021/22 was mixed. Firstly there was a 
surplus of £0.678m which related to 2020/21, and secondly there was a deficit of 
£1.296m related to 2021/22. This deficit was allowed by regulation to be spread 
over three years. £0.700m was accounted for in the 2021/22 budgets and the 
remainder has been attributed to the 2022/23 and 2023/24 budgets in our budget 
plan (£0.298m in each of those two years). The final information on Taxbase 
changes and any further surplus or deficit on the Council Tax Collection Fund 
relating to 2022/23 will be reported to the Executive at its meeting on 1 February 
2022, together with the impact on funding that this will have. At this point in time 
we have assumed a neutral Council Tax Collection Fund position for 2022/23 i.e. 
neither a surplus nor a deficit. 

1.37  An Equality Impact Analysis will be completed for the proposed increase in Council 
Tax.  This will be reported back to the Executive at its meeting on 1 February 2022. 

Business Rates 2022/23 

 
1.38 The District Councils have until 31 January 2022 to provide business rates returns 

showing: 
 

 the position on the business rates element of the collection funds; and 

 the value of the section 31 compensation grant due to the County Council. 
 

At the time of preparing this report, the Council had not received notification of 
provisional Business Rates Collection Fund positions from any of the seven District 
Councils.  Any surplus or deficit from business rates collection will only have a one 
off effect on the 2022/23 budget. The current working assumption within the 
budget presented in this report is that there will be neither a surplus nor a deficit 
arising for the Business Rates Collection Fund 2022/23. 
 

1.39 In 2021/22 Business Rates income was significantly impacted by Covid-19, resulting 
in a deficit on the Business Rates Collection Fund of £10.644m. Most of this sum 
was funded by a new Section 31 grant in 2021/22 but a remaining deficit of 
£0.639m was required by regulation to be spread equally over 2022/23 and 

Page 60



2023/24. A deficit of £0.320m relating to 2021/22 is therefore included within the 
budget proposals for 2022/23. 

 
1.40 It is expected that the Government will compensate local authorities in full for the 

continuation of the business rates cap, small business rates relief and rural rate 
relief by way of a section 31 grant, as in previous years.  The Spending Review 
announcement also confirmed that the business rates multiplier (which is the 
factor by which business rates increase each year) will be frozen for 2022/23 but 
local authorities will be compensated in full for this loss by way of a section 31 
grant. 

 
1.41 A Business Rates Pool will continue to operate in 2022/23, and we have assumed 

for now that there will be a pooling gain next year of £2.800m.  
 
1.42 An update will be tabled at the Executive meeting on 1 February 2022 on all 

aspects of business rates funding once returns have been received from all of the 
Lincolnshire District Councils. 

 

Financial Risks 

1.43 There are a number of risks which may impact on the budget for 2022/23 and we 
have taken a realistic, but prudent approach to our estimates. Appendix A shows 
the key assumptions we have used. 

1.44 The assumptions which currently pose the most significant risks are: 

 We have assumed cost neutral Collection Fund positions i.e. neither a 
surplus or deficit at this stage; 

 The final figures for Council Taxbase and Business Rates, which will be 
received from the District Councils by 31 January 2022; 

 Our ability to deliver on savings in future years. Although such savings are 
not shown in this report, they are included in the Medium Term Financial 
Plan. 

 The high levels of inflation in the current economic environment. We have 
mitigated this risk to some extent by proposing an increase of £3.500m to 
our general contingency. 

 The risk of some continuation of Covid-19 costs which will no longer be 
funded by additional government grant. We have mitigated this risk to 
some extent by proposing an increase to our general contingency as 
detailed in the previous bullet point. 

 The uncertainty over the impact on us of the government’s funding reforms 
when they are implemented. 

Reserves 

1.45 Our General Reserves currently stand at £16.200m. The purpose of our General 
Reserves is to cover financial risks and our strategy is to maintain these reserves at a 
level which is between 2.5% and 3.5% of the budget requirement each year. Some 

Page 61



last-minute adjustments may be required when our funding for 2022/23 is 
confirmed, to ensure that the General Reserves amount remains within 2.5% to 
3.5% of the budget requirement. It is currently at 3.03% for 2022/23. 

1.46 The Financial Volatility earmarked reserve position is covered in paragraph 1.18 
above. 

1.47 The Development Fund Initiatives earmarked reserve currently includes the sum of 
£1.444m which has not yet been allocated to fund any initiatives. It is proposed that 
this balance of £1.444m be allocated to extend the Drainage Investigation and Flood 
Repairs scheme within Place for a further two years. The allocation will be £0.750m 
in 2022/23 and £0.694m in 2023/24. 

 
The Capital Strategy 
 
1.48 A Capital Strategy 2021/22 was approved last year and has supported our budget 

setting process for the capital programme this year. The Strategy is being refreshed 
for 2022/23 and will be included with the report for the meeting of the Executive on 
1 February 2022.  

 

Capital Programme 

1.49 A ten year Capital Programme has been compiled in line with the principles set out 
in our Capital Strategy, including the principle of Affordability. The full Gross 
Programme is shown at Appendix C and totals £113.730m for 2022/23 plus a 
further £268.569m for future years. After grants and contributions are taken into 
consideration, we have a Net Programme of £87.734m for 2022/23 plus a further 
£261.075m for future years. 

1.50 The Council is continuing to make representations to the Department for Transport 
(DfT) to reinstate the element of reduced funding. Whilst we await the outcome of 
these negotiations, the highways maintenance programme budget will be set 
equivalent to the DfT level of grant once this is confirmed, and we currently expect 
it to be in line with the 2021/22 grant which was £12.3m less than the grant 
received in the previous year.  

1.51 Due to the uncertainty of our future funding, no new projects have been added to 
the capital programme in this budget process. Instead, the block budgets for rolling 
maintenance programmes have been continued forward for the full ten years, and 
the capital budgets for some existing schemes have been increased due to rising 
costs.  The capital programme net budget has therefore increased since last year's 
budget process by a net amount of £7.741m. The main areas of change are set out 
below, with the most significant increases in the gross programme for 2022/23 
covered by re-phasing uncommitted budget on some other schemes into future 
years. 

 

 
 
 

Page 62



1.52 Children’s Services 
 
New Schools capital: this is a reduced requirement of £9.259m over the ten year 
period. The new school funding requirement has reduced by £9.259m over the 
identified period to £33.441m net budget since the county has experienced lower 
birth rates, which will delay the potential timeframe for most new school 
requirements.  

1.53 Place  

 
The emergence of a number of risks associated with the Grantham Southern Relief 
Road (GSRR) and Spalding Western Relief Road (SWRR), most notably the 
inflationary pressure caused by the current global materials supply chain issues, 
have resulted in increases to the forecast costs. For 2022/23 an additional budget 
of £3.000m has been added for the SWRR Section 5. For future years, an additional 
budget of £8.000m for the GSRR and an additional budget of £6.000m for the 
SWRR Section 5 have been included to fund the anticipated increased cost. Further 
risk still remains which could change these forecasts, but these will continue to be 
monitored and reported as the schemes progress. To ensure the capital 
programme for 2022/23 is affordable and to recognise the remaining risks of the 
major highway schemes currently in progress, some budgets for schemes where 
spend has not yet been committed have been re-phased into later years. 
 

1.54 The revenue impact of the Capital Programme (capital financing charges to the 
Revenue Budget) fluctuates from year to year and it was agreed last year that 
fluctuations above and below the base budget would be dealt with by using an 
Earmarked Reserve for Capital Financing. The balance in this earmarked reserve 
currently stands at £13.797m and is likely to increase to around £18.977m after 
the 2021/22 outturn position is confirmed. 

   

1.55     Capital financing charges have been calculated based on the latest ten-year capital 
programme and from this it is estimated that this earmarked reserve will cover 
levels of charges above the base budget until 2027/28. Any future increases to the 
capital programme will change this position, and this relates to both new schemes 
and to schemes which have not yet started such as the North Hykeham Relief Road 
project. 

 

Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy 

 
1.56 The Council previously approved the strategy of using Capital Receipts flexibly to 

fund revenue transformation projects from 2016/17 to 2019/20, in line with the 
Government's amended policy.  From 2020/21 this was changed so that the 
strategy is now that capital receipts will only be used to repay loans or fund new 
capital expenditure. Transformation projects will instead be funded by using 
existing revenue budgets or earmarked reserves. This amended strategy will 
continue into 2022/23. 

Page 63



 
1.57 The statutory guidance relating to the flexible use of capital receipts requires 

councils to approve annually a Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy. The 
proposed strategy for 2022/23 will be presented to the Executive on 1 February 
2022 and will confirm that the Council has not identified any transformation 
projects in 2022/23 to be funded using this flexibility. 

 

2 Legal Issues: 
 
2.1 Equality Act 2010 
 

Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, the Council must, in the exercise of its 
functions, have due regard to the need to: 

 

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct 
that is prohibited by or under the Act. 

 

 Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

 

 Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

 
The relevant protected characteristics are age; disability; gender reassignment; 
pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; and sexual orientation. 

 
Having due regard to the need to advance equality of opportunity involves having 
due regard, in particular, to the need to: 

 

 Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic. 

 Take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not 
share it. 

 Encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to 
participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by 
such persons is disproportionately low. 

 
The steps involved in meeting the needs of disabled persons that are different 
from the needs of persons who are not disabled include, in particular, steps to take 
account of disabled persons' disabilities. 

 
Having due regard to the need to foster good relations between persons who share 
a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it involves having 
due regard, in particular, to the need to tackle prejudice, and promote 
understanding. 
 

Page 64



Compliance with the duties in section 149 may involve treating some persons more 
favourably than others. 
 
The duty cannot be delegated and must be discharged by the decision-maker.  To 
discharge the statutory duty the decision-maker must analyse all the relevant 
material with the specific statutory obligations in mind.  If a risk of adverse impact 
is identified consideration must be given to measures to avoid that impact as part 
of the decision making process. 

 

These equality considerations do not preclude changes in services being made, 
but do require that these be fully appreciated.  It is clear that the current and 
future financial challenges facing local authorities and the need for budget savings 
may result in changes to service provision and to some reduction in Council 
services.  These may apply to services accessed by all people in Lincolnshire as 
well as services provided to specific groups.  It is possible that there may be an 
adverse impact on some people and communities including those with a 
protected characteristic.  
 
In order to meet its obligations, Equality Impact Analyses will be carried out in 
relation to any proposed changes to services on an individual basis.  The specific 
impacts on people with a protected characteristic will be investigated and the 
potential mitigation, if any, will be made clear, so that the implications of 
decisions are fully understood as they affect specific groups and communities.  
These have been and will continue to be regularly reported to the Executive as 
part of the decision making processes.  Individual proposals will only be 
implemented after due regard to the legal matters that must be considered, 
including the public sector equality duty. 
 
As part of its decision-making, the Executive will need to consider whether any 
alternative approaches could alleviate or at least mitigate the impact of the 
decision; such as making reductions in other areas which do not have the same 
impacts, including, particularly, equality impacts. The result could be to require 
additional resources to be used in certain areas than has been budgeted for.  
 
Consideration of the public sector equality duty and/or consultation may be 
necessary at the budget setting stage where a decision to reduce spending is 
significant, sufficiently focussed, and in financial terms, apparently rigid. 
 
It is not considered that this applies to any of the proposed reductions set out in 
this Report and its Appendices.   
 
In particular, in the event that any of the proposed reductions cannot be 
achieved, the usual budget management processes such as the use of Earmarked 
Reserves, or virement, would be followed, and approval sought at the appropriate 
levels in accordance with Financial Regulations, including full Council where 
necessary.  Furthermore, a contingency has been built into the budget proposals 
in the form of the Financial Volatility Reserve (the balance is currently £44.483m) 

Page 65



and the annual Contingency budget of £6.500m for 2022/23, for when additional 
funding cannot be found by way of Earmarked Reserves or virement from other 
service areas. 
 
 A full Equality Impact Analysis will be developed in respect of the final budget 
proposal and in particular any Council Tax proposals in the light of feedback 
received during the consultation process. 

 
Joint Strategic Needs Analysis (JSNA and the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
(JHWS) 

 
The Council must have regard to the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) and 
the Joint Health & Well Being Strategy (JHWS) in coming to a decision. 

 

Individual proposals will only be implemented after due regard to the legal 
matters that must be considered, including the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 
and Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

 
Crime and Disorder 

 
Under section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, the Council must exercise its 
various functions with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those 
functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent crime and 
disorder in its area (including anti-social and other behaviour adversely affecting 
the local environment), the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other substances in its 
area and re-offending in its area. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

3 Conclusion 

3.1 These budget proposals reflect the level of Government funding available to the 
Council and a proposal to increase general Council Tax in 2022/23 by 3.00%.  

3.2 A thorough review of Council services was carried out during this year's budget 
process. Unavoidable cost pressures as well as savings have been identified, and 
the Capital Programme has been reviewed. The budget proposals aim to reflect the 
Council's priorities whilst operating with the resources available to it. 
 

3.3 The budget proposals have been developed alongside, and in accordance with, the 
draft Medium Term Financial Strategy and a proposed final version of this Strategy 
will be reported to Executive in February.  Final budget proposals will be reported 
to the Executive on 1 February 2022. 

 
 

Individual proposals will only be implemented after due regard to the legal 
matters that must be considered, including the duty under section 17 of the 
Crime and Disorder Act 1998. 

Page 66



4. Legal Comments: 
 

The Executive is responsible for publishing initial budget proposals for the 
budget for the purposes of consultation before determining the budget it will 
recommend to the full Council. 
 
The matters to which the Executive must have regard in reaching its decision are 
set out in the body of the report. 
 
The recommendations are within the remit of the Executive and are lawful. The 
Executive has the power to accept the Recommendation, or to agree one of the 
alternative approaches referred to in the report, subject to the limits on Council 
Tax increases referred to in the report. 
 

 

5. Resource Comments: 
 

These budget proposals incorporate the level of funding available to the Council 
from central Government plus an increase in Council Tax of 3.00% for the Adult 
Social Care precept.   
 
Although the budget proposals are estimated at this stage, the funding assumed 
is in line with the Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement received in 
December 2021, and we propose a surplus budget at this stage, which will be a 
balanced budget once all remaining budgetary information has been 
incorporated. 
 
The Medium Term Financial Plan from 2023/24 onwards still shows an 
underlying deficit position. We hope to be able to resolve this once our future 
funding is known. 
 

 
6. Consultation 

 
a)  Has Local Member Been Consulted? 

 N/A 
 

b)  Has Executive Councillor Been Consulted?  

 Yes 

c)  Scrutiny Comments 

There are no scrutiny comments at this stage in the budget process.  
 
 

 

 

d)  Risks and Impact Analysis 

An Equality Impact Analysis will be completed for the proposed increase in Council Tax.  
This will be reported to the Executive at its meeting on 1 February 2022. 

Page 67



 
Further Equality Impact Analyses will need to be undertaken on a service by service 
basis. 

 

 
7. Appendices 

 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

Appendix A Key Assumptions in the Medium Term Financial Plan 

Appendix B Cost Pressures and Savings for 2022/23 

Appendix C Capital Programme 2022/23 and Future Years 

 
 

8. Background Papers 
 
The following background papers as defined in the Local Government Act 1972 were relied 
upon in the writing of this report. 
 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 

Provisional Local 
Government Finance 
Settlement 

Provisional local government finance settlement: England, 
2022 to 2023 - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

Council Budget 2021/22 Budget and financial strategy – Lincolnshire County Council 

Review of Financial 
Performance 2020/21 

Agenda for Council on Friday, 17th September, 2021, 10.30 
am (moderngov.co.uk) 

 
 
This report was written by Michelle Grady, who can be contacted on 01522 553235 or 
michelle.grady@lincolnshire.gov.uk . 

Page 68

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/provisional-local-government-finance-settlement-england-2022-to-2023
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/provisional-local-government-finance-settlement-england-2022-to-2023
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/directory-record/61670/budget-and-financial-strategy
https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=120&MId=5732&Ver=4
https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=120&MId=5732&Ver=4
mailto:michelle.grady@lincolnshire.gov.uk


 

Appendix A

Funding / Expenditure Area Assumption 2022/23
Funding
Independent Living Fund Assume falls by 2.5% pa -2.50%
Public Health Grant Assume maintained at 2021/22 level 0.00%

Better Care Funding
Increased by assumed Minimum Income 
Guarantee

Council Tax Collection Fund Surplus
Assume no surplus. Deficits from 2020/21 
built into MTFP 0.00%

Council Tax Taxbase - assume 1.5% increase pa 1.50%

Council Tax Increase
Council Tax Band D Increase 3% 2022/23 (3% 
ASC Precept), 2% thereafter 3.00%

BR Collection Fund Surplus Assume no surplus 0.00%
BR collected locally 2.00%

BR S31 Grant 2.00%

BR Pooling Gain
Assume pooling gain £2.8m 22/23 then £2.5m 
thereafter 0.00%

Expenditure
Pay Inflation 2.0% pa Pay Inflation 2.00%
LGPS Employers Contribution 2.0% increase 2023/24 0.00%
Total

Key Assumptions in the Medium Term Financial Plan for 2022/23

Assume 2% 22/23 then 1% thereafter (based 
on CPI capped at 2%), assume multiplier 
freeze covered by S31 grant

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B 

Cost Pressures & Savings 2022/23 

ADULT CARE AND COMMUNITY WELLBEING 

 

  

DIRECTORATE BUDGET BOOK LINE SERVICE AREA

Increased Costs / Savings 
Unachievable / Reduced 
Income / Previously Reserves 
Funded

COST PRESSURES DESCRIPTION 2022/23 
Updated 

Dec 2021 £

Adult Care and Community 
Wellbeing

Adult Frailty & Long Term 
Conditions

Adult Frailty & Long Term 
Conditions

Increased Costs

The financial rate paid to providers of older peoples care and 
physical disability services increases each year to reflect 
changes in inflation, national living wage etc.  The rate is 
encompassed in the 3 year residential contracts and/or the 
homecare prime provider contracts and published in the 
annual statement attached to the Adult Care Charging Policy.

3,200,334

Adult Care and Community 
Wellbeing

Adult Frailty & Long Term 
Conditions

Adult Frailty & Long Term 
Conditions

Increased Costs
Increase due to confirmed national living wage of £9.50 for 
2022-23 (previously calculated as £9.42) for Residential 
services in Adult Frailty.

480,000

Adult Care and Community 
Wellbeing

Adult Frailty & Long Term 
Conditions

Adult Frailty & Long Term 
Conditions

Increased Costs
Increase due to confirmed national living wage of £9.50 for 
2022-23 (previously calculated as £9.42) for Home based 
services in Adult Frailty.

230,000

Adult Care and Community 
Wellbeing

Adult Frailty & Long Term 
Conditions

Adult Frailty & Long Term 
Conditions

Invest to save
Expansion of community specialist nurse service supporting 
delivery of adult care ambition to support people to maximise 
their independence.  Savings detailed below.

102,000

P
age 71



 

 

DIRECTORATE BUDGET BOOK LINE SERVICE AREA

Increased Costs / Savings 
Unachievable / Reduced 
Income / Previously Reserves 
Funded

COST PRESSURES DESCRIPTION 2022/23 
Updated 

Dec 2021 £

Adult Care and Community 
Wellbeing

Adult Specialties Adult Specialties Increased Costs

The financial rate paid to providers of mental health and 
learning disability services increases each year to reflect 
changes in inflation, national living wage etc.  The rate is 
encompassed in the 3 year residential contracts and/or the 
homecare prime provider contracts and published in the 
annual statement attached to the Adult Care Charging Policy.

1,732,407

Adult Care and Community 
Wellbeing

Adult Specialties Adult Specialties Increased Costs
Increase due to confirmed national living wage of £9.50 for 
2022-23 (previously calculated as £9.42) for Residential 
services in Adult Specialities.

330,000

Adult Care and Community 
Wellbeing

Adult Specialties Adult Specialties Increased Costs
Increase due to confirmed national living wage of £9.50 for 
2022-23 (previously calculated as £9.42) for Home based  
services in Adult Specialities.

290,000

Adult Care and Community 
Wellbeing

Adult Specialties Adult Specialties Increased Costs
Demand for adult specialties continues to increase with 
between 2.3% - 2.9% for learning disability and mental health 
long term care respectively.

3,507,621

Adult Care and Community 
Wellbeing

Adult Frailty & Long Term 
Conditions

Adult Frailty & Long Term 
Conditions

Increased Costs

Assumed new costs arising from the accelerated discharge 
pathway.  Adult care has seen an increase in costs across its 
services to manage the increase pace and scale of hospital 
discharge

1,006,000

Adult Care and Community 
Wellbeing

Adult Frailty & Long Term 
Conditions

Adult Frailty & Long Term 
Conditions

Increased Costs
New costs arising from the Market Sustainability and Fair 
Cost of Care Fund 2022 to 2023 published December 2021.  
The grant funding is identified below.

2,273,366

Adult Care and Community 
Wellbeing

Adult Specialties Safeguarding Previously Reserves Funded
Growth in demand for DoLs / LPS previously funded by adult 
care non-recurrent reserve

0

Adult Care and Community 
Wellbeing

Public Health & Community 
Wellbeing

Public Health & Community 
Wellbeing

Increased Costs
Increase in Sexual health PrEP costs built into Public Health 
Grant allocation.  

348,993

13,500,721

P
age 72



 

DIRECTORATE BUDGET BOOK LINE SERVICE AREA
Reduced Costs / Funding 
Adjustments / Increased 
Income

SAVINGS DESCRIPTION
2022/23 
Updated 

Dec 2021 £

Adult Care and Community 
Wellbeing

Adult Frailty & Long Term 
Conditions

Adult Frailty & Long Term 
Conditions

Reduced Costs
Investment in extra care housing forecast to reduce long term 
placement costs

-169,980

Adult Care and Community 
Wellbeing

Adult Frailty & Long Term 
Conditions

Financial Assessments Reduced Costs
Reduction on Business Support recharges when online 
financial assessments in full use/ reduction of complaints and 
compensation payments or cancellation of debts.

-100,000

Adult Care and Community 
Wellbeing

Adult Frailty & Long Term 
Conditions

Long Term Care Invest to save
Expansion of community specialist nurse service supporting 
delivery of adult care ambition to support people to maximise 
their independence. 

-170,066

Adult Care and Community 
Wellbeing

Adult Frailty & Long Term 
Conditions

Infrastructure Reduced Costs

Reduction in travel, room hire and stationery through smarter 
working.  Travel reduction forecast may change depending on 
the conclusion of team bases.  Property and printing costs no 
longer held by ACCW

-86,062

Adult Care and Community 
Wellbeing

Adult Frailty & Long Term 
Conditions

Reduced Costs Smarter Working- General Savings -180,860

Adult Care and Community 
Wellbeing

Better Care Fund
Adult Frailty & Long Term 
Conditions

Change in Better Care Fund
Received confirmation of increase in 20-21 BCF Min Income 
Guarantee, assumed 50% received into LCC.  There is a risk 
that this may not come into LCC

-1,096,911

Adult Care and Community 
Wellbeing

Better Care Fund
Adult Frailty & Long Term 
Conditions

Change in Better Care Fund

Increase to the Improved Better Care Fund grant.  The 
2022/23 Better Care Fund Framework is not yet published, 
therefore any associated conditions attached to this funding 
are not yet confirmed.

-1,006,000

Adult Care and Community 
Wellbeing

Better Care Fund
Adult Frailty & Long Term 
Conditions

Market Sustainability & Fair 
Cost of Care Fund

Market Sustainability and Fair Cost of Care grant funding.  
This grant funding provides initial financial support for the 
implementation of the recently announced social care 
reforms.   Lincolnshire adult social care services need to be 
in the position to deliver the ambitions set out in the forms.  In 
addition, the market effect of the reforms is that, over time, 
there is the need to reduce reliance on state-funded care from 
self-funders.  Aligned to the conditions of the grant, this 
funding will support Lincolnshire to begin the implementation 
of the reforms as we head towards October 2023.

-2,273,366

Adult Care and Community 
Wellbeing

Public Health Grant
Public Health & Community 
Wellbeing

Change in Public Health Grant
Public Health Grant confirmed increase in PrEP costs now 
form part of grant allocation

-348,993

-5,432,238

TOTAL CHANGES 8,068,483

P
age 73



CHILDREN’S SERVICES 

 

  

DIRECTORATE BUDGET BOOK LINE SERVICE AREA
Increased Costs / Savings 
Unachievable / Reduced Income / 
Previously Reserves Funded

COST PRESSURES DESCRIPTION
2022/23 
Updated 

Dec 2021 £

Children's Services Children's Social Care
Children in Care (CiC) - 
External Placements

Increased Costs

Impact of the pandemic from increased CiC and requirement 
to secure external placements. The transformational work 
plans to see spending levels reduce to similar levels seen 
before the pandemic over a 3 year period which will require a 
temporary increase in funding.

3,012,758

Children's Services Children's Social Care
Children in Care (CiC) - 
Inflationary rises

Increased Costs
CiC: increase in costs across the composition of placement 
types supporting this vulnerable group (c.2% inflationary 
applied).

386,356

Children's Services Children's Social Care
Children in Care (CiC) - 
Placements

Increased Costs
Growth in CiC population based on 0-17 projections and 0.5 
per 10,000 increase p.a. (36 CiC increase from 2022 - 2026). 
Below East Midland's neighbours per 10,000.

272,711

Children's Services Children's Social Care Special Guardianship Orders Increased Costs

Special Guardianship Orders (SGOs) continue to be seen as 
an important option for permanency for children who need to 
be removed from their birth parents. The expected increases 
are based on past trends.

323,392

3,995,217

P
age 74



 

DIRECTORATE BUDGET BOOK LINE SERVICE AREA
Reduced Costs / Funding 
Adjustments / Increased Income SAVINGS DESCRIPTION

2022/23 
Updated 

Dec 2021 £

Children's Services Children's Social Care
Family Assessment & Support 
Team

Reduced Costs
Utilisation of grant income and budget reductions to meet 
service requirements

-1,000

Children's Services Children's Social Care Leaving Care Services Reduced Costs
Savings planned from the new Supported Accommodation 
pathway in meeting the needs to 16-17 year old care leavers. 
The new contract is now in place.

-138,872

Children's Services Children's Education Smarter Working Reduced Costs Smarter Working- General Savings -104,750

Children's Services Children's Social Care Smarter Working Reduced Costs Smarter Working- General Savings -189,250

Children's Services Children's Education Education Support Services Reduced Costs
Additional income generation, a reduction in the cost of 
software and budget reductions to meet service requirements

-1,000

-434,872

TOTAL CHANGES
3,560,346

P
age 75



PLACE 

 

  

DIRECTORATE BUDGET BOOK LINE SERVICE AREA

Increased Costs / Savings 
Unachievable / Reduced 
Income / Previously Reserves 
Funded

COST PRESSURES DESCRIPTION 2022/23 
Updated 

Dec 2021 £

Place Communities
Cultural Services - Library 
provision

Increased Costs Contract Inflation - GLL Libraries contract 42,000

Place Communities
Environment and Flood 
Management

Increased Costs

Countryside - insufficient budget to deliver on the service and 
this has been exacerbated by Covid with more demand on 
the service. Average revenue pressure over the last few 
years.

200,000

Place Communities Home to School Transport Increased Costs

Home to Schools Transport - current contractual commitment 
(Nov-21) including budget assumptions for cost rises through 
national liviing wage, inflationary challenges and market 
conditions; PSVAR legislative requirements and mainstream 
pupil growth in entitlement. The budget is facing unfavourable 
market conditions and is demand-led in nature. 

6,546,187

Place Highways Highways Asset Management Increased Costs
Contract Inflation. Cost of plant, labour and equipment 
outstripping budgetary increases. 4% spike expected

760,000

Place Highways Highways Asset Management Increased Costs
Asset growth - average of 18km of newly adopted road per 
annum

30,000

7,578,187

P
age 76



 

  

DIRECTORATE BUDGET BOOK LINE SERVICE AREA
Reduced Costs / Funding 
Adjustments / Increased 
Income

SAVINGS DESCRIPTION 2022/23 
Updated 

Dec 2021 £

Place Communities Waste Management Reduced Costs Savings from paper and card recycling collections -364,572

Place Communities Communities Reduced Costs
Smarter Working Savings - Communities (most of available 
savings have already been used to mitigate budget pressures 
in 2021/22)

-5,000

Place Communities Home to School Transport Reduced Costs
Home to Schools Transport: Better procurement of supply 
contracts

-284,091

Place Communities Home to School Transport Reduced Costs Home to Schools Transport: Improved Routing -579,600

Place Communities Home to School Transport Reduced Costs
Home to Schools Transport: Re-evaluation of PA 
requirements

-242,509

Place Communities Home to School Transport Reduced Costs Home to Schools Transport: Alternative Transport Solutions -132,955

Place Growth Growth Reduced Costs
Smarter Working Savings - Growth (most of available 
savings have already been used to mitigate budget pressures 
in 2021/22)

-10,000

Place Highways Highways Services Reduced Costs Smarter Working - general savings -199,320

Place Highways Highways Services Reduced Costs
Smarter Working Savings - Highways (most of available 
savings have already been used to mitigate budget pressures 
in 2021/22)

-10,000

-1,828,047

TOTAL CHANGES 5,750,140

P
age 77



FIRE AND RESCUE 

 

  

DIRECTORATE BUDGET BOOK LINE SERVICE AREA

Increased Costs / Savings 
Unachievable / Reduced 
Income / Previously Reserves 
Funded

COST PRESSURES DESCRIPTION
2022/23 
Updated 

Dec 2021 £

Fire and Rescue
Fire and Rescue & Emergency 
Planning

Fire  - Pre Hospital Emergency 
Medical training

Increased Costs

500K over a 3 year period depending on suppliers(e.g 250K 
yr1 / 50K yr2 / 200K yr3).  Following a review of our Trauma 
training that we provide our operational staff, it identified that 
we do not provide the level of skills or capability that is 
provided by other Fire and Rescue Services.    These are the 
skills for our operational staff to give emergency medical 
treatment at incidents to the public, especially when there are 
no ambulance on scene or medical professionals.  Current 
standards as identified by NFCC recommend that all 
operational staff are trained to Pre-Hospital Emergency 
Medical level C or D.  It has also been identified through an 
audit by National Resilience that we are not meeting the 
requirements for our National Boat Teams to be deployed to 
support national incidents due to our staff not being trained to 
these standards. We are proposing to upskill our staff to 
Level C.  At present we are completing a business case that 
outlines the most cost effective way to upskill our staff, which 
has identifed the proposed costs.  We are looking at ways to 
reduce the implementation costs if possible.

-250,000

Fire and Rescue
Fire and Rescue & Emergency 
Planning

Training Increased Costs Additional Base Budget requirement for training 150,000

P
age 78



 

  

DIRECTORATE BUDGET BOOK LINE SERVICE AREA

Increased Costs / Savings 
Unachievable / Reduced 
Income / Previously Reserves 
Funded

COST PRESSURES DESCRIPTION
2022/23 
Updated 

Dec 2021 £

Fire and Rescue
Fire and Rescue & Emergency 
Planning

Urban Search & Rescue 
(USAR)

Increased Costs

Each year the Service allocates £65,000.00 to the USAR 
budget, dispite the spend on that budget requirement being 
over £130,000.00 (the rest of the spend is taken from the 
grant each year. 
Over the last 3 years National Resilience has increased the 
committment of the USAR teams and have changed the 
performance inidcators for the requirements of a team, this 
has led to some of the training  being extended and numbers 
of personnel completing specific capabilities being increased. 
The heavily wieghted on call model used by the Service has 
also seen a year on year fluctuation in staff (due to 
retirements, leavers and promotions) This has meant that the 
Service has had to run recruitment and initial courses year on 
year and this is forecast to continue. 
Budget projections for USAR for the next 3 years are £185k 
pa.
We have grant funding reserves left that can be utilised over 
the next 2 years to offset some of the costs (see tab EMR) 
but this reserve will be exhausted during 24/25.

81,131

Fire and Rescue
Fire and Rescue & Emergency 
Planning

East Coast Consortium 
Mobilising System

Increased Costs

As we entered into the partnership just over a year ago, the 
consortium (Herts / Norfolk / Humberside / Lincs) were aware 
that the current contract would be due for renewal in 
2022/23. In order to maintain stability of the current mobilising 
system and ensure that any investment in a new systems is 
financially viable, a 2 year extension to the contract was 
negotiated.The outcome of that negotiation, which was 
agreed at the Consortium Board in October 2021, has 
resulted in a £60k contribution to the contract for  from each 
participating Service. 

60,000

P
age 79



 

  

DIRECTORATE BUDGET BOOK LINE SERVICE AREA

Increased Costs / Savings 
Unachievable / Reduced 
Income / Previously Reserves 
Funded

COST PRESSURES DESCRIPTION
2022/23 
Updated 

Dec 2021 £

Fire and Rescue
Fire and Rescue & Emergency 
Planning

Community Fire Protection Reduced income

Following the 2021 HMI inspection a number of 
recommendation have been made regarding service 
improvements. These included an improved protection 
function by having appropriatley skilled resources focussing 
on inspection of high risk properties.
Two posts are currently in our establishment and have been 
funded by Home Office Grant funding to deliver areas within 
Protection that support the Grenfell Inquiry recommendations 
and the Building Risk Review.  These 2 posts have supported 
the delivery of our whole Risk Based Inspection programme 
and our statutory duties for Protection.
Since these posts have been in place we are now delivering 
against all of our programme and statutory responsibilities, 
so the risk is if we do not continue with this funding and these 
posts, then we will slip back into not delivering against our 
programme.  This would be against the backdrop of 
Protection being a cause of concern from HMI.

89,600

130,731

P
age 80



 

  

DIRECTORATE BUDGET BOOK LINE SERVICE AREA
Reduced Costs / Funding 
Adjustments / Increased 
Income

SAVINGS DESCRIPTION 2022/23 
Updated 

Dec 2021 £
Fire and Rescue & Public 
Protection

Fire and Rescue & Emergency 
Planning

Reduced Costs Smarter Working - general savings -22,770

-22,770

TOTAL CHANGES 107,961

P
age 81



RESOURCES 

 

  

DIRECTORATE BUDGET BOOK LINE SERVICE AREA

Increased Costs / Savings 
Unachievable / Reduced 
Income / Previously Reserves 
Funded

COST PRESSURES DESCRIPTION 2022/23 
Updated 

Dec 2021 £

Resources Finance
Financial 
Services

Increased Costs

Estimated cost of attaining PCI DSS compliance (estimated 
21/22) and on-going cost of maintaining compliance. This is 
assumed for now as equivalent to a G9 full time post but may 
be an external fee instead.

46,000

Resources Public Protection Coroners Service Increased costs

Post mortem and Mortuary contacts are due for renewal in 
September 2021. It is unclear what the final value of this will 
be until the conclusion of the procurement process so an 
estimated 2% increase is included based on total contractual 
costs of £1,024,742. This cost is split pro rata across the 
21/22 and 22/23 year.

10,452

56,452

P
age 82



 

  

DIRECTORATE BUDGET BOOK LINE SERVICE AREA
Reduced Costs / Funding 
Adjustments / Increased 
Income

SAVINGS DESCRIPTION 2022/23 
Updated 

Dec 2021 £

Resources Organisational Support Human Resources Increased income
New HR Services for schools and Leadership & 
Management Apprenticeship Centre

-7,000

Resources Finance Financial Services Increased income Income from supporting schools -15,000

Resources Finance Audit & Risk Increased income Income from external clients/schools -15,000

Resources Organisational Support Business Support Reduced Costs Review of ESO/MSO support -817,000

Resources Organisational Support Business Support Reduced Costs Printing Review -57,000

Resources Finance Finance Reduced Costs Smarter Working savings - Finance -7,370

Resources Governance Governance Reduced Costs Smarter Working savings - Democratic Services -20,000

Resources Organisational Support
Business 
Support

Reduced Costs Smarter Working savings - HR -10,910

Resources Finance Finance Reduced Costs Smarter Working savings - CARM -6,203

Resources Public Protection Public Protection Reduced Costs Smarter Working - Coroners (hire of rooms) -17,000

Resources Public Protection Public Protection Reduced Costs Smarter Working - Registrars -500

Resources Public Protection Public Protection Reduced Costs Smarter Working - Trading Standards -967

Resources Governance Governance Reduced Costs Smarter Working savings - General Savings -6,560

-980,510

TOTAL CHANGES -924,058

P
age 83



COMMERCIAL 

 

  

DIRECTORATE BUDGET BOOK LINE SERVICE AREA

Increased Costs / Savings 
Unachievable / Reduced 
Income / Previously Reserves 
Funded

COST PRESSURES DESCRIPTION
2022/23 

Updated Dec 
2021 £

Commercial Corporate Property Corporate Property Increased Costs
Insurance
Property insurance premiums increases.

78,808

Commercial Corporate Property Corporate Property Increased Costs
South Park Blue Light Property Costs
increased rates and utlity costs for the new building.
The pressures represents the LCC element only.

55,190

Commercial Commercial Commercial Increased Costs

One Council Commissioning Hub

The creation of a new hub.a commissioning hub would allow 
a One Council approach to be taken to commissioning 
priorities e.g.co-production with service users; 
supporting the local economy and maximising social value; 
providing an overview of commissioning activity across the 
Council and partners and  support collaboration.

82,000

Commercial IMT IMT Increased Costs

Avaya telephony - previously a perpetual licence funded from 
the capital programme and is now an annual licence. ICT 
Security Infrastructure & Services: security tools previously 
funded from the capital programme and can now be treated 
as revenue costs. Although these are additional revenue 
costs, the capital programme can be reduced thereby 
achieving capital financing savings over the duration of the 
medium term financial plan.

243,000

Commercial IMT IMT Increased Costs

Increase to licence costs for increasing requirements for 
document storage, plus increased staffing resource required 
in Tech Team to support greater demand, activity and pace 
of implementation. Unified support for Microsoft products 
and Microsoft licences for all LCC employees to allow 
improved technology to be rolled out. £500k of this total 
pressure is funded by savings from migration to the Azure 
cloud platform for storage.

836,000

Commercial Transformation Transformation Increased Costs

Business Objects Software Licencing
Existing cost that is required to support this established 
reporting system for 21/22 prior to the removal of this 
requirement in 22/23

-46,000

1,248,998

P
age 84



 

 

  

DIRECTORATE BUDGET BOOK LINE SERVICE AREA
Reduced Costs / Funding 
Adjustments / Increased 
Income

SAVINGS DESCRIPTION
2022/23 

Updated Dec 
2021 £

Commercial IMT IMT Reduced Costs

Migration to the Azure cloud platform will result in savings of 
£0.5m which will be used to fund additional Microsoft 
licencing and support costs linked to cloud-based 
technologies for agile working.

-500,000

Commercial Corporate Property Corporate Property Reduced Costs
County Farms Estate - reduction in outgoing rents to Crown 
Estate

-100,000

Commercial Corporate Property Corporate Property Reduced Costs Vinci Contract - insourcing of Commissionaire's service -23,040
Commercial Corporate Property Corporate Property Reduced Costs Smarter Working - general savings -30,000
Commercial IMT IMT Reduced Costs Smarter Working - general savings -2,800

Commercial Commercial Commercial Reduced Costs Smarter Working - general savings -5,350

Commercial Commercial Commercial Reduced Costs Smarter Working - general savings -43,380

Commercial Commercial Commercial Reduced Costs Customer Service Centre -104,370

Commercial Transformation Transformation Reduced Costs Smarter Working - general savings -9,828
-818,768

TOTAL CHANGES 430,230

P
age 85



CORPORATE SERVICES 

 

  

DIRECTORATE
BUDGET BOOK 
LINE

SERVICE AREA

Increased Costs / 
Savings Unachievable / 
Reduced Income / 
Previously Reserves 
Funded

COST PRESSURES DESCRIPTION 2022/23 
Updated 

Dec 2021 £

Corporate Services Corporate Services
Strategic 
Communications

Increased Costs
Digital Engagement Team
Creation of a new web officer post

35,500

35,500

DIRECTORATE
BUDGET BOOK 
LINE

SERVICE AREA
Reduced Costs / 
Funding Adjustments / 
Increased Income

SAVINGS DESCRIPTION
2022/23 
Updated 

Dec 2021 £
Corporate Services Corporate Services Corporate Services Reduced Costs Smarter Working - general savings -19,730

-19,730

TOTAL CHANGES 15,770

P
age 86



OTHER BUDGETS 

 

  

DIRECTORATE BUDGET BOOK LINE SERVICE AREA

Increased Costs / Savings 
Unachievable / Reduced 
Income / Previously Reserves 
Funded

COST PRESSURES DESCRIPTION
2022/23 
Updated 

Dec 2021 £

Other Budgets Other Budgets Insurance Increased Costs
Insurance costs - to be retendered, indicative 30% increase in 
cost

505,526

Other Budgets Other Budgets Pension Deficit Contribution Increased Costs LGPS Lump Sum Deficit 1,350,000
Other Budgets Other Budgets Pension Employers Contribution Increased Costs LGPS Employers Contribution 23,044
Other Budgets Other Budgets Levy Payments Increased Costs Eastern Inshore Fisheries 10,000
Other Budgets Other Budgets Levy Payments Increased Costs Apprenticeship Levy increase on 20/21 base 13,200
Other Budgets Other Budgets Levy Payments Increased Costs Apprenticeship Levy increase on 21/22 base 139

Other Budgets Utility Costs Increased Costs
Increase in energy charges to culture properties as corporate 
contract increases by 20%

50,000

Other Budgets Capital Financing Charges Capital Financing Reduced Income Investment income reduced due to interest rates falling 200,000

Other Budgets Other Budgets
Corporate Support Service 
Contract

Increased Costs

Corporate Support Service Contract - Gross v Net (new 
service), If the Council agrees to move to gross payments to 
residential care providers, then there will be an associated 
increase in volumes of payment runs and creation of direct 
debits and invoices on the Serco contract, as well as 
additional debt recovery work (estimated cost). Indexation 
1.48% 22/23 and 2% future years.

4,040

Other Budgets Other Budgets
Corporate Support Service 
Contract

Increased Costs
Corporate Support Service Contract - Exchequer 
Services, indexation 1.48% 22/23 and 2% future years.

19,082

P
age 87



 

  

DIRECTORATE BUDGET BOOK LINE SERVICE AREA

Increased Costs / Savings 
Unachievable / Reduced 
Income / Previously Reserves 
Funded

COST PRESSURES DESCRIPTION
2022/23 
Updated 

Dec 2021 £

Other Budgets Other Budgets
Corporate Support Service 
Contract

Increased Costs
Corporate Support Service Contract - Social Care 
Service, indexation 1.48% 22/23 and 2% future years.

28,408

Other Budgets Other Budgets
Corporate Support Service 
Contract

Increased Costs
Corporate Support Service contract - HR & Payroll, 
indexation 1.48% 22/23 and 2% future years.

14,235

Other Budgets Other Budgets
Corporate Support Service 
Contract

Increased Costs
Corporate Support Service contract 21/22 - CSC
 indexation 1.48% 22/23 and 2% future years.

79,552

Other Budgets Other Budgets
Corporate Support Service 
Contract

Increased Costs
Corporate Support Service contract 21/22 - IMT
 indexation 1.48% 22/23 and 2% future years.

107,091

Other Budgets Other Budgets
Corporate Support Service 
Contract

Reduced Income Serco Contract Commercial Discount comes to an end 0

Other Budgets Capital Financing Charges Capital Financing Increased Costs MRP cost pressure moved to 2023/24 and 2024/25 1,127,364

Other Budgets Other Budgets Pensions Increased Costs
Assumed LGPS Employer Contribution 23/24 after next 
revaluation

0

Other Budgets Other Budgets Pay Award Increased Costs Pay award assumption 2% for 2022-23 onwards 3,119,975
Other Budgets Other Budgets Pay Award Increased Costs 2021-22 pay award 2% increase 1,655,413
Other Budgets Other Budgets Pay Award Increased Costs NIC increase of 1.25% from 01/04/22 2,054,792

Other Budgets Other Budgets Property Contract Inflation Increased Costs
Property contract- Revised core contract inflation, the impact 
of increases in  NI  and NLW

307,956

Place Other Budgets Utility Costs Increased Costs
Signals and street lighting energy costs. New contract 
increase of 20% in wholesale energy. Assumption of 10% 
thereafter

400,000

Other Budgets Other Budgets Utility Costs Increased Costs
Increase in utility costs
Assumed contractual inflation costs based on ESPO data; 
20% for 22/23 and 10% p.a. thereafter.

133,640

Other Budgets Other Budgets Contingency Increased Costs
Increase to General Contingency to reflect inflation 
uncertainty

3,500,000

14,703,457

P
age 88



 

 

 

 

DIRECTORATE BUDGET BOOK LINE SERVICE AREA
Reduced Costs / Funding 
Adjustments / Increased 
Income

SAVINGS DESCRIPTION
2022/23 
Updated 

Dec 2021 £

Other Budgets Other Budgets Financial Strategy Increased Income Anticipated dividend receivable from ESPO joint arrangement -6,121

Other Budgets Other Budgets Financial Strategy Reduced Costs Lease Cars

Other Budgets Capital Financing Charges Capital Financing Reduced Costs
Interest on borrowing reduced due to interest rates falling and 
internal borrowing, one year only

0

-6,121

TOTAL CHANGES 14,697,336

P
age 89



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C 

 

Capital Programme
(2021/22 plus Future Years)

Net 
Programme

2021/22
£m

Grants & 
Contribution

2021/22
£m

Revised 
Gross 

Programme
2021/22

£m

Net 
Programme

2022/23
£m

Grants & 
Contribution

2022/23
£m

Revised 
Gross 

Programme
2022/23

£m

Net 
Programme

Future 
Years

£m

Grants & 
Contribution
Future Years

£m

Gross 
Programme

Future 
Years

£m

ADULT CARE AND COMMUNITY WELLBEING
ADULT FRAILTY & LONG TERM 
CONDITIONS

Better Care Fund - Disabled Facility Grants 0.000 -6.976 6.976 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Dewint Court Extra Care Housing Scheme
Contribution towards De Wint Extra 
Care Housing Scheme 

0.000 -1.400 1.400 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Subtotals: Adult Frailty & Long Term 
Conditions

0.000 -8.376 8.376 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

CHILDREN'S EDUCATION
SCHOOLS

Devolved Capital 
Capital funding devolved to schools for 
improvements to buildings and school 
sites or investment in ICT hardware.

0.000 -0.987 0.987 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Provision of School Places (Basic Need)
A programme of expansion and new 
build construction of school buildings.

1.107 -2.900 4.007 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Schools Modernisation / Condition Capital
Programme to improve the condition of 
the school estate.

0.000 -4.945 4.945 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

New Schools Requirements 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 14.798 -4.800 19.598
SEND Provision Capital Funding for Pupils with 
EHC Plans

A programme of major investment in 
SEND provision.

-13.590 -43.425 29.834 5.358 -23.366 28.724 10.242 -2.694 12.935

Other Education & SEND Services
Capital funding for CWD short breaks 
and other education services

0.345 -0.675 1.020 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Subtotals - Schools -12.138 -52.931 40.793 5.358 -23.366 28.724 25.040 -7.494 32.533
CHILDREN'S SERVICES

Early Help 0.608 0.023 0.584 0.485 0.000 0.485 0.000 0.000 0.000

Safeguarding Services

Capital funding for in-house provision 
and other safeguarding services 
including foster carers and supported 
accommodation

0.185 0.000 0.185 0.050 0.000 0.050 0.450 0.000 0.450

Children's Services - Children's Homes
Two new small children's homes for 
children who are looked after.

0.350 0.000 0.350 0.850 0.000 0.850 0.295 0.000 0.295

Commissioning & Health Services
Capital funding for the 0-19 Health 
Services

0.000 0.000 0.000 0.150 0.000 0.150 0.000 0.000 0.000

Subtotals - Children's Services 1.142 0.023 1.119 1.535 0.000 1.535 0.745 0.000 0.745

Subtotals Children's Education -10.996 -52.908 41.912 6.893 -23.366 30.259 25.785 -7.494 33.278

P
age 91



 

Capital Programme
(2021/22 plus Future Years)

Net 
Programme

2021/22
£m

Grants & 
Contribution

2021/22
£m

Revised 
Gross 

Programme
2021/22

£m

Net 
Programme

2022/23
£m

Grants & 
Contribution

2022/23
£m

Revised 
Gross 

Programme
2022/23

£m

Net 
Programme

Future 
Years

£m

Grants & 
Contribution
Future Years

£m

Gross 
Programme

Future 
Years

£m

COMMERCIAL
PROPERTY

Property

Maintenance and improvement 
programme for council properties, 
asbestos works and improvements to 
the County Farm estates.

0.697 0.000 0.697 0.750 0.000 0.750 0.000 0.000 0.000

Property maintenance
To fund the maintenance and 
improvement programme for council 
properties

3.331 0.000 3.331 3.500 0.000 3.500 31.500 0.000 31.500

Bluelight - wider estates (other funding will 
support this)

Programme of works to support dual 
and tri service occupation throughout 
Lincolnshire.

0.208 0.000 0.208 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Lexicon House
Refurbishment of Lexicon House for 
office accommodation.

0.000 0.000 0.000 0.950 0.000 0.950 0.000 0.000 0.000

Property Area Reviews
Programme of works for leased 
properties.

0.100 0.000 0.100 0.343 0.000 0.343 0.000 0.000 0.000

County Farms Private Roads
The improvement private roads on the 
County Farms Estates

0.000 0.000 0.000 0.020 0.000 0.020 0.000 0.000 0.000

County Farms Grain Stores
The improvement to county farms grain 
stores

0.000 0.000 0.000 0.145 0.000 0.145 0.098 0.000 0.098

County Farms Block 0.165 0.000 0.165 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

School Mobile Classroom Replacement
The replacement of school mobile 
classrooms

0.416 0.000 0.416 0.300 0.000 0.300 2.700 0.000 2.700

Castle Motte
Contribution towards the programme of 
works to remove Lincoln Castle from the 
Heritage at Risk Register.

0.389 0.000 0.389 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Grantham Fire -0.007 0.000 -0.007 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Subtotals - Property 5.299 0.000 5.299 6.008 0.000 6.008 34.298 0.000 34.298

P
age 92



 

Capital Programme
(2021/22 plus Future Years)

Net 
Programme

2021/22
£m

Grants & 
Contribution

2021/22
£m

Revised 
Gross 

Programme
2021/22

£m

Net 
Programme

2022/23
£m

Grants & 
Contribution

2022/23
£m

Revised 
Gross 

Programme
2022/23

£m

Net 
Programme

Future 
Years

£m

Grants & 
Contribution
Future Years

£m

Gross 
Programme

Future 
Years

£m
ICT

Broadband
Provision of superfast broadband 
across the county.

2.660 0.000 2.660 2.850 0.000 2.850 3.751 0.000 3.751

Infrastructure and Refresh Programme
General IT programmes including: IT 
development, replacement of PCs, other 
IT equipment and ICT infrastructure.

2.092 0.000 2.092 5.261 0.000 5.261 0.000 0.000 0.000

Improvement Transformation

To support the Transforation 
Programme by delivering enabling 
stategies in line with the Council's IMT 
strategy

0.000 0.000 0.000 4.000 0.000 4.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Replacement ERP Finance System
Improvements to the ERP Finance 
system.

0.284 0.000 0.284 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Care Management System (CMPP) Installation of the Mosaic system. 0.014 0.000 0.014 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

ICT Development Fund
Improvements to ICT infrastructure and 
network.

0.300 0.000 0.300 0.026 0.000 0.026 0.000 0.000 0.000

IMT (Cloud Navigator/Windows 10)

Upgrade of hardware to Windows 10 
system and development of Cloud 
Navigator to enable digital 
transformation of services to citizens.

0.072 0.000 0.072 0.030 0.000 0.030 8.000 0.000 8.000

Azure Data Migration
Migration of data from a physical to a 
cloud platform

0.691 0.000 0.691 0.144 0.000 0.144 0.000 0.000 0.000

Subtotals - ICT 6.111 0.000 6.111 12.311 0.000 12.311 11.751 0.000 11.751

Subtotals Commercial 11.411 0.000 11.411 18.319 0.000 18.319 46.049 0.000 46.049

RESOURCES
FIRE AND RESCUE & EMERGENCY 
PLANNING

Fire and Rescue & Emergency Planning
Refurbishment of fire and rescue 
properties.

0.252 0.000 0.252 0.889 0.000 0.889 0.000 0.000 0.000

Fire Fleet Vehicles and Associated Equipment
Rolling programme for the replacement 
of fire and rescue fleet vehicles and 
associated equipment.

1.001 0.000 1.001 4.769 0.000 4.769 6.206 0.000 6.206

Subtotals - Fire and Rescue & Emergency 
Planning

1.253 0.000 1.253 5.658 0.000 5.658 6.206 0.000 6.206

PUBLIC PROTECTION

Registration Celebratory & Coroners Service
Coroners IT system for case 
management, and improvement to 
Gainsborough celebratory premises.

0.000 0.000 0.000 0.020 0.000 0.020 0.000 0.000 0.000

Safer Communities Vehicle for Trading Standards 0.025 0.000 0.025 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Subtotals - Public Protection 0.025 0.000 0.025 0.020 0.000 0.020 0.000 0.000 0.000

Subtotals Resources 1.278 0.000 1.278 5.678 0.000 5.678 6.206 0.000 6.206

P
age 93



 

Capital Programme
(2021/22 plus Future Years)

Net 
Programme

2021/22
£m

Grants & 
Contribution

2021/22
£m

Revised 
Gross 

Programme
2021/22

£m

Net 
Programme

2022/23
£m

Grants & 
Contribution

2022/23
£m

Revised 
Gross 

Programme
2022/23

£m

Net 
Programme

Future 
Years

£m

Grants & 
Contribution
Future Years

£m

Gross 
Programme

Future 
Years

£m

PLACE
COMMUNITIES

CULTURE

Libraries
RFID replacement kiosks and library hub 
capital works.

0.399 0.000 0.399 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Historic Lincoln
Improvement programme for Lincoln 
Castle.

-0.050 -0.066 0.017 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Heritage / Archives
Future development of the Heritage 
service.

5.000 0.000 5.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Subtotals - Culture 5.349 -0.066 5.415 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
ENVIRONMENT

Electronic Ticket Machine 0.130 0.000 0.130 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Other Highways and Transportation Block of smaller Highways projects. 0.679 0.000 0.679 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Other Environment and Planning Block of small projects. 0.018 0.000 0.018 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Flood & Water Risk Management
A range of projects to alleviate flood and 
water risks.

0.866 0.000 0.866 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Countryside Rights of Way 0.049 0.000 0.049 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Local Flood Defence Schemes (to match fund 
EA)

Match funding with the Environment 
Agency for local flood defence schemes.

0.600 0.000 0.600 1.353 0.000 1.353 4.500 0.000 4.500

Subtotals - Environment 2.344 0.000 2.344 1.353 0.000 1.353 4.500 0.000 4.500

Waste - Fire Suppression Systems at Transfer 
Stations

Installation of fire suppression systems. 0.763 0.000 0.763 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

HWRC - Tattershall
Replacement Household Waste 
Recycling Centre at Tattershall

1.998 0.000 1.998 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

HWRC - Skegness
Replacement Household Waste 
Recycling Centre at Skegness

0.000 0.000 0.000 2.000 0.000 2.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Equipment & Vehicles for Waste Transfer 
Stations

Replacement programme for vehicles 
and plant used for winter maintenance 
and in waste transfer stations.

0.481 0.000 0.481 0.548 0.000 0.548 0.299 0.000 0.299

Separated Paper and Card Scheme 0.844 0.000 0.844 1.783 0.000 1.783 2.388 0.000 2.388
Waste 0.135 0.000 0.135 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Subtotals - Waste 4.221 0.000 4.221 4.331 0.000 4.331 2.687 0.000 2.687

Subtotals - Communities 11.915 -0.066 11.981 5.684 0.000 5.684 7.187 0.000 7.187

P
age 94



 

Capital Programme
(2021/22 plus Future Years)

Net 
Programme

2021/22
£m

Grants & 
Contribution

2021/22
£m

Revised 
Gross 

Programme
2021/22

£m

Net 
Programme

2022/23
£m

Grants & 
Contribution

2022/23
£m

Revised 
Gross 

Programme
2022/23

£m

Net 
Programme

Future 
Years

£m

Grants & 
Contribution
Future Years

£m

Gross 
Programme

Future 
Years

£m
GROWTH 

Lincolnshire Enterprise Partnership 
Contribution

Lincolnshire Enterprise Partnership 
funding for capital projects.

18.672 0.000 18.672 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

LEP Skills Investment Programme

This project is aimed at increasing new 
apprenticeships and training places by 
refurbishing existing and creating new 
learning spaces.

0.776 0.000 0.776 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Lincoln Growth Point -0.256 0.000 -0.256 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Lincolnshire Waterways -0.144 0.000 -0.144 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Other Growth and the Economy - Economic 
Infrastructure

0.160 0.000 0.160 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Teal Park, Lincoln -0.001 0.000 -0.001 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

South Lincs (Holbeach) Food Enterprise Zone
Contribution towards Holbeach Food 
Enterprise Zone.

0.011 0.000 0.011 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Economic Development - Business Unit 
Development

Development of  business units. 1.867 0.000 1.867 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Skegness Countryside Business Park -0.258 0.000 -0.258 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Economic Development - Horncastle Industrial 
Estate Extension

Extension of Horncastle Industrial Estate 
Extension.

1.500 0.000 1.500 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Subtotals - Growth 22.327 0.000 22.327 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

P
age 95



 

Capital Programme
(2021/22 plus Future Years)

Net 
Programme

2021/22
£m

Grants & 
Contribution

2021/22
£m

Revised 
Gross 

Programme
2021/22

£m

Net 
Programme

2022/23
£m

Grants & 
Contribution

2022/23
£m

Revised 
Gross 

Programme
2022/23

£m

Net 
Programme

Future 
Years

£m

Grants & 
Contribution
Future Years

£m

Gross 
Programme

Future 
Years

£m
HIGHWAYS

Spalding Western Relief Road 
Completion of Spalding Western Relief 
Road - Section 1 and 5.

0.100 -12.755 12.855 16.958 -2.630 19.588 33.700 0.000 33.700

Spalding Western Relief Road -  S106 income 
expectation

Development Contribution towards 
completion of Spalding Western Relief 
Road - Section 1

-1.800 0.000 -1.800 0.000 0.000 0.000 -7.920 0.000 -7.920

Integrated Transport

Schemes including minor capital 
improvements, rights of way, road 
safety, public transport and town/village 
enhancements.

1.359 -3.267 4.627 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Transforming Street Lighting
Programme of street lighting 
improvement.

0.170 0.000 0.170 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Energy Efficiency Street Lighting Schemes
Replacement of SOX lanterns with more 
efficient LED bulbs to enable longer-
term savings on energy.

0.234 0.000 0.234 0.224 0.000 0.224 0.224 0.000 0.224

Highways Asset Protection 10.039 -38.371 48.410 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Highways Asset Protection -Development 
Drawdown

-3.657 -3.657 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Network Resilience
Replacement programme of gritter 
vehicles.

0.864 0.000 0.864 1.590 0.000 1.590 2.520 0.000 2.520

A631 Middle Rasen to Bishops Bridge Safer 
Road Fund

Improvement on A631 Middle Rasen to 
Bishops Bridge, under Safer Roads 
Funds.

0.175 0.000 0.175 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

A631 Louth to Middle Rasen Safer Road Fund
Improvement on A631 Louth to Middle 
Rasen, under Safer Roads Funds.

0.700 0.000 0.700 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Lincoln Eastern Bypass
Maintenance of roads, bridges, safety 
fencing, street lighting, signs and lines, 
and traffic signals.

3.720 0.000 3.720 1.000 0.000 1.000 2.000 0.000 2.000

Grantham Southern Relief Road
Completion of Grantham Southern Relief 
Road.

43.049 -3.857 46.906 22.313 0.000 22.313 9.829 0.000 9.829

A46 Welton Roundabout (Integrated 
Transport/NPIF)

Improvement on A46 Welton junction. 1.301 0.000 1.301 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Holdingham Roundabout 
Improvement on Sleaford Holdingham 
Roundabout.

5.334 -0.921 6.255 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

A46 Roundabouts

Improvements to Riseholme and 
Nettleham roundabouts by 
extending/adding extra lanes to increase 
capacity and reduce congestion.

0.436 -0.506 0.943 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Maintenance of roads, bridges, safety 
fencing, street lighting, signs and lines, 
and traffic signals.

P
age 96



 

Capital Programme
(2021/22 plus Future Years)

Net 
Programme

2021/22
£m

Grants & 
Contribution

2021/22
£m

Revised 
Gross 

Programme
2021/22

£m

Net 
Programme

2022/23
£m

Grants & 
Contribution

2022/23
£m

Revised 
Gross 

Programme
2022/23

£m

Net 
Programme

Future 
Years

£m

Grants & 
Contribution
Future Years

£m

Gross 
Programme

Future 
Years

£m

Corringham Road (development with WLDC)
Major scheme development of 
Corringham Road, in partnership with 
West Lindsey District Council.

0.221 0.000 0.221 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Sleaford Rugby Club (Sleaford Growth 
Scheme)

Improvement to ease congestion and 
improve the traffic flow at the Sleaford 
Rugby Club junction.

0.020 -0.320 0.340 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

A52 Skegness Roman Bank 2.823 0.000 2.823 0.075 0.000 0.075 0.000 0.000 0.000

Local Highways Improvements(Pinchpoints) to 
support Coastal Route (between £2m-£5m p.a)

0.769 0.000 0.769 0.500 0.000 0.500 16.795 0.000 16.795

Highways Rural Road Fund 7.500 0.000 7.500 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Other Highways Block of smaller Highways projects. 0.435 0.000 0.435 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Boston Development Schemes (Infrastructure & 
Economic)

A range of initiatives to support 
economic and housing growth whilst 
reducing traffic congestion in and around 
Boston.

0.268 0.000 0.268 1.000 0.000 1.000 3.200 0.000 3.200

North Hykeham relief road (Scheme total 
£148m, DfT bid £100m)

0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 48.000 0.000 48.000

Highways B Class Roads and Lower 10.000 0.000 10.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Subtotals - Highways 84.061 -63.655 147.716 43.660 -2.630 46.290 108.349 0.000 108.349

Subtotals Place 118.303 -63.721 182.024 49.344 -2.630 51.974 115.536 0.000 115.536

P
age 97



 

Note re Funding: The Government Grants and Contributions row in the Funding table is currently showing as nil in each year, but allows for successful funding bids to be added. 

 

Capital Programme
(2021/22 plus Future Years)

Net 
Programme

2021/22
£m

Grants & 
Contribution

2021/22
£m

Revised 
Gross 

Programme
2021/22

£m

Net 
Programme

2022/23
£m

Grants & 
Contribution

2022/23
£m

Revised 
Gross 

Programme
2022/23

£m

Net 
Programme

Future 
Years

£m

Grants & 
Contribution
Future Years

£m

Gross 
Programme

Future 
Years

£m

OTHER BUDGETS

New Developments Capital Contingency Fund

A council wide budget has been created 
to fund any schemes that are currently in 
the development stage.  The funding will 
be awarded to these schemes on the 
approval of their business cases.

11.476 0.000 11.476 7.500 0.000 7.500 67.500 0.000 67.500

Subtotals Other Budgets 11.476 0.000 11.476 7.500 0.000 7.500 67.500 0.000 67.500

Total Budget 131.471 -125.006 256.477 87.734 -25.996 113.730 261.075 -7.494 268.569

Funding:

Revenue Funding 0.111 0.000 0.111 0.115 0.000 0.115 0.920 0.000 0.920
Use of Capital Receipts 2.690 0.000 2.690 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Borrowing 113.165 -125.006 238.171 87.619 -25.996 113.615 260.155 -7.494 267.648
Use of Capital Grants Unapplied 5.440 0.000 5.440 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Use of Revenue Grant Reserves to Fund the 
Capital Programme 0.016 0.000 0.016 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Use of Other Earmarked Reserves 10.050 0.000 10.050 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Government Grants & Contributions 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

TOTAL FUNDING 131.471 -125.006 256.477 87.734 -25.996 113.730 261.075 -7.494 268.569

P
age 98



 

 

                      
 

Open Report on behalf of James Drury, Executive Director - Commercial 

 

Report to: Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 

Date: 27 January 2022 

Subject: Performance of the Corporate Support Services Contract 

Decision Reference:   Key decision? No   

Summary:  
 

This report provides an update of Serco's performance against contractual Key 
Performance Indicators specified in the Corporate Support Services Contract between 
August and December 2021. The last report to this Board was on 26 August 2021. 
 
 

Actions Required: 
 

The Board is invited to: 
 

1. Seek assurance about the performance of the Corporate Support Services 
Contract. 

2. Provide feedback and challenge as required. 
 

 
1. Abbreviations 
 
CSS Corporate Support Services    
KPI Key Performance Indicator  F Finance (Exchequer) 
TSL Target Service Level  ACF Adult Care Finance 
MSL Minimum Service Level  CSC Customer Services Centre 
IMT Information Management and 

Technology 
 RAG Red/ Amber/ Green 

 
2. Background 
 
This report provides an update on Serco's performance for months 77 to 81 since the 
service commencement date 1 April 2015. It includes the Corporate Support Services 
Review (CSSR) high-level status report (Table 5 below). 
 
3. Performance 
 
Table 1 below provides the summary red/ amber/ green (RAG) status of the Key 
Performance Indicator (KPI) results since the last report. 
 

Page 99

Agenda Item 10



 

 

Agreed mitigation is shown as blue status. The Board is asked to note that following 
general suspension of service credits in the early stages of Covid-19 in 2020, there are 
now no remaining instances of Covid-related mitigation. 
 
Table 1: Overall KPI Summary Performance 
 

 (All Services) Contract Performance 
Number of KPIs     

Jul 21 Aug 21 Sep 21 Oct 21 Nov 21 Dec 21 

 Target Service Level achieved 36 37 35 37 35 33 
 Minimum Service Level achieved 0 0 2 0 0 1 

Below Minimum Service Level  0 0 0 0 0 0 

Mitigation agreed  4 3 3 3 5 5 

TOTAL 40 40 40 40 40    39 
 

* the total number of KPIs fell to 39 in December following decommission of IMT_KPI_14, see Table 4 below. 

 
4. Exceptions 
 
There were no instances where KPIs failed to meet the MSL (red status) during the 
review period. 
 
Table 2 below sets out the KPIs which failed to meet the TSL but met MSL (amber 
status) during the review period together with commentary. 
 
Table 2: KPIs which failed to meet TSL, Aug – Dec 21: 
 

KPI Ref No Short Description TSL Actual Comment, impact, 
resolution 

CSC_KPI_04 
(Sep) 

% of total Calls that are 
Abandoned Calls 

7.00% 7.46% 

 

Target missed by 0.46%, 
returned to green from 
October onwards. 

CSC_KPI_11 
(Sep) 
 

Portion of Light Touch Reviews, 
Annual Reviews, and Carer's 
Assessments started within 
agreed timescales 

70.00% 61.40% 

 

Isolated incident, returned 
to green from October 
onwards. This is a new KPI 
which came into service on 
1 June 2021. 

PM_KPI_06 
(Dec) 
 

Number of People Mgt. Records 
assessed in Spot Checks to 
contain errors, omissions or 
inaccuracies. 

     1      2 

 

Isolated incident, this KPI 
has not failed since October 
2019. Expected to return to 
green in January.  

 
 

Table 3 below shows the background and rationale for the Council granting mitigation 
where a dependency outside Serco's control (eg implementation of Mosaic) prevents 
agreed targets from being fully met. Granting mitigation relieves Serco from the 
application of Service Credits (deductions).  
 

Page 100



 

 

 
Table 3: Details of KPI Mitigation, Aug – Dec 21: 

 
KPI Ref No 

(Mit. period) 
Short Description Reason for granting Mitigation  Impact Path to Green 

ACF_KPI_03 
(Aug, Nov-
Dec) 
 
ACF_KPI_04 
(Aug-Dec) 

% of new, and change of 
circumstance, financial assessments 
for non-res and res care completed 
within 15 Business Days of referral 
from the Council. 

In mitigation automatically as a result of how the contract 
works since December 2016 as a result of Mosaic 
implementation which is yet to extend to financial payments 
as committed to by the Council in 2015. This means Serco 
must still use two systems - Mosaic and Abacus, which 
hinders their ability to meet a very optimistic 15-day target. 
LCC and Serco have worked to optimise the service by 
streamlining the supporting evidence required. 

The end-user 
experience has 
improved as a result of 
the optimisation/ 
streamlining work.   
 

Two replacement KPIs have been agreed 
between the Council and Serco; go-live is 
currently anticipated to be 1 April 2022 
due to diversion of resource at the 
Council's direction to resolve issues 
raised by a recent Abacus upgrade.  
    

CSC_KPI_12 
(Aug-Dec) 

% of callers the CSC attempt to 
contact to discuss Access Channel 
Preferences. 

This is a new KPI. Systems not ready yet – Verint now 
implemented, but still requires: 
 

- Avaya upgrade to v8, followed by;  
- Enterprise Feedback Management system.  

n/a. 
(The abatement points 
for this KPI have been 
temporarily 
redistributed to the 
other CSC KPIs) 

Systems readiness. Expected date of 
readiness had been 1 January 2022, but 
Avaya upgrade delayed. Further options 
relating to this KPI are now being 
discussed between Serco and the 
Council. 

IMT_KPI_12 
(Dec) 

% of users who score the IT Service 
as "Good" or above for IT Incident 
handling 

This measure has been temporarily suspended in order to 
focus resource on MDM. 

Performance measure 
not available – does 
not affect front line 
services. 

Suspension is mutually agreed in support 
of project delivery and will be re-instated 
as soon as possible. 

IMT_KPI_14 
(Sep-Nov) 

% Windows end user devices 
patched within 21 days of release of 
critical operating system updates 

This measure can no longer be reported by Serco as it now 
sits outside their control (it is a Microsoft responsibility 
following the move to MDM). 

IMT will now work with 
Microsoft to monitor 
going forward. 

This KPI is now obsolete and has been 
decommissioned. The associated 
abatement points have been 
redistributed to the remaining IMT KPIs. 

IMT_KPI_18 
(Nov-Dec) 

% of P3 & P4 incidents notified to 
the Service Desk achieving the 
Incident resolution target as detailed 
in the Specified Services Description 
or the Service Catalogue. 

This is a new KPI, active from 1 July 2021, which has been on 
a glide with TSL/ MSL increases each month. During 
November the support desk was impacted by the MDM 
project which caused the result to be 87.75% (Nov) and 
81.56% (Dec) against the target of 90.00% 

Some individual users 
did not receive 
resolution in the target 
time. 

IMT are aware of the pressures caused 
by O365 migration and agreed 
temporary mitigation. Actions are in 
place to reduce the backlog of tickets. 

 

 
 

P
age 101



 

 

 
5. KPI Changes 

 
 
 

The total number of Key Performance Indicators for the Serco Support Services Contract fell from 40 to 39 in December. They are subject to a 
continuous process of review. The outcome of a review may effect no change, a re-draft of the KPI or its machinery, replacement with a completely 
new KPI, or decommissioning. The purpose of these changes is to respond to external factors and to changing Council priorities so that measures 
continue to be relevant to the overall management of the contract.  As a result of this process, there has been one change during the review 
period, set out in Table 4 below: 

 
 

Table 4: Details of KPI changes, Aug – Dec 21: 

 

  
Previous Revised 

    
KPI KPI Description pts TSL MSL pts TSL MSL 

Change Date 
Description of 

Change Reason for Change Current Status 

IMT_KPI_14 

Windows end user 
devices patched 
within 21 days of 
release of critical 
operating system 
updates. 
 

35 95.00 90.00  n/a  n/a  n/a 31/11/2021 

 
 
 
Decommissioned 
on 31/11/21. 

Following 
implementation of 
Office 365, this 
responsibility now 
sits with Microsoft. 

Discontinued. 
 
The abatement 
points for this KPI 
have been 
redistributed to the 
other IMT KPIs ref. 
CCN113. 
 
 

 
 

P
age 102



 

 

6. Corporate Support Services Review Project 
 

Table 5: Position Update:   
 

Workstream Jul-21 Aug-21 Sep-21 Oct-21 Nov-21 Dec-21 Jan-22 Feb-22 Mar-22 Apr-22 May-22 Jun-22 Current 

Status

IMT
On plan 

CSC
On plan 

HR Admin & 

Payroll 
On plan 

Exchequer & 

ASC Finance  
On plan 

High Level Summary - Latest Position as at 31/12/21

CSC

HR Admin & 

Payroll 

Exchequer & 

ASC Finance 

The investigation work on the future requirements for the Customer Service Centre (CSC) has been largely completed and the options for 

operational services from 2024 and the transformation programme (which will begin earlier than 2024 in line with the Council’s customer and 

digital strategies), are better understood. Further work will be done in 2022 to come to a view on, and develop the preferred model with a view 

to progressing through the decision making process in line with the timetable outlined above.  It is anticipated that a full options paper will be 

presented to OSMB in May 2022.  

Investigation work has been completed ahead of plan and the options for these services have been considered by CLT.  Due to the nature of the 

services, the future options for HR Admin and Payroll are to be considered jointly.  These workstreams have been merged and will be lead by the 

Head of HR with support from the service.  Additional work on the options will be finalised by the end of February 2022.  In order to enable 

decision making on all non-IMT services within the current Serco contract to be aligned, the options paper will be presented to OSMB in May 2022.  

Investigation work for these services was also completed ahead of plan and the options have been considered by CLT.  The interdependencies 

between the Exchequer services and ASC finance are now clearly understand and a final options paper will be drafted to ensure a single 

recommendations for the future  direction of both services.  As such these workstreams have been merged for reporting purposes but will retain 

an expert lead from each service.  Again, in order to enable decision making on all non-IMT services within the current Serco contract to be 

aligned, the options paper will be presented to OSMB in May 2022.  

Investigation Options Appraisal Transition 
Engagement, Scrutiny & 

Decision Making 

Investigation
Options 

Appraisal

A first draft options paper for IMT services has received approval from CLT and will now be finalised in order to progress through the decision 

making process.  The recommended model is in line with the early thinking on future IMT services which was reviewed and supported by OSMB 

during 2021 ie a combination of specialist providers (rather than a single prime provider providing the bulk of our IMT service delivery) supported 

by the necessary in house capability to deliver on the approach set out in the  report to OSMB on the 17 March 2021.  Essentially that proposed 

that the Council would outsource the support desk; the management of cloud services; and enhanced security services whilst bringing in house 

technical operations; application services; data services and service integration management.  Since then we have carried out in depth market 

engagement on the proposed outsourced services, received a report from Gartner independent expert analysts, have engaged with other 

authorities and public authorities to see what commissioning approaches they have taken and have reviewed government guidance. 

Transition 
Engagement, Scrutiny & 

Decision Making 

The market engagement was extensive and has confirmed that the service design and solution is sound and that there is a high level of interest 

from providers, that sufficient time has been allowed for the procurement and service transition, that service desk and operations staff are likely 

to be remotely based, that strong relationships and collaboration between the Council and service providers and as between service providers is 

essential, that it would be better to combine  the management of cloud services and enhanced security services into a single lot and that  the 

operational service integration management activity (SIaM) would best sit with the support desk provider with the governance and strategic 

aspects of SIaM sitting in the Council.   Discussion with other authorities has shown them taking similar design approaches to the Council.  Further 

government policy supports the approach taken by the Council.  In 2017 the  Government Commercial Function noted that government policy is to 

move away from large, single provider IT outsourcing contracts to multi-provider arrangements combined with in-sourcing where appropriate, 

and adopting a cloud-first principle. This is because independent analysis has highlighted that single provider contracts no longer represent value 

for money and that their structures constrain the relevant organisations from modernising technical environments. 

The Gartner report commissioned by the Council also validates the proposed service design and where there are  deviations from Gartner’s 

general approach there are valid reasons e.g. on application support the usual approach would be to outsource this but Gartner accepts the 

Council’s reason for delivering it in house until non bespoke solutions can be found which is the lack of a market for local government bespoke 

and service critical legacy statements.  Further work is now being done on the internal IMT structure which supports the service model.  The 

intention is to bring the final options appraisal to OSMB in late April with a decision by Executive in May.

IMT

Corporate Support Services Project Overview (as at 31/12/21)

July 22 to end Mar-24

Options 

Appraisal 
Investigation

Investigation
Options 

Appraisal 

Transition 

Transition 

Engagement, Scrutiny & 

Decision Making 

Engagement, Scrutiny & 

Decision Making 

NOW

 

Page 103



 

 

 
7. Green Trend Analysis  
 

This section aims to note any significant changing trends in those KPIs which have met the 
TSL but may be showing signs of significant performance change - deterioration or 
improvement. This green KPI trend data has been tracked from April 2018 to date. It is 
important to note that the purpose of this analysis is to detect long-term changes in 'normal' 
delivery, ie when the results are green. Instances where a particular KPI scores red or amber 
are treated as exceptions and not counted in this analysis. The results are therefore not an 
indicator of overall performance, but an examination of underlying background trends. 
 
For the period ending November 2021, 70% of the green KPIs are currently stable or 
improving. This is a reduction compared to July 2021 when the result was 77%, however the 
Board is asked to note that the main reason for this is that three of the original green KPIs 
(CSC_KPI_01, CSC_KPI_09, IMT_KPI_09, all were high performing) are no longer being 
tracked as a result of replacement/ deletion as reported in the previous submission of this 
report.  None of the KPIs are on a trajectory to fail before contract end. 
 
 
8. Abatement Points 
 
Table 6 shows the total number of abatement points the Serco CSS Contract has attracted in 
each month since contract start. A total of 902 points is currently distributed amongst the 
KPIs. The maximum service credits payable by each service area is capped at 10% of that 
area’s financial payment for that month.  
 
 
Table 6: Total monthly abatement points from contract start to Dec 2021: 
 

 
 

Page 104



 

 

 
9. Conclusion 

 
KPI Performance Summary August to December 2021: 
 
This period showed a strong 'green' performance, with only the Customer Service Centre 
missing two TSLs in September, and PM one TSL in December.  
 
 
Serco Highlights for the review period August to December 2021: 

 
Kevin Hales, Serco Operations Director, will provide an additional verbal update at the 
meeting. 
 
 
10. Consultation 

 
 
 

 

 

 

a)  Risks and Impact Analysis 

Not Applicable 
 
 
 

11. Background Papers 
 
No background papers within Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used 
in the preparation of this report. 
 
 
This report was prepared by Arnd Hobohm who can be contacted on 07920 807477. 
Alternatively, via email arnd.hobohm@lincolnshire.gov.uk. 

 

Page 105

mailto:arnd.hobohm@lincolnshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Open Report on behalf of Andrew Crookham, Executive Director - Resources 

 

Report to: Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 

Date: 27 January 2022 

Subject: Scrutiny Committee Work Programmes: -  
 

 Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 

 Public Protection and Communities Scrutiny Committee  
 

Summary:  
 
As set out in the Council's constitution, a key role for this Board is monitoring the future 
work programmes of the other scrutiny committees.   The role of the Board is to satisfy 
itself that it is content with each committee's work programme, rather than to discuss the 
detail of particular items listed in the work programme, as these discussions are 
appropriately held at the relevant meeting of the scrutiny committee.     
 

This report focuses on the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee and the Public 
Protection and Communities Scrutiny Committee and includes information on activity since 
October 2021.   
 

 

Actions Required: 
 

(1) The Board is requested to determine whether it is satisfied with the activity 
undertaken since October 2021 by: 
 
(a) the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee; and  
(b) the Public Protection and Communities Scrutiny Committee. 

 
(2) The Board is requested to determine whether it is satisfied with the planned work 

programme of: 
 
(a) the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee; and  
(b) the Public Protection and Communities Scrutiny Committee. 

 

Page 107

Agenda Item 11



1. Background 
 
The Council's constitution includes in this Board's terms of reference the following two 
clauses: -  
 

 To agree and monitor the ongoing overview and scrutiny work programme, in 
particular holding the chairmen and/or vice chairmen to account for their committee's 
work programme on a quarterly basis.   
 

 To monitor and guide the activities of the other overview and scrutiny committees. 
 

Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee and Public Protection and Communities 
Scrutiny Committee  
 

So far in the new council term, the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee has held 
five meetings and the Public Protection and Communities Scrutiny Committee has held four 
meetings.   The key activities since October 2021 and the planned work programme of each 
committee are set out in Appendices A and B respectively.  If members of the Board require 
further details on any item of previous activity, the full reports can be found on the County 
Council's website.   
 
Committee Reporting Timetable 
 

The table below sets out the planned reporting timetable until September 2022: -  
 

Scrutiny Committee 
Monitoring 

Date 
Monitoring 

Date 
Monitoring 

Date 

Adults and Community Wellbeing  
16 Dec 2021 24 Mar 2022 30 June 2022 

Health  

Children and Young People 
27 Jan 2022 28 Apr 2022 25 Aug 2022 

Public Protection and Communities 

Environment and Economy 
24 Feb 2022 

26 May 2022 
29 Sept 2022 

Highways and Transport  

Flood and Water Management   

 
2. Conclusion
 

The Board is asked to consider whether it is satisfied with the previous activity and the 
planned work programmes of the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee, and the 
Public Protection and Communities Scrutiny Committee.   
 
 

Page 108



3. Appendices – These are listed below: -  
 

Appendix A 
Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee – Activity and Planned 
Work 

Appendix B 
Public Protection and Communities Scrutiny Committee – Activity and 
Planned Work 

 

4. Background Papers  
 
No background papers within Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used 
in the preparation of this report. 

 
 

This report was written by Tracy Johnson, Senior Scrutiny Officer, who can be contacted 
on 07552 253814, or via tracy.johnson@lincolnshire.gov.uk and Kiara Chatziioannou, 
Scrutiny Officer, who can be contacted on 07500 571868, or via 
kiara.chatziioannou@lincolnshire.gov.uk. 

Page 109

mailto:tracy.johnson@lincolnshire.gov.uk
mailto:kiara.chatziioannou@lincolnshire.gov.uk


APPENDIX A 
 

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

ACTIVITY REPORT  
 

The Committee has met on six occasions in the new Council term: 25 June, 16 July, 3 
September, 15 October and 19 November 2021, and 14 January 2022.   Full details on all the 
items considered at these meetings are available on the County Council's website: 
 
https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=124  
 
Set out below is a summary of the outcomes since the last update in October 2021: 
 

19 November 2021 

Item Summary of Outcomes 

Joint Diversionary Panel (JDP) – 

University of Lincoln Evaluation 

The Committee welcomed Dr Sue Bond-Taylor from the 

University of Lincoln and Chief Inspector Daryl Pearce 

from Lincolnshire Police, and considered the key findings 

of the evaluation of the Joint Diversionary Panel 

undertaken by the University of Lincoln. 

The Committee endorsed the proposed actions to 

continue the ongoing development of the JDP and 

requested an update on the progress against the 

proposed actions in 12 months’ time. 

Children In Care (CIC) 

Transformation - Residential 

Estate Expansion Programme 

The Committee recorded its unanimous support for the 

residential estate expansion programme. 

The Committee also recorded additional comments for 

the Executive Councillor for Children's Services, 

Community Safety and Procurement. 

 

Lincoln Children's 

Home 

The Committee recorded its unanimous support for the 

relocation of Lincolnshire County Council’s existing short 

breaks home to a location on the St. Francis Special 

School site in Lincoln, and for the existing shorts break 

home to be converted into a children’s home. 

The Committee also recorded additional comments for 

the Executive Councillor for Resources, Communications 

and Commissioning and the Executive Councillor for 

People Management, Legal and Corporate Property. 

Page 110

https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=124


19 November 2021 

Item Summary of Outcomes 

Spalding Academy Basic Need 

Project 

The Committee recorded its unanimous support for the 

procurement of the expansion and remodelling to 

Spalding Academy. 

 The Committee also recorded additional comments for 

the Executive Councillor for Resources, Communications 

and Commissioning and the Executive Councillor for 

People Management, Legal and Corporate Property. 

Stamford Welland Academy 

Basic Need Project 

The Committee recorded its unanimous support for the 

procurement of the expansion and remodelling to 

Stamford Welland Academy. 

 The Committee also recorded additional comments for 

the Executive Councillor for Resources, Communications 

and Commissioning and the Executive Councillor for 

People Management, Legal and Corporate Property. 

Service Level Performance 

against the Corporate 

Performance Framework – 

Quarter 2 

As part of its consideration, the Committee explored: 

 the increase in the average days for children to move 

to an adopted family from 397 days in Quarter One, 

to 455 days in Quarter Two, which was due to the 

delays in the court systems arising from the Covid-19 

pandemic. 

 the increase in the number of 16 and 17 year old 

children in care participating in learning and an 

upcoming proposal for virtual schools, through a 

grant of approximately £900 per child, to tailor 

bespoke learning and support packages which would 

be brought back to the Committee. 

 The decrease in child protection plans after a number 

of children were put on a child protection plan during 

the pandemic due to the significant change in 

circumstances which had now been ceased. 

Page 111



 

14 January 2022 

Item Summary of Outcomes 

Council Budget 2022/23 

The Committee recorded its unanimous support for the 
Children’s Services budget proposals including the 
funding of the cost pressures for Children’s Social Care 
Services. 

The Committee also recorded additional comments for 
the Executive. 

Recommissioning of Autism and 
Learning Difficulties (ALD) 
Service for Children and Young 
People 

The Committee recorded its unanimous support for the 
re-commissioning of the ALD Service. 

The Committee also recorded additional comments for 
the Executive. 

Recommissioning of Behaviour 
Outreach Support Service 
(BOSS) for Children and Young 
People 

The Committee recorded its unanimous support for the 
re-commissioning of the BOSS Service. 

The Committee also recorded additional comments for 
the Executive. 

Director of Public Health Annual 
Report 2021 

The Committee accepted the Director of Public Health’s 
annual report for 2021. 

The Committee raised concerns about the lack of water 
fluoridation on the east coast of Lincolnshire, which 
correlated with some of the highest areas of deprivation 
in the county, and the impact this would have on children 
and young people’s dental health. It was agreed that a 
report would be brought back to a future meeting of the 
Committee on water fluoridation in Lincolnshire.  

Attendance in Schools, Elective 
Home Education and Children 
Missing Education Annual 
Report 2020/21 

The Committee endorsed the annual report on 
Attendance in Schools, Elective Home Education and 
Children Missing Education for 2020/21.  

Schools’ Standards and 
Recovery 

This item was deferred and will be integrated into the 

Lincolnshire Local Authority School Performance 2020-21 
to be considered at the next meeting on 4 March 2022. 

Lincolnshire Secure Children’s 
Home (EXEMPT) 

The Committee recorded its unanimous support for the 
proposed decision. 

The Committee also recorded additional comments for 
the Executive Councillor for Children's Services, 
Community Safety and Procurement, and the Executive 
Councillor for People Management, Legal and Corporate 
Property. 

Page 112



 
PLANNED WORK 

 
Set out below are the items planned for future meetings of the Committee, up to July 2022.     
 

4 March 2022 

Item Contributor Notes 

Single Section 75 Agreement for 
Children and Young People’s 
Mental Health Services  

Sara Gregory, 
Commissioning Manager - 
Children's Strategic 
Commissioning 

Kevin Johnson, Programme 
Manager – Children’s 
Integrated Commissioning  

This item is for pre-
decision scrutiny prior to 
an Executive decision on 5 
April 2022. 

Lincolnshire Local Authority 
School Performance 2020-21 
including Schools’ Standards 
and Recovery  

Martin Smith, Assistant 
Director - Education  

Matt Spoors, Head of 
Service – Children’s 
Education 

Nicky Myers, Interim Head 
of Service – Early Years 

This is the annual update 
report on school 
performance and Ofsted 
outcomes. 

Service Level Performance 
Reporting against the 
Performance Framework 2021-
2022 – Quarter 3 

Jo Kavanagh, Assistant 
Director – Early Help 

This is the quarterly 
performance report. 

Sustainable Modes of Transport 
to School (SMOTS) Action Plan 
Update 

Mark Rainey, 
Commissioning Manager - 
Commercial 

This item enables the 
Committee to consider an 
update on the SMOTS 
action plan and what has 
been implemented to 
date. 

 
 

22 April 2022 

Item Contributor Notes 

Lincolnshire Safeguarding 
Children Partnership (LSCP) 
Annual Update 

Chris Cook, Chair of LSCP 

Stacey Waller, LSCP 
Manager 

This is the annual update 
report from the LSCP. 

Page 113



22 April 2022 

Item Contributor Notes 

Family Hubs 
Tara Jones, Head of Service 
– Children in Care 
Transformation 

This item is for pre-
decision scrutiny prior to 
an Executive decision on 4 
May 2022. 

Review of and 
Recommendations regarding 
the Children’s Services Open 
Select List for Independent 
Placements from October 2022 

Bridie Fletcher, Senior 
Commissioning Officer – 
Children's Strategic 
Commissioning 

This item is for pre-
decision scrutiny. 

SEND Learning Platform  
Sheridan Dodsworth, Head 
of SEND 

This item enables the 
Committee to consider the 
progress of the SEND 
Learning Platform. 

 

17 June 2022 

Item Contributor Notes 

Children In Care and Care 
Leavers Strategy 

Andrew Morris, Corporate 
Parenting Manager 

This item is for pre-
decision scrutiny prior to 
an Executive decision on 5 
July 2022. 

Water Fluoridation in 
Lincolnshire  

Andy Fox, Consultant in 
Public Health 

This item was requested 
after consideration of the 
Director of Public Health 
Annual Report on 14 
January 2022. 

 

22 July 2022 

Item Contributor Notes 

Service Level Performance 
Reporting against the 
Performance Framework 2021-
2022 – Quarter 4 

Jo Kavanagh, Assistant 
Director – Early Help 

This is the quarterly 
performance report. 

 
Other Potential Items 

 Inclusive Lincolnshire Strategy – Policy Review 

 Corporate Parenting Responsibilities – Lincolnshire County Council's Response 
 

Page 114



APPENDIX B 
 

PUBLIC PROTECTION AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  
 

ACTIVITY  
 

The Public Protection and Communities Scrutiny Committee has met on four occasions in the 
new Council term:  27 July, 21 September (a summary of the outcomes of which was provided 
at the October 2021 meeting), 9 November and 14 December 2021.  Full detail on these items 
is available on the County Council's website: 
 
https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=551  
 
In addition, an informal meeting was held on 15 June 2021 to receive introductory 
presentations to the different service areas. 
 
Set out below is a summary of the outcomes of the last two meetings held since October 
2021: 
 

9 NOVEMBER  2021 

Item Summary of Outcomes  

1  

Lincolnshire Registration 

and Celebratory Service 

Annual Report 

The Committee received assurance that despite a disrupted 

and challenging year for the registration service, the service 

had continued to deliver a high level of customer service with 

registration volumes across all disciplines exceeding that of 

2020. The Committee requested that going forward, updates 

on the Registration, Celebratory and Coroners Service be 

received on a six-monthly basis, to include the annual report 

at the end of the financial year. 

2  

Community Hub Year 5 

Update (2020-21) 

The Committee was assured that the community hub model 

was operating successfully, despite the on-going restrictions 

that had been put in place as a result of the Covid-19 

pandemic, and many communities had relied on community 

hubs. 

3  

Integrated Risk 

Management Plan (IRMP) 

2020-2024 – Yearly Update 

 

Members of the Committee were advised that the IRMP and 

planning process and frameworks had been restructured to 

include four delivery frameworks and an overarching 

framework which articulated the service's approach to 

evaluation. 

 

Page 115

https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=551


14 DECEMBER 2021 

Item Summary of Outcomes  

1  
Fire and Rescue Statement 

of Assurance 

The Committee received the annual Statement of Assurance 

from Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue Service and recorded their 

satisfaction with the systems and measures in place for the 

period 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 which were both 

effective and fit for purpose.  

2  

Service Level Performance 

Reporting against the 

Performance Framework 

2021-2022 – Quarter 2 

As part of its consideration, the Committee explored: 

 The Stay Safe Days delivered to secondary schools was on 

target. Assurance was provided on the online capability 

developed to meet the requirements of delivery during 

the pandemic; 

 the number of domestic abuse cases in Lincolnshire 

where victims being supported through the Eden 

Outreach service into those that were adults and those 

with children was reported as per a previous request of 

members; 

 the number of deliberate, Primary fires (buildings, 

vehicles, recycling, banks, caravans etc.) had increased 

comparing to previous years and closer to pre-pandemic 

data; 

 the decrease in numbers of secondary fires; 

 the impact of the pandemic to visits to core libraries and 

mobile library services; 

 the increase of digital interactions (heritage and libraries) 

being strong and above target; 

 a reduction so far in Road Traffic Accident fatalities in 

comparison to the last two years pre-pandemic; 

 increasing RTA activity; 

 exploring data available relevant to accidents instigated 

by cyclists’ reckless behaviour;  

 underachievement of visits by Trading Standards to high 

risk premises which is hoped to pick up by next quarter; 

and, 

 imported goods (foods in particular) lacking 

labelling/ingredients breakdown in English and also 

lacking clear pricing. 

Page 116



14 DECEMBER 2021 

Item Summary of Outcomes  

3  
Coroners Service Annual 

Report 

The Committee received the annual report in accordance 

with the requirement of HM Chief Coroner for England and 

Wales. Members were assured that despite the challenges 

stated in the report the Coroners Service has faced the 

unprecedented challenges presented by the pandemic head 

on, has received positive feedback from families they have 

supported in finding closure of the sudden death of a loved 

one and it is to be hoped moves forward with renewed 

optimism in the future. 

4  

Adoption and Publication of 

the Domestic Abuse 

Strategy 2021-2024 

The Committee recorded its unanimous support for a 

proposed decision to adopt the recommendations specified 

in the report for approval of the publication of the Domestic 

Abuse Strategy. 

The Committee also recorded additional comments for the 

Executive Councillor for Children's Services, Community 

Safety and Procurement. 

 

25 JANUARY  2022 

Item Summary of Outcomes  

1  

Revenue and Capital Budget 

Proposals 2022/23 

Budget Scrutiny  

 

2  

Registration Service Fee 

Setting 2022/23 – 2024/25 

Pre-Decision Scrutiny 

 

3  

Integrated Risk 

Management Plan (IRMP) 

2020-2024 – Yearly Update 

 

 

4  
Safer Lincolnshire 

Partnership Review and 

Annual Update 

 

 

Page 117



PLANNED WORK 
 

Set out below are the items planned for future meetings of the Committee, up to July 2022.     
  
 

8 MARCH 2022 

Item Contributor Notes 

1 Service Level Performance 

Reporting against the 

Performance Framework 

2021-2022 – Quarter 3 

Diane Coulson, Assistant 

Director - Public Protection 

Nicole Hilton, Assistant 

Director - Communities  

Lee Sirdifield, Assistant 

Director - Corporate 

Mark Baxter, Chief Fire 

Officer 

Steven Batchelor, LRSP 

Senior Manager 

This is the quarterly 

performance report.    

2 Road Safety Partnership 

Annual Report 

Steven Batchelor, LRSP 

Senior Manager 

This is the annual update 

from the RSP.  

3 Development Works and 

Future Supports to Volunteers 

Lee Sirdifield, Assistant 

Director - Corporate 

The Committee will receive 

a report on support and 

resources available to 

volunteers and future 

developments.  

 

 

SITTING AS THE CRIME AND DISORDER SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

2 Prevent Annual Update Paul Drury, Prevent Officer 

Clare Newborn, Community 

Safety Manager, Safer 

Communities 

This is the annual update 

on the Prevent agenda.  

 
 

Page 118



19 APRIL 2022 

Item Contributor Notes 

1 Animal Health and Welfare 

Enforcement within Trading 

Standards- Update Report 

Sara Barry, Head of Safer 

Communities 

Mark Keal, Trading Standards 

Manager 

The Committee will receive 

a report and presentation 

on a review of the delivery 

of Animal Health and 

Welfare enforcement within 

the Trading Standards 

Service in Lincolnshire. 

 

31 MAY 2022 

Item Contributor Notes 

1 Celebratory Services -

Annual Report 

James Chapple, Head of 

Registration and Coroners 

Services 

This is an annual report of 

the Celebratory Services. 

2 Cyber fraud- Impact on 

Vulnerable Individuals 

during the Pandemic 

Diane Coulson, Assistant 

Director - Public Protection 

The Committee will receive 

a report in relation to cyber 

fraud levels and impact 

during the pandemic.  

 

19 JULY 2022 

Item Contributor Notes 

1 Service Level Performance 

Reporting against the 

Performance Framework 

2021-2022 – Quarter 4 

Diane Coulson, Assistant 

Director - Public Protection 

Nicole Hilton, Assistant 

Director - Communities  

Lee Sirdifield, Assistant 

Director - Corporate 

Mark Baxter, Chief Fire 

Officer 

Steven Batchelor, LRSP Senior 

Manager 

This is the quarterly 

performance report.    

2 Integrated Risk 

Management Plan 2020-

2024 – Yearly Update 

Mark Baxter, Chief Fire 

Officer 

This is an annual update in 

relation to planning process 

and frameworks.  

3 Fire and Rescue Service 

(FRS) Attendance at 

Flooding Incidents – Annual 

Report on Performance 

Mark Baxter, Chief Fire 

Officer 

This is a report on the levels 

and types of flooding 

activity/incidents attended 

by the FRS. 

Page 119



19 JULY 2022 

Item Contributor Notes 

4 Libraries Year 6 Update 

(2021-22)- Progress and 

Developments 

Louise Egan, Library and 

Heritage Client Lead 

This is an update on the 

Library Services Contract for 

Year 6. 

5 Coroners Service Update 

Report 

Paul Smith, Senior Coroner 

for Lincolnshire 

This report will include 

updates on the 

appointments of a Head of 

Service and Coroners 

Services Manager, an 

update on the potential 

Merger with NE Lincs 

Service and any further 

challenges faced due to the 

pandemic.  

 

Other Potential Items 

•  Serious and Organised Crime – Fraud and Modern-Day Slavery – Autumn 2022 

Page 120



     
 

Open Report on behalf of Andrew Crookham, Executive Director - Resources 

 

Report to: Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 

Date: 27 January 2022      

Subject: Overview and Scrutiny Management Board Work Programme  

Decision Reference:   Key decision? No   

Summary:  

This item informs the Board of its current work programme for 2022.  
 

 

Actions Required: 

This item is for information only. 
 

 
1. Background 
 
Work Programme 
 
The current version of the work programme for the Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Board is set out in Appendix A.  
 
Executive Forward Plan 
 
The Executive Forward Plan of key decisions is set out at Appendix B. This is background 
information for the Board to ensure that all key decisions are scrutinised by the relevant 
scrutiny committee.  
 
 
2. Conclusion 

This item is to inform the Overview and Scrutiny Management Board of its current work 
programme for 2022, which is attached at Appendix A to this report.   
 
 
3. Consultation 
 

 

 

 

 

a)  Risks and Impact Analysis 

Not Applicable 
 

Page 121

Agenda Item 12



 
4. Appendices 

 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

Appendix A Overview and Scrutiny Management Board – Work Programme 

Appendix B Forward Plan of Decisions 

 
 

5. Background Papers 
 
No background papers as defined in section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were 
relied upon in the writing of this report. 
 
 
This report was written by Nigel West, Head of Democratic Services and Statutory Scrutiny 
Officer, who can be contacted by e-mail at nigel.west@lincolnshire.gov.uk  
 

 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 122

../c52509256/nigel.west@lincolnshire.gov.uk


APPENDIX A 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD  
 
Each agenda includes the following standard items: 

 Call-in (if required) 

 Councillor Call for Action (if required) 
 
 

27 January 2022 

Item Contributor Purpose 

Service Revenue and Capital 
Budget Proposals 2022/23 

Keith Noyland, Head of 
Finance - Communities 

Budget Scrutiny 

(Executive decision on 
8 February 2022) 

(Council decision on 
18 February 2022) 

Council Budget 2022/23 Michelle Grady, Assistant 
Director - Finance 

Budget Scrutiny 

(Executive decision on 
8 February 2022) 

(Council decision on 
18 February 2022) 

Performance of the 
Corporate Support Services 
Contract  

Sophie Reeve, Assistant 
Director – Commercial 

Arnd Hobohm, Serco 
Contract Manager 

Performance Scrutiny 

Overview and Scrutiny Work 
Programmes  

 Children and Young 
People Scrutiny 
Committee 

 Public Protection and 
Communities Scrutiny 
Committee 

Cllr Rob Kendrick, Chairman 
of Children and Young 
People Scrutiny Committee 

Cllr Nigel Pepper, Chairman 
of Public Protection and 
Communities Scrutiny 
Committee 

Performance Scrutiny 

Page 123



27 January 2022 

Item Contributor Purpose 

Local Transport Plan V  

 

Vanessa Strange, Head of 
Infrastructure Investment 

Jason Copper, Transport and 
Growth Manager 

Information Only 

(Highways and Transport 
Scrutiny Committee on 24 

January 2022) 

(Executive decision on 
8 February 2022) 

(Council decision on 
18 February 2022) 

 
 

24 February 2022 

Item Contributor Purpose 

Insurance Strategy 
Mandy Knowlton-Rayner, 
Insurance and Risk Lead 

Pre-Decision Scrutiny 
(Leader Decision between 1 

- 11 March 2022) 

People Management 
Update Quarter 3 

Tony Kavanagh, Assistant 
Director – HR and 
Organisational Support  

Performance Scrutiny 

Corporate Plan Success 
Framework 2021/22 – 
Quarter 3 

Caroline Jackson, Head of 
Corporate Performance 

Jasmine Sodhi, Performance 
and Equalities Manager 

Pre-Decision Scrutiny 
(Executive decision on 

1 March 2022) 

Treasury Management 
Performance Quarter 3 to 
31 December 2021  

Karen Tonge, Treasury 
Manager 

Performance Scrutiny 

Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement and 
Annual Investment Strategy 
2022/23 

Karen Tonge, Treasury 
Manager 

Chris Scott, Link Asset 
Services 

Pre-Decision Scrutiny 
(Executive Councillor 
Decision between 14 
and 18 March 2022) 

Revenue Budget Monitoring 
Report 2021/22 – Quarter 3 
to 31 December 2021 

Michelle Grady, Assistant 
Director - Finance 

Pre-Decision Scrutiny 
(Executive decision on 

1 March 2022) 

Page 124



24 February 2022 

Item Contributor Purpose 

Capital Budget Monitoring 
Report 2021/22 – Quarter 3 
to 31 December 2021 

Michelle Grady, Assistant 
Director - Finance 

Pre-Decision Scrutiny 
(Executive decision on 

1 March 2022) 

Overview and Scrutiny Work 
Programmes  

 Environment and 
Economy Scrutiny 
Committee 

 Highways and Transport 
Scrutiny Committee 

Cllr Ray Wootten, Chairman 
of Environment and 
Economy Scrutiny 
Committee 

Cllr Alex Hall, Vice Chairman 
of Highways and Transport 
Scrutiny Committee 

Performance Scrutiny 

 
 

24 March 2022 

Item Contributor Purpose 

Transformation Programme 
Update  

Clare Rowley, Head of 
Transformation  

Andrew McLean, Assistant 
Director – Corporate 
Transformation, 
Programmes and 
Performance 

Performance Scrutiny 

Property Services Contract 
Year Six Report 

Stuart Wright, Contract 
Manager - Corporate 
Property 

Performance Scrutiny 

Update on IMT Services - 
User Engagement and 
Project Portfolio 

Donna Fryer, Head of 
Portfolio and Resources 

Allison Kapethanasis, ICT 
Business Relationship and 
User Engagement Manager 

Performance Scrutiny 

Page 125



24 March 2022 

Item Contributor Purpose 

Overview and Scrutiny Work 
Programmes  

 Adults and Community 
Wellbeing Scrutiny 
Committee 

 Health Scrutiny 
Committee 

Cllr Hugo Marfleet, 
Chairman of Adults and 
Community Wellbeing 
Scrutiny Committee 

Cllr Carl Macey, Chairman of 
Health Scrutiny Committee 

Performance Scrutiny 

 
 

28 April 2022 

Item Contributor Purpose 

Performance of the 
Corporate Support Services 
Contract 

Sophie Reeve, Assistant 
Director – Commercial 

Arnd Hobohm, Serco 
Contract Manager 

Performance Scrutiny 

Establishment of the Legal 
Services Company – 
Progress Report 

David Coleman, Chief Legal 
Officer 

Performance Scrutiny 

Overview and Scrutiny 
Annual Report 2021-22 

Nigel West, Head of 
Democratic Services and 
Statutory Scrutiny Officer 

Performance Scrutiny 

Overview and Scrutiny Work 
Programmes  

 Children and Young 
People Scrutiny 
Committee 

 Public Protection and 
Communities Scrutiny 
Committee 

Cllr Rob Kendrick, Chairman 
of Children and Young 
People Scrutiny Committee 

Cllr Nigel Pepper, Chairman 
of Public Protection and 
Communities Scrutiny 
Committee 

Performance Scrutiny 

Options for the Future 
Delivery of IMT Services 
(EXEMPT) 

John Wickens, Assistant 
Director - IMT and 
Enterprise Architecture 

Pre-Decision Scrutiny 
(Executive decision on 4 

May 2022) 

 

Page 126



 

26 May 2022 

Item Contributor Purpose 

Developer Contributions 
Scrutiny Review – Second 
Monitoring Update of 
Action Plan 

Justin Brown, Assistant 
Director – Growth 

Warren Peppard, Head of 
Development Management 

Scrutiny Review Activity 

Business World ERP System 
Re-Design – Progress Report 

Louisa Harvey, ERP System 
Delivery Manager, Business 
World 

Andrew McLean, Assistant 
Director – Corporate 
Transformation, 
Programmes and 
Performance 

Performance Scrutiny 

People Management 
Update Quarter 4 

Tony Kavanagh, Assistant 
Director – HR and 
Organisational Support  

Performance Scrutiny 

Overview and Scrutiny Work 
Programmes  

 Environment and 
Economy Scrutiny 
Committee 

 Highways and Transport 
Scrutiny Committee 

 Flood and Water 
Management Scrutiny 
Committee 

Cllr Ray Wootten, Chairman 
of Environment and 
Economy Scrutiny 
Committee 

Cllr Alex Hall, Vice Chairman 
of Highways and Transport 
Scrutiny Committee 

Cllr Paul Skinner, Chairman 
of the Flood and Water 
Management Scrutiny 
Committee 

Performance Scrutiny 

Options for the Future 
Delivery of HR Admin, 
Payroll, Exchequer, ASC 
Finance and the Customer 
Service Centre (EXEMPT) 

Sophie Reeve, Assistant 
Director – Commercial 

Pre-Decision Scrutiny 
(Executive decision on 7 

June 2022) 

 
 
 
 

Page 127



30 June 2022 

Item Contributor Purpose 

Corporate Plan Success 
Framework 2021/22 – 
Quarter 4 

Caroline Jackson, Head of 
Corporate Performance 

Jasmine Sodhi, Performance 
and Equalities Manager 

Pre-Decision Scrutiny 
(Executive decision on 5 July 

2022) 

Review of Financial 
Performance 2021/22 

Michelle Grady, Assistant 
Director - Finance 

Pre-Decision Scrutiny 
(Executive decision on 5 July 

2022) 

Treasury Management 
Annual Report 2021/22 

Karen Tonge, Treasury 
Manager 

Chris Scott, Link Asset 
Services 

Performance Scrutiny 

Update on IMT Service Plan 
and Serco Contract 
Performance  

John Wickens, Assistant 
Director - IMT and 
Enterprise Architecture 

Paul Elverstone, ICT 
Contracts and Licensing 
Officer 

Performance Scrutiny 

Overview and Scrutiny Work 
Programmes  

 Adults and Community 
Wellbeing Scrutiny 
Committee 

 Health Scrutiny 
Committee 

Cllr Hugo Marfleet, 
Chairman of Adults and 
Community Wellbeing 
Scrutiny Committee 

Cllr Carl Macey, Chairman of 
Health Scrutiny Committee 

Performance Scrutiny 

 
 

25 August 2022 

Item Contributor Purpose 

Revenue Budget Monitoring 
Report 2022/23 – Quarter 1 
to 30 June 2022 

Michelle Grady, Assistant 
Director - Finance 

Pre-Decision Scrutiny 
(Executive decision on 

6 September 2022) 

Page 128



25 August 2022 

Item Contributor Purpose 

Capital Budget Monitoring 
Report 2022/23 – Quarter 1 
to 30 June 2022 

Michelle Grady, Assistant 
Director - Finance 

Pre-Decision Scrutiny 
(Executive decision on 

6 September 2022) 

Corporate Plan Success 
Framework 2022/23 – 
Quarter 1 

Caroline Jackson, Head of 
Corporate Performance 

Jasmine Sodhi, Performance 
and Equalities Manager 

Pre-Decision Scrutiny 
(Executive decision on 6 

September 2022) 

People Management 
Update Quarter 1 

Tony Kavanagh, Assistant 
Director – HR and 
Organisational Support  

Performance Scrutiny 

Overview and Scrutiny Work 
Programmes  

 Children and Young 
People Scrutiny 
Committee 

 Public Protection and 
Communities Scrutiny 
Committee 

Cllr Rob Kendrick, Chairman 
of Children and Young 
People Scrutiny Committee 

Cllr Nigel Pepper, Chairman 
of Public Protection and 
Communities Scrutiny 
Committee 

Performance Scrutiny 

 
 

29 September 2022 

Item Contributor Purpose 

Transformation Programme 
Update  

Andrew McLean, Assistant 
Director – Corporate 
Transformation, 
Programmes and 
Performance 

Clare Rowley, Head of 
Transformation 

Performance Scrutiny 

Update on IMT Services 

 Project Portfolio 

Donna Fryer, Head of 
Portfolio and Resources 

Performance Scrutiny 

Page 129



29 September 2022 

Item Contributor Purpose 

Treasury Management 
Performance 2022/23 - 
Quarter 1 to 30 June 2022  

Karen Tonge, Treasury 
Manager 

Performance Scrutiny  

Overview and Scrutiny Work 
Programmes  

 Environment and 
Economy Scrutiny 
Committee 

 Highways and Transport 
Scrutiny Committee 

Cllr Ray Wootten, Chairman 
of Environment and 
Economy Scrutiny 
Committee 

Cllr Alex Hall, Vice Chairman 
of Highways and Transport 
Scrutiny Committee 

Performance Scrutiny 

 
 

27 October 2022 

Item Contributor Purpose 

Performance of the 
Corporate Support Services 
Contract 

Sophie Reeve, Assistant 
Director - Commercial 

Arnd Hobohm, Serco 
Contract Manager 

Performance Scrutiny 

Health and Safety Annual 
Report 2021/22 

Fraser Shooter, Health and 
Safety Team Leader 

Performance Scrutiny 

Overview and Scrutiny Work 
Programmes  

 Adults and Community 
Wellbeing Scrutiny 
Committee 

 Health Scrutiny 
Committee 

Cllr Hugo Marfleet, 
Chairman of Adults and 
Community Wellbeing 
Scrutiny Committee 

Cllr Carl Macey, Chairman of 
Health Scrutiny Committee 

Performance Scrutiny 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 130



24 November 2022 

Item Contributor Purpose 

Corporate Plan Success 
Framework 2022/23 – 
Quarter 2 

Caroline Jackson, Head of 
Corporate Performance 

Jasmine Sodhi, Performance 
and Equalities Manager 

Pre-Decision Scrutiny 
(Executive decision on 6 

December 2022) 

Draft Infrastructure Funding 
Statement 2021/22 

Brendan Gallagher, Principal 
Planning Officer – 
Infrastructure 

Pre-Decision Scrutiny 
(Executive decision on 6 

December 2022) 

People Management 
Update Quarter 2 

Tony Kavanagh, Assistant 
Director – HR and 
Organisational Support  

Performance Scrutiny 

Revenue Budget Monitoring 
Report 2022/23 – Quarter 2 
to 30 September 2022 

Michelle Grady, Assistant 
Director - Finance 

Pre-Decision Scrutiny 
(Executive decision on 6 

December 2022) 

Capital Budget Monitoring 
Report 2022/23 – Quarter 2 
to 30 September 2022 

Michelle Grady, Assistant 
Director - Finance 

Pre-Decision Scrutiny 
(Executive decision on 6 

December 2022) 

Treasury Management 
Performance 2022/23 -
Quarter 2 to 30 September 
2022 

Karen Tonge, Treasury 
Manager 

Performance Scrutiny 

Overview and Scrutiny Work 
Programmes  

 Children and Young 
People Scrutiny 
Committee 

 Public Protection and 
Communities Scrutiny 
Committee 

Cllr Rob Kendrick, Chairman 
of Children and Young 
People Scrutiny Committee 

Cllr Nigel Pepper, Chairman 
of Public Protection and 
Communities Scrutiny 
Committee 

Performance Scrutiny 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 131



15 December 2022 

Item Contributor Purpose 

Update on IMT Services 

 Data Services 

 Service KPI’s & 
Service Issues 

Sue Cline, Head of Data 
Services and Business 
Intelligence 

Paul Elverstone, ICT 
Contracts and Licensing 
Officer 

Performance Scrutiny 

Developer Contributions 
Scrutiny Review – Third 
Monitoring Update of 
Action Plan 

Justin Brown, Assistant 
Director – Growth 

Warren Peppard, Head of 
Development Management 

Scrutiny Review Activity 

Overview and Scrutiny Work 
Programmes  

 Environment and 
Economy Scrutiny 
Committee 

 Highways and Transport 
Scrutiny Committee 

 Flood and Water 
Management Scrutiny 
Committee 

Cllr Ray Wootten, Chairman 
of Environment and 
Economy Scrutiny 
Committee 

Cllr Alex Hall, Vice Chairman 
of Highways and Transport 
Scrutiny Committee 

Cllr Paul Skinner, Chairman 
of the Flood and Water 
Management Scrutiny 
Committee 

Performance Scrutiny 

 
 
 

For more information about the work of the Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 
please contact Tracy Johnson, Senior Scrutiny Officer, by e-mail at 

Tracy.Johnson@lincolnshire.gov.uk 
 

Page 132

../c52509256/Tracy.Johnson@lincolnshire.gov.uk


APPENDIX B 
 

FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS FROM 01 FEBRUARY 2022 
PUBLISH DATE 6 DECEMBER 2021 

 
 

DEC REF 
MATTERS 

FOR DECISION 
REPORT 
STATUS 

DECISION MAKER AND 
DATE OF DECISION 

PEOPLE/GROUPS 
CONSULTED PRIOR 

TO DECISION 

DOCUMENTS 
TO BE 

CONSIDERED 

OFFICER(S) FROM WHOM FURTHER 
INFORMATION CAN BE OBTAINED AND 

REPRESENTATIONS MADE 
(All officers are based at County Offices, 

Newland, Lincoln LN1 1YL unless 
otherwise stated) 

DIVISIONS 
AFFECTED 

I025504 Lincolnshire Secure 
Children's Home 

Exempt Executive 
Councillor: 
Children's Services, 
Community Safety 
and Procurement 
 
Executive 
Councillor: People 
Management, Legal 
and Corporate 
Property 
 
Between 3 Feb 2022 and 
10 Feb 2022 

Children and Young People 
Scrutiny Committee 

Reports Senior Project Manager 
E-mail: 
matthew.stapleton@lincolnshire.gov.uk    

Sleaford 

I025458 
 

Re-Commissioning of 
Behaviour Outreach 
Support Service for 
Children and Young People 

Open Executive 
 
8 Feb 2022 
 

Children and Young People 
Scrutiny Committee 

Reports Commissioning Manager 
E-mail: saraj.gregory@lincolnshire.gov.uk  

All Divisions 

I025457 
 

Re-commissioning of 
Autism and Learning 
Difficulties (ALD) Service 
for Children and Young 
People 

Open Executive 
 
8 Feb 2022 
 

Children and Young People 
Scrutiny Committee  

Reports Commissioning Manager 
E-mail: saraj.gregory@lincolnshire.gov.uk  

All Divisions 

I025388 
 

Council Budget 2022/23 
 

Open Executive 
 
8 Feb 2022 

All relevant scrutiny 
committees 

Reports Assistant Director - Finance 
E-mail: 
michelle.grady@lincolnshire.gov.uk  

All Divisions 

P
age 133

mailto:matthew.stapleton@lincolnshire.gov.uk
mailto:saraj.gregory@lincolnshire.gov.uk
mailto:saraj.gregory@lincolnshire.gov.uk
mailto:michelle.grady@lincolnshire.gov.uk


DEC REF 
MATTERS 

FOR DECISION 
REPORT 
STATUS 

DECISION MAKER AND 
DATE OF DECISION 

PEOPLE/GROUPS 
CONSULTED PRIOR 

TO DECISION 

DOCUMENTS 
TO BE 

CONSIDERED 

OFFICER(S) FROM WHOM FURTHER 
INFORMATION CAN BE OBTAINED AND 

REPRESENTATIONS MADE 
(All officers are based at County Offices, 

Newland, Lincoln LN1 1YL unless 
otherwise stated) 

DIVISIONS 
AFFECTED 

I022898 Local Transport Plan V Open Executive 
 
8 Feb 2022 

CLT / DLT internal key officers 
and a full statutory consultation 
Highways and Transport 
scrutiny Committee 

Reports 
Transport and Growth Manager 
Email:  
Jason.Copper@linconloshire.gov.uk 

All 

I025545 
 

To enter into a Section 113 
agreement with North and 
North East Lincolnshire for 
Public Health Services 

Open Executive 
 
8 Feb 2022 

North Lincolnshire Council 
North East Lincolnshire Council 
Office for Health Improvement 
and Disparities 

Reports Executive Director Adult Care and 
Community Wellbeing 
E-mail: glen.garrod@lincolnshire.gov.uk  

All Divisions 

I022920 
 

The re-commissioning of 
the Carers Support Service 
 

Open Executive Councillor: Adult 
Care and Public Health 
 
Between 28 Feb 2022 and 
4 Mar 2022 

Adults and Community 
Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee 

Reports Commercial and Procurement Manager 
E-mail: carl.miller@lincolnshire.gov.uk  

All Divisions 

I025459 
 

To agree a Section 75 
agreement between LCC 
and Lincolnshire CCG to 
allow continuation of 
existing pooled budget and 
lead commissioner 
arrangements 

Open Executive 
 
1 Mar 2022 
 

Learning Disability Partnership 
Board 
Adults and Community 
Wellbeing Scrutiny 
Committee 

Reports Assistant Director - Specialist Adult 
Services and Safeguarding 
E-mail: justin.hackney@lincolnshire.gov.uk  

All Divisions 

I023033 
 

Residential and Nursing 
Framework and Usual 
Costs 

Open Executive 
 
1 Mar 2022 

Survey and analysis of the local 
provider market for residential 
and nursing care. 
Adults and Community 
Wellbeing Scrutiny 
Committee 

Reports Commercial and Procurement Manager 
E-mail: 
alexander.craig@lincolnshire.gov.uk  

All Divisions 

I023006 LCC as the Local Transport 
Authority to 'make' an 
Enhanced Partnership 
Scheme and Plan  

Open  Executive  
1 Mar 2022  

Operators; Public; District 
Councils; GLEP; Businesses; CLT; 
Highways and Transport 
Scrutiny Committee  

Reports  Assistant Director – Communities 
E-mail: nicole.hilton@lincolnshire.gov.uk    

All Divisions  

P
age 134

mailto:Jason.Copper@linconloshire.gov.uk
mailto:glen.garrod@lincolnshire.gov.uk
mailto:carl.miller@lincolnshire.gov.uk
mailto:justin.hackney@lincolnshire.gov.uk
mailto:alexander.craig@lincolnshire.gov.uk
mailto:nicole.hilton@lincolnshire.gov.uk


DEC REF 
MATTERS 

FOR DECISION 
REPORT 
STATUS 

DECISION MAKER AND 
DATE OF DECISION 

PEOPLE/GROUPS 
CONSULTED PRIOR 

TO DECISION 

DOCUMENTS 
TO BE 

CONSIDERED 

OFFICER(S) FROM WHOM FURTHER 
INFORMATION CAN BE OBTAINED AND 

REPRESENTATIONS MADE 
(All officers are based at County Offices, 

Newland, Lincoln LN1 1YL unless 
otherwise stated) 

DIVISIONS 
AFFECTED 

I022179 Revenue Budget 
Monitoring Report 
2021/22 

Open Executive 
 
1 Mar 2022 

Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board 

Reports Assistant Director - Finance 
Tel: 01522 553235 
E-mail: 
Michelle.Grady@lincolnshire.gov.uk  

All 

I022178 Capital Budget Monitoring 
Report 2021/22 

Open Executive 
 
1 Mar 2022 

Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board 

Reports Assistant Director - Finance 
Tel: 01522 553235 
E-mail: 
Michelle.Grady@lincolnshire.gov.uk  

All 

I025137 
 

North Hykeham Relief 
Road - Design and Build 
Contract Procurement 
 

Open Executive 
 
5 Apr 2022 
 

Highways and Transport 
Scrutiny Committee 

Reports Head of Highways Infrastructure 
E-mail: sam.edwards@lincolnshire.gov.uk  

Bassingham and 
Welbourn; Eagle 

and Hykeham 
West; Hykeham 

Forum; 
Potterhanworth 

and Coleby; 
Swallow Beck 
and Witham; 

Waddington and 
Hykeham East; 

Washingborough 

I022487 
 

Flood and Coastal 
Resilience and Innovation 
Programme - submission 
of business case 
 

Open Executive 
 
5 Apr 2022 
 

Flood and Water Management 
Scrutiny Committee; 
Environment and Economy 
Scrutiny Committee; partner 
organisations; local 
communities 

Reports Head of Environment 
e-mail: 
david.hickman@lincolnshire.gov.uk  

Louth Wolds; 
Market Rasen 

Wolds; 
Metheringham 

Rural; North 
Wolds 

I025505 
New! 

Single Section 75 
Agreement for Children 
and Young People's 
Mental Health Services 
 

Open Executive 
 
5 Apr 2022 
 

Children and Young People 
Scrutiny Committee – 4 March 
2022 

Reports Programme Manager, Children's 
Integrated Commissioning 
E-mail: kevin.johnson@lincolnshire.gov.uk  

All Divisions 

P
age 135

mailto:Michelle.Grady@lincolnshire.gov.uk
mailto:Michelle.Grady@lincolnshire.gov.uk
mailto:sam.edwards@lincolnshire.gov.uk
mailto:david.hickman@lincolnshire.gov.uk
mailto:kevin.johnson@lincolnshire.gov.uk


DEC REF 
MATTERS 

FOR DECISION 
REPORT 
STATUS 

DECISION MAKER AND 
DATE OF DECISION 

PEOPLE/GROUPS 
CONSULTED PRIOR 

TO DECISION 

DOCUMENTS 
TO BE 

CONSIDERED 

OFFICER(S) FROM WHOM FURTHER 
INFORMATION CAN BE OBTAINED AND 

REPRESENTATIONS MADE 
(All officers are based at County Offices, 

Newland, Lincoln LN1 1YL unless 
otherwise stated) 

DIVISIONS 
AFFECTED 

I025181 
 

The re-commissioning of 
Lincolnshire Community 
Equipment Services 
 

Open Executive 
 
4 May 2022 
 

The Leader of the Council, Adult 
Care and Community Wellbeing 
Executive DLT, LCES Programme 
Board 
Adults and Community 
Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee 

Reports Senior Commercial and Procurement 
Officer 
E-mail: 
marie.kaempfe-rice@lincolnshire.gov.uk  

All Divisions 

I025179 
 

Options for the Future 
Delivery of IMT Services 
 

Exempt Executive 
 
4 May 2022 
 

Internal Consultation with CLT, 
IMT Board, Commissioning 
Board and Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Board. 

Reports Assistant Director - IMT & Enterprise 
Partnership 
E-mail: john.wickens@lincolnshire.gov.uk  

n/a 

I025180 
 

Options for the Future 
Delivery of HR Admin, 
Payroll, Exchequer, ASC 
Finance and the Customer 
Service Centre (CSC) 

Exempt Executive 
 
7 Jun 2022 
 

Internal consultation with CLT, 
Commissioning Board and 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board 

Reports Assistant Director - Commercial 
E-mail: sophie.reeve@lincolnshire.gov.uk  

n/a 

I025544 
 

Review of Financial 
Performance 2021/22 

Open Executive 
 
5 Jul 2022 

Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board 

Reports Assistant Director - Finance 
e-mail: 
michelle.grady@lincolnshire.gov.uk  

All Divisions 

I021049 The Expansion of 
St Lawrence's School, 
Horncastle 

Exempt Leader of the 
Council (Executive 
Councillor: 
Resources, 
Communications 
and Commissioning) 
 
Between 14 Sep 2022 and 
21 Sep 2022 

Children and Young People 
Scrutiny Committee 

Reports Head of Property Development 
Email: 
Dave.Pennington@lincolnshire.gov.uk  
 
Programme Manager, Special Schools 
Strategy 
Email: 
Eileen.McMorrow@lincolnshire.gov.uk 

Horncastle and 
the Keals 

  

P
age 136

mailto:marie.kaempfe-rice@lincolnshire.gov.uk
mailto:john.wickens@lincolnshire.gov.uk
mailto:sophie.reeve@lincolnshire.gov.uk
mailto:michelle.grady@lincolnshire.gov.uk
mailto:Dave.Pennington@lincolnshire.gov.uk
mailto:Eileen.McMorrow@lincolnshire.gov.uk


     
 

Open Report on behalf of Andy Gutherson, Executive Director - Place 

 

Report to: Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 

Date: 27 January 2022 

Subject: Local Transport Plan (LTP 5) 

Decision Reference:   Key decision? No   

Summary:  

This report is for the Board's information only. The attached report on the Local Transport 
Plan (LTP 5) is due to be considered by the Highways and Transport Scrutiny Committee 
on 24 January 2022.  The report will then be considered by the Executive on 8 February 
2022 along with a statement from the Highways and Transport Scrutiny Committee.  
 

 

Actions Required: 

To note that on 24 January 2022 the Highways and Transport Scrutiny Committee will 
consider the attached report to the Executive and a statement from the Committee will 
be provided to the Executive when it considers the report on 8 February 2022.   
 

 
1. Background 
 
The Executive is due to consider the Local Transport Plan (LTP 5) on 8 February 2022.  The 
report to the Executive, which is attached at Appendix 1 to this report, is due to be 
considered on 24 January 2022 by the Highways and Transport Scrutiny Committee, and a 
statement from the Committee will be provided to the Executive. 
 
2. Conclusion 

The attached report is submitted to the Board for information only. 
 
3. Consultation 
 
Consultation on the proposed decision of the Executive on 8 February 2022 is due to be 
undertaken by the Highways and Transport Scrutiny Committee on 24 January 2022.  A 
statement from the Committee will be presented to the Executive.    
 
 

Page 137

Agenda Item 13



4. Appendices 
 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

Appendix 1 Report to the Executive on the Local Transport Plan (LTP 5) 

 
 
5. Background Papers 
 
No background papers within the meaning of section 100D of the Local Government Act 
1972 were used in the preparation of this Report. 
 
This report was written by Jason Copper, Transport and Growth Manager, who can be 
contacted on 07500 813698 or jason.copper@lincolnshire.gov.uk. 
   
 

Page 138

mailto:jason.copper@lincolnshire.gov.uk


       
 

Open Report on behalf of Andy Gutherson, Executive Director - Place 

 

Report to: Executive 

Date: 8 February 2022 

Subject: Local Transport Plan (LTP 5)  

Decision Reference: I022898 

Key decision? Yes  
 

Summary:  

This report provides a summary of the public consultation responses to Local Transport 
Plan (LTP5) and sets out a series of recommendations to address the issues raised by 
consultees. 
 
The report recommends that the consultation version of LTP5 attached as Appendix A, 
amended as set out in red in Appendix C, is recommended to Full Council for adoption 
as part of the Council's Policy Framework. 

 
 

Recommendation(s): 

That the Executive: - 
 

(1) recommends the LTP5 Consultation Draft document attached at Appendix A, 
amended as set out in red in Appendix C, to Full Council for adoption as 
Lincolnshire County Council's Local Transport Plan in accordance with its duty 
under the Transport Act 2000 and to form part of the Council's Policy 
Framework in place of the existing Local Transport Plan. 

 
(2) delegates to the Executive Director – Place in consultation with the Leader of 

the Council (Executive Councillor for Resources, Communications and 
Commissioning) and the Executive Councillor for Highways, Transport and IT, 
authority to make and approve any amendments prior to submission to Full 
Council. 

 
 

Alternatives Considered: 

1. Production of an LTP is a statutory requirement, although the Authority can 
choose as and when to review or replace it. There is limited scope for an 

Page 139



alternative approach to LTP devlopment as it needs to ensure it complies with 
current government requirements and, also, integrates with existing local 
strategies and objectives. 
 

 
 

Reasons for Recommendation: 

It is in line with the Authority's Statutory Duty, follows current Department for 
Transport Guidance in developing an integrated approach for delivering transport 
investment and is based on extensive engagement with stakeholders both internal and 
external and a wide-ranging public consultation exercise. 

 

 
1. Background 
 
1.1 The Council in its role as local transport authority has the duty to produce a Local 
Transport Plan (LTP) and an obligation to develop policies for the promotion and 
encouragement of safe integrated efficient and economic transport to, from and within 
the Council's area and then implement the policies.  The Council must keep its LTP under 
review and must alter it if it considers it appropriate to do so.  The Council may replace its 
LTP as it sees fit.  LTP 5 has been developed to fulfil this requirement and it is proposed 
that it replace the existing Local Transport Plan (LTP 4).  
 
1.2 The Department for Transport (DfT) have highlighted a broadening role for LTPs in 
recent policy announcements, with greater emphasis being placed on the document as 
part of the Decarbonisation of Transport and Bus Service Improvement Plans.  The 
direction of travel for LTPs is that they are to become the cornerstone of local transport 
policy and are likely to form the basis and evidence for future government investment in 
local highways and transport.  
 
1.3 The function and role of this LTP is to set out a high-level transport strategy for the 
whole of the County and put the authority at the forefront of the changing nature of LTPs 
by providing integration with wider policy areas such as economic development, health, 
and climate change.  It is also acting as a framework for the development of the current 
transformational Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) Project and the locally focussed 
Area Transport Strategies.  
 
1.4 LTP 5 has been built upon the foundations of existing Council policy including the 
Corporate Plan and Green Master Plan as well as taking account of the wider spatial 
planning requirements laid out in the numerous Local Development Plans across 
Lincolnshire.    
 
1.5 As a result of this broad policy base, 6 key and interwoven themes have been 
identified including:  

1. Supporting Economic Growth;  
2. Future Ready Green Transport (Climate Change);  
3. Promoting Thriving Environments; 

Page 140



4. Supporting Safety, Security and a Healthy Lifestyle;  
5. Promoting High Aspirations and  
6. Improving the Quality of Life.   

 
Each of these themes has several more detailed objectives that seek to support the broad 
themes but through the lens of transport and connectivity. 
 
1.6 Technical work has been on-going throughout 2021 to provide the evidence to support 
the objectives and supporting policy and provide direction for future service interventions 
and infrastructure requirements.  Engagement work with key internal and external 
stakeholders has also taken place. This led to the Public Consultation draft of LTP 5 which 
is attached at Appendix A.  As part of the statutory nature of the LTP there is a 
requirement to go out to formal public consultation and this report provides a summary of 
the results of that consultation process and a set of recommendations and suggested 
changes to the consultation draft LTP so that formal adoption can take place through Full 
council in February, having been through scrutiny and the Executive.    
 
1.7 Given the scale and complexity of the document and following advice from Corporate 
Communication and Engagement, a prospectus was developed to both summarise the 
core content and messages of LTP 5 as well as provide an accessible initial point of contact 
with the Plan and enable a more meaningful and welcoming consultation process. This 
document is attached at Appendix B and will be edited following approval of LTP 5 to act 
as a summary document for the public and stakeholders and be made available on the 
Council’s website.   
 
1.8 The LTP public consultation utilised the new web-based consultation and engagement 
software enabling a virtual only consultation process. With the ongoing pandemic and 
reluctance of some members of the public to attend gatherings and meetings this was 
considered the most appropriate form of consultation in the circumstances. 
 
1.9 The webpage and survey developed for consultation purposes received in excess of 
3300 visits, with over 1200 documents being downloaded, and 731 surveys being 
completed.  In addition, several organisations provided longer written responses to the 
email address provided, these were mainly from District and parish councils and special 
interest groups such as the Community Rail Partnership and cycling groups. 
 
Summary of Number of Respondents (some completed in more than one capacity) 
 

Businesses 29 

County Councillor 8 

District Councillor 16 

Town/ Parish Council 63 

Resident 583 

Transport Operator  6 

Someone who works in Lincolnshire (non-
resident) 

103 

Other 42 

Page 141



1.10 Respondents were asked to rank the priority of the 6 themes identified in LTP5 
(Appendix A page 69), with a 1 being the highest priority and 6 the lowest.  The highest 
ranking was “Promoting the Quality of Life” with an average score of 2.87, the remaining 
themes all averaged about 3 apart from “Promoting High Aspirations” which scored the 
lowest priority average at 5.01. 
 
1.11 As part of the consultation the survey asked respondents to rate their support of the 
objectives contained in LTP 5 (Appendix A page 69). The responses were overwhelmingly 
positive with the highest supported objective being “Ensure a resilient and reliable 
transport system for the movement of people, goods and services” with 97.1% of 
respondents strongly agreeing or agreeing with that objective.  Even the objective with 
the least support “Support the introduction of low carbon technologies and thus reduce 
reliance on fossil fuels” still had an overall approval of 80.7%. 
 
1.12 The penultimate section of the survey asked respondents to consider a range of 
possible interventions (Appendix B pages 21-25) and indicate whether it was a good idea 
in principle, something they felt would work in their area or if they felt the intervention 
was not right.  The greatest support in principle was for creative and innovative solutions 
in personal and public transport, with almost as many people wanting to see this in their 
local area (323 and 304 respectively). The highest level of support for an intervention in 
their local area was the Support for the BSIP and the introduction of electric bus towns 
(363 with a further 267 thinking it a good idea in principle).  Unsurprisingly, given the 
proportionately higher levels of public as opposed to business responses, support for 
Heavy Goods Vehicles (HGV) access to ports and other issues around freight proved the 
least popular (284) but nearly eight times as many people supported improvements to the 
freight network as those who didn’t want to see interventions (36). 
 
1.13 The final part of the survey provided a free text section for general comments and to 
add anything else. These were grouped by mode to allow better analysis; the basic 
comments fell into the following categories: 
 

Mode Number of comments 

Bus    86 

Car    74 

Rail    45 

Cycling   26 

Freight    14 

Walking    14 

Electric   11 

 
Summary of Modal Comments 

 
The bus related comments were almost exclusively seeking improvements to bus 
services be those greater levels of service, or extended operating times, but also a 
desire to see better use of technology for tracking and booking services and 
improved integration with rail.  Ideas of park and rides also saw some levels of 

Page 142



support.  There was some criticism of fare levels and the size of buses used on 
certain routes. 

 
Car related comments focused on the need for greater investment in highway 
maintenance with comments about not building more if the current infrastructure 
cannot be maintained and the need to invest in alternatives so that the car is not 
seen as the go to mode.  Given the timing of the survey Climate Change 
Conference 2021 (COP 26) is mentioned on several occasions.  There are a few 
specific comments relating to A16 and A17 and the need to improve the routes for 
all road users. 

 
Rail related comments are similar to the bus comments with regard to improved 
service levels, better stations and integration.  Reopening of closed lines is a 
popular response as is the reopening of some stations or creating new ones.  There 
are many references to shifting freight from road to rail. 

 
Cycling comments are highly supportive of additional cycle provision in the form of 
safer routes and developing of wider networks. Support for training for cyclists is 
also mentioned. 

 
Freight comments are entirely focused on the shift of freight from road to rail. 

 
Walking comments mirror the ones on cycling with a desire to see safe networks to 
encourage and support greater levels of walking. 

 
Responses in terms of Electric Vehicles (EV) are a little more mixed with a minority 
of comments thinking any move to EV is a waste of time and money.  The majority, 
however, feel greater investment in charging points and supporting infrastructure 
is needed alongside E-Bus solutions. 

 
1.14 In addition to the online survey, the email address ltp@lincolnshire.gov.uk was 
widely publicised to enable more substantive comments to be provided as well as the 
organisation of a virtual LTP conference to which all District Council Leaders and Chief 
Executives were invited alongside the other authorities making up Greater Lincolnshire. 
 
1.15 A summary of the substantive comments made via the email address and the LTP 
conference alongside officer recommendations in taking account of them is included at 
Appendix C.  Some of those comments have led to proposals to amend the LTP and these 
are shown in red within Appendix C. 
 
1.16 For completeness also attached to this report in Appendices D through to J are the 
LTP supporting modal strategies.  Whilst not forming part of the statutory LTP, the 
development of these strategies has informed the development of the LTP and will 
provide a thorough set of detailed evidence, analysis and action plans for each mode and 
form the framework for delivery of transport interventions across the county.  Once 
approved and when combined with the emerging Local Area Transport Strategies and 
Route Action Plans, the Authority will have put itself in a strong position with a 

Page 143

mailto:ltp@lincolnshire.gov.uk


comprehensive and integrated set of plans detailing how it proposes to move forward 
with transport investment both in the short and medium terms. Figure 1.1 illustrates the 
relationship between the various tiers of policy approaches. 
 

 
Figure 1.1 Tiers of policy approaches 

 
1.17 However, there are still some gaps in our understanding and knowledge, particularly 
focussed on specific details of actions including indicative costs and outline business cases, 
whilst some work is ongoing to broaden this understanding the nature of scheme 
development means that a continuous process of refinement and improvement is 
inevitable. The individual strategies will be brought forward for Executive or Executive 
Councillor approval as and when the LTP has been approved. It is intended to develop a 
prioritised and costed implementation plan that supports the strategic position. 
 
2. Legal Issues: 
 
Equality Act 2010 
 
Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, the Council must, in the exercise of its 
functions, have due regard to the need to: 
 
Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under the Act. 
 
Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 
 
Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and 
persons who do not share it. 
 

Page 144



The relevant protected characteristics are age; disability; gender reassignment; pregnancy 
and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; and sexual orientation. 
 
Having due regard to the need to advance equality of opportunity involves having due 
regard, in particular, to the need to: 
 

 Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic. 

 Take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share it. 

 Encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to participate in 
public life or in any other activity in which participation by such persons is 
disproportionately low. 

 
The steps involved in meeting the needs of disabled persons that are different from the 
needs of persons who are not disabled include, in particular, steps to take account of 
disabled persons' disabilities. 
 
Having due regard to the need to foster good relations between persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it involves having due 
regard, in particular, to the need to tackle prejudice, and promote understanding. 
 
Compliance with the duties in section 149 may involve treating some persons more 
favourably than others. 
 
The duty cannot be delegated and must be discharged by the decision-maker.  To 
discharge the statutory duty the decision-maker must analyse all the relevant material 
with the specific statutory obligations in mind.  If a risk of adverse impact is identified 
consideration must be given to measures to avoid that impact as part of the decision-
making process. 
 

As part of the evidence base for the LTP consideration was given to equality issues and 
incorporated into the document.  The LTP itself contains policy in support of equality of 
access to the transport network and services.  In addition, statutory Strategic 
Environmental Assessment and Sustainability Appraisals have been caried out on the LTP 
that include appraisal related to equality. 

 
Joint Strategic Needs Analysis (JSNA and the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) 
 
The Council must have regard to the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) and the 
Joint Health & Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) in coming to a decision. 
 

As part of the evidence base for the LTP consideration was given to health and wellbeing 
and incorporated into the document.  The LTP itself contains policy in support of improving 
health and wellbeing in relation to transport and connectivity specifically on both the 
physical and mental health benefits of active travel and the reduction of the negative 
consequences of transport such as noise and light pollution. 

Page 145



Crime and Disorder 
 
Under section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, the Council must exercise its various 
functions with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those functions on, and the 
need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent crime and disorder in its area (including 
anti-social and other behaviour adversely affecting the local environment), the misuse of 
drugs, alcohol and other substances in its area and re-offending in its area. 
 

 
3. Conclusion 

Subject to the changes outlined in the recommendations and in Appendix C, and any 
further changes recommended by Members, the Local Transport Plan has been through its 
statutory consultation process and can be considered fit for purpose. 
 
 

4. Legal Comments:  
 

The Council has a duty under section 109 of the Transport Act 2000 to keep its Local 
Transport Plan under review and alter it if they consider it appropriate to do so.  The 
Council may replace its Local Transport Plan as it sees fit. 
 
The report proposes the adoption of a new Local Transport Plan in replacement of the 
existing Plan. 
 
As the Local Transport Plan forms part of the Council's Policy Framework the approval 
of the Plan is reserved to Full Council on the recommendation of the Executive. 
 
The decision whether to recommend the proposed Plan to Full Council is within the remit 
of the Executive. 
 

 

5. Resource Comments:  
 

Approval of the recommendations does not have direct resource implications, however 
the Local Transport Plan sets the policy framework for the implementation of transport 
schemes in Lincolnshire. 
 
As noted in the report, whilst the LTP sets the themes, objectives and potential benefits 
for future service interventions and infrastructure schemes, specific actions including 
indicative costs, outline business cases and funding arrangements are yet to be 
developed and it is intended to develop a prioritised and costed implementation plan 
that supports the strategy. 
 

As part of the evidence base for the LTP consideration was given to crime and disorder and 
incorporated into the document.  The LTP itself contains policy in support of reducing crime 
and the fear of crime specifically in relation to accessing the transport network.  

Page 146



6. Consultation 

 
a)  Has Local Member Been Consulted? 

n/a 
 

b)  Has Executive Councillor Been Consulted?  

Yes 

c)  Scrutiny Comments 

This decision will be considered by the Highways and Transport Scrutiny Committee on 
24 January 2022.  The comments of the Committee will be provided to the Executive.  

 

 

 

 

d)  Risks and Impact Analysis 

See the body of the Report. 
 

 
7. Appendices 

 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

Appendix A Local Transport Plan 5 

Appendix B Local Transport Plan 5 Summary and Prospectus 

Appendix C Summary of substantive comments following public consultation and 
Recommendations in addressing comments raised 

Appendix D Walking Modal Strategy 

Appendix E Cycling Modal Strategy 

Appendix F Local Bus Modal Strategy 

Appendix G Passenger Rail Modal Strategy 

Appendix H Rail Infrastructure Modal Study 

Appendix I Electric Vehicle and Alternative Fuels Modal Strategy 

Appendix J Freight Modal Strategy 

 
 

8. Background Papers 
 
The following background papers as defined in the Local Government Act 1972 were relied 
upon in the writing of this report. 
 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 

All LTP documents and 
evidence base 

https://www.letstalk.lincolnshire.gov.uk/local-transport-plan  

 
 
This report was written by Jason Copper, Transport and Growth Manager, who can be 
contacted on 07500 813698 or jason.copper@lincolnshire.gov.uk. 

 

Page 147

https://www.letstalk.lincolnshire.gov.uk/local-transport-plan
mailto:jason.copper@lincolnshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Local 
Transport 
Plan 5
Consultation Draft

Page 149



2

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Co

nt
en

ts

3

Contents

Foreword 4

Chapter 1: Introduction 6

Chapter 2: This is Lincolnshire 13

Chapter 3: Shaping the Strategy 22

Chapter 4: The Integrated Transport Strategy 68

Chapter 5: Implementation Plan 87

References 104

Glossary 105

P
age 150



4 5

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Fo

re
w

or
d

Welcome to Lincolnshire County  
Council’s consultation draft Local  
Transport Plan 5.

Since we published our last LTP (4) in 2013, a lot 
has happened in the world of local transport. The 
Government’s announcement banning the sale of  
both new petrol and diesel cars by 2030 and the  
huge steps forward in tackling climate change with  
the commitment to be net-zero carbon by 2050,  
will have a significant bearing on what happens  
to transport during the time-scale of this plan. 

We are also planning for 100,000 new houses across 
Greater Lincolnshire together with economic growth 
coming from employment land allocations of some  
950 hectares. Whilst the growth of the internet and  
virtual connectivity is changing how we learn, work  
and shop, there can be no doubt that maintaining  
and improving physical connectivity remains a critical  
part of what we do. Since the last LTP, we have  
seen the completion of the Lincoln Eastern Bypass  
and received confirmation for funding for the North 
Hykeham Relief Road. We have also seen a significant 
uplift in our rail connectivity to London with 13 services  
a day as well as improvements to local services planned 
for delivery in May 2021, although the pandemic has  
seen short-term changes to this. 

The CallConnect demand responsive bus service goes 
from strength-to-strength and pre-COVID-19 it was 
carrying over 320,000 passengers per annum using  
30 vehicles. 

The Council have provided support to active travel 
too, with over £1 million invested in improving routes  
and facilities for pedestrians and cyclists.

Of course, we cannot ignore the issues that the global 
COVID-19 pandemic has thrown at us. This has seen the 
county council have to adapt and offer support to our 
citizens in a way that would have seemed inconceivable  
18 months ago. But we have stepped up and provided 
help to businesses and individuals and shown just how 
effective local government can be when provided with  
the right resources. 

Whilst the full effects of the pandemic on the way we 
live our lives are not yet known, it is clear that it has 
accelerated changes that were already happening.  
As the world is beginning to recover, we have an 
opportunity to reassess and review our priorities,  
and we can now start to plan properly for the  
challenges ahead.

There can be no doubt that travel patterns have  
altered for good, but it is too early to say exactly what 
impact these changes will have. It seems likely that  
flexible working from home will remain to some extent 
for many people, and so there will likely be changes to 
commuting times going forward. Access to education  
will return to something approaching normal, but  
access to health and our shopping activities have  
altered in ways that seem irreversible, at least in part. 

Travelling less – and for different reasons – will lead us to 
reassess our programmes, with a likely growth in leisure 
travel as seeing our loved ones becomes more important.

Our tourism sector has been badly affected by the bans 
on non-essential journeys but both our natural and our 
historic built environments are still as wonderful as ever 
and will see visitors return to appreciate what we have to 
offer. I’d like to see the growth in recreational walking and 
cycling continue, and spill-over into everyday commuting 
and utilitarian trips. To that end, this LTP is supported by 
both walking and cycling strategies, aimed at encouraging  
active travel and the blurring of commuting and leisure. 

The challenges that confront us centre on continuing  
to support the economic activity and growth, whilst 
reducing carbon emissions and our impact on the 
environment. We will need time to fully appreciate  
and understand the consequences for the transport 
system that the pandemic has led to, and adapt our 
approach as we get a better picture of what is happening.

We will need to ensure we maintain a convenient 
transport system, and one that offers choice and  
value for money. For many across the large rural 
expanses, that is likely to mean continuing to use a  
car, but one that is powered in a different way. This  
will require different infrastructure. We must also  
cater for those who perhaps struggle with access  
and aren’t able to use a car. Our young people  
need to aspire to better education and better job 
opportunities, so we need to see improvements to 
connectivity for education, training and workplaces.

In our more urban areas we need to change perceptions 
and create places that are desirable to spend more time 
in and become focussed on people not vehicles. Shorter 
vehicle trips can be more easily replaced with more active 
modes of transport, providing a boost to the economy  
and the environment, by reducing congestion, improving 
air quality, and creating more welcoming and cleaner 
urban centres.

So I shall seek from the Government:

• A fair and equitable share of investment for  
connectivity both digital and physical for  
broadband, transport and highways. 

• A change in rules and regulations to allow greater 
innovation in rural areas, particularly where the market 
has failed. I want to make Lincolnshire a pathfinder 
to tackle the challenges of electric vehicle technology, 
a modernisation of public transport provision and 
support the green industrial revolution.

• The ability to have a greater say in setting transport 
fares and pricing that reflects the different character  
of a large rural area with no mass urban centre.

• A greater appreciation of rurality and the challenges  
it presents.

My offer to you is that:

• We commit to maintaining and improving local 
connectivity both virtual and physical.

• We support infrastructure that unlocks local  
sustainable development and provides  
improved access for all.

• We support the commitment  
to Net-Zero Carbon by 2050.

And alongside our partners: 

• We will provide for transformed transport networks 
and services, including walking and cycling, rail and  
bus networks, electric vehicle charging and digital 
provision and digital services. 

• We will encourage private sector investment to help 
meet net-zero and step in to stimulate growth and 
investment in electric vehicle charging and other 
innovations. 

• We will focus on a place based approach supporting 
local needs and identifying local solutions. 

I look forward to the challenging and exciting  
times that lie ahead.

Foreword

Cllr Richard Davies  
Lincolnshire County Council

Over £1 million invested in 
improving routes and facilities  
for pedestrians and cyclists.

P
age 151



6 7

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 1
: I

nt
ro

du
ct

io
n

Welcome to Lincolnshire County Council’s 
consultation draft LTP 5. This plan is de-
signed to cover the short- medium- and 
longer-term time horizons for transport  
and highways for the whole county. 

The publication of this draft LTP is a statutory duty for local 
transport authorities under the Local Transport Act 2008. 
 
The short-term horizon is for the period 2022-26  
and focuses on what is needed to continue to support  
the sustainable growth agenda of delivering new houses 
and jobs, whilst reducing carbon emissions and supporting 
the recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic. It will also 
need to take account of the changes to accessibility and 
mobility that have taken place in the short-term but that 
may become permanent changes in the longer-term; the 
growth of home working and home shopping being two 
key examples.

In the medium-term this plan is designed to support the 
Local Plans all with time lines running until 2034. Whilst 
there is less detail for this time frame, the plan looks at 
infrastructure requirements for all modes but notably  
for rail where planning horizons are often extended  
due to the complexity of the rail industry.

Finally, the plan has a short section on the longer-term 
future and what issues, trends and opportunities await  
the county up until 2050.

The document’s structure

The LTP is divided into four parts each having  
a separate role.

Part 1 – The core document: Lincolnshire's  
Integrated Transport Strategy

This part of the LTP provides the context, evidence  
and the high-level policy and strategy content. It provides  
a policy bridge from the spatially based District Local  
Plans, the county council’s Corporate and Green Master 
Plans and also links transport policy into the Local 
Industrial Strategy, the Tourism Action Plan, the Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment and a wide range of other 
higher-level policy and strategy documents covering the  
socio-economic, environmental and health agendas. Links 
to the national and pan regional policy agendas are also  
to be found in this part of the LTP alongside references 
to the role transport can play in supporting our priority 
sectors and our spatial approach of development which 
focuses on Sustainable Urban Extensions.

This part of the document also sets out the guiding 
principles and policies for transport delivery now  
and for the longer-term and provides an indication  
as to the importance and the range and types of 
interventions required.

Part 2 – Delivery and Implementation Plan

Chapter 5 contains the proposed implementation  
plan and our priority list of improvements. However,  
given the diverse nature of Lincolnshire, a number  
of additional approaches to implementation and  
delivery have been developed, these are outlined below.

Local Transport Boards (LTBs) and strategies

This part of the LTP is focussed on implementation, 
interventions and approaches for delivery at the local 
level. Over the last few years, across Lincolnshire a series 
of LTBs have been developed, or are under development, 
centred on the main urban areas and larger market towns.

The areas covered include:

• Boston

• Gainsborough

• Grantham

• Lincoln

• Skegness, Mablethorpe and the East Coast

• Sleaford

• Spalding and Holbeach, and; 

• Stamford.

To date, two of the boards have developed full  
strategies, with their areas shown in the following 
diagrams. The others are in a process of development.

Within the framework of the LTP and the supporting 
modal strategies, the LTBs are at the heart of local  
delivery and enable partners to consider and develop 
interventions and schemes that reflect the locality and  
are founded upon a sound evidence base. They are  
also able to integrate schemes into local programmes  
and packages enabling greater efficiencies and the  
ability to make significant improvements across all  
modes and against a wide-range of objectives. Within  
the framework of the LTP and the model strategies  
the LTBs 

Two key elements in the development of the LTB 
strategies are traffic or transport modelling and 
stakeholder engagement. Modelling is used to both 
understand the current and future conditions within 
a strategy area, based on predictions of land use and 
economic development, and then to test the impact 
of potential options before the more promising of 
those options are taken forward into the final strategy. 
Engagement with stakeholders and, where appropriate, 
the wider public, helps to inform the understanding  
of the current situation within the strategy area and  
future plans which may affect transport but also  
identify potential options and generate ownership  
of the strategy by potential partners in its delivery.

All of the latest developments of the LTBs can be accessed 
at: www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/highways-planning/transport-
strategies/1

Chapter 1: 
Introduction

P
age 152

https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/highways-planning/transport-strategies/1
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/highways-planning/transport-strategies/1


8 9

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 1
: I

nt
ro

du
ct

io
n

Area of Lincoln Local Transport Board Route Action Plans (RAPs)

Following the success of the LTB approach for local delivery in an area, Lincolnshire County Council is now in the process 
of developing RAPs for the strategic roads in the county. These take the broad principles set out in the LTBs but look 
along the length of a key corridor or route.

Strategic routes identified for RAP work

Highways Infrastructure Asset Management Plan (HIAMP)

The HIAMP reflects the approach outlined in the Code 
of Practice “Well-Managed Highway Infrastructure”. 
This Code of Practice serves as a guidance document 
to local authorities, encouraging them to implement a 
risk-based approach within their service. This document 
demonstrates our continued commitment to a  
risk-based approach, whilst taking into account the  
specific local factors that define Lincolnshire county.

Lincolnshire County Council has for some time been 
committed to developing a consistent, proactive approach 
towards our service. Therefore, the authority is continuing 
to demonstrate best practice with regards to asset 
management. Recent weather events show us that this 
approach is very much the right way for us to deliver our 
service, to make maximum use of our available resources. 
Our asset-led approach has already fostered results 
throughout the years, notably through our efforts to  
align ourselves with the DfT’s requirements through 
the Self-Assessment Process. These efforts enabled  
us at the time to become one of the first two authorities  
to achieve Band 3 status with the DfT, receiving  
maximum funding as a consequence.

Area of Gainsborough Local Transport Board

   Urban area Strategy area

M18

M62

M62

M180

M1

A43

A1

A1

A1

A15

A15

A46

A46

A47

A60

A16

A16

A16

A15

A46

A10

A158

A614

A607

A605

A52

A47

A17

A17

GRANTHAM

SPALDING KING’S LYNN

SKEGNESS

BOSTON

LINCOLN

GRIMSBY

LOUTH
MABLETHORPE

SLEAFORD

GAINSBOROUGH

OAKHAM
STAMFORD

PETERBOROUGH

SCUNTHORPE
IMMINGHAM

LEICESTER

LOUGHBOROUGH

NOTTINGHAM
THE WASH

A1

NEWTON-ON-TRENT

RETFORD

LINCOLN

HORNCASTLE

A156

A156

A57A57

A1

A1

A1

A617

A617

A6097

A614

A614

A1

A46

A46

A57

A15
A46

A158

A158

A158

A16

A15

A15

A17

A17

A46

RIVER
TRENT

RIVER
TRENT

LOUTH

A16LINCOLNSHIRE
WOLDS AONB

RIVER
TRENT

RIVER
TRENT

RETFORD

A159

A631

A631

A15

A15

A156

A631

GAINSBOROUGH

BAWTRY

A631

P
age 153



10 11

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 1
: I

nt
ro

du
ct

io
n

Part 3 – Supplementary and supporting  
modal strategies and road safety 

The core Integrated Transport Strategy is supported  
by a range of other strategies and plans that provide  
more detail and expand on the policies and proposals  
of a particular transport mode with a focus on a  
shorter-time frame. These strategies and plans are 
designed to be more fluid and able to react more  
quickly to changing circumstances. It is hoped to  
make these parts of the LTP more of a “living” document  
that can reflect on the changes and demands in  
terms of available funding and what is happening  
on the ground.

They also provide actions, interventions and approaches 
that should be adopted for each mode and provide the 
framework for delivery which is the focus of Part 2.

Part 4 – Monitoring and evaluation

Monitoring and measuring performance is key to  
delivery. The LCC Annual Monitoring Report is available 
and provides an update on performance from previous 
LTPs as well as an indication of the state of play across  
the whole transport and highway network. Moving 
forward as new technologies develop, a review of how 
data is collected and monitored will be undertaken to 
ensure the measurement of the LTP's success is kept  
up to date.

The recent announcement from the Government in 
“Decarbonising Transport”1 states that “Going forward, 
LTPs will also need to set out how local areas will deliver 
ambitious quantifiable carbon reductions in transport, 
taking into account the differing transport requirements 
of different areas. This will need to be in line with carbon 
budgets and net-zero.” Clearly, the monitoring and 
evaluation of carbon as part of the LTP moving forward  
is going to become more important and this will be  
built into our monitoring processes in the future.

Engagement and consultation

The development of the draft LTP has focussed  
on engagement with partners across the transport  
sectors but also with strategic bodies such as Midlands 
Connect, the Local Economic Partnership (LEP) and  
District Councils. This has provided evidence and  
technical input into drawing up the plan. Following  
internal engagement with officers and Lincolnshire  
county councillors the next stage is to progress to  
a wider consultation with the public and other public  
bodies alongside statutory consultees such as the 
Environment Agency and Natural England. 

Traditionally, consultation would have been on a  
face-to-face basis but the current pandemic situation  
has made planning such public events impossible so the 
intention is to develop virtual consultation, which it is 
hoped may lead to higher levels of engagement with  
some target groups who would not traditionally become 
involved with the development of transport policy. 

This will enable greater input from the general public  
and the ability to further shape and improve LTP 5  
so that the final document takes account of the  
views from all parts of society across Lincolnshire.

Strategic Environmental Assessment  
(SEA) and Sustainability Appraisal (SA) 

Introduction

The SEA/SA process is carried out during the preparation 
of Local Plans and spatial development strategies. Its  
role is to promote sustainable development by assessing 
the extent to which emerging plans will help to achieve 
relevant environmental, economic and social objectives.

SEA is used to describe the application of environmental 
assessment to plans and programmes in accordance  
with European Council Directive 2001/42/EC2. The SEA 
Directive is enacted in England through the “Environmental 
Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations”  
(SI 2004/1633, known as the SEA Regulations)3.

An SEA is mandatory for plans and programmes  
which are prepared for agriculture, forestry, fisheries, 
energy, industry, transport, waste or water management, 
telecommunications, tourism, town and country  
planning or land use, and which set the framework  
for future development consent of projects listed  
in the Environmental Impact Assessment Directive 
(85/337/EEC)4 and the town and country planning 
(Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations5.

SEA only considers the environmental effects of  
a plan, whilst SA consider a plan’s wider economic  
and social effects in addition to its potential  
environmental impacts, however, it is obligatory  
that SAs meet all of the requirements of the  
SEA Regulations. 

Sustainability Appraisal

SA is an interactive process of gathering data and  
evidence, assessment of environmental effects,  
developing mitigation and monitoring measures  
and making recommendations to refine plans  
or programmes in view of the predicted  
environmental effects.

The approach adopted for the SA of the LTP 5 follows  
that set out in the Practical Guide to SEA6 and the  
Planning Practice Guidance to SEA and SA7. It involves  
the development of an assessment framework comprising 
a series of sustainability objectives, assessment criteria 
and indicators. This framework is developed from 
an understanding of environmental problems and 
opportunities identified through a review of existing 
baseline information and a review of other plans, 
programmes and environmental protection objectives 
relevant to the plan area (i.e. Lincolnshire) and subject 
matter (transport).

The key stages of the SEA process are the following: 

Stage A: Setting the context and objectives, establishing 
the baseline and deciding on scope (this stage); 

Stage B: Developing and refining strategic alternatives  
and assessing their effects; 

Stage C: Preparing the Environmental Report; 

Stage D: Consulting on the draft plan or programme  
and the Environmental Report; and 

Stage E: Monitoring the significant effects of implementing 
the plan or programme on the environment.

The stages of the SA process and their interactions  
with the LTP process are depicted in the follow diagram.

P
age 154



12 13

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 1
: I

nt
ro

du
ct

io
n

The stages of the SA process and their interactions with the LTP process

St
ag

e 
A

St
ag

e 
B

St
ag

e 
C 

an
d 

D
St

ag
e 

E

Lincolnshire is the second largest county  
in the United Kingdom and covers 2,687 
square miles. 

The county of Lincolnshire consists of the seven  
Districts/Boroughs of Lincoln, East Lindsey, West  
Lindsey, North Kesteven, South Kesteven, Boston  
and South Holland. These districts include the major  
towns of Lincoln, Boston, Skegness, Gainsborough  
and Grantham. Within these districts there are 600  
parish and town councils. North Lincolnshire and  
Northeast Lincolnshire act as unitary authority  
areas which are separate to the seven districts  
in the transport area managed by LCC.

Population

Lincolnshire has an estimated population of 796,500  
as of 2021, up from 713,653 in 2011 and 646,643  
in 2001. This 11% change increase, from 2011-2021,  
is larger than the 9% national projected increase. 
Furthermore, there was a 10% population increase  
from 2001-2011, again above the national average  
of 7%8.

As of the 2011 census data, the largest district in  
terms of population is East Lindsey with 136,401  
people. This was closely followed by South Kesteven  
with a total population of 133,788; North Kesteven 
(107,766); Lincoln (93,541); West Lindsey (89,250);  
and South Holland (88,270). The smallest district is  
Boston, with a population of 64,637 people. Despite 
Boston having the smallest population, Boston had  
a 16% increase in population from 2001-2011, the  
largest change out of the seven Districts in the county9. 

The District of Boston also has a 12.5% population 
percentage of other white ethnic groups with 4.7%  
of the population arriving in the UK in the mid-2000s 
which corresponds to the large eastern expansion  
of the European Union in May 2004. Less than 3%  
of Lincolnshire’s population comprises of Black, Asian  
and Minority Ethnic (BAME) groups. The district of  
Lincoln has a greater BAME population percentage  
in comparison to Lincolnshire. 

Chapter 2: 
This is Lincolnshire

Determining the scope of the LTP; clarifying 
goals; specifying the problems or challenges 
the authority wants to solve.

Generating options for the plan to resolve 
these challenges; appraising the options  
and predicting their effects.

Production of the draft LTP

Reviewing implementation of the LTP

Consultation on the draft LTP

Production of the final LTP

Adoption of LTP

Setting the SA context establishing the 
baseline; determining the scope of the  
SA and identifying the LTP options.

Developing, refining and appraising  
strategic alternatives of the LTP.

Production of the SA Report

Monitoring the significant effects  
of the LTP implementation

Consultation of the SA Report

Production of the revised SA Report

SA Post Adoption Statement

5 week statutory consultation.

Assessing the effects of the LTP preferred 
options and policies, proposing mitigation, 
enhancement measures and mitigation.

Selecting preferred options for the strategy 
and deciding priorities.

LTP SA

P
age 155



14 15

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 2
: T

hi
s 

is
 L

in
co

ln
sh

ire

Population density Population change

Population (2017) Population growth (2012-17)

Lincolnshire 751,171 4.45%

North Lincolnshire 171,294 1.75%

North East Lincolnshire 159,826 0.02%

Rutland 39,474 6.41%

Greater Lincolnshire 1,121,765 3.4%

Population growth 2012-17: EM = 4.46%, UK = 3.7%

SCUNTHORPE

GAINSBOROUGH

IMMINGHAM

BRIGG

GRIMSBY

CLEETHORPES

MABLETHORPE

SKEGNESS

BOSTON

HORNCASTLE

LOUTH

LINCOLN

SLEAFORD

GRANTHAM

SPALDING

STAMFORD

OAKHAM

THE WASH

KING’S LYNN

SKEGNESS

THE WASH
GRANTHAM

SPALDING KING’S LYNN

HORNCASTLE

GRIMSBY

LOUTH
MABLETHORPE

SLEAFORD

GAINSBOROUGH

STAMFORD

SCUNTHORPE
IMMINGHAM

OAKHAM

LINCOLN

BRIGG CLEETHORPES

BOSTON

Density (People per Hectare)

Lincolnshire

District Boundary

0 - 1

1 - 25

25 - 50

50 - 100

100+

Population change (2012-17)

Towns & Cities

< 0%

0% - 10%

10% - 20%

20% - 30%

> 30%

P
age 156



16 17

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 2
: T

hi
s 

is
 L

in
co

ln
sh

ire

Proportion of younger age residents (20-34)

Proportion of older residents (over 65)

Lincolnshire historic landscape character map 

THE WASH

MABLETHORPE
LOUTH

KING’S LYNN

GAINSBOROUGH

IMMINGHAM

BRIGG

SLEAFORD

SPALDING

STAMFORD
OAKHAM

BOSTON

GRIMSBY

CLEETHORPES

SCUNTHORPE

GRANTHAM

LINCOLN

HORNCASTLE
SKEGNESS

THE WASH

LOUTH

KING’S LYNN

GAINSBOROUGH

BRIGG

SLEAFORD

STAMFORD
OAKHAM

BOSTON

GRIMSBYSCUNTHORPE

GRANTHAM

CLEETHORPES

SKEGNESS

MABLETHORPE

LINCOLN

IMMINGHAM

SPALDING

HORNCASTLE

Proportion of residents aged 
20-34 per total population 
(2017)

Towns & Cities

0% - 10%

10% - 20%

20% - 30%

30% - 40%

40% - 50%

> 50%

Proportion of residents aged 
over 65 per total population 
(2017)

Towns & Cities

0% - 10%

10% - 20%

20% - 30%

30% - 40%

40% - 50%

> 50%

SCUNTHORPE

GAINSBOROUGH

IMMINGHAM

BRIGG

GRIMSBY

CLEETHORPES

MABLETHORPE

SKEGNESS

BOSTON

HORNCASTLE

LOUTH

LINCOLN

SLEAFORD

GRANTHAM

SPALDING

STAMFORD

OAKHAM

THE WASH

KING’S LYNN

Lincolnshire historical areas

Built up area not assessed

See Lincoln Townscape Assessment

The Clay Vale

The Confluence

The Fens

The Northern Cliff

The Northern Marshes

The Southern Cliff

The Trent Valley

The Wash

The Wolds

The Grazing Marshes

P
age 157



18 19

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 2
: T

hi
s 

is
 L

in
co

ln
sh

ire

Unemployment rate from 2005

D
ec

 2
00

4
M

ar
 2

00
5

Ju
n 

20
05

Se
p 

20
05

D
ec

 2
00

5
M

ar
 2

00
6

Ju
n 

20
06

Se
p 

20
06

D
ec

 2
00

6
M

ar
 2

00
7

Ju
n 

20
07

Se
p 

20
07

D
ec

 2
00

7
M

ar
 2

00
8

Ju
n 

20
08

Se
p 

20
08

D
ec

 2
00

8
M

ar
 2

00
9

Ju
n 

20
09

Se
p 

20
09

D
ec

 2
00

9
M

ar
 2

01
0

Ju
n 

20
10

Se
p 

20
10

D
ec

 2
01

0
M

ar
 2

01
1

Ju
n 

20
11

Se
p 

20
11

D
ec

 2
01

1
M

ar
 2

01
2

Ju
n 

20
12

Se
p 

20
12

D
ec

 2
01

2
M

ar
 2

01
3

Ju
n 

20
13

Se
p 

20
13

D
ec

 2
01

3
M

ar
 2

01
4

Ju
n 

20
14

Se
p 

20
14

D
ec

 2
01

4
M

ar
 2

01
5

Ju
n 

20
15

Se
p 

20
15

D
ec

 2
01

5
M

ar
 2

01
6

Ju
n 

20
16

Se
p 

20
16

D
ec

 2
01

6
M

ar
 2

01
7

Ju
n 

20
17

Se
p 

20
17

D
ec

 2
01

7
M

ar
 2

01
8

Ju
n 

20
18

Se
p 

20
18

D
ec

 2
01

8
M

ar
 2

01
9

Ju
n 

20
19

Se
p 

20
19

D
ec

 2
01

9
M

ar
 2

02
0

Ju
n 

20
20

Se
p 

20
20

D
ec

 2
02

0

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

Greater Lincolnshire East Midlands Great Britain

Lincolnshire is often perceived as a homogeneous 
county however it is far from it. From the high grounded 
Lincolnshire Wolds to the low-lying Fens, The previous 
diagram illustrates the diverse landscape areas within  
the county11. The Fens in the south is mostly made up  
of arable fields with a flat landscape. The Northern Cliff 
area is influenced by roman roads and military activity 
with former bases at Hemswell, Hibaldstow and Kirton  
on Lindsey. In addition to, other bases such as RAF 
Scampton are still operational. The Wolds is surrounded 
by lowlands on all sides and is mostly rural with it being 
classified as the least industrialised character area.

Employment

Like most regions, the global financial crisis 
catastrophically damaged local economies. Greater 
Lincolnshire saw unemployment rates as high as  
8.6% following the years after the crisis. Currently,  
as of September 2020, unemployment rate is at  
4.9% which is higher than the UK average of 4.2%9.

The increase of GVA (income approach) for all sectors in Lincolnshire since 1997 

Boston East Lindsey Lincoln North Kesteven South Holland South Kesteven West Lindsey

The chart below highlights the main industries by GVA income which correlate to the largest economic sectors within  
the county. Despite the financial crash, there has been a growth between 2009 and 2015 of all industrial sectors. 

GVA income of Lincolnshire by industry

Economy 

Agrifood, manufacturing and the visitor economy are  
the main priority sectors of the Lincolnshire economy.  
The visitor economy alone is worth £2.24 billion per  
year. From 2009, the overall visitor days have grown  
on average 1.4% each year. 

The Gross Value Added (GVA) measures the increase  
of the value of a region from the production of goods  
and services. The following chart illustrates the increase  
of GVA (income approach) for all sectors in Lincolnshire 
since 199712. South Kesteven performs the best in 
comparison to the District of Boston9. 

Visitor economy

Lincolnshire’s visitor economy is one of the most 
important economic sectors. It is not just the city  
of Lincoln that makes a significant contribution  
but also the countryside and coast. With aviation  
attractions, cycling and walking routes and the  
seaside resorts, Lincolnshire attracts visitors  
from far and wide. 

The City of Lincoln is diverse in regard to its economy. 
Attractions such as Lincoln Castle and the Cathedral  
are targeted at families and heritage seekers13.  
Whereas, the restaurants and bars along Brayford  
Pool and Cornhill Quarter attract the large young  
adult population. However, in the past decade, sites 
such as Lincoln Castle were poorly performing and 
consequently had negative spill over effects to the  
whole of Lincoln. However, in 2015, a £22 million 
investment in marketing and the Magna Carta saw  
the trebling of visitor figures with 4.54 million visitor  
days and nights14. Furthermore, every December,  
Lincoln’s annual Christmas market attracts just under 
250,000 visitors from within and outside the county.  
Extra train services are introduced for the period  
and park and ride schemes are available. 

Skegness is the UK’s fourth most popular tourist  
holiday resort which makes the visitor economy a  
main economic sector for the town15. Between 2014  
and 2015, visitor numbers increased by 9.2%. Over  
the past few years, new attractions such as Skegness 
Aquarium and the Skate and BMX Park have been 
created. Redevelopments of the Tower Gardens  
Pavilion site is now also finished. 

£0b £0.5b £1b £1.5b £2b £2.5b £3b

Agriculture

Construction

Distribution

Manufacturing

Information Technology

Finance

Real Estate

Business Services

Other Services

2009 2015

19
97

19
98

19
99

20
00

20
01

20
02

20
03

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

£0m

£500m

£1000m

£1500m

£2000m

£2500m

£3000m

P
age 158



20 21

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 2
: T

hi
s 

is
 L

in
co

ln
sh

ire

Travelling in Lincolnshire

Travel mode  
 
Due to the rurality of Lincolnshire, accessibility  
between places can be an issue. Public transport  
is not always frequent enough and therefore  
car ownership is unsurprisingly high. As of 2011,  
households in Lincolnshire with access to at least  
one car/van was 82%. 42.1% of the population  
travelled to work by car or van; 7.8% travelled by  
foot; 4.8% travelled by public transport and 3.8%  
worked from home9.

Bus 
 
Public transport is vital to increase accessibility  
around the county. The main bus operator in  
Lincolnshire is Stagecoach. Large urban centres  
such as Lincoln, Boston, Grantham and Skegness  
see regular Stagecoach services that connect the  
core urban centres to the peripheral suburbs.  
On demand bus services such as CallConnect  
also provide rural transport through a variety  
of local operators. 

Rail  
 
Despite Lincolnshire’s vast land area, railway lines  
are sparse around the county. The Beeching Report  
in the 1960s cut back a plethora of railway networks  
and stations around Lincolnshire and in particular the  
East Lincolnshire Railway which linked Boston through  
to Grimsby16.

Now, a fraction of the routes remains. These include:

• Newark North Gate to Grimsby Town via Lincoln  
and Market Rasen.

• Lincoln Central to Sheffield.

• Doncaster to Peterborough via Lincoln,  
Sleaford and Spalding.

• Nottingham to Skegness via Sleaford and Boston.

• Lincoln Central to London Kings Cross.

A large majority of stations within Lincolnshire  
are managed by East Midlands Railway. Other train  
operators namely Northern and LNER manage and  
run services connecting to other regions of the UK.  
In 2019, LNER introduced five new daily direct services 
from London Kings Cross to Lincoln Central17.

Roads

The vast majority of roads within Lincolnshire are  
A-roads and B-roads rather than motorways seen  
in other UK counties. The major roads in the county 
comprise of the A1, A15, A16, A46 and A5218. 

• The A1 is a 660km dual carriageway that passes 
through Grantham and links London to the South  
and Edinburgh to the north. 

• The A15 and A16 links the south of Lincolnshire  
to the north. The 155km long A15 links; Bourne, 
Sleaford, Lincoln and Scunthorpe. 

• The A16 starts northbound at Grimsby and  
connects the towns of Louth, Boston and  
Spalding, stopping at Peterborough.

• The A158 connects Lincoln to local market  
towns and the coastal resort of Skegness.

Lincolnshire's transport network

SCUNTHORPE

GAINSBOROUGH

IMMINGHAM

BRIGG

GRIMSBY

CLEETHORPES

MABLETHORPE

SKEGNESS

BOSTON

HORNCASTLE

LOUTH

LINCOLN

SLEAFORD

GRANTHAM

SPALDING

STAMFORD

OAKHAM

THE WASH

KING’S LYNN

Transport network

Lincolnshire

A-Road

B-Road

Railway

Waterways

P
age 159



22 23

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 3
: S

ha
pi

ng
 th

e 
St

ra
te

gy

Fundamental to this LTP is that it is taking  
a fully integrated and holistic approach to  
the development of the transport strategy 
and acknowledges the significant role and 
importance that transport plays in both 
shaping and supporting change.

Key to understanding the approach is to appreciate  
the three following points: 

1. Transport is not an end in itself. People and freight 
move about for a purpose making transport a  
derived demand.

2. Transport must be shaped and directed by wider 
economic, environmental and social objectives.

3. Transport is a key input into matching sustainable 
economic growth with wider social and  
environmental objectives. 

Building on these points the rest of this chapter sets out 
some of the evidence, challenges and opportunities that 
are likely to arise over the lifetime of this LTP. At the end 
of the chapter there is a short section on what the future 
might hold as technology continues to develop and some 
of the changes that arose during the pandemic become 
longer-term trends and permanent fixtures in the way  
we live our lives.

Evidence – The challenges, changes and trends 

Transport usage during COVID-19

Transport in the United Kingdom has been massively 
impacted during the COVID-19 pandemic. During the 
pandemic the DfT has been monitoring the impact on 
traffic movement through a series of data collection  
using various methods. The following data has been 
collected on five main modes:

• Road traffic in Great Britain.

• Rail passenger journeys in Great Britain.

• Transport for London (TfL) tube and bus routes.

• Bus travel in Great Britain (excluding London).

• Cycling in England.

In this section, we will analyse the data available for  
road traffic, rail passenger journeys, bus travel in  
Great Britain (excluding London) and cycling.

1. Road traffic in Great Britain

The national road traffic estimates include change  
in traffic on all road types at GB level. These estimates 
are provided, split into selected vehicle types (cars, light 
commercial vehicles, heavy goods vehicles) and total  
for all motor vehicles.

Chapter 3: 
Shaping the Strategy

Data source

The analysis is based on around 275 automatic traffic 
count sites across Great Britain. These sites are used 
for DfT’s Quarterly Road Traffic National Statistics series 
to estimate traffic change and as such the samples of 
automatic traffic counters are stratified by area, road 
classification, and road management and have been 
designed to be representative of national traffic.

2. Rail passenger journeys in Great Britain

Passenger journeys across the rail network in  
Great Britain.

Data source

Information on journeys comes from the Latest Earnings 
Networked Nationally Overnight (LENNON) data source. 
LENNON is the revenue settlement service for the train 
operating companies for GB passenger rail ticket sales  
and is the main source of data for GB rail fares revenue. 
The system processes information from the majority  
of GB train ticket sales, it then allocates daily revenue  
to each of the train operators within 24 hours of the  
ticket being purchased.

3. Bus travel in Great Britain (excluding London)

Passenger boardings around half of bus services  
in Great Britain outside London.

Data source

This data has been provided by Ticketer, based on 
operators which were using Ticketer in the January 
reference week (3rd week of January). Data from other 
sources (including non-Ticketer operators) has been  
used to validate these figures and is generally  
consistent with the trends presented.

4. Cycling in England

Estimated change in cycling usage in England.

Data source

This is an estimated percentage change in cycling  
derived from:

• Telecommunications data – anonymised  
and aggregated data from O2, as a measure  
of total trip numbers.

• National Travel Survey (NTS) results, as a  
pre-COVID-19 baseline modal split.

• DfT Roads Automatic Traffic Count (ATC) index  
data, as an indication of changes to road users.

• LENNON rail data, as an indication of changes  
to rail users.

• Sources of cycling use data including automatic  
cycling counters and camera-based estimates.

During the pandemic, there have been various  
different times where different levels of lockdown  
and restrictions have been imposed on the  
populace through government legislation passed  
in the House of Commons. These impacts have  
had a variety of repercussions on the four modes  
we are going to look at. The time period of the  
analysis will be from the 1st March 2020 to the  
28th February 2021, and we will look at some  
selected time spans during the year.

P
age 160



24 25

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 3
: S

ha
pi

ng
 th

e 
St

ra
te

gy

Key points

• Pre-lockdown period.

• At the start of March the three  
modes were showing little change.

• On the 16th March "now is the time to stop  
non-essential travel" was the message.

• At this point, use of public transport  
dropped to 25% for rail and 27% for bus.

• Car use reduce to 64% of normal levels.

• During this period cycling levels show  
little change.

1st March to 23rd March 2020

01
/0

3/
20

02
/0

3/
20

03
/0

3/
20

04
/0

3/
20

05
/0

3/
20

06
/0

3/
20

07
/0

3/
20

08
/0

3/
20

09
/0

3/
20

10
/0

3/
20

11
/0

3/
20

12
/0

3/
20

13
/0

3/
20

14
/0

3/
20

15
/0

3/
20

16
/0

3/
20

17
/0

3/
20

18
/0

3/
20

19
/0

3/
20

20
/0

3/
20

21
/0

3/
20

22
/0

3/
20

23
/0

3/
20

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

140%

Car     National Rail Bus

Cycling

01
/0

3/
20

02
/0

3/
20

03
/0

3/
20

04
/0

3/
20

05
/0

3/
20

06
/0

3/
20

07
/0

3/
20

08
/0

3/
20

09
/0

3/
20

10
/0

3/
20

11
/0

3/
20

12
/0

3/
20

13
/0

3/
20

14
/0

3/
20

15
/0

3/
20

16
/0

3/
20

17
/0

3/
20

18
/0

3/
20

19
/0

3/
20

20
/0

3/
20

21
/0

3/
20

22
/0

3/
20

23
/0

3/
20

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

24th March to 10th May 2020

24
/0

3/
20

25
/0

3/
20

26
/0

3/
20

27
/0

3/
20

28
/0

3/
20

29
/0

3/
20

30
/0

3/
20

31
/0

3/
20

01
/0

4/
20

02
/0

4/
20

03
/0

4/
20

04
/0

4/
20

05
/0

4/
20

06
/0

4/
20

07
/0

4/
20

08
/0

4/
20

09
/0

4/
20

10
/0

4/
20

11
/0

4/
20

12
/0

4/
20

13
/0

4/
20

14
/0

4/
20

15
/0

4/
20

16
/0

4/
20

17
/0

4/
20

18
/0

4/
20

19
/0

4/
20

20
/0

4/
20

21
/0

4/
20

22
/0

4/
20

23
/0

4/
20

24
/0

4/
20

25
/0

4/
20

26
/0

4/
20

27
/0

4/
20

28
/0

4/
20

29
/0

4/
20

30
/0

4/
20

01
/0

5/
20

02
/0

5/
20

03
/0

5/
20

04
/0

5/
20

05
/0

5/
20

06
/0

5/
20

07
/0

5/
20

08
/0

5/
20

09
/0

5/
20

10
/0

5/
20

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

24
/0

3/
20

25
/0

3/
20

26
/0

3/
20

27
/0

3/
20

28
/0

3/
20

29
/0

3/
20

30
/0

3/
20

31
/0

3/
20

01
/0

4/
20

02
/0

4/
20

03
/0

4/
20

04
/0

4/
20

05
/0

4/
20

06
/0

4/
20

07
/0

4/
20

08
/0

4/
20

09
/0

4/
20

10
/0

4/
20

11
/0

4/
20

12
/0

4/
20

13
/0

4/
20

14
/0

4/
20

15
/0

4/
20

16
/0

4/
20

17
/0

4/
20

18
/0

4/
20

19
/0

4/
20

20
/0

4/
20

21
/0

4/
20

22
/0

4/
20

23
/0

4/
20

24
/0

4/
20

25
/0

4/
20

26
/0

4/
20

27
/0

4/
20

28
/0

4/
20

29
/0

4/
20

30
/0

4/
20

01
/0

5/
20

02
/0

5/
20

03
/0

5/
20

04
/0

5/
20

05
/0

5/
20

06
/0

5/
20

07
/0

5/
20

08
/0

5/
20

09
/0

5/
20

10
/0

5/
20

0%

100%

200%

300%

400%

Car     National Rail Bus

Cycling

Key points

• First lockdown announced 23rd March 2020.

• Lockdown extended for at least three  
weeks – five tests set out 16th April 2020.

• Car use dropped further to low-mid-thirty  
percent. Although there was a slight increase  
later in this period.

• Bus and rail use continued to fall, to  
around 55% for rail and 10% for bus travel.

• Cycling starts to show larger increases, with  
peaks and trough throughout the period. 

• Cycling peaks tend to be around the weekend  
and the bank holidays in this period.

P
age 161



26 27

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 3
: S

ha
pi

ng
 th

e 
St

ra
te

gy

11th May to 23rd June 2020

11
/0

5/
20

12
/0

5/
20

13
/0

5/
20

14
/0

5/
20

15
/0

5/
20

16
/0

5/
20

17
/0

5/
20

18
/0

5/
20

19
/0

5/
20

20
/0

5/
20

21
/0

5/
20

22
/0

5/
20

23
/0

5/
20

24
/0

5/
20

25
/0

5/
20

26
/0

5/
20

27
/0

5/
20

28
/0

5/
20

29
/0

5/
20

30
/0

5/
20

31
/0

5/
20

01
/0

6/
20

02
/0

6/
20

03
/0

6/
20

04
/0

6/
20

05
/0

6/
20

06
/0

6/
20

07
/0

6/
20

08
/0

6/
20

09
/0

6/
20

10
/0

6/
20

11
/0

6/
20

12
/0

6/
20

13
/0

6/
20

14
/0

6/
20

15
/0

6/
20

16
/0

6/
20

17
/0

6/
20

18
/0

6/
20

19
/0

6/
20

20
/0

6/
20

21
/0

6/
20

22
/0

6/
20

23
/0

6/
20

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

11
/0

5/
20

12
/0

5/
20

13
/0

5/
20

14
/0

5/
20

15
/0

5/
20

16
/0

5/
20

17
/0

5/
20

18
/0

5/
20

19
/0

5/
20

20
/0

5/
20

21
/0

5/
20

22
/0

5/
20

23
/0

5/
20

24
/0

5/
20

25
/0

5/
20

26
/0

5/
20

27
/0

5/
20

28
/0

5/
20

29
/0

5/
20

30
/0

5/
20

31
/0

5/
20

01
/0

6/
20

02
/0

6/
20

03
/0

6/
20

04
/0

6/
20

05
/0

6/
20

06
/0

6/
20

07
/0

6/
20

08
/0

6/
20

09
/0

6/
20

10
/0

6/
20

11
/0

6/
20

12
/0

6/
20

13
/0

6/
20

14
/0

6/
20

15
/0

6/
20

16
/0

6/
20

17
/0

6/
20

18
/0

6/
20

19
/0

6/
20

20
/0

6/
20

21
/0

6/
20

22
/0

6/
20

23
/0

6/
20

0%

50%

100%

150%

200%

250%

300%

350%

Car     National Rail Bus

Cycling

Key points

• PM announces a conditional plan for lifting 
lockdown and says that people who cannot  
work from home should return to work but  
avoid public transport.

• Phased re-opening of schools, 2nd June 2020.

• Non-essential shops re-open 15th June 2020.

• Slight increase in rail travel, from 5% to 15%  
of the norm for this time of year.

• Slight increase in bus travel, from 12% to  
23% of the norm for this time of the year.

• Cycling journeys still considerably higher  
than normal, with peaks around the  
weekends, although the trendline  
suggests a reducing picture.

• Car use continues to climb, from 45%  
up to 74%. 

24th June to 3rd August 2020

24
/0

6/
20

25
/0

6/
20

26
/0

6/
20

27
/0

6/
20

28
/0

6/
20

29
/0

6/
20

30
/0

6/
20

01
/0

7/
20

02
/0

7/
20

03
/0

7/
20

04
/0

7/
20

05
/0

7/
20

06
/0

7/
20

07
/0

7/
20

08
/0

7/
20

09
/0

7/
20

10
/0

7/
20

11
/0

7/
20

12
/0

7/
20

13
/0

7/
20

14
/0

7/
20

15
/0

7/
20

16
/0

7/
20

17
/0

7/
20

18
/0

7/
20

19
/0

7/
20

20
/0

7/
20

21
/0

7/
20

22
/0

7/
20

23
/0

7/
20

24
/0

7/
20

25
/0

7/
20

26
/0

7/
20

27
/0

7/
20

28
/0

7/
20

29
/0

7/
20

30
/0

7/
20

31
/0

7/
20

01
/0

8/
20

02
/0

8/
20

03
/0

8/
20

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

24
/0

6/
20

25
/0

6/
20

26
/0

6/
20

27
/0

6/
20

28
/0

6/
20

29
/0

6/
20

30
/0

6/
20

01
/0

7/
20

02
/0

7/
20

03
/0

7/
20

04
/0

7/
20

05
/0

7/
20

06
/0

7/
20

07
/0

7/
20

08
/0

7/
20

09
/0

7/
20

10
/0

7/
20

11
/0

7/
20

12
/0

7/
20

13
/0

7/
20

14
/0

7/
20

15
/0

7/
20

16
/0

7/
20

17
/0

7/
20

18
/0

7/
20

19
/0

7/
20

20
/0

7/
20

21
/0

7/
20

22
/0

7/
20

23
/0

7/
20

24
/0

7/
20

25
/0

7/
20

26
/0

7/
20

27
/0

7/
20

28
/0

7/
20

29
/0

7/
20

30
/0

7/
20

31
/0

7/
20

01
/0

8/
20

02
/0

8/
20

03
/0

8/
20

0%

50%

100%

150%

200%

250%

300%

Car     National Rail Bus

Cycling

Key points

• PM says "national hibernation" coming to  
an end – announces relaxing of restrictions  
and 2m social distancing rule.

• More restrictions are eased including  
reopening of pubs, restaurants,  
hairdressers – 4th July 2020.

• 'Eat out to help out' scheme announced –  
3rd August 2020.

• School holidays start.

• Car use continues to rise, returning  
consistently over 80% during the weeks,  
with higher peaks at weekends.

• Rail usage continues to rise, but still  
only to 32% of normal passenger usage.

• Bus usage also continues to rise (mid 30%) 
especially at weekends.

• Cycling continues to perform well above  
the norm, averaging about 50% above  
normal levels.

P
age 162



28 29

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 3
: S

ha
pi

ng
 th

e 
St

ra
te

gy

4th August to 21st September 2020

04
/0

8/
20

05
/0

8/
20

06
/0

8/
20

07
/0

8/
20

08
/0

8/
20

09
/0

8/
20

10
/0

8/
20

11
/0

8/
20

12
/0

8/
20

13
/0

8/
20

14
/0

8/
20

15
/0

8/
20

16
/0

8/
20

17
/0

8/
20

18
/0

8/
20

19
/0

8/
20

20
/0

8/
20

21
/0

8/
20

22
/0

8/
20

23
/0

8/
20

24
/0

8/
20

25
/0

8/
20

26
/0

8/
20

27
/0

8/
20

28
/0

8/
20

29
/0

8/
20

30
/0

8/
20

31
/0

8/
20

01
/0

9/
20

02
/0

9/
20

03
/0

9/
20

04
/0

9/
20

05
/0

9/
20

06
/0

9/
20

07
/0

9/
20

08
/0

9/
20

09
/0

9/
20

10
/0

9/
20

11
/0

9/
20

12
/0

9/
20

13
/0

9/
20

14
/0

9/
20

15
/0

9/
20

16
/0

9/
20

17
/0

9/
20

18
/0

9/
20

19
/0

9/
20

20
/0

9/
20

21
/0

9/
20

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

04
/0

8/
20

05
/0

8/
20

06
/0

8/
20

07
/0

8/
20

08
/0

8/
20

09
/0

8/
20

10
/0

8/
20

11
/0

8/
20

12
/0

8/
20

13
/0

8/
20

14
/0

8/
20

15
/0

8/
20

16
/0

8/
20

17
/0

8/
20

18
/0

8/
20

19
/0

8/
20

20
/0

8/
20

21
/0

8/
20

22
/0

8/
20

23
/0

8/
20

24
/0

8/
20

25
/0

8/
20

26
/0

8/
20

27
/0

8/
20

28
/0

8/
20

29
/0

8/
20

30
/0

8/
20

31
/0

8/
20

01
/0

9/
20

02
/0

9/
20

03
/0

9/
20

04
/0

9/
20

05
/0

9/
20

06
/0

9/
20

07
/0

9/
20

08
/0

9/
20

09
/0

9/
20

10
/0

9/
20

11
/0

9/
20

12
/0

9/
20

13
/0

9/
20

14
/0

9/
20

15
/0

9/
20

16
/0

9/
20

17
/0

9/
20

18
/0

9/
20

19
/0

9/
20

20
/0

9/
20

21
/0

9/
20

0%

50%

100%

150%

200%

250%

Car     National Rail Bus

Cycling

Key points

• Lockdown restrictions eased further including 
reopening indoor theatres, bowling alleys  
and soft play – 14th August 2020.

• School holiday period.

• "Rule of Six" indoor and outdoor social  
gatherings above six banned in England.

• Car use continues to maintain the levels of  
the previous period at around the mid 80% 
figures during the week and over 100%  
at the weekends.

• Rail usage increases marginally to around  
40%, perhaps representing a longer sense  
of distrust in travelling in close confines  
of other people.

• Bus usage continues to improve, although  
still well below the norm.

• Cycling maintains its high usage levels,  
perhaps due to the good weather, work  
patterns changing, school holidays and  
increase health awareness.

22nd September to the 4th November 2020

22
/0

9/
20

23
/0

9/
20

24
/0

9/
20

25
/0

9/
20

26
/0

9/
20

27
/0

9/
20

28
/0

9/
20

29
/0

9/
20

30
/0

9/
20

01
/1

0/
20

02
/1

0/
20

03
/1

0/
20

04
/1

0/
20

05
/1

0/
20

06
/1

0/
20

07
/1

0/
20

08
/1

0/
20

09
/1

0/
20

10
/1

0/
20

11
/1

0/
20

12
/1

0/
20

13
/1

0/
20

14
/1

0/
20

15
/1

0/
20

16
/1

0/
20

17
/1

0/
20

18
/1

0/
20

19
/1

0/
20

20
/1

0/
20

21
/1

0/
20

22
/1

0/
20

23
/1

0/
20

24
/1

0/
20

25
/1

0/
20

26
/1

0/
20

27
/1

0/
20

28
/1

0/
20

29
/1

0/
20

30
/1

0/
20

31
/1

0/
20

01
/1

1/
20

02
/1

1/
20

03
/1

1/
20

04
/1

1/
20

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

22
/0

9/
20

23
/0

9/
20

24
/0

9/
20

25
/0

9/
20

26
/0

9/
20

27
/0

9/
20

28
/0

9/
20

29
/0

9/
20

30
/0

9/
20

01
/1

0/
20

02
/1

0/
20

03
/1

0/
20

04
/1

0/
20

05
/1

0/
20

06
/1

0/
20

07
/1

0/
20

08
/1

0/
20

09
/1

0/
20

10
/1

0/
20

11
/1

0/
20

12
/1

0/
20

13
/1

0/
20

14
/1

0/
20

15
/1

0/
20

16
/1

0/
20

17
/1

0/
20

18
/1

0/
20

19
/1

0/
20

20
/1

0/
20

21
/1

0/
20

22
/1

0/
20

23
/1

0/
20

24
/1

0/
20

25
/1

0/
20

26
/1

0/
20

27
/1

0/
20

28
/1

0/
20

29
/1

0/
20

30
/1

0/
20

31
/1

0/
20

01
/1

1/
20

02
/1

1/
20

03
/1

1/
20

04
/1

1/
20

0%

50%

100%

150%

200%

Car     National Rail Bus

Cycling

Key points

• Return to working from home and 10pm curfew 
for hospitality sector – 22nd September 2020.

• New three tier system of COVID-19 restrictions  
starts in England – 14th October 2020.

• Car usage levels continue to be maintained,  
with a slight drop off in late October.

• Rail usage levels continue to maintain the same 
level, also with a slight drop-off during October.

• Bus usage remains consistent, around mid-to- 
high 50% against the normal expected level.

• Cycling levels return to more normal levels,  
perhaps indicating the fact that children return  
to home school, good weather, and return to 
work after the summer break.

P
age 163



30 31

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 3
: S

ha
pi

ng
 th

e 
St

ra
te

gy

5th November to 2nd December 2020

05
/1

1/
20

06
/1

1/
20

07
/1

1/
20

08
/1

1/
20

09
/1

1/
20

10
/1

1/
20

11
/1

1/
20

12
/1

1/
20

13
/1

1/
20

14
/1

1/
20

15
/1

1/
20

16
/1

1/
20

17
/1

1/
20

18
/1

1/
20

19
/1

1/
20

20
/1

1/
20

21
/1

1/
20

22
/1

1/
20

23
/1

1/
20

24
/1

1/
20

25
/1

1/
20

26
/1

1/
20

27
/1

1/
20

28
/1

1/
20

29
/1

1/
20

30
/1

1/
20

01
/1

2/
20

02
/1

2/
20

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

05
/1

1/
20

06
/1

1/
20

07
/1

1/
20

08
/1

1/
20

09
/1

1/
20

10
/1

1/
20

11
/1

1/
20

12
/1

1/
20

13
/1

1/
20

14
/1

1/
20

15
/1

1/
20

16
/1

1/
20

17
/1

1/
20

18
/1

1/
20

19
/1

1/
20

20
/1

1/
20

21
/1

1/
20

22
/1

1/
20

23
/1

1/
20

24
/1

1/
20

25
/1

1/
20

26
/1

1/
20

27
/1

1/
20

28
/1

1/
20

29
/1

1/
20

30
/1

1/
20

01
/1

2/
20

02
/1

2/
20

0%

50%

100%

150%

200%

Car     National Rail Bus

Cycling

Key points

• Second National lockdown comes into  
force in England.

• Car usage levels reduce to around 70%  
during the week with further reductions  
over the weekends.

• It is perhaps significant that usage is  
considerably higher than in lockdown one.

• Rail usage drops again to around 20%.

• Bus usage remains at about 50% with  
reductions at the weekends – mid 30%.

• Cycling levels continue to remain at the  
same level.

3rd December to 6th January 2021

03
/1

2/
20

04
/1

2/
20

05
/1

2/
20

06
/1

2/
20

07
/1

2/
20

08
/1

2/
20

09
/1

2/
20

10
/1

2/
20

11
/1

2/
20

12
/1

2/
20

13
/1

2/
20

14
/1

2/
20

15
/1

2/
20

16
/1

2/
20

17
/1

2/
20

18
/1

2/
20

19
/1

2/
20

20
/1

2/
20

21
/1

2/
20

22
/1

2/
20

23
/1

2/
20

24
/1

2/
20

25
/1

2/
20

26
/1

2/
20

27
/1

2/
20

28
/1

2/
20

29
/1

2/
20

30
/1

2/
20

31
/1

2/
20

01
/0

1/
21

02
/0

1/
21

03
/0

1/
21

04
/0

1/
21

05
/0

1/
21

06
/0

1/
21

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

03
/1

2/
20

04
/1

2/
20

05
/1

2/
20

06
/1

2/
20

07
/1

2/
20

08
/1

2/
20

09
/1

2/
20

10
/1

2/
20

11
/1

2/
20

12
/1

2/
20

13
/1

2/
20

14
/1

2/
20

15
/1

2/
20

16
/1

2/
20

17
/1

2/
20

18
/1

2/
20

19
/1

2/
20

20
/1

2/
20

21
/1

2/
20

22
/1

2/
20

23
/1

2/
20

24
/1

2/
20

25
/1

2/
20

26
/1

2/
20

27
/1

2/
20

28
/1

2/
20

29
/1

2/
20

30
/1

2/
20

31
/1

2/
20

01
/0

1/
21

02
/0

1/
21

03
/0

1/
21

04
/0

1/
21

05
/0

1/
21

06
/0

1/
21

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

140%

Car     National Rail Bus

Cycling

Key points

• PM says Christmas rules may still be relaxed  
but urges public to keep celebrations "short"  
and "small" – 15th December 2020.

• New restrictions for Southeast England  
with a new Tier 4 "Stay at Home" alert level. 

• Christmas mixing rules tightened –  
19th December 2020.

• Tier 4 restrictions come into force in  
the Southeast – 21st December 2020.

• More areas of England enter tier 4  
restrictions – 26th December 2020

• Children to return to school after Christmas  
break but restrictions in England get tougher.

• Car usage maintains previous levels up  
to Christmas when it drops to below 60%.

• Rail usage increases mid-December due  
to University students returning home  
for Christmas, and then to below 15%  
post-Christmas.

• Bus usage follow the same pattern  
with big reductions post-Christmas.

• Cycling usage continues to drop off,  
probably due to poor weather.

P
age 164



32 33

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 3
: S

ha
pi

ng
 th

e 
St

ra
te

gy

7th January to 28th February 2021

07
/0

1/
21

08
/0

1/
21

09
/0

1/
21

10
/0

1/
21

11
/0

1/
21

12
/0

1/
21

13
/0

1/
21

14
/0

1/
21

15
/0

1/
21

16
/0

1/
21

17
/0

1/
21

18
/0

1/
21

19
/0

1/
21

20
/0

1/
21

21
/0

1/
21

22
/0

1/
21

23
/0

1/
21

24
/0

1/
21

25
/0

1/
21

26
/0

1/
21

27
/0

1/
21

28
/0

1/
21

29
/0

1/
21

30
/0

1/
21

31
/0

1/
21

01
/0

2/
21

02
/0

2/
21

03
/0

2/
21

04
/0

2/
21

05
/0

2/
21

06
/0

2/
21

07
/0

2/
21

08
/0

2/
21

09
/0

2/
21

10
/0

2/
21

11
/0

2/
21

12
/0

2/
21

13
/0

2/
21

14
/0

2/
21

15
/0

2/
21

16
/0

2/
21

17
/0

2/
21

18
/0

2/
21

19
/0

2/
21

20
/0

2/
21

21
/0

2/
21

22
/0

2/
21

23
/0

2/
21

24
/0

2/
21

25
/0

2/
21

26
/0

2/
21

27
/0

2/
21

28
/0

2/
21

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

07
/0

1/
21

08
/0

1/
21

09
/0

1/
21

10
/0

1/
21

11
/0

1/
21

12
/0

1/
21

13
/0

1/
21

14
/0

1/
21

15
/0

1/
21

16
/0

1/
21

17
/0

1/
21

18
/0

1/
21

19
/0

1/
21

20
/0

1/
21

21
/0

1/
21

22
/0

1/
21

23
/0

1/
21

24
/0

1/
21

25
/0

1/
21

26
/0

1/
21

27
/0

1/
21

28
/0

1/
21

29
/0

1/
21

30
/0

1/
21

31
/0

1/
21

01
/0

2/
21

02
/0

2/
21

03
/0

2/
21

04
/0

2/
21

05
/0

2/
21

06
/0

2/
21

07
/0

2/
21

08
/0

2/
21

09
/0

2/
21

10
/0

2/
21

11
/0

2/
21

12
/0

2/
21

13
/0

2/
21

14
/0

2/
21

15
/0

2/
21

16
/0

2/
21

17
/0

2/
21

18
/0

2/
21

19
/0

2/
21

20
/0

2/
21

21
/0

2/
21

22
/0

2/
21

23
/0

2/
21

24
/0

2/
21

25
/0

2/
21

26
/0

2/
21

27
/0

2/
21

28
/0

2/
21

0%

50%

100%

150%

200%

250%

Car     National Rail Bus

Cycling

Key points

• England enters third national lockdown –  
7th January 2021.

• PM expected to publish "roadmap"  
for lifting of lockdown.

• Car use started to rise again, peaking  
at the end of February to 68%.

• Rail usage continues to maintain its low  
level, indicating a continued wariness  
round social mixing.

• Bus usage increased very gradually over this  
period, ending the month at around 34%.

Conclusions

During this period we have seen a previously  
unheard change in travel patterns, with public  
transport particularly hardest hit, indicating the  
need for a comprehensive package of measures to  
help support the rail and bus industries to recover  
what has been a devastating reduction in usage and  
public confidence. An upsurge in the use of the bicycle  
has been very positive, but to maintain that enthusiasm, 
support to that mode of travel will need to be put in 
place, focusing on the overall health, wellbeing and 
environmental benefits to society and the health  
services, of a fitter more active populace. Car usage 
patterns will continue to be difficult to predict with  
many economic sectors, such as local government,  
finance and retail moving to more home-based  
working and increased use of delivery methods 
to customers in the retail market. Technological 
improvements, (including the increase in internet 
shopping and banking), around how we do our  
business and live our lives have created an  
opportunity to re-think our lifestyles in general,  
and what our expectations are around future  
employment models. 

The COVID-19 challenge

This section documents the short-term impacts of 
COVID-19 on mobility in Lincolnshire and considers  
the longer-term effects that the pandemic and the 
imposed mobility restrictions may have. It is evident  
that COVID-19 has had a significant impact on mobility  
and the transport network since March 2020. Notable 
impacts on a national level include:

• A sudden drop in the use of all modes in April and  
May 2020, although freight movements recovered 
quickly and now stand at over 100% of pre-COVID-19 
levels. Car movements recovered to between 80%  
and 100% by August, however, bus and rail movements 
are significantly reduced and remain around half  
of pre-COVID-19 levels. 

• Home-working has been encouraged for those who 
are able, leading to a short-term reduction in travel 
demand. This trend will likely continue as employers 
(including LCC) look to maintain hybrid working 
conditions in future.

• School movements reduced significantly immediately 
after the initial national lockdown, although partially 
recovered from September once schools were 
reopened. College and university movements,  
however, are significantly reduced and may continue 
to be reduced should education providers make online 
learning more commonplace in future. 

• Online retail sales grew from 20.1% of all sales  
in February 2020 to 27.1% in September 2020.  
This shift coincided with a reduction in high street 
footfall of c.50%, and has accelerated longer-term 
trends as consumers continue their shift towards  
online shopping. This is likely to impact on future  
travel demand to urban centres. 

• The NHS has a long-term plan to support the delivery  
of health services in the home and remotely. This is 
likely to impact on travel demand to access GPs and 
hospitals for some people. 

The Government has responded to the pandemic 
and provided support in a number of different areas. 
Focussing on transport providers, the rail industry  
will move away from the franchise system with an 
immediate change in the contractual basis for rail 
operators introduced in March. The bus industry was 
provided with COVID-19 Bus Services Support Grant 
(CBSSG) which enabled operators to provide essential 
services but in a COVID-safe manner without facing a 
financial loss. Bus operators also continued to receive 
contract payments and ENCTS reimbursement, although 
they were not permitted to profit from the extraordinary 
financial support from national and local governments. 
Winding down this financial support will require careful 
consideration from the county council in order to avoid  
a ‘cliff edge’ scenario where services could be reduced  
or removed without adequate alternative options in place. 

P
age 165



34 35

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 3
: S

ha
pi

ng
 th

e 
St

ra
te

gy

Impacts of COVID-19 on Lincolnshire's transport network Transport in Lincolnshire

The following key facts and figures have been  
produced to give a snapshot of the current situation  
in Lincolnshire to inform the development of the  
LTP and put the following policy proposals into  
some context. Unlike the previous section that  
focused on the impacts from the pandemic,  
this section considers longer-term patterns. 

In this section, we will look at a variety of transport  
related statistics both current and historical, looking  
at a variety of themes, including but not exclusive  
to, traffic growth, car ownership, walking and cycling  
statistics, bus patronage, rail passenger usage, port 
tonnages, licenced vehicles, licensed plug-in vehicles, 
mode of travel to work and road safety.

Growth of traffic

In order to monitor traffic growth nationally, the DfT 
carries out a variety of traffic surveys across the country 
to arrive at an estimate of the number of billion vehicle 
kilometres travelled each year on Britain's roads. Annual 
traffic estimates are based on some 8,000 12-hour manual 
counts carried out across the network, with the most 
important major roads counted annually. Elsewhere,  
other major roads are surveyed every 2 years, 4 years  
or 8 years depending on the level of traffic and its 
variability. Minor roads (B-class and below) are  
monitored using a representative sample, with  
some 4,500 sites surveyed each year.

In addition to the manual counts, the DfT have some 
200 automatic traffic counter sites monitoring flows 
continuously at sites across the country. By combining 
the manual and automatic count data, DfT produce an 
estimate of annual average daily flow at each site, which 
when combined with information about road lengths, 
gives an estimate of the total number of kilometres 
travelled each year.

This information is also released by the DfT at local  
authority level. However, they do highlight issues  
around the reliability of the data at this level due  
to the relatively low levels of minor road sample  
points in some authorities. Hence the local authority  
traffic estimates are not recognised as a ‘National  
Statistic’ set.

The following table shows the data for Lincolnshire,  
the East Midlands, and England whilst the graph  
below this shows the information from 1993.

This data will be updated following the results of  
the 2021 Census, however, this may take up to a 
year for the data to be published.

Manage increase
in freight

Reduced peak
public transport
loading, enabling

efficient use of vehicles

Reduced car
park revenue

Reduced travel demand
could reduce vehicle km

on Lincolnshire roads

Less public transport demand =
fewer passengers

Fewer passengers =
less revenue

Less revenue =
fewer commercial services

Operating costs won’t 
reduce pressure on ENCTs 

and education transport costs

Reduced personal travel demand in the short-medium-term
weakening viability of commercial transport services

COVID-induced reductions 
in travel demand

Declining public transport
trends pre-COVID-19

Reduced confidence in
public transport use

NHS ‘Digital first primary 
care’ – more care at home

Long-term decline in
high street footfall

Long-term increase in
online retail transactions

Flexible working and increased
home-working – now and in the future

Higher and further 
education delivered online

Possible increase
in unemployment

Reduction in retail employment
in urban centres

Reduced peak-time congestion CO2
emissions and improved air quality

Reallocate road space = 
bus priority opportunities = 

efficient and punctual services

Reduced number 
of operators/suppliers

Greater financial support
to maintain bus services?

Less investment in 
new, cleaner vehicles

Supported bus budget
constrained by 25%

deminimus limit

Council needs a plan for
how it will fund and deliver

services – develop and 
lobby DfT for the support 

in new delivery plan

Council may have greater
say in planning bus networks 
if it provides greater funding

P
age 166



36 37

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 3
: S

ha
pi

ng
 th

e 
St

ra
te

gy

Local authority traffic estimates

Traffic estimates for Lincolnshire, East Midlands and England

Year Lincolnshire East Midlands England

1993 4,487 32,658 355,306
1995 4,725 34,116 370,167
2000 5,199 37,477 402,031
2005 5,760 40,917 424,376
2010 5,880 41,082 421,703
2011 5,925 41,225 425,624
2012 5,932 41,512 426,710
2013 6,039 41,977 430,572
2014 6,229 43,195 444,964
2015 6,427 44,208 455,486
2016 6,665 45,407 467,144
2017 6,916 46,326 476,909
2018 7,083 46,941 483,025
2019 7,201 48,071 493,302

Data for 2021 will be published in July 2021

19
93

19
94

19
95

19
96

19
97

19
98

19
99

20
00

20
01

20
02

20
03

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

20
19

100

110

120

130

140

150

160

Lincolnshire East Midlands England

Local area walking and cycling statistics

Since 2015/16, the DfT has carried out an annual Active Lives Survey in support of the Government's 'Sporting Future: 
A New Strategy for an Active Nation' and Sport England's 'Towards an Active Nation' strategies. This survey is aimed 
at measuring participation in sport and active recreation and includes questions on cycling and walking for both 
recreational and general travel purposes.

Data for 2015/16 – 2018/19 from the Active Lives Survey relating to the proportion of people cycling and walking  
once a week are shown below.

Percentage cycling once per week

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

0% 5% 10% 15% 20%

England

East Midlands

Lincolnshire

Boston

East Lindsey

Lincoln

North Kesteven

South Holland

South Kesteven

West Lindsey

P
age 167



38 39

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 3
: S

ha
pi

ng
 th

e 
St

ra
te

gy

0% 20% 40% 60% 80%

England

East Midlands

Lincolnshire

Boston

East Lindsey

Lincoln

North Kesteven

South Holland

South Kesteven

West Lindsey

Percentage walking once per week

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Purpose of journey

As an example of the data available, the below graph displays a breakdown of the figures to show any walking,  
walking for pleasure and walking for travel in Lincolnshire.

0% 20% 40% 60% 80%

Any walking

Walking for pleasure

Walking for travel

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Key points

• The proportion of people cycling at least  
once a week in Lincolnshire is slightly higher  
than that in the East Midlands and the same  
as the rest England. There is considerable 
variation at the district level.

• The proportion of people making a walking  
trip in Lincolnshire is generally similar  
to that made at both the regional and  
national level.

• Journey purpose percentages have stayed  
fairly static over the last four years.

P
age 168



40 41

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 3
: S

ha
pi

ng
 th

e 
St

ra
te

gy

Bus patronage

Between 2002/03 and 2009/10, information on passenger numbers was collected directly from all operators by the 
council in line with guidance issued by DfT for monitoring the LTP. However, since 2009/10 this has been replaced  
by data collected by DfT using returns from operators. Hence, longer-term comparison for this period is not possible,  
but the overall trends hold true.

20
02

/0
3

20
03

/0
4

20
04

/0
5

20
05

/0
6

20
06

/0
7

20
07

/0
8

20
08

/0
9

20
09

/1
0

20
10

/1
1

20
11

/1
2

20
12

/1
3

20
13

/1
4

20
14

/1
5

20
15

/1
6

20
16

/1
7

20
17

/1
8

20
18

/1
9

20
19

/2
0

5m

10m

15m

20m

Key points

• The number of passenger journeys in 
Lincolnshire grew by almost 31% between  
2005/06 and 2008/09. The growth in England  
over the same period was just 8%.

• An element of this growth was no doubt  
due to the introduction of the national 
concessionary fares scheme, but the  
extent of its impact is unclear.

• However, since 2010/11 there has been  
a 28.9% reduction in bus passenger  
journeys in Lincolnshire.

Concessionary bus patronage

The English National Concessionary Bus Travel Scheme is a national scheme managed by the DfT in conjunction with 
local authorities across England. Anyone reaching the State Pension age or have a relevant disability is eligible for free  
bus travel within Lincolnshire on the production of a valid pass; no restrictions are currently put on the time of travel.

On the 1st April 2011, LCC took over the administration of the National Concessionary Travel Scheme across Lincolnshire 
from the district councils. Annual statistics on the use of the scheme are published each year by the DfT. The graph below 
shows the split between Non-Concessionary and Concessionary journeys in Lincolnshire over recent years.

20
09

/1
0

20
01

0/
11

20
11

/1
2

20
12

/1
3

20
13

/1
4

20
14

/1
5

20
15

/1
6

20
16

/1
7

20
17

/1
8

20
18

/1
9

20
19

/2
0

2m

4m

6m

8m

10m

12m

Concessionary Non-concessionaryData collected by the council Data collected by the DfT

Key points

• For the first four years of the scheme, the  
number of concessionary journeys remained 
fairly constant at around 5.7 million. Since 
2014/15, however, the numbers have reduced 
each year to 4.3 million in 2019/20, a reduction  
of just over 1.4 million passenger journeys  
in six years.

• It is worth noting, however, that the eligibility  
for the scheme has changed, bringing it in-line 
with the state pension age for women, meaning 
less people will be eligible.

• Concessionary fare journeys represent 
approximately 35.8% of all bus journeys  
in the county.

P
age 169



42 43

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 3
: S

ha
pi

ng
 th

e 
St

ra
te

gy

Rail passenger usage

Information relating to the number of people using stations in Lincolnshire is produced annual (by financial year)  
by the Office of Rail and Road (ORR). The table below shows the figures since 2013/14.

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Lincoln Central 1,585,386 1,649,584 1,753,856 1,816,018 1,864,830 1,963,938 1,966,100

Grantham 1,198,197 1,259,632 1,308,536 1,369,610 1,364,650 1,413,006 1,390,648

Stamford 324,813 349,606 355,880 355,532 375,616 384,560 366,652

Skegness 322,796 351,134 354,070 349,008 357,428 350,864 323,202

Sleaford 301,349 312,888 321,288 316,570 309,326 310,906 298,572

Boston 206,994 209,618 207,368 211,824 217,872 226,940 210,854

Hykeham 40,064 49,972 71,056 107,614 143,482 176,244 183,026

Spalding 171,960 171,274 185,396 189,884 188,596 193,034 176,342

Gainsborough Lea Road 137,398 141,834 153,286 156,776 159,670 164,188 174,122

Metheringham 91,088 94,750 106,248 99,704 99,490 101,878 95,698

Ruskington 76,012 83,240 87,328 91,016 89,726 82,020 78,110

Saxilby 48,145 57,298 61,920 64,358 67,130 75,172 75,654

Market Rasen 60,572 60,486 62,908 66,398 64,264 69,840 69,008

Heckington 67,388 74,804 70,940 64,624 66,576 66,494 60,788

Wainfleet 56,554 58,578 53,838 46,326 47,216 42,160 38,752

Swinderby 21,134 15,022 11,034 14,462 17,616 18,026 17,912

Rauceby 1,898 2,420 5,584 10,948 9,714 10,256 9,234

Ancaster 8,878 9,910 7,356 7,162 6,572 5,904 5,006

Swineshead 3,294 3,886 3,800 3,686 3,406 3,508 2,648

Gainsborough Central 1,220 1,552 1,352 996 970 1,494 2,384

Hubberts Bridge 334 324 520 1,182 1,412 1,262 1,252

Thorpe Culvert 340 284 286 210 148 258 140

Havenhouse 278 166 162 106 172 158 84

Total 4,726,092 4,958,262 5,184,012 5,344,014 5,455,882 5,662,110 5,546,188

The above data from the ORR is based primarily on ticket sales. Some care is needed when looking at trends at individual 
smaller stations as there are believed to be some issues relating to "ticket splitting" where users purchase two tickets for 
their journey rather than one since this can work out cheaper (e.g. Nottingham – Swinderby, then Swinderby – Lincoln 
rather than Nottingham – Lincoln direct). However, county-wide the total journeys at the affected stations represent  
a very small proportion of all journeys, so will have minimal effect on the overall trend as shown below.

Lincolnshire station usage graph

20
04

/0
5

20
05

/0
6

20
06

/0
7

20
07

/0
8

20
08

/0
9

20
09

/1
0

20
01

0/
11

20
11

/1
2

20
12

/1
3

20
13

/1
4

20
14

/1
5

20
15

/1
6

20
16

/1
7

20
17

/1
8

20
18

/1
9

20
19

/2
0

4m

4.5m

5m

5.5m

6m

Key points

• The trend in the number of people using 
Lincolnshire’s rail stations over recent  
years has been generally upwards.

• Based on the data available, passenger rail  
usage grew by some 36.3% between 2004/05  
and 2018/19. However, the picture varies  
widely at individual stations.

• There has been a slight dip in the  
figures for 2019/20, largely due to the  
start of lockdown policies surrounding  
the COVID-19 outbreak, where use of  
public transport was massively reduced.

P
age 170



44 45

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 3
: S

ha
pi

ng
 th

e 
St

ra
te

gy

Port tonnages

Lincolnshire has the only ports in the East Midlands – the Port of Boston and Port Sutton Bridge. Information  
on the volume and type of cargo and number of vessels handled by the ports is published annually by DfT.  
The graphs below show recent trends at the two Lincolnshire ports. 

Number of vessels – arrival yearly

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

20
19

0

200

400

600

800

1000

20
00

20
01

20
02

20
03

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

20
19

0

200

400

600

800

Port of Boston Port Sutton Bridge

Port of Boston Port Sutton Bridge

Vehicles licensed

Annual statistics on the number of vehicles licensed at the county level are produced by the DfT. The following table  
and graph show the recent trend in Lincolnshire.

Annual statistics on the number of vehicles licensed

20
01

20
02

20
03

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

20
19

100

110

120

130

140

2001 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Lincolnshire 375 431 439 448 454 455 452 484 494 500 507 514

East Midlands 2,274 2,534 2,565 2,617 2,654 2,655 2,645 2,859 2,916 2,958 3,002 3,058

England 25,332 28,022 28,321 28,798 29,114 29,081 28,939 31,047 31,763 32,153 32,530 32,942

Key points

• The tonnages handled at both ports have 
generally fallen since 2000.

• At the Port of Boston during 2019, a total of 
729,000 tonnes were imported and 93,000  
tonnes were exported, with the port  
handling a total of 420 vessels.

• In 2019, the majority of products imported  
into Boston Port were Iron and Steel, 539,000 
tonnes mainly from EU countries, and Lithuania,  
and Forestry products, 147,000 tonnes from  
Finland, the Netherlands and Sweden.

• As port Sutton Bridge is classed as a minor  
port, this level of data isn’t available.

• Whilst the figures vary from year-to-year  
both ports have seen a general decline  
in business in the last 19 years.

• Provisional figures are published quarterly,  
and final annual statistics are published  
in August.

Lincolnshire East Midlands England

P
age 171



46 47

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 3
: S

ha
pi

ng
 th

e 
St

ra
te

gy

Number of ULEV vehicles

Key points

• Following a slight fall in the number of vehicles 
licensed in the county during 2010, strong  
growth has resumed in recent years.

• The number of vehicles licensed in the county  
has grown by 36.9% between 2001 and 2019.  
This is higher than that both nationally (30%)  
and in the East Midlands (34.5%).

Licensed ULEV cars and vans

Transport accounts for around a quarter of UK greenhouse gas emissions and affects air quality at the roadside.  
To combat this, Governments promote the use of cleaner and low-carbon vehicles. Recent Government Initiatives  
have promoted the use of fully electric or hybrid vehicles (part fuel/part electric) through the plug-in car or van grant. 
Whilst still in its very early days, there have been increases in the purchase and use of this type of vehicle.

Statistics on the number of plug-in vehicles licensed are produced by DfT. The location of the registered keeper is  
based on the contact address held by DVLA and may not necessarily reflect where the vehicle is kept. Data relating  
to the ownership of this type of vehicle in Lincolnshire is shown below.

0 500 1000 1500 2000

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

Key points

• There have been significant increases in the purchase of plug-in/hybrid style vehicles over  
the last two years. However, this still represents a very small proportion of the total cars/vans  
licensed in the county (at around 0.2%).

South HollandBoston Lincoln East Lindsey North Kesteven South Kesteven West Lindsey

Number of ULEV vehicles in the wider area

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

20
19

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

P
age 172



48 49

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 3
: S

ha
pi

ng
 th

e 
St

ra
te

gy

Electric charging points

Alongside the increase in Electric/Hybrid vehicle  
increases is the need for the charging infrastructure  
to service that increase. 

A charging device is a unit capable of charging  
the batteries of plug-in electric vehicles. Devices  
are classified by their power output, and each  
device may offer one or more connecting points.  
The term ‘chargepoint’ is also sometimes used,  
including in previous statistical publications from  
the DfT. This may refer to either a single device  
or a number of connectors on a device which  
can be used simultaneously.

There are three main types of EV charging – rapid,  
fast, and slow. These represent the power outputs,  
and therefore charging speeds, available to charge  
an electric vehicle. 

Note that power is measured in kilowatts (kW). Rapid 
chargers are the fastest way to charge an electric vehicle, 
and predominantly cover DC charging. This can be split  
into two categories – ultra-rapid and rapid. Ultra-rapid 
points can charge at 100+ kW – often 150 kW – and  
up to 350 kW, and are DC only. 

Conventional rapid points make up the majority of the 
UK’s rapid charging infrastructure and charge at 50 kW  
DC, with 43 kW AC rapid charging often also available.

Fast chargers, include those which provide power  
from 7 kW to 22 kW, which typically fully charge an  
electric vehicle in 3-4 hours. The most common public 
chargepoint found in the UK is a 7 kW untethered  
Type-2 inlet, although tethered connectors are  
available for both Type-1 and Type-2.

Slow units (up to 3 kW) are best used for overnight 
charging and usually take between 6-12 hours for  
a pure-EV, or 2-4 hours for a PHEV. Electric vehicles  
charge on slow devices using a cable which connects  
the vehicle to a 3-pin or Type-2 socket.

At the moment, only experimental statistics on the  
number of public charging devices are publicly available, 
and these are collected through the electric vehicle 
charging point platform, Zapmap.

At 1 October 2019, there were 15,116 public electric 
vehicle charging devices available in the UK. Of these, 
2,495 were rapid devices.

The following graph and table highlight the national 
picture and details of the amount of units in Lincolnshire. 
There is additional analysis and further details on electric 
vehicles in the supporting Electric Vehicle and alternative 
fuels strategy available on the LCC's website.

Charging devices per 100k population

0 1 2 3 4 5 6

England

North East

North West

Yorks and Humber

East Midlands

West Midlands

East of England

South East

South West

Total public 
charging  

devices

Total public  
rapid charging 

devices

Charging devices 
per 100,000 
population

Rapid devices  
per 100,000 
population

Lincolnshire 116 29 15 3.8

Boston 6 1 9 1.4

East Lindsey 33 4 23 2.8

Lincoln 30 2 30 2.0

North Kesteven 9 – 8 –

South Holland 6 – 6 –

South Kesteven 20 15 14 10.6

West Lindsey 12 7 13 7.4

Car ownership

Information on car ownership rates is collected every 10 years by the Office of National Statistics as part of the National 
Census. The graph below summarise the data from the 1981, 1991, 2001 and 2011 censuses for Lincolnshire and the 
most recent data for the East Midlands and England.

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%

Lincs 1981

Lincs 1991

Lincs 2001

Lincs 2011

East Midlands 2011

England 2011

Lincolnshire car ownership rates

No Vehicle 1 Vehicle 2 Vehicles 3+ Vehicles

P
age 173



50 51

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 3
: S

ha
pi

ng
 th

e 
St

ra
te

gy

Key points

• The proportion of households in Lincolnshire 
without a car has fallen steadily from 31.1%  
in 1981 to 18% in 2011, with the proportion  
of one car households also falling from  
51.9% to 44.8%.

• Over the same period, the proportion  
of households in the county with two  
cars almost doubled from 14.3% to 28.4%,  
whilst households with three or more  
cars rose from 2.7% to 8.7%.

• In 2011, the proportion of non-car households  
in Lincolnshire (18%) was lower than that  
in both the East Midlands (22.1%) and  
England (25.8%).

• Information is also made available at  
the district level and data for 2011 is  
shown below.

Key points

• The City of Lincoln has the highest proportion 
of non-car owning households at 29.6%, 
substantially higher than the average of 18%.

• The proportion of households with access  
to a single car is fairly constant, lying between 
42% and 47%.

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%

Boston

Easy Lindsey

Lincoln

North Kesteven

South Holland

South Kesteven

West Lindsey

Car ownership by district

No Vehicle 1 Vehicle 2 Vehicles 3+ Vehicles

Mode of travel to work

Information on the normal mode of travel to work is also collected every 10 years by the Office for National Statistics 
as part of the National Census. The graph below show the data from the last four censuses for Lincolnshire as a whole, 
compared with the most recent data for the East Midlands and England.

Mode of travel to work in Lincolnshire

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Lincs 1981

Lincs 1991

Lincs 2001

Lincs 2011

East Midlands 2011

England 2011

MotorcycleBusCar Driver WalkingRailCar Passenger Work from HomeCycle Other

Key points

• The proportion of people travelling to work  
by car (either as a driver or passenger) in 
Lincolnshire has risen from 54% in 1981  
to 72.4% in 2011. This is slightly higher  
than the figure for the East Midlands  
(71.4%) and substantially above the  
figure for England (62.1%).

• At the same time, the percentage of people 
walking to work has fallen from 16.7% to  
12.2% (although this latter figure is up slightly  
on the 2001 figure of 10.9%) and those cycling 
have fallen from 9.6% to 4.1%. Bus use has  
also declined steadily (from 6.6% to 2.5%).

• Data is also available at the district level.

P
age 174



52 53

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 3
: S

ha
pi

ng
 th

e 
St

ra
te

gy

Mode of travel to work by district

MotorcycleBusCar Driver WalkingRailCar Passenger Work from HomeCycle Other

Key points

• Not surprisingly, Lincoln City shows the lowest car use at 62.3% compared with the county average  
of 72.4%. It also has the highest proportion of people walking to work (19.6%), but the lowest  
working from home (3.4%).

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Boston

East Lindsey

Lincoln

North Kesteven

South Holland

South Kesteven

West Lindsey

Transport related carbon emissions

Since 2005, the Department of Energy and Climate Change (DECC) have produced estimates of carbon  
dioxide (CO2) emissions at a local authority level. This includes an estimate of emissions due to road transport  
in the area. The graph below shows DECC estimates of CO2 emissions for Lincolnshire since 2005 broken down  
into general categories.

Estimated CO2 emissions for Lincolnshire (tonnes per capita)

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

0

1

2

3

4

Industry and Commercial Total Domestic Total Transport Total

P
age 175



54 55

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 3
: S

ha
pi

ng
 th

e 
St

ra
te

gy

Comparison of 2018 CO2 emissions (tonnes per capita)

The graph below compares 2018 CO2 emissions for Lincolnshire with those for the East Midlands and England.

0 1 2 3 4

Industry and Commercial Total

Domestic Total

Trasport Total

Lincolnshire East Midlands England

Key points

• Road transport emissions in Lincolnshire  
(per capita) have fallen slightly since 2005, 
mirroring the picture for total emissions.

• Transport emissions per capita in Lincolnshire 
(1.93 tonnes) are lower than those in the East 
Midlands (2.21) and are slightly higher than 
England (1.88).

Road safety

The number of road traffic casualties on Lincolnshire's roads is monitored by the Lincolnshire Road Safety Partnership 
and is a key part of their road safety role.

The graph below shows the number of fatal and serious casualties graphically since 2000.

Road traffic casualties in Lincolnshire

20
00

20
01

20
02

20
03

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

20
19

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

Fatal Serious

Key points

• Since 2003, when 104 people died  
on Lincolnshire roads, there has been  
a generally downward trend in the  
number of fatalities.

• 2017 saw a large rise in the number of  
serious casualties, although the overall  
number of casualties fell to just under  
2,600, the lowest on record.

P
age 176



56 57

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 3
: S

ha
pi

ng
 th

e 
St

ra
te

gy

Opportunities

Decarbonisation

Achieving the target of net-zero carbon by 2050 is both 
essential and challenging. Transport has a significant  
role to play in achieving this target in as much as the  
fact that it is a currently a significant contributor to 
carbon emissions. In Lincolnshire, 38% of the total  
carbon dioxide emissions for the county are  
attributed to transportation.

Opportunity 1: Electric vehicles and  
alternative fuels

The sale of both new petrol and diesel cars is due  
to be banned in 2030 within the UK, so the creation  
of alternative fuels and methods of propulsion is on  
a steep upward trajectory. Electric car sales have risen 
significantly in the last few years as the range has 
improved as well as the infrastructure to support them. 

Across Greater Lincolnshire, the intention is to provide a 
choice of charging points with full details being outlined  
in the electric vehicle and alternative fuels strategy.

Alternative fuels are not just the preserve of private cars 
and public transport both buses and trains will need to 
consider alternative means of propulsion as will freight 
vehicles both vans and HGVs. 

At the regional level, Midlands Connect have been leading 
on work to consider options for a regional network of 
energy hubs. This work is providing a steer for local 
authorities in terms of helping identify possibly locations 
for energy hubs that will enable the freight logistics 
industry to start a shift away from carbon based fuels. 

Conceptual regional or local energy hub20 

The work utilised a multi-criteria assessment process to identify a long list of over 50 possible locations before  
further refinement shortened the list to 11. The process is shown below.

Criteria for identifying regional energy hubs21

Opportunity 2: Sustainable Urban Extensions (SUEs)

The spatial pattern of development across Lincolnshire is 
one predominantly centred on the creation and support 
of SUEs. These are identified areas that are defined as 
separate neighbourhoods that incorporate local centres, 
employment and other facilities, whilst being integrated 
with existing communities and built up areas, supporting 
the urban area as a whole. 

Across Lincolnshire the spatial strategies identify the 
following SUEs: 

• The Central Lincolnshire Local Plan includes the 
allocation of SUEs around Lincoln, Gainsborough  
and Sleaford.

• The Southeast Lincolnshire Local Plan, identifies  
SUEs around Boston, Spalding and Holbeach.

• In South Kesteven Local Plan SUEs are identified around 
Grantham and Stamford.

The spatial approach to adopting SUEs is one that provides 
an opportunity to support the decarbonisation agenda. 
By aligning new development alongside existing urban 
areas; connectivity can be developed in a more sustainable 
way. Journeys should be shorter and thus more suitable 
to be carried out on foot by bike or by public transport. 
Connections are into an existing network and can be 
provided into the pre-existing urban centres were services 
and facilities are already located. SUEs can also provide 
the link between the rural and urban by allowing for 
new infrastructure that provides direct, safe and reliable 
connectivity from the edges of the town inwards and 
equally importantly from existing centres outwards.  
This provides the local community with benefits as  
well as those occupying the new developments. 

Not in an urban centre but near to/
on the site of retail and/or leisure

attractions (or a site that has potential
for retail and leisure attractions)

Near to major distribution network
infrastructure, such as grid supply points,
bulk supply points or primary substations

Large site footprint
(> 10 acres), with capactiy 

to grow with demand

Near to a
major road
interchange

Near to major 
employment

sites, including 
companies

with large fleets

Brownfield
development

land

Unsuitable for
housing or

employment
development

Near to
the gas 

transmission
network

Within a short bus/tram
journey of a large 

urban centre

Alongside or near to
strategic road network,
or other road links with

high traffic flow

Used to create
the longlist

Used to create
the shortlist

Essential Ideal

CLEAN AIR
ZONE

Developing low
emission strategies

for cities

Alternative fuels
for freight

Supporting bids
and proposals

Connected and
autonomous vehicles

Smart charging 
and vehicle-to-grid

Vehicle trial support

Locating suitable
infrastructure sites Training courses

Fleet assessments

P
age 177



58 59

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 3
: S

ha
pi

ng
 th

e 
St

ra
te

gy

Finance and funding and investment

Opportunity 3: Funding changes

The Government's spring budget committed to levelling 
up, across the United Kingdom, to ensure no community 
is left behind, particularly during the recovery from the 
impacts of COVID-19. Three funds were announced  
that present significant investment opportunities  
for Lincolnshire. These include:

• The Levelling Up Fund;

• The UK Community Renewal Fund; and,

• The Towns Fund.

These funds represent a major change in the way  
that the Government intends to support local economic 
growth going forward. This includes a direct relationship 
between the Government, local areas and a desire to  
move at pace to affect change through transformational 
investment in areas of greatest need.

UK Community Renewal Fund (UKCRF)

UKCRF seeks to invest £220m in 2021/22 across  
four investment priorities:

a. skills;

b. local business;

c. communities and place; and,

d. supporting people into employment.

This is a one-off fund to support pilots and innovative 
approaches to local economic growth ahead of the 2022 
launch of the UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF). The 
funding is 90% revenue and allocates up to £3 million per  
pre-selected priority place based on an Index of Economic 
Resilience. In Lincolnshire, these places are; Boston, East 
Lindsey and Lincoln. However, all places are eligible to 
apply and/or collaborate with scope to counter-balance 
priority place scoring with impact, deliverability and 
strategic fit.

In April 2021, the county council as the lead  
authority launched a call for bids from a variety of  
project applicants including District Councils, voluntary  
and community sector organisations, local education 
providers and universities.

The Lincolnshire UKCRF "ask" is founded on key strategies 
that are in place to support the post-pandemic recovery 
and growth of the local economy. The GLLEP has co-
ordinated an Economic Revival Plan and associated 
employment and skills work these among other key 
strategies will provide clear strategic direction for the 
shaping, delivery and outcomes sought for Lincolnshire 
through UKCRF. 

Later this year, further information on the UK Shared 
Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) is expected. This is the direct 
replacement for the £1.5 billion of European Structural 
Investment Funds invested in the UK per annum  
(£20 million per annum in Lincolnshire). This will support:

1. People and Places – innovation and regeneration 
activities targeted at areas of need; and,

2. Bespoke employment and skills programmes  
tailored to meet local needs.

The Government has pledged to make the same levels  
of investment available, more on the spend schedules  
will be announced at the next spending review.

Levelling Up Fund (LUF)

A fundamental policy of the current government is to level 
up, across the United Kingdom, to ensure no community is 
left behind, particularly during the economic recovery from 
the impacts of COVID-19. The Government has announced 
it will publish a Levelling Up White Paper in 2021 which will, 
‘present an opportunity to reset the relationship between 
the central and local government and put councils at 
the heart of delivering the Government’s ambitious 
programme to improve opportunities in all parts of the 
country’. The Department for Levelling Up, Housing 
and Communities (DLUHC) will lead this and further 
announcements are expected in the Spending Review 
(SR21) including the way forward on County Deals and UK 
Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF).

There are currently three funds supporting Levelling Up:

• The £4.8 billion capital Levelling Up Fund (Lincolnshire 
authorities have submitted five bids for nearly £100 
million of investment – including transport and active 
travel opportunities);

• The UK Community Renewal Fund is a £220 million  
pilot ahead of UKSPF (Lincolnshire has bid for £9  
million – this also includes active travel activities  
and digital investment); and,

• The Towns Fund (£86 million of investment has  
been confirmed in Lincoln, Boston, Mablethorpe  
and Skegness).

UKSPF is expected to represent a major investment 
opportunity for the county. This will be a direct 
replacement for the £1.5 billion of European  
Structural Investment Funds invested in the UK  
per annum (£20 million pa in Lincolnshire). This  
will reduce inequalities between communities  
through investment in:

• People and Places – innovation and regeneration 
activities targeted at areas of need; and,

• Bespoke employment and skills programmes  
tailored to meet local needs.

The Government has pledged to make the same  
levels of investment available although the delivery  
model and method of allocation is yet to be confirmed 
ahead of a projected launch in April 2022.

Nevertheless, all Lincolnshire activity will focus and 
integrate activities around economic growth, people  
and places, expanding existing and planned investments 
including ‘game changer’ projects such as the UK Food 
Valley and will build out from key strategies such as the 
Local Industrial Strategy, the COVID-19 Revival Plan and 
the Strategic Infrastructure Delivery Plan (SIDP 21). All 
projects will also be required to have net-zero alignment, 
complement existing funding streams and demonstrate 
public value and VFM. 

The SIDP 21 will play a critical part in this. Currently in 
development, it will be considered, shaped and endorsed 
by the Lincolnshire local authority leaders and by the LEP 
board. The SIDP 21 focuses on all aspects of infrastructure 
including transport corridors, walking/cycling, digital, flood 
prevention and health as well as transport infrastructure.

Towns fund

Four towns in Lincolnshire have been allocated £86  
million of funding from the Towns Fund, (£19 million  
for Boston, £19 million for Lincoln, £24 million for 
Mablethorpe and £24 million for Skegness). District 
Councils have now moved from programme design  
to supporting the detailed bidding process and  
attracting the necessary match funding. 

Sub-regional economic priorities

As part of the development of the Local Industrial  
Strategy (LIS), the Greater Lincolnshire Local Enterprise 
Partnership identified six priority sectors which provide 
competitive advantage for the county and can offer  
real growth potential.

The development of LTP 5 has, amongst much other 
evidential data, utilised the evidence base prepared for  
the LIS to ensure a consistent approach in supporting  
the economic landscape of Lincolnshire. Additionally,  
LTP 5 has sought to develop logic chains that link the 
sector ambitions to the development of the transport 
strategy. Each of these logic chains is shown next.

These logic chains provide a clear link from  
the economic priority sectors to broad transport 
interventions and have aided in shaping the  
Integrated Transport Strategy in chapter 4.

P
age 178



60 61

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 3
: S

ha
pi

ng
 th

e 
St

ra
te

gy

LIS ambition

To increase the international competitiveness of our Agrifood sector by championing automation  
and resource efficiency, to become the UK's Food Valley and contribute to reducing the UK's reliance  
on food imports.

Selected LIS commitments

• Develop a leading rural region for innovation in all parts of the Agrifood supply chain, focusing  
on skills, infrastructure and productivity gains.

• Maximise the value of the National Centre for Food Manufacturing, the Lincoln Institute  
for Agrifood Technology and the food clusters in the Food Enterprise Zones.

• Work to maximise the international trade and inward investment opportunities.

Spatial context

• Agrifood production and processing takes place throughout Lincolnshire, but with clustering  
in Southern Lincolnshire.

• Agrifood innovation assets at Holbeach, Riseholme, Food Enterprise Zones and Grimsby.

Outcomes

• Increased supply of the UK food by GL – both growing and processing.

• More Afrifood R&D undertaken at GL's research centres, universities and in business.

• Higher productivity and skilled workers required in the sector as automation increases.

• Increased exports from GL to international markets.

So what does this mean for transport?

• Demand for freight capacity likely to increase, including to rural areas.

• Commuting to and between the food R&D employment centres to increase.

• Unlikely to see much growth in sector job numbers as sector shifts to automation.

• Connectivity to international gateways in the ports and airports may need to be strengthened.

• Connectivity to the recently announced Freeport areas.

LIS strategic opportunity: Agrifood

LIS ambition

To pioneer industrial decarbonisation, creating a template for other areas, and to be a test bed for technologies in 
energy generation, storage and distribution.

Selected LIS commitments

• Support the expansion of the offshore wind supply chain and unlocking cluster development.

• Develop a 'Living Lab' Rural Innovation Testbed for Energy, linking generation from local hubs  
to overcome capacity constraints.

• Support regional aspirations for industrial decarbonisation, working towards net-zero.

• Work to develop the demand required to support hydrogen production and distribution.

Spatial context

• Offshore wind assets at Lincs Wind Farm offshore from Skegness, new growth at Triton Knoll offshore  
from Mablethorpe and the major Hornsea project offshore from Grimsby.

• The Humber Industrial Cluster sits on the south and north side of the Humber Estuary.

Outcomes

• A steady, local supply of energy for the region (and exported across the country).

• A transformation of the Humber Industrial Cluster shifting from fossil fuels to modern and greener  
forms of supply and emissions.

• Increased business presence on the Humber Estuary as a hub of hydrogen exports and a UK centre  
for clean energy.

So what does this mean for transport?

• Increase in electric and hydrogen transport as energy infrastructure expands.

• Demand for freight and commuter routes to offshore wind farms.

• Reduce fossil fuel freight between the Humber and Immingham.

• Economic activity may deconcentrate, from major single-site heavy industry employers to smaller  
renewable business.

LIS strategic opportunity: Energy

P
age 179



62 63

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 3
: S

ha
pi

ng
 th

e 
St

ra
te

gy

LIS ambition

To maximise the strategic advantages of our ports by leading their transformation into one of the most smart,  
clean and efficient port clusters in the world, leveraging greater value from the ports by handling increasing  
volumes of trade and attracting more value-add manufacturing activity.

Selected LIS commitments

• Open up more employment land for port-related commercial development.

• Work with landowners to explore barriers to development, including on port-related enterprise zones.

• Advancing discussion with the Government on a freeport.

• Accelerating the decarbonisation of the Humber's maritime cluster.

• Develop a proposal for a Centre for Food Logistics near Boston.

Spatial context

• The major ports of Grimsby and Immingham in Northern Lincolnshire are the focus of the Freeport proposals.

• Smaller ports include Boston, New Holland and Sutton Bridge.

• Other ports and logistics jobs are concentrated inland from ports, at Spalding, North Hykeham and Scunthorpe.

Outcomes

• Increase in manufacturing and logistics employment linked to ports and complementary service-based  
economy (e.g. legal and technical advice).

• More businesses relocating to the region for freeport benefits.

• Brownfield development under freeport planning laws.

• Increased business and employment activity at the smaller Lincolnshire ports.

So what does this mean for transport?

• Transport infrastructure required for Brownfield development.

• Increased commuting to port areas, especially freeport and Boston.

• A shift in the size and type of goods being imported and exported.

• An established and heavily used Midlands Engine Freight Network.

• Hydrogen and connected autonomous vehicles increasingly used for freight.

LIS strategic opportunity: Ports and logistics

LIS ambition

To develop the tourism sector, levelling up and supporting some of the more deprived parts of the  
region by providing higher-quality and more reliable employment for workers in the sector.

Selected LIS commitments

• Work to address barriers in sector related skills, lifting residential access to jobs and earning potential.

• Support SMEs to adopt digital technologies and increase productivity and visitor numbers.

• Maximise benefits of natural environment by seeking expansion of the Lincolnshire Wolds Area  
of Outstanding Natural Beauty.

• Delivery the Tourism Action Plan, particularly walking and cycling, to extend the tourism season.

Spatial context

• Coastal visitor economy assets are concentrated in often relatively deprived seaside towns.

• Lincoln represents a heritage and visitor economy asset.

• The Lincolnshire Wolds AONB stretches across a large amount of Lincolnshire, but currently excludes  
some key natural assets.

Outcomes

• Prosperous and thriving coastal communities with increased economic activity related to tourism.

• Increased visitor numbers spending longer-times in the area undertaking multiple activities. 

• A year round tourism offer.

• Increased productivity in the visitor economy sector, creating more permanent jobs for local residents.

So what does this mean for transport?

• Requirement for interregional connectivity with easy and clear travel routes between visitor economy assets.

• Growing demand on the transport system due to more jobs, businesses and visitors year round.

• Increased interregional connectivity for visitors, in particular linking coastal areas to other tourism spots.

• More active transport routes capitalising on green tourism.

LIS strategic opportunity: Visitor economy

P
age 180



64 65

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 3
: S

ha
pi

ng
 th

e 
St

ra
te

gy

LIS ambition

To create a cluster of innovative focused defence companies, and ensure Greater Lincolnshire is a highly  
attractive, first-choice destination for defence-related industries, service leavers and their families.

Selected LIS commitments

• Exploring the potential for a defence cluster business park and workspace at the Lincoln Science  
and Innovation Park.

• A programme for RAF leavers to encourage them to stay and start business in the region.

• Understand the defence supply chain and trade potential to boost innovation and investment in the sector.

• Pursue opportunities for relocation of Ministry of Defence staff from Whitehall to Lincolnshire.

Spatial context

• RAF Scampton and Waddington are close to innovation assets in Lincoln, with the Red Arrows relocating  
to Waddington.

• RAF Digby, Coningsby and Cranwell sit further to the south.

• Nearby RAF Wittering in Northamptonshire and RAF Marham in Norfolk contribute to a cluster that includes 
around 40% of the RAF's assets.

Outcomes

• New sector clusters, likely close to existing military and/or innovation activity.

• Growth in defence sector jobs, especially high productivity jobs.

• More skilled defence sector workers retained in the region.

• More R&D undertaken at GL's Research Centres, universities and in businesses.

So what does this mean for transport?

• Novel demand for a new and growing economic sector with increased employment and businesses.

• More commuting between innovation assets in Lincoln and military bases.

• Increased commuting between Lincolnshire, National MoD hubs, and other centres of defence innovation  
such as Herefordshire.

LIS strategic opportunity: Defence

LIS ambition

To develop new efficient and innovative models of care for a dispersed and ageing population, building  
a cluster of local businesses to support active ageing.

Selected LIS commitments

• Becoming an international centre for innovation in rural H&C solutions.

• Pilot 'Communities of the future' for ageing populations with improved physical and digital connectivity  
to local services.

• Develop a pharmaceuticals network based around the Lincoln Science and Innovation Park.

Spatial context

• Lincoln Country Hospital is the largest hospital.

• Health service in Lincoln includes the new University Medical School.

• Other hospital and health sector assets in coastal towns.

• Only 55% of rural residents within 8km of a hospital.

• Ageing population concentrated on the coast within the Lincolnshire Wolds.

Outcomes

• A healthier population across all of GL.

• Increases in population, with more old residents.

• More dispersed H&C activity with increased productivity and reliance on digital services.

• More pharmacy R&D undertaken at GL's research centres, universities and in businesses, focused around Lincoln.

So what does this mean for transport?

• Health related travel within rural areas may shift to digital but travel to regional hospital hubs may increase.

• Ageing populations will require accessible transport solutions to local services and retail centres.

• Support for economic agglomeration of health and care innovation assets around Lincoln.

LIS strategic opportunity: Health and care

P
age 181



66 67

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 3
: S

ha
pi

ng
 th

e 
St

ra
te

gy

Looking to the future

This LTP primarily focusses on the five-year short  
and ten- year medium-term aspirations for the county. 
Planning assumptions, technological developments, and 
social changes in the future beyond this ten-year period 
are difficult to predict. There is a need to consider what 
the most likely changes are so that decisions taken in  
the short- and medium-terms do not adversely affect 
the potential to respond to future innovations. The 
process of working through the most likely outcomes  
and considering how these could inform short- and 
medium-term decisions will enable Lincolnshire to  
be more flexible and agile in developing future  
policy options. 

The fundamental principle underlying this process should 
be the need to ensure that current policy and investment 
decisions will be compatible with the most likely longer-
term outcomes. The objective should be to future proof 
investment as much as possible. For example, it is 
extremely unlikely that road transport will cease to be 
vital to Lincolnshire. It is likely that new energy sources 
will power road vehicles. One of the policy decisions that 
flow from this is that the Council will need to continue to 
maintain and build high-quality roads. There will also be 
a need to consider how maintenance and construction 
will need to change in order to accommodate these new 
technologies. For example, the current need to ensure  
that petroleum fuel residues (which leak onto the highway) 
are separated in the drainage process may no longer  
be needed. Conversely, it may be found that when other 
sources of motive power are in widespread use they 
present other challenges. Electric vehicles use batteries 
which are acidic and contain numerous heavy metals. 
There will be circumstances, collisions for example,  
in which leakage will occur. Will this be more or  
less problematic for design and maintenance  
of the highway network? 

Many of these issues will require the Government  
to take a lead on developing guidance and processes  
to ensure that there is clarity and consistency in driving  
the change to net-zero. The Government will also  
need to ensure that this process takes account of local 
circumstances. This should include the specific challenges 
of rural areas. The cost of developing new transport 
technology in rural areas is higher than in urban areas.  
In rural areas, the delivery of services and goods is  
more expensive than in urban areas. The low density  
of population and distance adds cost. This principle  
applies to road and rail transport. If there is be equity  
of access to new technologies there will need to be  
specific Government support to ensure that rural areas 
are supported to overcome the cost disadvantages. This 
should be a key part of the "levelling up" agenda.

Lincolnshire's economy is a primarily based on goods and 
services that cannot be delivered virtually. Food requires 
production and transport, care services are face-to-face, 
tourism requires visits. Whilst in the longer-term there will 
be more of these services and goods purchased online 
they will still require physical delivery and presence. The 
economic and housing developments planned over the 
next decade will not fundamentally change this need. 
Whilst a higher proportion of individuals are likely to use 
new technologies to reduce the number of times they are 
present at a workplace they will not cease to travel. They 
may also simply displace journeys. Not going to a central 
workplace may mean that purchases that are made in 
person are made online and then delivered to the home. 
In this instance, one journey is not made but another is 
taken by the courier. 

It is important that consideration of future challenges 
is rooted in likely scenarios. Whilst there is value in 
considering unlikely outcomes at a more national  
strategic level the LTP should to be rooted in the  
probable to ensure that current and future needs  
can be met. 

The key policy questions for Lincolnshire are:

• Is the future beyond the next decade likely to look 
significantly different?

• What will the service needs be in the most likely 
scenarios?

• How will this impact on local transport?

• What should the county council do now in response?

• What does Lincolnshire expect the Government  
to do?

• How does the county council remain flexible and agile 
in responding to changes in transport technology.

This LTP cannot provide an answer to these questions 
but it does provide an opportunity to open the discussion 
around these issues and introduce a strategy that does 
not seek to prejudice any future responses. 

P
age 182



68 69

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 4
: T

he
 In

te
gr

at
ed

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
 S

tr
at

eg
y 

The point of transport planning is  
to get people to places they want to  
go, so it makes sense that transport  
planning should start with place making. 

 
Place Making

If you make the starting places the best that you can,  
then many of the existing longer journeys become  
non-essential as people realise that they can carry  
out many of the things they wanted to do either from  
home or close by. Great places reduce the need to  
travel and replace longer journeys with shorter ones; 
journeys that then can take place by foot, cycle or  
public transport. Great places allow us to do many  
things at once, often creating opportunities to achieve 
things that weren't expected or were unplanned. 

This LTP sets out to alter the way transport planning 
is carried out in Lincolnshire and focuses far more on 
creating the communities and the streets rather than 
on the movement of vehicles and traffic. It also seeks 
to better integrate modes and focuses on connectivity, 
mobility and movement as a whole.

Achieving wider policy objectives such as improving  
health, reducing carbon emissions and supporting 
economic growth all form part of the broader agenda  
and this LTP will set out to achieve the creation of  
a new approach to benefit everyone. 

Regional Policy

Midlands Connect exists to develop and maintain a  
long-term transport strategy for the region; setting  
clear advice from the Government on how to prioritise 
strategic transport investment in the Midlands. The 
Midlands Connect Partnership actively collaborates to: 
research, develop and prioritise major transport priorities 
for the Midlands, supported with strong evidence,  
in order to secure transport investment from the 
Government for the social and economic benefits  
of the region.

Lincolnshire County Council works with Midlands  
Connect to tackle emerging issues from economic 
recovery to alternative fuels and is a channel to  
help drive local investment and raise the profile  
of Lincolnshire's priorities nationally.

Policy Audit – Developing the Thematic Approach 

As part of the preparation of this LTP a significant  
review of existing policy documentation, including  
all District Local Plans, Local Industrial Strategy, Green 
Master Plan, Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and 
many others has been carried out. This audit embeds 
the foundation of the LTP in the spatial, socio-economic, 
health and environmental objectives for the county  
from a range of partners as well as LCC itself.

Having summarised these policies, six main themes  
were identified and from those a series of strategic 
objectives were developed to help identify, prioritise 
and support the future delivery of transport across 
Lincolnshire.

The following section provides in more detail the 
reasoning for each objective, followed by the policy 
statement or statements that indicate what LCC, often 
with partners, will do to achieve the objectives. This in  
turn is followed by an indication as to the nature and  
types of interventions that are most likely to achieve  
the objective. This section, also provides a framework  
for the development of the supporting modal strategies 
that sit beneath the Integrated Transport Strategy. 

Themes and strategic objectives

Theme 1 – Supporting economic growth

a. Improve connectivity throughout Lincolnshire  
and to the East Midlands, the rest of the UK  
and beyond. 

b. Ensure a resilient and reliable transport system  
for the movement of people, goods and services. 

c. Support the vitality and viability of our town  
centres and rural communities.

d. Improve connectivity to jobs and employment 
opportunities.

e. Provide a transport system that supports  
the priority sectors identified in the LIS.

Theme 2 – Future ready, green transport

a. Support the introduction of low-carbon  
technologies and thus reduce reliance  
on fossil fuels.

b. Develop and support communities to  
flourish locally and thereby helping reduce  
the need to travel. 

c. Deliver sustainable development by ensuring  
that new developments are designed to reduce  
the need to travel, minimise car use and support  
the use of more sustainable modes.

a. Ensure the transport network is made resilient  
to climate change.

Theme 3 – Promote thriving environments

a. Develop opportunities to both protect and  
enhance the built and natural environment. 

b. Minimise waste and make the best the use  
of available resources. 

c. Provide sustainable access to Lincolnshire’s 
wonderful environment and heritage.

Theme 4 – Supporting safety, security  
and a healthy lifestyle

a. Improve road safety. 

b. Increase confidence in a safer and more  
secure transport network.

c. Reduce the impacts of air quality, noise  
and light pollution. 

d. Improve the health of our communities  
through the provision for active travel. 

Theme 5 – Promoting high aspirations

a. Improve connectivity and access to education, 
healthcare and leisure. 

b. Improve the accessibility of the transport system  
and in particular access onto public transport. 

c. Encourage wider community participation in  
developing and delivering transport services.

Theme 6 – Improve quality of life

a. To deliver on the first five objectives above.

b. To improve the quality of place and reduce the  
overall negative impacts of transport on people's lives.

Chapter 4: 
The Integrated 
Transport Strategy 

P
age 183



70 71

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 4
: T

he
 In

te
gr

at
ed

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
 S

tr
at

eg
y 

How will we do this?

We will invest in our transport systems and services 
and seek to provide a high-quality network for all users, 
utilising whole life costing models and the principle of 
investing to save.

Key projects that we will support include:

• Delivery of our Asset Management Plan.

• Creation of Route Action Plans to identify and deliver 
timely intervention on the strategic road network.

• Ensure our bridges and culverts are maintained to  
an appropriate level and investigate replacement  
of life expired structures, including work on the  
Cross Keys Bridge.

• Identify and support a public transport network  
that provides a high quality alternative to the  
private car as identified through BSIP.

• Develop a high network of walking and cycling routes 
for local and longer distance trips – based on LCWIPs .

• Champion digital connectivity.

Objective 1c – Support the vitality and viability  
of our town centres and rural communities.

Why is this important?

Encouraging our local towns, villages and communities  
to thrive is crucial if we are to deliver on our wider 
ambitions of cutting carbon emissions whilst "levelling up" 
our local economies. By maximising both employment 
and services at a more local level we are then in a position 
to encourage people to live locally, support their local 
economies and sustain local and rural businesses. 

 

 

How will we do this?

We will invest in local and smaller scale projects that  
meet local needs and promote local connections  
enabling efficient access to local services.

Key projects that we will support include:

• Delivery of our walking and cycling strategies.

• Development of local transport boards and local  
town transport strategies to identify and deliver 
schemes at the local level.

• Identify and support a public transport network that 
provides a high-quality alternative to the private car.

Objective 1d – Improve connectivity to  
jobs and employment opportunities.

Why is this important?

Employment patterns are changing, as our societal 
expectations. Demand for digital connectivity is 
increasingly vital for many and travel patterns  
are changing.

Being able to connect physically and virtually to  
a range of opportunities can raise skill levels and 
aspirations. In this plan, we aim to increase the 
accessibility of Lincolnshire and address some  
of the challenges a large rural county faces in  
terms of its employment accessibility requirements.

Theme 1 – Supporting  
economic growth
Objective 1a – Improve connectivity throughout 
Lincolnshire and to the East Midlands, the rest  
of the UK and beyond.

Why is this important?

Wider connectivity supports economic prosperity  
by improving access for business, employment,  
education, training and tourism.

How will we do this?

We will lobby the Government, Highways England, 
Network Rail, TfEM, Midlands Connect and transport 
service operators to recognise the importance of  
transport links to the economy and social wellbeing.  
We will seek to ensure that both existing and  
proposed improvements to infrastructure and  
services are delivered. 

Key interventions that we will support include:

• Champion the importance of economic corridors –  
the Trans Midlands Trade Corridor, the Food  
Valley and North-South connectivity are priorities  
for movement.

• Improvements on the A46 including the  
Newark bypass and North of Lincoln.

• Better rail services to London and the Midlands 
including links to the HS2 eastern extension.

• Improvements on the A1 including safety 
improvements and investigating an upgrade  
to motorway standard.

• Improvements on the A15, A16 and A17 to  
support the food security of the country.

• Improved rail links from the south of the county  
for both passenger and freight to Cambridgeshire  
and East Anglia.

• Improvements to the bus and rail network that  
improve punctuality and connectivity across and 
beyond Lincolnshire.

• Development of strategic long-distance walking  
and cycling routes.

• Identifying "gateway" locations such as major  
railway stations and with partners strengthen their 
position as statements about arriving in Lincolnshire.

Objective 1b – A resilient and reliable transport 
system for the movement of people, goods  
and services.

Why is this important?

The way in which Lincolnshire has grown has resulted  
in a polycentric pattern of development with a highly 
dispersed range of settlements each with a wide rural 
hinterland. In some pockets, this results in very high  
levels of demand for transport and travel. The scattered 
nature of settlement and low population density has led  
to the majority of these journeys being undertaken by car.

An efficient transport system can connect people and 
settlements and enable access to jobs and products to 
be delivered. Congestion and unreliability can result in 
congestion and unreliable journey times. These delays 
have direct consequences in terms of additional costs 
on people and businesses, affecting productivity and 
efficiency and resulting in significant loss to our  
economic productivity. 

 

Policy EC1

LCC will work with national, regional and local 
funders to identify and deliver a better transport 
network and services to improve connectivity 
internally and externally to Lincolnshire. LCC  
will improve the "gateways" to Lincolnshire 
particularly at strategic locations.

Policy EC2

Improve the resilience, efficiency and effectiveness  
of the operation of the transport network and 
maintain our transport assets in a good state  
of repair. "Future proof" the network as part  
of our investment strategy.

Policy EC3

Create town centres, villages and rural areas  
that are accessible but not vehicle dominated.

Policy EC4

We will identify and support a range of  
transport improvements to better connect  
our employment centres with their workforce 
and broaden the opportunities for those seeking 
employment to access an increasingly diverse  
range of opportunities.

P
age 184



72 73

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 4
: T

he
 In

te
gr

at
ed

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
 S

tr
at

eg
y 

How will we do this?

We will invest in transport connections that improve 
access between communities and centres of employment 
within Lincolnshire and also develop better links to the  
rest of the UK.

Key interventions that we will support include:

• To improve major road, public transport and rail 
connections between larger places in the county.

• To improve major road, public transport and rail 
connections to identified areas of growth as well  
as ports, airports and cities in the rest of the UK.

Objective 1e – Provide a transport system  
that supports the priority sectors identified 
in the LIS.

Why is this important?

The Local Industrial Strategy identified six priority  
sectors which provide competitive advantage for the 
county with growth potential. The sectors are; Agrifood, 
Energy, Ports and Logistics, Visitor Economy, Defence  
and Health and care. Each sector requires specific 
transport support and interventions to continue to  
grow and prosper. Details of the priority sectors  
are included in chapter 3.

 

How will we do this?

By working with the GLLEP, we will identify transport 
investment and improvements that provide support  
to the six priority sectors.

Key interventions that we will support include:

For Agrifood

• Improve road and rail connections to support  
the growth in freight movements.

• Improve connectivity to the Food Enterprise Zone.

• Improve connectivity to ports and other  
international gateways.

• Make improvements to journey time reliability  
along the A16 and A17 corridors.

• Improve movement and connectivity around  
the towns of Boston and Spalding.

For energy

• Increase and improve the infrastructure for  
alternative energy sources.

• Improve access to the renewable energy growth  
points along the Humber and along the east coast.

• Drive a shift from fossil fuels for both passenger  
and freight movements.

For ports and logistics

• Deliver a county-wide freight strategy that integrates 
with the emerging regional freight strategy and plan.

• Improve connectivity to ports and other  
international gateways.

• Support the regional energy hub work.

For visitor economy

• Improve interregional connectivity to the  
coast and other visitor assets.

• Support the extension of the visitor season  
by increasing public transport connectivity  
at weekends and into the off season.

• Improve connectivity along the coast between  
resorts and attractions particularly around Skegness.

• Develop improved active travel networks  
to support the growth of green tourism.

For defence

• Recognise the importance of connectivity between 
military bases and the supporting industry hubs  
both internally and externally to Lincolnshire.

• Improve connectivity to the other centres  
of defence industry excellence. 

For health and care

• Improve connectivity to both local and regional  
care centres.

• Support the innovation of shifting to digital care.

• Provide connections between health centres  
of excellence across Lincolnshire.

Theme 2 – Future ready,  
green transport
Objective 2a – Support the introduction  
of low-carbon technologies and thus  
reduce reliance on fossil fuels 

Why is this important?

In May 2019, Lincolnshire County Council determined  
that it wished to achieve net-zero carbon by 2050, or 
sooner, in line with national and international objectives. 
This is reflected in the current Corporate and Green 
Master Plans. Subsequent government initiatives have 
further developed this agenda nationally, including a 
Ten-Point Plan for a green industrial revolution, with 
the aspiration to create 250,000 jobs and the Transport 
Decarbonisation Plan. The zero-carbon proposals from  
the Government respond to the Climate Change Act  
2008 and the Paris Agreement of 2015.

Transport is a significant contributor to the UK's 
greenhouse gas emissions, which leads to climate  
change. In 2019, land-based transport accounted  
for 34% of all carbon dioxide emissions in the UK.  
In Lincolnshire the situation is worse with 38% of 
the total carbon dioxide emissions being attributed  
to transportation.

The Government has introduced specific transport  
policies to address the high-level of transport emissions – 
such as the proposed ban on the sale of petrol and diesel 
vehicles from 2030 and further detail is emerging through 
the Transport Decarbonisation Plan. It is clear that he  
pace of change must increase significantly if targets  
are to be achieved. 

 

 
How will we do this?

We will increase the number of sustainable journeys  
made and we will implement a roadmap to electric  
and low-carbon vehicles. We will also develop our  
future transport options and champion innovation  
in-line with the commitments set out in the Green  
Master Plan.

Key projects that we will support include:

• Working with rail partners to deliver better local  
rail services and improve accessibility to and  
from local stations.

Policy GREEN1

We will work with partners and take the necessary 
steps at a local level to reduce emissions from  
road-based transport and contribute towards  
the net-zero carbon target by 2050 as required  
by the 2008 Climate Change Act.

Policy GREEN2

This LTP supports the aims of the Green Master Plan 
and its commitments to achieve net-zero alongside a 
thriving natural environment.

Policy EC5

We will support a range of transport  
improvements that underpin and priority  
sectors to develop and grow.

P
age 185



74 75

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 4
: T

he
 In

te
gr

at
ed

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
 S

tr
at

eg
y 

• Develop a Bus Strategy to identify the  
improvements required to support a  
network that delivers local connectivity.

• Work with partners in the public transport  
industry and develop an enhanced quality  
bus partnership.

• Utilise the local transport boards to develop  
and introduce improvements to local walking  
and cycling networks

• Deliver a "roadmap" to encourage the uptake  
of electric and alternative fuelled vehicles.

Objective 2b – Develop and support  
communities to flourish locally and  
thereby helping reduce the need to travel.

Why is this important?

Local access to services supports stronger communities 
where people can work, socialise, source their food and 
access employment, education and health services close 
to home. Enabling people to support their communities' 
means they can contribute to the local economy, live 
more sustainably and help to reduce their carbon impact. 
National trends, which are delivered locally, such as 20 
minute neighbourhoods, are delivering strong results and 
will be appropriate for some communities in Lincolnshire. 

However, Lincolnshire is a large and varied place: 
characterised by a dispersed settlement pattern  
with approximately with 42% of the population living  
in settlements of less than 5,000 people. As such,  
many people are reliant on the private car in their  
day-to-day lives.

 

 

How will we do this?

Encourage provision of local facilities and services in 
communities. Improve virtual connectivity as well as 
physical connectivity to enable people to have real  
choices about where they live and work and promote  
the benefits to business that a genuine local focus can 
have. Support local communities who wish to explore  
local solutions that will address this agenda.

Key projects that we will support include:

• Through the emerging freight strategy, work freight  
and logistic sector to reduce their carbon footprint.

• Utilise the local transport boards to drive improvements 
to local walking and cycling networks.

• Investigate the role of local community hubs and  
the role they could play in supporting people living  
and working locally.

• Champion digital infrastructure.

Objective 2c – Deliver sustainable development 
by ensuring that new developments are 
designed to reduce the need to travel,  
minimise car use and support the use  
of more sustainable modes.

Why is this important?

Influencing travel behaviour is easier at key points  
in people's lives and moving house is one of those  
critical times. Utilising good quality planning and  
ensuring that new development is designed and  
delivered with sustainable travel in mind will make  
a significant contribution to reducing carbon  
emissions moving forward.

These same issues can be applied to new commercial 
development and the creation of more sustainable  
travel patterns for both employees, visitors and  
deliveries needs to be considered as part of new  
offices, shops and factories too.

 

How will we do this?

Influence the planning system as a statutory consultee  
to adopt and implement sustainable transport policies.  
We will seek improvements to new developments to 
ensure that adequate and appropriate provision is  
made to both reduce the need to travel and support 
measures that encourage active travel and public 
transport when travel is required. 

Key projects that we will support include:

• Provision of comprehensive, high-quality,  
safe and direct networks for walking, cycling  
and public transport that includes priority  
for cyclists and public transport. 

• Creation of walkable neighbourhoods, so that  
a range of services and facilities are within easy  
walking distance and access to them is unimpeded  
and straightforward.

• Provision of high-quality interchanges to improve 
connectivity between transport modes including  
local mobility hubs that have facilities to enabling  
EV recharging, reverse park and ride, car clubs  
and other innovative solutions. 

• Implementation and monitoring of travel plans.

Objective 2d – Ensure the transport network  
is made resilient to climate change.

Why is this important?

Much of Lincolnshire's existing transport network  
has been developed, designed and built for the local 
climate and weather conditions that we have seen 
historically. In the future, infrastructure must be designed 
to adapt to climate change. The impacts to our networks 
and services could be considerable and we need to 
prepare for the worst to ensure reliability and resilience  
in the system.

The UK Climate Change Risk Assessment identified  
a number of threats and opportunities for transport 
from climate change. These included:

• Increased frequency of intense precipitation events – 
leading to increased flooding of road/rail infrastructure.

• Increased heavy rainfall leading to an increase  
in earthworks failures, increased landslides  
and undercutting and bridge scour.

• Sea level rise and storm surges – leading to  
flooding/damage of coastal roads/railways.

• Drier summers – more opportunities for walking  
and cycling.

• Increased number of hot days – leading to 
increased thermal loading on road surfaces.

• Decreased number of cold days – reduced  
costs for gritting and winter maintenance.

• Increased frequency and intensity of storms –  
leading to damage to transport infrastructure.

Policy GREEN3

Through our Local Transport Boards, other Council 
policies and the Development Plan process we will 
support the provision of local facilities and services 
to enable people to live locally and lower their 
carbon footprint by reducing travel distances.

Policy GREEN4

We will use the local and strategic development 
management processes to ensure that development 
is planned, delivered and managed to reduce 
the need to travel and support the delivery of 
sustainable transport modes. We will support the 
provision of improved walking, cycling and public 
transport services and facilities as part of new 
developments and actively encourage innovative 
solutions such as car clubs, mobility hubs, active 
travel plans and other sustainable solutions as 
opposed to single occupancy car use. 

Policy GREEN5

We will seek to improve the reliability and resilience 
of the transport network and transport services 
across Lincolnshire and seek to protect it from 
the worst extremes of climate change.

P
age 186



76 77

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 4
: T

he
 In

te
gr

at
ed

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
 S

tr
at

eg
y 

How will we do this?

We will work with organisations across the transport  
world and beyond to identify which parts of the  
transport network and which services would be at  
the greatest threat from the effects of climate change.  
We will monitor the impacts of climate change on our 
transport network and develop assessment tools to  
help us understand where and at what point we need  
to intervene. 

During maintenance and construction, we will endeavour 
to use materials that are resilient to the impacts of climate 
change. We will seek to source them in ways that do not 
exacerbate the climate change problem using a circular 
economy and whole life cycle costing where possible. 

We will continue to work closely with the Environment 
Agency to ensure that drainage schemes are prioritised 
on an appropriate basis and seek to ensure the transport 
network remains resilient to flooding events. 

Theme 3 – Promoting thriving 
environments
Objective 3a – Develop opportunities to both 
protect and enhance the built and natural 
environment.

Why is this important?

Lincolnshire has a diverse natural environment and  
valued heritage landscape with a significant number  
of protected areas in Lincolnshire .

Of particular note are the Lincolnshire Wolds, a cherished 
landscape of some 558 square kilometres (216 square 
miles) which was designated as a nationally protected  
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) in 1973. 

Transport can adversely impact on the environment 
through noise and light pollution, contamination from 
engines and tyres can make its way into water courses  
and of course pollutants from burning fossil fuels will  
end up in the air that we all breath.

 
How will we do this?

The transport network provides excellent opportunities 
to help aid the emerging Greater Lincolnshire Nature 
Recovery Strategy and the accompanying Local Nature 
Recovery Strategies through the protection and 
improvement of adjacent habitats. Preserving roadside 
verges, a number of which are protected as Local  
Wildlife Sites and the network of interconnecting 
hedgerows can provide important links for often  
isolated habitats. A balance needs to be struck with 
maintenance regimes for safeguarding crucial sight  
lines to maintain road safety.

We will look to review of on-going maintenance  
regimes to consider how best to deal with the challenges 
of the potential harmful impacts from the winter salting, 
ground compaction from vehicle encroachments and  
also the large volumes of discarded litter, which then  
often gets cut up into ever small pieces of residue. 

Key approaches that we will support include:

• Focus on improving the sense of "place"  
by designing for people not traffic.

• Decluttering of signage and street furniture.

• Applying highway design standards appropriately  
and seeking to avoid over engineered solutions.

• Using locally sourced traditional materials for  
both sustainability and design value and helping  
to blend infrastructure into the local landscape.

• Consider reduced specification requirements  
in areas with local environmental sensitivity.

Objective 3b – Minimise waste and make  
the best the use of available resources.

Why is this important?

The construction of new transport infrastructure  
is expensive and can often require significant  
amounts of natural resources in the form of aggregates 
and also land take. New and maintenance schemes  
both generate waste, which if we cannot recycle it will  
end up in landfill. Careful planning can reduce waste  
and make sure that minimal amounts of resources  
are used to deliver the project. This is good for both  
the economy and the environment.

How will we do this?

Where possible we will seek to utilise recycled materials 
during maintenance and construction and look to recycle 
any waste generated by transport schemes.

Investment will be prioritised to maintain and adjust the 
existing transport network rather than focussing on new 
building particularly in reference to the highway network. 
We will make the best use of our existing capacity and 
seek to improve connectivity and mobility within the 
constraints of what exits rather than expanding capacity. 

Key approaches that we will support include:

• Promoting the benefits of using locally sourced  
and recycled products in the delivery of our  
transport projects.

• Look towards innovation and trial new materials  
on appropriate schemes.

• Seek to reduce the distances that materials  
are transported by sourcing them locally.

In order to maximise the capacity of existing road 
corridors we will:

• Champion active travel, public transport improvements 
and wider management measures as alternatives 
to road building in areas with congestion and where 
alternative modes are a viable option. 

• Maximise the capacity of existing infrastructure  
and services with greater use of intelligent transport 
systems and other evolving new technologies. 

• Deliver sustainable transport solutions through  
our modal strategies.

Objective 3c – Provide sustainable access  
to Lincolnshire’s wonderful environment  
and heritage.

Why is this important?

One of the priority growth sectors identified in the  
LIS is the visitor economy and the desire to extend  
the visitor season. Improving sustainable access to  
our environmental and heritage assets would help  
support this sector of our economy.

The heritage sector alone is estimated to be worth  
£16.4 billion pounds nationally22 with many visitors  
coming to Lincolnshire to visit our castles, museums, 
cathedral and churches. Ensuring access to these  
assets is vital but we need to balance the detrimental 
impact that too many car borne journeys can have  
on the very places and environments that attract  
so many visitors.

Policy ENV1

We will put in place procedures during construction, 
surfacing and maintenance works that will minimise 
and mitigate their environmental impacts.

Policy ENV2

We will incorporate improvements into transport 
schemes and highway maintenance so that they aid 
in the creation, preservation and enhancement of 
high quality and vibrant environments with unique 
and distinctive character. This includes taking 
opportunities to protect and improve habitats for 
both flora and fauna, protect and enhance historic 
features, landscapes and townscapes.

Policy ENV3

In the planning, designing and delivery of our 
transport infrastructure and services we will  
seek to minimise the use of natural resources  
and minimise waste.

Policy ENV4

We will make use of our existing transport 
infrastructure and services and prioritise the 
maintenance and management of it over the 
building of new infrastructure.

P
age 187



78 79

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 4
: T

he
 In

te
gr

at
ed

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
 S

tr
at

eg
y 

In some areas the very high numbers of walkers,  
cyclists and equestrians can also cause damage  
to routes and adjacent land and access needs  
to be controlled to protect both our built and  
natural attractions. 

 
How will we do this?

We will work with the tourism and visitor economy 
to develop and promote more sustainable transport 
options for both residents and visitors to our sensitive 
environmental areas. We will encourage attractions  
to offer incentives to access by means other than the 
private car and support initiatives such as visitor travel 
plans, shared ticketing and the greater use of mobility 
hubs to enable a switch between modes.

Key approaches that we will support include:

• Provision of comprehensive, high-quality, safe  
and direct networks and facilities for walking,  
cycling and public transport that includes priority  
for cyclists and public transport. 

• Provision of high-quality interchanges to improve 
connectivity between transport modes including  
local mobility hubs that have facilities to enabling  
EV recharging, reverse park and ride, car clubs  
and other innovative solutions. 

• Implementation and monitoring of visitor travel plans.

• Provide information to visitors on ways to visit 
Lincolnshire's environment without using a car  
through their holiday accommodation, tourist 
information centres, online and at visitor attractions.

Theme 4 – Supporting safety,  
security and a healthy lifestyle
 
Objective 4a – Improve road safety.

Why is this important?

Reducing the numbers of deaths and serious injuries on 
our roads is both morally and statutorily the right thing 
to do. Although, the number of deaths and injuries on 
our roads has fallen over the last 10-years, it is still vitally 
important to continue to see these numbers fall further.

 
How will we do this?

We will continue to support the Lincolnshire  
Road Safety Partnership (LRSP), formed in 2000.  
The partnership was the first of its kind in the  
Country and co-locates forensic collision investigators  
and casualty reduction officers from Lincolnshire Police  
with the county council's Accident Investigation and  
Road Safety teams to form a multi-agency centralised  
road safety unit. Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue also have 
staff based with the LRSP who co-ordinate all fire and 
rescue road safety related activity. Additionally, the 
deployment and maintenance of safety cameras is 
managed within the LRSP. Consequently, the entire  
core functions of road safety, namely engineering, 
education and enforcement are coordinated from  
this centre.

As a Partnership, the LRSP implements actions that  
involve working with individuals and organisations  
to improve road safety. Some of the key parties are:  

• Schools, academies, colleges and universities. 

• Road safety organisations and groups  
(IAM, RoSPA, Brake).

• Cycling and walking groups.

• NHS. 

• Employers. 

• Military camps. 

• Motoring organisations/road users.

Key approaches that we will support include:

• Education, training and publicity. Working with  
partners and communities, we will proactively target 
those most at risk on Lincolnshire’s roads; we will 
employ creative and innovative solutions to ensure  
our engagement is effective and demonstrates  
value for money; we will work to influence and  
change the behaviour of poor road users through 
comprehensive education programmes.

• Engineering. We will employ our specialist  
knowledge and skills to maximise our resources  
for the benefit of Lincolnshire’s road users; we will  
seek, through an evidenced approach, to eradicate 
repeat accident locations and to proactively  
design-in safe road systems.

• Enforcement. LRSP will, in an ethical and fair way, 
enforce road safety legislation with a focus on the  
“fatal four”; speeding, drink driving, use of mobile 
phones, and seat belts. We will focus our enforcement 
on locations that present significant risk to our public 
and areas which cause concern to our community. 

• Evaluation. LRSP will continually improve and develop 
our intelligence and evidence-based approach to road 
safety ensuring that resources are effectively deployed. 
We will aim to deliver “value for money” for the people 
of Lincolnshire at all times.

Objective 4b – Increase confidence in a safer  
and more secure transport network.

Why is this important?

The last few years have seen two significant areas of 
concern regarding the safety and security of using the 
transport network and services. The first relates to 
terrorist threats and the targeting of transport hubs and 
services and the second to the global COVID-19 pandemic. 
There are also concerns around incidents of crime and 
anti-social behaviour related to transport.

The COVID-19 pandemic saw passenger numbers on both 
bus and train plummet as shown in the following chart.

Policy ENV5

We will support, promote and provide  
sustainable access to our sensitive built  
and natural environments.

Policy SH1

We will seek to make Lincolnshire's roads  
safer for all and to make significant year-on-year 
reductions in those killed or injured on  
Lincolnshire’s roads through a sustainable,  
co-located road safety partnership delivering 
targeted interventions focussed on education, 
engineering, and enforcement.

P
age 188



80 81

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 4
: T

he
 In

te
gr

at
ed

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
 S

tr
at

eg
y 

Evidence from Transport Focus24 suggests that nearly  
a third of passengers will not return to public transport  
for any reason until they feel safe. Ensuring this feeling  
of safety will be a priority once lockdown is lifted.

How will we do this?

We will work with the planning process to ensure  
that crime prevention and fear of crime are taken  
into account in new developments. 

We will promote appropriate designed space in  
town centres and urban areas that focuses on  
creating environments that provide a feeling of  
safety and security at all times of the day and night. 

We will work with partners in crime prevention  
and in the transport industry to identify and report 
concerns and be data and intelligence led in our 
approaches to dealing with crime.

We will support and develop key messages in the  
post-pandemic world to encourage and reconnect 
passengers with public transport services.

01
/0

3/
20

20

16
/0

3/
20

20

31
/0

3/
20

20

15
/0

4/
20

20

30
/0

4/
20

20

15
/0

5/
20

20

30
/0

5/
20

20

14
/0

6/
20

20

29
/0

6/
20

20

14
/0

7/
20

20

29
/0

7/
20

20

13
/0

8/
20

20

28
/0

8/
20

20

12
/0

9/
20

20

27
/0

9/
20

20

12
/1

0/
20

20

27
/1

0/
20

20

11
/1

1/
20

20

26
/1

1/
20

20

11
/1

2/
20

20

26
/1

2/
20

20

10
/0

1/
20

21

25
/0

1/
20

21

09
/0

2/
20

21

24
/0

2/
20

21

11
/0

3/
20

21

26
/0

3/
20

21

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

140%

Policy SH2

In partnership with the police, transport operators 
and others we will seek to reduce the rate of crime, 
the fear of crime and issues relating to antisocial 
behaviour related to transport.

Policy SH3

Working with transport operators, we will seek to 
restore confidence in the use of public transport 
following the COVID-19 pandemic and restore 
passenger numbers to pre-COVID-19 levels.

Use of Transport Modes in Great Britain since March 202023 Key approaches that we will support include:

• Ensure natural surveillance by ensuring streets, 
pedestrian and cycling facilities are overlooked. 

• Ensure that walking and cycling routes  
are connected to the existing network.

• Ensure on street parking is overlooked or  
has natural surveillance and that designated  
parking areas are secure. 

• Supporting appropriate crime prevention  
interventions in and around the transport  
network.

• Supporting transport operators to restore  
confidence in public transport with marketing  
and promotional campaigns.

Objective 4c – Reduce the impacts of air  
quality and noise and light pollution.

Why is this important?

Exposure to air pollution caused by traffic can have  
a long-term negative impacts on health, including  
heart, lung and respiratory problems. Road vehicles  
with internal combustion engines are a significant 
contributor to air pollution problems. Progress has  
been made in reducing emissions of some pollutants  
from road vehicles as engine standards have improved. 
Emissions of nitrogen oxides, the main component  
of acid rain precursor emissions, have fallen by 77% 
between 1990 and 2017. Similarly, emissions of small  
scale particulates have fallen by around 45% over the 
same period. Despite these falls in emissions, there  
are still hot spot areas where air quality is a significant 
issue. In addition, there are emissions from tyre wear, 
brake wear and road abrasion. These emissions are 
strongly linked to traffic levels and are not as tightly 
controlled by legislation.

Additionally, most major urban air pollutants are also 
known to have some harmful effects at low levels on 
vegetation including many arable crops. The World  
Health Organisation has identified sulphur dioxide, 
nitrogen oxide and ozone, a secondary pollution from 
road traffic, as having especially significant adverse  
effects on plants and ecosystems in concentrations  
below those known to have a direct impact on  
human health. 

Traffic noise and excessive light pollution has been  
linked to increases in stress and associated impacts  
on people's mental and physical health. This negative 
impact of transport on peoples' wellbeing should not  
be underestimated and effective mitigation should  
be considered when appropriate. It is worth noting  
that most urban light pollution actually comes from  
private security lighting as that does not meet the  
same cut off requirements that public street lighting  
is required to achieve.

 

How will we do this?

In new developments, we will seek to design out issues 
related to air, noise and light pollution using suitable 
materials and infrastructure to reduce the negative 
impacts of transport

We will work with partners in areas with AQMAs to  
identify potential reductions in air quality problems.

Through the strategic development management process 
seek the reduction in transport caused air, noise and light 
pollution by seeking suitable mitigation including through 
the use of travel plans to support more active travel.

Key approaches that we will support include:

• Greater efficiency in allocating road space.

• Using traffic management techniques to smooth  
flows in congested areas.

• Reduce or remove traffic from particularly sensitive 
areas and focus on creating physical environments  
that minimise air, noise and light pollution. 

• Champion the shift to zero-emission vehicles using  
our "roadmap" to support EV and alternative fuels.

Policy SH4

Working in partnership we will seek to reduce air, 
light and noise pollution created by the transport 
system. The focus will be in areas with designated  
Air Quality Management areas and where impacts 
are felt by significant populations.

Car     Heavy goods vehicles National rail BusLight commercial vehicles

P
age 189



82 83

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 4
: T

he
 In

te
gr

at
ed

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
 S

tr
at

eg
y 

• Identify areas where using noise reducing surfacing  
in maintenance schemes would bring about  
significant benefit.

• Continuing to replace street lighting with LEDs.

Objective 4d – Improve the health of our  
communities through the provision for  
active travel.

Why is this important?

The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) for 
Lincolnshire has identified that 24.6% of reception  
year children in 2016/17 were overweight or obese 
(England average 22.6%). In the same time frame, the  
JSNA showed that 63.7% of adults were overweight or 
obese, the highest average in the East Midlands and  
above the national average of 61.3%.

As well as obesity, the risk of inactive lifestyles can  
double the risk of coronary heart disease, lead to  
higher risks of certain cancers, increased risk of  
type-2 diabetes and be detrimental to long-term  
mental health.

The overall reduction in active travel over the last 30  
years and the growth in car use have contributed to  
this health problem and has also led to some of the  
wider environmental and congestion issues we  
currently face. Higher levels of walking and cycling  
will have multiple benefits from health to the wider  
socio-economic and environmental benefits.

 

How will we do this?

We will seek to deliver a series of integrated active  
travel networks, with a focus on enabling critical local 
trips and providing infrastructure to plug gaps in these 
networks enabling seamless access between rural and 
urban centres. We will also support longer-distance  
routes that promote active and healthier lifestyles and  
link these routes into the visitor economy providing the 
very highest-quality routes for residents and visitors alike.

As highlighted in policy GREEN4, we will utilise our role in 
the planning process to ensure new development is better 
connected into the existing transport network enabling 
more journeys to be undertaken by active modes.

We will work with local partners in health, education, 
environment, planning, etc to develop comprehensive, 
high-quality town-wide walking and cycling networks. 

We will follow the DfT's Local Cycling & Walking 
Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) process to provide a detailed 
and prioritised plan for investment in our active travel 
infrastructure. All eight of LCC's transport strategy board 
areas will have a bespoke LCWIP, providing a basis for 
investment in cycling and walking infrastructure, and 
opening the door for accessing active travel funding  
from a range of government departments. 

We will work to design our urban cycling and walking 
infrastructure in accordance with the standards set  
out in LTN1/20, embedding active modes as the  
natural choice for shorter trips for all our residents.

Key interventions that we will support include:

• Creating direct and safe routes linking main residential 
areas and SUEs to the key destinations in the city and 
town centres. 

• Identifying and removing barriers to networks such as 
missing connections, road crossings and pinch points.

• Better links to existing and future public transport 
services, notably bus stops and interchanges and 
railway stations and future mobility hubs.

Policy SH5

We will champion greater use of active travel  
modes and provide the infrastructure and  
services that encourages a shift towards them. 

Policy SH6

In partnership with others, we will promote the 
benefits of active travel and support initiatives that 
encourage and promote a healthier lifestyle by 
people changing their travel behaviours. 

• Provision of secure cycle storage for bikes  
at key destinations in urban centres and at  
interchange points.

• Greater priority to pedestrians and cyclists 
in urban areas built up areas. 

• Support for cycle hire facilities at key gateways  
and in areas with significant tourism presence.

 
Theme 5 – Promoting high  
aspirations
 
Objective 5a – Improve connectivity and  
access to education, healthcare and leisure.

Why is this important?

As highlighted under Objective 2b, Lincolnshire's 
geography and demography requires a mix of support 
for access to local services and facilities; improved digital 
provision and physical connectivity. The most obvious of 
priority connection examples are education, particularly 
higher and further education, healthcare and leisure.

Delivering on achieving high aspirations means enabling 
and supporting people to do more. Critical to this is the 
ability to engage with education and improve skills and 
understanding. For many young people living in rural or 
isolated areas aspiration becomes limited by an inability 
to access education and training or other basic services. 
This is also true for those who cannot or choose not to 
have a car. Overcoming this accessibility barrier requires 
investment in both virtual and physical connectivity and  
in particular providing transport services that allows access 
for all to a range of services that support and develop 
engagement and aspiration.

How will we do this?

We will ensure that accessibility and connectivity are 
central to our thinking and planning and that council 
provided and supported services give due consideration  
to accessibility and connectivity.

Through the planning process, we will ensure that 
improved access is a key consideration of all new 
development and that suitable access is provided  
to local services.

Key interventions that we will support include:

• Local road improvements that aid in accessing local 
services and in particular support improved access 
from deprived areas to education, health and other  
key services.

• Innovative and creative approaches to transport 
services potentially including: 

 – Fixed route taxi-buses.

 – Rural car clubs.

 – Community buses.

 – Wheels to work/learn schemes.

 – Voluntary car schemes.

 – Links to non-emergency transport.

 – Total transport solutions.

 – Virtual connectivity.

Policy HA1

Improve access to education healthcare, leisure and 
other essential services by supporting improvements 
to the transport network and services. Support 
innovation and alternative provision of services such 
as virtual options and mobile services that bring 
services to people rather than people to services.

P
age 190



84 85

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 4
: T

he
 In

te
gr

at
ed

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
 S

tr
at

eg
y 

Objective 5b – Improve the accessibility  
of the transport system and in particular  
access onto public transport.

Why is this important?

The inability to access the transport system can  
mean that it fails to deliver to those who would  
actually depend on it the most. 

Some people with disabilities are dependent on  
public transport or active travel as driving is not an  
option to them. This is also true of the older sections  
of society who may no longer be in a position to drive 
or have access to a vehicle. With life expectancy growing 
and the number of older people in Lincolnshire also 
growing, a fully accessible transport network is going  
to become increasingly important. 

 
How will we do this?

By working with partners including Aging Better  
and transport providers – we will seek to improve the  
physical access to the transport network by ensuring 
adequate provision is made at interchange points  
and as part of the highway fabric. We will promote  
the use of clear and easy to understand signage  
and information including timetabling provision.

We will use the planning process to ensure new 
developments provide suitable accessibility provision 
as part of its construction and that through the use of 
travel plans ensures that promotions and marketing are 
adequate to meet the needs of all members of society.

Key interventions that we will support include:

• Improvements at public transport interchanges,  
rail stations and bus stops.

• Improving crossing facilities and the public realm  
to make it user friendly for the whole of society.

• Undertake audits to identify barriers to access  
and working with partners develop approaches  
to rectify or remove them.

Objective 5c – Encourage wider community 
participation in developing and delivering  
transport services.

Why is this important?

Engagement with local people increases community 
ownership and provides an understanding local issues  
and needs. The significance of the "sense of place" that  
sits at the heart of this LTP means that transport needs  
to adapt and put people at the centre of solutions and  
not vehicles. 

We believe that empowering local groups and individuals 
to actively participate in the development and delivery of 
transport interventions provides for greater ownership 
and this leads to improved independence and wellbeing 
for the whole community, this ultimately delivers better 
places to live. 

 
How will we do this?

The LTBs are at the heart of local delivery and enable 
partners to consider and develop interventions and 
schemes that reflect the locality and are founded upon 
a sound evidence base. They are also able to integrate 
schemes into local programmes and packages enabling 
greater efficiencies and the ability to make significant 
improvements across all modes and against a wide-range 
of objectives. Within the framework of the LTP and the 
modal strategies the LTBs develop a local strategy that 
sets out what the local authority intends to achieve in the 
area and how it will go about it, presenting the authority’s 
proposals for improving the transport network over time.

Policy HA2

We will seek to increase accessibility for everyone  
by promoting measures to improve accessibility  
to the transport network. 

Policy HA3

Using the existing Local Transport Boards  
(LTBs) we will continue to encourage and  
support the local communities to contribute  
to the on-going development of transport  
solutions across Lincolnshire.

Our key approach is to:

• Continue support of the local transport boards in:

 – Boston;

 – Gainsborough;

 – Grantham;

 – Lincoln;

 – Skegness and Mablethorpe;

 – Stamford;

 – Sleaford; and,

 – Spalding and Holbeach.

 
Theme 6 – Improve quality of life
Objective 6a – To improve the quality  
of place and reduce the overall negative  
impacts of transport on people's lives

Why is this important?

The better a place looks, feels and works will have a 
greater positive impact on the people who live and visit it. 
The starting point for this LTP is that greater focus should 
be placed on the sense of place and that transport has a 
significant role to play in this. It could be improvements 
to gateways, or the removal of traffic from certain areas 
but whatever the intervention putting the community 
and people ahead of traffic and vehicles can lead to a 
significant improvement in the quality of life for all. 

For all the benefits that connectivity and the use of the 
car brings there are also significant negative impacts, 
many outlined in this and previous chapters, including 
dangerous levels of carbon emissions, reduced air  
quality, pollution, road traffic accidents and deaths, 
congestion and wasted time the list goes on.

This LTP acknowledges and accepts that increasing 
connectivity and mobility are vital to support economic 
growth, sustain social wellbeing and allow for personal 
development and aspiration but that this comes at a price 
and that where possible these connectivity and mobility 
improvements should be managed in a way that makes 
them sustainable and reduces the negative impacts.

 
How will we do this?

By setting out an LTP with a county-wide integrated 
transport strategy that takes account of the six  
themes identified through our analysis of current  
spatial, economic, health and environmental agendas  
we believe we can deliver a sustainable transport  
system for the future.

Key approaches that we will support include:

• Delivering a transport system that is led by evidence 
based planning.

• Producing and adopting an integrated transport 
strategy that takes account of all aspects of transport.

• Continually adapting and improving our approaches  
to transport delivery through our modal strategies  
and area transport boards.

Objective 6b – To deliver on the first five 
objectives above

Why is this important?

The delivery of a truly integrated transport strategy  
that delivers on its objectives requires a balanced 
approach that provides investment across a range of 
interventions and supports the multiple complexities 
that a county as large and diverse as Lincolnshire needs. 
To focus on one or two of the objectives above whilst 
undoubtedly bringing benefits, would fail to provide  
the transformational improvements to the quality of  
life for all coming to live, work or visit Lincolnshire. 

Policy QL1

We will deliver improvements to the transport 
network and services that support sustainable 
growth and balance the needs of improved 
connectivity and mobility against the negative 
impacts transport can have.

P
age 191



86 87

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 4
: T

he
 In

te
gr

at
ed

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
 S

tr
at

eg
y 

 
How will we do this?

We will work with our partners to deliver the contents  
of this LTP and carry on the development and progression 
of the modal strategies and area transport boards and 
seek to continuously improve the transport network  
and transport services across Lincolnshire. 

Key approaches that we will support include:

• We will continue to be guided by the best practice 
on transport and highway planning and take a lead 
in innovation to deliver the latest advances for our 
transport network and services.

Policy QL2

We will endeavour to deliver transport 
improvements that transform mobility and 
accessibility across Lincolnshire and make  
provide a significant uplift in the quality of life  
for all residents and visitors to Lincolnshire.

In line with LTP guidance produced by the DfT, the  
LTP should include two identifiable sections, the first  
being the strategy, the second an Implementation Plan. 
This section of LTP 5 is the draft Implementation Plan.

The Implementation Plan consists of elements for  
all modes as well as the Route Action Plans, Local  
Area Transport Strategies (LATS) and HIAMP. 

The modal Implementation Plans form a series of 
frameworks that will inform future development  
of the LATS and RAPS as well as providing actions  
for the county as a whole.

In line with the National Bus Strategy, the bus 
Implementation Plan will take the form of the Bus  
Service Improvement Plan and will be delivered in  
the main through the Enhanced Quality Partnership. 
Details of this will be reported on in future LTP  
documents and updates.

This Implementation Plan will inevitably develop and 
change in line with funding streams and the ability for  
the Council to bid for projects. It is hoped that longer-
term funding arrangements in some areas notably active 
travel and public transport will be subject to longer-term 
financial settlements and enable clearer timetables 
delivery plans to be drawn up.

Chapter 5: 
Implementation Plan 

P
age 192



88 89

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 5
: I

m
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
Pl

an
 

Walking Implementation Plan – Infrastructure

Policies Working with

Develop cycling and walking network plans for every local transport strategy area along  
the lines of the DfT Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) guidance. • Planning authorities

Use LCWIPs where available to identify and implement infrastructure improvements to  
facilitate walking trips to key destinations, such as schools, town/village centres, employment  
sites and transport interchanges.

• Planning authorities

Work collaboratively with partners to maximise funding opportunities for walking  
infrastructure from every available source, including Section 106 and competitive bidding. • Planning authorities

Work with planning authorities, parish councils, and other bodies to identify and mitigate  
physical barriers to walking, such as the crossing of roads, railways and waterways, particularly 
those identified as key links and where the current and proposed Public Rights of Way (PRoW) 
network intersects.

• Planning authorities
• Parish councils

Improve the pedestrian environments in urban centres by promoting infrastructure changes  
and traffic management measures as part of place making and creating spaces where people 
want to walk, dwell and carry out linked trips through schemes such as streetscape planting  
and urban realm enhancements.

• Planning authorities

Ensure that all infrastructure changes associated with new or improved walking routes to  
include comprehensive wayfinding and safety features such as lighting where appropriate. • Planning authorities

Expand the ‘School Living Streets’ programme across Lincolnshire based on the initial  
trial in Lincoln.

• Schools
• Living streets

Develop an updated Rights of Way Improvement Plan (ROWIP) that includes plans  
to enhance the existing PRoW network and develop new connections.

• Planning authorities
• Parish councils

Walking Implementation Plan – Network and connectivity

Policies Working with

Review and audit wayfinding signage to identify where improvements are needed  
(particularly in areas with high visitor numbers) and implement improvements. • Planning authorities

Improve the connectivity between walking and other modes of travel as part of  
a sustainable door-to-door journey and enabling people to reduce dependency  
on cars for more journeys.

• Public transport operators

Develop an updated Rights of Way Improvement Plan (ROWIP) that includes plans to  
enhance the existing Public Rights of Way (PRoW) network and develop new connections.

• Planning authorities
• Parish councils

Work with public transport operators to promote and facilitate multi-modal journeys  
that include walking. • Public transport operators

Use the local cycling and walking network plans that have been developed for the urban areas of 
the county to identify and implement walking infrastructure schemes and develop public realm 
and place centred initiatives – securing funding that becomes available for these interventions.

• Planning authorities

Develop a consistent signage and way finding strategy. • Planning authorities

Establish a branded county PRoW network with associated signage and mapping. • Planning authorities

Revamp our mapping, ensuring digital and paper coverage of maps for active travel journeys.

Walking Implementation Plan – Leisure and tourism

Policies Working with

Work with partners to develop a co-ordinated walking tourism offer as part of Brand Lincolnshire. • Planning authorities

Work with partners to promote walking routes and destinations, such as the Wolds,  
the Viking Way and the Coast, as part of Lincolnshire's tourism offer. • Planning authorities

Identify and enhance where needed the key highway and PRoW routes that offer  
opportunities for people to access local green space, particularly those in urban areas. • Planning authorities

Build on the increase in local leisure walking during the lockdown periods by promoting local 
routes and green spaces.

• Planning authorities
• Active Lincolnshire

Continue to support and promote events that celebrate walking, such as local Walking Festivals. • Event organisers

P
age 193



90 91

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 5
: I

m
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
Pl

an
 

Walking Implementation Plan – Encouraging and enabling

Policies Working with

Identify population segments that have a higher propensity for walking and develop  
targeted approaches to encouraging and facilitating walking among these segments.

• Planning authorities
• Event organisers

Continue engagement with schools to support them in encouraging and facilitating  
more students to walk to school or walk as part of the journey.

• Schools
• Living Streets

Promote walking as an accessible and enjoyable part of a healthy lifestyle with physical  
and mental health benefits, working across teams and with partners to develop active  
travel campaigns.

• Active Lincolnshire

Work with the Lincolnshire Road Safety Partnership to reduce the number and severity  
of pedestrian casualties.

• Lincolnshire Road  
Safety Partnership

Work with partners, such as Ageing Better to support the aging population in adopting  
and maintaining active lifestyles through walking. • Ageing Better

Encourage, enable and promote people to walk (or use walking as part of a multi-modal  
journey) to events. • Event organisers

Cycling Implementation Plan – Infrastructure

Policies Working with

Ensure all new infrastructure is developed according to national standards (for example LTN  
1/20 and the Manual for Streets) and ensure cycling is considered in new Highways projects. • Planning Authorities

Examine opportunities to retrofit existing infrastructure to improve quality and ideally  
according to LTN 1/20. • Planning Authorities

Work with planning authorities, parish councils, and other bodies to identify potential non 
Highways areas for improvement including bridleways and dedicated private land routes.

• District and  
Parish Councils

Work with planning authorities, parish councils, and other bodies to identify and mitigate  
physical barriers to walking, such as the crossing of roads, railways and waterways, particularly 
those identified as key links and where the current and proposed PRoW network intersects.

• District and  
Parish Councils

Work collaboratively with partners and enforce travel plans where relevant as part of the  
planning process to maximise funding opportunities for walking infrastructure from every 
available source, including Section 106 and competitive bidding.

• District Councils 

Develop and review cycling and walking network plans for every local transport  
strategy area along the lines of the DfT's LCWIP process. • Planning authorities

Cycling Implementation Plan – Cycling for health

Policies Working with

Work with the health sector to consider prescription cycling. • Lincolnshire CCG

Promote and advocate cycling as a public health benefit, working across teams  
and with partners to develop cycling campaigns.

• Lincolnshire CCG
• Sustrans 
• Active Lincolnshire

Continue our support of Bikeability in the county to develop confident cyclists at the earliest 
possible age. Work with the DfT to establish Lincolnshire as a rural 'beacon' authority for 
Bikeability training.

• DfT

Continue to prioritise softer, behavioural change campaigns by targeting residents at key points  
in their lives to establish active travel as a natural transport choice.

• Planning authorities
• Schools

Work with the Lincolnshire Road Safety Partnership to reduce the number and severity  
of cycle user casualties, working towards vision zero in terms of deaths and serious injuries.

• Lincolnshire Road  
Safety Partnership

Cycling Implementation Plan – Leisure and tourism

Policies Working with

Develop (alongside partners) a consistent signage and way finding strategy. Enabling  
cyclists to easily identify routes. • Planning authorities

Work with partners to develop and promote a 'Cycle Lincolnshire' brand, building  
on the success of the Cycle England project.

• Planning authorities
• Sustrans
• Active Lincolnshire

Revamp our mapping, ensuring digital and paper coverage of maps for all types of cyclists.

Continue to support cycling events such as Lincoln Grand Prix Sportive and others  
throughout the year to establish Lincoln as a destination for amateur cyclists. • Event organisers

Developing community cycling champions around the county and engaging with  
local cycling groups.

• Planning authorities
• Parish councils
• Cycling clubs/groups

P
age 194



92 93

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 5
: I

m
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
Pl

an
 

Cycling Implementation Plan – Cycling for the economy

Policies Working with

Continue our support of the Hirebike scheme in Lincoln and examine opportunities  
for bike share in other areas.

• Bike share operators
• LCC
• Planning authorities

Work collaboratively with planning authorities to enable access to non-highways funding  
– e.g. Future high streets fund. • Planning authorities

Engage with businesses and business groups to maximise employee cycling potential.
• Business groups
• Individual businesses
• Planning authorities

Ensure parking is considered in network planning to enable residents to dwell and shop via bike. • Planning Authorities

Encourage commuter, and low goods 'last mile' delivery cycling, reducing the economic  
burden and costs of congestion.

• Planning Authorities
• Businesses

Cycling Implementation Plan – Evidence, data, KPIs and reporting

Policies Working with

Gather data along with partners to monitor cycle modal share and CO2 reduction around the 
county. Using this as an evidence base for future funding bids and infrastructure investment.

Develop a 'State of the county' annual cycling report, highlighting new developments  
over the previous year.

Arrange district level cycle advocacy groups (or working with existing groups) to provide  
a forum for cycle advocacy at a local level.

Use modern data capture methods.

Consult on a range of cycling KPIs for the county to consider.

Bus Implementation Plan – Reducing carbon emissions

Aims Sub-aims Outputs

Encourage modal shift to public 
transport and away from the  
private car.

Make bus services more  
attractive to car users.

Fast, frequent services with  
priority over cars.

Integration of the network  
between modes to enable  
seamless interchange.

Integration of ticketing and  
payment between operators  
and modes – MaaS.

Consistent branding and marketing 
and easy access to information.

Encourage bus operators  
to reduce CO2 emissions.

Encourage bus operators to use  
zero- or ultra-low emission vehicles.

Roll out of ultra-low emission  
vehicles, including charging  
and refuelling infrastructure.

Embrace new and  
emerging vehicle, fuel and  
mobility technologies to  
encourage more efficient  
journeys made using low-  
or zero-emission vehicles.

Use the most efficient fuel  
technology available to fuel the  
services required in Lincolnshire  
to minimise CO2 emissions.

Roll out of ultra-low emission  
vehicles across the county taking 
account of costs (and earning 
potential), performance and  
emission reductions.

Maximise opportunities for  
electric vehicles to generate  
additional revenues through 
vehicle to grid or data services.

Develop charging infrastructure  
and include bus batteries as part  
of an energy storage facility for  
the national grid.

Bus Implementation Plan – Economic growth

Policies Working with

Improve bus connectivity  
throughout Lincolnshire, the  
East Midlands and beyond.

Improve connections between  
bus and rail stations.

Bus routes serving rail stations, 
providing effective interchange.

Bus timetables co-ordinated  
with rail timetables.

Integrated ticketing between modes.

Ensure a resilient and reliable  
bus system for people. 

Ensuring financially sustainable  
bus services by making them  
more attractive.

Fast and frequent services  
with priority over private cars.

Support the vitality and integrity of our 
town centres and rural communities.

Access to all town centres with direct  
interurban, urban and rural bus services. Effective bus priority in urban areas.

Improve connectivity to jobs and employment opportunities.

Bus services providing access 
to employment sites – ensuring 
connections between hubs and major 
employment sites and trip attractors.

Early implementation of bus services 
within new residential developments. 

P
age 195



94 95

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 5
: I

m
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
Pl

an
 

Bus Implementation Plan – Thriving environments

Policies Working with

Provide sustainable access  
to Lincolnshire’s environment  
and heritage.

Strengthen the core bus  
network, making services  
more financially sustainable.

Reduce operating costs by minimising 
journey times in towns, and reducing 
fuel costs in all areas.

Increasing patronage and fare 
revenues by encouraging greater  
use of the bus network.

Bus Implementation Plan – Supporting safety, security and a healthy lifestyle

Policies Working with

Increase confidence in a safer and more secure bus network. Newer buses with improved  
safety features.

Reduce the impacts of 
air quality and noise.

Encourage bus operators to use  
zero- or ultra-low emission vehicles.

Roll out of ultra-low emission  
vehicles, including charging  
and refuelling infrastructure.

Modal shift to reduce volume of vehicles. Fast, frequent and prioritised  
bus services.

Improve the health of  
our communities through  
provision for active travel.

Ensure bus stops are accessible  
from all local areas.

Raised kerbs, improved bus  
shelters and waiting environments.

Bus Implementation Plan – Promoting high aspirations

Policies Working with

Improve connectivity and access to 
employment, education, healthcare  
and leisure.

Make bus services more attractive.

Fast and frequent services with priority 
over private cars.

More efficient routes serving key trip 
attractors with services at times people 
need to use them.

Improve access onto public transport.

Ensure bus stops are accessible for all. Raised kerbs, improved bus shelters 
and waiting environments.

Improve awareness of available bus services.

Improved information at bus stops 
including RTI.

Improved information through online 
services including mobile apps.

Encourage community participation in 
shaping and delivering transport services

Improved engagement with users,  
non-users, businesses and representatives  
from key trip attractors

Development of a partnership model – 
possible an Enhanced Partnership –  
to better understand the needs of the 
community and deliver key mobility 
improvements

Bus Implementation Plan – Improving quality of life

Policies Working with

Reduce the negative impacts  
of transport on people's lives.

Reduce congestion. Improved bus services in urban  
areas with effective bus priority.

Improve air quality, reduce CO2 emissions.

Roll out of ultra-low emission vehicles, 
including charging and refuelling 
infrastructure.

Encourage model shift – improve  
bus services.

Reduce social inequality.

Ensuring equal access to  
employment opportunities,  
education and essential goods and 
services through a comprehensive  
and reliable public transport network.

Rail Implementation Plan – Infrastructure

Priorities Working with

Work with the rail industry and partners to ensure signal boxes are staffed  
such that they allow 7-day, early to late train services to be operated. 

Lead – Network Rail/GBR  
 
Support – LCC, DfT, TOC’s and Regional 
Transport Bodies (RTB’s)

Work with the rail industry and partners to investigate and where practical secure  
faster train services on lines where services do not have car competitive journey  
times, and where the speed potential of rolling stock is not capitalised upon. 

Lead – Network Rail/GBR  
 
Support – LCC, DfT, TOC’s and RTB’s

Work with the rail industry and partners to develop deliverable infrastructure solutions  
to unlock the capacity bottlenecks at Newark Flat Crossing and Grantham Station. 

Lead – Network Rail/GBR  
 
Support – LCC, DfT, TOC’s and RTB’s

With Rail partners, monitor station capacity performance at Lincoln and Nottingham 
Station’s to ensure station capacity does not prevent other service improvements  
being realised.  

Lead – Network Rail/GBR  
 
Support – LCC, DfT, TOC’s and RTB’s

Work with the rail industry and partners to develop and deliver infrastructure  
solutions to ensure excellent connectivity between Lincolnshire and HS2 at Toton.  

Lead – Midlands Connect and 
Transport for East Midlands  
 
Support – LCC, DfT, TOC’s and HS2

P
age 196



96 97

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 5
: I

m
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
Pl

an
 

Rail Implementation Plan – Network and connectivity

Priorities Working with

Work with the rail industry and partners to introduce train services which operate 7-days,  
early to late.

Lead – TOC’s 
 
Support – LCC and RTB’s 

Work with the rail industry and partners ensure the committed service improvements are 
provided in line with franchise commitments. Work with partners to move more lines from  
Good to Best. 

Lead – TOC’s  
 
Support – LCC and RTB's

Work with industry partners to ensure services are provided with adequate capacity  
on board trains. 

Lead – TOC’s  
 
Support – LCC and RTB’s 

Monitor train service performance and challenge areas where trains are not punctual  
or reliable.  

Lead – TOC’s  
 
Support – LCC and EMC

Keep abreast of service changes that may adversely impact on Lincolnshire and make  
evidence based representations where threats become apparent. 

Lead – TOC’s  
 
Support – LCC and  
EMC/TftN

Rail Implementation Plan – Communities and new developments

Policies Working with

Work with district planning authorities to ensure that access to rail stations is prioritised through 
effective planning and design of new developments, including bus, cycle and walking access. Planning Authorities

Ensure the stations themselves and access routes to the stations are accessible and of a  
standard and condition which is people consider to be safe and attractive when accessing  
the station or waiting for a train. 

LCC and planning authorities 

Work with district planning authorities to maximise funding opportunities related to new 
developments, such as Section 106 funding. LCC and planning authorities 

Work with district planning authorities to ensure travel plans that encourage and facilitate  
rail travel are developed and implemented LCC and planning authorities 

Bring underused station buildings into community use. 

Lead – TOC’s and CRP’s  
 
Support – LCC, DfT, planning 
authorities and RTBs

Rail Implementation Plan – Communities and new developments

Policies Working with

Bring underused station buildings into community use. 

Lead – TOC’s and CRP’s  
 
Support – LCC, DfT, planning 
authorities and RTBs

Support station adopters and community rail partnerships to unlock the full potential  
of the existing rail services and promote rail use within their local community. 

Lead – CRP’s  
 
Support – LCC, TOC’s and RTB’s

Planning for the future – working with communities and rail partners to explore the case  
for new/reopened rail lines and stations. 

Lead – LCC  
 
Support – DfT, NR/GBR, TOC's 
and RTB's

Rail implementation Plan – Leisure and tourism

Policies Working with

Influence partners to secure year round hourly train service to Skegness
Lead – EMR 
 
Support – LCC and NR/GBR

Ensure the train services to Skegness have adequate capacity to meet passenger demand.
Lead – EMR  
 
Support – LCC and NR/GBR

Work with partners to combine the benefits of Bus and Train integration, in particular the 
opportunities arising from the Rail White Paper and Bus Enhanced Partnerships, including  
better integration, and well-priced cross ticketing. 

Lead – LCC 
 
Support – TOC’s, Bus 
operators, NR/GBR

P
age 197



98 99

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 5
: I

m
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
Pl

an
 

EV Implementation Plan

Recommendation/action Aims Role Action by Timescale

Deliver the right solution  
for the right location.

For most car parks a number of 
standard/fast chargers (7-22kW), 
capable of smart charging and load 
management, with Rapids (50-150kW) 
deployed where dwell times are 
shorter.

Require All authorities On-going

Standard/ fast chargers, these should 
be delivered in clusters where possible. Require All authorities On-going

Rapid chargepoints should be future 
proofed to support higher charge rates 
in the future, preferably at least 150kW.

Encourage All authorities On-going

Passive provision for additional 
chargers should always be considered 
as part of the initial installation.

Require All authorities On-going

Make the most of available 
funding opportunities.

Take the opportunities to secure  
grant funding where available. Explore All authorities On-going

Identify a Chargepoint Operator  
(CPO) prior to any ORCs funding  
bid submission.

Lead All authorities Within  
12 months

Prepare a strategic outline business 
case(s) for future funding rounds  
to deliver a forward programme  
of deployments.

Lead All authorities Within  
12 months

EV Implementation Plan

Recommendation/action Aims Role Action by Timescale

Accelerate chargepoint 
deployment to promote  
EV uptake.

Adopt targets to work towards 
delivering the mid-range scenario 
(3,394 EVCPs by 2030 across Greater 
Lincolnshire) as the central estimate  
for planning purposes.

Lead All authorities By 2030

Focus on establishing good 
chargepoint coverage and  
plugging gaps.

Prioritise car park sites on the basis  
of forecast demand and where gaps in 
private sector provision are anticipated.

Lead All authorities Within  
12 months

Feasibility studies and further analysis 
for preferred sites. Lead All authorities Within  

12 months

Introduce charging solutions to  
cater for areas without access to  
off-street parking.

Lead Highway authorities Within 3 years

Rail Implementation Plan – Encouraging and enabling

Priorities Working with

Work with district planning authorities to promote rail use as part of an accessible, enjoyable and 
healthy lifestyle working across teams and with partners to develop active travel campaigns.

Lead – LCC  
 
Support – Planning authorities, 
CRP’s, TOCs

Promote, educate and market people about the rail network, demonstrating the travel 
opportunities beyond the car. 

Lead – LCC 
 
Support – Planning authorities, 
CRP’s, TOCs

Work with partners to combine the benefits of bus and train integration, in particular the 
opportunities arising from the Rail White Paper and Bus Enhanced Partnerships, including  
better integration, and well-priced cross ticketing. 

Lead – LCC  
 
Support – Planning authorities. 
CRP’s, TOCs, bus operators

Work with district planning authorities to maximise funding opportunities related to new 
developments, such as Section 106 funding.

Lead – LCC 
 
Support – Planning authorities

Work with district planning authorities to ensure travel plans that encourage and  
facilitate rail travel are developed and implemented.

Lead – LCC 
 
Support – Planning authorities

Take a balanced approach 
to delivering charging 
infrastructure, inviting  
private investment  
but retaining control.

Attract public sector grant  
funding, alongside private  
sector investment to expand  
the local charging network.

Lead All authorities Within  
12 months

A concessionary scheme is  
likely to be the best fit for  
Greater Lincolnshire.

Explore All authorities On-going

A soft market testing exercise  
with CPOs. Lead LCC Within  

12 months

Let the private sector  
take the strain and carry  
the risk where possible.

Allow the private sector to  
take the strain in providing  
EV infrastructure where  
they are willing to do so.

Enable Private sector On-going

A balance of private and  
public sector EVCP operation  
should be maintained, with  
more attractive EVCP sites  
being parcelled up with  
less attractive sites.

Lead
All authorities in 
conjunction with 
the private sector

On-going

Engage with private sector  
suppliers to deliver on-route  
rapid chargepoints along key  
routes where there is forecast  
high-demand.

Lead
All authorities in 
conjunction with 
the private sector

Within  
12 months

P
age 198



100 101

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 5
: I

m
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
Pl

an
 

EV Implementation Plan

Recommendation/action Aims Role Action by Timescale

Collaborative working  
across Greater Lincolnshire 
with key stakeholders.

Consider running an area-wide 
procurement exercise to identify  
a single supplier, or potentially  
a small number of suppliers.

Lead County and unitary 
authorities

Within  
12 months

Establish an EV forum through which 
officers and representatives could 
come together to discuss EVCPs. 
Regular engagement and close 
working/information sharing  
with the DNOs is essential.

Lead All authorities Within  
12 months

We recommend the Lincolnshire 
group engage with the Midlands 
Connect team to make use of materials 
prepared by Midlands Connect and 
ensure that if Midlands Connect are 
applying for funding that Lincolnshire  
can benefit from additional funding 
that Midlands Connect can secure.

Explore LCC Within  
12 months

EV Implementation Plan

Recommendation/action Aims Role Action by Timescale

Promotional activities  
and awareness raising.

Promote the OZEV Workplace 
Charging Scheme and Electric Vehicle 
Homecharge Scheme to residents  
of Greater Lincolnshire.

Lead All authorities On-going

Establish a webpage or include 
features in newsletters highlighting 
local chargepoints and the available 
grants, which could also direct them to 
a webpage register interest in an EVCP.

Lead All authorities On-going

Engage with wider stakeholders to 
deliver EV chargepoints at other key 
destinations including supermarkets 
and train stations.

Lead All authorities Within  
12 months

Engage with tourist destinations 
and explore tourism opportunities 
associated with EV.

Lead All authorities Within  
12 months

Increase EV prominence  
in local policy.

Ensure policy documents make the 
strategic case for supporting EV uptake 
and commit to targets and standards 
for EVCP provision.

Explore All authorities When policy 
renews

Review the fleets of each authority  
to identify opportunities to electrify  
the fleet.

Lead All authorities Within  
12 months

Future proof new developments 
with EV parking standards and 
requirements for developers to 
incorporate EVCPs or passive 
provision.

Require Developers On-going

Review the scope of introducing 
emissions linked parking charges. Explore Unitary and district 

authorities
Within  
12 months

Decarbonisation of  
freight and agriculture.

Monitor market developments and 
look out for funding opportunities. Lead All authorities On-going

Engage with local operators and 
other key stakeholders (DNOs etc) to 
establish a smetc. local interest group 
and position for future trials/ schemes.

Lead All authorities Within 3 years

Decarbonisation  
of buses and taxis.

Undertake a feasibility study  
to investigate the potential  
for e-buses across the Greater 
Lincolnshire area.

Lead County and unitary 
authorities

Within  
12 months

Engage with bus operators,  
taxi companies and other key 
stakeholders to understand  
appetite for electrification.

Lead All authorities Within  
12 months

Engage with taxi operators  
to ensure there is sufficient  
charging provision for taxis  
and private hire vehicles.

Lead All authorities Within  
12 months

Promotional activities  
and awareness raising.

Promote the OZEV Workplace  
Charging Scheme and Electric  
Vehicle Homecharge Scheme to 
residents of Greater Lincolnshire.

Lead All authorities On-going

Establish a webpage or include 
features in newsletters highlighting 
local chargepoints and the available 
grants, which could also direct them to 
a webpage register interest in an EVCP.

Lead All authorities On-going

Engage with wider stakeholders to 
deliver EV chargepoints at other key 
destinations including supermarkets 
and train stations.

Lead All authorities Within  
12 months

Engage with tourist destinations 
and explore tourism opportunities 
associated with EV.

Lead All authorities Within  
12 months

Increase EV prominence  
in local policy.

Ensure policy documents make the 
strategic case for supporting EV uptake 
and commit to targets and standards 
for EVCP provision.

Explore All authorities When policy 
renews

Review the fleets of each authority  
to identify opportunities to electrify  
the fleet.

Lead All authorities Within  
12 months

Future proof new developments 
with EV parking standards and 
requirements for developers  
to incorporate EVCPs or  
passive provision.

Require Developers On-going

Review the scope of introducing 
emissions linked parking charges. Explore Unitary and district 

authorities
Within  
12 months

P
age 199



102 103

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Ch

ap
te

r 5
: I

m
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
Pl

an
 

Freight Implementation Plan

Policy Working with

Ensure the highway network supports the freight sector 8 by providing journey time reliability  
and resilience. • Highways England

Strengthen cross border links for transport infrastructure improvements such as those  
corridors serving key demand/supply clusters and international gateways.

• Neighbouring authorities
• Highways England

Encourage modal shift for freight from road to more sustainable modes such as rail and  
water freight by supporting new and improved infrastructure to address capacity issues. • Highways England

Work with district planning authorities to maximise funding opportunities related to new 
developments, such as Section 106 funding.

• Network Rail
• Great British Railways
• Canal and River Trust
• Port of Boston
• CRO Ports

Investigate factors influencing incidents involving freight vehicles in the county and deliver  
a safer network for all road users. • Highways England

Encourage initiatives which support collaboration in the freight sector, enhancing efficiencies  
and reducing negative impacts. • Wider freight sector

Support regional and national efforts to encourage innovation in the sector, such as  
autonomous vehicles, platooning and drones.

• Midlands Connect
• DfT

Work with the sector to develop strong links between it and training and education providers.
• Local Education Authority
• Road Haulage Association
• Logistics UK

Support initiatives to encourage uptake of alternatives fuels, such as charging infrastructure .
• Midlands Connect
• DfT

Work with planners to promote developments that encourage sustainable freight and  
promote the development of delivery and servicing plans and construction logistics plans. • District authorities

Highways Asset Management Plan

Policy Action Plan Action by

Asset Management Policy  
and Strategy Update

Begin engagement for the update of these documents in line with the 
Council Vision and emerging Corporate Plan and in response to the 
Government funding changes. To update for 2022.

April 2022

Review Footways Consider footway hierarchies, defects, response times and maintenance 
strategy. October 2021

Cycleway Focus Identify cycleway locations; consider establishing unique asset identification 
and review defect categories/response times. April 2022

Response Times  
Development

Continually monitor suitability of current response times and deal with any 
requests for change. On-going

Boundary Alignment
LCC will continue to engage with all neighbouring authorities to ensure all 
surrounding authorities are aware of the boundary roads and each other's 
response times.

On-going

Drainage Asset Capture – 
develop targeted approach

Develop criteria for a more targeted approach to drainage and gully 
cleansing with contingency for flooding or prolonged periods of rain. April 2022

Winter Service Plan –  
route based forecasting

Review the 2020/21 service. Consider the effectiveness of the reduction  
in rate of spread of treated salt and reduction in temperature intervention 
threshold. Review national guidance and benchmarking with other 
authorities.

October 2021

HIAMP 'lite' Provide smaller information booklet for officers for ease of use on site  
or through tablet viewing. April 2022

Standards and  
Enforcement Plan Continue to develop a Standards and Enforcement Plan. April 2022

Safety/Service Inspections Monitor effectiveness of real time risk assessment and works ordering 
through hand-held devices both for inspectors and contractor side. April 2022

Develop a Data  
Management Strategy

Develop a robust evidenced plan of how the service manages data in  
terms of security and what the Highways Service utilises all data for. April 2022

Annual Review of  
Asset Management

Publish the 1st of the annual reviews of Highways Asset Management  
for Lincolnshire. June 2021

P
age 200



104 105

Lo
ca

l T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

– 
Re

fe
re

nc
es

References
1. Decarbonising Transport – A Better Greener Britain DfT July 2021.

2. Directive 2001/42/EC, [online] available at: eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-
content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:32001L0042

3. SI 2004 No. 1633, The Environmental Assessment of Plans and 
Programmes Regulations 2004 [online] available at: www.legislation.
gov.uk/uksi/2004/1633/pdfs/uksi_20041633_en.pdf

4. Environmental Impact Assessment Directive (85/337/EEC) 2014 
[online] Available at: eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/
PDF/?uri=CELEX:32014L0052&from=EN

5. The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 
Regulations 2017 [online] Available at: www.legislation.gov.uk/
uksi/2017/571/introduction/made 

6. Office of the Deputy Prime Minister (2005) A Practical Guide to the 
Strategic Environmental Assessment Directive. [online] Available at:  
www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/
file/7657/practicalguidesea.pdf 

7. Department for Communities and Local Government (2015)  
Strategic environmental assessment and sustainability appraisal.  
[online] Available at: planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/
guidance/strategic-environmental-assessment-and-sustainability-
appraisal

8. NOMIS (2011) Official Labour Market Statistics. Available at:  
www.nomisweb.co.uk [accessed 17 March 2021].

9. Lincolnshire Research Observatory. Available at:  
www.research-lincs.org.uk/Home.aspx [accessed 17 March 2021].

10. Visit Lincolnshire (2021). Available at: www.visitlincolnshire.com 
[accessed 19 March 2021].

11. Lord J., MacIntosh., A. (2011) Lincolnshire County Council The  
Historic Character of The county of Lincolnshire. Available at:  
www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/2205/the-historic-character-of-
lincolnshire-pdfa [accessed 16 March 2021].

12. Office for National Statistics. Gross Value Added. Available at:  
www.ons.gov.uk/economy/grossvalueaddedgva  
[accessed 22 March 2021].

13. Visit Lincoln (2021). Available from: www.visitlincoln.com [accessed 19 
March 2021].

14. Powell, M. (2015). Open Report on behalf of Richard Wills, Executive 
Director for Environment and Economy. Available from:  
lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s11955/Tourism%20Review.
pdf [accessed 16 March 2021].

15. Skegness Neighbourhood Plan (2019) Available from: www.skegness.
gov.uk/uploads/1129li5041-1pceconomic-reviewv3-final.pdf  
[accessed 18 March 2021].

16. Catford, N. (2010) Disused Stations/Louth. Available from:  
www.disused-stations.org.uk/l/louth [accessed 18 March 2021].

17. The Lincolnite (2019). Extra Lincoln/London Direct Trains Coming from 
October. Available from: thelincolnite.co.uk/2019/08/extra-lincoln-
london-direct-trains-coming-from-october [accessed 18 March 2021].

18. Greater Lincolnshire LEP. Available from:  
www.greaterlincolnshirelep.co.uk [accessed 17 March 2021].

19. Lincolnshire County Council. Major Projects. Available from:  
www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/major-projects [accessed 18 March 2021].

20. Taken from Midlands Regional Transport Hubs (Final Draft November 
2020) produced for Midlands Energy Hub by Cenex.

21. Ibid

22. Historic England 2017

23. DfT

24. Transport Focus Survey

Glossary
CRP Community Rail Partnership. A group of local people,  

mostly volunteers, who promote and undertake small  
scale works at local stations of lines.

DfT Department for Transport – the Government body  
who buy most train services and fund Network Rail.

ECML East Coast Mainline, line accommodating fast services 
between the north and London passing through  
Doncaster and terminating at London Kings Cross.

EMR East Midlands Railways – local and regional services  
across the East Midlands and Long-distance high s 
peed services to London along the Midland Mainline.

GBR Great British Railway – the proposed future organisation  
to run England Railway, taking over from Network Rail,  
DfT and TOC’s. See Rail White Paper.

LCC Lincolnshire County Council.

LNER London North Eastern Railway. Operate Long-distance  
high-speed services to London along the East Coast 
Mainline.

LTP 5  The Lincolnshire County Council’s 5th Local Transport  
Plans (lasting 5 years to 2028/29).

MML Midland Mainline, line accommodating fast services 
between Yorkshire and London, starting at Sheffield  
and Nottingham/Lincoln and travelling to London  
St. Pancras via Leicester.

Northern Northern Trains – local and regional train company 
operating services across the north of England.

ORR Office of Rail Regulation who oversee Network  
Rail’s performance and report back to DfT.

RTB’s Regional Transport Bodies, including Transport for  
East Midlands/East Midlands Councils (TfEM/EMC), 
Midlands Connect, Transport for the North (TftN).

TOC Train Operating Company.

TPD Trains per day.

TPX Transpennine Express – inter-regional train company 
operating services across the north of England and  
into Scotland.

XC Cross Country – a train operator serving long-distance  
routes excluding London.

COVID-19 Coronavirus pandemic of 2019/20.

LTB Local Transport Boards.

RAP Route Action Plan.

HIAMP Highways Infrastructure Asset Management Plan.

SEA Strategic Environmental Assessment.

SA Sustainability Appraisal .

GVA Gross Value Added.

TfL Transport for London.

LENNON Latest Earnings Networked Nationally Overnight.

ATC Automatic Traffic Count.

EV Electric Vehicle.

DECC Department of Energy and Climate Change.

SUEs Sustainable Urban Extensions.

UKCRF UK Community Renewal Fund.

UKSPF UK Shared Prosperity Fund.

LUF Levelling Up Fund.

LATS Local Area Transport Strategies.

LCWIP Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan.

ROWIP Rights of Way Improvement Plan.

PRoW Public Rights of Way.

CPO Chargepoint Operator.

EVCP Electric Vehicle Charhepoint.

BAME Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic groups.

NTS National Travel Survey.

CBSSG COVID-19 Bus Services Support Grant.

JSNA The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment.

DLUHC  The Department for Levelling Up, Housing  
and Communities.

SIDP 21  Strategic Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2021.

P
age 201

http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:32001L0042
http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:32001L0042
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2004/1633/pdfs/uksi_20041633_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2004/1633/pdfs/uksi_20041633_en.pdf
https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32014L0052&from=EN
https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32014L0052&from=EN
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/571/introduction/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/571/introduction/made
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/7657/practicalguidesea.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/7657/practicalguidesea.pdf
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/strategic-environmental-assessment-and-sustainability-appraisal
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/strategic-environmental-assessment-and-sustainability-appraisal
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/strategic-environmental-assessment-and-sustainability-appraisal
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk
https://www.research-lincs.org.uk/Home.aspx
https://www.visitlincolnshire.com
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/2205/the-historic-character-of-lincolnshire-pdfa
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/2205/the-historic-character-of-lincolnshire-pdfa
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/grossvalueaddedgva
https://www.visitlincoln.com
http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:32001L0042
http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:32001L0042
https://www.skegness.gov.uk/uploads/1129li5041-1pceconomic-reviewv3-final.pdf
https://www.skegness.gov.uk/uploads/1129li5041-1pceconomic-reviewv3-final.pdf
http://www.disused-stations.org.uk/l/louth
https://thelincolnite.co.uk/2019/08/extra-lincoln-london-direct-trains-coming-from-october
https://thelincolnite.co.uk/2019/08/extra-lincoln-london-direct-trains-coming-from-october
https://www.greaterlincolnshirelep.co.uk
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/major-projects


P
age 202



Lancaster House 
Lincolnshire County Council 
County Offices, Newland 
Lincoln, LN1 1YL

Page 203



This page is intentionally left blank



Local 
Transport 
Plan 5
Prospectus

Page 205



32

LO
CA

L 
TR

AN
SP

OR
T 

PL
AN

CO
NT

EN
TS

Contents

3 Contents

4  Introduction: Rising to Today’s Transport 
Challenges and Opportunities

8 Building on Our Recent Achievements 

9 Supporting Our Priority Industry Sectors  

10 Supporting Economic Growth ~ Theme 1

12  Future-ready Green Transport ~ Theme 2

14  Promoting Thriving Environments ~ Theme 3

16 Ensuring Safety and Health ~ Theme 4

18 Promoting High Aspirations ~ Theme 5

20 Improving Quality of Life ~ Theme 6

21 Delivering Transport Investments

26 Get Involved with the Consultation

27 Contact the Council’s Transport Team

3

P
age 206



LO
CA

L 
TR

AN
SP

OR
T 

PL
AN

IN
TR

OD
UC

TI
ON

 ~
 R

IS
IN

G 
TO

 T
OD

AY
’S

 T
RA

NS
PO

RT
 C

HA
LL

EN
GE

S 
AN

D 
OP

PO
RT

UN
IT

IE
S

2030
Planned date for 
ban on new petrol & 
diesel vehicle sales

-20% 
by 

2023

Lincolnshire’s 
carbon emissions 
reduction target

+50%
Increase in bicycle 
journeys during 
summer 2020 
(lockdown)

Increase in online 
retail (% of total) – 
Feb-Sept 2020

4 5

Delivering sustainability and 
Net Zero emissions 

Because transport is a significant contributor 
to the UK’s emissions, reducing them is a 
fundamental part of our Local Transport Plan. 
The UK Government has committed, by law,  
to achieve Net Zero emissions by 2050, and  
its plan includes a ban on the sale of new 
petrol and diesel vehicles from 2030. As  
well as helping us hit the Zero Carbon 
deadline, lowering emissions is a starting  
point for creating a healthy, pleasant and  
clean environment for everyone with better  
air quality and more peaceful outdoor spaces.

Rising to Today’s 
Transport
Challenges and 
Opportunities

Identifying positives from 
changes after Covid-19 

Covid-19 disrupted our lives, communities 
and economy, and the transport system was 
no exception. Bus and rail services were 
hit hard and will need support to recover. 
However, lockdown also produced some 
changes that could have beneficial effects 
for our health and the environment if they 
continue. For example, during summer 2020, 
the number of journeys taken by bicycle were 
50% above normal levels. Between February 
and September 2020, online retail grew from 
20.1% of all sales to 27.1%, a trend which is a 
concern for our high streets but could reduce 
traffic congestion and pollution.

Lincolnshire’s fifth Local Transport Plan has been produced under 
highly unusual circumstances – a period of rapid change and upheaval 
that is presenting us with significant challenges but also exciting 
opportunities.

To be ready for the future we need to clearly identify the challenges we face, so we can respond 
to them intelligently, effectively and flexibly. But we also need to take advantage of changes in 
technologies and lifestyles, influenced by factors including the recent pandemic and growing 
environmental awareness. By doing so we can create a better, more sustainable transport  
system that will contribute to the health, prosperity and wellbeing of everyone in Lincolnshire.

INTRODUCTION

UK Government Decarbonisation Targets

Changes in Behaviour Resulting from ‘Lockdown’

20.1%

27.1%

P
age 207



LO
CA

L 
TR

AN
SP

OR
T 

PL
AN

IN
TR

OD
UC

TI
ON

 ~
 R

IS
IN

G 
TO

 T
OD

AY
’S

 T
RA

NS
PO

RT
 C

HA
LL

EN
GE

S 
AN

D 
OP

PO
RT

UN
IT

IE
S

£40 
million

8 Local  
Transport  

Plans

Lincolnshire 
population
earning below 
the real living
wage (estimate)

Lincolnshire’s 
population is 
growing faster than 
the UK’s (2011-21)

Investment in 
faster broadband 
for Lincolnshire 
since 2013

Lincolnshire is 
developing 8 Local 
Transport Plans to 
reflect local needs

For: • Boston
• Gainsborough
• Grantham
• Lincoln
• Skegness & 

Mablethorpe

• Sleaford
• Spalding & 

Holbeach
• Stamford

950 ha

42%

Hectares of 
Lincolnshire  
land allocated for 
business growth  
& employment

Lincolnshire 
residents living in 
settlements of less 
than 5000 people

Increase in 
premises with 
access to Superfast 
Broadband

Real 
Living 
Wage

+9%

45%

+11%

95%

25%

6 7

L

2021

Increasing prosperity, 
sustainably 

Transport has a role to play in improving 
economic growth and development for 
everyone. With an estimated 25% of 
Lincolnshire’s population earning below the  
real living wage (as calculated by the Living 
Wage Foundation), we need a strong transport 
infrastructure that supports new businesses – 
and more jobs – in our region. So far, 950 
hectares of land has been allocated for 
employment and business growth, and  
100,000 new homes are planned across Greater 
Lincolnshire. Our transport plan will help us 
create more sustainable developments while 
reducing the impact of extra journeys created 
by growth in employment, trade and housing.

A Transport Plan that’s right  
for Lincolnshire  

Lincolnshire is the UK’s second-largest county, 
and it’s more geographically diverse than many 
people think. We have urban, agricultural 
and industrial landscapes, from the City of 
Lincoln to our market towns and coastlines. 
All these places have different transport needs 
– there’s no ‘one size fits all’. For example, 
reducing vehicle use benefits health and the 
environment, but in rural areas cars are still 
essential for many. We take a ‘place-based 
approach’, which means transport plans 
that are right for each place and community, 
integrated with how things already work locally.

Benefiting from increased 
digital connectivity 

Covid-19 has accelerated new trends and has 
dramatically changed how we work, travel 
and communicate. Things are still in flux, but 
we anticipate that flexible and home working 
are here to stay. The same goes for increases 
in online shopping and online access to 
services like education and health. A more 
digital lifestyle could mean positive effects on 
traffic congestion and pollution, especially if 
we integrate digital and physical connections 
through tools like online journey planning and 
app-based bookings. 

Flexible, future-proof planning

Things can change quickly. Our plan tries to 
anticipate the most likely long-term changes, 
so the decisions we make in the short to 
medium term don’t prevent us from adapting 
to future innovations. By planning for the 
future we can deliver better value for money, 
reduce waste, and enable sustainable travel. 
For example, roads will always be important 
for transporting goods, connecting rural 
communities and providing healthcare. But to 
keep up with change, they should be designed 
for different modes of transport, like cycling, 
and new infrastructure like EV charging points.

Levelling Up in Lincolnshire

Lincolnshire’s Unique Characteristics

Increased Digital Connectivity

A Transport Plan That’s Flexible and Future-Proof

UK

2013

L

P
age 208



LO
CA

L 
TR

AN
SP

OR
T 

PL
AN

BU
IL

DI
NG

 O
N 

RE
CE

NT
 A

CH
IE

VE
M

EN
TS

Active Travel
£1m invested in improving 

routes and facilities for 
pedestrians and cyclists.

2020

Lincoln-London  
Direct Rail

Increase in services to 
13 X daily announced 

(to follow Covid-19 
reductions).

Oct 2020

Call Connect  
on-demand  
bus service
Growing to carry 
more than 320,000 
people per annum 
pre-pandemic 
using 30 vehicles.

2020

North Hykeham Relief Road
£110m Department for Transport 
funding secured.

Nov 2020

Local Rail Services
Improvements scheduled (increased service 
frequency to follow Covid-19 reductions).

May 2021

Lincoln  
Eastern Bypass

Completion & 
opening.

Dec 2020

Lincolnshire’s six priority industry 
sectors have the potential to 
help us grow our economy and 
maintain a competitive advantage. 
Our transport plan includes 
specific support for each of them. 

Supporting 
Our Priority 
Industry 
Sectors

98

This transport plan builds on significant recent progress and 
achievements in developing Lincolnshire’s transport system, including:

Building 
on Recent 
Achievements

For agrifood we plan to:

• Improve road and rail connections, journey time and urban connectivity

• Enhance access to the Food Enterprise Zones

• Increase connections to ports and other international gateways

For energy we plan to:

• Strengthen our infrastructure for alternative energy sources

• Improve access to Humber and east coast renewable energy growth points

• Support the shift away from fossil fuels for passenger and freight journeys

For ports & logistics we plan to:

• Develop a Lincolnshire freight plan that’s integrated with regional strategies

• Improve transport connections to ports and other international gateways

• Support the work of the regional energy hub

For the visitor economy we plan to:

• Enhance access to our coast and to heritage sites, resorts and attractions

• Support a longer visitor season by increasing public transport capabilities 

• Develop better active travel networks to promote green tourism

For defence we plan to:

• Develop transport links between military bases and supporting industry hubs

• Improve connections to other centres of excellence in the defence industry

For healthcare we plan to:

• Improve connections to local and regional care centres

• Support innovations towards more digital care

• Build connections between health centres of excellence across Lincolnshire

P
age 209



LO
CA

L 
TR

AN
SP

OR
T 

PL
AN

SU
PP

OR
TI

NG
 E

CO
NO

M
IC

 G
RO

W
TH

Improving connectivity ~ Objective 1a

The more we connect, the more we thrive.

A better transport network will improve 
connectivity, boosting the economy by improving 
access for business, employment, education, 
and tourism. We’ll work with industry and 
government to strengthen connectivity within 
our region and with the rest of the UK and 
beyond. That means focusing on gateways to 
the region, like railway stations, and UK-wide 
transport links like HS2 and the A1.

Future-proofing our transport 
network ~ Objective 1b

A reliable and resilient transport system.

Because of the way towns and villages in 
Lincolnshire are spread out, there is uneven 
demand on the transport system and car 
travel is often the easier option. Problems like 
congestion and delays affect businesses and 
communities. We want to improve the transport 
system’s resilience and efficiency so that public 
transport, walking and cycling offer a real 
alternative to driving. 

Supporting
Economic Growth

Connecting people to employment 
opportunities ~ Objective 1d

Improving rail, road and public transport  
for employees.

Work has changed, and travel patterns are  
changing with it. Digital connections are now  
essential for many jobs and where we work is  
more varied than ever. We will strengthen digital  
and physical links between workplaces, major  
centres and communities, and connections with  
the rest of the UK, so that people in Lincolnshire  
can raise their skill levels and their aspirations. 

Championing 6 priority  
industry sectors ~ Objective 1e 

We’re standing behind local businesses.

We’ve identified 6 sectors that have the potential  
to bring strong growth and competitive advantage  
to our region. They are:

• Agrifood
• Energy
• Ports and logistics

• Visitor economy
• Defence
• Health care

 
Each one has its own transport needs, which we’ll invest 
in and improve in the coming months and years. 

Supporting our town centres  
and rural communities ~ Objective 1c 

Levelling up local economies and cutting 
down carbon emissions.

Thriving town and village centres have many 
benefits. Employment closer to home means 
shorter commutes and more opportunities. 
Locally available services and leisure activities cut 
down car journeys. And better digital connectivity 
makes rural living possible for more working 
people. We will invest in local and smaller scale 
projects that provide efficient access to services 
and help local centres flourish.

A healthy economy requires strong connections. By investing in physical 
and digital links between Lincolnshire and the rest of the UK, as well 
as between the towns, cities and villages of our county, we will create 
better opportunities for businesses and people now and in the future.

1110

THEME 1

P
age 210



LO
CA

L 
TR

AN
SP

OR
T 

PL
AN

FU
TU

RE
-R

EA
DY

, G
RE

EN
 T

RA
NS

PO
RT

THEME 2

1312 

Investment in low-carbon travel  

~ Objective 2a 

More sustainable transport will reduce CO2 
emissions, improve our environment and 
benefit our health.

Right now, 38% of Lincolnshire’s CO2 emissions come 
from land-based transport. To help tackle this, we’re 
investing in our rail and bus networks, making them 
the go-to choice for accessible travel. We’re improving 
footpaths and cycle paths so you can make carbon-
neutral journeys while getting outdoors. Finally, we’re 
helping Lincolnshire make the transition from fossil 
fuels to electric and low-carbon transport.

Planning sustainable 
development ~ Objective 2c 

Good planning and design will make new 
developments more sustainable.

We want to make sure that new business, 
industrial, leisure and residential developments 
in Lincolnshire have greener travel in their DNA. 
From car clubs and mobility hubs to walkable 
neighbourhoods and transport interchanges, 
we will work with developers to plan and deliver 
projects that help make the county’s daily 
commutes, delivery routes and local journeys  
as green as possible.

Future-ready 
Green Transport

Making transport climate 
change resistant ~ Objective 2d  

We must make our transport network 
resilient to climate change.

In the future, we’ll need transport that’s resilient 
and adaptable so that potential climate change 
won’t slow us down. We will work with experts to 
identify which parts of our transport network are 
most vulnerable to things like heat, storms and 
flooding, and prioritise improvements. Where we 
build or maintain things, we will use sustainable 
materials that are resilient to climate change.

Making communities more  
self-sufficient ~ Objective 2b 

Flourishing local communities will reduce  
the need to travel and CO2 emissions.

Why travel long distances when everything you 
need is on the doorstep? We can reduce travel 
emissions by helping local communities thrive. From 
businesses and services to leisure and healthcare, 
we will make more of the important things in life 
locally accessible. We’re also strengthening digital 
infrastructure so people can live and work where 
they choose, lowering their carbon footprints.

Reducing emissions is a major goal for transport in Britain, and an 
important part of our defence against climate change. In line with the 
government’s commitment to a net-zero carbon future, we will make 
transport in Lincolnshire greener and cleaner, and at the same time 
create a better, healthier transport experience for everyone. Here’s how. 

P
age 211



LO
CA

L 
TR

AN
SP

OR
T 

PL
AN

PR
OM

OT
IN

G 
TH

RI
VI

NG
 E

NV
IR

ON
M

EN
TS

THEME 3

1514

Respecting and protecting our  
built and natural environment  

~ Objective 3a 

Balancing efficiency, economy and ecology.

We will help protect and improve our environment 
for people and nature, minimising the visual and 
physical impact of transport infrastructure and using 
locally sourced materials. The transport system 
itself includes important habitats like hedgerows 
and verges, and we will manage them carefully. 
We will review maintenance work that can impact 
the environment, such as salting, gritting and litter 
treatment.

Minimising waste, maximising 
resources ~ Objective 3b 

We’ll repair and adapt, not just replace. 

New transport infrastructure is expensive, 
creates waste and uses up natural resources. 
So we’ll always try to improve and maintain 
existing transport systems instead of building 
new. That might mean recycling materials and 
waste, sourcing locally, and using technology 
to minimise congestion and maximise capacity. 
Active travel like walking and cycling will save 
wear and tear on the transport system. 

Creating access to heritage  
and nature for everyone ~ Objective 3c 

Welcoming visitors with sustainable transport options.

Our economy benefits when people visit Lincolnshire.  
So it makes sense to improve access to attractions like 
castles, museums and cathedrals, as well as natural beauty 
spots. We’ll do this without compromising the environment 
with too much traffic and footfall. We’ll support easier 
access via more sustainable kinds of transport and 
initiatives to reward visitors who don’t travel by car.

We enjoy a diverse and beautiful landscape, from our inspiring coastline 
to the Lincolnshire Wolds and ancient heritage sites. Without careful 
thought, transport can affect our surroundings through noise, light and 
air pollution, and the contamination of our waterways. Our priority is a 
transport system that will enhance, not endanger, the local environment.

Promoting Thriving 
Environments

P
age 212



LO
CA

L 
TR

AN
SP

OR
T 

PL
AN

EN
SU

RI
NG

 S
AF

ET
Y 

AN
D 

HE
AL

TH

Improving road safety ~ Objective 4a

A multi-disciplinary safety approach.

Although road death and injury numbers 
have fallen, we still need to work hard to keep 
everyone safe. Our road safety partnership links 
the police, council and other safety professionals 
including fire and rescue. Together, this team 
improves safety through education, engineering, 
enforcement and community outreach. They 
handle everything from accident risk-spots to 
drink-driving to speed cameras.

Making sure people feel safe 
when they travel ~ Objective 4b

Healthy, safe and peaceful journeys.

Between security worries and Covid-19, many 
people are reluctant to travel, especially 
on public transport. We want to make sure 
everyone feels confident making their journeys. 
Thoughtful design and management of public 
spaces and crime reduction on the transport 
network will help achieve this. We’ll also make 
sure public spaces are open and welcoming, 
and car parking is secure, night and day.

Ensuring
Safety and Health
The transport system belongs to everyone, so it should be safe, 
reliable and responsibly managed, reflecting everybody’s needs. We 
believe travel can benefit individual health and strengthen community 
connections, while minimising the environmental impacts of pollution, 
noise and congestion. 

Fighting the effects of air, noise 
and light pollution ~ Objective 4c 

Minimising health and  
environmental damage.

Traffic pollution, especially from petrol and 
diesel engines, can cause serious health 
problems and environmental damage. Noise 
and light pollution from transport also take 
a toll on our mental and physical health. To 
combat this, we’ll factor pollution reduction 
into maintenance work and new development 
planning, especially in the densely populated 
areas that are worst affected by air pollution.

Boosting health through  
active travel ~ Objective 4d  

Making active transport the natural choice. 

Over the last 30 years, car use has increased 
and physical activity has decreased, leading 
to more sedentary lifestyles, road congestion 
and emissions. Active transport like walking, 
running and cycling can benefit health and the 
local environment. To support this, we’ll make 
sure walking and cycle paths are well-connected 
to the wider transport network, and that they 
continue to be an investment priority.

1716

THEME 4

P
age 213



LO
CA

L 
TR

AN
SP

OR
T 

PL
AN

PR
OM

OT
IN

G 
HI

GH
 A

SP
IR

AT
IO

NS

THEME 5

1918 

Connecting people to healthcare, 
leisure and education ~ Objective 5a 

Bringing services to people, and people  
to services.

Geographical isolation can limit opportunities in life, 
especially for younger people and those who do not 
drive. Better physical and digital connectivity means 
everyone has access to the services, skills and support 
they need to maximise their potential. We will support 
new approaches like digital programmes and apps, 
fixed taxi-bus routes, car clubs and community buses.

Promoting High 
Aspirations

Enabling community 
involvement in transport  
 ~ Objective 5c  

We will keep listening to what people need

The more we work together, the better the 
transport system will serve the community. 
We will put people, not vehicles, at the heart of 
transport, with the goal of making Lincolnshire 
a better place to live. We will connect with 
communities and groups to make sure our plans 
and projects reflect the lives of the people who 
live here. 

Improving the accessibility  
of public transport ~ Objective 5b 

Disability should not be a barrier to travel.

People with disabilities or health conditions that stop 
them driving may be unable to access the transport 
system, despite being among those who need it 
most. As our population ages, we need to make sure 
the transport network is accessible to everybody. 
Accessibility along routes and at interchange points, 
including crossings, signs and information, will 
support this goal.

Education, training, support and services should be accessible to 
everybody, and transport infrastructure can help make that happen.  
By making travel as inclusive as possible to people who live in remote  
areas or have disability and health issues, and improving digital connectivity,  
we will help everyone access the resources they need to succeed. 

P
age 214



LO
CA

L 
TR

AN
SP

OR
T 

PL
AN

IM
PR

OV
IN

G 
QU

AL
IT

Y 
OF

 L
IF

E

THEME 6 OUR ‘S IGNIFICANT INTERVENTIONS’

2120

Making better places ~ Objective 6a 

Going beyond just getting from A to B.

Through all our planning, maintenance and 
investments, we will work towards making 
the transport system a positive influence 
on the places we live. Whether it means 
pedestrianising more areas, improving 
interchanges, or using sustainable, locally 
sourced materials, we will balance the 
practicalities of transport with the wider  
goal of making our county a healthy,  
happy environment for everyone.

Delivering on all our objectives  
~ Objective 6b 

The whole is greater than the sum of its parts. 

We’ve described several objectives across social, 
environmental, economic and future sustainability 
themes. When we work on them in a coordinated 
way, we’ll see the transformation of our transport 
system and the people and places it connects. We 
will work with our partners and communities and 
take a lead on innovations that will help us achieve 
all our goals, to build an effective, sustainable 
transport system for the future.

Our transport strategy is built on the principles of making places better 
and lives more enjoyable and fulfilled. We see the transport system as  
an asset that links places and people together and creates opportunities, 
while contributing to an attractive environment, healthy lifestyles, and  
a sustainable future.

Delivering the Local Transport Plan will mean investing across many 
different areas and persuading government and the private sector  
to help with that investment. Through this prospectus, we’ve tried  
to share our ideas and objectives, and their potential benefits. 
The following are some of our ideas for specific investments, but things aren’t yet set  
in stone – we’d like your input to help finalise our plans. Please share your own ideas  
by taking part in our short survey. 

Take the survey at www.letstalk.lincolnshire.gov.uk/local-transport-plan

Improving 
Quality of Life

Delivering 
Transport
Investments

What We Will Do Challenges Addressed
& Benefits

Supporting

Theme Objectives

ACTIVE TRAVEL

In smaller market towns, 
promote:

• Active travel and local 
centres

• 20-minute 
neighbourhoods

• Low traffic areas
• Mini mobility hubs

 ✓ Address traffic-
dominated 
environments

 ✓ Improve air quality
 ✓ Support the local 

economy 
 ✓ Promote place making

1 a b c d e

2 a b c d e

3 a b c d e

4 a b c d e

5 a b c d e

6 a b c d e

Develop long-distance 
walking and cycling routes:

• Including the Danelaw / 
Rutland Water cycle link

 ✓ Address traffic-
dominated 
environments

 ✓ Improve air quality
 ✓ Support the local 

economy 
 ✓ Promote place making

1 a b c d e

2 a b c d e

3 a b c d e

4 a b c d e

5 a b c d e

6 a b c d e

P
age 215

http://www.letstalk.lincolnshire.gov.uk/local-transport-plan


LO
CA

L 
TR

AN
SP

OR
T 

PL
AN

DE
LI

VE
RI

NG
 T

RA
NS

PO
RT

 IM
PR

OV
EM

EN
TS

22 23

What We Will Do Challenges Addressed
& Benefits

Supporting

Theme Objectives

BUS TRANSPORT

Make Boston and/or 
Grantham ‘Electric Bus 
Towns’

 ✓ Reduce carbon 
emissions

 ✓ Improve air quality
 ✓ Support the local 

economy
 ✓ Reduce rural isolation
 ✓ Promote place making

1 a b c d e

2 a b c d e

3 a b c d e

4 a b c d e

5 a b c d e

6 a b c d e

Make bus infrastructure and 
corridor improvements:

• To support the Bus 
Service Improvement 
Plan with a minimum 
standard promise

 ✓ Support regional and 
local connectivity

 ✓ Improve journey time 
reliability

 ✓ Reduce carbon 
emissions

 ✓ Support the local 
economy

1 a b c d e

2 a b c d e

3 a b c d e

4 a b c d e

5 a b c d e

6 a b c d e

Improve bus services – to 
run from 7am to 7pm:

• On key interconnect and 
vital urban services

 ✓ Support regional and 
local connectivity

 ✓ Improve journey time 
reliability

 ✓ Reduce carbon 
emissions

 ✓ Support the local 
economy

 ✓ Reduce rural isolation

1 a b c d e

2 a b c d e

3 a b c d e

4 a b c d e

5 a b c d e

6 a b c d e

TRANSPORT INTERCHANGE & INTEGRATION

Plan or develop:

• Larger scale mobility 
hubs on the coast and in 
larger towns.

• Smaller interchange 
points along key 
corridors.

• Mini hubs in rural 
localities

• A stronger role for rural 
rail stations

 ✓ Support regional and 
local connectivity

 ✓ Improve journey time 
reliability

 ✓ Reduce carbon 
emissions

 ✓ Support the visitor and 
local economies

 ✓ Reduce rural isolation 

1 a b c d e

2 a b c d e

3 a b c d e

4 a b c d e

5 a b c d e

6 a b c d e

What We Will Do Challenges Addressed
& Benefits

Supporting

Theme Objectives

PERSONAL TRANSPORT

Develop an EV charging 
network:

• with a focus on support 
for the visitor economy 
plus an on street pilot in 
a market town

 ✓ Reduce carbon 
emissions

 ✓ Improve connectivity
 ✓ Support the visitor and 

local economies

1 a b c d e

2 a b c d e

3 a b c d e

4 a b c d e

5 a b c d e

6 a b c d e

PERSONAL & PUBLIC TRANSPORT

Seek changes to the 
regulatory regime:

• To support innovation 
in personal travel (Uber 
style travel)

 ✓ Improve connectivity
 ✓ Reduce rural isolation 

1 a b c d e

2 a b c d e

3 a b c d e

4 a b c d e

5 a b c d e

6 a b c d e

RAIL TRANSPORT

East Coast Mainline:

• Improvements to track 
and services including 
Newark flat crossing 
removal

 ✓ Support national and 
regional rail connectivity

 ✓ Improve journey time 
reliability

1 a b c d e

2 a b c d e

3 a b c d e

4 a b c d e

5 a b c d e

6 a b c d e

Nottingham – Lincoln Line:

• Speed improvement

 ✓ Support regional and 
local rail connectivity

 ✓ Improve journey time 
reliability

 ✓ Support priority 
economic sectors

1 a b c d e

2 a b c d e

3 a b c d e

4 a b c d e

5 a b c d e

6 a b c d e

P
age 216



LO
CA

L 
TR

AN
SP

OR
T 

PL
AN

DE
LI

VE
RI

NG
 T

RA
NS

PO
RT

 IM
PR

OV
EM

EN
TS

24 25

What We Will Do Challenges Addressed
& Benefits

Supporting

Theme Objectives

Lincoln Station:

• Capacity improvements 
and upgrade

 ✓ Support regional and 
local rail connectivity

 ✓ Improve journey time 
reliability

 ✓ Support priority 
economic sectors

 ✓ Reduce rural isolation

1 a b c d e

2 a b c d e

3 a b c d e

4 a b c d e

5 a b c d e

6 a b c d e

FREIGHT & PASSENGER TRANSPORT

Support driver training 
around the county:

• For HGV and PSV

 ✓ Support priority 
economic sectors

1 a b c d e

2 a b c d e

3 a b c d e

4 a b c d e

5 a b c d e

6 a b c d e

FREIGHT TRANSPORT

Investigate possible pilot 
automation route:

• To support UK Food 
Valley

 ✓ Support priority 
economic sectors

 ✓ Improve journey time 
reliability

 ✓ Reduce carbon 
emissions

1 a b c d e

2 a b c d e

3 a b c d e

4 a b c d e

5 a b c d e

6 a b c d e

FREIGHT, RAIL & HIGHWAY TRANSPORT

Improve access to ports,  
UK Food Valley and logistics 
hubs for both road and rail:

• Strategic road network 
improvements on A15, 
A16 and A17

 ✓ Support national and 
regional connectivity

 ✓ Improve journey time 
reliability

 ✓ Support priority 
economic sectors

 ✓ Improve air quality

1 a b c d e

2 a b c d e

3 a b c d e

4 a b c d e

5 a b c d e

6 a b c d e

What We Will Do Challenges Addressed
& Benefits

Supporting

Theme Objectives

HIGHWAY TRANSPORT

A1 upgrade:  ✓ Support national 
connectivity

 ✓ Improve journey time 
reliability

 ✓ Improve road safety

1 a b c d e

2 a b c d e

3 a b c d e

4 a b c d e

5 a b c d e

6 a b c d e

A46 Trans Midland Trade 
Corridor:

• Junctions North of 
Lincoln (RIS4)

 ✓ Support national 
connectivity

 ✓ Improve journey time 
reliability

 ✓ Support priority 
economic sectors

1 a b c d e

2 a b c d e

3 a b c d e

4 a b c d e

5 a b c d e

6 a b c d e

Cross Keys Bridge full 
replacement:

• Replacement of 
operating system and 
other improvements

 ✓ Support national 
connectivity

 ✓ Improve journey time 
reliability

 ✓ Support priority 
economic sectors

1 a b c d e

2 a b c d e

3 a b c d e

4 a b c d e

5 a b c d e

6 a b c d e

North Hykeham Relief Road:  ✓ Support national and 
regional connectivity

 ✓ Improve journey time 
reliability

 ✓ Support priority 
economic sectors

1 a b c d e

2 a b c d e

3 a b c d e

4 a b c d e

5 a b c d e

6 a b c d e

P
age 217



26 27

LO
CA

L 
TR

AN
SP

OR
T 

PL
AN

GE
T 

IN
VO

LV
ED

 W
IT

H 
TH

E 
CO

NS
UL

TA
TI

ON

Supporting Different 
Transport Modes

Get Involved with
The Consultation

Our Modal Strategies

As part of the Local Transport Plan, we’ve developed a series of Modal Strategies. These are 
detailed plans of how we will support travel by different transport methods:

• Walking

• Cycling

• Bus

• Passenger Rail

• Rail Infrastructure

• Electric Vehicles (& other low carbon fuels)

• Freight

You can read and comment on our modal strategies at: www.letstalk.lincolnshire.gov.uk/
local-transport-plan

Developing a plan for local transport involves listening and learning from a wide range of sources. 
We’ve looked at the existing Local Development Plans, data from the current transport system, 
and lots of other strategies and plans from across Lincolnshire. What we’ve found has helped 
us identify the six major themes you’ll find in this prospectus, which tackle environmental, 
economic and future sustainability goals and challenges. We believe working on these themes in a 
coordinated way will help us transform our transport system and the people and places it serves. 
To bring the plans to their final stage, we need input from the communities and businesses who 
will use the transport system. 

What do you think of the ideas we’ve proposed? Do you have suggestions or ideas to add?  
To view the full consultation draft of the Local Transport Plan and all the supporting documents, 
and to take the survey, go to: www.letstalk.lincolnshire.gov.uk/local-transport-plan

 
Contact 

Lincolnshire 
Council’s Local 
Transport Plan 

Team.

Contact Us

LTP Team

e: LTP@lincolnshire.gov.uk

t: 01522 782070

Local Transport Plan 
Lancaster House
Lincolnshire County Council
County Offices, Newland
Lincoln, LN1 1YL

P
age 218

http://www.letstalk.lincolnshire.gov.uk/local-transport-plan
http://www.letstalk.lincolnshire.gov.uk/local-transport-plan
http://www.letstalk.lincolnshire.gov.uk/local-transport-plan
mailto:LTP%40lincolnshire.gov.uk?subject=Local%20Transport%20Plan


Lancaster House 
Lincolnshire County Council 
County Offices, Newland 
Lincoln, LN1 1YL

Page 219



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C 

Local Transport Plan (LTP) Substantive Comments and Recommendations 

Consultee Comment Summary  LCC Response Recommendation 

West 
Lindsey 
District 
Council  

The plan is very 
aspirational and covers 
key themes 

Noted No change  

 Reliance on the local 
transport boards for 
delivery could be 
considered reasonable, 
however there are to date 
no published terms of 
reference for these Boards 
nor transparency beyond 
limited member 
involvement.  Equally the 
boards only cover a small 
geographical area and do 
not cover the rural areas, 
of which there are many 
across Lincolnshire.  The 
question would therefore 
be, if there is greater 
reliance on these Boards 
for delivery, how will the 
decision process be 
administered, including 
accountability, and 
transparency and also 
how do projects which 
relate primarily or wholly 
to rural areas gain 
traction? 

This is an issue around 
governance and 
delivery of the Local 
Transport Boards 
rather than a specific 
LTP issue.  However, 
longer term new LTP 
guidance is expected 
and emphasis on local 
engagement is likely to 
be key to the 
production of revisions 
to future LTPs. 

Consideration or 
review of the roles 
and responsibilities 
of the Local 
Transport Boards 
and the need to 
develop a more 
delivery focused 
emphasis. 
 
Creation of Terms 
of Reference and 
Membership 
requirements. 
 
Consideration is 
given to the 
creation of Wider 
Reference Groups 
for the area 
Transport Boards to 
enable active 
engagement with 
local interest 
groups. 
 
 

 Many of the actions are 
attributed to the Local 
Planning Authority (LPA) 
and whilst it is 
acknowledged this 
shouldn’t be in isolation, it 
is not clear how these 
themes feed into/clearly 
align with planning policy.  
The importance of 
understanding how this 
works in practice is 

It is not the intention to 
load additional 
requirement onto 
development but to 
ensure that where 
evidenced adequate 
investment is made in 
transport provision.   
 
Ensuring clear linkages 
between LTP and 
Development Plans is 

Review of language 
around LPAs. 

Page 221



Consultee Comment Summary  LCC Response Recommendation 

twofold, any additional 
requirements in 
development must be 
required through planning 
policy and where that 
occurs, there must be an 
assessment in terms of 
cost.  It is not appropriate 
to continue to load 
requirements on to 
developers which may 
ultimately impact on the 
deliverability of 
development.  Understand 
the relationship and 
expectations is key to 
ensure meaningful 
delivery going forward. 

critical to this 
particularly for future 
delivery of both 
development and 
supporting transport 
investment. 

 Concern that LTP5 fails to 
recognise that RAF 
Scampton will become of 
strategic importance as 
the site is 
decommissioned.  The 
entrance to the base is 
accessed via the A15 
which is identified as one 
of the Route Action Plans 
for the County, rightly so, 
but the interdependency 
between this and the 
changing status of RAF 
Scampton and this 
designation is missing. 

Noted Include additional 
text identifying RAF 
Scampton as a 
strategic 
development site. 

 The shift of focus from just 
connectivity within 
Lincolnshire to recognising 
the importance of 
Gateways and 
connectivity to other 
economic centres beyond 
the administrative 
boundary is heartily 
welcomed and does begin 
to provide support for key 
projects.  However, the 

Noted Additional text is 
added to highlight 
the importance of 
gateways including 
access points by 
road as well as rail. 
Policy can be 
strengthened in this 
context. 

Page 222



Consultee Comment Summary  LCC Response Recommendation 

gateways principle is still 
very light on enough detail 
to understand how this 
will be facilitated through 
partnership working and 
how potential projects will 
be supported and scoped.  
Moreover, the focus of 
gateways is in relation to 
rail and ports, in order for 
this concept to deliver the 
expected economic 
benefits all key gateways 
into the County should be 
included.   

 Digital connectivity  
Understand that the 
strategy relates 
specifically to transport, 
however the 
interrelationship between 
access, inclusivity and 
rural communities is 
extremely important and 
as such there is a need to 
recognise this 
interdependency and 
explore more innovative 
opportunities to facilitate 
‘access’ to services in the 
context of transport and 
digital connectivity.  In a 
post covid world these 
themes are not mutually 
exclusive. 

Objective 1d does 
cover this issue but it 
could be strengthened.  

Additional text to 
improve references 
to digital 
connectivity. 

 Welcome the emphasis on 
active travel, recognising 
the health and wellbeing 
strand that runs through 
key objectives, including 
ensuring access to health 
facilities.   

Noted No change  

 Limited reference to car 
parking although there is a 
strand in relation to 

Consider this an issue 
to be picked up under 
the Area Transport 
Strategies as a county 

To pick up issue 
under local 
transport boards. 

Page 223



Consultee Comment Summary  LCC Response Recommendation 

supporting the local 
economy. 

wide policy on car 
parking sits outside of 
our remit. 

 Welcome references to 
climate change and 
acknowledge that many 
solutions are urban based 
and fail to recognise the 
difficulties facing rural 
communities.  

Agree with the 
sentiment in this 
comment and LTP 
attempts to articulate 
the difficulties faced in 
a geographically 
diverse and mainly 
rural area. 

No change 

North 
Kesteven 
District 
Council 

The authority supports the 
priorities and ideas set out 
in the document but notes 
the difficulty and 
challenges of delivering 
them. 

Noted No change  

 Achieving thriving and 
sustainable communities 
is an important outcome, 
but the challenge of 
dispersed and smaller 
communities delivering a 
range of services to 
reduce the need for 
movement is a significant 
one if populations are not 
sufficient to sustain 
schooling, shops etc and 
as such the need for 
transportation options will 
remain.   

Noted No change 

 Considering the future 
ready green 
transportation priority, 
whilst understanding the 
importance of freight 
movement for economic 
vitality of the area it is 
suggested that the overall 
volume of movement 
should be considered 
within the context of 
whether improving rail 
connectivity is a real 
alternative to increasing 

It is acknowledged that 
even if significant 
volumes of freight can 
be shifted to rail, road 
haulage will still be the 
dominant mode.  The 
freight strategy 
recognises this and a 
balanced approach to 
supporting freight 
movement is proposed. 

No change 

Page 224



Consultee Comment Summary  LCC Response Recommendation 

the number of freight 
movements on the 
existing road network. 

 Would like to see more 
action on Electric Vehicles 
(EV). 

EV strategy sets out an 
action plan to deliver 
EV infrastructure. 

No change, ongoing 
work on identifying 
pilot areas for on 
street charging. 

 Connectivity for tourism is 
too focussed on the 
coastal resorts and does 
not significantly recognise 
the heritage and historic 
tourism offer. 

There are references to 
tourism in general. 

Additional 
paragraph to 
reference tourism 
offer beyond 
coastal resorts. 

 It would assist in future 
planning if there was 
further expansion and 
greater clarification of the 
function of transport 
interchanges and the 
anticipated size /form etc., 
of this provision.  
 

The LTP cannot identify 
specific locations at this 
time in part because of 
the potential blight it 
might create but mainly 
due to the need for 
significant work to 
identify locations and 
scale of interchanges, 

No change, work is 
ongoing on 
identifying possible 
locations for 
interchanges. 

 It is assumed the 
reference to district 
councils /local planning 
authorities in the 
implementation plan are 
deliberate reflecting 
where a specific planning 
issue /collaboration with 
planning is required rather 
than the wider district 
council.  

In part although 
delivery of the broader 
concepts in the active 
travel areas may 
require support from 
the leisure sectors. 

No change 

 The draft document 
implementation plan will 
need some editing as 
column headings do not 
always reflect content.  

Noted Amendments will 
be made to reflect 
the errors identified 

 Overall, this is a 
comprehensive document 
with an extensive range of 
evidence and supporting 
strategies behind its 
development. As such it is 
noted that there will be 
significant challenges 

Noted No change  

Page 225



Consultee Comment Summary  LCC Response Recommendation 

going forward to deliver 
the extent of aims within 
the collective documents. 
As such the continued 
need to work in 
partnership and to lobby 
effectively for external 
resourcing is paramount 
to success. 

City of 
Lincoln 
Council 

Endorses the overall 
approach within the LTP 
and with particular 
emphasis towards the 
promotion and 
development of 
sustainable modes of 
transport and the need for 
close partnership working 
to deliver an integrated 
transport network which 
is vital for an urban area 
such as Lincoln. 

Noted No change  

 The Council would be 
interested in taking part in 
any future EV charging 
pilot schemes to explore 
how the barriers to on-
street EV charging could 
be overcome. The roll-out 
and uptake of electric 
buses and taxis needs 
encouragement and 
support.   

Noted, the EV strategy 
will require a range of 
partners to be 
effectively delivered 
moving forward. 

No change 

 While the rationale for 
having separate 
documents and strategies 
within the LTP is 
understood from a 
practical perspective, in 
areas like Lincoln it is 
critically important to 
have fully integrated 
transport systems in place 
e.g., 
bus/cycle/rail/walking to 

The creation of the 
Local Area Transport 
Boards provides for this 
requirement and shows 
our strong support for 
the integrated 
approach identified. 
The need for individual 
modal strategies is an 
attempt to highlight 
and demonstrate the 
specific requirements 
for each mode and 

No change 

Page 226



Consultee Comment Summary  LCC Response Recommendation 

ensure maximum benefits 
can be achieved.  
 
 

provide suggested 
approaches to be 
adopted within the 
Local Area Strategies. 

 Improvements to increase 
the uptake of cycling 
should be encouraged and 
investment made to make 
cycling a safer and 
attractive alternative e.g., 
need to provide secure 
cycle parking and cycle 
paths/routes.  

As highlighted above 
the Cycling strategy 
provides policy and 
approaches in support 
of exactly that. 

 

 The relationship between 
the implementation of the 
measures outlined in the 
LTP and the role the Local 
Transport Boards play in 
delivery of those 
measures needs careful 
consideration and 
integration. 

This is an issue around 
governance and 
delivery of the Local 
Transport Boards 
rather than a specific 
LTP issue.  However, 
longer term new LTP 
guidance is expected 
and emphasis on local 
engagement is likely to 
be key to the 
production of revisions 
to future LTPs. 

Consideration or 
review of the roles 
and responsibilities 
of the Local 
Transport Boards 
and the need to 
develop a more 
delivery focused 
emphasis. 
 
Creation of Terms 
of Reference and 
Membership 
requirements. 
 
Consideration is 
given to the 
creation of Wider 
Reference Groups 
for the area 
Transport Boards to 
enable active 
engagement with 
local interest 
groups. 

South East 
Lincolnshire 
Council 
Partnership 
(SELCP) -  
Boston 
Borough 
Council, 

Support the framework 
defined within themes 
that outline how 
Lincolnshire County 
Council (LCC) will respond 
to the social, economic, 
health and environmental, 
challenges LTP5 response 

Noted No change  

Page 227



Consultee Comment Summary  LCC Response Recommendation 

East Lindsey 
District 
Council,  
& South 
Holland 
District 
Council 

for South East Lincolnshire 
Council Partnership that 
Lincolnshire faces. 
However, to be effective 
LTP5, needs to more 
closely connect 
to and reference the key 
subregional projects 
within these themes. 

 The Introduction section is 
overly verbose in 
describing the contents of 
each chapter/section, and 
to keep an external 
audience engaged it could 
benefit from highlighting 
key content to come. 
 
It is therefore vital that 
within the introduction 
chapter, LCC seek to instil 
early confidence that LTP5 
and all other LCC statutory 
documents are aligned 
with the local 
development, transport, 
and economic plans of its 
district authorities, whilst 
being clear about the 
headline LCC and district 
authority total budget 
requirements committed 
to deliver key 
infrastructure projects. 

The LTP has been 
produced in line with 
current (Department 
for Transport) DfT 
guidance and the 6-
page introduction 
(which includes 2 pages 
of maps) is not 
considered to be overly 
long. 
 
Chapter 4 sets out the 
basis of the Integrated 
Transport Strategy and 
identifies the clear 
linkages and alignment 
across the suite of 
strategic 
documentation. 

Revisions to 
introduction with 
some elements of 
chapter 4 being 
pulled forward. 

 A key omission in the 
introduction of the draft 
LTP5 is that the document 
does not define the A17 as 
a ‘major road’ within a 
Lincolnshire context. The 
SELCP partners feel that 
this omission needs to be 
addressed, given the vital 
importance of the A17 in 
a local, regional, and 
national context. 

The A17 is shown on 
the Strategic Highway 
Routes on the map in 
the introduction.  There 
are several references 
in LTP 5 to 
improvements on the 
A17 to support 
economic growth and 
in particular the food 
valley.  The freight 
strategy also identifies 

No change 

Page 228



Consultee Comment Summary  LCC Response Recommendation 

the A17 as a key 
corridor for 
investment. 

 Request addition of top 
line financial numbers 
defining investments 
required, LCC and 
subregional available 
funds and the strategy to 
meet any shortfalls. 

At the time of writing 
LTP 5 the ability to 
identify scheme costs 
and potential budgets 
has not been 
completed.  There is 
ongoing work to 
identify and fill some of 
these gaps and this will 
be fed into a revised 
LTP 5 implementation 
Plan when available. 

Ongoing scheme 
development and 
costing work will 
help identify some 
of this missing 
information. 

 Request a reference in the 
early text to, and create 
an appendix section 
where subregional 
authorities can supply 
spreadsheet tables 
defining their key costed 
projects set against actual 
short-, medium- and long-
term timelines. 

In addition to costings 
there would need to be 
identified evidence of 
justification and need, 
how schemes would 
support the key LTP 
objectives and 
deliverability.  Have 
schemes a Strategic 
outline business case 
(SOBC) developed? 
 
It is not the role of LTP 
5 to create a “wish list” 
of schemes lacking 
strategic evidence. 

Development of the 
forthcoming 
implementation 
should address this 
issue.  
 
 

 Insert within the chapter 
how LCC plans to 
physically deliver projects 
with its private sector 
partners. Give examples of 
past successes delivered 
on time and budget 
timelines, current 
procurement 
processes etc. 

LTP 5 has been 
developed in line with 
DfT guidance.  The 
Implementation Plan 
has been developed up 
to a current level of 
detail in line with 
existing information 
and understanding. The 
role of the LTP is to 
provide a strategic 
framework within 
which schemes can be 
identified and then 
delivered.  At this time, 

Implementation will 
be updated moving 
forward. 

Page 229



Consultee Comment Summary  LCC Response Recommendation 

it is for individual bids 
to identify the 
likelihood of successful 
delivery. 

 In chapter 2 a series of 
appropriate themed 
diagrams within a 
Transport Plan should 
come together as an 
overlay in a final key 
diagram to both identify 
and justify where priority 
projects within a region 
are needed. SELCP are 
concerned that this final 
co-ordinated diagram and 
the text that should 
accompany it is missing 
from this section. 

Content to include 
additional diagrams 
covering deprivation 
and other areas 
requested but would 
be better placed in 
Chapter 3. 

Develop and include 
additional diagrams 
and text. 
 
 

 Ensure datasets being 
used to determine the 
future of transport 
infrastructure in LCC is 
varied and goes beyond 
timelines of recent covid 
impacts 

The evidence base 
gathered and utilised is 
considered both 
consistent and varied.  
Much of the evidence 
has been gathered 
from Greater 
Lincolnshire Local 
Enterprise Partnership 
(GLLEP) work, existing 
development plans and 
LCCs own historic data.  
Whilst COVID impacts 
are yet to be fully 
understood it would 
seem inappropriate to 
ignore the existing 
impact on the transport 
system.  It is also 
inappropriate to 
assume that travel and 
traffic will return to pre 
COVID conditions.  We 
consider the balance of 
both short term and 
historic evidence to be 

No change 

Page 230



Consultee Comment Summary  LCC Response Recommendation 

balanced and 
appropriate. 

 Where Sustainable Urban 
Extensions (SUE) are being 
proposed introduce a 
funding mechanism built 
into the planning consents 
to develop and support 
sustainable access for a 
defined area of rural 
hinterland adjacent to 
that development. 

Section 106 funding is 
already available so not 
clear what in addition 
this comment is 
seeking. 

Clarify with 
consultee but this 
does not fall under 
LTP remit. 

 Engage to commence 
work now on the long-
term infrastructure 
projects that SELCP and 
other districts/councils 
have in mind, and to 
support enabling funding 
applications as required to 
agencies like Homes 
England to support 
feasibility and scheme 
development work. 

Agreed, work of this 
nature is being 
developed as part of 
Local Transport 
Strategies. 

No change. 

 Ensure that all 
street/place-based 
schemes going forward 
have a significant degree 
of urban greening. Include 
a requirement for a SUDs 
programme to introduced 
which on existing or as 
part of new schemes 
requires as a minimum, 
permeable paving 
materials to use in 
pedestrian areas. 

Agreed Include relevant 
section in policy 
wording. 

 Create a standard 
template for the modal 
implementation tables 
and revise all tables to 
match. Avoid using the 
term policy for proposed 
aims, but where relevant 
refer to the policies set 

Agreed Rework of tables to 
improve 
consistency. 

Page 231



Consultee Comment Summary  LCC Response Recommendation 

out in the previous 
chapter. 

 Boston should be 
promoted in the LTP5 as a 
location for 
an E-Bus trial. 

The technical work 
identifies Boston as a 
leading contender for 
the development of  
E-Bus technology.  This 
is reflected in a number 
of places throughout 
the suite of LTP 
documents. 
Additional 
development work is 
now required to 
develop SOBC for the 
project.  

No change required 
in LTP. 

Transport 
for East 
Midlands 

Support for overall 
approach adopted in the 
plan. 

Noted No change  

 The priorities identified 
for Lincolnshire in the 
draft LTP appear 
consistent with the 
strategic priorities TfEM 
has established and 
shared with industry 
partners across modes. 

Noted No change  

 In respect to rail, it is right 
that the draft LTP 
recognizes that the 
Transport for the East 
Midlands (TfEM)/DfT 
Collaboration agreement 
provides a clear 
mechanism for promoting 
collective regionwide rail 
priorities and responding 
to industry reforms. 

Noted No change  

 Continued partnership 
working and aligned 
objectives will be key to 
reversing long term trends 
of low Government 
transport investment in 
the East Midlands. 

Noted No change  

Page 232



Consultee Comment Summary  LCC Response Recommendation 

North East 
Lincolnshire 
Council 

Very supportive of our 
references to wider 
connectivity including 
broad band and the fact 
we are not just focussed 
on physical connectivity.  
Also supportive of 
accessing ports, the A1 
improvements and the 
wider freight strategy. 

Noted No change 

 Would lie a reference to 
Cleethorpes to London rail 
service. 

Noted, this is 
referenced in rail 
strategy. 

No change 

North 
Lincolnshire 
Council 

Agree with the principles 
identified within the Plan 
and welcome the inclusion 
of the A15 (between the 
A46 and Junction 4 of the 
M180) for future 
improvements and the 
recognition of its 
importance as a strategic 
economic corridor, 
particularly with the 
emergence of the Humber 
Freeport.  

Noted No change  

 Would like to highlight 
that the A46 Trans-
Midlands Trade Corridor 
Study also includes the 
A15 north from Riseholme 
roundabout. 

Noted No change 

Thurlby 
Parish 

Acceptance that 
traditional farming and 
agricultural tractors and 
similar machinery will 
continue with unrestricted 
access. We would, 
however, wish to see 
restrictions on Heavy 
Goods Vehicles (HGV) and 
other large commercial 
vehicles in transit, when 
there are alternative and 
convenient main highway 
routing options. 

The freight strategy 
acknowledges both the 
importance of HGV 
movements to the 
economy but also 
recognises that HGVs 
can cause intrusion in 
some localities. It 
proposes supporting 
modal shift from road 
to rail, focussing 
highway improvements 
that encourage HGVs to 
us the most suitable 

No change 

Page 233



Consultee Comment Summary  LCC Response Recommendation 

roads and routes and to 
improve driving 
training. 

 Requirement for 
designated safe lanes for 
walking and cycling and 
we would wish to see 
funding made available for 
this.  

LTP highlights the need 
to Both walking and 
cycling strategies 
highlight the need for 
safe and direct routes 
for active travel. LTP 

No change 

 We are presently investing 
in equipment to help 
enforce speed limits.  Any 
support from Plan 5 for 
additional controls and 
restrictions would be 
welcome. 

The road safety 
partnership has its own 
strategy that has been 
cross referenced in the 
LTP. Supporting road 
safety is a key LTP 5 
objective. 

Share the response 
with Lincolnshire 
Road Safety 
partnership. 

PEDALS 
Spalding 
Cycling 
Group 

Broadly welcomes all the 
objectives in the plan 
promoting active travel 
and is pleased to note that 
the plan recognizes the 
health and environmental 
benefits of cycling. 

Noted No change 

 Supportive of actions 
identified in the cycling 
strategy. 

Noted No change 

 Raise concerns that the 
Area Transport Boards do 
not fully represent the 
locality and feels wider 
representation is 
necessary. 

This is an issue around 
governance and 
delivery of the Local 
Transport Boards 
rather than a specific 
LTP issue.  However, 
longer term new LTP 
guidance is expected 
and emphasis on local 
engagement is likely to 
be key to the 
production of revisions 
to future LTPs. 

Consideration is 
given to the 
creation of Wider 
Reference Groups 
for the area 
Transport Boards to 
enable active 
engagement with 
local interest groups 
or a review of the 
roles of the Local 
Area Transport 
Boards. 

 Page 4 of the Prospectus 
comments that "in rural 
areas cars are still 
essential for many". This is 
reflected in Objective 1b 
on page 10.  This 
statement may be applied 

The LTP recognises 
Spalding as a market 
town and not open 
countryside and as such 
it has an area transport 
strategy that seeks to 
improve connectivity 

No change but 
comment to be 
passed to Area 
Transport Board. 

Page 234



Consultee Comment Summary  LCC Response Recommendation 

to many of the villages 
and isolated dwellings in 
South Holland's 
countryside. However, the 
town of Spalding and its 
immediate surroundings 
should not be described in 
this way. Facilitating more 
active travel in the town 
will not only benefit those 
who want to travel 
actively but will also 
potentially free up road 
space and parking space 
for those who have no 
alternative to using motor 
vehicles.     

from its hinterland by 
active modes. 

 A plea for ongoing and 
more active consultation 
and local engagement. 

The LTP consultation 
has conformed to 
guidance on the 
production of such a 
document. 

Consideration is 
given to the 
creation of Wider 
Reference Groups 
for the area 
Transport Boards to 
enable active 
engagement with 
local interest groups 
or a review of the 
roles of the Local 
Area Transport 
Boards. 

 Would welcome and 
support county wide 
information for and the 
promotion of cycling. 

LTP provides significant 
policy support for the 
benefits of active travel 
and both the walking 
and cycling strategies 
identify a need to 
further develop and 
promote the benefits 
of active travel 
including promotional 
activity. 

No change 

 In the absence of a Local 
Cycling and Walking 
Infrastructure Plan for 
South Holland PEDALS 
suggests that 

LCWIPS have been 
produced for the major 
towns including 
Spalding.  Further work 
is being developed for 

No change 

Page 235



Consultee Comment Summary  LCC Response Recommendation 

development should be 
through consultation with 
local users. 

the smaller towns and 
communities not 
covered by the Area 
Transport Boards. 

 Would like to see 
reference made to 
increasing cycle capacity 
on trains in the rail 
strategy.  

Noted. To add a reference 
in rail strategy and 
include with any 
conversations with 
TOCs moving 
forward. 

Deepings 
Neighbourh
ood Plan 
Group 

The LTP does not 
sufficiently recognise the 
role of The Deepings area. 

As a high-level 
document, the LTP 
cannot identify and list 
every community and 
its role.  The focus on 
identifying the major 
settlements based on 
District Local Plan 
definitions has been 
used. 

No change. 

 Lack of reference to 
Neighbourhood Plans. 

As referenced above 
the LTP cannot 
reference every town 
and parish 
neighbourhood plan. 

No change 

 Feel that references to 
case studies are 
undeveloped and suggest 
a local project be 
included. 

Acknowledge that the 
LTP is light on case 
studies. 

Consider inclusion 
of Deepings project 
as a case study 
within the walking 
or cycling strategies. 

 Feels LTP lacks a detailed 
and costed programme. 

Work is ongoing to 
further develop a more 
detailed set of costed 
interventions and 
projects. 

Ongoing work will 
develop 
programme. 

North Notts 
& Lincs 
Community 
Rail 
Partnership 

The plan, a great 
improvement on LTP4, is 
one we wholeheartedly 
support. 

Noted No change 

 Would welcome 
involvement with the 
Gainsborough Area 
Transport Board. 

This is an issue around 
governance and 
delivery of the Local 
Transport Boards 
rather than a specific 
LTP issue.  However, 

Consideration is 
given to the 
creation of Wider 
Reference Groups 
for the area 
Transport Boards to 

Page 236



Consultee Comment Summary  LCC Response Recommendation 

longer term new LTP 
guidance is expected 
and emphasis on local 
engagement is likely to 
be key to the 
production of revisions 
to future LTPs. 

enable active 
engagement with 
local interest groups 
or a review of the 
roles of the Local 
Area Transport 
Boards. 

 Feel that the A631 is not 
given sufficient weight as 
a key east west link. 

The A631 has not been 
identified as a route for 
RAP work and this is 
indicated in the LTP. 

Consideration be 
given to 
investigating the 
A631 route as part 
of any future phase 
of RAP identification 
and inclusion in LTP 
of evidence 
supporting routes 
that are included. 

 Inclusion of a second 
crossing of the Tent in 
Gainsborough. 

An issue for the Local 
Area Transport Board 

Comments to be 
passed to Transport 
Board 

Orby Parish 
Council 

Request that the LTP lists 
a bypass for Orby. 

The LTP recognises the 
need to improve 
connectivity to the East 
Coast, however at 
present there is 
insufficient evidence to 
identify a specific 
scheme at Orby.  Work 
is ongoing to look at 
options for improving 
coastal connectivity 
and a bypass for Orby is 
included within that 
work. 

Pass comments 
onto project team. 

Mr Stevens 
(resident 
Deeping St 
James) 

General support for LTP 
themes and objectives. 

Noted No change 

 Very supportive of 
approach to walking and 
in particular integration 
with public transport. 

Noted No change 

 Requirement of cycle 
facilities to be continuous 
and removal of severance.  

LTP highlights need to 
reduce severance for all 
active modes and 
identifies the need to 

No change 

Page 237



Consultee Comment Summary  LCC Response Recommendation 

crate safe networks of 
routes that are well 
connected. 

 Supportive of approach 
towards buses. Would like 
to see better information 
provision and greater use 
of technology. 

LTP supports expansion 
of bus investment in 
line with the BSIP 
response to 
government. 

No change 

 Supportive of a reopened 
station at Littleworth. 

LTP identifies the 
possible need for new 
stations in Lincolnshire 
and commits to 
working with Network 
Rail to investigate 
where suitable sites 
might be. 

No change 

 Specific references to 
junction improvements in 
the Deepings. 

LTP’s role is not to list 
all minor highway 
improvements.  

No change but 
response to be 
forwarded to 
highways. 

 

Page 238



Lincolnshire 
Walking 
Strategy

Page 239



2 3

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 W
al

ki
ng

 S
tr

at
eg

y

Strategy overview

The Lincolnshire County Council (LCC) has 
commissioned WSP to develop a Lincolnshire  
Walking Strategy (LWS), sets out how the potential  
for increasing walking for all trip purposes  
can be realised for the county.

The LWS is a supporting strategy to the core LTP 5  
and sits alongside other policies and strategies  
such as the Lincolnshire Cycling Strategy and  
other modal strategies.

The LWS has been developed with reference  
to the six LTP themes including:

• Economic growth;

• Greening of transport and climate change;

• Creating a thriving environment;

• Supporting safety, security and a healthy lifestyle;

• Promoting high aspirations; and,

• Quality of life.

The LWS has been developed using an extensive  
evidence base and has been informed by stakeholder 
input, where people were invited to review and identify 
relevant challenges and opportunities and define the 
strategy vision, objectives and policies.

Lincolnshire walking strategy

Introducing our strategy for active  
traveling Lincolnshire.

LCC recognises the role that walking and cycling (active 
travel) can play in improving the health and wellbeing 
of our residents, how it can support the economy and 
contribute towards our commitments to combating 
climate change.

Active travel will, increasingly, form a key part of  
how Lincolnshire residents move around the county.  
As a form of tackling congestion, reducing our carbon 
footprint, and improving our health, walking and  
cycling must play an important role.

Walking and cycling can also play a part in other,  
non-transport, issues. Our high streets and towns are 
changing, we rise to this challenge by adapting to what 
the high street will look like in the future and making 
our towns and villages more 'people friendly'. We will 
encourage economic growth and support the vitality  
of towns and villages as places where people dwell and 
where the principle focus of the town is not to facilitate 
the through movement of motor traffic. The development 
of Walking and Cycling Strategies is a key step in our 
approach to increase all forms of walking and cycling 
activity in Lincolnshire, from people travelling to work 
to those enjoying a walk or jog in their local area or a 
weekend cycle ride.

While cycling and walking both contribute towards  
similar objectives to improve health, benefit the 
environment and support the economy, we have  
taken the approach to develop separate parallel  
strategies for each. This approach has been adopted  
to recognise the differences between the two modes  
of travel, both in terms of their characteristics and the  
way that people consider them as way of getting around.

 
Our vision is to make Lincolnshire 
a place where walking is a natural 
choice for everyday journeys,  
for leisure and for enjoyment 
and where walking is seen  
as accessible, inclusive  
and attractive for all.

Benefits of walking

Walking for all sorts of purposes offers the potential  
to help people of all ages live happier, healthier  
and more active lives while contributing towards 
improving the environment, boosting the economy  
and enhancing the communities we live in.

The case for investing in walking is strong1 due to the 
range of benefits that it provides and the contribution  
to wider policy objectives around health, climate  
change and a sustainable economy.

Health and wellbeing

Many people are not physically active enough and  
this is contributing to poor physical and mental health2. 
The direct and indirect costs of physical inactivity on  
the UK economy equates to £7.4 billion each year2, 3.

UK Physical Activity Guidelines recommend that  
adults should do at least 2.5 hours of moderate  
activity every week4.

Walking provides an easy way in which people of  
all ages can build physical activity into their daily  
lives, for example, a half hour walk, five days of  
the week. This could be done as part of a journey  
to work or school or by taking the dog for walk.

For children, it is recommended that they do at least  
an hour of physical activity every day, with active travel 
a way in which they can achieve this and minimise the 
amount of time spent sedentary4. Being active plays  
a key role in brain development in early childhood  
and supports longer-term educational attainment2.

Loneliness is an increasingly common issue faced in  
the community, with one in four elderly people having 
no-one they can rely on5. Walking can facilitate social 
connections6, helping to reduce loneliness and  
improve the health and wellbeing of the community.

Environment

More people walking for more of their journeys rather 
than using the car will benefit the environment through 
reductions in air pollution, emissions and congestion.

Along with being a sustainable method of allowing people 
to get to the places they need to go, walking is also a low-
carbon leisure activity. It does not require any specialist 
equipment and for many people it is accessible from 
where they live.

Economy

Increasing the number of people walking can contribute 
towards vibrant places and boost the economy, making 
streets feel more welcoming and providing opportunities 
for social interaction and enjoyment of the outdoor 
environment7.

Attractive, accessible and high-quality pedestrian 
environments support economic vitality, attracting  
visitors and investment to boost the local economy8.

Walking tourism is an increasingly common form of 
tourism that allows people to engage and explore different 
areas and enrich their experiences through interactions 
with the local people, nature and culture9. Economically, 
it is estimated that walkers spend over £6 billion per year 
in the English countryside10, highlighting the significant 
contribution that walking tourism makes to counties  
like Lincolnshire.

A popular tourist destination can benefit economically 
by having a connected, safe and attractive walking 
network providing opportunities to hotels and other 
establishments that accommodate the tourists, thus 
providing a boost to the local economy. 

The health and wellbeing benefits of walking also result 
in economic benefits, for example, if everyone in a town 
of 150,000 people walked just 10 minutes more a day, 31 
lives a year would be saved with a value of £30 million11.

P
age 240



4 5

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 W
al

ki
ng

 S
tr

at
eg

y

Challenges and opportunities

Through the compilation of an appropriate evidence base and stakeholder input, the following challenges  
and opportunities for walking have been identified for Lincolnshire.

Challenge Opportunity

Even the most gradual slope can be a barrier to walking.

Lincolnshire has a largely level topography,  
making walking less taxing in most areas.

Hillier areas like the Wolds are popular destinations  
for leisure walking.

Parts of the transport network can create barriers  
to walking. In both urban and rural areas busy roads  
can be unattractive to walk alongside and cross. 
Waterways and railways can also present barriers  
to walking due to a lack of crossing points. There  
are also more localised barriers, such as vehicles  
parked on footways.

The highway and waterway network provide walking 
connectivity and the potential for improvements.

The public transport network offers potential for wider 
connectivity for journeys that begin or end on foot. 

Lincolnshire, like the rest of the UK, is undergoing  
a massive age shift. Lincolnshire is one of many  
rural and coastal areas already reflecting the kind  
of demographics we expect to see nationally  
in 2080 (44% aged over 50) with 43.4% of the  
population already aged over 50 and 27%  
aged between 50 and 69.

Walking can play a role in more active lifestyles, 
improving health and wellbeing and increasing  
disability-free life expectancy.

Parts of the county suffer from high-levels of  
deprivation, particularly related to health and disability. Improved walking routes can also reduce social exclusion.

48% of the population live in rural areas where  
many amenities are not within walking distance.

Many rural residents are close to the rural Public Rights  
of Way Network, offering leisure walking opportunities. 

The urban population may have a lack of  
access to open space and rural walking routes.

The population that live in urban areas are closer  
to many amenities, offering potential for walking  
for everyday journeys. 

Challenge Opportunity

Tourism generates a significant amount of traffic 
congestion where activity is concentrated, such  
as the coast and particularly during the busy  
summer season.

There are opportunities to increase walking among 
visitors to the area, both as a mode of transport  
and a holiday activity.

Lincolnshire has much to offer for people looking  
for walking holidays, such as the coast, the Wolds  
and miles of open countryside.

Over 80% of households have access to a car or van,  
with over 66% of travel to work trips in Lincolnshire  
being made by these modes of transport.

Those with no access to a car or van are mostly located  
in urban areas and are a key demographic to promote 
and facilitate journeys on foot.

The high proportion of households with car access 
provides potential for people to reach wider destinations 
for leisure walking.

Lincolnshire has an extensive Public Rights of Way 
network and there is potential to improve and expand  
it to make it inclusive to all and reduce the proportion 
of trips by car for all purposes.

The proportion of people that walk for everyday travel 
purposes has reduced in recent years and is lower  
in comparison to the rest of the country.

A greater proportion of people in Lincolnshire walk  
for leisure purposes than the rest of the country.

There has been an increase in the proportion of  
road user casualties that are pedestrians since 2016.

An effective walking strategy can support a reverse the 
proportion of pedestrian road casualties by improving 
pedestrian safety. 

Many existing developments are designed  
predominantly for access by car. 

New land use developments offer potential to create 
sustainable communities from the outset, with walking 
playing a key role.

Personal barriers to walking include ill-health, concerns 
over security and safety and household characteristics.

Safer routes and well-maintained infrastructure would 
encourage people to walk more.

P
age 241



6 7

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 W
al

ki
ng

 S
tr

at
eg

y

Strategy overview and approach

This Walking Strategy has been developed to support the overarching objectives of the LTP 5. 

The Strategy has been developed using an evidence-based approach, drawing on a range of data and informed  
by stakeholder input as well as national and local policy.

Stakeholder input evidence  
base on national policy

LTP 5 Themes

Vision

Infrastructure policies

Network and connectivity policies

New developments policies

Leisure and tourism policies

Encouraging and enabling policies

Infrastructure

Network and connectivity

New developments

Leisure and tourism

Encouraging and enabling

Walking strategy policiesWalking strategy themes

Objectives

The previous figure presents the approach that has  
been undertaken to developing the strategy vision, 
objectives, themes and policies.

The Lincolnshire Walking Strategy vision presented  
in the Introduction section will be realised through  
the following four objectives:

• Improve the quality and usability of the walking 
environment to ensure it is safe and inclusive  
for all.

• Make walking a part of Lincolnshire residents’  
everyday travel choices to improve physical  
and mental health wellbeing.

• Enhance walking within Lincolnshire’s leisure  
and tourism offer to support the economy.

• Increase pedestrian safety and make walking feel  
like a safe and accessible method of travel for all.

The objectives will be achieved through the 
implementation of a range of policies. 

These policies have been categorised into five themes:

• Infrastructure;

• Networks and connectivity;

• New developments;

• Leisure and tourism; and,

• Encouraging and enabling.

The strategy policies sit within one of the themes 
and contribute to one or more of the four objectives.

The vision, objectives, themes and policies have  
been informed by the extensive evidence base, 
stakeholder engagement and policy review.

Policies

The Walking Strategy objectives will be achieved  
through policies that are arranged into the five themes.

The policies are introduced and presented in the  
following sections, which also provide a description  
of the five themes.

The table of policies within each theme references  
how each of the policies contribute towards one  
or more the strategy objectives. 

Theme 1: Infrastructure

Providing the appropriate infrastructure  
to enable walking journeys.

In many parts of the county, the walking infrastructure 
connects people with the places that they want to reach 
on foot or allows them to connect with other forms  
of transport for an onward journey.

However, there is a lack of consistency in infrastructure, 
with many parts of the county lacking the appropriate 
infrastructure to support walking journeys, many of  
which are local trips within peoples’ neighbourhoods. 

The lack of appropriate infrastructure is a key barrier  
to more people walking for more of their journeys  
or as a leisure activity.

The Infrastructure policies in this Walking Strategy  
seek to identify where there are gaps in infrastructure  
or where the existing provision needs renewal. 

Our approach will be strategic where necessary,  
following the DfT Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure 
Plan (LCWIP) approach to identify and prioritise where 
walking infrastructure improvements are needed.

We will also work collaboratively and at a local level, 
with planning authorities, parish councils and other 
stakeholders to identify areas for improvement and  
to seek funding from different sources to deliver  
the interventions.

P
age 242



8 9

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 W
al

ki
ng

 S
tr

at
eg

y

Theme 2: Networks and connectivity

Enhancing walking's role in connecting people  
to the places they want to reach.

Walking allows people to make door-to-door  
journeys and can be an independent, reliable,  
accessible and low-cost form of travel.

However, the potential for the role of walking  
when it comes to connecting people and place  
is often hindered by a lack of connectivity and  
incoherent networks.

The policies in this Networks and connectivity  
theme aim to address the existing barriers  
thatmake it difficult to walk for part or all  
of a particular journey.

Walking supports the use of public transport, which  
will play a key role in a low-carbon transport future.  
The better integration of walking and public transport  
will allow the benefits of greater use of both modes  
to be realised, enhancing accessibility and connectivity 
across Lincolnshire.

Other emerging forms of sustainable transport  
that are likely to become mainstream in the future,  
such as shared mobility (e.g. bike sharing), will  
need integration with walking to fulfil their potential.  
The early identification of opportunities to integrate 
walking with other sustainable forms of transport  
will be key to facilitating increased levels of walking.

The Public Rights of Way (PRoW) network includes  
over 2,500 miles of routes for walking and in some  
cases cycling and horse-riding. The PRoW network 
provides a valuable resource to support walking trips  
for all purposes and the enhancement of the network  
is vitally important to supporting this Walking Strategy.

The road network uses an approach to signage and 
wayfinding for drivers that makes it understandable  
and consistent across Lincolnshire and beyond,  
regardless of the type of road. An effective and  
legible walking network needs the equivalent  
approach, whether using a footway adjacent  
to a road, a waterway path or a public footpath.

The Walking Strategy aims to address how the  
countywide walking network is presented to users,  
both when planning a journey and when using  
wayfinding information whilst making a journey.

Linking to the Leisure and tourism theme (theme 4),  
the legibility of Lincolnshire’s walking network is  
important in supporting the visitor economy, ensuring 
people less familiar with their surroundings can make  
the most of walking routes as part of their excursion.

Theme 3: New developments

Opportunities to create sustainable communities  
with active travel at the centre.

There are four Local Plans that provide the land use 
planning framework for Lincolnshire over the next  
few decades:

• Central Lincolnshire Local Plan (City of Lincoln,  
West Lindsey and North Kesteven).

• East Lindsey Local Plan.

• Southeast Lincolnshire Local Plan  
(Boston Borough and South Holland).

• South Kesteven Local Plan.

The Local Plans include the provision of over 80,000 
additional homes in Lincolnshire by 2036, approximately 
one-third of which will be in Sustainable Urban Extensions 
developed alongside the existing urban areas such  
as Lincoln and Boston.

These new developments provide a significant opportunity 
to embed sustainable behaviours from the outset and 
as such, a new developments theme forms part of this 
Walking Strategy.

The policies within the new developments theme seek  
to capitalise on the opportunity to put walking (and cycling) 
at the forefront of the transport hierarchy within major 
new development sites. 

This is not just about enabling people to travel around 
easier on foot, it is also about creating walkable 
neighbourhoods that are shown to enhance social  
and community engagement33, helping to create  
happier and more healthy communities.

The policies seek to work with our partners in the  
planning authorities to ensure effective planning  
and design of the development sites.

There is also a focus on maximising funding opportunities 
to deliver infrastructure and secure a revenue stream 
to implement effective travel planning, supporting new 
residents with the means to travel sustainably and use 
walking as part of their everyday travel choices.

Theme 4: Leisure and tourism

As a popular leisure and tourism activity,  
walking improves physical and mental health,  
can boost community spirit and supports  
a key part of the economy.

Many people in Lincolnshire walk for leisure several  
times a week, making it one of the most popular  
ways that people keep active.

It is also apparent that the COVID-19 pandemic saw  
more people walk more frequently than they did  
before13, which included exploring their local areas  
as wider travel was restricted and many places and 
activities were closed.

For many people this has increased the importance  
of being able to access green space and walking routes 
from home, without always needing to travel further  
afield to undertake this activity.

However, many people are still inactive and not  
meeting the minimum Government guidelines for  
activity per week with Lincolnshire’s adult population 
identified as one of the most inactive in England14.

The Walking Strategy will aim to build on the increase  
in people walking in their local area and seek to engage 
more people walking at least once a week as part  
of a health and active lifestyle.

Lincolnshire has a significant leisure and tourism  
offer for residents and visitors alike, with walking  
routes through the picturesque countryside and  
along the scenic coastline. Our historic towns and  
the City of Lincoln are key attractions but are also  
compact and walkable. 

More people exploring these locations on foot or 
combining walking with other sustainable modes  
will benefit the economy, while providing health  
and wellbeing benefits to people and contributing  
to our wider sustainability agenda.

It is likely that more people will take days out and holidays 
within the UK in the immediate future and Lincolnshire 
has much to offer, such as scenic walking routes and 
destinations, both inland and along the coast.

The flat topography in many areas, particularly the coastal 
resort towns, provide opportunities for walking to play 
a greater role in how people get around once they have 
arrived at their holiday accommodation.

More people walking as part of a leisure and tourism 
activity, whether they are residents or visitors, also 
provides an opportunity to boost the economy and 
support local businesses due to an increase in footfall. 
This is particularly important at present as many local 
businesses hope for a continued emergence from the 
COVID-19 lockdown restrictions.

P
age 243



10 11

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 W
al

ki
ng

 S
tr

at
eg

y

Theme 5: Encouraging and enabling

Influencing behaviour and removing barriers.

We understand that walking is often not a viable option 
for many people due to accessibility issues. Even for those 
who are able to walk, not every journey is walkable due 
to distance, household characteristics or time constraints. 
There are also barriers that reduce the amount of walking 
for leisure purposes, such as access to open spaces and 
leisure routes.

The issue of pedestrian safety on our roads is an area 
we will continue to address, working with partner 
organisations in the process. Our approach will involve 
continuing existing programmes, such as the Community 
Speed Watch Scheme and identifying new initiatives that 
will contribute towards vision zero in terms of deaths  
and serious injuries.

We also recognise that the perception of safety and 
security can be a barrier to walking for many people. 
Accordingly, we want to better understand the obstacles 
that people face, recognising that this step is essential for 
implementing appropriate measures to increase walking.

The strategy is inclusive, supporting people of all  
ages to include walking as part of maintaining an  
active lifestyle, such as engaging with schools in  
addition to the ageing population. 

The Strategy will also aim to encourage and enable  
walking by focusing on the segments of the population 
that have the highest propensity for increasing their 
walking levels. This will facilitate a tailored approach  
to enabling and encouraging walking based around 
people, the places they want to access and the activities 
they want to undertake.

Promoting walking as a way that people can build  
physical activity into their daily lives will be a key focus  
of the strategy. We will work with partners to achieve  
this, supporting mutual objectives related to creating  
a more active and healthier Lincolnshire.

To achieve theme 1 

The Lincolnshire Walking Strategy objectives  
in relation to the infrastructure theme will:

Im
pr

ov
e 

th
e 

qu
al

ity
 a

nd
 u

sa
bi

lit
y 

of
  

th
e 

w
al

ki
ng

 e
nv

iro
nm

en
t t

o 
en

su
re

  
it 

is
 s

af
e 

an
d 

in
cl

us
iv

e 
fo

r a
ll.

M
ak

e 
w

al
ki

ng
 a

 p
ar

t o
f L

in
co

ln
sh

ire
 

re
si

de
nt

s’ 
ev

er
yd

ay
 tr

av
el

 c
ho

ic
es

  
to

 im
pr

ov
e 

ph
ys

ic
al

 a
nd

 m
en

ta
l. 

En
ha

nc
e 

w
al

ki
ng

 w
ith

in
 L

in
co

ln
sh

ire
’s 

le
is

ur
e 

an
d 

to
ur

is
m

 o
ffe

r t
o 

su
pp

or
t  

th
e 

ec
on

om
y.

In
cr

ea
se

 p
ed

es
tr

ia
n 

sa
fe

ty
 a

nd
 m

ak
e 

w
al

ki
ng

 fe
el

 li
ke

 a
 s

af
e 

an
d 

ac
ce

ss
ib

le
 

m
et

ho
d 

of
 tr

av
el

 fo
r a

ll.

Develop and review cycling and walking infrastructure  
plans for every local transport strategy area in-line with  
the DfT LCWIP guidance.

Use LCWIPs where available to identify and implement  
infrastructure improvements to facilitate walking trips to key 
destinations, such as schools, town/village centres, employment  
sites and transport interchanges.

Work collaboratively with partners and enforce travel plans  
where relevant as part of the planning process to maximise  
funding opportunities for walking infrastructure from every  
available source, including Section 106 and competitive bidding.

Work with planning authorities, parish councils, and other bodies to 
identify and mitigate physical barriers to walking, such as the crossing 
of roads, railways and waterways, particularly those identified as key 
links and where the current and proposed PRoW network intersects.

Improve the pedestrian environments in urban centres by promoting 
infrastructure changes and traffic management measures as part of 
placemaking and creating spaces where people want to walk, dwell  
and carry out linked trips through schemes such as streetscape  
planting and urban realm enhancements.

Ensure that all infrastructure changes associated with new or  
improved walking routes to include comprehensive wayfinding  
and safety features such as lighting where appropriate.

Expand the ‘School Living Streets’ programme across  
Lincolnshire based on initial trial in Lincoln.

Develop an updated Rights of Way Improvement Plan (ROWIP) that 
includes plans to enhance the existing PRoW network and develop  
new connections.

P
age 244



12 13

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 W
al

ki
ng

 S
tr

at
eg

y

To achieve theme 2

The Lincolnshire Walking Strategy objectives  
in relation to the networks and connectivity 
theme will:

Im
pr

ov
e 

th
e 

qu
al

ity
 a

nd
 u

sa
bi

lit
y 

of
  

th
e 

w
al

ki
ng

 e
nv

iro
nm

en
t t

o 
en

su
re

  
it 

is
 s

af
e 

an
d 

in
cl

us
iv

e 
fo

r a
ll.

M
ak

e 
w

al
ki

ng
 a

 p
ar

t o
f L

in
co

ln
sh

ire
 

re
si

de
nt

s’ 
ev

er
yd

ay
 tr

av
el

 c
ho

ic
es

  
to

 im
pr

ov
e 

ph
ys

ic
al

 a
nd

 m
en

ta
l. 

En
ha

nc
e 

w
al

ki
ng

 w
ith

in
 L

in
co

ln
sh

ire
’s 

le
is

ur
e 

an
d 

to
ur

is
m

 o
ffe

r t
o 

su
pp

or
t  

th
e 

ec
on

om
y.

In
cr

ea
se

 p
ed

es
tr

ia
n 

sa
fe

ty
 a

nd
 m

ak
e 

w
al

ki
ng

 fe
el

 li
ke

 a
 s

af
e 

an
d 

ac
ce

ss
ib

le
 

m
et

ho
d 

of
 tr

av
el

 fo
r a

ll.

Review and audit wayfinding signage to identify where improvements 
are needed (particularly in areas with high visitor numbers) and 
implement improvements.

Improve the connectivity between walking and other sustainable 
modes of travel as part of enabling people to reduce dependency  
on cars for more journeys.

Develop an updated Rights of Way Improvement Plan (ROWIP)  
that includes plans to enhance the existing PRoW network and  
develop new connections.

Work with public transport operators to promote and facilitate  
multi-modal journeys that include walking.

Use the local cycling and walking network plans that have  
been developed for the urban areas of the county to identify  
and implement walking infrastructure schemes and develop  
public realm and place centred initiatives – securing funding  
that becomes available for these interventions.

Develop (alongside partners) a consistent signage and way  
finding strategy.

Establish a branded county PRoW network with associated  
signage and mapping.

Revamp our mapping, ensuring digital and paper coverage  
of maps for active travel journeys.

Integrate walking with other modes of travel as part  
of a sustainable door-to-door journey.

To achieve theme 3 
 
The Lincolnshire Walking Strategy objectives in 
relation to the new developments theme will: 

Im
pr

ov
e 

th
e 

qu
al

ity
 a

nd
 u

sa
bi

lit
y 

of
  

th
e 

w
al

ki
ng

 e
nv

iro
nm

en
t t

o 
en

su
re

  
it 

is
 s

af
e 

an
d 

in
cl

us
iv

e 
fo

r a
ll.

M
ak

e 
w

al
ki

ng
 a

 p
ar

t o
f L

in
co

ln
sh

ire
 

re
si

de
nt

s’ 
ev

er
yd

ay
 tr

av
el

 c
ho

ic
es

  
to

 im
pr

ov
e 

ph
ys

ic
al

 a
nd

 m
en

ta
l. 

En
ha

nc
e 

w
al

ki
ng

 w
ith

in
 L

in
co

ln
sh

ire
’s 

le
is

ur
e 

an
d 

to
ur

is
m

 o
ffe

r t
o 

su
pp

or
t  

th
e 

ec
on

om
y.

In
cr

ea
se

 p
ed

es
tr

ia
n 

sa
fe

ty
 a

nd
 m

ak
e 

w
al

ki
ng

 fe
el

 li
ke

 a
 s

af
e 

an
d 

ac
ce

ss
ib

le
 

m
et

ho
d 

of
 tr

av
el

 fo
r a

ll.

Work with planning authorities to ensure that walking is prioritised 
through effective planning and design of new developments.

Work with planning authorities to prioritise development that  
provides mixed land use creating neighbourhoods that are  
walkable and well connected.

Enhance existing PRoW and identify opportunities for additions  
to the PRoW network in relation to new developments.

Work with planning authorities to maximise funding opportunities 
related to new developments, such as Section 106 funding.

Work with planning authorities to ensure travel plans that  
encourage and facilitate walking are developed and implemented.

P
age 245



14 15

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 W
al

ki
ng

 S
tr

at
eg

y

To achieve theme 4

The Lincolnshire Walking Strategy objectives in 
relation to the leisure and tourism theme will:

Im
pr

ov
e 

th
e 

qu
al

ity
 a

nd
 u

sa
bi

lit
y 

of
  

th
e 

w
al

ki
ng

 e
nv

iro
nm

en
t t

o 
en

su
re

  
it 

is
 s

af
e 

an
d 

in
cl

us
iv

e 
fo

r a
ll.

M
ak

e 
w

al
ki

ng
 a

 p
ar

t o
f L

in
co

ln
sh

ire
 

re
si

de
nt

s’ 
ev

er
yd

ay
 tr

av
el

 c
ho

ic
es

  
to

 im
pr

ov
e 

ph
ys

ic
al

 a
nd

 m
en

ta
l. 

En
ha

nc
e 

w
al

ki
ng

 w
ith

in
 L

in
co

ln
sh

ire
’s 

le
is

ur
e 

an
d 

to
ur

is
m

 o
ffe

r t
o 

su
pp

or
t  

th
e 

ec
on

om
y.

In
cr

ea
se

 p
ed

es
tr

ia
n 

sa
fe

ty
 a

nd
 m

ak
e 

w
al

ki
ng

 fe
el

 li
ke

 a
 s

af
e 

an
d 

ac
ce

ss
ib

le
 

m
et

ho
d 

of
 tr

av
el

 fo
r a

ll.

Work with partners to develop a co-ordinated walking tourism offer  
as part of Brand Lincolnshire.

Work with partners to promote walking routes and destinations, such 
as the Wolds, the Viking Way and the Coast, as part of Lincolnshire's 
tourism offer.

Identify and enhance where needed the key highway and PRoW 
routes that offer opportunities for people to access local green space, 
particularly those in urban areas.

Build on the increase in local leisure walking during the lockdown 
periods by promoting local routes and green spaces.

Continue to support and promote events that celebrate walking,  
such as local Walking Festivals.

To achieve theme 5

The Lincolnshire Walking Strategy objectives  
in relation to the encouraging and enabling 
theme will:

Im
pr

ov
e 

th
e 

qu
al

ity
 a

nd
 u

sa
bi

lit
y 

of
  

th
e 

w
al

ki
ng

 e
nv

iro
nm

en
t t

o 
en

su
re

  
it 

is
 s

af
e 

an
d 

in
cl

us
iv

e 
fo

r a
ll.

M
ak

e 
w

al
ki

ng
 a

 p
ar

t o
f L

in
co

ln
sh

ire
 

re
si

de
nt

s’ 
ev

er
yd

ay
 tr

av
el

 c
ho

ic
es

  
to

 im
pr

ov
e 

ph
ys

ic
al

 a
nd

 m
en

ta
l. 

En
ha

nc
e 

w
al

ki
ng

 w
ith

in
 L

in
co

ln
sh

ire
’s 

le
is

ur
e 

an
d 

to
ur

is
m

 o
ffe

r t
o 

su
pp

or
t  

th
e 

ec
on

om
y.

In
cr

ea
se

 p
ed

es
tr

ia
n 

sa
fe

ty
 a

nd
 m

ak
e 

w
al

ki
ng

 fe
el

 li
ke

 a
 s

af
e 

an
d 

ac
ce

ss
ib

le
 

m
et

ho
d 

of
 tr

av
el

 fo
r a

ll.

Identify population segments that have a higher propensity  
for walking and develop targeted approaches to encouraging  
and facilitating walking among these segments.

Continue engagement with schools to support them  
in encouraging and facilitating more students to walk  
to school or walk as part of the journey.

Promote walking as an accessible and enjoyable part of a healthy 
lifestyle with physical and mental health benefits, working across  
teams and with partners to develop active travel campaigns.

Work with the Lincolnshire Road Safety Partnership to reduce the 
number and severity of pedestrian casualties, working towards  
vision zero in terms of deaths and serious injuries.

Work with partners, such as Ageing Better to support  
the ageing population in adopting and maintaining  
active lifestyles through walking.

Encourage, enable and promote people to walk  
(or use walking as part of a multi-modal journey) to events.

P
age 246



16 17

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 W
al

ki
ng

 S
tr

at
eg

y

Delivery

The delivery of the LTP 5 and its sub-strategies,  
such as this Walking Strategy, are primarily the 
responsibility of LCC.

The key mechanisms for delivering this strategy  
will be through the LTP Project Board and the  
Local Transport Boards.

Some of the policies included in the Walking Strategy 
are solely the responsibility of LCC and will be delivered 
collaboratively by various teams within the Council.

However, to enable the effective delivery of the  
Strategy and fully realise the Council’s vision for  
increasing walking, we will need to work in collaboration 
with partner organisations to successfully deliver many 
of the policies. We will seek to draw on our partners’ 
experience, knowledge and authority in the delivery  
of the policies and the ultimate achievement of our 
walking strategy objectives.

To drive forward this Walking Strategy and the new  
Cycling Strategy, we will establish an Active Travel  
Delivery Group that will bring together key partners 
involved in the delivery of walking and cycling policies.

The Active Travel Delivery Group will set out SMART 
actions (Specific, Measurable, Achievable, Realistic,  
and Time-based) aligned to each of the policies to  
form an implementation plan for bringing forward  
the contents of the Walking Strategy.

The Active Travel Delivery Group will allow for 
collaboration between different organisations that  
share mutual aims of increasing walking and cycling  
in Lincolnshire. The Group will also facilitate alignment 
with existing strategies, such as Active Lincolnshire’s  
Let’s Move Lincolnshire15 physical activity blueprint.

Our key delivery partners are set out against each  
of the Walking Strategy Policies under each of the  
five overarching themes in the following table. 

Infrastructure

Policies Working with

Develop cycling and walking network plans for every local transport  
strategy area along the lines of the DfT LCWIP guidance. • Planning authorities

Use LCWIPs where available to identify and implement infrastructure  
improvements to facilitate walking trips to key destinations, such as  
schools, town/village centres, employment sites and transport interchanges.

• Planning authorities

Work collaboratively with partners to maximise funding opportunities  
for walking infrastructure from every available source, including Section  
106 and competitive bidding.

• Planning authorities

Work with planning authorities, parish councils, and other bodies to identify  
and mitigate physical barriers to walking, such as the crossing of roads, railways  
and waterways, particularly those identified as key links and where the current  
and proposed Public Rights of Way (PRoW) network intersects.

• Planning authorities
• Parish councils

Improve the pedestrian environments in urban centres by promoting infrastructure 
changes and traffic management measures as part of placemaking and creating 
spaces where people want to walk, dwell and carry out linked trips through  
schemes such as streetscape planting and urban realm enhancements.

• Planning authorities

Ensure that all infrastructure changes associated with new or improved walking  
routes to include comprehensive wayfinding and safety features such as lighting  
where appropriate.

• Planning authorities

Expand the ‘School Living Streets’ programme across Lincolnshire based  
on the initial trial in Lincoln.

• Schools
• Living Streets

Develop an updated Rights of Way Improvement Plan (ROWIP) that includes  
plans to enhance the existing PRoW network and develop new connections.

• Planning authorities
• Parish councils

P
age 247



18 19

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 W
al

ki
ng

 S
tr

at
eg

y

Network and connectivity

Policies Working with

Review and audit wayfinding signage to identify where improvements are needed 
(particularly in areas with high visitor numbers) and implement improvements. • Planning authorities

Improve the connectivity between walking and other modes of travel as part  
of a sustainable door-to-door journey and enabling people to reduce dependency  
on cars for more journeys.

• Public transport 
operators

Develop an updated Rights of Way Improvement Plan (ROWIP) that includes  
plans to enhance the existing Public Rights of Way (PRoW) network and  
develop new connections.

• Planning authorities
• Parish councils

Work with public transport operators to promote and facilitate multi-modal  
journeys that include walking.

• Public transport 
operators

Use the local cycling and walking network plans that have been developed  
for the urban areas of the county to identify and implement walking  
infrastructure schemes and develop public realm and place centred  
initiatives – securing funding that becomes available for these interventions.

• Planning authorities

Develop a consistent signage and way finding strategy. • Planning authorities

Establish a branded county Public Rights of Way (PRoW) network  
with associated signage and mapping. • Planning authorities

Revamp our mapping, ensuring digital and paper coverage  
of maps for active travel journeys.

New developments

Policies Working with

Work with Planning Authorities to ensure that walking is prioritised  
through effective planning and design of new developments. • Planning authorities

Work with Planning Authorities to prioritise development that provides  
mixed land use creating neighbourhoods that are walkable and well connected. • Planning authorities

Enhance existing Public Rights of Way (PRoW) and identify opportunities  
for additions to the PRoW network in relation to new developments. • Planning authorities

Work with Planning Authorities to maximise funding opportunities  
related to new developments, such as Section 106 funding. • Planning authorities

Work with Planning Authorities to ensure Travel Plans that  
encourage and facilitate walking are developed and implemented. • Planning authorities

Leisure and tourism

Policies Working with

Work with partners to develop a co-ordinated walking tourism  
offer as part of Brand Lincolnshire. • Planning authorities

Work with partners to promote walking routes and destinations,  
such as the Wolds, the Viking Way and the Coast, as part of  
Lincolnshire's tourism offer.

• Planning authorities

Identify and enhance where needed the key highway and Public Rights  
of Way (PRoW) routes that offer opportunities for people to access local  
green space, particularly those in urban areas.

• Planning authorities

Build on the increase in local leisure walking during the lockdown  
periods by promoting local routes and green spaces.

• Planning authorities
• Active Lincolnshire

Continue to support and promote events that celebrate  
walking, such as local Walking Festivals. • Event organisers

P
age 248



20 21

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 W
al

ki
ng

 S
tr

at
eg

y

Encouraging and enabling

Policies Working with

Identify population segments that have a higher propensity for walking  
and develop targeted approaches to encouraging and facilitating walking  
among these segments.

• Planning authorities
• Event organisers

Continue engagement with schools to support them in encouraging and  
facilitating more students to walk to school or walk as part of the journey.

• Schools
• Living Streets

Promote walking as an accessible and enjoyable part of a healthy lifestyle  
with physical and mental health benefits, working across teams and with  
partners to develop active travel campaigns.

• Active Lincolnshire

Work with the Lincolnshire Road Safety Partnership to reduce the number  
and severity of pedestrian casualties.

• Lincolnshire Road  
Safety Partnership

Work with partners, such as Ageing Better to support the aging  
population in adopting and maintaining active lifestyles through walking. • Ageing Better

Encourage, enable and promote people to walk (or use walking  
as part of a multi-modal journey) to events. • Event organisers

Monitoring and measuring success

To ensure that our walking and cycling strategies are 
effective we will monitor performance and review the 
strategies on a regular basis. To monitor and measure 
success of these strategies we will:

• Review and report on our performance every year.

• Develop our thinking and approach based on 
performance, changing technology and other 
opportunities for innovation.

• Be open to challenge from partners and stakeholders.

• Actively monitor published data sources; and,

• Identify appropriate technology and data sources  
to collect our own data across Lincolnshire.

Our approach to data

Robust data gathering and reporting is crucial to  
making our work a success. Holding sufficient, and 
suitable data allows us to spot changes and pinpoint 
weaknesses. It allows us to be proactive by seeing our 
actions are changing the way we travel and which of  
our residents and communities need support.

Some of the sources are published data that we will 
access, and others will be generated specifically to  
support the monitoring of this Strategy. We will also  
work with partner organisations who already undertake  
a range of data analysis, such as the Lincolnshire  
Road Safety Partnership, to gain key insights.

Solid evidence base is also essential for ensuring 
Lincolnshire has the best possible chance of the 
Government funding. Government funding rounds  
are very competitive and although the county has  
seen several successes so far, we must have modern  
and high-quality data capture to demonstrate our case.

Underpinning all this must be recognition that  
modern technology requires modern data capture.  
We will work with IT and app providers to access  
high-quality trip data can give us detailed and  
accurate insights into areas for improvement. 

We will seek out additional data sources that  
may be identified through the course of the active  
travel strategies and be open to technological  
and methodological innovations to support  
our monitoring approach.

We cannot do this alone; we will work with local active 
travel groups and support new ones to provide that 
constructive feedback that shows us how developments 
affect you. Through this we will seek to capture the 
evidence to support the developments you need to  
make cycling and walking a viable choice. We will also 
invite consultation on a range of active travel KPIs for  
the county to consider.

Monitoring framework

The following framework presents how we will  
monitor the strategy against each of the Objectives.  
The framework is based on several indicators of change  
in walking behaviours and the sources that we will use  
to analyse these indicators.

The Walking Strategy and developed indicators will  
be included as part of the monitoring of the LTP 5.

Objective Indicator Source

Improve the quality and usability  
of the walking environment to 
ensure it is safe and inclusive  
for all.

Audit scores • Audits
• Public feedback

Make walking a part of Lincolnshire 
residents’ everyday travel choices  
to improve physical and mental 
health and wellbeing.

Mode share of walking  
for journeys to work

• Census data
• Travel plan data

Mode share of walking  
for school trips

• School travel surveys
• Living Streets travel tracker data

Frequency of walking for travel
• Active lives data
• DfT walking and cycling statistics
• Travel plan data

Enhance walking within  
Lincolnshire’s leisure and  
tourism offer to support  
the economy.

Frequency of leisure walking
• Active lives data
• DfT walking and cycling statistics
• Travel plan data

Footfall near to leisure  
and tourism attractions • Counts

Mode of travel to reach leisure  
and tourism destinations • Surveys

Usage of leisure walking routes • Surveys
• Counts

Increase pedestrian safety and  
make walking feel like a safe and 
accessible method of travel for all.

Number of collisions  
involving pedestrians • STATS19 data

Level of concern about safety  
and security when walking

• Surveys
• Travel plan data
• Engagement with schools,  

the pupils and parents

P
age 249



22 23

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 W
al

ki
ng

 S
tr

at
eg

y

Case studies

 
Development of local cycling and walking 
infrastructure plans.

An evidence-based approach to developing networks  
and improving infrastructure.

LCC has an ongoing programme of developing  
LCWIPs for each of the largest urban areas in the  
county. The programme follows the DfT methodology  
for developing LCWIPs, utilising an evidence-based 
approach to identifying where investment in walking  
and cycling infrastructure will deliver the greatest benefits.

The development of the LCWIPs has been a collaborative 
process, engaging with key stakeholders to inform 
the plans and identify the priority routes for further 
development. The LCWIPs provide LCC with a series 
of priority schemes that can be rapidly developed in 
response to funding opportunities. The LCWIP networks 
also support the securing of funding through the planning 
process, providing clear plans of where infrastructure 
needs improving in relation to land use developments.

Visit Lincolnshire website walking information.

A comprehensive source of information on leisure  
walking in Lincolnshire.

Visit Lincolnshire is LCC's brand to promote Lincolnshire 
as a place for holidays and tourism for visitors and 
residents alike. The Visit Lincolnshire website includes 
comprehensive information on ‘perfect places for  
walking’ within the county, such as the Coast, the  
Wolds or in the county’s historic towns and city.

Featuring an attractive presentation and detailed 
information on walking routes and destinations, the 
website supports walking tourism the wider promotion  
of Lincolnshire as a premier tourism destination.

The website also provides information on related  
activities, such as cycling, equestrianism and how  
walking can be used to access popular tourist  
destinations as well as being a leisure activity in itself.

 Abbey Academies and Living Streets.

A multi academy trust approach to WOW, the walk  
to school challenge.

Bourne Elsea Park and Bourne Abbey earned their  
Green Flag Eco school status in 2018 and in 2020  
they started to focus on transport initiatives. That’s  
where Living Streets and WOW – the walk to school 
challenge came in. Pupils who take part in WOW record 
how they travel to school using the interactive WOW Travel 
Tracker. Pupils who travel actively at least once a week for 
a month are awarded monthly collectable WOW badges. 

After a successful WOW launch at Bourne Elsea Park 
Church of England Academy supported by Living Streets’ 
School Coordinator, Jessie, Alex Worrall, Eco Schools 
Lead at the Abbey Academies Trust (comprising of 
three settings) identified the opportunity for a Trust-
wide approach, which has had a huge positive impact. 
With pupils and classes competing against each other, 
engagement figures were up across the three settings,  
and consistently the highest in Lincolnshire. 

The number of active trips has increased between  
28% and 36%, with 91% of pupils at Colsterworth,  
89% of pupils at Bourne Abbey and 80% of pupils  
at Bourne Elsea Park now walking, cycling or  
scooting to school. 

WOW has helped the schools develop a community  
feel, with many families supporting this amazing  
work during lockdown and beyond. 

‘I always asked my Grandad for lifts to school even  
though it is a five- or ten-minute walk, but when  
WOW launched, I started walking all the time so  
I could make myself proud when I earned a badge.’    
Year 6 pupil. 
 
‘It was a really motivating scheme as everyone wanted  
to walk to school to earn their badges and you could  
tell that lots of people had stopped driving in their  
cars as there were less on the road.’   
Year 6 pupil.

References
1. DfT (2015), Investing in Cycling and Walking: The Economic Case for 

Action assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/
uploads/attachment_data/file/877511/cycling-and-walking-business-
case-summary.pdf 

2. Public Health England (2014), Everybody active, every day: An evidence-
based approach to physical activity assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/
government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/374914/
Framework_13.pdf 

3. DfT (2014), Claiming the Health Dividend: A summary and discussion of 
value for money estimates from studies of investment in walking and 
cycling assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/
uploads/attachment_data/file/371096/claiming_the_health_dividend.
pdf 

4. Department of Health and Social Care (2019), UK Chief Medical 
Officers’ Physical Activity Guidelines assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/
government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/832868/uk-
chief-medical-officers-physical-activity-guidelines.pdf 

5. Sustrans and the Centre for Transport & Society (2019), The Role  
of Transport in Supporting a Healthy Future for Young People.  
www.sustrans.org.uk/media/5057/the-role-of-transport-in-supporting-
a-healthy-future-for-young-people.pdf 

6. Leyden, K. M. (2003) Social Capital and the Built Environment: The 
Importance of Walkable Neighbourhoods www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/
articles/PMC1448008 

7. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (2012), Physical 
activity: walking and cycling www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph41/resources/
physical-activity-walking-and-cycling-pdf-1996352901061 

8. Living Streets (2020) The Pedestrian Pound, The business case for better 
streets and places. www.livingstreets.org.uk/media/3890/pedestrian-
pound-2018.pdf

9. World Tourism Organization (2019) Walking Tourism – 
Promoting Regional Development www.e-unwto.org/doi/
pdf/10.18111/9789284420520 

10. Christie, M. & Matthews, J. (2003), The economic and social value of 
walking in England users.aber.ac.uk/mec/Publications/Reports/RA%20
Eco%20Impact%20of%20walking.pdf 

11. Sustrans (2014) Active travel in the city of the future. assets.publishing.
service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/
file/367499/future-cities-active-travel.pdf 

12. Leyden, K. M. (2003) Social Capital and the Built Environment: The 
Importance of Walkable Neighbourhoods www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/
articles/PMC1448008/

13. Marsden, G., Anable, J., Docherty, I. & Brown, L. (2021) At a crossroads: 
Travel adaptations during COVID-19 restrictions and where next? Centre 
for Research into Energy Demand Solutions: Oxford. www.creds.ac.uk/
wp-content/uploads/COVID-transport-report.pdf 

14. Lincolnshire Physical Activity Taskforce (2019), Let’s Move Lincolnshire: 
A Blueprint for Creating a More Active Lincolnshire activelincolnshire.
com//wp-content/uploads/2019/05/FINAL-TO-PRINT.pdf 

15. Lincolnshire Physical Activity Taskforce (2019), Let’s Move Lincolnshire: 
A Blueprint for Creating a More Active Lincolnshire activelincolnshire.
com//wp-content/uploads/2019/05/FINAL-TO-PRINT.pdf

P
age 250

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/877511/cycling-and-walking-business-case-summary.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/877511/cycling-and-walking-business-case-summary.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/877511/cycling-and-walking-business-case-summary.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/374914/Framework_13.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/374914/Framework_13.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/374914/Framework_13.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/371096/claiming_the_health_dividend.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/371096/claiming_the_health_dividend.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/371096/claiming_the_health_dividend.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/832868/uk-chief-medical-officers-physical-activity-guidelines.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/832868/uk-chief-medical-officers-physical-activity-guidelines.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/832868/uk-chief-medical-officers-physical-activity-guidelines.pdf
https://www.sustrans.org.uk/media/5057/the-role-of-transport-in-supporting-a-healthy-future-for-young-people.pdf
https://www.sustrans.org.uk/media/5057/the-role-of-transport-in-supporting-a-healthy-future-for-young-people.pdf
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1448008/
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1448008/
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph41/resources/physical-activity-walking-and-cycling-pdf-1996352901061
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph41/resources/physical-activity-walking-and-cycling-pdf-1996352901061
https://www.livingstreets.org.uk/media/3890/pedestrian-pound-2018.pdf
https://www.livingstreets.org.uk/media/3890/pedestrian-pound-2018.pdf
https://www.e-unwto.org/doi/pdf/10.18111/9789284420520
https://www.e-unwto.org/doi/pdf/10.18111/9789284420520
https://users.aber.ac.uk/mec/Publications/Reports/RA%20Eco%20Impact%20of%20walking.pdf 
https://users.aber.ac.uk/mec/Publications/Reports/RA%20Eco%20Impact%20of%20walking.pdf 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/367499/future-cities-active-travel.pdf 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/367499/future-cities-active-travel.pdf 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/367499/future-cities-active-travel.pdf 
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1448008/
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1448008/
https://www.creds.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/covid-transport-report.pdf 
https://www.creds.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/covid-transport-report.pdf 
https://activelincolnshire.com//wp-content/uploads/2019/05/FINAL-TO-PRINT.pdf
https://activelincolnshire.com//wp-content/uploads/2019/05/FINAL-TO-PRINT.pdf
https://activelincolnshire.com//wp-content/uploads/2019/05/FINAL-TO-PRINT.pdf
https://activelincolnshire.com//wp-content/uploads/2019/05/FINAL-TO-PRINT.pdf


24 25

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 W
al

ki
ng

 S
tr

at
eg

y

Glossary
CRP Community Rail Partnership. A group of local people,  

mostly volunteers, who promote and undertake small  
scale works at local stations of lines.

DfT Department for Transport – the Government body  
who buy most train services and fund Network Rail.

ECML East Coast Mainline, line accommodating fast services 
between the north and London passing through  
Doncaster and terminating at London Kings Cross.

EMR East Midlands Railways – local and regional services  
across the East Midlands and Long-distance high s 
peed services to London along the Midland Mainline.

GBR Great British Railway – the proposed future organisation  
to run England Railway, taking over from Network Rail,  
DfT and TOC’s. See Rail White Paper.

LCC Lincolnshire County Council.

LNER London North Eastern Railway. Operate Long-distance  
high-speed services to London along the East Coast Mainline.

LTP 5  The Lincolnshire County Council’s 5th Local Transport  
Plans (lasting 5 years to 2028/29).

MML Midland Mainline, line accommodating fast services between 
Yorkshire and London, starting at Sheffield  
and Nottingham/Lincoln and travelling to London  
St. Pancras via Leicester.

Northern Northern Trains – local and regional train company operating 
services across the north of England.

ORR Office of Rail Regulation who oversee Network  
Rail’s performance and report back to DfT.

RTB’s Regional Transport Bodies, including Transport for  
East Midlands/East Midlands Councils (TfEM/EMC), Midlands 
Connect, Transport for the North (TftN).

TOC Train Operating Company.

TPD Trains per day.

TPX Transpennine Express – inter-regional train company 
operating services across the north of England and  
into Scotland.

XC Cross Country – a train operator serving long-distance  
routes excluding London.

COVID-19 Coronavirus pandemic of 2019/20.

LTB Local Transport Boards.

RAP Route Action Plan.

HIAMP Highways Infrastructure Asset Management Plan.

SEA Strategic Environmental Assessment.

SA Sustainability Appraisal .

GVA Gross Value Added.

TfL Transport for London.

LENNON Latest Earnings Networked Nationally Overnight.

ATC Automatic Traffic Count.

EV Electric Vehicle.

DECC Department of Energy and Climate Change.

SUEs Sustainable Urban Extensions.

UKCRF UK Community Renewal Fund.

UKSPF UK Shared Prosperity Fund.

LUF Levelling Up Fund.

LATS Local Area Transport Strategies.

LCWIP Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan.

ROWIP Rights of Way Improvement Plan.

PRoW Public Rights of Way.

CPO Chargepoint Operator.

EVCP Electric Vehicle Charhepoint.

BAME Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic groups.

NTS National Travel Survey.

CBSSG COVID-19 Bus Services Support Grant.

JSNA The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment.

DLUHC  The Department for Levelling Up, Housing  
and Communities.

SIDP 21  Strategic Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2021.

P
age 251



Lancaster House 
Lincolnshire County Council 
County Offices, Newland 
Lincoln, LN1 1YL

Page 252



Lincolnshire  
Cycling 
Strategy

Page 253



2 3

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 C
yc

lin
g 

St
ra

te
gy

Strategy overview

Lincolnshire County Council (LCC) recognises  
the role that walking and cycling (active travel)  
can play in improving the health and wellbeing  
of our residents,how it can support the economy  
and contributetowards our commitments to  
combating climate change.

Active travel will, increasingly, form a key part of  
how Lincolnshire residents move around the county.  
As a form of tackling congestion, reducing our carbon  
footprint, and improving our health, walking and  
cycling must play an important role.

Walking and cycling can also play a part in other,  
non-transport, issues. Our high streets and towns  
are changing, we rise to this challenge by adapting  
to what the high street will look like in the future and 
making our towns and villages more 'people friendly'.  
We will encourage economic growth and support the 
vitality of towns and villages as places where people  
dwell and where the principle focus of the town is not  
to facilitate the through movement of motor traffic.

The development of walking and cycling strategies  
is a key step in our approach to increase all forms  
of walking and cycling activity in Lincolnshire, from  
people travelling to work to those enjoying a walk  
or jog in their local area or a weekend cycle ride.

While cycling and walking both contribute towards  
similar objectives to improve health, benefit the 
environment and support the economy, we have  
taken the approach to develop separate parallel  
strategies for each. This approach has been adopted  
to recognise the differences between the two  
modes of travel, both in terms of their characteristics  
and the way that people consider them as way  
of getting around.

Introducing our Cycling Strategy

Our Cycling Strategy sets out how LCC will support cycling 
in the long-term to improve cycling provision and increase 
the number of people who cycle on a regular basis. We 
clearly present our vision and objectives to allow us to  
plan for the future and lay out our direction for how we 
take cycling forward in Lincolnshire.

The Cycling Strategy supports the overarching (draft) 
objectives of the Lincolnshire LTP 5, as follows:

• Economic growth;

• Greening of transport and climate change;

• Creating a thriving environment;

• Supporting safety, security and a healthy lifestyle;

• Promoting high aspirations; and,

• Quality of life.

Along with other sub-strategies of LTP 5, such as the 
Walking Strategy, this strategy presents how LCC will, 
through collaboration with partners, deliver policies to 
facilitate and encourage more cycling by more people 
across Lincolnshire.

We are ambitious in our aims to increase cycling 
participation rates and improve the quality of cycling 
provision in our county. This Strategy brings together  
the key themes that will enable us to advance that 
ambition and ensure we have a whole council approach  
to taking cycling forward in a positive direction.

This strategy will not work in isolation; we are developing 
our Local Transport Strategies which aim to rebalance 
travel towards active and sustainable travel options. 
Supporting this vital work are our cycling and walking 
network plans, providing a vision for the future of  
cycling across the county and giving us that foundation  
for future funding bids.

We are also looking to take advantage of the fantastic 
leisure cycling market within our county; from the big skies 
of our fenlands to the rolling hills of the Lincolnshire Wolds 
the county has something to offer every type of current or 
potential cycle user. The National Cycle Network Route 1 
runs the length of the county, taking in some of the best 
traffic free riding in the country and taking visitors to  
some of our finest tourist attractions.

We believe that Lincolnshire can be an example of a  
rural county leading the way in delivering sustainable 
travel options. Through this Strategy we hope to realise 
that ambition and make Lincolnshire a cycling county  
for all.

Benefits of cycling

Cycling in any form offers the potential to benefit the 
health of Lincolnshire’s residents, boost the economy, 
improve the environment and enhance the communities 
we live in. It offers great potential as a low-cost form of 
transport for short journeys as well as an enjoyable way  
to spend our leisure time.

The case for investing in cycling is strong1 due to the  
range of benefits that it provides and the contribution  
to wider policy objectives around health, climate change 
and a sustainable economy.

Health and wellbeing

Many people are not physically active enough and this  
is contributing to poor physical and mental health2.  
The direct and indirect costs of physical inactivity on  
the UK economy equates to £7.4 billion each year2, 3.  
UK Physical Activity Guidelines recommend that adults  
should undertake at least 2.5 hours of moderate activity 
every week4.

Regular exercise for just 20 minutes per day can reduce 
the risk of heart disease, type-2 diabetes, and stroke5.  
Just 20 minutes of cycling is approximately a three-mile 
trip by bike and over 50% of the trips people make in 
Lincolnshire are under three miles, highlighting the 
opportunity for people to fit this level of exercise  
into their daily routines.

A more active population means a healthier population 
with physically active people taking 27% fewer sick days 
than their colleagues6. Those who cycle regularly to work 
take 1.3 fewer sick days per year on average – saving our 
NHS £128 million annually7.

Cycling has also been shown to benefit mental health, 
particularly with regards to the journey to work, which  
is a common cause of stress. Active travel has been 
shown to reduce levels of stress, helping to support 
improvements to mental health8, 9.

Our vision is to make Lincolnshire 
one of the best rural counties 
for cycling in the UK, taking 
advantage of our natural 
environment to encourage  
leisure cycling and making  
cycling the natural and accessible 
choice for shorter utility trips  
for all abilities and ages.

P
age 254



4 5

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 C
yc

lin
g 

St
ra

te
gy

Environment

The health of our planet is an issue of importance like 
never before, the way we travel is one of the key ways  
we can all play our part in reducing our emissions and  
our carbon footprint. A total of 27% of the UKs total 
emissions come from transport, with 91% of this being 
from road transport vehicles10. Meanwhile, 56% of motor 
vehicle trips are less than 5 miles, and almost 20% are 
less than one mile11. People who drive to make these trips 
every day could reduce their motor emissions by a fifth by 
choosing cycling as a commute for only one day per week.

More people cycling for more of their journeys rather 
than using the car will benefit the environment through 
reductions in air pollution, emissions and congestion. 
Noise and air pollution, particularly in our urban areas,  
is cause for concern and has links to poor health, such  
as heart disease and lung cancer7. Shifting just 10% of 
short urban trips from cars to cycling in urban areas in 
England could save over 100 premature deaths annually12.

Economy

Nationally, it is estimated that cycling contributes  
£5.4 billion a year to the economy, the majority of  
this coming from improved health, reduction in loss  
of life and reduced pollution and congestion17.

Locally, cycling helps to support the economy with  
people travelling by bicycle making more frequent  
visits and spending more in local shops on average  
than those that arrive by car14 while cycle parking  
delivers five times more retail spend per square metre 
than the same area of car parking13. However, retailers 
often over-estimate the contribution of car drivers 
compared to those arriving by sustainable modes14.

Locations with segregated cycle facilities saw an increase 
in retail sales by 24% more than comparative locations15, 
while public realm improvements connected with active 
travel can increase retail sales up to 30%16. It is evident  
that local high streets shaped around active travel will  
help deliver economic benefits, while making for more 
pleasant and desirable places to visit.

The UK cycling industry contributes £2.9 billion to the  
economy through the sale of bikes, equipment and  
cycling employment7. Cycling also plays a significant  
role in the UK tourism economy, with £520 million  
of tourism spend attributed to cycling and mountain  
biking and over 35,000 jobs directly related to the  
cycle tourism industry17.

Employers will benefit from an increased focus on  
cycling too. Congestion costs the City of Lincoln £127 
million per year with drivers spending 36 hours annually  
in stationary traffic18. As our urban areas grow the 
associated demand for travel will increase and we  
cannot continue to build our way out of congestion 
through new highway infrastructure.

Challenge Opportunity

Parts of the county suffer from high-levels  
of deprivation, particularly related to health  
and disability. This can create a barrier  
to people cycling.

Cycling offers a way of fitting in the regular  
exercise people need into their daily routine.

Half of the population live in rural areas where  
many amenities are not within cycling distance.  
The dispersed population makes it difficult  
to reach many residents with measures  
to promote and facilitate cycle use.

Rural areas are more challenging for creating  
more utility cycling but offer opportunities for  
more leisure cycling.

The population that live in urban areas are closer  
to many amenities, offering potential for cycling  
for everyday journeys.

Across the county, 80% of households have access  
to a car or van, with over 66% of travel to work trips in 
Lincolnshire being made by these modes of transport.

In urban areas between 30% and 50% of households  
do not have access to a car or van. Cycling can provide  
a flexible and affordable way for people to reach 
amenities in their local area.

Many existing developments are designed  
predominantly for access by car. 

New land use developments offer potential to  
create sustainable communities from the outset,  
with cycling being a key mode of travel.

Cycle infrastructure in many parts of the county  
(in particular urban areas) is non-existent or not  
fit for purpose, particularly with regards to the  
latest national guidance (LTN 1/20). The lack of 
infrastructure and concerns about safety are  
the main barriers to cycling for many people.

Personal barriers to cycling include ill-health,  
concerns over security and safety and  
household characteristics.

Challenges and opportunities

Through the compilation of an appropriate evidence base and stakeholder input, the following challenges 
and opportunities for cycling have been identified for Lincolnshire.

P
age 255



6 7

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 C
yc

lin
g 

St
ra

te
gy

Challenge Opportunity

Natural and man-made barriers to cycling are present  
in many urban areas, such as waterways, highways  
and railways. These barriers are compounded by  
a lack of crossing points, restricting accessibility.

Parts of the county suffer from high-levels  
of deprivation, particularly related to health  
and disability. This can create a barrier to  
people cycling.

The county as a whole has a flat topography  
which is favourable for cycling by people of  
all levels of fitness, ability and confidence.

The topography not only makes cycling feasible  
on daily basis for utility trips, it makes Lincolnshire  
a popular destination for tourists who want to cycle  
as part of their holiday or potentially the primary  
reason for their holiday in the county.

There are many popular cycle routes across  
the county, such as the Water Railway, offering  
opportunities for leisure cycling.

Lincolnshire has a proud cycling heritage and reputation 
for hosting major cycling events, such as the Lincoln 
Grand Prix. This can be built on to promote further  
cycle use and attract visitors to the county.

Strategy overview and approach

This cycling strategy has been developed to support  
the overarching objectives of the Lincolnshire LTP 5. 

The strategy has been developed using an evidence-based 
approach, drawing on a range of data and informed  
by stakeholder input as well as national and local policy.

The figure below presents the approach that has  
been undertaken to developing the strategy vision, 
objectives, themes and policies. 

The Lincolnshire cycling strategy vision presented  
in the Introduction section will be realised through  
the following four Objectives:

• Widen participation in cycling to make it a natural 
choice for all residents.

• Develop our leisure and tourism offer promoting 
cycling in the county.

• Improve safety for cycle users and the perception  
of safety.

• Implement appropriate and effective cycle 
infrastructure that is safe and inclusive for all.

Stakeholder input evidence  
based on national policy

LTP 5 themes

Vision

Infrastructure policies

Health policies

Leisure, tourism and brand Lincolnshire policies

Economic development and partnership policies

Infrastructure

Health

Leisure, tourism and brand Lincolnshire

Economic development and partnership

Cycling strategy policiesCycling strategy themes

Objectives

P
age 256



8 9

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 C
yc

lin
g 

St
ra

te
gy

The objectives will be achieved through the 
implementation of a range of Policies. 

These policies have been categorised into  
four themes:

• Infrastructure;

• Health;

• Leisure, tourism and brand Lincolnshire; and,

• Economic development and partnerships

The strategy policies sit within one of the themes  
and contribute to one or more of the four objectives.

The vision, objectives, themes and Policies have  
been informed by the extensive evidence base, 
stakeholder engagement and policy review.

Policies

The Cycling Strategy objectives will be achieved  
through policies that are arranged into the  
five themes.

The policies are introduced and presented  
in the following sections, which also provide  
a description of the four themes.

The table of policies within each theme references  
how each of the policies contribute towards one  
or more the strategy objectives.

Theme 1: Infrastructure

Improving cycle Infrastructure to enable more  
people to cycle more often.

Safe cycling infrastructure is vital to ensuring people  
feel able to cycle. The 'feeling' of safety is most often  
cited as a barrier to cycling with 62% of adults aged  
18+ in England agreeing that “it is too dangerous  
for me to cycle on the roads"19. Although cycling  
is inherently a safe activity and is more likely  
to prolong life than shorten it20 if our residents perceive 
it as an unsafe activity due to the lack of appropriate 
infrastructure, they are less likely to embrace it.

We have some fantastic cycling routes, but these routes 
are only as strong as the weakest link. As an authority,  
we will ensure that new routes connect between the 
places people want to go to and from, providing 'total 
routes' for communities and not cutting out where it 
proves too difficult. Many of these routes will target 
families and those less confident, providing the  
incentive to cycle that wasn't there before. 

As an authority, we are committed to rebalancing  
our city, towns, and villages away from motor traffic  
and towards people. Creating an environment for  
all our residents to cycle (and walk) in safety around  
their communities.

Finally, safe cycle through-routes are not enough.  
We will explore the provision of safe and accessible cycle 
storage in our towns and villages, encouraging people  
to dwell, shop, and enjoy their communities sustainably.

Theme 2: Health

Cycling for the health of people and planet.

The physical and mental health challenges that we  
face in Lincolnshire will continue and potentially get  
worse unless we fundamentally change how active  
we are. Cycling offers great potential for people  
to improve their physical and mental health while  
allowing them to get to the places they need to reach.  
It is also an enjoyable leisure activity and a low-impact 
form of exercise that supports a healthy lifestyle.

We will work to embed cycling at an early age by  
ensuring as many children as possible are able to  
access Bikeability cycle training. By helping to establish 
travel habits and confidence, cycling can last a lifetime.  
We will also work to make cycling safe for all so that they 
feel comfortablein being able to use this excellent form  
of exercise.

The benefits of active travel for both our physical  
and environmental health are an untapped resource  
that together we can exploit.

Theme 3: Leisure, tourism  
and brand Lincolnshire

Cycling for leisure and tourism and building  
the brand "Cycle Lincolnshire". 

Lincolnshire has some of the best cycling country in  
the United Kingdom. From the big skies and flat roads  
of our fenlands to the undulating hills of the Lincolnshire 
Wolds the county has something to offer everyone.

Nationally, the county is renowned for its cycling; from 
Les Fensom, the Fenland Flyer, to Rebecca Durrell. Lincoln 
hosts the much-respected Lincoln Grand Prix, with its 
fearsome Michaelgate cobbled climb, and, for those yet 
to turn professional, over 1,000 people participate in the 
Lincoln Grand Prix Sportive alone. Our county boasts  
a proud cycling heritage that we will build upon. 

The early success of the Cycle England project with  
our partners at Visit Lincoln has shown the potential  
for cycle tourists to visit our county. 

In 2019, TUI Nederland marketed Lincolnshire routes to 
their Dutch market. We want to take this forward, building 
a brand to promote cycling around the county taking 
advantage of our environment and to access our visitor 
sites from Gainsborough Old Hall to Ayscoughfee Hall.

We also want to encourage our own residents to cycle  
to enjoy and explore their county. In England, 42% of 
people aged over five own a bicycle. Amongst adults,  
bike ownership peaks at ages 40-49 years with 49% 
owning or having use of a bicycle11. Cycling UK estimate 
that over 80% of adults have access to a bicycle, yet the 
amount of adults cycling in Lincolnshire once per month 
for leisure is only 14.8%11. The potential is there, we  
must harness it.

We will work with our communities to identify leisure 
cycling routes and obstacles to getting people on their 
bikes, ensuring your voice is heard in taking the future  
of cycling in our county forward.

Theme 4: Economic development  
and partnership

Cycling for the economy, revitalising the high street 
and supporting access to economic opportunities.

The lack of access to key economic opportunities such 
as employment and education, is a particular challenge 
across the county. Cycling offers the potential for a low-
cost and accessible means of travel for people to reach 
these opportunities, particularly in our urban areas.  
By providing the appropriate infrastructure and access  
to a bicycle, we can facilitate more people to cycle for  
some of their journeys.

As the high street changes, the streetscape and road 
function need to change with it. Residents and visitors  
will expect a high street to be more of an experience  
with the balance between traditional retail and leisure 
altering. A pedestrian and cycle friendly environment will 
help to encourage those residents into our market towns.

As mentioned in a previous section; employees who cycle 
to work take fewer sick days and when surveyed state that 
their productivity is raised. We will work with businesses to 
continue our work on behaviour change and to encourage 
employees to cycle to work.

P
age 257



10 11

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 C
yc

lin
g 

St
ra

te
gy

To achieve theme 1

The Lincolnshire cycling strategy objectives  
in relation to the infrastructure theme will:

W
id

en
 p

ar
tic

ip
at

io
n 

in
 c

yc
lin

g 
to

 m
ak

e 
 

it 
a 

na
tu

ra
l c

ho
ic

e 
fo

r a
ll 

re
si

de
nt

s.

D
ev

el
op

 o
ur

 le
is

ur
e 

an
d 

to
ur

is
m

 o
ffe

r 
pr

om
ot

in
g 

cy
cl

in
g 

in
 th

e 
co

un
ty

.

Im
pr

ov
e 

sa
fe

ty
 fo

r c
yc

le
 u

se
rs

  
an

d 
th

e 
pe

rc
ep

tio
n 

of
 s

af
et

y.

Im
pl

em
en

t a
pp

ro
pr

ia
te

 a
nd

 e
ffe

ct
iv

e 
cy

cl
e 

in
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
 th

at
 is

 s
af

e 
an

d 
in

cl
us

iv
e 

fo
r a

ll.

Ensure all new infrastructure is developed according to national 
standards (for example LTN 1/20 and the Manual for Streets) and 
ensure cycling is considered in new major infrastructure projects.

Examine opportunities to retrofit existing infrastructure  
to improve quality and ideally according to LTN 1/20.

Work with planning authorities, parish councils, and other  
bodies to identify potential non-highways areas for improvement 
including bridleways and dedicated private land routes.

Work with planning authorities, parish councils, and other bodies  
to identify and mitigate physical barriers to cycling, such as the crossing 
of roads, railways and waterways, particularly those identified as key 
links and where the current and proposed PRoW network intersects.

Work collaboratively with partners and enforce travel plans  
where relevant as part of the planning process to maximise  
funding opportunities for cycling infrastructure from every  
available source, including Section 106 and competitive bidding.

Develop and review cycling and walking network plans for  
every local transport strategy area along the lines of the  
DfT's LCWIP process.

Expand the ‘School Living Streets’ programme across  
Lincolnshire based on initial trial in Lincoln.

To achieve theme 2

The Lincolnshire cycling strategy objectives  
in relation to the health theme will:

W
id

en
 p

ar
tic

ip
at

io
n 

in
 c

yc
lin

g 
to

 m
ak

e 
 

it 
a 

na
tu

ra
l c

ho
ic

e 
fo

r a
ll 

re
si

de
nt

s.

D
ev

el
op

 o
ur

 le
is

ur
e 

an
d 

to
ur

is
m

 o
ffe

r 
pr

om
ot

in
g 

cy
cl

in
g 

in
 th

e 
co

un
ty

.

Im
pr

ov
e 

sa
fe

ty
 fo

r c
yc

le
 u

se
rs

  
an

d 
th

e 
pe

rc
ep

tio
n 

of
 s

af
et

y.

Im
pl

em
en

t a
pp

ro
pr

ia
te

 a
nd

 e
ffe

ct
iv

e 
cy

cl
e 

in
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
 th

at
 is

 s
af

e 
an

d 
in

cl
us

iv
e 

fo
r a

ll.

Work with the health sector to propose prescription cycling.

Promote and advocate cycling as a public health benefit, working  
across teams and with partners to develop cycling campaigns.

Continue our support of Bikeability in the county to develop confident 
cyclists at the earliest possible age. Work with the DfT to establish 
Lincolnshire as a rural 'beacon' authority for Bikeability training.

Continue to prioritise, behavioural change campaigns by targeting 
residents at key points in their lives to establish active travel as a  
natural transport choice.

Work with the Lincolnshire Road Safety Partnership to reduce  
the number and severity of cycle user casualties, working  
towards vision zero in terms of deaths and serious injuries.

P
age 258



12 13

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 C
yc

lin
g 

St
ra

te
gy

To achieve theme 4

The Lincolnshire cycling strategy objectives 
in relation to economic development and 
partnership theme will:

W
id

en
 p

ar
tic

ip
at

io
n 

in
 c

yc
lin

g 
to

 m
ak

e 
 

it 
a 

na
tu

ra
l c

ho
ic

e 
fo

r a
ll 

re
si

de
nt

s.

D
ev

el
op

 o
ur

 le
is

ur
e 

an
d 

to
ur

is
m

 o
ffe

r 
pr

om
ot

in
g 

cy
cl

in
g 

in
 th

e 
co

un
ty

.

Im
pr

ov
e 

sa
fe

ty
 fo

r c
yc

le
 u

se
rs

  
an

d 
th

e 
pe

rc
ep

tio
n 

of
 s

af
et

y.

Im
pl

em
en

t a
pp

ro
pr

ia
te

 a
nd

 e
ffe

ct
iv

e 
cy

cl
e 

in
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
 th

at
 is

 s
af

e 
an

d 
in

cl
us

iv
e 

fo
r a

ll.

Continue our support of the Hirebike scheme in Lincoln and  
examine opportunities for bike share in other areas.

Work collaboratively with planning authorities to enable access  
to non-highways funding, for example, the Future High Streets Fund.

Engage with businesses and business groups to maximise  
employee cycling potential.

Ensure parking is considered in network planning to enable  
residents to dwell and shop via bike.

Encourage and facilitate the use of cycling for ‘first mile and last  
mile’ trips in urban areas for both people and freight, reducing  
the economic burden and costs of congestion.

To achieve theme 3

The Lincolnshire cycling strategy objectives 
in relation to the leisure, tourism and brand 
Lincolnshire theme will:

W
id

en
 p

ar
tic

ip
at

io
n 

in
 c

yc
lin

g 
to

 m
ak

e 
 

it 
a 

na
tu

ra
l c

ho
ic

e 
fo

r a
ll 

re
si

de
nt

s.

D
ev

el
op

 o
ur

 le
is

ur
e 

an
d 

to
ur

is
m

 o
ffe

r 
pr

om
ot

in
g 

cy
cl

in
g 

in
 th

e 
co

un
ty

.

Im
pr

ov
e 

sa
fe

ty
 fo

r c
yc

le
 u

se
rs

  
an

d 
th

e 
pe

rc
ep

tio
n 

of
 s

af
et

y.

Im
pl

em
en

t a
pp

ro
pr

ia
te

 a
nd

 e
ffe

ct
iv

e 
cy

cl
e 

in
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
 th

at
 is

 s
af

e 
an

d 
in

cl
us

iv
e 

fo
r a

ll.

Develop (alongside partners) a consistent signage and way finding 
strategy enabling cycle users to easily identify routes.

Work with partners to develop and promote a 'Cycle Lincolnshire' 
brand, building on the success of the Cycle England project.

Revamp our mapping, ensuring digital and paper coverage  
of maps for all types of cycle users.

Continue to support cycling events such as Lincoln Grand Prix  
Sportive and others throughout the year to establish Lincoln  
as a destination for amateur cyclists.

Developing community cycling champions around the county  
and engaging with local cycling groups.

P
age 259



14 15

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 C
yc

lin
g 

St
ra

te
gy

Delivery

The delivery of the LTP 5 and its sub-strategies,  
such as this Cycling Strategy, are primarily the 
responsibility of the LCC.

The key mechanisms for delivering this Strategy  
will be through the LTP Project Board and the  
Local Transport Boards.

Some of the policies included in the Cycling Strategy 
are solely the responsibility of LCC and will be delivered 
collaboratively by various teams within the Council.

However, to enable the effective delivery of the  
strategy and fully realise the Council’s vision for  
increasing cycling, we will need to work in collaboration 
with partner organisations to successfully deliver many 
of the policies. We will seek to draw on our partners’ 
experience, knowledge and authority in the delivery  
of the policies and the ultimate achievement of our  
Cycling Strategy objectives.

To drive forward this Cycling Strategy and the Walking 
Strategy, we will establish an Active Travel Delivery  
Group that will bring together key partners involved  
in the delivery of walking and cycling policies.

The Active Travel Delivery Group will set out SMART 
actions (Specific, Measurable, Achievable, Realistic,  
and Time-based) aligned to each of the policies to  
form an implementation plan for bringing forward  
the contents of the Cycling Strategy.

The Active Travel Delivery Group will allow for 
collaboration between different organisations that  
share mutual aims of increasing walking and cycling  
in Lincolnshire. The Group will also facilitate alignment 
with existing strategies, such as Active Lincolnshire’s  
Let’s Move Lincolnshire57 physical activity blueprint.

Our key delivery partners are set out against each  
of the Cycling Strategy policies under each of the  
five overarching themes in the following table.

Infrastructure

Policies Working with

Ensure all new infrastructure is developed according to national standards  
(for example LTN 1/20 and the Manual for Streets) and ensure cycling  
is considered in new Highways projects.

• Planning authorities

Examine opportunities to retrofit existing infrastructure to improve quality  
and ideally according to LTN 1/20. • Planning authorities

Work with planning authorities, parish councils, and other bodies to identify  
potential non Highways areas for improvement including bridleways and  
dedicated private land routes.

• Planning authorities
• Parish councils

Work with planning authorities, parish councils, and other bodies to identify  
and mitigate physical barriers to walking, such as the crossing of roads, railways  
and waterways, particularly those identified as key links and where the current  
and proposed PRoW network intersects.

• Planning authorities
• Parish councils

Work collaboratively with partners and enforce travel plans where relevant  
as part of the planning process to maximise funding opportunities for  
walking infrastructure from every available source, including Section  
106 and competitive bidding.

• Planning authorities

Develop and review cycling and walking network plans for every local  
transport strategy area along the lines of the DfT's LCWIP process. • Planning authorities

Cycling for health

Policies Working with

Work with the health sector to consider prescription cycling. • Lincolnshire CCG

Promote and advocate cycling as a public health benefit, working  
across teams and with partners to develop cycling campaigns.

• Lincolnshire CCG
• Sustrans 
• Active Lincolnshire

Continue our support of Bikeability in the county to develop confident  
cyclists at the earliest possible age. Work with the DfT to establish  
Lincolnshire as a rural 'beacon' authority for Bikeability training.

• DfT

Continue to prioritise, softer, behavioural change campaigns by targeting  
residents at key points in their lives to establish active travel as a natural  
transport choice.

• Planning  
authorities

• Schools

Work with the Lincolnshire Road Safety Partnership to reduce the number  
and severity of cycle user casualties, working towards vision zero in terms  
of deaths and serious injuries.

• Lincolnshire Road  
Safety Partnership

P
age 260



16 17

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 C
yc

lin
g 

St
ra

te
gy

Economic development and partnership

Policies Working with

Continue our support of the Hirebike scheme in Lincoln  
and examine opportunities for bike share in other areas.

• Bike share operators
• Lincoln city council
• Planning authorities

Work collaboratively with planning authorities to enable access  
to non-highways funding, for example, the Future High Streets Fund. • Planning authorities

Engage with businesses and business groups to maximise  
employee cycling potential.

• Business groups
• Individual businesses
• Planning authorities

Ensure parking is considered in network planning to enable  
residents to dwell and shop via bike. • Planning authorities

Encourage commuter, and low goods 'last mile' delivery cycling,  
reducing the economic burden and costs of congestion.

• Planning authorities
• Businesses

Monitoring and measuring success

To ensure that our walking and cycling strategies are 
effective, we will monitor performance and review the 
strategies on a regular basis. To monitor and measure 
success of these strategies we will:

• Review and report on our performance every year;

• Develop our thinking and approach based on 
performance, changing technology and other 
opportunities for innovation;

• Be open to challenge from partners and stakeholders;

• Actively monitor published data sources; and,

• Identify appropriate technology and data sources  
to collect our own data across Lincolnshire.

Our approach to data

Robust data gathering and reporting is crucial to  
making our work a success. Holding sufficient, and 
suitable, data allows us to spot changes and pinpoint 
weaknesses. It allows us to be proactive by seeing  
our actions are changing the way we travel and which  
of our residents and communities need support.

Some of the sources are published data that we  
will access, and others will be generated specifically  
to support the monitoring of this strategy. We will  
also work with partner organisations who already 
undertake a range of data analysis, such as the 
Lincolnshire Road Safety Partnership, to gain key  
insights.

A solid evidence base is also essential for ensuring 
Lincolnshire has the best possible chance of the 
Government funding. Government funding rounds  
are very competitive and although the county has  
seen several successes so far, we must have modern  
and high-quality data capture to demonstrate our case.

Underpinning all this must be recognition that modern 
technology requires modern data capture. We will work 
with IT and app providers to access high quality trip data 
can give us detailed and accurate insights into areas  
for improvement. 

We will seek out additional data sources that  
may be identified through the course of the active  
travel strategies and be open to technological  
and methodological innovations to support  
our monitoring approach.

We cannot do this alone; we will work with local active 
travel groups and support new ones to provide that 
constructive feedback that showsus how developments 
affect you. Through this we will seek to capture the 
evidence to support the developments you need to  
make cycling and walking a viable choice. We will also 
invite consultation on a range of active travel KPIs for  
the county to consider. 

Monitoring framework

The following monitoring framework presents  
how we will monitor the strategy against each of the  
objectives. The framework is based on several indicators 
of change in walking and cycling behaviours and the 
sources that we will use to analyse these indicators.

The Cyclingand Walking Strategy along with developed 
indicators will be included as part of the monitoring  
of the LTP.

Leisure, tourism and brand Lincolnshire

Policies Working with

Develop (alongside partners) a consistent signage and way finding strategy.  
Enabling cyclists to easily identify routes. • Planning authorities

Work with partners to develop and promote a 'Cycle Lincolnshire' brand,  
building on the success of the Cycle England project.

• Planning authorities
• Sustrans
• Active Lincolnshire

Revamp our mapping, ensuring digital and paper coverage of maps  
for all types of cyclists.

Continue to support cycling events such as Lincoln Grand Prix Sportive  
and others throughout the year to establish Lincoln as a destination  
for amateur cyclists.

• Event organisers

Developing community cycling champions around the county  
and engaging with local cycling groups.

• Planning authorities
• Parish councils
• Cycling clubs/groups

P
age 261



18 19

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 C
yc

lin
g 

St
ra

te
gy

Objective Indicator Source

Implement appropriate and  
effective cycle infrastructure  
that is safe and inclusive for all.

Audit scores • Audits
• Public feedback

Widen participation in cycling  
to make it a natural choice for  
all residents.

Mode share of cycling  
for journeys to work

• Census data
• Travel plan data

Mode share of walking  
for school trips

• School travel surveys
• Living Streets travel tracker data

Frequency of cycling for travel
• Active Lives data
• DfT walking and cycling statistics
• Travel Plan data

Develop our leisure and  
tourism offer promoting  
cycling in the county.

Frequency of leisure cycling
• Active lives data
• DfT walking and cycling statistics
• Travel plan data

Cycle use near to leisure  
and tourism attractions • Counts

Mode of travel to reach leisure  
and tourism destinations • Surveys

Usage of leisure cycling routes • Surveys
• Counts

Improve safety for cycle users  
and the perception of safety.

Number of collisions  
involving cycle users • STATS19 data

Level of concern about safety  
and security when cycling

• Surveys
• Travel plan data
• Public feedback
• DfT cycling statistics

Case studies

 
Development of local cycling and walking 
infrastructure plans.

An evidence-based approach to developing networks  
and improving infrastructure.

LCC has an ongoing programme of developing LCWIPs 
for each of the largest urban areas in the county. The 
programme follows the DfT methodology for developing 
LCWIPs, utilising an evidence-based approach to 
identifying where investment in walking and cycling 
infrastructure will deliver the greatest benefits.

The development of the LCWIPs has been a collaborative 
process, engaging with key stakeholders to inform 
the plans and identify the priority routes for further 
development. The LCWIPs provide LCC with a series 
of priority schemes that can be rapidly developed in 
response to funding opportunities. The LCWIP networks 
also support the securing of funding through the planning 
process, providing clear plans of where infrastructure 
needs improving in relation to land use developments.

P
age 262



20 21

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 C
yc

lin
g 

St
ra

te
gy

References
1. assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/

attachment_data/file/877511/cycling-and-walking-business-case-
summary.pdf 

2. assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/374914/Framework_13.pdf 

3. assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/371096/claiming_the_health_dividend.pdf 

4. assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/832868/uk-chief-medical-officers-physical-activity-
guidelines.pdf 

5. www.nhs.uk/live-well/exercise/exercise-health-benefits 

6. www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph41/resources/physical-activity-walking-
and-cycling-pdf-1996352901061 

7. eprints.lse.ac.uk/38063/1/BritishCyclingEconomy.pdf 

8. Hansen, K. Nielsen, T. (2014), Exploring Characteristics and Motives of 
Long-Distance Commuter Cyclists, Transport Policy, Vol. 35, No. 1, pp. 
57–63 

9. Martin, A. Goryakin, Y. Suhrcke, M. (2014), Does Active Commuting 
Improve Psychological Wellbeing? Longitudinal Evidence from Eighteen 
Waves of the British Household Panel Survey, Preventive Medicine, Vol. 
69, pp. 296-303

10. assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/
uploads/attachment_data/file/984685/transport-and-environment-
statistics-2021.pdf 

11. assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/906276/national-travel-survey-2019.pdf 

12. Woodcock, J., Tainio, M., Cheshire, J., O’Brien, O. and Goodman, A. 2014 
Health effects of the London bicycle sharing system: health impact 
modelling study BMJ. 2014; 348: g425 www.bmj.com/content/348/bmj.
g425 

13. assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/509587/value-of-cycling.pdf 

14. Clifton, K.J., Muhs, C., Morrissey, S., Morrissey, T., Currans, K. and Ritter, 
C. 2013 Examining Consumer Behavior and Travel Choices core.ac.uk/
download/pdf/37776121.pdf 

15. www.britishcycling.org.uk/zuvvi/media/bc_files/campaigning/BENEFITS_
OF_INVESTING_IN_CYCLING_DIGI_FINAL.pdf 

16. www.livingstreets.org.uk/media/3890/pedestrian-pound-2018.pdf 

17. s27245.pcdn.co/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/The-Value-of-the-Cycling-
Sector-to-the-British-Economy-FINAL2.pdf 

18. thelincolnite.co.uk/2018/02/the-price-of-congestion-in-lincoln 

19. assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/
uploads/attachment_data/file/906698/walking-and-cycling-statistics-
england-2019.pdf 

20. www.cyclinguk.org/campaigning/views-and-briefings/health-and-cycling 

Glossary
CRP Community Rail Partnership. A group of local people,  

mostly volunteers, who promote and undertake small  
scale works at local stations of lines.

DfT Department for Transport – the Government body  
who buy most train services and fund Network Rail.

ECML East Coast Mainline, line accommodating fast services 
between the north and London passing through  
Doncaster and terminating at London Kings Cross.

EMR East Midlands Railways – local and regional services  
across the East Midlands and Long-distance high s 
peed services to London along the Midland Mainline.

GBR Great British Railway – the proposed future organisation  
to run England Railway, taking over from Network Rail,  
DfT and TOC’s. See Rail White Paper.

LCC Lincolnshire County Council.

LNER London North Eastern Railway. Operate Long-distance  
high-speed services to London along the East Coast Mainline.

LTP 5  The Lincolnshire County Council’s 5th Local Transport  
Plans (lasting 5 years to 2028/29).

MML Midland Mainline, line accommodating fast services between 
Yorkshire and London, starting at Sheffield  
and Nottingham/Lincoln and travelling to London  
St. Pancras via Leicester.

Northern Northern Trains – local and regional train company operating 
services across the north of England.

ORR Office of Rail Regulation who oversee Network  
Rail’s performance and report back to DfT.

RTB’s Regional Transport Bodies, including Transport for  
East Midlands/East Midlands Councils (TfEM/EMC), Midlands 
Connect, Transport for the North (TftN).

TOC Train Operating Company.

TPD Trains per day.

TPX Transpennine Express – inter-regional train company 
operating services across the north of England and  
into Scotland.

XC Cross Country – a train operator serving long-distance  
routes excluding London.

COVID-19 Coronavirus pandemic of 2019/20.

LTB Local Transport Boards.

RAP Route Action Plan.

HIAMP Highways Infrastructure Asset Management Plan.

SEA Strategic Environmental Assessment.

SA Sustainability Appraisal .

GVA Gross Value Added.

TfL Transport for London.

LENNON Latest Earnings Networked Nationally Overnight.

ATC Automatic Traffic Count.

EV Electric Vehicle.

DECC Department of Energy and Climate Change.

SUEs Sustainable Urban Extensions.

UKCRF UK Community Renewal Fund.

UKSPF UK Shared Prosperity Fund.

LUF Levelling Up Fund.

LATS Local Area Transport Strategies.

LCWIP Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan.

ROWIP Rights of Way Improvement Plan.

PRoW Public Rights of Way.

CPO Chargepoint Operator.

EVCP Electric Vehicle Charhepoint.

BAME Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic groups.

NTS National Travel Survey.

CBSSG COVID-19 Bus Services Support Grant.

JSNA The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment.

DLUHC  The Department for Levelling Up, Housing  
and Communities.

SIDP 21  Strategic Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2021.

P
age 263

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/877511/cycling-and-walking-business-case-summary.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/877511/cycling-and-walking-business-case-summary.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/877511/cycling-and-walking-business-case-summary.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/374914/Framework_13.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/374914/Framework_13.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/371096/claiming_the_health_dividend.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/371096/claiming_the_health_dividend.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/832868/uk-chief-medical-officers-physical-activity-guidelines.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/832868/uk-chief-medical-officers-physical-activity-guidelines.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/832868/uk-chief-medical-officers-physical-activity-guidelines.pdf
https://www.nhs.uk/live-well/exercise/exercise-health-benefits
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph41/resources/physical-activity-walking-and-cycling-pdf-1996352901061
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph41/resources/physical-activity-walking-and-cycling-pdf-1996352901061
https://eprints.lse.ac.uk/38063/1/BritishCyclingEconomy.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/984685/transport-and-environment-statistics-2021.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/984685/transport-and-environment-statistics-2021.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/984685/transport-and-environment-statistics-2021.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/906276/national-travel-survey-2019.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/906276/national-travel-survey-2019.pdf
https://www.bmj.com/content/348/bmj.g425
https://www.bmj.com/content/348/bmj.g425
http://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/509587/value
http://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/509587/value
https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/37776121.pdf
https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/37776121.pdf
https://www.britishcycling.org.uk/zuvvi/media/bc_files/campaigning/BENEFITS_OF_INVESTING_IN_CYCLING_DIGI_FINAL.pdf
https://www.britishcycling.org.uk/zuvvi/media/bc_files/campaigning/BENEFITS_OF_INVESTING_IN_CYCLING_DIGI_FINAL.pdf
https://www.livingstreets.org.uk/media/3890/pedestrian-pound-2018.pdf
http://s27245.pcdn.co/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/The-Value-of-the-Cycling-Sector-to-the-British-Economy-FINAL2.pdf
http://s27245.pcdn.co/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/The-Value-of-the-Cycling-Sector-to-the-British-Economy-FINAL2.pdf
https://thelincolnite.co.uk/2018/02/the-price-of-congestion-in-lincoln
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/906698/walking-and-cycling-statistics-england-2019.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/906698/walking-and-cycling-statistics-england-2019.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/906698/walking-and-cycling-statistics-england-2019.pdf
https://www.cyclinguk.org/campaigning/views-and-briefings/health-and-cycling


22 23

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 C
yc

lin
g 

St
ra

te
gy

P
age 264



Lancaster House 
Lincolnshire County Council 
County Offices, Newland 
Lincoln, LN1 1YL

Page 265



This page is intentionally left blank



Lincolnshire  
Local Bus 
Strategy

Page 267



2 3

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 L
oc

al
 B

us
 S

tr
at

eg
y

Strategy overview

This strategy builds on previous work carried  
out on behalf of the county council, including:

• A consideration of the impacts of COVID-19  
on the bus industry and how COVID-19 could  
influence bus policy nationally and across  
Lincolnshire in during the term of LTP 5.

• An appraisal of local transport strategies  
across the county and nationally.

• A review of the Bus Services Act 2017 to  
understand the powers that the Council  
has to deliver bus services. 

• An assessment of mobility aspirations  
in Lincolnshire.

This strategy initially considers the current passenger  
offer, examining existing bus services, networks and 
operators. It then examines the challenges faced by 
operators and the county council in providing bus  
services in Lincolnshire. The next step is to document  
the core strategic objectives and start to identify  
areas for intervention to enhance the bus offer  
and the sustainability of bus provision. Interventions  
and schemes are then identified and appraised  
before measurable outcomes are identified to  
assess the success (or otherwise) of this bus  
strategy in meeting the Council’s strategic objectives.

The current bus offer

This section considers the current bus offer across 
Lincolnshire before examining bus usage and the  
demand for bus travel. This provides the context  
against which this Lincolnshire Bus Strategy can  
overcome the challenges faced and transform  
rural mobility and connect all areas of the county  
to jobs, education, health and leisure services. 

Bus supply

A key part of the last countywide Bus Strategy in 
Lincolnshire was to develop a clear hierarchical  
structure for local bus services to meet the differing  
needs of users in different areas. This has led to  
the following structure that remains in place today:

• Commercial urban bus services. 

• Supported urban bus services – including into  
town services which were provided with initial  
support to encourage them to become  
commercially viable over time.

• Interconnect (interurban) services to create a frequent 
(hourly) service between all towns across the county 
and to towns and cities near the county’s boundaries.

• CallConnect services to provide a dependable  
service to all rural areas of the county without  
an alternative service.

Complementing the above services, the county council  
is responsible for providing transport for different groups 
– some being statutory responsibilities while others are 
decisions taken by the Council. Additional services  
funded by the Council include:

• Home to school transport; 

• Special educational needs transport; and,

• Adult social care transport.

When considering home to school transport, the  
Council aims to support the commercial bus network  
by encouraging scholars to travel on that network  
where there are suitable services, with travel funded  
by the county council. Where there no suitable services, 
the Council funds dedicated school bus services, many 
of which are integrated into the commercial bus network 
before and after providing the school service. This helps 
to provide an efficient use of vehicles and the cost of 
supporting the school bus then helps to underpin  
the commercial viability of services.

There are 276 live local bus service registrations, operated by 29 different operators, as presented in the table below. 
The largest operator is Lincolnshire Road Car (Stagecoach East Midlands) with 81 registered services, although this 
underestimates the total number of actual services as some registrations include more than one service, for example,  
the registration for service 7 between Lincoln and Ermine Estates includes service 8. P C Coaches, Transport Connect  
and Brylaine Travel all have between 20 and 30 registrations, while F Hunt, Centrebus North, Sleaford Taxi Co and T C 
Mini coaches have between 10 and 20 local bus registrations. 21 of the 29 operators have 8 or fewer registered services.  
This highlights that while there is a broad operator base across the county, the majority of registered bus services are 
provided by a small number of operators.

Operator Services Operator Services

Lincolnshire Road Car 81 Marshalls of Sutton-on-Trent 3

P C Coaches of Lincoln 28 Phil Haines Coaches 3

Transport Connect 26 Gem Mini Travel 2

Brylaine Travel 24 GHP Trading 2

Sleaford Taxi Co 17 Kettlewell (Retford) 2

Centrebus North 16 Robert Dent & Linda Horstwood 2

F Hunt 13 Travel Wright 2

T C Mini Coaches 11 Amvale 1

Delaine Buses 8 Eyms 1

Grayscroft 8 GDS 2016 1

Mark Bland Travel 5 Mark James Curley 1

W H Fowler & Sons 5 Nigel Dickson & Julie Overton 1

Cambus 4 Stuart & Jane Oakland 1

National Express 4 Vectare 1

Go West Travel 3

P
age 268



4 5

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 L
oc

al
 B

us
 S

tr
at

eg
y

Of these registrations:

• 77 receive de minimis support from the  
county council to a total annual value  
of approximately £1.2 million.

• 45 local bus services are tendered by the  
county council, with an annual cost of  
approximately £1.3 million – some of  
these are tendered school services.

• 26 services are CallConnect contracts,  
with an annual cost of £2.9 million.

Interconnect

The following services are designated Inter  
Connect services providing connections  
between the urban areas of Lincolnshire: 

1 Grantham – Lincoln (Stagecoach)

37 Peterborough – Spalding (Stagecoach)

51 Grimsby – Louth (Stagecoach)

53 Grimsby – Lincoln (Stagecoach)

56 Lincoln – Skegness (Stagecoach)

57 Skegness – Spalding (Stagecoach)

59 Mablethorpe – Skegness (Stagecoach)

100 Lincoln – Scunthorpe (Stagecoach)

505 Kings Lynn – Spalding (Stagecoach)

IC5 Boston – Lincoln (Brylaine)

IC7 Boston – Skegness (Brylaine)

X57 Skegness – Boston (Stagecoach)

While not branded as an Interconnect service,  
Delaine Buses operates interurban services between 
Bourne and Peterborough with 30-minute headways  
on service 101, and between Bourne, Spalding and 
Stamford at hourly headways. 

Within the 2006 Bus Strategy, the target for interconnect 
services was to provide a minimum of an hourly service 
between the towns of Lincolnshire. At the time of writing, 
all of these services are being operated at a maximum  
of 60-minute headways, although morning, evening  
and weekend service provision can vary.

Headways on Interconnect services have typically 
deteriorated over recent years as operators have  
reduced service frequencies. Service 51, for example, 
previously operated at 30-minute headways, but  
reverted to hourly headways in 2012. Equally,  
Service 505 between Kings Lynn and Spalding operated  
at 30-minute headways when operated by Norfolk  
Green, but has again been downgraded to an hourly 
frequency service in the past few years. 

Into Town 

There are Into Town services in the following towns 
towards the south of the county:

• Grantham (Centrebus) – 2 services typically operating  
at 30-minute headways between 07:00 and 18:00 
Monday to Saturday (at the time of writing in  
February 2021).

• Spalding (Brylaine) – 2 services operating between 
07:45am and 17:30pm Monday to Saturday.

• Sleaford (Sleafordian) – 3 services that operate  
on an hourly headway between 09:00 and 13:00  
Monday to Saturday.

• Boston (Brylaine) – 4 services (IT1, IT2, IT5, IT6)  
operating on an hourly headway between 08:00  
and 17:30 Monday to Saturday.

In addition, the Louth Nipper (P C Coaches) service 
provides a similar level of service to Into Town  
in and around Louth with one service operating  
at hourly headways between 07:00 and 17:45.  
Of these five services, three continue to receive  
support from the county council. 

CallConnect

There are 39 CallConnect services providing access to 
essential goods and services for all those living in rural 
Lincolnshire without access to other local bus services.  
The whole of Lincolnshire is served by CallConnect,  
except for the City of Lincoln which has sufficient coverage 
of local bus services to provide local residents with the 
access they require to essential goods and services. 

Geographic provision

Lincolnshire is wholly covered by local bus service 
provision, as illustrated below. Urban, Into Town  
and Interconnect services provide comprehensive 
coverage across the county within and between the  
larger settlements. Away from these fixed route bus 
services, CallConnect provides a local bus service for 
residents that require a service to be able to access 
essential goods and services. In summary, the local  
bus offer provides a minimum level of local bus  
provision to all Lincolnshire residents.

Temporal provision

While the geographic coverage of bus services is  
complete, the hours and days that local bus services 
operate is key to whether there are services at the times 
people want to use them. In Lincolnshire, the temporal 
provision of bus services can vary greatly, and varies 
by service and by operator. The following analysis was 
carried out in February 2020 before any COVID-19 travel 
restrictions were lifted, thus some timetables  
may reflect winter service levels as opposed to summer 
levels (impacting on Skegness and the east-coast towns 
more than others), while COVID-19 timetables may also 
reflect lower service levels on some services. 

Within urban areas, bus services typically operate longer 
hours and over more days of the week. As shown in 
the following table, services in Lincoln, Skegness and 
Grantham have frequent services of half hourly or better, 
particularly in Lincoln. These services operate every day  
of the week in Lincoln, although Sunday frequencies are 
reduced for most services, while outside of Lincoln  
urban services do not typically operate on Sundays.  
Urban services in Lincoln operate into the evening,  
with the last buses departing Lincoln on services 6,  
9 and 15/16 being after 21:00. Outside of Lincoln, the  
last service of the day is before 18:00 during weekdays. 

Interurban services, most of which operate in Lincolnshire 
under the Interconnect brand, typically operate at hourly 
headways. All services commence before 0800 during 
weekdays (except the IC7) while there is a mixed picture 
during evenings. The last departure on service 56 between 
Lincoln and Skegness is later in the evening (21:00)  
but for most other services, the last service of the day  
is before 19:00. 

Away from fixed route bus services, CallConnect  
services operate from 07:00 until 19:00, six days a week. 

P
age 269



6 7

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 L
oc

al
 B

us
 S

tr
at

eg
y

Selection of core bus services in Lincolnshire

Operator Description Services Headway Start Finish Days

Stagecoach Lincoln – Leadenham 1 30 mins 05:20 18:15 7

Stagecoach Lincoln – Branston 2 30 mins 06:45 18:45 7

Stagecoach Lincoln – Birchwood & county Hospital 6 / X6 10 mins 05:20 21:30 7

Stagecoach Lincoln – Birchwood 9 20 mins 05:40 21:00 7

Stagecoach Lincoln – North Hykeham 15 / 16 10 mins 05:50 21:30 7

Stagecoach Lincoln – Louth 50 2 hours 05:55 17:15 6

Stagecoach Lincoln – Market Rasen 53 1 hour 06:40 18:20 6

Stagecoach Lincoln – Skegness 56 1 hour 06:00 21:00 6

Stagecoach Lincoln – Gainsborough 100 1 hour 07:35 18:05 6

Stagecoach Louth – Grimsby 51 1 hour 05:50 18:15 6

Stagecoach Skegness – Chapel 1 / 3 30 mins 06:25 19:05 7

Stagecoach Skegness – Boston 57 1 hour 06:20 18:15 6

Brylaine Travel Lincoln – Boston IC5 1 hour 07:50 18:00 6

Brylaine Travel Boston – Skegness IC7 1 hour 09:10 16:40 6

Brylaine Travel Spalding Town IT1 / IT2 1 hour 07:45 15:00 6

Brylaine Travel Boston Town IT1 – IT6 1 hour 08:04 17:04 6

Delaine Buses Bourne – Peterborough 101 / 102 30 mins 06:10 19:30 7

Delaine Buses Spalding – Stamford 301 / 302 1 hour 07:35 17:15 7

Centrebus Grantham – Alma Park 1 30 mins 06:25 18:05 6

Centrebus Grantham – Earlsfield 1 30 mins 07:00 17:35 6

Centrebus Grantham – Barrowby Gate 3 1 hour 08:00 17:45 5

P C Coaches Lincoln – Saxilby 777 6 svcs/day 06:45 17:45 6

Hunts Coaches Skegness – Alford 7 6 svcs/day 06:45 16:05 6

Inter-urban services Urban and suburban services

Bus fleet

The county council does not keep a formal record  
of the age of all buses plying services across Lincolnshire. 
However, according to ukbuses.co.uk, the average age 
of buses operating from Stagecoach East Midlands’ 
Lincolnshire depots (Lincoln, Gainsborough, Long Sutton 
and Skegness) is between 13 and 13.5 years. The average 
age of buses operated by Brylaine Travel, according to  
Bus Times.org, is around 16 years per bus, while Delaine 
Buses has an average fleet age of between 10 and 11 
years across all of its current registered buses, according 
to its own website. Across the three operators, which 
account for more than 75% of all local bus mileage in 
Lincolnshire, the average age of buses in service at the 
current time is between 13 and 14 years. 

In 2019/20, the average age of the bus fleet in England 
was 8.8 years old1. Therefore, the bus fleet in Lincolnshire 
is significantly older than buses used elsewhere in the 
country. This is likely to contribute to higher levels of  
CO2 emissions from the bus fleet directly, while older 
buses may also contribute to poor air quality in some 
parts of the county. 

Bus fares 

As much of the fixed route bus network is commercial  
or supported through a minimum subsidy tender, 
operators have full control over control bus fares  
and products. Fares scales for all operators are  
graduated, so passengers are charged a higher fare  
the longer distance they travel. All local bus operators  
offer single and return tickets, while day, carnet and  
longer period tickets are typically offered by only the 
‘largest’ operators. All operators typically have fare 
products for adults and children, while have their  
own commercial scholar products. 

In the case of CallConnect services, the county council 
determines the price of fares using a distance-based  
zonal structure. Cash single fares range from £2.20 (2021 
prices) to £4.80 for a journey between 10 and 13 miles. 
Discounts are offered for those purchasing a return 
ticket – typically between 21% and 30% compared to the 
equivalent cash fare - while a further discount is offered 
to those willing to purchase a 10-trip carnet product. This 
latter discount ranges from 11% to 15% when compared 
to the equivalent cash fare.

Zone 1 Journey W
ithin

1
m
ile

Zone 2 Journey 1-4 m
iles

Zone 3 Journey 4-7 miles

Zone 4 Journey 7-10 miles

Zone 5 Journey 10-13 miles

Zone 6 Journey 13+ miles

Distance 
fom pick 
up point

CallConnect Fare Zones (at February 2021)

Cash fares Saver carnet

Zone 1 Adult single
Adult return

£2.20
£4.00

£1.70
£3.40

Zone 2 Adult single
Adult return

£2.40
£4.30

£1.90
£3.80

Zone 3 Adult single
Adult return

£3.30
£5.20

£2.30
£4.60

Zone 4 Adult single
Adult return

£4.10
£6.70

£2.90
£5.80

Zone 5 Adult single
Adult return

£4.80
£7.70

£3.30
£6.60

P
age 270



8 9

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 L
oc

al
 B

us
 S

tr
at

eg
y

While operators have their own fare products, there 
are few examples of integrated fares across multiple 
operators. When using CallConnect, passengers can 
connect onto commercial services using the ticket 
purchased on CallConnect, and vice versa. This 
arrangement is a ‘knock for knock’ agreement where  
there is an acceptance of tickets on CallConnect and  
other local bus services but no exchange of fare  
revenue between operators. Other than CallConnect, 
all fare products provided by operators are for those 
individual operator’s services only, and there are no 
integrated fares or multi-operator ticketing schemes  
in place at the present time. 

The price of bus travel to the passenger is an  
important contributory factor to bus use across  
the county. The county council does not retain  
historic fares data for Lincolnshire bus operators,  
but it does retain the average bus fare across all  
operators that are part of the Lincolnshire English  
National Concessionary Travel Scheme. 

The table below shows the average fare for the 
Lincolnshire ENCT scheme since 2012/13. This shows  
that fares increased by approximately 42.5% between 
2012/13 and 2019/20. During this same period, RPI 
increased by approximately 19% while operating costs  
for bus operators in ‘the Midlands’ increased by 15.8%  
according to the Confederation of Passenger Transport. 

It appears that bus fares have increased by more than 
inflation and by more than operating costs, although 
Lincolnshire may not be typical of the broader ‘Midlands’ 
region which may include numerous large urban areas 
where operating costs may be substantially different. 
There could be a variety of reasons for the proportional 
change in bus fares over this period and it is important 
to explore these reasons in greater detail so that any 
interventions by the county council can be targeted  
where they would have the greatest impact.

Change in average ENCTS scheme bus fares in Lincolnshire 

Year Scheme avg.fare Change CPT cost index RPI

2012/13 £1.727

2013/14 £1.790 3.6% 2.2% 3.0%

2014/15 £2.084 20.7% 4.9% 5.5%

2015/16 £2.105 21.9% 5.8% 6.5%

2016/17 £2.162 25.2% 5.8% 8.4%

2017/18 £2.294 32.8% 8.0% 12.3%

2018/19 £2.379 37.8% 11.4% 16.0%

2019/20 £2.460 42.5% 15.8% 19.0%

Bus ticketing

All local bus operators have their own ticket offer,  
with cash options available on all operator services.  
Some operators provide their own proprietary smart  
cards to customers, notably Stagecoach and Brylaine 
Travel. Mobile ticketing is available on Centrebus and 
Stagecoach services, while contactless C.EMV options  
are available across many operators including Delaine 
Buses, Stagecoach and several others, including  
on CallConnect services. 

Contactless C.EMV payment options in Lincolnshire  
are typically ‘model 1’ in nature. Model 1 is a single-tap, 
fixed price pay as you go model for on-bus ticketing,  
akin to the purchase of a product from a retailer. For  
the sale of single, return, day or other period tickets,  
the transaction is carried out once and a paper ticket 
issued which is used for any subsequent journeys.  
Model 2 is an aggregated pay as you go model where 
C.EMV card taps are aggregated at the end of the day  
per period and the optimal fare is determined. At the 
present time, this model has not been introduced in  
the county as there have been technology limitations  
to allow for graduated fare scales. Technology does  
now exist to enable a ‘tap-in and tap-out’ model for  
bus operators, but none have adopted this technology  
at the time of writing.

The Lincolnshire ETM loan scheme 

During 2020, the county council implemented the 
‘Lincolnshire ETM loan scheme’ that enabled bus  
operators across the county to acquire modern  
electronic ticket machines (ETM) and other ticketing 
equipment through the scheme. The loan scheme,  
funded by the county council, allows smaller operators 
who would typically not be able to afford a modern  
ETM and back office system to acquire this equipment  
and pay a loan fee each year for a period of five years. 

Due to COVID-19, the loan scheme did not initially intend  
to include C.EMV readers on the ETMs, but due to the  
need to minimise cash handling, the loan scheme was 
enhanced to allow operators to acquire C.EMV readers 
through the scheme. At the time of writing, three  
bus operators have acquired ETMs and offer C.EMV  
payments, while many more are in the process  
of signing up to the scheme. 

Bus demand

As discussed, Lincolnshire has had in place a structured 
local bus network for more than a decade. During this 
time, passenger journeys have been typically in decline. 
Between 2010/11 and 2019/20, total bus passenger 
numbers in Lincolnshire declined by 28.8%. Much of that 
decline occurred between 2013/14 and 2019/20 as total 
bus passenger journeys reduced from 16.09 million to 
12.03 million journeys. At the same time, concessionary 
passenger trips declined by 20.6%, suggesting that there 
has been a greater reduction in local bus use amongst 
commercial and other non-concessionary passengers. 

ENCTS passengers account for around 37.5% of all 
passengers using local bus services. This highlights the 
importance of concessionary reimbursement to operator 
revenues, and appears to substantiate operator claims in 
recent years that concessionary reimbursement underpins 
the commercial network across the county. 

Comparing passenger numbers to changes in bus mileage 
help to explain why there are fewer passengers on bus 
services across the county. Since 2014/15, local authority 
funded kilometrage in Lincolnshire has declined around 
70% from nearly 6.5 million km to 1.92 million km per year. 
Compared to the wider East Midlands, bus kilometrage 
reduced by 57% compared to 70% in Lincolnshire. During 
the same period, commercial kilometrage in Lincolnshire 
increased from 12.7 million km to 13.67 million km while 
total local bus kilometrage reduced by 18.7%. During 
this time, total passenger numbers declined 24.6% 
suggesting that the reductions in mileage have had a 
disproportionately negative impact on bus patronage. 

Bus user satisfaction was last surveyed in Lincolnshire  
in 2018. 89% of customers were satisfied with the overall 
journey, compared to 88% nationally. Considering fare 
payers only however, the overall journey satisfaction 
rating was 85% compared to 85% nationally amongst fare 
payers. However, beneath those headline statistics are 
additional metrics that provide greater detail of passenger 
opinions. Journey times in Lincolnshire are rated at 88% 
compared to 85% nationally, while punctuality (71%) is 
below the national average of 74% and value for money 
in Lincolnshire is 56% compared to 64% nationally. This 
suggests that punctuality and value for money are two 
areas that Lincolnshire bus operators could improve  
upon compared to other parts of England.

P
age 271



10 11

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 L
oc

al
 B

us
 S

tr
at

eg
y

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

Local bus passenger journeys in Lincolnshire

Live kilometres travelled by commercial and local authority supported services 

Total pax journeys (millions) ENCTS pax journeys (millions)

Local Authority Supported (millions) Commercial (millions)

Extract from Passenger Focus 2018 Bus Passenger Survey

Journey time

Country: England (excludes London)  Local Transport Authority area: Lincolnshire  Year: 2018

Consideration

Despite the deregulated local bus market, the county 
council plays a fundamental role in the planning and 
delivery of local bus services across the county. The  
2006 Bus Strategy developed a formal hierarchical 
structure to local bus services with urban, interurban  
and CallConnect services ensuring every Lincolnshire 
resident can be mobile and have access to essential  
goods and services. 

The council’s policy to take on the financial risk of 
CallConnect services provides a minimum level of mobility  
for all, overcoming the challenge of the rural nature of 
much of the county. Alongside CallConnect, the council 
also supports the local bus network directly through 
minimum subsidy contracts, home to school, special 
educational needs and adult social care contracts. 

Where viable and safe, the council provides free travel  
for eligible scholars on the commercial network, and 
where this is not possible the council provides dedicated 
school bus services – the cost of which is significant. 
Alongside this direct support, the council also funds  
the English National Concessionary Travel Scheme  
which accounts for around one third of all trips made  
on the local bus network. 

The provision of local bus services varies across the 
county. Lincoln has a reasonable supply of morning, 
evening and weekend bus services, but outside of  
Lincoln there are few early morning, evening and  
Sunday services. In rural areas, local bus services are 
often provided to fit around school services, suggesting 
an efficient use of vehicles, but shows that the contracts 
provided by the Council for school services underpin the 
commerciality of large swathes of the local bus network.

89%Overall journey

88%
Punctuality 71%
Value for money 
(Fare payers only) 56%£

Bus driver
greeting/welcome 85%...

Interior cleanliness  
and condition 81%
Availability of seating  
or space to stand 87%

P
age 272



12 13

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 L
oc

al
 B

us
 S

tr
at

eg
y

Lincolnshire has a broad range of local bus and  
school bus operators, with a good geographic spread 
of operators across the county. This is healthy for 
competition for tendered services whilst it prevents 
monopolistic behaviour that is present in other local 
authority areas where there are a small number of 
operators. It is essential that Lincolnshire maintains  
this broad spread of operators for the future health  
of bus service provision. 

There is no formal integrated ticketing in Lincolnshire  
and very few integrated fares. Only CallConnect tickets 
enable interchange with other bus services on a knock  
for knock basis and with no apportionment of sharing  
of revenue. The roll out of ‘model 1’ contactless payments 
on most bus operators in Lincolnshire provides a  
single electronic payment mechanism, but without  
any integrated fares to provide any form of capping  
or discounting when travelling on multiple operator 
services. While demand for multi-operator fare  
products would likely be low across the county,  
the lack of integrated multi-operator fare products  
may be a potential barrier for some users. 

Bus fares appear to have increased by well above  
inflation and above the change in operating costs.  
This coincides with a reduction in bus passenger  
journeys and a reduction in live mileage on supported 
services. This might suggest that operators have  
increased fares to compensate for the reduction  
in patronage and the reduction in financial support 
provided by the Council, which itself highlights the  
role that council funding plays in ensuring the provision  
of local bus services, but also limiting fare increases. 

Increasing bus fares, while impacting on fare payers,  
also has an impact on council budgets. An increase  
in fares has a direct impact on ENCTS reimbursement  
and on home to school travel costs (where eligible  
scholars travel on the commercial network), thus  
council’s budgets come under increased pressure  
the more fares increase. This in turn makes operator 
revenues increasingly reliant on council funds. 

The most recent user satisfaction surveys in Lincolnshire 
suggest that both punctuality and value for money 
are areas that Lincolnshire operators perform poorly 
compared to elsewhere. This corresponds with the  
above inflation increase in fares since 2012 and helps  
to highlight a way forward for this local Bus Strategy  
to better meet the needs of users. 

Overall, it is evident that the council plays an essential 
role in ensuring the mobility of residents, but the council 
also plays a fundamental role in financing the local bus 
network. This highlights the opportunities and risks  
for the council. The key risk is that operators become 
increasingly reliant on funding from the council, although 
this also represents an opportunity to have a greater 
control over the local bus network and a greater say  
in how it is managed. Understanding the challenges  
faced by operators would help to highlight areas that  
this Bus Strategy could overcome whilst meeting the 
longer-term aspirations and objectives of the council.  
This will be considered in the next section.

Challenges of operating buses  
in Lincolnshire

There are many challenges that face the bus industry  
in Lincolnshire. This section identifies some of the key 
issues that this Bus Strategy should consider carefully 
in order to make the Lincolnshire bus network more 
attractive, comprehensive and financially sustainable. 

 
Low population density makes 
practical and affordable public 
transport difficult to provide  
in these areas. 
– Campaign for Better Transport, 2018

 
Population density

With a population of approximately 1,082,000 and a land 
area of 6,975km2, Lincolnshire has a population density 
of around 155 people per km2. This is one of the lowest 
population densities in England, and more sparsely 
populated than Norfolk, Cornwall and Devon. 

As documented by the Campaign for Better Transport  
in their 2018 publication ‘The future of rural bus services  
in the UK’, the challenge with a sparse population and 
a large area is that buses must travel longer distances 
and have fewer passengers to transport compared to 
more densely populated areas. Relative to more densely 
populated areas, bus operating costs are greater while 
passenger revenues are reduced. 

This in turn results in higher fares that passengers  
must pay to travel by bus, and therefore the relative  
cost of bus travel versus alternative modes will  
be a significant factor in travel choices. 

The nature of rural Lincolnshire is that there are  
many settlements with small populations, and many  
that are not on direct links between the larger more  
urban settlements. This means that fixed route local 
bus services may miss large swathes of people without 
diverting off main corridors. This reduces the potential 
customer base which adds more pressure for operators  
to cover operating costs from those passengers who  
live along the route and who choose to use the bus.  
CallConnect DRT services have helped to solve this 
particular issue as flexible routings are based on 
passenger demand, but this does not support the  
core commercial bus network. 

A consequence of a commercially challenging  
operating area is that bus operators typically have  
little spare revenue to invest in new vehicles. As  
discussed earlier, the average age of the Lincolnshire  
bus fleet is between 13 and 14 years old (based on a 
sample of three of the larger operators in Lincolnshire) 
which is greater than the average aged bus fleet in  
non-metropolitan areas of England (8.8 years in 2019/20).  
With few new vehicles operating in Lincolnshire, there  
is little investment in low or zero-emission vehicles,  
while the only incentive to limit vehicle emissions  
is the requirement to have a minimum of Euro 3  
engines for county council contracts. 

There are several areas in which the county council  
can help overcome – or at least mitigate – some of  
these challenges, including:

Reduce operating costs – Various aspects go into 
determining operating costs, though two of the  
more dominant costs incurred are fuel costs and  
driver costs. Bus drivers are not typically highly paid  
across Lincolnshire, thus there is little in the way of  
cost savings that could be made until driverless vehicles 
become commonplace. There may be opportunities  
for reducing fuel costs, however, if there is a shift to 
cheaper sources of power. Biogas is significantly cheaper 
than diesel, while the cost of electricity per km travelled 
is cheaper still. These are areas in which this Bus Strategy 
could help to support the reduction in operating costs  
and therefore make services more financially viable. 

Increase fare revenues – the previous section highlighted 
that operators have increased fares by more than the 
increase in both inflation and operating costs over recent 
years. Thus, operators appear to have sought to make  
up any lost revenues by increasing fares for existing users. 
While increasing fares can increase revenues, it is also 
likely to result in fewer fare payers travelling. 

Another way to increase fare revenues is to encourage 
more fare payers to use existing services. This is not 
a straight-forward problem to solve as there may be 
numerous factors that discourage people from using  
bus services. A key element of this strategy is to examine 
the potential for an enhanced partnership scheme, and 
this should identify what interventions and schemes  
would encourage fare paying passengers to use bus 
services more frequently. 

Increase non-fare revenues 

While fare revenues account for a significant proportion  
of operator revenues, they still account for a minority  
of overall revenues. Other revenue sources include:

• ENCTS reimbursement;

• Supported bus service payments;

• Scholar tickets funded by the local authority;

• BSOG and uplifts for providing ITSO smart ticketing  
and AVL technology; and,

• On-bus advertising.

The county council has a direct influence on several 
of these revenue sources, although simply increasing 
revenue from the local authority isn’t a long-term viable 
solution. However, there may be the potential for other 
sources of revenue and these should be explored further. 
For example, Vehicle-to-Grid services for electric vehicles in 
one such source of revenue, where electric bus batteries 
can be used to store excess energy at times of high-supply, 
or donate energy back to the National Grid at times of  
high-demand. This is an approach that has been adopted 
in London across several depots and also at Coventry as 
part of an Electric Bus Town project. National Grid pays  
the owners of the battery storage a fee for providing 
energy or storage, thus potentially generating additional 
revenues for operators. 

P
age 273



14 15

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 L
oc

al
 B

us
 S

tr
at

eg
y

Overall, the population density of Lincolnshire and the 
disparate nature of settlements makes commercially 
viable bus services very difficult to operate. Such services 
therefore require additional revenue sources other than 
on-bus fares in order to make them viable. This strategy 
focusses on how to reduce operating costs as well as 
increasing operator revenues to support the long-term 
self-sustainability of services and meet the council’s 
broader objectives. 

COVID-19

The Council has carried out an in-depth review of  
the short- and medium-term impacts of COVID-19.  
This identified a variety of unrelated factors that have,  
or are likely to, impact on bus patronage in the coming 
years – as presented below. The outcome of the numerous 
factors on the operating of bus services is that there is 
likely to be reduced personal travel demand and reduced  
peak-period demand, thus weakening the commercial 
viability of bus services.

Illustration of changes to travel demand and likely impacts

Reduced personal travel demand

Reduced peak period demand

Weakening viability of commercial 
transport services and car parks

Need to manage freight  
nd home deliveries

Declining public 
transport trends  

pre-COVID-19

Long-term increase 
in online retail 
transactions

Higher and further 
education delivered 
on online platforms

NHS 'Digitial first 
primary care' – more 

care at home

Flexible working and 
increased home-
working in future

Long-term decline in 
high street footfall

COVID-19 induced 
reduction in  

travel demand

Reduction in retail 
employment in urban 

centres

Reduced 
confidence in public 

transport use

Increase in 
unemployment

The county council has supported local bus operators 
both financially and operationally throughout the period 
impacted by COVID-19. Since March 2020, it has amongst 
other things:

• Maintained ENCTS reimbursement payments  
at pre-COVID-19 levels;

• Maintained supported bus contract payments;

• Provided CBSSG revenue for lost on-bus  
revenueon supported bus services; and,

• Supported emergency bus registration changes.

While this council support has overcome some of the 
short-term challenges, overcoming the longer-term 
challenges of COVID-19 requires a co-ordinated recovery 
strategy. An agreed strategy between bus operators,  
the county council and National Government should 
convey a co-ordinated message that buses are safe. 
Without encouraging people back onto buses, the county 
council might find rather quickly that for those services 
that are not commercially viable, either they will require 
additional financial support or operators will choose not  
to operate those services. As identified in the previous 
work carried out by the county council, “It is important  
that the council has a strategy for how it will, or won’t, 
support rural bus services in coming months and years. 
This will require a plan for what a core network should 
look like – routings, peak and off-peak frequencies etc –  
so that decisions can be taken by council officers that 
provide essential services to meet the needs of residents. 
It will also need to consider how CallConnect can support 
the core network and ‘fill in any gaps’".

As part of the recovery strategy, the county council  
should consider what it can do to mitigate any negative 
effects of changes to bus supply, and careful consideration 
could be given to the role of Transport Connect – the 
county council’s Teckal company to ensure an essential 
level of service should market conditions deteriorate. 
Owning its own transport provider puts the council in  
a strong position to ensure that competition amongst  
bus operators is maintained throughout the county  
and that services can be delivered. At a time when 
other local authorities are suffering from a reduction 
in competition amongst operators (notably Cornwall), 
Lincolnshire can develop a unique solution to  
maintaining high-levels of mobility and access  
for its residents. 

Beyond the recovery strategy however, there will  
be a step-change in how bus services are provided 
in Lincolnshire to ensure their long-term viability and 
maintain or improve levels of mobility and access to 
essential goods and services for all residents. This Bus 
Strategy provides the short-term recovery strategy  
as well as the medium-term strategy to bring about  
this step change in local bus provision and patronage. 

Congestion in urban areas

While much of Lincolnshire is rural and has no  
issues with congestion, this is not the case in some  
of Lincolnshire’s more urban areas. In Lincoln, and  
during the summer in Skegness, traffic congestion 
becomes a challenge for bus operators to maintain 
headways, resulting in an increased level of resource  
i.e. more vehicles and drivers, in order to provide the 
service in-line with the timetable. 

In Lincoln, Stagecoach has previously reported  
challenges it has with congestion, and these challenges 
have resulted in additional vehicles being used to  
maintain a 10-minute headway on services like those 
serving Birchwood (6, 9 and X6). Post-COVID-19, should  
there be a shift towards more car travel and away from 
buses, operators may find congestion is even more  
of a challenge as it impacts on the punctuality and 
reliability of bus services, while fare revenues are  
reduced compared to pre-COVID-19 levels. 

There are numerous tools available to the county  
council to reduce the impact of congestion for bus 
services, although the main tool is likely to be the  
provision of effective bus priority measures. In areas 
where there are known congestion issues, it would be 
prudent to investigate opportunities to implement bus 
priority measures to speed up bus journeys and make 
them more attractive to users. In Lincoln, there is an 
opportunity to implement bus priority measures at  
a time when the Eastern by-pass has been completed  
and the North Hykeham relief road is under construction 
to provide a complete ring road around the city.  
As cars and other road users are shifted towards  
the orbital route, the reallocation of road space  
or redefinition of priority measures for buses  
(and other sustainable modes) become a viable  
consideration to help the long-term functioning  
and viability of the city’s transport network. 

P
age 274



16 17

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 L
oc

al
 B

us
 S

tr
at

eg
y

The opportunity for solving the congestion issue for 
bus operators is that it could reduce operating costs, 
particularly on high frequency routes. If it is possible  
to save 10 minutes over an entire round trip on a 
10-minute headway service, this would reduce the  
number of vehicles required to operate the service,  
and thus reduce the need for a vehicle, fuel and the  
driver. In terms of prioritising bus priority measures, 
it would be sensible to focus on those areas where 
operating costs can be reduced to the greatest extent  
in order to maximise the value of the infrastructure  
that is introduced. 

Bus priority measures therefore form a key part  
of this Bus Strategy in order to make buses more  
attractive relative to private cars and vans.

Regulatory changes

While local buses are provided in a deregulated bus 
market, there are a variety of regulations that operators 
must adhere to in order to provide local bus services. 
In addition to holding a PSV (Public Service Vehicle) 
licence and registering a local bus service with the Traffic 
Commissioner, there are other regulatory requirements 
imposed on bus operators, with two recent or imminent 
regulatory changes impacting on operators in Lincolnshire. 

PSVAR – Public Service Vehicle Accessibility Regulations – 
requires all local bus operators to provide fully accessible 
vehicles. This includes coach operators who, by 1st January 
2020, should have ensured that their vehicles were 
fully accessible in order to provide local bus and school 
services. In Lincolnshire, many operators use coaches  
for school bus contracts and then re-use those vehicles 
during the day for private hire or perhaps other local  
bus services. 

These PSVAR regulations have caused challenges for 
Lincolnshire operators and have required them to look to 
invest in new vehicles. COVID-19 hit at the point in which 
these decisions needed to be taken which provided some 
respite, but the need to provide PSVAR compliant vehicles 
for all local bus services including school bus services 
where members of the public can travel remains in place. 
The challenge for the county council is that operators  
who provide these services are typically small and operate 
on low profit margins. They often lack the ability to invest 
in new, PSVAR compliant vehicles. Should PSVAR or other 
regulations require this investment, some operators  

may choose to no longer operate. This could reduce  
the pool of suppliers in the county – or in certain parts  
of the county – and could then result in higher tender 
prices due to reduced competition in future. 

A further regulatory change introduced in the Bus Services 
Act 2017 included ‘Bus Open Data’. This requires all local 
bus operators to provide open, accurate and up-to-date 
data relating to timetables, fares and vehicle location  
to populate real-time systems. Operators were required  
to provide timetable data from the 31st December  
2020, while vehicle location and basic fares data was  
to be provided by 7th January 2021. By 7th January  
2023, operators will be required to provide complex  
fares and ticket data to the Bus Open Data Service  
so that technology providers can use it to create 
comprehensive tools to share bus information  
with members of the public. 

The challenge for Lincolnshire operators is that many 
of the smaller operators did not have electronic ticket 
machines that provide an automatic vehicle location,  
while many also required support with compiling the  
data requirements on timetables and fares. The county 
council has supported operators through this process  
and will continue to support operators to ensure that 
they are compliant. It has also introduced the ETM Loan 
Scheme so that all operators have access to state-of-the-
art ETMs to enable this data to be shared with the open 
data systems. While the council has attempted to mitigate 
the negative impacts on smaller operators, it is an area of 
regulation that requires operators to do more at a time 
when the commercial environment is challenging and 
patronage in general decline. 

There are other challenges that bus operators in 
Lincolnshire face. One such challenge is the growth in  
new residential developments and the need to serve  
those areas sufficiently early in their construction to 
encourage sustainable travel choices and not simply  
focus on providing for cars. While the county council  
is the highways authority and the transport authority, 
it is not the planning authority, so planning for and 
implementing mitigating measures in new housing 
developments requires a co-ordinated approach  
between the two tiers of local government. This Bus 
Strategy identifies areas in which Section 106 monies  
and other developer contributions should be allocated  
to support bus services in the medium- and long-term.

Overall, there are challenges that bus operators face every 
day to provide commercially sustainable bus services and 
mobility for residents. COVID-19 has had a seismic impact 
on the bus industry and Local and National Government 
support has maintained a core level of bus provision, but 
to ensure these services remain, it is essential that this Bus 
Strategy incorporates a recovery strategy and a long-term 
plan to ensure the long-term viability of local bus services 
across the county.  

The National Bus Strategy

In March 2021, the Government launched ‘Bus Back 
Better – a National Bus Strategy for England outside of 
London. It is important that this Lincolnshire Bus Strategy 
aligns and supports the national strategy as it is likely that 
future funding streams will be linked to meeting National 
Government objectives, and failure to work towards these 
objectives could leave the county council with reduced 
levels of funding with which to deliver transport services 
and maintain high-levels of mobility and access across the 
county. This section provides an overview of the National 
Bus Strategy and considers how the Lincolnshire Bus 
Strategy will incorporate the elements contained within  
the national strategy. 

Overview

The National Bus Strategy seeks to arrest the ‘cycle of 
decline’ in local bus services. In doing so, it highlights 
where collaboration between local authorities and 
bus operators has achieved success and intends for  
these examples of success to be replicated nationwide.  
The intention of the strategy is to invest £3 billion in:

• Supporting new and increased services – with  
at least £300 million of funding to support the  
sector recover from the pandemic in 2021/22.

• Giving LTAs the skills and people they need  
to deliver this strategy – with £25 million of  
the £300 million allocated in 2021/22.

• Bus priority schemes to speed up journeys –  
with the first schemes delivered in 2021/22.

• Accelerating the delivery of zero-emission  
buses with £120 million in 2021/22.

The Government’s goal is to “get bus use back to what 
it was before the pandemic. Then we want to increase 
patronage and raise buses’ mode share. We can only 
do these things by ensuring that buses are an attractive 
alternative to the car for far more people”. To achieve  
this, the aim is to make services:

• More frequent;

• Faster and more reliable;

• Cheaper;

• More comprehensive;

• Easier to understand;

• Better integrated with other modes and each other;

• Easier to use;

• Better to ride in;

• Greener;

• Accessible and inclusive;

• Innovative; and,

• Be seen as safe. 

The Bus Back Better strategy makes it clear that any  
future funding for local authorities or for operators 
through the Bus Services Operators Grant (BSOG) is linked 
to authorities having implemented either an Enhanced 
Partnership Scheme or a Franchising Scheme. 

“From 1 July 2021, CBSSG and any successor funding to it; 
funding to transform services as outlined in this Strategy; 
and potentially, subject to consultation on wider reform, 
the reformed Bus Service Operators Grant, will only be 
available to LTAs, outside of London, who have committed 
to entering into Enhanced Partnerships or started the 
statutory process of franchising services, and to operators 
who co-operate with the process. From April 2022, only 
LTAs with an Enhanced Partnership… will be able to  
access the new discretionary streams of the Government  
bus funding”.

P
age 275



18 19

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 L
oc

al
 B

us
 S

tr
at

eg
y

From April 2022 onwards, any new forms of bus  
funding from the Government will only be available  
to services operated, or measures taken, under  
an Enhanced Partnership or where a franchising  
scheme has been made. By the end of October 2021,  
the Government expects all local authorities to publish  
a Local BSIP. These plans must set out how authorities 
and operators will use their Enhanced Partnership or 
Franchising Scheme to deliver an ambitious vision for 
travelling by bus and driven by what passengers and 
would-be passengers want in their area.

The reform of BSOG is another strand to the strategy. 
Part of this strategy, although it is subject to further 
consultation, is to devolve the administration of BSOG 
to those Local authorities who want to take on that 
responsibility. This devolution would be subject  
to authorities agreeing to:

• Be pursuing franchising or an have an Enhanced 
Partnership in place.

• Commit to improvements in traffic management  
and bus priority measures.

• Drive forward air quality improvements  
and other Government priorities.

From July 2021, any funding available for local  
authorities or bus operators will only be provided 
if there is a commitment to establishing an Enhanced 
Partnership. The first aspect of developing an Enhanced 
Partnership Scheme is to prepare a BSIP, and this should 
be published by the end of October 2021. BSIPs must be 
updated annually and reflected in the authority’s LTP as 
well as in other relevant Local Plans such as Local Cycling 
and Walking Infrastructure Plans. 

A BSIP should consist of:

• Targets for journey times and reliability improvements;

• Identify where bus priority measures are needed;

• Set out pressures on the road network, air quality 
issues and carbon reduction targets which improved 
bus services could address, and set out actions  
working with operators to transform the local  
bus fleet to zero-emission;

•  Drive improvements for passengers by:

 – Setting targets for passenger growth  
and user satisfaction.

• Setting out plans and costs for fares, ticketing  
and modal integration;

• Considering the impact of roadside infrastructure  
on passenger safety, security and accessibility;

• Considering how a coherent and integrated network 
should serve schools, health, social care, employment;

• Taking into account the views of local people; and,

• Committing to a Bus Passenger Charter (BPC) that sets 
out what passengers can expect from bus operators.

Bus priority is considered a key element to making bus 
services more attractive and therefore should be a central 
element of BSIPs. Priority measures should include:

• Permanent and continuous bus lanes;

• Traffic signal priority;

• Bus gates;

• Clear and consistent signage; and,

• Enforcement of traffic restrictions.

Superbus networks are encouraged in areas such as 
the East Midlands where high frequency and lower fare 
services are provided. Partnership arrangements must 
also deliver more comprehensive services, including  
those which are socially necessary. This includes services 
to smaller and more isolated places, and more services 
in the evenings and at weekends. The DfT will provide 
updated guidance on the role of socially necessary 
services to include ‘economically necessary’ services. 

Future Government funding will be linked to LTPs.  
LTPs should set out ‘holistic, place-based strategies’  
for improving bus networks and proposing projects  
for investment and how objectives will be met. It is 
therefore essential that this Bus Strategy sets this  
out clearly. 

The strategy includes a ‘Green Bus Revolution’ and will  
be linked to the forthcoming Transport Decarbonisation 
Plan. Zero-emission buses are at the heart of this 
revolution to not only reduce emissions and improve  
air quality, but also to make journeys smoother and 
quieter and reduce operating costs to enable savings to  
be reinvested in more frequent services and lower fares.  
As part of this revolution, the Government proposes to:

• Consider all fuel technologies fairly.

• Provide support and incentives for the market  
to scale up production of zero-emission vehicles.

• Take a place-based approach to investment.

• Expect operators and local authorities to  
‘play their part’. 

Considerations for Lincolnshire

The National Bus Strategy is very clear when it states 
that future funding from the Government will be  
based on the implementation of the strategy and 
achieving the outcomes that the Government is looking  
to achieve. To that extent, the Lincolnshire Bus Strategy 
should align closely with the National Bus Strategy. 

COVID-19 has had a huge impact on the bus industry,  
and this requires a concerted and co-ordinated effort 
across multiple stakeholders to change once travel 
restrictions are lifted. Post-COVID-19 funding is linked  
to the development of a Bus Improvement Plan and  
the implementation of either a Franchising Scheme  
or an Enhanced Partnership Scheme (EPS). As Lincolnshire 
is unlikely to be able to even apply to be in a position  
to develop a Franchising Scheme, it would be prudent  
to look to implement an EPS and adopt the Bus 
Improvement Plan as the Enhanced Partnership  
Plan (in accordance with the Bus Services Act 2017). 

Lincolnshire’s Bus Improvement Plan should be ambitious 
to reflect not only the Government’s Bus Strategy, but  
also Lincolnshire’s own aspirations. It should include  
a comprehensive plan, considering the needs of users, 
and seek to overcome the challenges faced by buses 
in different areas across the county. Work on this Bus 
Improvement Plan should commence immediately  
and efforts to collaborate with bus operators and  
other stakeholders should also start immediately. 

This plan requires, amongst other things:

• High quality bus priority in those areas that  
need it most, notably Lincoln, Skegness, Boston  
and other urban areas.

• Plans for improved services, particularly morning, 
evening and services to make buses a viable  
alternative to the private car.

• Plans for how fares can be reduced over time.

• Plans for how ticketing can make bus services  
more attractive.

• Plans for how emissions will be reduced  
and air quality improved.

Further detail is required from the Government  
around how funding will be linked to the development  
of an EPS, and how recovery funding will be provided to  
local authorities in coming months. This may influence 
some short-term actions and the county council must  
be reactive to the Government policies during that time. 

Finally, the DfT is planning to consult on how Bus Service 
Operators Grant (BSOG) will be reformed. One of the 
options is to devolve BSOG to be administered by local 
authorities, and this may provide an opportunity for the 
county council to have greater control over the funding  
of local bus services in future. How this could work  
and what benefits it could bring to Lincolnshire should  
be examined and a plan developed to firstly contribute  
to the DfT’s consultation process, but secondly have  
in place an agreed policy and plan to maximise the  
benefits of possible BSOG devolution. 

Overall, the newly published National Bus Strategy aligns 
with the council’s objectives and confirms the local Bus 
Strategy set out in this document. That future funding  
is linked to the delivery of this strategy should ensure  
that there are sufficient funds to arrest the decline in  
local bus services and bring about a shift in public 
perception and bus patronage. 

P
age 276



20 21

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 L
oc

al
 B

us
 S

tr
at

eg
y

Strategic objectives

Following on from the review of the National Bus Strategy, 
the development of a Lincolnshire Bus Strategy requires 
identifying the council’s aims and aspirations for public 
transport and, more specifically, bus travel in Lincolnshire. 

Mobility aspirations in Lincolnshire

At the time of writing, Lincolnshire’s LTP 5 is being  
drafted to provide a framework that all future transport 
policy and investment accords with. The draft themes  
of LTP 5 and the vision that underpins it are:

• Reducing carbon emissions from within the  
transport system.

• Economic growth, with transport facilitating  
that growth.

• Promote thriving environments.

• Supporting safety and security, and a  
healthy lifestyle.

• Promoting high aspirations.

• Improving the quality of life.

This largely builds on what was contained within the 
fourth LTP and other transport strategies developed  
since then. It also highlights the priorities of both Local  
and National Governments. To add to this, the Lincoln 
transport strategy provided more detail around some  
of these aspects. The Lincoln transport strategy aims  
to provide:

• ‘Future-ready travel options that improve access  
and supports people, businesses and organisations  
to meet their daily needs’.

• ‘An inclusive and collective approach to accessibility  
and movement across all communities enabling 
businesses to succeed, carbon emissions to be  
reduced, new advances in technology to be embraced  
and will provide an improved quality of life for all’.

• ‘A change of focus in movement across the strategy 
area, with walking and cycling at the heart of the city’s 
movement network – supported by a network of green 
corridors, multi-occupancy and shared passenger 
transport options and reductions in traffic. Transport 
connections to satellite conurbations will be enhanced 
and the strategic network will be efficient in driving  
the city’s economic growth and prosperity’

These aspirations and visions provide a guide to the 
development of a new Bus Strategy as part of LTP 5.  
Based on the above, the aims of a Bus Strategy could  
be categorised as follows:

Reducing carbon emissions

• Encourage modal shift to public transport  
and away from the private car.

• Encourage bus operators to reduce CO2 emissions .

• Embrace new and emerging vehicle, fuel and mobility 
technologies to encourage more efficient journeys 
made using low- or zero-emission vehicles.

Economic growth

• Improve bus connectivity throughout Lincolnshire,  
the East Midlands and beyond.

• Ensure a resilient and reliable bus system for people .

• Support the vitality and integrity of our town centres 
and rural communities.

• Improve connectivity to jobs, training and  
employment opportunities.

Thriving environments

• Provide sustainable access to Lincolnshire’s 
environment and heritage.

Supporting safety, security and a healthy lifestyle

• Increase confidence in a safer and more secure  
bus network.

• Reduce the impacts of air quality and noise.

• Improve the health of our communities through 
provision for active travel.

Promoting high aspirations

• Improve connectivity and access to employment, 
education, healthcare and leisure. 

• Improve access onto public transport.

• Encourage community participation in  
shaping and delivering transport services.

Improving quality of life

• Reduce the negative impacts of transport  
on people's lives.

This categorisation provides some broad and general  
aims of a Lincolnshire Bus Strategy, and these align  
with both the draft LTP 5 aims as well as other published 
strategies in the county. However, these aims are high-
level and require further detail before they provide a 
meaningful framework around which future policy and 
schemes can be developed. Following the same pattern 
as above, it is possible to use previous strategies – most 
notably the Lincoln Transport Strategy as it is the most 
recent one produced in the county – and the LGA report 
on the ‘Future of Public Transport’ to help refine the  
broad aims above into a series of sub-aims and possible 
outputs. These are presented in the table below.

Bus implementation plan – Reducing carbon emissions

Aims Sub-aims Outputs

Encourage modal shift to  
public transport and away  
from the private car.

Make bus services more  
attractive to car users.

Fast, frequent services with  
priority over cars.

Integration of the network 
between modes to enable 
seamless interchange.

Integration of ticketing and  
payment between operators  
and modes – MaaS.

Consistent branding and 
marketing and easy access  
to information.

Encourage bus operators  
to reduce CO2 emissions.

Encourage bus operators to use  
zero- or ultra-low emission vehicles.

Roll out of ultra-low emission 
vehicles, including charging  
and refuelling infrastructure.

Embrace new and  
emerging vehicle, fuel and  
mobility technologies to  
encourage more efficient  
journeys made using low-  
or zero-emission vehicles.

Use the most efficient fuel  
technology available to fuel the  
services required in Lincolnshire  
to minimise CO2 emissions.

Roll out of ultra-low emission  
vehicles across the county taking 
account of costs (and earning 
potential), performance and  
emission reductions.

Maximise opportunities for  
electric vehicles to generate  
additional revenues through 
 vehicle to grid or data services.

Develop charging infrastructure  
and include bus batteries as part  
of an energy storage facility for  
the national grid.

P
age 277



22 23

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 L
oc

al
 B

us
 S

tr
at

eg
y

Bus implementation plan – Economic growth

Policies Working with

Improve bus connectivity  
throughout Lincolnshire, the  
East Midlands and beyond.

Improve connections between  
bus and rail stations.

Bus routes serving rail stations, 
providing effective interchange.

Bus timetables co-ordinated  
with rail timetables.

Integrated ticketing between 
modes.

Ensure a resilient and reliable  
bus system for people. 

Ensuring financially sustainable  
bus services by making them  
more attractive.

Fast and frequent services  
with priority over private cars.

Support the vitality and integrity 
of our town centres and rural 
communities.

Access to all town centres  
with direct inter urban,  
urban and rural bus services.

Effective bus priority  
in urban areas.

Bus implementation plan – Thriving environments

Policies Working with

Provide sustainable access  
to Lincolnshire’s environment  
and heritage.

Strengthen core bus  
network, making services  
more financially sustainable.

Reduce operating costs by 
minimising journey times in towns, 
and reducing fuel costs in all areas.

Increasing patronage and fare 
revenues by encouraging greater  
use of the bus network. 

Bus implementation plan – Supporting safety, security and a healthy lifestyle

Policies Working with

Increase confidence in a safer and more secure bus network. Newer buses with improved  
safety features.

Reduce the impacts of  
air quality and noise.

Encourage bus operators to use  
zero- or ultra-low emission vehicles.

Roll out of ultra-low emission 
vehicles, including charging  
and refuelling infrastructure.

Modal shift to reduce volume  
of vehicles.

Fast, frequent and prioritised  
bus services.

Improve the health of  
our communities through  
provision for active travel.

Ensure bus stops are  
accessible from all local areas.

Raised kerbs, improved bus  
shelters and waiting environments.

Bus implementation plan – Promoting high aspirations

Policies Working with

Improve connectivity and access  
to employment, education, 
healthcare and leisure.

Make bus services more attractive.

Fast and frequent services  
with priority over private cars.

More efficient routes serving  
key trip attractors with services  
at times people need to use them.

Improve access onto  
public transport.

Ensure bus stops are  
accessible for all.

Raised kerbs, improved bus  
shelters and waiting environments.

Improve awareness of  
available bus services.

Improved information at bus  
stops including RTI.

Improved information through  
online services including  
mobile apps.

Encourage community  
participation in shaping and 
delivering transport services

Improved engagement with  
users, non-users, businesses  
and representatives from  
key trip attractors

Development of a partnership 
model – possible an Enhanced 
Partnership – to better understand 
the needs of the community and 
deliver key mobility improvements

Bus implementation plan – Improving quality of life

Policies Working with

Reduce the negative impacts  
of transport on people's lives.

Reduce congestion. Improved bus services in urban  
areas with effective bus priority.

Improve air quality,  
reduce CO2 emissions.

Roll out of ultra-low emission 
vehicles, including charging  
and refuelling infrastructure.

Encourage model shift –  
improve bus services.

Reduce social inequality.

Ensuring equal access to 
employment opportunities, 
education and essential  
goods and services through  
a comprehensive and reliable  
public transport network.

P
age 278



24 25

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 L
oc

al
 B

us
 S

tr
at

eg
y

The tables provide an overview of the aims, sub-aims  
and the possible outputs from a Bus Strategy. From  
this, it is possible to see some consistent outputs around 
which a Bus Strategy can be structured with realistic 
deliverables identified. These consistent outputs include:

• Ensuring there are fast and frequent bus  
services across the county.

• Effective priority for buses over cars and  
other vehicles.

• Integrated services to enable interchange  
between modes.

• New low-emission vehicles and associated  
charging and fuelling infrastructure.

• Improved connectivity to key trip attractors.

• Improved bus stop infrastructure and  
real-time information.

• Integrated ticketing and branding.

All of these outputs are consistent with the National 
Bus Strategy, and all should be incorporated within the 
Lincolnshire Bus Strategy. In doing so, delivering these 
outputs within an Enhanced Partnership which brings 
together operators, the county council, other local 
authorities, the LEP and other stakeholders would be 
the most effective way of attracting Government funding 
and having the best chance of delivering the strategy. An 
Enhanced Partnership Scheme could provide the robust 
framework around which all partners can contribute with 
the consistent target of achieving these aims, objectives 
and outputs. In doing so, residents would benefit from 
improved services, operators would benefit financially 
through increased farebox revenues and potentially 
reduced operating costs while the authority could 
benefit through reduced supported bus costs, reduced 
congestion, CO2 emissions and improved air quality.  
It is the detail around what measures and schemes  
could achieve these outputs that should be contained 
within the Enhanced Partnership and documented  
within the new Lincolnshire Bus Strategy. 

Lincolnshire Bus Strategy

This strategy has, so far, presented an overview of local 
bus supply and demand and documented many of the 
challenges faced by bus operators and the county council 
in operating bus services and managing the network.  
It has also reviewed the National Bus Strategy published  
in March 2021 and provided an assessment of the various 
aims and aspirations of the county council as published 
in other strategies. These sections provide a clear steer  
to what this Bus Strategy should look to achieve and  
how to achieve it. 

The structure of this strategy is to firstly identify the key 
objectives that the strategy seeks to achieve, followed  
by how these will be achieved. 

Overarching objectives

This document, and supporting documents, have 
highlighted many areas where Lincolnshire has performed 
well in terms of local bus provision. These areas include:

• Having in place a coherent and structured classification 
of local bus services, including urban, interurban and 
rural services to ensure a minimal level of mobility  
for all residents. 

• Having a large pool of bus operators, geographically 
dispersed across the county, providing competition  
for local authority tenders, amongst other things. 

• Supporting local bus operators when it is necessary to 
do so. Examples include the ETM loan scheme, support 
to meet Open Bus Data requirements, continuation of 
ENCTS reimbursement payments, CBSSG on supported 
services and supported bus payments. 

It is imperative that these areas of good practice are 
maintained and even strengthened so that any new 
policies and interventions can build on this strong 
foundation. The two preliminary objectives are to:

• Maintain and strengthen the coherent hierarchical 
structure of the bus network to provide an improved 
minimum level of mobility for everyone in Lincolnshire.

• Maintain the broad supply of bus operators  
to maintain competition.

In addition to these, it is evident from the discussion 
in this document that in order to ensure the long-term 
viability of local bus services in Lincolnshire, there needs  
to be a fundamental shift in how bus services are operated 
and how they are used by the public. As highlighted in 
Chapter 5 (Strategic Objectives), there are numerous aims 
and objectives that this strategy should target. These are:

• Encourage modal shift from car to bus.

• Reduce the impact of bus operations on the 
environment - reducing CO2 emissions and reducing  
the impact of bus services on poor air quality.

• Embrace new and emerging vehicle, fuel and mobility 
technologies to encourage more efficient journeys 
made using low- or zero-emission vehicles.

• Improve bus connectivity throughout Lincolnshire,  
the East Midlands and beyond.

• Ensure a resilient and reliable bus system for people.

• Support the vitality and integrity of our town centres 
and rural communities.

• Improve connectivity to jobs and employment 
opportunities.

• Provide sustainable access to Lincolnshire’s 
environment and heritage.

• Increase confidence in a safer and more secure  
bus network.

• Reduce the impacts of air quality and noise.

• Improve the health of our communities through 
provision for active travel.

• Encourage community participation in shaping  
and delivering transport services.

• Reduce the negative impacts of transport  
on people's lives.

The National Bus Strategy aligns with almost all of the 
objectives, thus, by achieving these local objectives, the 
National Strategy will also be implemented. The next  
step is to identify how these objectives will be met  
and what interventions will be targeted. 

Our connected county – vision and case study

Lincolnshire will be a well-connected county, providing 
efficient and effective mobility services for all. Getting 
around rural parts of the county and accessing essential 
goods and services on offer in both rural and urban areas 
will not only be possible, but an attractive option for those 
without access to a car. Incorporating our CallConnect 
services with a Mobility as a Service (MaaS) offer will 
ease access to our mobility network. We will level-up our 
rural communities so that they are fully connected and 
integrated into the Lincolnshire economy and to those  
of neighbouring areas. 

Our transport network will be provided with a minimal 
impact on the environment. With zero tailpipe emissions, 
adopting new and emerging technologies to meet our 
needs, services will also be operated at a reduced cost 
due to cheaper fuels, enabling an enhancement in the 
customer offer and generating additional revenues  
to make services self-sustaining. 

We want CallConnect operators to provide frequent  
rural services covering the rural areas of the county,  
using electric battery powered vehicles, powered by 
energy captured and stored from solar panels on the  
roof of depot buildings – benefitting from Lincolnshire 
being one of the sunniest and driest counties in the 
UK. Using electric battery powered vehicles alongside 
generating much of the vehicle’s energy needs will help 
to reduce operating costs, enabling services to operate 
longer hours with little increase in costs, making services 
more attractive for greater numbers of people and 
generating greater revenues. 

The CallConnect vehicle batteries (with additional battery 
storage within the depot) will support the national grid 
during the evenings when the vehicles are not in service – 
providing vehicle-to-grid energy supply and storage.  
This will generate additional revenues to supplement  
fare revenues and off-set any charging maintenance  
costs to minimise the subsidy required to operate the 
services and ensure their long-term viability. 

P
age 279



26 27

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 L
oc

al
 B

us
 S

tr
at

eg
y

These services will not only provide demand responsive and special educational needs transport, but they can also 
provide non-emergency patient transportation on behalf of the NHS where the trips can be provided on the main 
transport network. This would support the long-term viability of services, providing an additional revenue source  
and ensure a more efficient use of public sector resources.

Alongside CallConnect services, we want to encourage 
all transport users to travel more sustainably whilst 
minimising their impact the environment. We will  
develop travel hubs to enable interchange between  
cars and passenger transport, cycles, scooters and  
other modes. These hubs will also provide access to 
charging infrastructure for buses, cars, electric bicycles  
and scooters whilst providing fast and efficient services  
to enable integrated mobility services.

To support our local operators to embrace emerging 
vehicle technologies, we will look to build on our ETM  
Loan Scheme to consider how we could extend the 
principle to include electric battery of hydrogen fuel  
cell powered vehicles. This would help reduce operating 
costs to allow for the enhancement of services, but 
importantly reduce the impact on air quality and  
CO2 emissions so our air is cleaner for our people. 

Beyond this strategy, we envisage the role of electric and 
hydrogen fuel cell powered vehicles as being the mainstay 
of the Lincolnshire passenger transport network, with our 
vehicles playing a long-term role to store and regulate 
energy needs across the UK. We envisage autonomous 
vehicles to become a mainstream transport option across 
the county from the 2030’s onwards. This will revolutionise 
mobility services while reducing travel costs as both fuel 
and driver costs will be significantly reduced compared to 
costs today. The council will monitor and embrace these 
changes to enhance mobility amongst residents as these 
emerging technologies come to market. 

CallConnect DRT services using 
electric battery powered minibus – 

serving the rural areas of Lincolnshire.

Reduced fuel costs = scope to 
expand service provision, so more 
attractive to users and generate 

greater revenue.

Solar energy generation and 
battery storage at operator 

depots to capture solar energy.

Use of 'Vehicle 2 Grid' systems  
to store or provide power-to-grid 

when needed, generating  
a new revenue source.

Use CallConnect vehicles and 
booking system to support NEPS, 
strengthening existing network.

Post-COVID-19 short-term recovery strategy

There is a short-term need to implement a post-COVID-19 
recovery strategy to encourage people back to using buses 
in Lincolnshire. After more than a year of Government 
messages that buses are not COVID-19 safe and the 
encouragement to walk, cycle or use private cars, the 
moment that travel restrictions are lifted and social 
distancing is no longer required, the message that  
buses are safe and an efficient means of travel needs  
to be made clearly. 

A post-COVID-19 recovery strategy must be agreed 
between all stakeholders, but this strategy suggests  
that it should be made up of three key components:

1. A co-ordinated awareness raising campaign.

2. Ensure services are operational, clean and that first 
impressions of using buses again are positive.

3. Measures to incentivise and promote bus us.e

A co-ordinated awareness raising campaign between the 
county council and bus operators is essential to build on 
the messages that will be made nationally. A ‘Back to the 
Bus’ campaign using social media, the traditional media 
(radio, TV and newspaper interviews with members and 
officers) and other council-oriented media would help  
to spread the positive message that buses are a safe  
and efficient means of travel around Lincolnshire. 

To complement the ‘Back to the Bus’ campaign, operators 
must play an important role in ensuring services are a) 
operational, but b) attractive for people to use. In addition, 
engaging with operators to temporarily enhance services 
at weekends and during evenings in order to tempt people 
back to using the bus at times that suit them would help  
to make buses more attractive. The council also plays  
a role in its provision of supported services, thus there  
may be opportunities to incorporate CallConnect and 
other supported services within the campaign. 

Finally, an event or series of events across the county 
could allow operators to provide special offers for 
using buses for a short-period of time (up to one week). 
Promoting access to Lincolnshire’s heritage to provide  
a boost to the local economy and encouraging people  
to do so by bus would be an ideal opportunity to get 
people on to the bus in their leisure time to raise 
confidence in their use. 

Alongside this, operators could provide promotional  
fares and ticket products to make using the bus more 
attractive financially. 

This strategy needs to be discussed and the detail  
agreed with operators, as well as council members  
and officers. It would also need to include council 
departments other than the transport services team 
(particularly the tourism team) so that any of their post-
COVID-19 strategies are aligned. Bus operators and 
the council have a difficult task to make bus services 
commercially viable in the longer-term, but by using  
the positive removal of travel restrictions and social 
distancing detailed in the Governments COVID-19  
roadmap, there is an opportunity to attract people  
back to using buses by raising awareness and making 
them attractive to use. 

Enhanced Partnership and Bus Improvement Plan

Government funding is directly linked to the preparation 
and implementation of an Enhanced Partnership or 
Franchising Scheme. As Lincolnshire is unable to apply to 
consider implementing a Franchising Scheme – it is not a 
combined authority, does not have a mayor and it does 
not control planning and transport policy – the only viable 
option is to introduce an Enhanced Partnership. This EP 
must include a Bus Improvement Plan that is developed 
in conjunction with operators, bus users, businesses and 
other stakeholders. 

To set up an Enhanced Partnership, the council will  
do the following:

• Engage in ‘initial discussions’ with all local operators  
to carry out a realistic assessment of how bus services 
can be improved .

• Seek to find an agreed way forward to investigate  
the EP formally.

• Identify all operators willing to participate within  
the EP.

• Identify a suitable mechanism for discussions 
to take place as part of the EP.

P
age 280



28 29

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 L
oc

al
 B

us
 S

tr
at

eg
y

Assuming that there will be informal agreement to  
pursue the EP process amongst the majority of operators, 
the next step is to provide a formal notice of intention 
and invite operators and other stakeholders to participate 
within the EP. This should be completed by 30th June  
2021 to meet the Government’s planned timescales and  
to ensure that operators and local authorities continue  
to receive CBSSG funding from the 1st July onwards. 

Running concurrently to this formal process, work must 
run concurrently to develop the Bus Improvement Plan, 
which will set out the approach taken by the EP to bring 
about a local bus revolution. The Bus Improvement Plan 
must be published by 31st October 2021 and should  
start to be delivered by April 2022. 

To prepare the Bus Improvement Plan, the county  
council will work with operators to:

• Collate evidence on the performance of bus  
services in Lincolnshire.

• Identify where the plan could target interventions 
to maximise benefits by driving up patronage and 
reducing operating and subsidy costs.

• Investigate vehicle fuelling options on behalf of  
all operators to identify options for the greening  
of the bus fleet across Lincolnshire.

• Explore competition rules to ensure that any  
subsidy provided by the county council meets  
all necessary competition laws.

The Bus Improvement Plan will be born out of  
discussions between the council, local operators  
and other stakeholders and will be based on a robust 
analysis of evidence to substantiate the intervention  
and investment. It will seek to build on existing strengths 
such as the strategic framework of urban, interurban  
and rural services and identify ways in which this  
network of services could be strengthened. 

In urban areas, there will be a focus on reducing the 
factors that impact on bus journey time and journey  
time reliability. This will lead to a need for greater  
levels of bus priority which could include:

• Dedicated, continuous bus running lanes.

• Junction priority for buses.

• Bus gates and bus only routes.

The BIP will review and examine all urban areas  
of Lincolnshire to identify areas where delays occur  
and what priority measures could be introduced  
to best overcome the issues faced. This will be on a  
case-by-case basis, although consideration will be given 
to where interventions could benefit multiple services  
and operators in order to obtain best value for money. 

Where operating cost reductions can be found and  
where bus patronage (and revenues) are increased,  
the BIP will require those revenues to be reinvested  
into improved service levels. This will also be on a  
case-by-case basis, but examples of service enhancement 
would include increased operating hours in the mornings, 
evenings and at weekends and/or increased frequencies. 
As identified earlier, there are many bus services in 
Lincolnshire (particularly outside of Lincoln) that do not 
operate in the early mornings and evenings, and rarely  
on Sundays. By working with operators to reduce costs 
and increase revenues, it is imperative that these gains  
are re-invested to make getting around the county  
by bus a viable alternative to the car – which at present  
it isn’t for many. 

In 2020, the county council considered bidding for 
‘Superbus’ funding to implement a bus rapid transit  
style corridor, or series of corridors, in Lincoln.  
Superbus corridors could consist of very high-levels  
of bus priority, as well as consistent branding, high-  
quality vehicles, integrated ticketing and attractive  
fares to encourage an increase in bus patronage.  
The county council will examine Superbus corridors 
in greater detail and consider where they could be 
implemented should funding become available. 

The BIP will also consider whether fares and ticketing 
require an overhaul to enable people to make journeys  
on more than one operator. As identified previously,  
while demand for integrated fares and tickets may be  
low, it could be a barrier to some people. The BIP will 
therefore examine what evidence there may be for 
integrated fares and put in place proposals for  
a multi-operator ticketing scheme should there  
be sufficient demand. 

Finally, the council recognises the importance of bus  
stop infrastructure to enable people to access bus  
services from where they live. It has invested heavily  
over the past decade or more to enhance bus stop 
facilities in terms of shelters, raised kerbs, lighting and  
bus stop information. The council will continue its roll  
out of improved bus strop infrastructure across the  
urban areas of Lincolnshire, as well as in rural areas to 
remove as many barriers as possible to using the bus. 

For interurban services, the council will review the 
frequencies and existing demand for travelling  
between towns and consider how this could be  
enhanced. This will require working closely with  
operators of Interconnect services to understand  
the changes to patronage in the past when services  
were enhanced or reduced. At the urban ends of  
the route, there may be scope to speed up journey  
times and journey time reliability through bus priority  
measures. Along the interurban route however,  
the council will work with operators to understand 
whether there are any improvements that could be  
made. Where improvements are identified, these  
will be assessed on a value for money basis with 
investment in those that generate the greatest  
cost savings or increased revenues. 

Where savings can be made, the BIP will ensure  
operators re-invest into service levels in the mornings, 
evenings and weekends, as well as possibly increasing 
frequencies and/or investing in new vehicles. 

In rural areas, the greatest challenge is serving a large 
number of settlements with relatively few residents.  
CallConnect plays this role very well in Lincolnshire  
and is a national leader in the provision of demand 
responsive services. The county council will invest in  
new booking software to enable more online bookings 
and more bookings at shorter notice. This should  
make CallConnect services more attractive and  
thus increase revenues. 

Alongside the updated booking system, the council  
will look to explore ways in which operating costs can 
be reduced to enable those savings to be reallocated 
to providing a higher level of service. One way in which 
operating costs could be reduced would be to examine  
the role that cheaper fuel could play. Discussed later 
in this section, electric or hydrogen fuel cell powered 
CallConnect vehicles could help to reduce operating  
costs. Should cost savings be generated, operating hours  
could be reviewed and increased from their existing  
7am to 7pm Monday to Saturday structure while the 
number of vehicles, and therefore frequency, could  
be reviewed should passenger demand require it. 

The BIP is central to the implementation of an Enhanced 
Partnership Scheme. It will be based on a robust analysis 
of available data to highlight where issues arise on the 
network and what the optimal solution to those problems 
are in order to reduce costs and increase revenues. The  
council will look to invest in the infrastructure required  
to overcome the challenges, and in return, operators  
will re-invest in their services to make them more 
attractive to users and potential users. 

One way in which services can be significantly  
improved is in the renewal of the bus fleet and the 
introduction of vehicles that have fewer emissions  
and do not contribute to poor air quality. Bus Back  
Better focusses on the roll out of zero-emission  
vehicles and these are a key part of this Bus Strategy,  
as discussed below. 

Greening of the bus fleet

“Zero-emission bus services, that meet the needs of 
passengers and communities, and attract passengers  
from other forms of transport, are at the heart of  
our plans”

Both Lincolnshire’s LTP 5 and the National Bus Strategy 
focus on the reduction of CO2 emissions from transport 
and the improvement in air quality. The introduction,  
and roll out, of zero-emission vehicles is therefore  
a central part of the Lincolnshire Bus Strategy. 

To start the process, the council will engage with  
operators as part of the Enhanced Partnership to  
discuss how investment in new vehicle could be made  
and how these vehicles could start to be rolled out  
across the county. As part of this process, the council  
will investigate the optimal fuel solutions for operators  
and the services that they operate. This will take into 

P
age 281



30 31

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 L
oc

al
 B

us
 S

tr
at

eg
y

account depot location, location of route termini, the 
nature of their services and daily mileage per vehicle.  
This work will provide all operators with an understanding 
of the optimal fuel source for their services and a plan  
can be developed to start to encourage a shift towards 
these vehicles over the lifetime of this strategy. 

Hydrogen fuel cell and electric battery power are the  
two zero-emission fuel sources available at the present 
time, although hydrogen is still a bus fuel technology  
in its infancy. Despite this, in March 2021, the Government 
provided £11.2 million of funding to Wrightbus to develop  
single and double decker hydrogen fuel cell powered 
vehicles, while Aberdeen is currently trialling the world’s 
first hydrogen powered double decker bus. Battery  
electric buses have been operating in the UK for the  
past 10 years, with Nottingham currently having a fleet  
of 58 vehicles made up of BYD saloon single decker  
buses, Optare Solos and Versa minibuses. 

The benefits and disbenefits of hydrogen fuel cell and 
electric battery powered vehicles will be examined in 
detail before investment decisions are taken. However, 
the opportunities to reduce operating costs and even to 
potentially introduce a new revenue source are apparent. 

Lincolnshire has an opportunity to demonstrate how 
electric vehicles could be introduced in rural areas 
providing rural bus services and interurban services. 
Firstly, there is political demand in parts of the county  
to introduce an electric bus demonstration project to 
provide that electric buses can work in Lincolnshire. 
Electric battery powered buses could work very well 
in towns like Boston, although it is on longer-distance 
journeys where vehicle have a higher mileage that  
there is greatest scope to reduce operating costs  
and therefore enhance services. This will be 
examined as part of a feasibility study. 

Transport Connect – a council owned bus operator  
could also be used to trial electric buses on CallConnect 
services. Demand responsive services are a key focus  
of the National Bus Strategy, while the zero-emission 
vehicles are also central to it. By carrying out a 
demonstration project that combines both policy  
areas, this could provide DfT with a valuable evidence  
base on how to roll out electric buses in rural areas. 

The council has shown that new technologies can be 
rolled out in the county through the success of its ETM 
Lease Scheme. The same principles could be expanded 
to include zero-emission vehicles, offering the lease of 
vehicles to operators who otherwise could not invest in 
such technologies. The council will explore these options, 
using levelling up or local transport funding options  
to invest in the capital costs to facilitate the greening  
of the bus fleet in Lincolnshire. 

In summary, the county council will carry out a  
feasibility study for introducing electric buses in 
Lincolnshire. This will examine the type of routes  
on which electric buses are best suited, the charging 
infrastructure required at the depot and at termini, the 
funding options available and the competition challenges. 
The resilience of the transport infrastructure is a key aim 
of LTP 5, and this will need to be a focus of any feasibility 
study. This study will use examples of the electric bus  
roll-out in other parts of the UK to identify the optimal 
demonstration project and engage with DfT to seek  
match-funding to help deliver it. 

Total transport

The county council has investigated Total Transport 
principles for many years and considers it very  
important to operate all public sector transport  
services in as efficient manner as possible. With  
a vast network of CallConnect services operating 
across rural Lincolnshire, there are synergies  
between CallConnect and non-emergency patient  
services operated on behalf of Clinical Commissioning 
Groups (CCGs) that could lead to a more efficient  
use of vehicles. 

The council will work with CCGs and NHS transport 
providers to encourage a greater use of CallConnect 
services for non-emergency trips, as well as use of the 
CallConnect booking system. This will strongly support  
the CallConnect network and possibly allow it to expend  
to provide an even higher level of services than at present. 

New residential development plan

The Bus Back Better strategy identifies the need for  
a plan to manage new residential developments and 
ensure that they are integrated into the bus network  
at the earliest opportunity. As part of the Enhanced 
Partnership and development of the Bus Improvement 
Plan, the council will also prepare a separate strategy 
for how new developments will be integrated and how 
Section 106 moneys and developer contributions towards 
transport provision will be allocated. In Lincolnshire,  
this strategy will include, amongst other things: 

• Engagement with the planning authority at an early 
stage in the planning process to ensure that best 
practice for new housing developments is taken  
into account in development plans and that buses  
are given priority. 

• A county-wide policy that requires an agreed minimum 
level of bus provision from a given occupation level i.e. 
at least an hourly bus service, Monday – Saturday, to 
the nearest urban centre (or dominant trip attractor) 
from a 25% occupation level, raising to half hourly  
when occupation levels reach 75%. 

• Where new bus services are not required or  
where developments are relatively small in scale,  
the strategy will include schemes that the developer  
could contribute to financially to enhance bus services 
across the county and help mitigate the negative 
impacts that the development could contribute to. 

It is imperative that the council develops a strategy for 
new residential developments and that this is part of the 
Enhanced Partnership to ensure that there is a joined-up 
plan for the delivery of public transport across the county. 
Only once there is a joined-up policy will there be scope 
to encourage everyone to use public transport or other 
sustainable modes for the journeys that they make,  
rather than automatically use the car for all journeys. 

Funding 

This strategy supports a wholesale shift in the role and use 
of buses in Lincolnshire in order to arrest their long-term 
decline and make them financially viable in the medium- 
to long-term. To do so requires significant investment 
from the county council, operators and large amounts  
of funding DfT and other Government funds. 

External and internal funding sources are only a small  
part of the financing approach to this strategy. By using 
funding to help reduce operating costs and making 
bus services more attractive, the Enhanced Partnership 
approach detailed earlier will ensure that revenue 
generated by operators is reinvested in enhanced  
services to generate even greater revenues that make  
bus operations self-sustaining. If this strategy is successful, 
local authority supported bus budgets should also  
be able to be redirected to other areas, with further 
investment in bus networks being one of those areas. 

To get to the point that increased revenues can be 
reinvested, it is evident that significant up-front funding  
is required from DfT and other Government funds.  
The nature of funding from the Government is  
not yet clear, thus this strategy cannot identify precisely 
what sums and for what interventions funding will  
be provided, but by aligning this bus strategy directly 
with the DfT’s national strategy, there will be significant 
opportunities for funding. The Levelling Up Fund and  
the Community Renewal Fund are two opportunities  
to support the capital and revenue investment identified 
in this strategy. The Levelling Up fund in particular may 
provide opportunity to invest in new greener vehicles  
to ensure the most rural parts of the county where 
mobility is most compromised are connected  
to employment and education opportunities. 

To support the longer-term funding of the local bus 
network and to ensure operators continue to meet  
the aims and objectives of this strategy (and future 
strategies), DfT has announced that it may devolve  
BSOG to local authorities, subject to consultation.  
The council will undertake a study to understand  
what benefits the devolution of BSOG could bring  
to Lincolnshire and how it could be delivered locally. 
Should the consultation then allow for the county  
council to assume control over the distribution of BSOG  
in future, it will be in a position to take this responsibility. 

P
age 282



32 33

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 L
oc

al
 B

us
 S

tr
at

eg
y

Finally, a key element of this strategy is to ensure that any 
new residential developments are served by bus services 
at an early stage and that the planning process ensures 
that buses have high-levels of priority. There are various 
areas in which developers should contribute financially 
through S106 payments, and the amount and reason  
for these payments will vary by each development.  
These will be set out in a separate county-wide strategy  
to be prepared in 2021. 

Overall, this strategy is reliant on seed funding from  
the DfT to implement large-scale bus priority measures 
across the county, greener vehicles, improved services 
and many of the other measures detailed in this strategy. 
However, once that seed funding has been invested,  
it is intended that services become self-sustaining and 
further investment comes from the private sector to 
enhance services further to generate additional revenues. 

Measurable outcomes 

To assess the performance of this strategy over its lifetime, 
a number of metrics will be measured. These will provide 
a robust evidence base to evaluate the impact of each 
intervention which will help to provide further justification 
for future investment in the Lincolnshire bus network.  
The following sets out the key metrics that will be 
measured and how they will be measured. 

X% growth in commercial bus patronage compared  
to 2019 levels – across all operators the number of  
fare paying trips originating in Lincolnshire will be 
calculated and contrasted to the pre-COVID-19 level. 

Maintain the number of local bus operators compared  
to 2019 levels – the total number of operators providing 
local bus services in Lincolnshire between 2019 and 
throughout the LTP period.

X% increase in commercial mileage across all bus services 
in Lincolnshire – comparison between 2019 commercial 
mileage and each year throughout the LTP period.

X% reduction in CO2 emissions from all Lincolnshire bus 
services on a per mile basis and in aggregate across the 
county. CO2 emissions will be estimated for 2019 (total 
Lincolnshire live and dead bus mileage* typical CO2 
emissions per mile of the buses in operation), and the 
same methodology will be adopted each year during  
the LTP period to derive a comparison. 

Bus user satisfaction surveys will be carried out by 
Passenger Focus. All metrics will be measured, but 
particular focus will be on an increase in value for  
money and improved punctuality. Both of these  
metrics are targeted at being above the national  
average by the end of the LTP period. 

Summary

This strategy is bold and highly ambitious and seeks  
to bring about a complete shift in local bus provision  
and patronage. By implementing a short-term post-
COVID-19 recovery plan, whilst concurrently negotiating  
an EP and BIP with operators and stakeholders, it is 
envisaged that the awareness of bus services and the 
 use of them in the short-term will be greater than  
it would otherwise be in a post-COVID-19 situation. 
However, the EP and BIP provides the framework  
and identifies the key interventions to make  
substantial improvements to the bus network. 

The BIP will examine the needs of bus users and services 
in different parts of the county and identify the optimal 
solutions to the issues they face. Solutions in Boston will 
differ to those in Skegness, which in turn will differ from 
those in Grantham or Lincoln, so it is imperative that the 
plan targets the interventions exactly where they are 
needed. The plan will detail all the bus priority measures, 
bus stop infrastructure, bus information, bus service 
enhancements, as well as fares and ticketing measures 
that are required to not only arrest the decline in bus  
use but bring about a complete revolution in bus  
services in Lincolnshire. 

The BIP will be implemented within the regulatory 
structure of an EP. Failure to agree to an EP would lead  
to a significant reduction in funding from the Government 
for the county council and for operators, thus it is in every 
stakeholder’s interest to form an agreement to benefit 
the bus user. The process for implementing the EP should 
start Spring 2021 and it should be in place by Autumn 
2021 in order to be eligible for Government funding. 

Finally, this strategy will be measured by monitoring a 
series of metrics that would help to show how successful 
the interventions have performed. Evaluating the impacts 
of interventions is very important for future policy making, 
thus it is a key element of this strategy. This evidence 
will be used for future transport policy making to ensure 
Lincolnshire is at the forefront of rural mobility provision. 

References
1. assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/

attachment_data/file/929992/annual-bus-statistics-year-ending-
march-2020.pdf

Glossary
CRP Community Rail Partnership. A group of local people,  

mostly volunteers, who promote and undertake small  
scale works at local stations of lines.

DfT Department for Transport – the Government body  
who buy most train services and fund Network Rail.

ECML East Coast Mainline, line accommodating fast services 
between the north and London passing through  
Doncaster and terminating at London Kings Cross.

EMR East Midlands Railways – local and regional services  
across the East Midlands and Long-distance high s 
peed services to London along the Midland Mainline.

GBR Great British Railway – the proposed future organisation  
to run England Railway, taking over from Network Rail,  
DfT and TOC’s. See Rail White Paper.

LCC Lincolnshire County Council.

LNER London North Eastern Railway. Operate Long-distance  
high-speed services to London along the East Coast Mainline.

LTP 5  The Lincolnshire County Council’s 5th Local Transport  
Plans (lasting 5 years to 2028/29).

MML Midland Mainline, line accommodating fast services between 
Yorkshire and London, starting at Sheffield  
and Nottingham/Lincoln and travelling to London  
St. Pancras via Leicester.

Northern Northern Trains – local and regional train company operating 
services across the north of England.

ORR Office of Rail Regulation who oversee Network  
Rail’s performance and report back to DfT.

RTB’s Regional Transport Bodies, including Transport for  
East Midlands/East Midlands Councils (TfEM/EMC), Midlands 
Connect, Transport for the North (TftN).

TOC Train Operating Company.

TPD Trains per day.

TPX Transpennine Express – inter-regional train company 
operating services across the north of England and  
into Scotland.

XC Cross Country – a train operator serving long-distance  
routes excluding London.

COVID-19 Coronavirus pandemic of 2019/20.

LTB Local Transport Boards.

RAP Route Action Plan.

HIAMP Highways Infrastructure Asset Management Plan.

SEA Strategic Environmental Assessment.

SA Sustainability Appraisal .

GVA Gross Value Added.

TfL Transport for London.

LENNON Latest Earnings Networked Nationally Overnight.

ATC Automatic Traffic Count.

EV Electric Vehicle.

DECC Department of Energy and Climate Change.

SUEs Sustainable Urban Extensions.

UKCRF UK Community Renewal Fund.

UKSPF UK Shared Prosperity Fund.

LUF Levelling Up Fund.

LATS Local Area Transport Strategies.

LCWIP Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan.

ROWIP Rights of Way Improvement Plan.

PRoW Public Rights of Way.

CPO Chargepoint Operator.

EVCP Electric Vehicle Charhepoint.

BAME Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic groups.

NTS National Travel Survey.

CBSSG COVID-19 Bus Services Support Grant.

JSNA The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment.

DLUHC  The Department for Levelling Up, Housing  
and Communities.

SIDP 21  Strategic Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2021.

P
age 283

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/929992/annual-bus-statistics-year-ending-march-2020.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/929992/annual-bus-statistics-year-ending-march-2020.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/929992/annual-bus-statistics-year-ending-march-2020.pdf


34

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 L
oc

al
 B

us
 S

tr
at

eg
y

Lancaster House 
Lincolnshire County Council 
County Offices, Newland 
Lincoln, LN1 1YL

Page 284



Lincolnshire  
Passenger Rail 
Strategy

Page 285



2 3

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 P
as

se
ng

er
 R

ai
l S

tr
at

eg
y

Forward

This Passenger Rail Strategy, along with similar  
Strategies for freight, walking, cycling and bus,  
sets out Lincolnshire County Council’s ambitious 
aspirations to transform travel, enable and encourage 
more sustainable travel, and deliver this in a more 
integrated way than has previously been possible. 

This is supported by emerging greater controls  
and scope for influence in rail at a regional level  
and through Enhanced Partnerships for bus. 

For many years, rail in the East Midlands has been  
the victim of under investment and failed to keep  
pace with both historic changes in Sunday trading  
and the increase in jobs requiring shift working.  
The recent East Midlands Railway franchise took  
a significant leap forward in promising to address  
some of the longer-term weaknesses in the regional  
rail offer. This creates a platform to build on,  
to deliver a rail offer that meets future needs.

This Passenger Rail Strategy sets out our ambition  
for rail looking forward, supporting a world where 
accessing jobs, education and enjoying the leisure  
and tourism opportunities in the county, can become  
a realistic possibility for those choosing to travel in  
a way that reduces their impact on climate change  
or for people unable to use a car. 

This strategy follows a technical report and consultation 
with adjoining transport authorities, regional transport 
bodies, the DfT and rail industry delivery partners.  
We are thankful for their input and support. 

The rail assets such as stations need to become  
an integral part of the local community, accessible  
to all, especially by those walking, cycling, or travelling  
to and from the station by bus. 

There is still much that needs doing to provide  
Lincolnshire with the frequency and connectivity 
needed to maximise its true potential. We welcome  
the Rail White Paper which proposes a more integrated 
and regionally accountable management structure,  
we look forward to working with Great British Railways.  
We await news that these positive changes are 
underpinned by adequate and long-term funding 
commitments by the Government.

Introduction

LCC has prepared this Passenger Rail Strategy, this is  
one of a suite of modal strategies which underpin LTP 5. 

LTP 5 has been designed to support the four Local  
Plans1, which seek to locate a significant amount of  
new housing and employment on development sites 
within easy access of local rail stations, where homes  
and jobs are accessible and improved access offers 
increased opportunity. LTP 5 then seeks to put in place 
the measures needed to improve connectivity, safety 
and attractiveness of travel options making travel 
more inclusive and less impactful on the environment 
and community. Delivery will draw on funding from 
developers, LTP 5 and stakeholders (in this Strategy’s 
case this particularly includes the rail industry  
and the Government). 

The rail strategy supports the six LTP 5 themes,  
these themes can be summarised as follows:

• Supporting economic growth;

• Future ready green Ttansport;

• Promoting thriving environments;

• Supporting safety, security, and a healthy lifestyle;

• Promoting high aspirations; and,

• Improve quality of life.

LCC recognises the role that rail can play in delivering 
these six LTP themes. Rail contributes to creating thriving 
communities and environments and, when coupled with 
walking and cycling, contributes positively to the health 
and wellbeing of residents and their quality of life. 

Alongside plans for other modes of transport, rail  
has an important role to play in delivering the above  
in a way that is more attractive than the car and  
offers a genuine alternative for those without access  
to a car. The evidence behind this is set out in LTP 5.

This strategy has been developed from an extensive 
evidence base, a technical report, national and Local  
policy and informed by industry stakeholder input. 

Along with other sub-strategies of LTP 5, such as the 
walking, cycling and bus strategies, this strategy sets  
out how LCC's will, through collaboration with current  
and emerging rail industry and wider partners, deliver 
policies and actions to facilitate and encourage greater  
use of rail by more people within and into Lincolnshire.

Describing Lincolnshire’s rail network

The rail network across Lincolnshire is best described  
as sparce, suffering from considerable “Beeching”  
cuts in the 1960’s. Today’s network is illustrated in  
the following diagram, with the east of the county  
only realistically enjoying high-levels of rail connectivity.

Not shown on the plan are potential timetable  
changes in May 2022, currently under consultation  
by the rail industry. These include:

• LNER – propose to extend the Lincoln to London  
service to provide Grimsby and Cleethorpes with  
one direct train to London each way, departing for 
London at 06:24 and returning at 19:18, operating 
Monday to Saturday. This is part of a major overhaul  
of the East Coast Mainline timetable following 
completion of the recent works at Kings Cross and 
other locations over the last couple of years. At  
Lincoln there will be an additional early morning  
service from London, returning at 09:20 removing  
the long gap between direct mid-morning services, 
there will also be timetable changes in the evening. 
These plans are undergoing consultation at the time  
of drafting, with no guarantee around the outcome.

• EMR – plan to split the Liverpool to Norwich service 
at Nottingham, providing a Nottingham to Norwich 
service via Grantham. This means that Lincolnshire’s 
connectivity to South Yorkshire, Manchester and 
Liverpool will be made worse, and trips will require 
interchange at Nottingham or Doncaster, unless 
mitigation measures like two trains an hour between 
Sheffield and Manchester which would offer some 
mitigation, albeit at the expense of interchange. 

• EMR TSR2 – this timetable change was due December 
2021, but is now understood to have slipped to May 
2022, it will deliver a step change in the Lincolnshire’s 
local services, especially in the evening and at the 
weekend where improvements are linked to an 
increase in signal box opening times. The key  
daytime changes that are expected include:

 – Lincoln to Grimsby Town hourly service. 

 – Doncaster to Lincoln to Peterborough  
hourly service, via Sleaford and Spalding.

 – Skegness services all year round,  
with later evenings services. 

 – Second London train per day  
via the Midland Mainline.

Finally, after introducing service enhancements in 
May 2021, EMR found they could not reliably deliver 
the services promised, from 19th June 2021 EMR have 
withdrawn several services in the short-term until they are 
able to overcome the operational barriers to delivering the 
timetable enhancements reliably. This illustrates the need 
to offer customers a well-planned and reliable service, this 
strategy assumes that these temporary service reductions 
will be reversed, however an integral part of this strategy 
is to ensure that the services are reintroduced along with 
subsequent promised enhancements, and that these are 
delivered in with a high degree of reliability. 

Our vision is to make Lincolnshire 
a place where catching a train 
is a natural choice for people 
when making journeys to work, 
education and for leisure for 
those larger communities living 
alongside or close to the rail 
network. To achieve this rail  
must be accessible, convenient, 
inclusive, and attractive to all, 
especially when compared to  
the alternatives, such as the car.

P
age 286



4 5

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 P
as

se
ng

er
 R

ai
l S

tr
at

eg
y

Lincolnshire rail network – May 2021

SKEGNESS

GRANTHAM

SPALDING

NORWICH

STANSTED

MARKET RASEN

SLEAFORD

GAINSBOROUGH

STAMFORD

SCUNTHORPEDONCASTER

BARTON-UPON-HUMBER

NEWARK-ON-TRENT

NOTTINGHAM

EAST MIDLANDS PARKWAY

MELTON MOWBRAY

LINCOLN

SHEFFIELD WORKSOP

RETFORD

BARNETBY

GRIMSBY & 
CLEETHORPES

TOTON
EAST MIDLANDS

HS2 HUB

BOSTON

DERBY

MANCHESTER
& LIVERPOOL

YORK, NORTH EAST
& SCOTLAND

WAKEFIELD
& LEEDS

LONDON

PETERBOROUGH

LEICESTERSHIRE

BIRMINGHAM

 Cross Country
 East Midlands Railway
 East Midlands (limited service)
 Grand Central
 Hull Trains
 London North Eastern Railway
 Northern

  Northern (limited service)
 Trans Pennine Express

   Lincolnshire
   North Lincolnshire
   North East Lincolnshire
   Rutland
   Airport

Challenges and opportunities

Through the compilation of an evidence-base and with stakeholder input, the following challenges and opportunities  
for rail have been identified.

Challenge Opportunity

Access to the rail network is a physical barrier  
to some. Known lines with current or predicted  
capacity constraints include: 

• Leicester to Lincoln
• Leicester to Peterborough
• Connectivity to Toton for HS2 services

Investment in providing fully accessible stations  
is possible with the correct funding streams. 

Train capacity must be adequate to avoid standing.  
The newly introduced trains have delivered a step  
change in quality and capacity on some lines. The  
rollout needs to be completed.

Access to the rail network is a cost barrier to some.

Ticketing and information provision would benefit 
from being simplified, standardised and made more 
accessible, along the lines set out in the Rail White  
Paper. The introduction of a limited Carnet ticket 
in June 2021 is a useful additional product. 

Lincolnshire is polycentric, the railway network  
(May 2021) does not readily connect the parts  
of Lincolnshire with higher population densities,  
and connection to much of the rest of the Midlands  
and London and the North involves change of train. 

Timetable plans for May 2022 will add additional and 
better timed connectivity between Lincoln and London. 
It will also connect Grimsby and Cleethorpes to London, 
albeit once a day in each direction. 

Timetable plans for regional services in May 2022 will 
improve Sunday services and provide a step change 
north and south route between Peterborough, Spalding, 
Sleaford, Lincoln, and Doncaster. 

Lincolnshire, like the rest of the UK, is undergoing  
a rise in average age. As people age, they need 
alternatives to the car. For assorted reasons some  
people are seeking to find viable alternatives to the car. 

Improvements to the rail network and services,  
operating a regular 7-day service that are planned 
for May 2022 will offer some communities a viable 
alternative to the car. Moving forward, further service 
improvement will encourage mode shift from the  
car to rail. 

Rail journey speeds are not always car competitive  
and are constrained by signalling and line constraints. 

Improved train speed will make rail a more  
attractive alternative for some car trips. This will  
require investment in line-speed improvements  
to better match the new trains. 

Tourism generates a significant amount of traffic 
congestion where activity is concentrated, such  
as the coast and particularly during the busy  
summer season.

There are opportunities to increase travel by rail among 
visitors to the area. To support this, rail services need to 
have at least an hourly frequency throughout the day and 
evening during weekends. Trains need to have capacity  
to comfortably accommodate seasonal peaks.

Train capacity must be adequate to meet year round 
tourism needs, not just focused on summer peaks. 

P
age 287



6 7

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 P
as

se
ng

er
 R

ai
l S

tr
at

eg
y

Challenge Opportunity

Over 80% of households have access to a car  
or van, and over 66% of travel to work trips  
in Lincolnshire being made by these modes.

Those with no access to a car or van are mostly located  
in urban areas and are a key demographic to promote 
and facilitate journeys on rail.

The high proportion of households with car access 
provides potential for people to reach wider destinations 
by combining trips with rail, where stations are  
more remote.

The National Bus Strategy and Enhanced Partnerships 
coupled with the Willian/Shapps Rail White Paper,  
create an opportunity to plan better integration  
between bus and rail trips. 

The proportion of people that use the train for  
everyday travel purposes has increased, but  
remains below the national average.

As the rail offer continues to improve there is the  
need to market the new opportunities offered  
by the rail enhancements both to this who live  
in Lincolnshire and to those visiting. 

There has been an increase in the proportion  
of road user casualties since 2016.

Rail can be offered as a safer alternative to the car,  
the less people depend on the car for trip making  
the safer our roads will become.

Rail infrastructure needs to meet the future  
needs of communities, east/west travel to  
Nottingham and beyond is constrained by  
having to cross the East Coast Mainline at grade. 

New land use developments offer potential to  
create sustainable communities from the outset,  
with walking and cycling combining with rail to  
facilitate sustainable end to end journeys.

Personal barriers to use of the train include ill-health, 
concerns over security and safety and poor-quality 
infrastructure.

Safer walking and cycle routes to stations, secure  
station car parks, CCTV, lighting and natural surveillance 
at stations routes and well-maintained infrastructure 
would encourage people to catch the train more often. 

Planning for the future of rail is a long-term  
challenge. Rail investment decisions have  
historically been undertaken nationally. 

Williams/Shapps Rail White Paper provides regional 
governance, this more localised accountability provides 
opportunity for greater influencing of investment, 
alongside the Levelling up agenda. This also includes 
promises of increased speed of delivery. Planning  
needs to start now for new infrastructure, which  
might include stations and even lines. 

The role of rail serving Lincolnshire

As previously highlighted, this Rail Strategy has been 
developed to support the overarching themes set  
out in the Lincolnshire (LTP 5. 

Alongside plans for other modes of transport, rail  
has an important role to play in contributing to  
delivery of the six LTP 5 themes. This section looks  
in summary, at how rail contributes to these six  
themes, the evidence behind this is set out in LTP 5. 

The six LTP 5 themes

Rail supports economic growth by making it easier  
for people, across the parts of Lincolnshire served  
by the railway network, to access jobs and training.  
It also allows people traveling for business to do so  
more efficiently and make better use of their travel  
time. Rail also supports tourism and access to retail  
and leisure opportunities, which in turn creates a  
lot of jobs locally. 

Rail, when used well, contributes towards greening 
transport and reducing the impact of climate change 
and in turn reduces the impact of travel on the climate, 
especially when reducing dependency on the car. 
Nationally, the Government is investing in new rolling  
stock and electric, battery and hydrogen train fleets,  
as well as decarbonising stations and rail infrastructure. 
The bus strategy provides for better bus/rail connectivity 
for those living too far from a station to cycle or walk there. 

Rail stations can contribute to promoting thriving 
environments by offering community facilities in 
underused station buildings and offering a gateway  
to other parts of Lincolnshire and beyond for those  
unable to drive or without access to a car. Community 
can become involved in maintaining, enhancing and 
promoting rail through community rail partnerships  
and station adoption.

Finally, rail travel is a very safe mode of travel, but  
there remains work to do in tackling perception of  
safety especially getting to and at some local stations. 
When combined with walking, cycling and travelling  
by bus, rail reduces car use which contributes to making 
road travel safer for others. Rail can be shown to have  
a role in supporting safety, security and a healthy lifestyle. 
More detail on this is set out in the walking and cycling 
strategies, but in summary UK Physical Activity Guidelines2 
recommend that adults should do at least 2 ½ hours of 

moderate activity every week, a short walk or bike ride  
to catch a train contributes towards this goal, especially  
those travelling to and from work on a regular basis.

Rail provides communities access to new places  
to work, new training opportunities and therefore  
facilitates high aspirations in an inclusive way. 

Across Lincolnshire housing and employment land 
allocations are, in the main, centred around rail station 
hubs, this means that rail offers people travel choices 
without requiring dependency on the car. This leads  
to a more inclusive society, thriving local environments 
and in turn improves quality of life.

The structure of the rail strategy

The rail strategy takes these six LTP 5 themes, and  
the vision presented in the introduction to this strategy 
and seeks to realise these through four objectives 
designed to increase rail use. 

The four objectives of the Lincolnshire rail strategy are to:

• Improve the quality and usability of the rail 
environment to ensure it is safe, affordable,  
and inclusive for all;

• Make travelling by train a genuine travel option for 
Lincolnshire’s residents living and working in the  
larger communities, in doing so, contribute to reducing 
the environmental impact of travel and improving 
physical wellbeing alongside other modal strategies; 

• Enhance rail to support Lincolnshire’s economy, 
people’s access to jobs and training and support  
the growth of the leisure and tourism industry; and,

• Make rail more attractive than the car and improve 
access to the local stations by bus, bike and on foot,  
and for more remote communities by car, and the  
use of stations so that stations and the railway  
become part of the community.

The objectives will be achieved through the 
implementation of a range of actions grouped  
under five strategic priorities. 

The relationship between the themes, vision,  
objectives, strategic priorities and actions is  
illustrated the following diagram.

P
age 288



8 9

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 P
as

se
ng

er
 R

ai
l S

tr
at

eg
y

The Rail Strategy Structure

LCC does not deliver or commission rail services and  
is not responsible for the infrastructure such as stations, 
track, and signals etc. Therefore, the approach to ensuring 
rail delivers for the county will need to be collaborative, 
working with other local authority partners, regional 
transport bodies such as transport for the East Midlands, 
transport for the North and Midlands Connect, and of 
course the rail industry itself. 

Rail industry changes

The rail industry is going through a period of change, 
moving away from a Government funded and specified 
model, with delivery undertaken by operators, suppliers, 
and Network Rail. This existing model is considered both 
complex and creates wasteful adversarial relationships 
between the parties. It does not meet the needs  
of passengers, freight customers or taxpayers.

In May 2021, the Government published a White Paper3 
setting out its plans for fundamental change to the way 
rail services are delivered in England. The White Paper 
authored by Williams and Shapps, proposes simplifying 
the rail industry and removing the current adversarial 
processes, in straight forward language the Government  
will continue to provide funding, with a new public body 
being proposed, Great British Railways (GBR), who  
run and plan the rail network, own the infrastructure,  
and receive the fare revenue. It will procure passenger  
services, from private sector service providers,  
and set most fares and timetables. 

Great British Railways will be made up of regional railways 
that are locally rooted and accountable, with new culture 
and incentives focused on serving customers. Its actions 
will be supported by a 30-year strategy which will enable 
the sector to modernise efficiently.

Stakeholder input evidence base

LTP 5 themes

Vision

• Supports economic growth

•  Decarbonisation and reducing the impact  
of climate change

• Promoting thriving environments

• Supporting safety, security and a healthy lifestyle

• Promoting high aspirations

• Improves quality of life

Infrastructure

Network and connectivity

Communities and new development

Leisure and tourism

Encouraging and enabling

Strategy priorities

Objectives

Actions

In summary, the White Paper argues that this change will:

• Make the railways easier to use – by simplifying 
the confusing mass of tickets, introducing far more 
convenient ways to pay. End the uncertainty about 
whether you are travelling with the right train company. 
Trains will be better planned with each other and  
with other transport services, such as buses and  
bikes. Affordable 'turn up and go' fares and capped 
season tickets will continue to be protected. 

• Rebuild patronage after the pandemic –  
introducing new flexible season tickets. These  
have been introduced in late June 2021. 

• Maintain safe, secure railways for all – Great Britain  
has one of the safest networks in Europe and that  
must continue. Current safety and security roles  
will remain in place across the rail network. 

• Keep the best elements of the private sector  
to help drive growth – patronage growth has  
been a private sector success Great British Railways  
will contract with private partners to operate trains  
to the timetable and fares it sets. Contracts will include 
strong incentives for operators to run high-quality 
services and increase passenger demand. 

• Make the railways more efficient – the simpler  
structure and clear leadership is designed to  
make decision making easier and more transparent,  
reduce costs and make it cheaper to invest  
in modern ways to pay, upgrade the network  
and deliver new lines. 

• Grow, not shrink, the network – the Government  
is investing tens of billions of pounds in new lines, 
trains, services, and electrification. At a time of deep 
challenge for public transport, increasing flexibility  
and productivity will secure the future of the railways 
and the jobs of those who work on it right across  
Great Britain.

The Government’s ambition to deliver change that  
offers a regional approach with engagement, a plan  
to increase investment, deliver quicker and maintain  
safety is welcome and potentially supports delivery  
of this strategy. 

This chapter will now look at how the objectives  
will be met under the actions proposed as they  
align to each of the strategic priorities the areas  
for improvement and to seek funding from  
different sources to deliver the interventions.

Theme 1 – Infrastructure

Enhancing rail’s role by providing the appropriate 
track and signal infrastructure to enable attractive 
rail journeys. 

This priority is focused on the signalling and track 
constraints which constrain train services, train  
speed and the times and days services operate. 

Train services need to operate fully 7-days a week,  
with services timed to meet local need, this includes the 
timing of both early morning and later evening services. 

Faster train services and reduced journey times will  
make train travel more attractive to passengers and  
more car competitive, this in turn will lead to modal  
shift benefits and all that enables. 

Frequent train services are required to improve 
connectivity, this priority focuses on the infrastructure 
limitations of the current network serving Lincolnshire. 

Better connection both north and south, to the  
Northwest and the West Midlands, to airports  
and connection to HS2 (Toton) are also constrained  
by Infrastructure barriers. 

Midlands Connect are leading work on two specific  
areas, aligned to the above actions:

• Line speed improvement works to better  
connect Lincoln, Newark, and Nottingham and  
on to Birmingham. This line is constrained to two  
train paths per hour over Newark Flat Crossing. 

• Newark Flat Crossing is constrained to two paths,  
one passenger the other freight. The immediate  
option proposed is the diversion of freight to  
secure a second passenger path between Lincoln  
to Nottingham (possibly by extending the Matlock  
to Newark Castle service).

P
age 289



10 11

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 P
as

se
ng

er
 R

ai
l S

tr
at

eg
y

For the Doncaster to Cleethorpes Line there is a joint  
study already underway led by Transport for the North 
and Network Rail, this is to improve journey times. Again, 
this work should be engaged with to support the principle.

The following lines have no speed enhancement work 
being undertaken, there is the potential on all these lines 
to increase line speed, optimise rolling stock performance, 
and therefore make services more car competitive and 
attractive to rail users, the lines are:

• Lincoln – Sheffield;

• Cleethorpes – Lincoln;

• Skegness – Nottingham; and,

• Doncaster – Lincoln – Peterborough. 

Theme 2 – Network and connectivity 

Providing the appropriate services to connect  
people to the places they want to reach when  
they want to get there.

This priority is focused on the train services, it includes 
quality, timetabling, capacity and performance. 

Trains need to be comfortable, modern, accessible  
with room for luggage, bikes and so on. They need to  
be clean and attractive. They also need to have adequate 
seating capacity to meet passenger demand. Journeys 
need to be frequent (at least hourly), on time and run  
to a timetable which meets community and business 
needs, this includes the evenings and Sundays. 

In common with the Infrastructure priority, once the 
signal box barriers have been addressed, it is necessary 
to ensure that the timetables introduce the train services 
themselves. The timetables need to operate fully 7-days 
a week, with services timed to meet local needs, this 
includes the timing of both early morning and later 
evening services, especially on a Sunday. 

Faster train services and reduced journey times will  
make train travel more attractive to passengers and  
more car competitive, this in turn will lead to modal  
shift and the arising benefits. 

Appendix A, illustrates the current and anticipated train 
frequency, this is based on a minimum (good) standard 
of service of one train per hour in each direction and  
a preferred (best) service level of two trains per hour  
in each direction. The priority is to make sure the 
commitments made are delivered, then improved  
upon as discussed above. The rational for this service  
level is set out in the Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study4. 

Trains require adequate capacity to ensure that people  
do not have to stand, or if they do this is not for more 
than 20 minutes. For value for money reasons, capacity 
is normally addressed by increasing train length (where 
platforms are long enough) and after that by increasing 
frequency. There are four current or anticipated capacity 
concerns within the LTP 5 timeline, these are:

• Leicester to Lincoln – two EMR services are  
expected to be at or above capacity during the 
afternoon peak period. 

• Leicester to Peterborough - two evening peak  
services are expected to be at or above seating capacity. 

• Capacity enhancements to the Cross-Country 
service between Stansted and Birmingham. This 
enhancement is already being considered by Midlands 
Connect. This work should additionally seek to address 
the future growth scenario capacity highlighted in the 
Technical Report.

Finally, once the right timetable is in place with capacity  
to meet passenger needs, then performance issues 
focusing on whether the train turns up and is it on time 
come into play. Experience says this needs to be watched. 

Against these positive actions, there is a reactive action 
that must be acted upon. Where the rail industry proposes 
changes to services for wider reasons, the impact of these 
plans on Lincolnshire need to be evaluated. For example, 
the plans to split the Liverpool to Norwich service which 
calls at Grantham, provides a direct link to Manchester  
and Liverpool, and to Manchester airport via interchange. 
The current discussion regarding splitting this service  
at Nottingham would mean this journey involves  
an interchange where none currently exists. 

Theme 3 – Communities and new developments

Supporting and creating sustainable communities 
with rail travel as a genuine option.

This priority seeks to capitalise on the opportunity  
to maximise rail use making sure that the station  
and services are accessible to existing communities  
and support local communities, that people are  
aware of the travel options offered by rail, and that  
these priorities are planned into new developments  
at the outset. 

There is also a focus on maximising funding opportunities 
to deliver infrastructure and secure a revenue stream 
to implement effective travel planning, supporting 
new residents and employees with the means to travel 
sustainably and both consider and use the train as part  
of their everyday travel decisions.

The technical report that accompanies this strategy  
details station improvements being progressed by 
partners. It goes on to highlight further works are  
needed to ensure once at the Station that they are  
fully accessible to passengers. This technical report 
highlights potential LTP 5 investment (and potential 
leverage for match funding) to secure improvements 
including upgrades to CCTV and Information displays 
as well as improved cycle and car parking, as well as 
prioritising EV charging at stations where longer car  
trips might be expected (commuter stations and at  
ECML stations). 

Theme 4 – Leisure and tourism

Rail supports leisure and tourism by ensuring  
services meet visitor needs and thereby supports  
a key part of Lincolnshire’s economy.

Lincolnshire has a significant leisure and tourism offer 
enjoyed by residents and visitors alike, with large visitor 
numbers to Lincoln and other historic market towns,  
as well as Skegness. This priority is to ensure that rail  
is an attractive travel option for these visitors. 

The key concern is that the rail service to Skegness  
needs to run hourly throughout the day and week, 
including into the evenings. At peak season times  
there is a major challenge matching capacity against 
demand. This priority focuses on seeking improvements. 

Theme 5 – Encouraging and enabling

Influencing behaviour and removing barriers 
to rail travel.

The final priority is focused around making sure people 
who live or work close to a station think about travelling 
by train, with the new route and timetable enhancements 
being introduced and the recent upgrade in rolling stock, 
those who do not regularly use the train many be unaware 
of the improvements and travel opportunities. These need 
to be promoted. 

To be a genuine travel option, people also require simple 
and affordable ticketing, whilst on the rail side Great 
British Railways will standardise the core ticket products 
and fares across all train operators and the industry,  
these enhancements need to also be promoted and 
locally integrated with combined bus and rail ticketing.

P
age 290



12 13

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 P
as

se
ng

er
 R

ai
l S

tr
at

eg
y

To achieve theme 1

The Lincolnshire rail strategy objectives  
in relation to the infrastructure theme will:

Im
pr

ov
e 

th
e 

qu
al

ity
 a

nd
 u

sa
bi

lit
y 

of
 th

e 
ra

il 
en

vi
ro

nm
en

t t
o 

en
su

re
 it

 is
 s

af
e,

 
aff

or
da

bl
e,

 a
nd

 in
cl

us
iv

e 
fo

r a
ll.

M
ak

e 
tr

ai
n 

a 
ge

nu
in

e 
tr

av
el

 o
pt

io
n 

fo
r  

re
si

de
nt

s 
liv

in
g 

an
d 

w
or

ki
ng

 in
 th

e 
la

rg
er

 
co

m
m

un
iti

es
, i

n 
do

in
g 

so
 c

on
tr

ib
ut

e 
to

 
re

du
ci

ng
 th

e 
im

pa
ct

 o
f r

av
el

.

En
ha

nc
e 

ra
il 

to
 s

up
po

rt
 L

in
co

ln
sh

ire
’s 

ec
on

om
y,

 p
eo

pl
e’

s 
ac

ce
ss

 to
 jo

bs
, 

tr
ai

ni
ng

 a
nd

 s
up

po
rt

 th
e 

gr
ow

th
  

of
 th

e 
le

is
ur

e 
an

d 
to

ur
is

m
 in

du
st

ry
.

M
ak

e 
ra

il 
m

or
e 

at
tr

ac
tiv

e 
th

an
 th

e 
ca

r 
an

d 
im

pr
ov

e 
ac

ce
ss

 to
 th

e 
lo

ca
l s

ta
tio

ns
 

by
 b

us
, b

ik
e 

an
d 

on
 fo

ot
, a

nd
 fo

r m
or

e 
re

m
ot

e 
co

m
m

un
iti

es
 b

y 
ca

r.

Work with the rail industry and partners to ensure signal boxes  
are staffed such that they allow 7-day, early to late train services  
to be operated. 

Work with the rail industry and partners to investigate and where 
practical secure faster train services on lines where services do not  
have car competitive journey times, and where the speed potential  
of rolling stock is not capitalised upon. 

Work with the rail industry and partners to develop deliverable 
infrastructure solutions to unlock the capacity bottlenecks at  
Newark Flat Crossing and Grantham Station. 

With rail partners, monitor station capacity performance at Lincoln  
and Nottingham station’s to ensure station capacity does not prevent 
other service improvements being realised. 

Work with the rail industry and partners to develop and deliver 
infrastructure solutions to ensure excellent connectivity between 
Lincolnshire and HS2 at Toton. 

To achieve theme 2

The Lincolnshire rail strategy objectives  
in relation to the network and connectivity 
theme will:

Im
pr

ov
e 

th
e 

qu
al

ity
 a

nd
 u

sa
bi

lit
y 

of
 th

e 
ra

il 
en

vi
ro

nm
en

t t
o 

en
su

re
 it

 is
 s

af
e,

 
aff

or
da

bl
e,

 a
nd

 in
cl

us
iv

e 
fo

r a
ll.

M
ak

e 
tr

ai
n 

a 
ge

nu
in

e 
tr

av
el

 o
pt

io
n 

fo
r  

re
si

de
nt

s 
liv

in
g 

an
d 

w
or

ki
ng

 in
 th

e 
la

rg
er

 
co

m
m

un
iti

es
, i

n 
do

in
g 

so
 c

on
tr

ib
ut

e 
to

 
re

du
ci

ng
 th

e 
im

pa
ct

 o
f r

av
el

.

En
ha

nc
e 

ra
il 

to
 s

up
po

rt
 L

in
co

ln
sh

ire
’s 

ec
on

om
y,

 p
eo

pl
e’

s 
ac

ce
ss

 to
 jo

bs
, 

tr
ai

ni
ng

 a
nd

 s
up

po
rt

 th
e 

gr
ow

th
  

of
 th

e 
le

is
ur

e 
an

d 
to

ur
is

m
 in

du
st

ry
.

M
ak

e 
ra

il 
m

or
e 

at
tr

ac
tiv

e 
th

an
 th

e 
ca

r 
an

d 
im

pr
ov

e 
ac

ce
ss

 to
 th

e 
lo

ca
l s

ta
tio

ns
 

by
 b

us
, b

ik
e 

an
d 

on
 fo

ot
, a

nd
 fo

r m
or

e 
re

m
ot

e 
co

m
m

un
iti

es
 b

y 
ca

r.

Work with the rail industry and partners to introduce train  
services which operate 7-days, early to late.

Work with the rail industry and partners ensure the committed  
service improvements are provided in line with franchise commitments. 
Work with partners to move more lines from good to best. 

Work with industry partners to ensure services are provided  
with adequate capacity on board trains. 

Monitor train service performance and challenge areas where 
trains are not punctual or reliable. 

Keep abreast of service changes that may adversely impact on 
Lincolnshire and make evidence-based representations where  
threats become apparent. 

P
age 291



14 15

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 P
as

se
ng

er
 R

ai
l S

tr
at

eg
y

To achieve theme 3

The Lincolnshire rail strategy objectives  
in relation to the communities and new 
developments theme will:

Im
pr

ov
e 

th
e 

qu
al

ity
 a

nd
 u

sa
bi

lit
y 

of
 th

e 
ra

il 
en

vi
ro

nm
en

t t
o 

en
su

re
 it

 is
 s

af
e,

 
aff

or
da

bl
e,

 a
nd

 in
cl

us
iv

e 
fo

r a
ll.

M
ak

e 
tr

ai
n 

a 
ge

nu
in

e 
tr

av
el

 o
pt

io
n 

fo
r  

re
si

de
nt

s 
liv

in
g 

an
d 

w
or

ki
ng

 in
 th

e 
la

rg
er

 
co

m
m

un
iti

es
, i

n 
do

in
g 

so
 c

on
tr

ib
ut

e 
to

 
re

du
ci

ng
 th

e 
im

pa
ct

 o
f r

av
el

.

En
ha

nc
e 

ra
il 

to
 s

up
po

rt
 L

in
co

ln
sh

ire
’s 

ec
on

om
y,

 p
eo

pl
e’

s 
ac

ce
ss

 to
 jo

bs
, 

tr
ai

ni
ng

 a
nd

 s
up

po
rt

 th
e 

gr
ow

th
  

of
 th

e 
le

is
ur

e 
an

d 
to

ur
is

m
 in

du
st

ry
.

M
ak

e 
ra

il 
m

or
e 

at
tr

ac
tiv

e 
th

an
 th

e 
ca

r 
an

d 
im

pr
ov

e 
ac

ce
ss

 to
 th

e 
lo

ca
l s

ta
tio

ns
 

by
 b

us
, b

ik
e 

an
d 

on
 fo

ot
, a

nd
 fo

r m
or

e 
re

m
ot

e 
co

m
m

un
iti

es
 b

y 
ca

r.

Work with district planning authorities to ensure that access to  
rail stations is prioritised through effective planning and design  
of new developments, including bus, cycle and walking access.

Ensure the stations themselves and access routes to the stations  
are accessible and of a standard and condition which is people  
consider to be safe and attractive when accessing the station  
or waiting for a train. 

Work with district planning authorities to maximise funding 
opportunities related to new developments, such as Section  
106 funding.

Work with district planning authorities to ensure travel  
plans that encourage and facilitate rail travel are developed  
and implemented.

Bring underused station buildings into community use,  
to better integrate rail into the community. 

Support station adopters and community rail partnerships  
to unlock the full potential of the existing rail services and  
promote rail use within their local community. 

Planning for the future – working with communities and rail  
partners to explore the case for new and reopened rail lines  
and stations. 

To achieve theme 4

The Lincolnshire rail strategy objectives  
in relation to the leisure and tourism theme will:

Im
pr

ov
e 

th
e 

qu
al

ity
 a

nd
 u

sa
bi

lit
y 

of
 th

e 
ra

il 
en

vi
ro

nm
en

t t
o 

en
su

re
 it

 is
 s

af
e,

 
aff

or
da

bl
e,

 a
nd

 in
cl

us
iv

e 
fo

r a
ll.

M
ak

e 
tr

ai
n 

a 
ge

nu
in

e 
tr

av
el

 o
pt

io
n 

fo
r  

re
si

de
nt

s 
liv

in
g 

an
d 

w
or

ki
ng

 in
 th

e 
la

rg
er

 
co

m
m

un
iti

es
, i

n 
do

in
g 

so
 c

on
tr

ib
ut

e 
to

 
re

du
ci

ng
 th

e 
im

pa
ct

 o
f r

av
el

.

En
ha

nc
e 

ra
il 

to
 s

up
po

rt
 L

in
co

ln
sh

ire
’s 

ec
on

om
y,

 p
eo

pl
e’

s 
ac

ce
ss

 to
 jo

bs
, 

tr
ai

ni
ng

 a
nd

 s
up

po
rt

 th
e 

gr
ow

th
  

of
 th

e 
le

is
ur

e 
an

d 
to

ur
is

m
 in

du
st

ry
.

M
ak

e 
ra

il 
m

or
e 

at
tr

ac
tiv

e 
th

an
 th

e 
ca

r 
an

d 
im

pr
ov

e 
ac

ce
ss

 to
 th

e 
lo

ca
l s

ta
tio

ns
 

by
 b

us
, b

ik
e 

an
d 

on
 fo

ot
, a

nd
 fo

r m
or

e 
re

m
ot

e 
co

m
m

un
iti

es
 b

y 
ca

r.

Influence partners to secure year-round hourly train service  
to Skegness.

Ensure the train services to Skegness have adequate capacity  
to meet passenger demand. 

Work with partners to combine the benefits of bus and train 
integration, in particular the opportunities arising from the Rail  
White Paper and BEP, including better integration, and well-priced  
cross ticketing. 

P
age 292



16 17

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 P
as

se
ng

er
 R

ai
l S

tr
at

eg
y

To achieve theme 5

The Lincolnshire rail strategy objectives  
in relation to the encouraging and enabling 
theme will:

Im
pr

ov
e 

th
e 

qu
al

ity
 a

nd
 u

sa
bi

lit
y 

of
 th

e 
ra

il 
en

vi
ro

nm
en

t t
o 

en
su

re
 it

 is
 s

af
e,

 
aff

or
da

bl
e,

 a
nd

 in
cl

us
iv

e 
fo

r a
ll.

M
ak

e 
tr

ai
n 

a 
ge

nu
in

e 
tr

av
el

 o
pt

io
n 

fo
r  

re
si

de
nt

s 
liv

in
g 

an
d 

w
or

ki
ng

 in
 th

e 
la

rg
er

 
co

m
m

un
iti

es
, i

n 
do

in
g 

so
 c

on
tr

ib
ut

e 
to

 
re

du
ci

ng
 th

e 
im

pa
ct

 o
f r

av
el

.

En
ha

nc
e 

ra
il 

to
 s

up
po

rt
 L

in
co

ln
sh

ire
’s 

ec
on

om
y,

 p
eo

pl
e’

s 
ac

ce
ss

 to
 jo

bs
, 

tr
ai

ni
ng

 a
nd

 s
up

po
rt

 th
e 

gr
ow

th
  

of
 th

e 
le

is
ur

e 
an

d 
to

ur
is

m
 in

du
st

ry
.

M
ak

e 
ra

il 
m

or
e 

at
tr

ac
tiv

e 
th

an
 th

e 
ca

r 
an

d 
im

pr
ov

e 
ac

ce
ss

 to
 th

e 
lo

ca
l s

ta
tio

ns
 

by
 b

us
, b

ik
e 

an
d 

on
 fo

ot
, a

nd
 fo

r m
or

e 
re

m
ot

e 
co

m
m

un
iti

es
 b

y 
ca

r.

Work with district planning authorities to promote rail use as part  
of an accessible, enjoyable, and healthy lifestyle working across  
teams and with partners to develop active travel campaigns.

Promote, educate, and market people about the rail network, 
demonstrating the travel opportunities beyond the car. 

Work with partners to combine the benefits of bus and train 
integration, in particular the opportunities arising from the Rail  
White Paper and BEP, including better integration, and well-priced  
cross ticketing. 

Work with district planning authorities to maximise funding 
opportunities related to new developments, such as Section  
106 funding.

Work with district planning authorities to ensure travel plans that 
encourage and facilitate rail travel are developed and implemented.

Delivery 

Unlike much of LTP 5 and the associated modal  
strategies, the core of the rail strategy needs to be 
delivered by others, presently the DfT, Network Rail 
and the Train Operating Companies (TOC’s). The key 
responsibility of LCC is to drive the partners to deliver,  
if necessary, pump-priming investment where needed. 
The county council will also need to actively engage with 
the development and consultation on the GBR’s 30-year  
rail strategy and five-year delivery plans, proposed in the 
White Paper, however the lead may be undertaken by 
regional partners such as transport for the East Midlands. 

As already discussed, the planned changes to the  
structure of the rail industry, regional working into  
Great British Railways, speeding up delivery and  
continued investment, this offers a potential route  
to make the case for delivery of uncommitted 
enhancements set out in this Passenger Rail Strategy.  
In particular, actively engaging with the 30-year rail 
strategy and five-year delivery plans will be key,  
once the White Paper recommendations have  
been enacted.

Some of the priorities include actions that are  
solely the responsibility of LCC and the Local  
Planning Authorities and will be delivered c 
ollaboratively by different teams in the council(s).

However, to make this strategy happen and fully  
realise the vision for rail, LCC will need to work  
with partner organisations in the delivery of many  
strategic priority actions and achieve the objectives. 

The following tables summarises the delivery partners  
that have been identified as key to support each of the 
policies in the rail strategy. But alongside this is a more 
detailed table included in Appendix B, which sets out  
the detail of the actions. 

P
age 293



18 19

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 P
as

se
ng

er
 R

ai
l S

tr
at

eg
y

Rail implementation plan – Infrastructure

Priorities Working with

Work with the rail industry and partners to ensure signal boxes are staffed  
such that they allow 7-day, early to late train services to be operated. 

Lead – Network Rail/GBR  
 
Support – LCC, DfT, TOC’s and 
Regional Transport Bodies (RTB’s)

Work with the rail industry and partners to investigate and where  
practical secure faster train services on lines where services do not have  
car competitive journey times, and where the speed potential of rolling  
stock is not capitalised upon. 

Lead – Network Rail/GBR  
 
Support – LCC, DfT, TOC’s  
and RTB’s

Work with the rail industry and partners to develop deliverable infrastructure  
solutions to unlock the capacity bottlenecks at Newark Flat Crossing and  
Grantham Station. 

Lead – Network Rail/GBR  
 
Support – LCC, DfT, TOC’s  
and RTB’s

Work with rail partners, monitor station capacity performance at Lincoln and 
Nottingham station’s to ensure station capacity does not prevent other service 
improvements being realised. 

Lead – Network Rail/GBR  
 
Support – LCC, DfT, TOC’s  
and RTB’s

Work with the rail industry and partners to develop and deliver infrastructure  
solutions to ensure excellent connectivity between Lincolnshire and HS2  
at Toton. 

Lead – Midlands Connect and 
Transport for East Midlands  
 
Support – LCC, DfT, TOC’s and HS2

Rail implementation plan – Network and connectivity

Priorities Working with

Work with the rail industry and partners to introduce train services which  
operate 7-days, early to late.

Lead – TOC’s 
 
Support – LCC and RTB’s 

Work with the rail industry and partners ensure the committed service improvements 
are provided in line with franchise commitments. Work with partners to move more 
lines from good to best.

Lead – TOC’s  
 
Support – LCC and RTB's

Work with industry partners to ensure services are provided with adequate capacity  
on board trains.

Lead – TOC’s  
 
Support – LCC and RTB’s 

Monitor train service performance and challenge areas where trains are not punctual 
or reliable.

Lead – TOC’s  
 
Support – LCC and EMC

Keep abreast of service changes that may adversely impact on Lincolnshire  
and make evidence based representations where threats become apparent.

Lead – TOC’s  
 
Support – LCC  
and EMC/TftN

Rail implementation plan – Communities and new developments

Policies Working with

Work with district planning authorities to ensure that access to rail stations  
is prioritised through effective planning and design of new developments,  
including bus, cycle and walking access.

District Councils

Ensure the stations themselves and access routes to the stations are  
accessible and of a standard and condition which is people consider to  
be safe and attractive when accessing the station or waiting for a train. 

LCC and District Councils 
CRPs NR/GBR too surely

Work with district planning authorities to maximise funding opportunities  
related to new developments, such as Section 106 funding. District Councils and LCC

Work with district planning authorities to ensure travel plans that  
encourage and facilitate rail travel are developed and implemented. District Councils and LCC

Bring underused station buildings into community use, to better integrate  
rail into the community.

Lead – TOC’s and CRP’s  
 
Support – LCC, DfT, 
Planning Authorities  
and RTBs

Support station adopters and community rail partnerships to unlock the  
full potential of the existing rail services and promote rail use within their  
local community. 

Lead – CRP’s  
 
Support – LCC, TOC’s  
and RTB’s

Planning for the future – working with communities and rail partners  
to explore the case for new and reopened rail lines and stations. 

Lead – LCC  
 
Support – DfT, NR/GBR, 
TOC's and RTB's

P
age 294



20 21

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 P
as

se
ng

er
 R

ai
l S

tr
at

eg
y

Rail implementation plan – Encouraging and enabling

Priorities Working with

Work with district planning authorities to promote rail use as part  
of an accessible, enjoyable and healthy lifestyle working across teams  
and with partners to develop active travel campaigns.

Lead – LCC  
 
Support – Planning 
Authorities/CRP’s/TOCs

Promote, educate and market people about the rail network,  
demonstrating the travel opportunities beyond the car. 

Lead – LCC 
 
Support – Planning 
Authorities/CRP’s/TOCs

Work with partners to combine the benefits of bus and train integration,  
in particular the opportunities arising from the Rail White Paper and Bus  
Enhanced Partnerships, including better integration, and well-priced cross ticketing. 

Lead – LCC  
 
Support – Planning 
Authorities/CRP’s/  
TOCs/bus operators

Work with district planning authorities to maximise funding opportunities  
related to new developments, such as Section 106 funding.

Lead – LCC 
 
Support –  
District Councils

Work with district planning authorities to ensure travel plans that  
encourage and facilitate rail travel are developed and implemented.

Lead – LCC 
 
Support –  
District Councils

Rail implementation ilan – Leisure and tourism

Policies Working with

Influence partners to secure year-round hourly train service to Skegness.
Lead – EMR 
 
Support – LCC and NR/GBR

Influence partners to improved train services to Lincoln from a wider  
range of destinations, either directly or through efficient interchange.

Lead – EMR 
 
Support – LCC and NR/GBR

Ensure the train services to Skegness have adequate capacity to meet  
passenger demand.

Lead – EMR  
 
Support – LCC and NR/GBR

Work with partners to combine the benefits of bus and train integration,  
in particular the opportunities arising from the Rail White Paper and Bus  
Enhanced Partnerships, including better integration, and well-priced cross ticketing. 

Lead – LCC 
 
Support – TOC’s, Bus 
operators, NR/GBR

Monitoring and measuring success

To ensure that this rail strategy is effective we will  
monitor performance and review the strategy on  
a regular basis. To monitor and measure success  
of this strategy we will:

• Review and report on our performance every year;

• Develop our thinking and approach based on 
performance, changing technology and other 
opportunities for innovation;

• Be open to challenge from partners and stakeholders;

• Actively monitor published data sources; and,

• Identify appropriate technology and data sources  
to collect our own data across Lincolnshire.

The following monitoring framework presents how we  
will monitor the strategy against each of the objectives. 
The framework is based on several indicators assessing 
overall use, satisfaction and modal share. 

Most of the sources of data are published data that  
we will access, rather than depending on original data. 

We will seek out additional data sources that may  
be identified through the course of this strategy  
where this would add insights on the operation  
and performance of the local rail network. 

P
age 295



22 23

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 P
as

se
ng

er
 R

ai
l S

tr
at

eg
y

Objective Indicator Source

Improve the quality of the rail offer.

Timetable frequency  
(days/hours/frequency by line).

• TimetablesPassenger satisfaction.

Punctuality and reliability.

Make rail a part of Lincolnshire 
residents’ travel options.

Volume of rail travel at larger  
stations (Lincoln, Boston, Sleaford, 
Spalding, Grantham).

• ORR data

Mode share of rail for journeys  
to work.

• Census data
• Travel plan data

Mode share of rail for school  
and journey to work trips.

• School travel surveys
• Home/workplace travel plans 

Enhance rail within Lincolnshire’s 
leisure and tourism offer to support 
the economy.

Footfall at station. • ORR data

Mode of travel to reach leisure  
and tourism destinations. • Surveys

Current and franchise committed train service frequency

Existing passenger offer (from timetables)

Passenger offer achieved within LTP 5 (from franchises) 

SKEGNESS

GRANTHAM

SPALDING NORWICH

STANSTED

MARKET RASEN

SLEAFORD

GAINSBOROUGH

STAMFORD

SCUNTHORPEDONCASTER

BARTON-UPON-HUMBER

NEWARK-ON-TRENT

NOTTINGHAM

EAST MIDLANDS PARKWAY

MELTON MOWBRAY

LINCOLN
SHEFFIELD WORKSOP

RETFORD

BARNETBY

GRIMSBY & 
CLEETHORPES

TOTON
EAST MIDLANDS

HS2 HUB

BOSTON

DERBY

MANCHESTER
& LIVERPOOL

YORK, NORTH EAST & SCOTLANDWAKEFIELD
& LEEDS

LONDON

PETERBOROUGH

LEICESTERSHIRE

SKEGNESS

GRANTHAM

SPALDING NORWICH

STANSTED

MARKET RASEN

SLEAFORD

GAINSBOROUGH

STAMFORD

SCUNTHORPEDONCASTER

BARTON-UPON-HUMBER

NEWARK-ON-TRENT

NOTTINGHAM

EAST MIDLANDS PARKWAY

MELTON MOWBRAY

LINCOLN
SHEFFIELD WORKSOP

RETFORD

BARNETBY

GRIMSBY & 
CLEETHORPES

TOTON
EAST MIDLANDS

HS2 HUB

BOSTON

DERBY

MANCHESTER
& LIVERPOOL

YORK, NORTH EAST & SCOTLANDWAKEFIELD
& LEEDS

LONDON

PETERBOROUGH

LEICESTERSHIRE

P
age 296



24 25

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 P
as

se
ng

er
 R

ai
l S

tr
at

eg
y

Detailed action plan and suggested interventions 

Ensure promised enhancements are delivered.

COVID-19 service reinstatement – actively engage with 
the train operating companies on service reinstatements. 
Support actions to encourage passengers to return to rail. 
Also, work with EMC, to fully understand how COVID-19 
impacts change the demand for rail travel and customer 
priorities for improvement. This should look at the 
different commuter, business travel and leisure markets. 

Oversee that the following promised, infrastructure, 
service and rolling stock upgrades are delivered to time. 
Checking the right stations are served, that impacts 
on other services are understood and are considered 
acceptable (or mitigated). 

Review the interchange between the enhanced services 
and existing, especially at key interchange nodes such  
as Lincoln and Sleaford. 

Additionally, influence the train operating companies  
to incentivise people to take up the opportunity to use  
rail, for example attractively priced promoted ticketing. 
Also promote the enhancements with partners  
to encourage increased rail use.

East Midland Railways 

December 2021 (risk of slippage to May 2022)

• Provide year-round Sunday services Barton-upon-
Humber - Habrough - Cleethorpes Line. 

• Combine the Grimsby Town to Lincoln service  
with the existing Lincoln to Nottingham. 

• Introduce a service between Lincoln and Grimsby,  
via Market Rasen. To provide an hourly Lincoln to 
Grimsby service in combination with the above.

• Provide more evening and weekday services  
between Newark Castle and Nottingham. 

• Sunday service between Lincoln and Grimsby  
all-year round.

• Lincoln to Newark North Gate – together the LNER, 
East Midlands Railways will provide a combined 
hourly Newark North Gate to Lincoln service.

• Additional peak services between Nottingham  
and Grantham. 

• Earlier morning and later evening Nottingham  
to Boston services. 

• Doncaster - Lincoln - Sleaford - Spalding - Peterborough 
– East Midlands Railways intend to introduce an hourly 
Peterborough - Lincoln - Doncaster through-service, 
and a new Sunday service between Lincoln and 
Doncaster.

• A second Lincoln to London service via the  
Midland Mainline. 

December 2022 

• Replace the regional fleet with Cl 170’s.

Network Rail

• Cleethorpes - Scunthorpe – Doncaster - Sheffield – 
Network Rail plan to undertake significant track  
renewal work and safety works at the level crossing  
at Crowle, this may provide the opportunity for  
speed improvement and performance benefits.

• Lincoln (Saturday only Cleethorpes) - Gainsborough - 
Sheffield (& Leeds) – Network Rail have current plans 
to undertake significant track renewal work between 
Gainsborough and Sheffield, re-signalling at Beighton 
Woodhouse and safety works at the level crossing 
abutting Kiverton Park Station, these may provide 
the opportunity for speed improvement and will  
offer performance benefits. 

• Grimsby (Cleethorpes) - Market Rasen - Lincoln - 
Nottingham - Leicester – Network Rail plan to  
improve a level crossing west of Nottingham, and 
renew signalling infrastructure in the Swinderby  
area, both will contribute to improved performance  
and reliability. 

• The ECML is undergoing major works at Kings Cross 
Station and to track, signalling and overhead lines. 
Allowing timetable and speed improvements from  
May 2022.

Cross Country              

• Peterborough - Stamford - Melton Mowbray - 
Birmingham - to introduce minimum of three-car  
170 trains for all weekday services from May 2021. 

• Also reinstate the pre-COVID-19 service reductions  
on this line (17 tpd in each direction).

LNER

• An additional train per day to service Lincoln (seven 
from London and six to London). From May 2022. 
Consultation is planned March 2021.

• Lincolnshire may need to consider priorities for the 
area for any additional services (seven trains each 
way to Lincoln and potentially 1tpd to Cleethorpes) 
alongside local service stops. 

• As part of there-casting of the East Coast Mainline 
timetable re-cast, actively lobby to address the 
inconsistent calling patterns, spacing between services 
(especially at Grantham, but having regard to Hull 
Trains services) and reduce long interchange penalties 
between London and regional services. A standard 
hour/two-hour clock-face timetable should be sought.

LTP 5 actions to deliver

Capacity issues – monitor, understand and act, if the 
capacity issues materialise locally (after train upgrades 
discussed on column to the left). Also review the 
assumptions used in the technical report as a result  
of emerging changes (examples approval of the freeport 
application, North Lincolnshire Local Plan adoption etc.). 

• Leicester to Lincoln – two EMR services are expected  
to be at or above capacity during the afternoon  
peak period. 

• Leicester to Peterborough – two evening peak 
services are predicted at or above seating capacity.

Influencing others

• To lobby Network Rail and relevant train operators  
to maximise the speed benefits of the new rolling  
stock. This is an immediate action as far as CP7 is 
concerned. Once CP7 is prepared then the next  
stage is to prepare for CP8 making the case for  
further speed improvements. The following lines  
need work undertaking:

 – Lincoln to Sheffield (Line 3);

 –  Cleethorpes to Lincoln (Line 4);

 – Lincoln to Newark North Gate (Line 5);

 – Skegness to Nottingham (Line 6); and,

 – Doncaster to Lincoln to Peterborough (Line 7).

Support these regional and sub-regional transport  
bodies on delivering positive enhancements through  
work already in planning. This includes:

• Doncaster to Cleethorpes Line (Line 2) there is a  
joint study already underway led by Transport for  
the North and Network Rail. 

• Newark Flat Crossing is constrained to two paths, one 
passenger the other freight. Midlands Connect work 
suggests that the diversion of freight is the immediate 
option to secure a second passenger path between 
Lincoln to Nottingham (possibly by extending the 
Matlock to Newark Castle service).

• For Lincoln/Newark to Nottingham (Lines 4 and 5)  
(and towards Birmingham) work has already be 
undertaken by Midlands Connect. This suggested  
that line speed improvements are viable.

• Capacity enhancements to the Cross Country service 
between Stansted and Birmingham (Line 8). This 
enhancement is already being considered by Midlands 
Connect. This should also seek to address the future 
growth scenario capacity issues described above. 

• Supporting partners with known station  
investment projects.

P
age 297



26 27

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 P
as

se
ng

er
 R

ai
l S

tr
at

eg
y

LCC to lead progress: 

• Barton Line (Lines 1 and 3) service enhancement 
business case development funding made available 
from Restoring Your Railway Fund. 

• Liverpool to Norwich service – making the case for 
maintaining this operating as one, and not being split  
at Nottingham, and suggest how punctuality issues 
might be addressed. Alternatively, support the split  
and the associated performance improvements and 
seek improvements through the extension of the two  
halves of the service out of Nottingham to address 
other needs. 

• Making the case for an hourly service to Skegness 
(Line 6). 

• Making the case for connecting Cleethorpes  
to London via Lincoln. (NE Lincolnshire).

• Lobbying for engineering works at Grantham to 
increase capacity, increase train speed on approach 
and reduce pathing conflicts. This should be done in 
parallel with TOCs and is a potential ask of CP7 and  
may have implications for LNER future contracts. 
Lead LCC.

• Investment in station enhancements above those  
set out in Table 6.2 of the technical report, prioritising 
works to make the rail network more accessible and 
then to improve passenger comfort. Using S106/LTP 
5 investment as leverage/match funding, alongside 
upgrades through maintenance budgets (CCTV/
information displays etc.). This should specifically  
look at the interface with rail and include cycle and car 
parking, as well as prioritising EV charging at stations 
where longer car trips might be expected (commuter 
stations and at ECML stations). 

• Encouraging community involvement in station 
improvement works and restoring station buildings 
to community use is important to make stations 
welcoming. Lead LCC/TOC’s and station adopters.

• Capacity of Lincoln Station needs to be kept under 
review to ensure it is not a barrier to future plans.  
Lead LCC.

• Competitive fares and ticketing – as study is needed 
into Lincoln and other hub stations, to assess gaps in 
the ticket range such as day-return tickets. Then lobby 
to close the gaps. 

• Performance issues – the services need to be provided 
reliably and on-time. 

• Promotion and marketing - LCCl along with TOC’s  
and partners.

Long-term projects, planning  
started in LTP 5

Long-term project work needs to commence now on 
prioritising and developing future schemes. These will 
require funds and/or resources to develop feasibility 
studies and business cases, these are essential to  
access rail industry or Government funding. These  
projects are most unlikely to be deliverable “on the 
ground” during LTP 5. 

The longer-term projects are:

• An all-week hourly service between Gainsborough/ 
Brigg and the South Humber Bank (this could  
form part of the Barton-on-Humber frequency  
enhancement or improve services to Grimsby  
and potentially Cleethorpes).

• Line speed improvement, making the business case  
for Network Rail/Great British Railway to include in  
their five-year planning cycles. 

• Lincoln to Nottingham service frequency enhancement. 
This will need to consider low-cost options, such as 
diverting some or all the freight paths across the East 
Coast Mainline to other routes avoiding Newark Flat 
Crossing. For example, via Ancaster with a chord onto 
the line Lincoln to avoid Sleaford, or via Retford. These 
are options before pressing for a flyover/under. This  
will then enable more than two passenger trains per 
hour to cross the ECML.

• Enhanced Sunday services through all-week staffing of 
signal boxes on the Cross Country service via Stamford 
and linking Birmingham to Stansted. This needs to tie 
into the renewal of this franchise. 

• Support for HS2 offers several strategic opportunities 
for Lincolnshire:

 – Improved East/West services to Toton and  
other East and West Midlands Cities. 

 – More paths from London to and from Lincoln  
and Greater Lincolnshire. Opening the opportunity  
for all day, even hourly services. However, this  
may reduce calls at local stations between  
Newark North Gate and Lincoln. 

 – More paths across Newark Flat Crossing.

• Wider Industry work which may provide opportunity  
to support delivery of the strategic objectives.  
For example, the Integrated Rail Plan and Traction 
Decarbonisation Network Strategy (both due  
Later 2021)

• Explore the merits/demerits and business case 
associated with reopening/opening new lines  
and stations.

P
age 298



28 29

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 P
as

se
ng

er
 R

ai
l S

tr
at

eg
y

References
1. These are:

• Central Lincolnshire Local Plan  
(City of Lincoln, West Lindsey and North Kesteven).

• East Lindsey Local Plan.

• Southeast Lincolnshire Local Plan  
(Boston Borough and South Holland).

• South Kesteven Local Plan.

2.  uk-chief-medical-officers-physical-activity-guidelines

3.  Great British Railways publishing.service.gov.uk

4.  Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study

Glossary
CRP Community Rail Partnership. A group of local people,  

mostly volunteers, who promote and undertake small  
scale works at local stations of lines.

DfT Department for Transport – the Government body  
who buy most train services and fund Network Rail.

ECML East Coast Mainline, line accommodating fast services 
between the north and London passing through  
Doncaster and terminating at London Kings Cross.

EMR East Midlands Railways – local and regional services  
across the East Midlands and Long-distance high s 
peed services to London along the Midland Mainline.

GBR Great British Railway – the proposed future organisation  
to run England Railway, taking over from Network Rail,  
DfT and TOC’s. See Rail White Paper.

LCC Lincolnshire County Council.

LNER London North Eastern Railway. Operate Long-distance  
high-speed services to London along the East Coast Mainline.

LTP 5  The Lincolnshire County Council’s 5th Local Transport  
Plans (lasting 5 years to 2028/29).

MML Midland Mainline, line accommodating fast services between 
Yorkshire and London, starting at Sheffield  
and Nottingham/Lincoln and travelling to London  
St. Pancras via Leicester.

Northern Northern Trains – local and regional train company operating 
services across the north of England.

ORR Office of Rail Regulation who oversee Network  
Rail’s performance and report back to DfT.

RTB’s Regional Transport Bodies, including Transport for  
East Midlands/East Midlands Councils (TfEM/EMC), Midlands 
Connect, Transport for the North (TftN).

TOC Train Operating Company.

TPD Trains per day.

TPX Transpennine Express – inter-regional train company 
operating services across the north of England and  
into Scotland.

XC Cross Country – a train operator serving long-distance  
routes excluding London.

COVID-19 Coronavirus pandemic of 2019/20.

LTB Local Transport Boards.

RAP Route Action Plan.

HIAMP Highways Infrastructure Asset Management Plan.

SEA Strategic Environmental Assessment.

SA Sustainability Appraisal .

GVA Gross Value Added.

TfL Transport for London.

LENNON Latest Earnings Networked Nationally Overnight.

ATC Automatic Traffic Count.

EV Electric Vehicle.

DECC Department of Energy and Climate Change.

SUEs Sustainable Urban Extensions.

UKCRF UK Community Renewal Fund.

UKSPF UK Shared Prosperity Fund.

LUF Levelling Up Fund.

LATS Local Area Transport Strategies.

LCWIP Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan.

ROWIP Rights of Way Improvement Plan.

PRoW Public Rights of Way.

CPO Chargepoint Operator.

EVCP Electric Vehicle Charhepoint.

BAME Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic groups.

NTS National Travel Survey.

CBSSG COVID-19 Bus Services Support Grant.

JSNA The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment.

DLUHC  The Department for Levelling Up, Housing  
and Communities.

SIDP 21  Strategic Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2021.

P
age 299

http://uk-chief-medical-officers-physical-activity-guidelines
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/994603/gbr-williams-shapps-plan-for-rail.pdf
https://www.greaterlincolnshirelep.co.uk/assets/documents/Greater_Lincolnshire_Rail_Study.pdf


Lancaster House 
Lincolnshire County Council 
County Offices, Newland 
Lincoln, LN1 1YL

Page 300



Lincolnshire Rail 
Infrastructure 
Strategy

Page 301



2 3

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 R
ai

l I
nf

ra
st

ru
ct

ur
e 

St
ra

te
gy

Strategy Overview

This work assesses rail infrastructure across the 
Lincolnshire with the aim to identify capacity 
constraints and potential locations for rail infrastructure 
enhancements to enable an uplift in rail service frequency 
both for passengers and freight. 

The Lincolnshire Rail Infrastructure Study (LRIS) is closely 
aligned to the Passenger Rail Strategy and sits alongside 
similar strategies for cycling, walking, freight and bus  
to inform LTP 5.5 

The LRIS recommendations have been developed with 
reference to the six emerging LTP themes including:

• Economic growth;

• Greening of transport and climate change;

• Creating a thriving environment;

• Supporting safety, security and a healthy lifestyle;

• Promoting high aspirations; and,

• Quality of life.

Lincolnshire Rail Infrastructure Strategy

Introducing the strategy

The Lincolnshire Passenger Rail Strategy (LPRS) outlines 
an aspiration for increased passenger services across 
the Greater Lincolnshire network within the LTP period, 
and it presents the challenges and opportunities for rail, 
identifying four objectives for passenger rail around the  
six emerging LTP themes for rail,

• Improve the quality and usability of the rail 
environment to ensure it is safe, affordable  
and inclusive for all;

• Make travel by train a genuine travel option for our 
residents living and working in the larger communities, 
in doing so contribute to reducing the environmental 
impact of travel and improving physical wellbeing 
alongside other modal strategies; 

• Enhance rail to support Lincolnshire’s economy, 
people’s access to jobs and training and support  
the growth of the leisure and tourism industry; and,

• Make rail more attractive than the car and improve 
access to the local stations by bus, bike and on foot,  
and for more remote communities by car, and the  
use of stations so that stations and the railway  
become part of the community. 

The Lincolnshire Rail Infrastructure Study builds on this, 
through an assessment of rail infrastructure with the 
aim to identify capacity constraints and locations for rail 
infrastructure enhancements to enable an uplift in rail 
service frequency, to improve access to employment, 
education and leisure opportunities by rail and increase 
rail mode share. 

The assessment of rail infrastructure has incorporated 
engagement with rail industry stakeholders to understand 
interfacing schemes planned by the rail industry and 
agree an aspirational indicative train service specification 
for Greater Lincolnshire up to 2034 which considers the 
feasibility of expanding the frequency of our services  
on routes across the region. 

A timetabling exercise has been undertaken with the  
aim to accommodate the agreed train service specification 
onto existing rail infrastructure using industry recognised 
timetable software in order to identify locations where  
the service specification cannot be accommodated. 

Thereafter, a series of rail line constraints and potential 
infrastructure enhancements have been developed 
through stakeholder engagement. 

Interventions have been shortlisted to create a series  
of recommendations for inclusion in LTP 5  

In addition to the assessment of rail infrastructure,  
an evidence-based assessment of proposed new  
station sites throughout Lincolnshire has been  
undertaken based on five areas identified by  
Lincolnshire County Council and stakeholder  
groups, as follows:  

• Donington;

• Littleworth, Deeping St Nicholas;

• Washingborough/Heighington;

• Canwick Hill; and,

• Cherry Willingham.

In order to identify a preferred site and recommendations 
for inclusion in LTP 55, multi-criteria assessment has been 
undertaken, structured around:  

• Accessibility to the proposed station site by all 
modes including public transport, passengers on  
foot, passengers in a motor vehicle and passengers  
travelling by bicycle; 

• Assessment of station catchment including population 
within 1km walking and existing routes which may  
be suitable for development for highway access  
to the station;  

• Availability of land for parking/disabled parking,  
mobility hub, additional bus provision and/or drop off; 

• Qualitative assessment of rail constraints, cost, 
buildability and delivery timescales;

• Political constraints;

• Environmental constraints; and,

• A review of planning constraints.

This document is supported by a technical report  
which has been developed through consultation with  
rail industry partners, regional transport bodies, local 
districts across Greater Lincolnshire and community  
rail partnerships. 

Vision

Whilst the LPRS was produced prior to the LRIS, both  
form part of a wider connected rail piece, and therefore 
this document should be read in conjunction with the  
LRIS technical report and the LPRS. 

The LPRS sets out the following vision for rail in general 
and which should be adopted by the LRIS:

Our vision is to make Lincolnshire 
a place where catching a train 
is a natural choice for people 
when making journeys to work, 
education and for leisure for 
those larger communities living 
alongside or close to the rail 
network. To achieve this rail must 
be accessible, convenient, inclusive, 
and attractive to all, especially 
when compared to the alternatives, 
such as the car.P

age 302



4 5

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 R
ai

l I
nf

ra
st

ru
ct

ur
e 

St
ra

te
gy

Challenges and opportunities

Rail network 

The Lincolnshire rail network was developed by  
five different railway companies (principally the  
Great Northern Railway and Great Eastern Railway  
but also Midland Railway, Lancashire, Derbyshire and  
East Coast Railway and Great Central Railway) often 
leading to route choice between major towns only. 

By the late 19th century, eight principal rail lines had been 
established, providing good coverage across the county. 

The principal rail lines are as follows: 

• Barton-Upon-Humber - Habrough - Cleethorpes; 

• Cleethorpes - Scunthorpe - Doncaster - Sheffield; 

• Lincoln - Gainsborough - Sheffield (and Leeds); 

• Grimsby (Cleethorpes) - Market Rasen -  
Lincoln - Nottingham – Leicester; 

• Lincoln - Newark North Gate; 

• Skegness - Boston - Sleaford - Grantham -  
Nottingham; 

• Doncaster - Lincoln - Sleaford - Spalding -  
Peterborough; and, 

• Peterborough - Stamford - Melton Mowbray - 
Birmingham.

Reflecting the geography of the area, the rail network 
serves the main urban areas of Lincoln, Gainsborough, 
Sleaford, Spalding, Stamford and Skegness and offers 
onward connections to major hubs outside Lincolnshire 
including Nottingham, Leicester, Sheffield and Leeds while 
connections to Doncaster, Peterborough, London and 
York are possible via the East Coast Mainline (ECML) which 
passes through the south west of Lincolnshire between 
Peterborough and Grantham.

Direct connections in under an hour are possible 
to Doncaster and Nottingham from Lincoln, while 
Peterborough and Cambridge are easily accessible from 
Stamford. For commuters to Sheffield there is a direct 
service from Lincoln in 82 minutes, which then carries  
on to Leeds.

The Freight Strategy shows that, in addition to  
passenger operations, freight is of great significance 
to rail in Greater Lincolnshire and there are significant 
constraints to movement. 

As a result of ongoing capacity issues on the ECML, 
following the upgrade to the Great Northern/Great  
Eastern (GNGE) joint line this has become the primary 
route for daytime north-south freight traffic, with 
freight services passing directly through Lincoln and 
Gainsborough. In addition, there is a focus of freight 
activity at the South Humber Bank at the Port of 
Immingham and the Port of Boston has two rail terminals 
which handle approximately 200-230 tonnes per day.  

Railway infrastructure 

Prior to developing a train service specification for 2034, 
it is essential to review previous studies to identify known 
infrastructure constraints for each principal rail line.

The existing rail network across Greater Lincolnshire and adjoining areas is as follows.

SKEGNESS

GRANTHAM

SPALDING

NORWICH

STANSTED

MARKET RASEN

SLEAFORD

GAINSBOROUGH

STAMFORD

SCUNTHORPEDONCASTER

BARTON-UPON-HUMBER

NEWARK-ON-TRENT

NOTTINGHAM

EAST MIDLANDS PARKWAY

MELTON MOWBRAY

LINCOLN

SHEFFIELD WORKSOP

RETFORD

BARNETBY

GRIMSBY & 
CLEETHORPES

TOTON
EAST MIDLANDS

HS2 HUB

BOSTON

DERBY

MANCHESTER
& LIVERPOOL

YORK, NORTH EAST
& SCOTLAND

WAKEFIELD
& LEEDS

LONDON

PETERBOROUGH

LEICESTERSHIRE

BIRMINGHAM

 Cross Country
 East Midlands Railway
 East Midlands (limited service)
 Grand Central
 Hull Trains
 London North Eastern Railway
 Northern

  Northern (limited service)
 Trans Pennine Express

   Lincolnshire
   North Lincolnshire
   North East Lincolnshire
   Rutland
   Airport

P
age 303



6 7

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 R
ai

l I
nf

ra
st

ru
ct

ur
e 

St
ra

te
gy

Line Known infrastructure constraints

Barton-upon-Humber - 
Habrough - Cleethorpes 

• Much of the line is single track;

• Non-electrified line;

• Maximum line speed of 60mph;

• Limited service frequencies: two hourly intervals between services.  
No Sunday services in winter and limited in summer restricted by  
signal box hours (10:15-19:45 summer; closed in winter);

• Volume of freight services into Immingham; 

• Connectivity is restricted towards Grimsby and Cleethorpes, unless  
making interchange at Habrough;

• No passenger trains currently run on the short spur of line between  
Ulceby Station and Brocklesby.

Cleethorpes - Scunthorpe –-  
Doncaster - Sheffield 

• Much of the line is single track (with limited section of two track  
between Grimsby Town and Sheffield);

• The track-speed east of Grimsby Town is only 40mph;

• The line is not electrified;

• Limited Sunday services.

Lincoln (Saturday 
only Cleethorpes) - 
Gainsborough - Sheffield 
(and Leeds) 

• Some sections of single track, maximum two track;

• Line is not electrified;

• The Sunday services are restricted by the existing hours the signal boxes are staffed;

• Limited platforms at Sheffield.

Grimsby (Cleethorpes) 
- Market Rasen - Lincoln - 
Nottingham - Leicester

• Some sections of single track;

• Major constraint where the line crosses the East Coast Mainline at Newark Flat 
Crossing. This is currently limited to two train paths per hour crossing the mainline, 
one of which is a freight path;

• Inconsistent line speeds; some slow sections (40mph Cleethorpes to Grimsby);

• Line is not electrified;

• Limited weekend services and inconsistent calling patterns at local stations 
(Leicester to Lincoln).

Line Known infrastructure constraints

Lincoln - Newark  
North Gate

• Max two track;

• Line is not electrified;

• Inconsistent eastbound/westbound services (East Midlands Railway);

• Limited Sunday service travelling westbound.

Skegness - Boston -  
Sleaford - Grantham - 
Nottingham

• Mixture of single and two track along full route;

• Line is not electrified;

• Limited Sunday services; inconsistent calling at smaller stations  
on East Midlands Railway Services from Nottingham to Skegness;

• Relatively slow line speeds;

• Long signal sections.

Doncaster - Lincoln -  
Sleaford - Spalding - 
Peterborough

• Two track along full route;

• Line is not electrified;

• Long signalling sections between Lincoln and Peterborough;

• No East Midlands Railway Sunday service;

• Limited opportunities to regulate freight south of Lincoln.

Peterborough - Stamford -  
Melton Mowbray - 
Birmingham

• Leicester Station currently at capacity; 

• Existence of absolute block signalling on route contributes to capacity constraints; 

• Two track along full route;

• Line is not electrified;

• Limited Sunday service due to signal box opening hours.

P
age 304



8 9

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 R
ai

l I
nf

ra
st

ru
ct

ur
e 

St
ra

te
gy

Strategy approach

To develop the strategy, the approach has been to  
look at the evidence base and any interventions that  
are currently proposed and then assess the network  
capacity before arriving at potential further solutions  
and developing the Indicative train service specification 
(ITSS) that would form the backbone of the Rail 
infrastructure Strategy.

Interfacing studies and committed enhancements 

During the development of an indicative train service 
specification for 2034, engagement was undertaken  
with rail industry stakeholders including Network Rail,  
East Midlands Railway, Midlands Connect and Transport 
for the North, to understand parallel initiatives and 
committed enhancements that interface with the rail 
network in Greater Lincolnshire. 

This process allows the strategy to evolve from a 
knowledge of rail infrastructure capacity, the proposal  
of a timetable specification and its subsequent appraisal.

Interfacing  
Studies

Infrastructure capacity 

Prior to the development of an enhanced train service 
specification for 2034, the rail capacity across the county 
was assessed using a pre–COVID-19 2020 timetable in 
order to identify areas of capacity constraint.

When constructing a timetable for a complete railway 
system using an agreed ITSS the complexity and/or 
amount of flexibility and viability of the timetable,  
can depend on several factors including:

• The available line capacity;

• Nature of the traffic on the route – if all trains are 
following the same pattern, then a much higher 
number of trains can be accommodated; and,

• Number of routes that feed into the main route,  
and whether junctions are flat or grade separated;

For the purposes of strategy development, when weighing 
together these factors, the routes and stations around 
Lincolnshire and surrounding areas can be classified  
into the following four categories:

• Green Routes: Have few capacity constraints  
and can accommodate the ITSS with flexibility  
for a timetable solution; 

• Amber Routes: Have the capacity to accommodate 
the ITSS but have limited flexibility. They may require 
suboptimal journey times or frequency of services;

• Pink Routes: The line is very close to maximum 
capacity, while it is able to support the ITSS this  
is likely to be the maximum level of service the 
infrastructure can support; and,

• Red Routes: The line/station is very constrained.  
It may not be able to fully support the ITSS and/or 
require a specific timetable solution. 

Having one red route on the system is not generally 
a major issue, assuming the timetable is able to be 
constructed around these requirements. 

However, should the number of red routes exceed  
one, to ensure there is enough flexibility to link these 
constrained areas together, at least some of routes  
which link these together would need to be on  
green routes. 

When a system consists of purely red or amber routes 
with no, or very limited sections of green routes, this 
suggests a very constrained, inflexible, and potentially 
unworkable, timetable solution that, at best, is going  
to provide significant operational challenges to operate.

The assessment of the rail capacity within Greater 
Lincolnshire 2020 (pre-COVID-19) is summarised  
graphically as follows.

Greater 
Lincolnshire 

Rail Strategy to 
2028/29

Restoring 
your 

railways

Traction 
Decarbonisation 

Network 
Strategy

Midlands  
Connect Lincoln –  

Nottingham 
Line Speed 

Improvements

Traction 
Decarbonisation 

Network 
Strategy

LCC Freight 
Study

Humber 
Freeport

Humber 
Freeport

P
age 305



10 11

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 R
ai

l I
nf

ra
st

ru
ct

ur
e 

St
ra

te
gy

To York

To Leeds

To London
Kings Coss

To Ely,
Norwich &
Cambridge

To Hull

Scunthorpe

Grimsby

Gainsborough
Central

Gainsborough
Lea Road

Retford

Sleaford Boston

Grantham

Spalding

Stamford

Swinderby

Market Rasen
Worksop

Newark
Castle

Newark
Northgate

Brigg

Sonton Ore
Terminal

Immingham
Docks

Boston Docks

Barton-on-
Humber

DONCASTER

CLEETHORPES

SKEGNESS

LINCOLN

SHEFFIELD

NOTTINGHAM

LEICESTER
PETERBOROUGH

2 tph

2 tph1.5 tph

1.5 tph

1.75 tph

1 tph

Limited
service

Sats
only

1 tph

1 tph

1 tph

1.5 tph

2 tph

2 tph

2 tph

0.5 tph

0.5 tph

0.75 tph

0.75 tph

0.75 tph

To
Knottingley

Lincolnshire rail capacity 2020
Not to scale, not all lines and stations shown

In general, the routes within Lincolnshire currently  
have sufficient capacity, and in many areas,  
significant spare capacity.

However, in some areas, such as Boston and Grimsby  
to Cleethorpes, single lines constrain the timetable;  
as does the Newark Flat Crossing. Lincoln station is also 
close to capacity, but, it is noted that all routes from 
Lincolnshire feed to into very congested areas, such  
as Doncaster, Sheffield, Nottingham and Leicester and 
so the existing spare capacity is often required to provide 
sufficient flexibility to build and operate the timetable

Indicative Train Service Specification (ITSS) 

Collaboration between the county council, Network Rail, 
Midlands Connect, East Midlands Rail and Transport for 
the North, has enabled an aspirational ITSS for Greater 
Lincolnshire to be developed, initially for 2034. 

The development of the ITSS considers the feasibility  
of expanding the frequency of services on many  
routes across the region, with the aim of enhancing 
connectivity by rail for employment, education and  
leisure opportunities and ultimately make rail a more 
attractive proposition, encouraging modal shift and  
an increase in the use of sustainable travel.  

The ITSS is bounded by the timetabling geography  
of Peterborough, Leicester, Sheffield and  
Doncaster stations. 

However, it is recognised that the rail network outside  
of Lincolnshire may constrain capacity in Greater 
Lincolnshire as a result of existing capacity constraints 
elsewhere (Sheffield and Nottingham) noting High Speed 
2 (HS2), Northern Powerhouse Rail (NPR) and Midlands 
Connect service enhancement aspirations.  

From the interfacing schemes that have been  
discussed with rail industry stakeholders, it is clear  
that only committed enhancement schemes should  
be incorporated into the ITSS.

The ITSS for 2034 presents an enhanced service frequency 
from the May 2020 service level on most routes as follows:

• In Northeast Lincolnshire, while the Cleethorpes – 
Manchester Airport and Doncaster – Scunthorpe 
service would remain hourly;

• The main service increases would be an increase  
to hourly (from two-hourly in May 2020) on the  
Barton-on-Humber branch; and,

• An hourly service between Grimsby and Lincoln 
(assumed to be extended to Newark Northgate every 
hour to maximise London connectivity and simplify 
arrangements at Lincoln). A trade-off for this would  
be to not extend the London Kings Cross – Lincoln 
service to Grimsby and Cleethorpes in this ITSS.

Other major service enhancement in this area of 
Lincolnshire would be a regular hourly service  
through Brigg, by extending the current Sheffield – 
Gainsborough Central service through to Grimsby.  

Through Lincoln, the service between Doncaster and 
Peterborough would increase from an irregular service  
to hourly; with the aspiration for two trains an hour 
between Sheffield and Lincoln, and potentially  
Nottingham and Lincoln over the currently hourly  
service on both routes.

Between Nottingham, Grantham and Skegness,  
a substantial increase in service is aspired to,  
with an extra train from Nottingham to East Anglia.  
This is in addition to making the stopping service  
between Nottingham and Grantham hourly, and  
an extra two hourly stopping service between  
Nottingham and Skegness. Skegness would also  
see an hourly service from Peterborough (reversing  
at Sleaford), which would improve London connectivity  
to Boston and Skegness.

Between Leicester and Peterborough, the aspiration  
is for a second train an hour to serve Stamford; this is 
assumed to be an extension of the existing Birmingham 
New Street – Leicester stopping service.

Line/station very constrained. May not be able to 
support full ITSS and/or require specific timetable 
solution. Dashed line represents a freight only route.

Line/station constrained. Can support ITSS but  
limited flexibility. May require suboptimal journey 
times or frequency of services. Dashed line  
represents a freight only route.

Line/station unconstrained. Can support ITSS  
with flexibility for timetable solution. Dashed  
line represents a freight only route.

Number of (passenger) trains per hour (tph)  
in typical standard hour.

Location at which there is a change in  
quantum of passenger services per hour.

2.5 tph

P
age 306



12 13

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 R
ai

l I
nf

ra
st

ru
ct

ur
e 

St
ra

te
gy

Level of service and performance

To assess the likely impact of the Greater Lincolnshire 
timetable service specification for 2034 and identify 
locations where the service level may not be able  
to be accommodated on existing infrastructure, the 
industry standard timetabling tool ATTUne has been  
used. To allow a comparison between the 2020  
pre-COVID-19 scenario, the lines and stations are 
categorised according to green routes, amber  
routes, pink routes and red Routes, as before.

From timetabling, the main constraints in the 2034  
ITSS are: 

• Grimsby station – Not enough flexibility to 
accommodate additional services terminating here;

• Gainsborough Central – Constraints on the single  
line section; 

• Lincoln station – Not enough flexibility to accommodate 
additional services terminating here;

• Newark Flat Crossing – Limits paths to two tph in each 
direction over ECML;

• Nottingham – Grantham – Signalling headway;

• Grantham station – Not enough capacity  
to accommodate all services;

• Sleaford – Not enough capacity to accommodate  
all services;

• Peterborough – Sleaford – Signalling headway;

• Sleaford – Sibsey Junction – Constraints on the single 
line; and,

• Leicester – Not enough capacity to robustly operate 
more trains north of the station.

The findings for each Northeast Lincolnshire and 
Lincolnshire rail line can be summarised, outlining  
key observations from the timetabling exercise  
and highlighting any areas of capacity constraint. 

Northeast Lincolnshire

Doncaster – Scunthorpe – Wrawby Junction

Essentially, the ITSS for 2034 mirrors the current level  
of service on this route but runs in a more regular  
pattern. On the assumption that the timetable structure 
will not significantly change on this route, the 2034 ITSS 
can be accommodated on the current infrastructure.

Wrawby Junction – Cleethorpes

Generally, the existing infrastructure will be able to 
support the 2034 ITSS, but the addition of an hourly 
service on the Brigg line will create some congestion 
at Grimsby, occupying a platform at the same time as 
the Grimsby - Lincoln (Newark Northgate service). With 
only one of the two through platform bi-directional and 
one bay platform, it is not possible to pass a train from 
Cleethorpes through Grimsby, while two trains are turning 
back in the station at the same time. To deliver the ITSS  
it is likely to require an additional crossover at the west 
end and platform 1 being made bi-directional to support 
this resolve this operational issue and deliver the ITSS.

Barton-on-Humber branch

The Barton-on-Humber branch leaving the main line 
at Habrough is mostly single track, although there is a 
substantial double track section between Ulceby North 
Junction and Oxmarsh for approximately five miles. 
However, if increasing the service to hourly and only 
wishing to utilise two units on the service, the trains 
would naturally pass on the single-line section between 
Habrough and Ulecby. With short turnarounds at Barton-
on-Humber and Cleethorpes there would not be the 
flexibility to re-time the services to pass on a double  
track section of line, either east of Habrough or north  
of Ulceby. Enhancements are proposed to operate  
an hourly service on the existing infrastructure.  

Wrawby Junction – Lincoln 

There would be sufficient capacity on the route to 
accommodate the expected 2034 ITSS, noting that  
the study recommends a potential reduction in freight 
traffic on this corridor to ease constraints at Lincoln  
and the Newark Flat Crossing.

To York

To Leeds

To London
Kings Coss

To Ely,
Norwich &
Cambridge

To Hull

Scunthorpe

Grimsby

Gainsborough
Central

Gainsborough
Lea Road

Retford

Sleaford Boston

Grantham

Spalding

Stamford

Swinderby

Market Rasen
Worksop

Newark
Castle

Newark
Northgate

Brigg

Sonton Ore
Terminal

Immingham
Docks

Boston Docks

Barton-on-
Humber

DONCASTER

CLEETHORPES

SKEGNESS

LINCOLN

SHEFFIELD

NOTTINGHAM

LEICESTER
PETERBOROUGH

2 tph

4 tph3 tph

3.5 tph

3 tph

1 tph

1.5 tph

2 tph

2.5 tph

2 tph

3 tph

2 tph

4.5 tph

1 tph

1 tph

1 tph

1 tph

2 tph

To
Knottingley

Lincolnshire rail capacity 2034 before interventions
Not to scale, not all lines and stations shown

Line/station very constrained. May not be able to 
support full ITSS and/or require specific timetable 
solution. Dashed line represents a freight only route.

Line/station constrained. Can support ITSS but  
limited flexibility. May require suboptimal journey 
times or frequency of services. Dashed line  
represents a freight only route.

Line/station unconstrained. Can support ITSS  
with flexibility for timetable solution. Dashed  
line represents a freight only route.

Line/station close to maximum capacity. While able to 
support modelled ITSS this is likely to be the maximum 
level of service this infrastructure can support.

Number of (passenger) trains per hour (tph)  
in typical standard hour.

Location at which there is a change in quantum  
of passenger services per hour.

2.5 tph

P
age 307



14 15

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 R
ai

l I
nf

ra
st

ru
ct

ur
e 

St
ra

te
gy

Wrawby junction - Gainsborough Trent junction –  
via Brigg

As a result of existing constraints around Sheffield,  
the existing Sheffield – Gainsborough Central service  
is likely to need to run in a very fixed path in and out  
of Sheffield and for the purposes of this study, it is 
assumed to continue in its May 2020 path. To extend  
this beyond Gainsborough Central means the westbound 
and eastbound services naturally cross on the single-line 
section between Gainsborough and Northorpe Loop. 
While it would be possible to timetable the service on  
the existing infrastructure, it would lead to lengthy  
journey time extensions of approximately 10-15 minutes 
for the eastbound service at Gainsborough Central,  
while waiting for the single line section to clear. 
Enhancements are proposed to accommodate  
the 2034 ITSS.  

Doncaster – Peterborough via Lincoln

Generally, there is sufficient capacity to permit the 
Doncaster to Peterborough service to run hourly and 
accommodate expected freight paths. However, it must 
be noted that with additional services on the Brigg line 
and potentially additional Sheffield to Lincoln services, 
together with freight diverted away from Lincoln, the 
Gainsborough Trent junction will see a significant increase 
in the number of conflicting movements. While this can 
be timetabled, the junction and line into Lincoln would be 
running close to its natural maximum capacity and could 
prove to be a performance risk; it would also not be able 
to accommodate any increase in freight traffic beyond that 
modelled in the 2034 ITSS. Lincoln station is challenging 
when trying to accommodate the ITSS, as a result of 
additional terminating services from Nottingham and 
Sheffield. Enhancements are proposed to accommodate 
the ITSS at this location. With the additional services  
on the Skegness line, Sleaford station starts to become  
a constraint, with one service reversing in Sleaford station 
and line running to Peterborough. To accommodate  
the ITSS, enhancements are proposed at Sleaford. 

Sheffield – Lincoln

Sheffield station is a major constraint, with limited 
platforms and the congested two track section between 
Sheffield Midland station and Nunnery Main Line 
Junction. This takes all traffic from Sheffield to Barnsley, 
Huddersfield, Leeds and Doncaster, with services to 
Lincoln then having a conflicting move at Nunnery Main 
Line Junction. There is no realistic infrastructure solution 
to widen this corridor and beyond upgraded signalling 
to make lines bi-directional and slightly reduce headway, 
there is little prospect of significantly increasing capacity 
on this corridor – noting competing NPR and HS2 
aspirations for increasing service levels through  
Sheffield around the 2034 time frame.

It is likely that the maximum quantum of trains from 
Sheffield Midland towards Worksop and Lincoln will not 
be able to increase from the current service level of two 
tph, and that any additional services between Sheffield 
and Lincoln may need an alternative method of serving 
Sheffield. Beyond Sheffield, there are few constraints, 
however  
any stopping service would need careful planning between 
a semi-fast service and to be cognisant of the constraints 
outlined at Sheffield and Lincoln. There may also be a 
requirement for some additional freight traffic on this 
corridor to reduce pressure on the Newark Flat crossing 
and Lincoln station.

Nottingham – Lincoln 

Nottingham station has not been considered in detail 
because of its relative remoteness from the county,  
but the station is already close to capacity and similar  
to Sheffield, HS2 and Midlands Connect have aspirations  
to increase the number of services using the station 
around the 2034 time frame. There is a significant risk that 
the aspired increase in services proposed in the ITSS 2034 
would not be able to be accommodated at Nottingham 
station. The ITSS is likely to require, as a minimum at least 
a second eastern facing bay platform at Nottingham and 
potentially another through platform. The other major 
constraint on this route is Newark Flat Crossing. This limits 

the maximum number of paths east of Newark Castle 
to two tph (currently one freight and one passenger) 
fitting into limited gaps in the ECML timetable. To run 
two passenger trains an hour beyond between Newark 
Castle and Lincoln will require diversion of freight paths. 
The freight traffic using this route is generally bulk traffic 
such as oil trains between Kingsbury and Immingham. 
These are currently running at 3400T when loaded from 
Immingham and Kingsbury and are among the heaviest 
trains operating in the UK.

Nottingham – Skegness

The 2034 ITSS forecasts a significant increase in services 
between Nottingham and Grantham, as well as on 
the Skegness route, with the addition of the hourly 
Peterborough – Skegness service. This leads to a number 
of constraints on this route that will require infrastructure 
interventions to accommodate the 2034 ITSS. Noting the 
issues around Nottingham station, the main constraint is 
signalling headway between Nottingham and Grantham. 
When the route was re-signalled, signals were only 
installed at locations of former signal boxes, so the route 
is still planned on absolute block1 principles. The headway 
between Nottingham and Netherfield Junction (where  
the Newark line diverges) is also not suitable for this level 
of service. At Netherfield Junction, services from Lincoln 
and Newark have very fixed paths due to Newark Flat 
Crossing. With an increased level of service, the junction  
is constrained and is likely to require reasonably significant 
amounts of pathing time (therefore increasing journey 
times) to provide a compliant solution. Grantham station, 
only having one through and one bay platform for services 
to and from Nottingham and Skegness, will not be able to 
accommodate the ITSS. It is likely to require, as a minimum 
an extra through platform and potentially an extra bay 
platform (or one alternative to this additional bay platform 
maybe planning the all station stopping Skegness service 
to avoid Grantham in some hours). Paths on the East 
Coast Main Line (ECML) south of Grantham have also  
not been examined, as it is unclear what the 2034 service 
level and timetable would be on the ECML. However,  
there is a risk, even if capacity is available that services 
will have to dwell at Grantham for longer than desired 
matching paths between Nottingham and Grantham  
and between Grantham and Peterborough, which further 
strengthens the need for an additional through platform. 
Between Allington Junction and Sleaford there are no 
capacity problems, as it is double track and the existing 
absolute block sections are short enough so as to not 
create a capacity constraint. Sleaford station will require 
infrastructure interventions as stated in the Doncaster – 

Peterborough section. East of Sleaford, the route becomes 
single track with passing loops through Boston, before 
reverting to double track from Sibsey Junction. These 
single-line sections create a major constraint with up to 
three trains an hour in each direction. With trains flighted 
close together in the same direction a movement in the 
opposing direction has to wait for 15-20 minutes for the 
single line section to clear, by which time there is another 
service in that direction trapped behind it. Infrastructure 
enhancements are proposed here to accommodate  
the 2034 ITSS. Beyond Sibsey to Skegness there are  
no capacity concerns with accommodating the ITSS  
based on existing infrastructure and block sections.

Leicester - Peterborough

The Leicester station area is at capacity today. In 
order to robustly operate any more services north of 
Leicester, it will require, at the very minimum, four track 
reinstating between Leicester and Syston. Signalling 
on the route between Leicester and Peterborough, 
being predominantly absolute block, is also a potential 
constraint. However, the number of signal boxes between 
Melton Mowbray and Manton Junction means the overall 
signalling headway is not a major issue on this section. 
Nonetheless, between Melton Mowbray and Syston, and 
between Manton Junction and Helpston, block sections 
are longer, so this can act as constraint. Signalling 
enhancements are proposed on this route, set out  
in the recommendations section. 

Conclusion arising from the ITSS

Timetable analysis of the proposed 2034 ITSS which 
incorporates an uplifted service frequency across the 
county has highlighted a number of capacity constraints 
and locations where an infrastructure improvement is 
recommended in order to accommodate the uplifted 
service frequency. 

The following Table summarises timetabling constraints, 
their impact and it outlines the services that would  
be affected.   

P
age 308



16 17

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 R
ai

l I
nf

ra
st

ru
ct

ur
e 

St
ra

te
gy

Line Location Constraint Impact of constraint Services which 
would be impacted

Barton-Upon-
Humber - Habrough 
- Cleethorpes

Habrough - Ulecby

Trains requiring  
to pass on single  
with two unit 
resourcing plan.

Risk of not being able  
to accommodate the  
iTSS and extended  
journey times or 
additional unit 
resource needed  
to operate service.

Cleethorpes - Barton-
on-Humber

Cleethorpes -  
Scunthorpe - 
Doncaster -  
Sheffield

No infrastructure issues.

Lincoln (Saturday 
only Cleethorpes) -  
Gainsborough - 
Sheffield (and Leeds)

Gainsborough - 
Northorpe

Trains naturally 
passing on  
single line.

Substantially 
increased journey 
times and  
no capacity for freight.

Sheffield - Grimsby  
via Brigg

Lincoln (Saturday 
only Cleethorpes) -  
Gainsborough - 
Sheffield (and Leeds)

Grimsby
Not enough bi-
directional platforms 
to turn back service in.

Not possible to 
accommodate  
service.

Sheffield - Grimsby  
via Brigg

Lincoln (Saturday 
only Cleethorpes) -  
Gainsborough - 
Sheffield (and Leeds)

Sheffield

Capacity issues at 
Nunnery Main Line Jn 
and Sheffield station, 
noting NPR and HS2 
aspirations.

Risk of not being able  
to accommodate the  
iTSS and extended  
journey times.

Sheffield - Grimsby  
via Brigg

Sheffield - Lincoln

Grimsby 
(Cleethorpes) -  
Market Rasen - 
Lincoln - 
Nottingham - 
Leicester

Newark Flat Crossing

Flat crossing with 
ECML, limits paths  
and timetable options 
on Nottingham - 
Lincoln line.

Risk of not being able 
to accommodate the 
iTSS and extended 
journey times.

Nottingham - Lincoln

Lincoln - Newark  
North Gate No infrastructure issues.

Lincoln area Lincoln station

Limited platforms  
and volume of 
services passing 
through the station  
as well as turning 
back.

Risk of not being able  
to accommodate the  
iTSS and extended  
journey times.

Doncaster - Lincoln 
- Peterborough 
Grimsby - Newark 
Northgate  
Nottingham - Lincoln
Sheffield - Lincoln

Skegness - Boston - 
Sleaford - Grantham 
- Nottingham

Sibsey - Sleaford
Single track sections 
between Sibsey and 
Sleaford.

Risk of not being able  
to accommodate the  
iTSS and extended  
journey times.

Peterborough - 
Skegness 
Nottingham - 
Skegness

Line Location Constraint Impact of constraint Services which 
would be impacted

Skegness - Boston - 
Sleaford - Grantham 
- Nottingham

Sleaford

Single track at eastern 
end for both Skegness 
and Peterborough 
services and not all 
platforms bi-di.

Risk of not being able  
to accommodate the  
iTSS and extended  
journey times.

Peterborough - 
Skegness -
Nottingham - 
Skegness

Skegness - Boston - 
Sleaford - Grantham - 
Nottingham

Grantham

Only one through 
platform from Notts 
to ECML and one bay 
for reversing. TSS have 
significant increase 
in services using 
Grantham.

Risk of not being able  
to accommodate the  
iTSS and extended  
journey times.

Nottingham 
- Grantham 
Nottingham -  
East Anglia 
Nottingham - 
Skegness

Skegness - Boston - 
Sleaford - Grantham - 
Nottingham

Netherfield Junction - 
Grantham

Long signalling 
headways.

Risk of not being able  
to accommodate the  
iTSS and extended  
journey times.

Nottingham - 
Grantham 
Nottingham -  
East Anglia  
Nottingham - 
Skegness

Skegness - Boston - 
Sleaford - Grantham - 
Nottingham

Netherfield Junction - 
Nottingham

Long signalling 
headways & flat 
junction.

Risk of not being able  
to accommodate the  
iTSS and extended  
journey times.

Nottingham - 
Grantham 
Nottingham -  
East Anglia 
Nottingham - 
Skegness 
Nottingham - Lincoln

Doncaster - Lincoln -  
Sleaford - Spalding - 
Peterborough

Peterborough - 
Sleaford - Lincoln

Long signalling 
headways.

Risk of not being able  
to accommodate the  
iTSS and extended  
journey times.

Peterborough - 
Skegne
Peterborough - 
Lincoln - Doncaster

Peterborough - 
Stamford - 
Melton Mowbray - 
Birmingham

Leicester
3 track section of line 
between Leicester and 
Syston at capacity.

Not able to 
accommodate  
the iTSS.

Leicester - 
Peterborough

Peterborough - 
Stamford - 
Melton Mowbray - 
Birmingham

Syston - Helpston Absolute block 
signalling system.

Risk of not being able  
to accommodate the  
iTSS and extended  
journey times.

Leicester - 
Peterborough

P
age 309



18 19

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 R
ai

l I
nf

ra
st

ru
ct

ur
e 

St
ra

te
gy

Developing infrastructure options 

Engagement

In light of the ITSS constraints, a long-list of potential 
interventions for the rail network have been developed. 
These have been shared with stakeholders and their 
feedback was used to further develop the long-list  
of potential solutions. 

Engagement with stakeholders formed a key component 
of the development of the Greater Lincolnshire Rail 
Infrastructure Strategy Development. 

To gather feedback on the proposed enhancements to 
address the identified timetabling constraints, as well as 
establishing more broader aspirations for our rail network, 
a number of stakeholder workshops were held with local 
districts and community rail partnership groups. 

Whilst not all feedback received throughout the process 
was relevant for incorporation into the long list of rail 
infrastructure enhancements, all comments have been 
considered in order to gauge the wider ambitions for  
rail within Lincolnshire. 

The feedback is summarised in a technical report  
and the general consensus indicated,

• A number of opportunities were highlighted  
for the Lincoln - Sleaford Line, including:

 – Service upgrades on the Sleaford - Lincoln route 
and the Sleaford- Grantham route to make  
them more attractive to commuters and the 
general population.

 – Improved services from Sleaford to Lincoln and 
through to Nottingham; particularly given the 
forecast growth in Sleaford which is set to see  
an additional 4,435 homes housing around  
10,000 people.

 – Introduction of additional services on the Lincoln 
- Sleaford line. The previous restriction of no 
signalling service after a certain time no longer 
applies due to the line upgrade providing  
24/7 signalling.

 – The service between Lincoln and Sleaford requires 
later running trains during the week and the 
introduction of a Sunday service.

 – A proposal to re-open the Louth – Firsby line was 
outlined which is understood to have the support  
of Matt Warman MP, Victoria Atkins MP, Tom 
Ashton, Councillor at East Lindsey District Council, 
and Louth Town Council.

Sleaford – Grantham Line:

 – It was recommended that better connections  
out of Sleaford may be needed as the area 
continues to expand. The line provides a key 
connection to Nottingham from the south of 
the district, as well as connections to London 
via Grantham. Frequency upgrades should be 
considered to enable commuting along the  
route, including to London. 

 – Feedback from both South Holland District 
Council and North Kesteven recommended the 
introduction of a direct Lincoln – London service, 
via Sleaford, Spalding and Peterborough. While 
this wouldn’t be as fast as the existing service via 
Newark, it could be provided without the need to 
change trains throughout the day. North Kesteven 
highlighted that the service had been previously 
considered several years ago and could be 
explored again.

• South Holland District Council made several 
recommendations for freight within Lincolnshire, 
including: 

 – Emphasis was placed on a need to shift from road 
to rail freight. The national shortage of HGV drivers, 
coupled with the forthcoming and eventual ban 
on the use of internal combustion engines, each 
hasten the requirement to move more products 
by rail. Feedback suggested that a rail-based 
solution to freight will solve many of the challenges 
currently faced.

 – One of the options proposed was to provide a rail 
freight interchange south of Spalding. If delivered, 
this would not have a huge effect on rail traffic 
north of Spalding (and from there onto Sleaford 
and Lincoln, where the main concern around 
congestion sits) as the majority of incoming  
product would come in from the south, and 
finished product would (predominantly)  
return to the south.

 – Given the large numbers of HGV's moving in and 
out of Spalding and the surrounding area on a 
daily basis, and given the work being done around 
the viability of 'piggybacking' by Midlands Connect; 
Spalding, the RFI, and the GNGE Joint line with its 
connections to Felixstowe, may be a consideration.

The report produced in response to the Midlands Connect 
Transport Strategy Refresh Spring 2021, by South Holland 
District Council and Boston Borough Council, set out a 
number of priority projects for Lincolnshire’s rail network. 
Many of these were centred around the expansion of rail 
freight to enable the food chain (and other cargoes) to  
be moved by rail; this would reduce lorry movements  
and facilitate the UK’s largest food processing and logistics 
cluster to lead the transition towards low-carbon transport 
options. Priority projects set out in the report include 
developing a delivery plan for a South Lincolnshire rail 
freight hub. This will maximise rail freight opportunities  
for national and international distribution, by creating a 
state-of-the-art hub to integrate road and rail connectivity.

Infrastructure interventions

Sifting

Analysis and engagement has resulted in a long-list  
of infrastructure options, along with a series of criteria  
to enable option sifting through multi criteria analysis  
in order to discount those options which do not  
represent realistic or deliverable solutions.

Each options was scored using a seven-point scale  
(-3 to +3) against the following objectives and critical 
success factors using the MCAT:

• ITSS 2034 – To facilitate an increased passenger service 
frequency through enabling the accommodation of the 
proposed 2034 ITSS;

• Alignment with transport objectives – Measure of the 
extent to which the proposed intervention aligns with 
our wider transport objectives including aspiration  
to increase rail mode share;

• Stakeholder acceptability – Measure of the level of 
stakeholder acceptability including districts, political, 
public and businesses;

• Economy of scale – Measure of the extent to which the 
proposed intervention can offer economies of scale.  
For example, will the intervention impact more than 
one line on the Greater Lincolnshire rail network;

• Minimum Viable Product – Measure of the extent  
to which it is possible to deliver a low value, reduced 
programme option of the intervention;

• Service frequency to housing and employment 
developments – Measure of the extent to which the 
intervention facilitates increased service frequency to 
areas of housing and employment development; and

• Service frequency to deprived areas – Measure  
of the extent to which the intervention facilitates 
increased service frequency to our deprived areas  
and communities in Greater Lincolnshire.

The long-list of options has also been assessed against  
the following CSFs:

• Cost of intervention;

• Engineering Complexity; and,

• Dependency on other projects. 

Recommendations 

From the option sifting, the infrastructure interventions 
were developed where they offered sufficient flexibility 
within the Greater Lincolnshire rail network to operate  
the 2034 ITSS.

Note, that this may however likely require further 
intervention within the Nottingham and Sheffield  
area in connection with HS2, NPR and Midlands  
Connect aspirations.

P
age 310



20 21

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 R
ai

l I
nf

ra
st

ru
ct

ur
e 

St
ra

te
gy

Northeast Lincolnshire 

Barton-on-Humber branch

To operate an hourly service on the existing infrastructure 
would require three units, with units passing between 
Habrough and Grimsby and between Ulceby and 
Oxmarsh. This would require lengthy turnarounds  
at Barton-on-Humber and Cleethorpes and the  
additional OPEX costs of this would need considering 
against any business case and the costs of doubling  
the line between Habrough and Ulecby. 

Wrawby Junction - Gainsborough Trent Junction –  
via Brigg

If the section between Gainsborough and Northorpe 
was re-doubled, then the timetabling constraint between 
Gainsborough and Northorpe loop would be removed.  

There would then be sufficient capacity on the route  
to permit an hourly passenger service in both directions 
and a freight service every two hours, i.e. in each timetable 
hour a freight path would be available either heading 
towards Immingham or away from Immingham. A high 
conceptual schematic of re-doubling the section between 
Gainsborough and Northorpe Loop is shown below.

Doncaster – Peterborough via Lincoln 

As a result of an increase in terminating services  
and an increase in the level of freight services  
passing through Lincoln station, it is challenging the 
accommodate the service frequency uplift in 2034. 

Part of the key to making Lincoln work is to have a 
consistent ITSS and maximising the use of through  
trains. To simplify arrangements at Lincoln, there  
would be value in having a standard hourly service  
from Grimsby to Newark Northgate. However, this  
is not possible for a number of services from Sheffield  
and Nottingham with only three through platforms  
and no straightforward infrastructure solution to  
increase this, it is likely some form of turnback  
siding may be required. This could potential be  
achieved by using and upgrading the existing  
Lincoln Terrace Carriage Sidings. The feasibility  
of a new western facing bay platform is also 
recommended to be explored.

Reducing the amount of freight passing through Lincoln 
would also assist in the station operation, noting that the 
GN-GE Joint Line from Doncaster to Peterborough is the 
only practical alternative to the congested ECML so is likely 
to also have a high and increasing demand for freight. 
Some potential alternative routes available for freight  
from the West Midlands to Northeast Lincolnshire,  
are outlined in the Nottingham - Lincoln section.

South of Lincoln, there are few issues until Sleaford, 
although there would be some operational benefit to 
reducing the lengthy signalling headway on this route,  
to provide a bit more flexibility in how trains are timed  
and enable more bunching up of trains through Lincoln. 
The level of freight traffic on the route is likely to be the 
key driver behind this infrastructure upgrade. 

Sleaford station starts to become a constraint with 
additional services on the Skegness line, with one  
of these reversing in Sleaford station and running 
to Peterborough and re-modelling work here is 
recommended to provide to separate single lines  
(one to Skegness and one to Peterborough) between 
Sleaford station and Sleaford East Junction as set out 
below. With some additional switches and crossing  
and signalling changes, all platforms could be made  
fully bi-directional which would provide additional 
flexibility and enable the 2034 ITSS to be timetabled.

South of Sleaford with the additional Peterborough – 
Skegness train, reducing the signalling headway  
becomes more critical and it is recommended  
that a four-minute signalling headway would be  
required to robustly operate the 2034 ITSS south  
of Sleaford.

Although Peterborough platforming hasn’t been 
considered in detail, the Werrington dive-under  
provides opportunities for services from Doncaster  
and Skegness to use platforms 5, 6 and 7 and potentially 
one option that the industry could consider is linking  
the Ipswich - Peterborough service with a Peterborough - 
Skegness service to assist Peterborough platforming.

To Lincoln

To Doncaster

Gainsborough Central
Northorpe Loop Brigg

Wrawby
Junction

To Scunthorpe
& Doncaster

To Lincoln

To Worksop
& Sheffield

To
Immingham
& CleethorpesKirton Lindsay

To Grantham 
& Nottingham

Sleaford
West Jn

Sleaford
East Jn

Sleaford
South Jn

To Skegness

To Peterborough

To Lincoln
& Doncaster

Sleaford
North Jn

SLEAFORD

1

2 3

P
age 311



22 23

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 R
ai

l I
nf

ra
st

ru
ct

ur
e 

St
ra

te
gy

Nottingham - Lincoln 

As outlined previously, a major constraint on this  
route is Newark Flat Crossing which limits the maximum  
number of paths east of Newark Castle to two tph 
(currently one freight and one passenger) fitting  
into limited gaps in the ECML timetable. To run two  
passenger trains an hour beyond between Newark  
Castle and Lincoln will require the diversion of  
freight paths. 

Alternative routes will have to be able to accommodate 
heavy oil trains which when loaded are running at circa 
3,400 tonnes and further work is required to examine  
the practicalities of this. One alternative route may  
include operating via Brigg, Worksop, Mansfield,  
Pinxton and Toton, however the gradients in the  
Mansfield area may require additional locomotive 
resources to operate loaded oil trains. 

It is recommended further work is undertaken to  
look at freight routing strategy, with the objective  
of significantly reducing the number of freight trains  
over the Newark Flat crossing and Lincoln, but without 
adding significant additional costs or constraints  
on existing or future freight flows.

It is also recommended that the Grimsby - Newark 
Northgate service is timed to run in the opposite half of 
the hour to the two-hourly London Kings Cross - Lincoln 
service. This has two advantages, the first being to avoid 
the requirement for infrastructure upgrades at Newark 
Northgate. The second it would maximise the commercial 
opportunities for London connectivity from Lincoln.

Nottingham – Skegness 

As outlined previously, the single-track section between 
Sleaford and Boston creates a major constraint on this 
line, with up to three trains an hour in each direction.  
As there is a high volume of level crossings and constrains 
in the built-up area around Boston full doubling of the  
line (although the operationally best solution) is not 
likely to be viable. However, an additional loop between 
Sleaford and Heckington, as well as north of Boston to 
break up the single-line sections is recommended, as this 
would provide sufficient flexibility and additional capacity 
to accommodate the ITSS. These loops should be as long  
as possible to ideally create a dynamic loop where trains 
can pass without one or both being stationary. The loops 
are recommended to be in the area of Burton Road 
between Heckington and Sleaford and Willows Lane, 
between Sibsey and Boston as outlined in Figure 7.

Leicester – Peterborough 

This route has a number of constraints including  
capacity at Leicester Station and signalling on the  
route between Leicester and Peterborough. As this  
is a key freight route between Felixstowe and the  
Midlands which has aspirations for substantial growth  
in traffic by 2034, it is proposed to fully re-signal the  
route to enable a standard headway. However, the 
provision of some extra intermediate block signals 
between Syston and Melton Mowbray, as well as  
between Manton Junction and Helpston Junction  
may also be considered.

Assessment of proposed station sites 

The station sites

Having looked at regional infrastructure priorities,  
the final part of the strategy is to identify a similar  
long-list of rail station improvements. An evidence-based 
assessment of proposed new station sites throughout 
Lincolnshire has been reviewed based on areas  
identified by the county council at,

• Donington;

• Littleworth, Deeping St Nicholas;

• Washingborough/Heighington;

• Canwick Hill; and,

• Cherry Willingham.

A long-list of possible locations in these areas  
was generated from an initial desktop study.

No site visit or analysis of land ownership has so far  
been undertaken but from the long-list of potential  
station locations, five proposed station locations were 
looked at a high-level based on likely catchment and 
access links. One proposed station location within each 
area has been taken forward, based on a judgement of 
land availability and maximising walk catchment whilst 
balancing the need for highway access within the locality. 

Littleworth looks to be the preferred solution based  
on its location as described in previous studies2.

Within Cherry Willingham, three possible sites for a  
station were identified based on identifying areas of 
unbuilt up land adjacent to the railway. The furthest  
east was constrained with no existing highway access  
and is already proposed for development within the  
Local Plan. As such this site has been discounted. A site 
towards the west of the area seemed to give the best 
highway and catchment options and was therefore  
taken forward for high level analysis. As the Lincoln 
Eastern Bypass has recently been built close to the  
area of Canwick Hill, future development and access  
plans are known but still in early stages of planning.  
A representative, relatively central possible location  
has therefore been considered in the high-level analysis.

Equally, within Donington, one particular location  
where the road crosses the railway gives an obvious 
choice for high level evaluation.

To Grantham 
& Nottingham

Sleaford
West Jn

To Lincoln
& Doncaster

Sleaford
East Jn Heckington Swinehead Hubberts Bridge

Boston

Sibsey

Willows
Lane Loop

Boston Docks

To Skegness

To Peterborough

To Lincoln
& Doncaster

Burton
Road Loop

SLEAFORD

1

2 3

P
age 312



24 25

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 R
ai

l I
nf

ra
st

ru
ct

ur
e 

St
ra

te
gy

Once general locations for any proposed station had been chosen through this process, further work is essential 
to ascertain the preferred option, or an alternative, to be taken forward to development and design stages.  
The site locations at Donington, Washingborough/Heighington, Canwick Hill, Cherry Willingham are as follows,

 

DONINGTON

DONINGTON

 

CANWICK HILL

CANWICK

WH1

 

WASHINGBOROUGH

HEIGHINGTON

WH3

WH2

WH1

Former Heighington Station Site

CHERRY WILLINGHAM

CW1

CW2

CW3

P
age 313



26 27

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 R
ai

l I
nf

ra
st

ru
ct

ur
e 

St
ra

te
gy

Evaluation of possible station sites

In order to identify a preferred site, multi-criteria 
assessment was been undertaken, structured around:  

• Accessibility to the proposed station site by all  
modes including public transport, passengers  
on foot, passengers in a motor vehicle and  
passengers travelling by bicycle; 

• Assessment of station catchment including population 
within 1km walking and existing routes which may  
be suitable for development for highway access  
to the station;  

• Availability of land for parking/disabled parking,  
mobility hub, additional bus provision and/or drop off; 

• Qualitative assessment of rail constraints,  
cost, buildability and delivery timescales;

• Political constraints;

• Environmental constraints; and,

• A review of planning constraints.

From these categories, 14 criteria were used and  
all sites were assessed against criteria scores from  
0 to 2, on their own merits and not ranked against  
the other sites. The assessment criteria are;

Whilst some analysis remains to be finalised, particularly 
at the Littleworth site, the new station location assessment 
findings are,

• Provision of new stations in a rural area is challenging 
due to the low rail uptake and small local catchments 
leading to low rail service frequencies. However, 
increasing the rail take up needs to start somewhere.

• None of the station locations had “showstopper” 
constraints which means all of them would be  
possible to deliver.

• The difficulty is not in the possibility of delivery, but in 
the building of the benefits to show a business case. 
In this regard, those stations in more populated areas, 
with a higher potential number of users and/ or more 
frequent rail service patterns will be more favourable.

• This economic analysis is likely to favour those stations 
closer to Lincoln with Heighington station currently 
scoring the highest with Canwick Hill and Cherry 
Willingham close behind.

• The case for Littleworth and Donington is harder  
at present to support, but this does not make them  
less worthwhile schemes if appropriate approaches  
can be found.

These are initial, high-level analyses which may change  
as a result of further consultation with stakeholders  
and design detail.

Criterion Description

1 Level of pedestrian links to  
the proposed station site.

The extent to which the proposed station location is accessible  
to passengers on foot considering existing infrastructure.

2
Level of public transport provision  
to the site including bus and other 
first/last mile options.

The extent to which the proposed station location is accessible  
to passengers travelling by bus, considering existing infrastructure.  
Other first to last mile options to be assessed if applicable.

3 Cycling routes.
The extent to which the proposed station location is accessible  
to cyclists travelling on existing cycle routes and inclusive cycling 
infrastructure to the station could be provided.

4 Drive up catchment.
An assessment of the extent to which the proposed station location  
will attract those driving to the station, with the catchment weighted  
by distance from the proposed station.

5 Population within 1km  
walking catchment.

Isochrones have been developed to assess the population within  
1km walking catchment of each of the proposed station locations.  
The isochrones are set out overleaf. 

6 Land availability for station car park, 
disabled parking and drop off. 

An assessment of land availability for car parking, disabled parking  
and drop off. 

7 Level of highway access to the site. The extent to which the proposed station location is accessible  
to motor vehicles considering existing infrastructure. 

8 Land availability for provision  
of a mobility hub

An assessment of land availability for a mobility hub. Consideration  
is given to the availability of land relative to the number of  
non-motorised parking spaces which could be provided.

9 Cost A qualitative assessment of the expected magnitude of cost  
relative to a reference station.

10 Political Acceptance A qualitative assessment of any local concerns raised by our  
residents or other key stakeholders

11 Ability to provide a regular and 
economically viable service.

An assessment of the extent to which the proposed station service  
plan can provide a regular service which is economically viable.

12 Environmental Constraints.

This criterion considers statutory risks and the extent to which 
environmental constraints, including local heritage and conservation 
areas, flooding, designated environmental sites, may impact the delivery 
of a station at the proposed location.

13 Planning Constraints. Consideration is given to the proposed station location relative  
to greenbelt land.

14 Interfacing development proposals.
Consideration is given to development proposals which may interface 
with a station at each of the proposed location and the known extent  
to which these would impact on station development.

P
age 314



28 29

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 R
ai

l I
nf

ra
st

ru
ct

ur
e 

St
ra

te
gy

References
1. A railway line under absolute block working is divided into block 

sections. A train approaching a section is offered by a signalman to 
his counterpart at the next signal box. If the section is clear, the latter 
accepts the train, and the first signalman may clear his signals to give 
permission for the train to enter the section.

2. Littleworth Station Feasibility Study, March 2013, MVA consultancy and 
Proposal to Reopen Littleworth Station Business Case Review, Mouchel, 
October 2014.

Glossary
CRP Community Rail Partnership. A group of local people,  

mostly volunteers, who promote and undertake small  
scale works at local stations of lines.

DfT Department for Transport – the Government body  
who buy most train services and fund Network Rail.

ECML East Coast Mainline, line accommodating fast services 
between the north and London passing through  
Doncaster and terminating at London Kings Cross.

EMR East Midlands Railways – local and regional services  
across the East Midlands and Long-distance high s 
peed services to London along the Midland Mainline.

GBR Great British Railway – the proposed future organisation  
to run England Railway, taking over from Network Rail,  
DfT and TOC’s. See Rail White Paper.

LCC Lincolnshire County Council.

LNER London North Eastern Railway. Operate Long-distance  
high-speed services to London along the East Coast Mainline.

LTP 5  The Lincolnshire County Council’s 5th Local Transport  
Plans (lasting 5 years to 2028/29).

MML Midland Mainline, line accommodating fast services between 
Yorkshire and London, starting at Sheffield  
and Nottingham/Lincoln and travelling to London  
St. Pancras via Leicester.

Northern Northern Trains – local and regional train company operating 
services across the north of England.

ORR Office of Rail Regulation who oversee Network  
Rail’s performance and report back to DfT.

RTB’s Regional Transport Bodies, including Transport for  
East Midlands/East Midlands Councils (TfEM/EMC), Midlands 
Connect, Transport for the North (TftN).

TOC Train Operating Company.

TPD Trains per day.

TPX Transpennine Express – inter-regional train company 
operating services across the north of England and  
into Scotland.

XC Cross Country – a train operator serving long-distance  
routes excluding London.

COVID-19 Coronavirus pandemic of 2019/20.

LTB Local Transport Boards.

RAP Route Action Plan.

HIAMP Highways Infrastructure Asset Management Plan.

SEA Strategic Environmental Assessment.

SA Sustainability Appraisal .

GVA Gross Value Added.

TfL Transport for London.

LENNON Latest Earnings Networked Nationally Overnight.

ATC Automatic Traffic Count.

EV Electric Vehicle.

DECC Department of Energy and Climate Change.

SUEs Sustainable Urban Extensions.

UKCRF UK Community Renewal Fund.

UKSPF UK Shared Prosperity Fund.

LUF Levelling Up Fund.

LATS Local Area Transport Strategies.

LCWIP Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan.

ROWIP Rights of Way Improvement Plan.

PRoW Public Rights of Way.

CPO Chargepoint Operator.

EVCP Electric Vehicle Charhepoint.

BAME Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic groups.

NTS National Travel Survey.

CBSSG COVID-19 Bus Services Support Grant.

JSNA The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment.

DLUHC  The Department for Levelling Up, Housing  
and Communities.

SIDP 21  Strategic Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2021.

P
age 315



Lancaster House 
Lincolnshire County Council 
County Offices, Newland 
Lincoln, LN1 1YL

Page 316



Lincolnshire  
Electric Vehicle 
Strategy

Page 317



2 3

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 E
le

ct
ric

 V
eh

ic
le

 S
tr

at
eg

y

Introduction

LCC, alongside North Lincolnshire and Northeast 
Lincolnshire have to identify measures each council  
and associated constituent District Councils can, or  
should, be taking to overcome barriers to Electric  
Vehicle Chargepoint (EVCP) rollout.

The ULEV strategy will be a document in its own right, 
alongside other policies and strategies such as the 
Lincolnshire electric bus strategy and other modal 
strategies, which will together form sub-strategies  
of the emerging LTP 5. 

The ULEV Strategy process took a four stage approach:

• Baselining and research;

• Policy context and technical stakeholder engagement;

• Forecasting demand and charging requirements; and,

• Recommendations and reporting.

The ULEV Strategy has been developed using an extensive 
evidence base and has been informed by stakeholder 
input. The strategy also looked at different use cases  
for ULEVs including for freight and agriculture, along  
with other alternative fuels such as hydrogen and biogas.

About this document

This document presents the structure and content of  
the ULEV Strategy, which has been developed involving 
engagement with a range of stakeholders from the LEP 
and local authorities.

Lincolnshire ULEV strategy

Strategy overview and approach

The ULEV strategy has been developed to support the overarching objectives of the Lincolnshire LTP 5. The ULEV strategy 
process took a four stage approach, set out in the figure below.

Stage 4 
Recommendations and reporting

Stage 2 
Policy context and technical 

stakeholder engagement

Stage 1 
Baselining and research

Stage 3 
Forecasting demand and charging requirements

To help support decarbonisation of the transport  
system, LCC is interested in identifying any infrastructure 
related barriers that may slow the public’s transition to 
electric vehicles (EVs). 

The objectives of the study are to:

• Baseline the uptake of EVs across Greater  
Lincolnshire, and the provision of EVCPs.

• Review relevant national and local policy.

• Review the latest chargepoint technology  
types, charging rates supported, future charge  
point technologies and typical installation and  
operating costs.

• Consult with relevant stakeholders within Greater 
Lincolnshire to understand their requirements  
and preferences in terms of EV charging provision.

• Forecast EV uptake across Lincolnshire to 2030  
to inform EVCP requirements and undertake a gap 
analysis to identify where the public sector potentially 
needs to intervene to plug gaps, to ensure a reasonable 
level of coverage is achieved so as to not slow  
EV uptake within the area.

• Identify infrastructure-related barriers to provision  
of EVCPs, providing recommendations to overcome  
any identified barriers. 

Inception 
Meeting

P
age 318



4 5

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 E
le

ct
ric

 V
eh

ic
le

 S
tr

at
eg

y

The ULEV Strategy supports the overarching (draft) 
objectives of the Lincolnshire LTP 5, as follows:

• Economic growth;

• Greening of transport and climate change;

• Creating a thriving environment; and

• Promoting high aspirations.

This strategy presents a set of recommendations  
which aim to fulfil the above objectives and set out  
an action plan of how to facilitate the deployment  
of EVCPs across Lincolnshire.

Baselining and Research

EVs and EVCPs

Although there are EVCPs spread throughout the study 
area, gaps have been identified, particularly in the more 
rural areas of the county. Existing EVCPs centre around  
the main urban areas within each district. Across the  
area there are 235 publicly accessible EV chargers, 
of which 61 are rapid chargers. The level of charging 
provision varies across the area. 

The most recent data shows that there are 2,963  
ULEVs in Greater Lincolnshire, 1,307 (44%) Battery Electric 
Vehicles (BEVs) and 1,315 (44%) Plug-in Hybrid Electric 
Vehicles (PHEVs) with 13% unknown, this unknown could 
include alternative fuel ULEVs. There are differences in 
uptake across the various authority areas: 21% of all EVs  
in Lincolnshire county are registered in South Kesteven. 

Research was undertaken into the different EVCP 
technologies available. A wide variety of technologies  
are available depending on the use case, and more 
charging options are expected to emerge over time.  
The report presents a series of considerations related  
to charging technologies, including on/off-street charging 
technologies, design principles for EVCPs and standards. 
The merits of smart charging are identified, and indicative 
capital and operating costs are presented. Consideration 
of future proofing and emerging mobility solutions  
are also presented. This research helped to inform  
the recommendations.

Grid capacity is often a key constraint on EVCP provision, 
and therefore high-level analysis of grid capacity was 
undertaken. Greater Lincolnshire has 185 primary 
substations, of which 94% are owned and operated by 
Western Power Distribution (WPD) whilst the remaining 
4% belong to Northern Power Grid (NPG). The analysis 
showed that although a number of the primary 
substations are at or almost at capacity, there are  
some substations across the area with more capacity.

Alternative fuels

Plug-in electric vehicles, BEVs and PHEVs, are not  
the only ultra-low emission vehicle (ULEV) alternative  
to internal combustion engine (ICE) petrol and  
diesel vehicles, with a host of alternative fuels under 
development and already available on the market. 
The report looks at these alternatives at a national scale, 
summarising the key technologies and market trends.

At the time of writing, there are no hydrogen refuelling 
stations in Greater Lincolnshire. However, use of hydrogen 
is present across the study area. The closest is along the 
M1 in Rotherham, The Viking Link Project in Lincolnshire 
is a joint venture with Siemens Energy and GeoPura using 
hydrogen instead of diesel as an off-grid solution to power 
the site1. North Lincolnshire Green Energy Park plans to 
recover hydrogen from recycled waste for storage and  
use in decarbonising marine and road transport2. 
Additionally, future opportunities for hydrogen across 
Greater Lincolnshire arise from the Humber Port 
decarbonisation scheme H2H.

Given Greater Lincolnshire’s substantial agricultural sector 
there may be good potential for promoting local biofuel 
production, particularly in terms of fuelling agricultural  
and freight vehicles. Biofuel production is already 
underway in parts of Greater Lincolnshire. BioGanix3 
located in North Lincolnshire is an organic recycling 
company specialising in anaerobic digestion, organic 
fertilisers and biofuels from food and beverage waste. 
Additionally, The Strong Energy Group4, a leading  
provider of Biodiesel located in Louth produces biofuel 
from used cooking oils in previous food production.  
The infrastructure for biofuel production from agriculture 
and food and drink production already exists in Greater 
Lincolnshire. This strengthens the opportunity available  
to through the supply chain for sustainable alternative 
fuels in agricultural production and freight distribution. 

Freight and agriculture

Given the presence of a large Agrifood sector,  
key freight corridors and port access in Greater 
Lincolnshire, freight and agricultural vehicles have  
been given specific consideration. The report maps  
out the market, looking at national trends around  
low-emission freight and agricultural vehicles, which  
may be deployed in Greater Lincolnshire in the future,  
and their potential infrastructure requirements.

The uptake of electric commercial vehicles has been 
dominated by the increased adoption of ultra-low 
emission vans due to the Low-Emission Freight and 
Logistics Trials (LEFT). LEFT was a £20 million government-
funded programme (2017-2020), an additional £12 million 
was contributed by private sector trial participants, to 
cut emissions and improve air quality by focusing on 
emissions-busting technologies for trucks and vans5.

However, electric and hydrogen technologies for larger 
freight vehicles are already being trialled. In March 2021, 
the Government announced £54 million of funding for 
electric trucks and hydrogen buses. £31.9 million of 
this funding will be used to develop electric propulsion 
systems for heavy goods vehicles in Cwmbran, Wales.

Alternative fuel agricultural vehicles are currently in 
development, but the technology has not penetrated 
the market on a wide scale. The first all-electric tractor 
purchased in Great Britain was by a farmer on the  
Island on Sark in the Channel Islands6. The Farmtrac  
25G model from India is powered by a 21kWh battery  
can operate on an average of 6-7 hours before recharging. 
The capacity of the tractor is enough to replace diesel 
41-50 and 60+ model equivalents. The shift to hydrogen 
agricultural vehicles is lower across the UK than that  
of electric options. In 2020, China launched the first 
hydrogen fuel cell electric tractor model ET504-H. The 
model also includes 5G mobile communication, is self-
driving and can be remotely controlled7. 

Policy context and technical  
stakeholder engagement

Policy context

The report presents a policy review undertaken to capture 
the strategic context for investment in EVCPs, summarising 
relevant legislation and national guidance, policies, 
commitments and targets.

A policy review looking at EV related policies and plans  
for each of the local authorities within Greater Lincolnshire 
was undertaken. When referring to policies or plans, 
this is based on adopted policies or plans rather than 
drafts or general statements of support. When reviewing 
the policy position, it should be understood that county 
authorities are not responsible for Local Planning 
policy. This responsibility lies with lower tier district and 
borough authorities; hence counties generally do not 
have requirements related to EVCP provision in new 
developments. Lincolnshire County Council however  
have expressed the need in taking a ‘lead by example’ 
approach to ULEVs throughout Lincolnshire which  
will be reflected in upcoming updated documents. 

Stakeholder engagement

A key aspect of the study was to engage with officers  
from local authorities within Greater Lincolnshire,  
to understand their existing plans and ambitions for 
promoting EV uptake. This includes any future plans  
for charging infrastructure, opportunities and barriers  
to EV uptake, as well as any issues or challenges 
encountered when implementing EVCPs to date,  
and what the county council could do to support them. 
The study has also sought to capture their preferences 
and requirements in terms of chargepoint deployment 
and delivery models, to inform the subsequent 
recommendations.

Key findings from engagement with the  
authorities include:

• EVs and EVCPs are not prominent in current policy 
across the county. However, there is a general 
consensus that EVs and EVCPs need to increase  
in prominence;

• The county council stated that they want to lead  
by example and influence the authorities through  
Local Plan allocations;

P
age 319



6 7

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 E
le

ct
ric

 V
eh

ic
le

 S
tr

at
eg

y

• 50% of authorities that were engaged stated  
that there were currently no further plans to  
deploy EVCPs other than what has already  
been implemented;

• The most cited response for barriers to  
EV adoption were technology, cost and  
range anxiety;

• 80% of the authorities highlighted grid constraints  
as the key barriers for EVCP implementation;

• Rapid chargers were recognised as being important  
for use at short stay destinations such as larger  
trunk roads running through area;

• There was a consensus around the need to  
have a mixed approach, depending on dwell  
time, implementing rapids where needed, slow  
at homes/residential locations and fast chargers  
at most other locations; and,

• With regards to delivery models, most authorities  
are open minded and will be led by industry. With  
some preference towards private sector involvement.  

Forecasting demand and  
charging requirements 

WSP’s in-house EV:Ready tool was used to drive  
forecasts for future EV uptake. EV:Ready enables 
sophisticated EV uptake forecasting and scenario  
testing. It generates granular forecasts at a  
neighbourhood level, accounting for highly  
localised spatial variations in the key determinants  
of EV uptake rates, including consumer profiles,  
socio-demographics, the availability of off-street  
parking, vehicle ownership, vehicle sales and  
turnover rates and vehicle ownership trends.

The broad approach taken to forecasting EV  
uptake, and the subsequent requirements  
for EVCP provision is summarised in the figure  
to the right.

1

2

3

4

5

6

Baseline the number of registered EVs 
and existing EVCPs; the proportion of 
households reliant on on-street parking; 
and general levels of vehicle ownership 
by household.

Review national level forecasts of EV uptake 
and consider vehicle turnover trends.

Identify localised propensity to purchase 
EVs, based on consumer profiles and 
socio-economic, demographic and 
lifestyle types.

Forecast EV uptake, taking account  
of typical vehicle ownership levels.

Forecast public EVCP requirements  
to support forecast EV uptake.

Gap analysis where public sector 
intervention may be required.

The forecast demand in a scenario where there is lower 
EVCP provision (fewer EVCPs per EV), suggests that in  
the short-term there is only a slight shortfall in the supply 
of chargers in Greater Lincolnshire relative to demand.  
As such there was only an immediate requirement for  
seven additional publicly funded chargers. This rises  
to 957 by 2030. However, it is important to recognise  
that in this scenario, it is assumed that chargepoints  
are deployed optimally and achieve high utilisation,  
with greater increases in the average charge rates (kW/h)  
also assumed. It would also serve to provide a more 
limited minimum baseline coverage of EV charging 
provision, and more high-powered recharging in  
fewer locations. It also assumed upgrading the  
power outputs of existing legacy chargers.

Conversely, the forecast demand for the number of 
chargepoints in the higher EVCP scenario (more EVCPs 
per EV), is significantly higher than the mid-range 
estimate, with a requirement for 3,740 additional publicly 
funded chargers by 2030. In this scenario, it is assumed 
chargepoints are deployed more widely and used less 
intensively, with more modest increases assumed in the 
average charge rate (kW/h). This would equate to a more 
dispersed form of recharging at destinations.

A summary table below of public EVCPs by local authority 
area highlights the forecast numbers.

Local Authority Existing  
EVCPs (2021)8 2020 2025 2030

Low Mid High Low Mid High Low Mid High

Greater Lincolnshire 235 243 335 507 1,044 1,857 2,642 2,106 3,394 7,708

North East Lincolnshire 19 28 39 59 124 220 313 252 406 923

North Lincolnshire 18 36 50 75 159 282 402 323 521 1,184

Lincoln 49 16 22 33 70 124 177 144 232 527

East Lindsey 47 33 45 68 143 254 362 290 468 1,062

South Kesteven 37 38 52 78 155 275 391 304 491 1,114

Boston 30 14 19 29 62 111 158 129 207 471

West Lindsey 13 25 34 51 103 183 260 205 330 750

North Kesteven 12 32 44 67 132 235 335 261 420 954

South Holland 10 22 30 46 97 172 245 197 318 722

P
age 320



8 9

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 E
le

ct
ric

 V
eh

ic
le

 S
tr

at
eg

y

Based on the analysis of the potential demand for  
public EV chargers, and which sites are more likely  
to come forwards through private sector chargepoint 
deployments, an assessment can be made of the areas 
where gaps in chargepoint availability are more likely  
to arise. The results indicate the areas where gaps  
in the chargepoint network are thought most likely  
to occur, including:

• Remote areas with limited demand, but still  
requiring baseline provision to cater for low  
level demand, e.g. tourist sites/routes;

• Rural or secondary routes with moderate levels  
of demand, but with fewer destinations (retail  
stores, food outlets etc.) to serve as a platform  
for chargepoint rollout;

• Areas with greater reliance on on-street parking  
and few amenities with the potential to host local 
charging hubs;

• Primary routes with high demand and delivery 
constraints, particularly in areas where there are 
sections of road with few destinations to readily  
cater for chargepoints, or where there are grid 
constraints making sites commercially unviable;

• Areas of high demand with delivery constraints, 
including high installation costs/grid constraints  
which pose a barrier to delivery; and,

• Areas with more constrained grid capacities  
or more remote from a primary substation.

Crucially, in order to enable LCC, the unitary authorities 
and district councils to plan effectively for meeting future 
EV charging requirements, a reasonable estimate  
of the number of publicly accessible chargepoints that  
are required and may not be delivered by the private  
sector alone, is essential for forward planning.

Based on the feedback of CPOs and the key parameters 
informing a sites commercial viability, it was estimated 
that approximately 50% of publicly accessible chargers 
delivered by 2030 may be privately funded. This is  
based on the share of chargers delivered by the  
private sector rising from around 20% in 2020  
to 60% by 2030, as demand increases, costs fall,  
and commercial viability improves.

Based on the forecast uptake of EVs in Lincolnshire,  
the requirement for publicly accessible charging 
infrastructure, and an assessment of the likely areas 
of focus for private sector investment, the mid-range 
estimate is for a requirement of 1,724 additional  
publicly funded chargepoints by 2030, assuming  
a blend of both rapid and fast chargers.

Forecast Publicly Funded EVCP Requirement 2020 2025 2030

Lower EVCP Provision 7 532 957

Mid-range EVCP Provision 80 1,069 1,724

Higher EVCP Provision 217 1,605 3,740

Recommendations

The recommendations from this study draw on the 
findings of the baseline assessments and research, 
stakeholder engagements, forecasting and analysis 
and soft market testing. The recommendations were 
developed under 11 categories:

1. Accelerate chargepoint deployment to  
promote EV uptake;

2. Focus on establishing good chargepoint  
coverage and plugging gaps;

3. Deliver the right solution for the right location;

4. Make the most of available funding opportunities;

5. Take a balanced approach to delivering charging 
infrastructure, inviting private investment but 
retaining control;

6. Let the private sector take the strain  
and carry the risk where possible;

7. Collaborative working across Greater  
Lincolnshire with key stakeholders;

8. Decarbonisation of freight and agriculture;

9. Promotional activities and awareness raising;

10. Increase EV prominence in local policy; and,

11. Decarbonisation of Buses and Taxis;

There are 33 total recommendations that support  
the 11 categories set out above. These are displayed  
in the action plan. The action plan also includes:

• The role of authorities – lead, enable, explore, 
encourage, or require;

• Action by (i.e. who is to lead); and,

• Recommended timescale.

EV action plan

Recommendation/action Aims Role Action by Timescale

Accelerate charge  
point deployment  
to promote EV uptake.

Adopt targets to work  
towards delivering the  
mid-range scenario (3,394 
EVCPs by 2030 across Greater 
Lincolnshire) as the central 
estimate for planning purposes.

Lead All authorities By 2030

Focus on establishing  
good chargepoint  
coverage and  
plugging gaps.

Prioritise car park sites on the 
basis of forecast demand and 
where gaps in private sector 
provision are anticipated.

Lead All authorities Within  
12 months

Feasibility studies and further 
analysis for preferred sites. Lead All authorities Within  

12 months

Introduce charging solutions  
to cater for areas without  
access to off-street parking.

Lead Highway 
authorities Within 3 years

P
age 321



10 11

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 E
le

ct
ric

 V
eh

ic
le

 S
tr

at
eg

y

EV action plan

Recommendation/action Aims Role Action by Timescale

Deliver the right solution  
for the right location.

For most car parks a number of 
standard/fast chargers (7-22kW), 
capable of smart charging and 
load management, with rapids  
(50-150kW) deployed where  
dwell times are shorter.

Require All authorities On-going

Standard/fast chargers, these 
should be delivered in clusters 
where possible.

Require All authorities On-going

Rapid chargepoints should 
be future proofed to support 
higher charge rates in the future, 
preferably at least 150kW.

Encourage All authorities On-going

Passive provision for additional 
chargers should always be 
considered as part of the  
initial installation.

Require All authorities On-going

Make the most of available 
funding opportunities.

Take the opportunities to secure 
grant funding where available. Explore All authorities On-going

Identify a Chargepoint  
Operator (CPO) prior to any  
ORCs funding bid submission.

Lead All authorities Within  
12 months

Prepare a strategic outline 
business case(s) for future  
funding rounds to deliver  
a forward programme  
of deployments.

Lead All authorities Within  
12 months

Take a balanced approach 
to delivering charging 
infrastructure, inviting 
private investment but 
retaining control.

Attract public sector grant  
funding, alongside private  
sector investment to expand  
the local charging network.

Lead All authorities Within  
12 months

A concessionary scheme is  
likely to be the best fit for  
Greater Lincolnshire.

Explore All authorities On-going

A soft market testing  
exercise with CPOs. Lead Lincolnshire 

County Council
Within  
12 months

EV action plan

Recommendation/action Aims Role Action by Timescale

Let the private sector  
take the strain and carry  
the risk where possible.

Allow the private sector to  
take the strain in providing  
EV infrastructure where  
they are willing to do so.

Enable Private sector On-going

A balance of private and  
public sector EVCP operation 
should be maintained, with  
more attractive EVCP sites  
being parcelled up with  
less attractive sites.

Lead
All authorities in 
conjunction with 
the private sector

On-going

Engage with private sector 
suppliers to deliver on-route  
rapid chargepoints along key 
routes where there is forecast  
high demand.

Lead
All authorities in 
conjunction with 
the private sector

Within  
12 months

Collaborative  
working across  
Greater Lincolnshire  
with key stakeholders.

Consider running an area-wide 
procurement exercise to identify  
a single supplier, or potentially  
a small number of suppliers.

Lead
county and 
unitary 
authorities

Within  
12 months

Establish an EV forum through 
which officers and representatives 
could come together to discuss 
EVCPs. Regular engagement and 
close working/information sharing 
with the DNOs is essential.

Lead All authorities Within  
12 months

We recommend the Lincolnshire 
group engage with the Midlands 
Connect team to make use of 
materials prepared by Midlands 
Connect and ensure that if 
Midlands Connect are applying  
for funding that Lincolnshire  
can benefit from additional 
funding that Midlands  
Connect can secure.

Explore Lincolnshire 
County Council

Within  
12 months

Decarbonisation of  
freight and agriculture.

Monitor market developments and 
look out for funding opportunities. Lead All authorities On-going

Engage with local operators and 
other key stakeholders (DNOs etc) 
to establish a smetc. local interest 
group and position for future 
trials/schemes.

Lead All authorities Within 3 years

P
age 322



12 13

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 E
le

ct
ric

 V
eh

ic
le

 S
tr

at
eg

y

EV action plan

Recommendation/action Aims Role Action by Timescale

Promotional activities  
and awareness raising.

Promote the OZEV Workplace 
Charging Scheme and Electric 
Vehicle Homecharge Scheme to 
residents of Greater Lincolnshire.

Lead All authorities On-going

Establish a webpage or 
include features in newsletters 
highlighting local chargepoints and 
the available grants, which could  
also direct them to a webpage 
register interest in an EVCP.

Lead All authorities On-going

Engage with wider stakeholders 
to deliver EV chargepoints at 
other key destinations including 
supermarkets and train stations.

Lead All authorities Within  
12 months

Engage with tourist destinations 
and explore tourism opportunities 
associated with EV.

Lead All authorities Within  
12 months

Increase EV  
prominence  
in local policy.

Ensure policy documents make 
the strategic case for supporting 
EV uptake and commit to targets 
and standards for EVCP provision.

Lead All authorities When policy 
renews

Review the fleets of each authority 
to identify opportunities to 
electrify the fleet.

Lead All authorities Within  
12 months

Future proof new developments 
with EV parking standards and 
requirements for developers  
to incorporate EVCPs or  
passive provision.

Require Developers On-going

Review the scope of introducing 
emissions linked parking charges. Explore

Unitary 
and district 
authorities

Within  
12 months

Decarbonisation  
of buses and taxis.

Undertake a feasibility study  
to investigate the potential  
for e-buses across the Greater 
Lincolnshire area.

Lead
County  
and unitary 
authorities

Within  
12 months

Engage with bus operators, 
taxi companies and other key 
stakeholders to understand 
appetite for electrification.

Lead All authorities Within  
12 months

Engage with taxi operators to 
ensure there is sufficient charging 
provision for taxis and private  
hire vehicles.

Lead All authorities Within  
12 months

References
1. National Grid (2020) world’s first hydrogen heated construction site 

[online] available from www.nationalgrid.com/stories/journey-to-net-
zero-stories/worlds-first-hydrogen-heated-construction-site 

2. North Lincolnshire Green Energy Park (2020) The Energy Recovery 
Process [online] available from northlincolnshiregreenenergypark.
co.uk/energy-recovery-process 

3. BioGanix (2021) www.bioganix.co.uk/about-us

4. Strong Energy (2021) Turning Food Waste into Biofuel [online] available 
from strongenergy.com/companies/strong-biofuels

5. www.zemo.org.uk/news-events/news,decarbonising-uk-trucks-results-
of-threeyear-32m-left-programme-to-cut-frei_4147.htm 

6. www.foodandfarmingtechnology.com/news/agricultural-machinery/
sark-leads-the-charge-with-first-electric-tractor-in-great-britain.html 

7. fuelcellsworks.com/news/china-launches-first-hydrogen-powered-5g-
smart-tractor 

8. DfT (2021) electric vehicle charging devices by local authority [online] 
available from maps.dft.gov.uk/ev-charging-map

P
age 323

https://www.nationalgrid.com/stories/journey-to-net-zero-stories/worlds-first-hydrogen-heated-construction-site
https://www.nationalgrid.com/stories/journey-to-net-zero-stories/worlds-first-hydrogen-heated-construction-site
https://northlincolnshiregreenenergypark.co.uk/energy-recovery-process
https://northlincolnshiregreenenergypark.co.uk/energy-recovery-process
https://www.bioganix.co.uk/about-us
https://strongenergy.com/companies/strong-biofuels
https://www.zemo.org.uk/news-events/news,decarbonising-uk-trucks-results-of-threeyear-32m-left-programme-to-cut-frei_4147.htm
https://www.zemo.org.uk/news-events/news,decarbonising-uk-trucks-results-of-threeyear-32m-left-programme-to-cut-frei_4147.htm
https://www.foodandfarmingtechnology.com/news/agricultural-machinery/sark-leads-the-charge-with-first-electric-tractor-in-great-britain.html
https://www.foodandfarmingtechnology.com/news/agricultural-machinery/sark-leads-the-charge-with-first-electric-tractor-in-great-britain.html
https://fuelcellsworks.com/news/china-launches-first-hydrogen-powered-5g-smart-tractor
https://fuelcellsworks.com/news/china-launches-first-hydrogen-powered-5g-smart-tractor
http://maps.dft.gov.uk/ev-charging-map


14 15

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 E
le

ct
ric

 V
eh

ic
le

 S
tr

at
eg

y

Glossary
CRP Community Rail Partnership. A group of local people,  

mostly volunteers, who promote and undertake small  
scale works at local stations of lines.

DfT Department for Transport – the Government body  
who buy most train services and fund Network Rail.

ECML East Coast Mainline, line accommodating fast services 
between the north and London passing through  
Doncaster and terminating at London Kings Cross.

EMR East Midlands Railways – local and regional services  
across the East Midlands and Long-distance high s 
peed services to London along the Midland Mainline.

GBR Great British Railway – the proposed future organisation  
to run England Railway, taking over from Network Rail,  
DfT and TOC’s. See Rail White Paper.

LCC Lincolnshire County Council.

LNER London North Eastern Railway. Operate Long-distance  
high-speed services to London along the East Coast Mainline.

LTP 5  The Lincolnshire County Council’s 5th Local Transport  
Plans (lasting 5 years to 2028/29).

MML Midland Mainline, line accommodating fast services between 
Yorkshire and London, starting at Sheffield  
and Nottingham/Lincoln and travelling to London  
St. Pancras via Leicester.

Northern Northern Trains – local and regional train company operating 
services across the north of England.

ORR Office of Rail Regulation who oversee Network  
Rail’s performance and report back to DfT.

RTB’s Regional Transport Bodies, including Transport for  
East Midlands/East Midlands Councils (TfEM/EMC), Midlands 
Connect, Transport for the North (TftN).

TOC Train Operating Company.

TPD Trains per day.

TPX Transpennine Express – inter-regional train company 
operating services across the north of England and  
into Scotland.

XC Cross Country – a train operator serving long-distance  
routes excluding London.

COVID-19 Coronavirus pandemic of 2019/20.

LTB Local Transport Boards.

RAP Route Action Plan.

HIAMP Highways Infrastructure Asset Management Plan.

SEA Strategic Environmental Assessment.

SA Sustainability Appraisal .

GVA Gross Value Added.

TfL Transport for London.

LENNON Latest Earnings Networked Nationally Overnight.

ATC Automatic Traffic Count.

EV Electric Vehicle.

DECC Department of Energy and Climate Change.

SUEs Sustainable Urban Extensions.

UKCRF UK Community Renewal Fund.

UKSPF UK Shared Prosperity Fund.

LUF Levelling Up Fund.

LATS Local Area Transport Strategies.

LCWIP Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan.

ROWIP Rights of Way Improvement Plan.

PRoW Public Rights of Way.

CPO Chargepoint Operator.

EVCP Electric Vehicle Charhepoint.

BAME Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic groups.

NTS National Travel Survey.

CBSSG COVID-19 Bus Services Support Grant.

JSNA The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment.

DLUHC  The Department for Levelling Up, Housing  
and Communities.

SIDP 21  Strategic Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2021.

P
age 324



Lancaster House 
Lincolnshire County Council 
County Offices, Newland 
Lincoln, LN1 1YL

Page 325



This page is intentionally left blank



Lincolnshire 
Freight 
Strategy

Page 327



2 3

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 F
re

ig
ht

 S
tr

at
eg

y

Strategy overview

The strategy aims to ensure that freight is able  
to continue to support the people and economy  
of Lincolnshire by ensuring it is as safe, efficient  
and sustainable as it can be and helps achieve  
the objectives of the wider LTP. 

The strategic objectives for improving freight  
are to support the Lincolnshire region to: 

• Support economic growth;

• Decarbonise and reduce the impact  
of climate change; 

• Promote thriving environments; 

• Support safety, security and a healthy lifestyle; 

• Promote high aspirations; and,

• Improve quality of life.

This strategy has been informed by a review  
of existing data sources, relevant strategy and  
policy as well as an engagement exercise with  
key stakeholders.

The stakeholder engagement element of this  
work involved one-to-one and group discussions with 
representatives of organisations such as ports, freight 
operators and those in the Agrifood sector. Respondents 
were asked about issues and opportunities associated 
with freight, short-, medium- and long-term trends and 
any interventions they would like to see. These were 
considered and have helped develop the evidence base 
and recommendations associated with this work. This 
engagement exercise was undertaken in March 2021.

Our vision is to ensure that the 
freight sector is supported in 
Lincolnshire, to enable it to 
facilitate economic growth  
and ensure it is safe, efficient  
and sustainable.

The freight sector is vital to the economy of Lincolnshire, 
ensuring the supply chain is working effectively and acting 
as a significant employer in its own right. It supports major 
employers such as the Agrifood Sector and ensures raw 
materials are brought in and products can get to market. 
In 2019, there were over 54,000 Light Goods Vehicles and 
6,800 Heavy Goods Vehicles registered in the county.2

Road freight 

Our transport links are less developed compared  
with many other parts of the United Kingdom.  
The road network in the county is mainly single 
carriageway A-roads and local roads (B-roads) as  
opposed to motorways and dual carriageways. The 
administrative county of Lincolnshire is one of the  
few UK counties without a motorway, and until several 
years ago when the A46 was upgraded from Newark 
towards Lincoln, had little dual carriageway either. 

Key freight roads include:

• The A1 dual carriageway passes through the  
southern corner of the county for a few miles. 

• The A15 is the main North-South route through  
the county following the old Ermine Street Roman  
Road from London to York. 

• The A16 coastal road from Grimsby provides  
an indirect route, affecting journey times.

• The A57 links Lincoln to Worksop, Sheffield,  
Manchester and Liverpool.

• The A52 links Skegness and Boston with 
 Nottingham, Derby and Stoke.

• The A17 links Newark to Sutton Bridge  
and Kings Lynn.

However, only the A1 and the A46 (as far as Lincoln)  
are on the English Strategic Road Network (SRN)  
operated by Highways England. 

Journey times can be unpredictable if HGVs are  
stuck behind agricultural farm tractors and trailers,  
which can be particularly pronounced around key 
harvesting periods. 

Respondents reported a declining average speed  
for road freight movements, with the A17 cited as a 
particularly important freight route that suffers from 
journey time reliability issues. This causes difficulties 
getting goods to market as retailers look to optimise 
replenishment times. 

There are several nationally known hauliers based in  
the county including Brumptons, Freshlinc, Fowler Walsh, 
Cartwrights and Denby Transport. The latter is known  
for trying to persuade the DfT to allow special larger 
vehicle types to operate on UK roads to reduce carbon  
and improve vehicle productivity. 

We are currently delivering our Route Action Plan  
(RAP) initiative, which identifies potential options for 
schemes on the A15/16/17 routes to be taken forward 
for any future funding bids, and to provide the robust 
evidence base necessary to enable bids to be submitted 
when the opportunities arise. Given the importance 
of these routes to freight (and therefore the county 
economy) it is important to ensure that this is  
reflected any submissions. 

Rail freight 

Due to capacity issues on the ECML, many rail freight 
services use the Great Northern / Great Eastern  
(GNGE) Joint line between Doncaster and Peterborough. 
This requires the trains to travel through Lincoln and 
Gainsborough. There has been an upgrade to structures 
and track to provide W9 and W10 gauge cleared paths 
for chilled and high cube containers and accommodate 
the predicted increase in annual gross tonnage, although 
chilled containers generally need clearance to W12.

The upgrade scheme has allowed the GNGE Joint Line  
to become the primary route for daytime North-South 
freight traffic. 

The current Werrington Grade Separation Scheme,  
due for completion by the end of 2021 will improve 
capacity on the ECML by removing conflicts for freight 
and passenger traffic joining and leaving the ECML. New 
intermodal rail freight terminals have opened recently  
near the East Midlands Airport and i-Port Doncaster  
and these bring well served container terminals  
within easier reach of some Lincolnshire businesses.  
A further terminal at Hinckley is expected to enter the 
Development Consent Order Process in 2021. A new  
rail flow of calcium carbonate from Omya in Aberdeen  
to Spalding commenced in 2020, which is destined for 
Palm Paper Limited in Kings Lynn. 

Other than Grantham, railway stations across Lincolnshire 
require the use of local trains and passengers must 
change at stations such as Newark, Doncaster or 
Peterborough, all of which are East Coast Main Line 
stations beyond Lincolnshire. All other rail routes in the 
county rely on diesel traction as there are no overhead 
wires except on the ECML. These local trains limit the 
potential and capacity for rail freight. 

Recent significant investment by Network Rail has led  
to the substantial increase of up to fifteen additional  
rail freight services a day passing through Spalding, 
leading to more ‘downtime’ at level crossings and  
the disruption of the road network.3

The Port of Boston has two rail terminals which handle 
approximately 200-230 tonnes per day, primarily steel 
coils which are destined for the automotive sector.  
The rail network requires use of a swing bridge and  
sidings at Sleaford to turn around. These movements  
are currently handled by DB Schenker. 

Air freight 

Our only airport is Humberside Airport, near Brigg but 
this is almost entirely passenger orientated. Doncaster 
Sheffield Airport near Doncaster is on the site of the old 
RAF Finningley base and has one of the longest runways 
in the country and within easy travelling distance of much 
of Lincolnshire. There is an industrial park and cargo 
area there. The East Midlands Airport is the main airport 
servicing air freight for the East Midlands and is within  
a relatively short travelling distance of the county.  

P
age 328



4 5

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 F
re

ig
ht

 S
tr

at
eg

y

Water freight 

There are two ports in Lincolnshire, the Port of Boston  
and Sutton Bridge. Both are located in the South of the 
county and accessed from The Wash by The Haven and 
River Nene respectively. Whilst these are not major  
ports they nevertheless perform an important role in 
providing access to markets and reducing road miles.

Businesses in Boston and across South Lincolnshire 
exploring if there are post-Brexit trade opportunities  
to make the Port of Boston one of Britain's major 
food ports. As the UK continues to import a significant 
proportion of the fresh produce it consumes, the 
area could take a bigger share of the food trade  
market amid concerns about capacity and congestion  
at other UK ports. 

The Port of Boston can currently handle vessels  
up to 5,000 tonnes but typically handles between  
3,000-4,000 tonnes. It accommodates 8-9 vessels  
per week and over 400 per year and has recently  
invested £5 million in new cranage. There are also  
plans to widen the lock by 5 metres to allow larger  
ships to enter the port. 

The ports of Immingham, Grimsby and Hull are all  
located to the North of the county, and whilst not  
within the LTP area, are of national significance  
and a key generator of road and rail freight through 
Lincolnshire, as well as supporting the Lincolnshire 
economy. This port has remained the biggest for  
several years mainly due to it having two oil refineries 
nearby and two big bulk terminals for coal and iron ore. 
The port also has RORO (Roll-On, Roll-Off) and LOLO  
(Load On, Load Off) unitised movements. Ports on the 
Humber have recently been granted freeport status,  
which may have the impact of increasing activity at  
the ports.

The biggest rivers in Lincolnshire which are 
navigable in part, are the Trent, running northwards 
from Staffordshire up the western edge of the county 
to the Humber estuary, and the Witham, which begins 
in Lincolnshire at South Witham and runs for 132 km 
(82 miles) through the middle of the county, eventually 
feeding into the The Wash at the North Sea. From  
Brayford Pool, Lincoln the Fossdyke Navigation links  
the Witham to the Trent and both rivers are navigable  
by barge. Also, coasters serve river ports on the  
northern parts of the Trent and to the Port of Boston. 

Challenges and opportunities 

Through the compilation of an evidence base  
and stakeholder input, the following challenges  
and opportunities for freight have been identified.

Challenges

Our highway network was reported to cause operators 
issues, affecting journey times and journey time reliability. 
There were conflicts with other road users such at tractors 
and a number of pinch points where delays to road freight 
occurs. North-South links were described as ‘poor’ by 
stakeholders and these routes are particularly important 
for accessing ports in the South as well as Humber ports.

Cross Keys Bridge, which carries the A17 over the River 
Nene is an historic swing bridge, which allows ships  
to access port facilities at Wisbech in Cambridgeshire.  
Whilst ships have right of way, when the bridge is in a 
position to allow vessels through it can cause significant 
tailbacks and delays in the surrounding area. The age  
of the bridge also means that there is a potential issue 
with failure and also a risk of a bridge strike by vessels 
traveling to or from Wisbech.

With poor connections causing issues for freight 
operators, there is a trend for depots to be located  
closer to major ports. This risks jobs leaving the area  
for locations such as Kent. Due to the limited number  
of suitable alternative routes, closures have a big impact 
on freight vehicles as diversionary routes can represent  
a large increase in journey times. 

A key issue for residents of Lincolnshire is the impact that 
freight vehicle movements have on the amenity of their 
area, with large and heavy goods vehicles causing noise 
and vibrations to settlements along key freight corridors. 
This issue can become particularly pronounced during 
harvest time. Operators reported that they were subject  
to complaints from villages on key freight routes. 

We have the highest number of casualties associated  
with incidents with freight vehicles in the Midlands,  
despite a much lower level of freight activity than  
several other areas in the region.

0 50 100 150

Lincolnshire

Leicestershire excl. Leicester

Northamptonshire

Warwickshire

Staffordshire excl. Stoke on Trent

Nottinghamshire excl Nottingham

Derby excl Derby

Worcestershire

Birmingham

Shropshire excl. Telford & Wrekin

Herefordshire

Walsall

Sandwell

Coventry

Derby

Solihull

Nottingham

Dudley

Stoke on Trent

Leicester

Wolverhampton

Rutland

Telford & Wrekin

Reported Midlands Freight Vehicle Road Casualties By Local Authority 2015-20194

P
age 329



6 7

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 F
re

ig
ht

 S
tr

at
eg

y

THE WASH

LINCOLN
LINCOLNSHIRE

WOLDS COAST

NORTH OF LINCOLN

SOUTH COUNTRYSIDE

HEART OF
LINCOLNSHIRE

NORTH COUNTRYSIDE

BOSTON

As discussed, the Port of Boston is a strategic  
asset for the county. However, it does not  
currently handle containers and feedback from  
fresh produce importers suggested that the size  
of vessels it can currently accommodate is insufficient  
for the sector’s needs. The more regular service at  
ports such as Dover make them more attractive  
due to the reduced implications of missing a  
scheduled sailing. 

The Port of Boston rail freight connection is  
constrained by the need for trains to enter  
sidings and then reverse back to the Port. 

There was uncertainty over the role that alternative  
fuels will play in relation to freight sector vehicles. 
Operators were unclear as to which technology  
they should invest in and were concerned about  
the implications of refuelling vehicles. 

This will be important when working towards the 
decarbonisation agenda, ensuring freight plays its  
role in a zero-carbon future. This will require a shift  
from conventional fuels to alternatives such  
as hydrogen and electrically powered vehicles. 

The recent announcement by Ofgem under the  
RIIO-ED1 Green Recovery Scheme didn’t specifically 
name any Lincolnshire schemes for network upgrades 
to support electric vehicles. Lincolnshire falls under 
three different DNO’s. Through their Green Recovery 
submissions, the DNOs proposed to undertake strategic 
network investment to support 40 MSAs and 2 trunk  
road locations across England and Wales, with additional  
sites across key motorway and transit hubs in Scotland. 
With Lincolnshire not having any motorways or trunk 
roads (bar the small section of A1 and the A46 SW  
of Lincoln) no upgrades were proposed.

Opportunities 

The road network could be enhanced to ensure freight 
movements can be facilitated and pinch-points and 
bottlenecks addressed. This would help create a key 
freight network that ensures goods can be efficiently 
transferred around the county. 

Our region is responsible for growing 30% of the nation's 
vegetables and producing 18% of the poultry, with a total 
agricultural output of over £2 billion in 2019, representing  
12% of England’s total production.5

Non-EU trade is growing faster than EU trade, but  
often accessed via EU ports, mainly Rotterdam, with  
global connectivity and links to the Netherlands' global 
food trading hub and industry suggests Rotterdam is  
a potential key to future UK food imports and exports. 

This would use Boston to Rotterdam feeder vessels 
(150-200 containers) to serve UK and Northern European 
markets. There are around 40,000-plus jobs in the food 
produce and the logistics sector in Boston and Spalding 
and this initiative could help safeguard many of these  
jobs. The South Lincolnshire Food Enterprise Zone (FEZ),  
in Holbeach, is a new, strategic development projected 
to deliver 60,000 sqm of workspace for Agrifood sector 
production, logistics and research activities and would 
benefit from better connections to key markets.  
In addition, the South Lincolnshire Logistics Hub  
at Clay Lake, Spalding, has planning consent for  
a 31.5 ha business park, close to South Lincolnshire  
FEZ, for uses including food logistics and distribution. 

Rail freight is currently restricted to movements  
of steel from the Port of Boston and use of the  
GNGE by through movements. With the necessary  
infrastructure and support, this could be increased. 

The Port of Boston is only 220 miles from Rotterdam 
(Europe’s largest food port) by sea and the Spalding 
logistics cluster is then only 14 miles from Boston port.  
If instead a truck is driven via Dover-Calais the associated 
road miles increase to 380 (not counting the Channel 
transit). A route which bypasses the need for long road 
journeys is more sustainable, with the potential to service 
the link from the port to the Spalding food logistics  
and processing cluster by rail or EV trucks. 

Freeport status for the Humber ports could have the 
potential of increasing logistics activity in the county and 
supporting its growth. Use of the county’s two ports, Port 
of Boston and Sutton Bridge could also be increased and 
reduce road miles in Lincolnshire associated with freight. 

The Levelling up Fund (LUF) provides opportunities for 
the Lincolnshire ‘Food Valley’ to decarbonise. The main 
determinant of low-carbon food chains (and it is expected 
that major multiples will insist that their suppliers will be 
carbon neutral by 2030) is transport. Improving journey 
reliability, modal shift especially to rail freight, and vehicle 
efficiency will all have an impact on reducing carbon. 
Schemes associated with the fund can also have an  
impact on journey time reliability, further improving  
the efficiency of freight.

Midlands Connect is developing a ‘long-list’ of  
potential Regional Transport hubs, which look  
to facilitate low-emission transport movements,  
including freight. Two sites have been identified  
in Lincolnshire for further consideration.

University of Lincoln applies Industry 4.0 expertise – 
including AI, Big Data analytics, Robotics & Automation  
and Internet of Things – to key business challenges 
including more sustainable, intelligent transport and 
logistics, supply chain digitalisation, and more energy 
efficient refrigeration. More than 90 industry-linked 
innovation projects have been supported since 2016. 
There is an opportunity to develop and build  
on this work,

Potential sites for Regional Freight Transport Hubs

P
age 330



8 9

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 F
re

ig
ht

 S
tr

at
eg

y

Challenge Opportunity

Road movements contribute to poor  
air quality and carbon emissions.

Modal shift can reduce emissions associated  
with freight movements.

Freight operators are not sure in which  
alternative fuels to invest.

Providing a good coverage of charging and refuelling 
points will provide confidence and encourage takeup. 

Freight movements impinging on the amenity  
of settlements on key freight routes.

The Ports of Boston and Sutton Bridge can help reduce 
freight vehicle mileage. 

Incident data shows that there is a high number  
of collisions involving freight vehicles.

Deliver a safer highway network through hard  
and soft measures.

Congestion affects journey time reliability which adds 
costs and affects the effectiveness of the supply chain. 

Addressing pinch points on the network will reduce 
delays and journey times.

Capacity on the network limits scope for rail freight and 
a lack of terminals in the county means there is limited 
scope for transferring between modes.

Network capacity enhancements and new terminals to 
serve key sectors will support the growth of rail freight  
in Lincolnshire.

Brexit has so far had an impact on the international 
supply chain, affecting the vital food production sector  
in Lincolnshire. 

Support the existing linkages between universities  
and the sector.

The freight sector is an important sector of employment 
in its own right and Freeport status for the Humber ports 
could have the potential of increasing logistics activity  
in the county and supporting its growth.

Ports of Boston and Sutton Bridge do not currently 
handle containers, limiting their value to the food 
production sector and other sectors of the economy.

Investment in ports and water freight could increase  
the volume of water freight in the county.

RAP initiative offers opportunity to improve key  
freight routes.

LUF provides opportunities for the sector to decarbonise. 

Strategy overview and approach

As previously highlighted, this Freight Strategy has  
been developed to support the overarching objectives  
of the Lincolnshire LTP 5. 

The Strategy has been developed using an evidence-based 
approach, drawing on a range of data and informed by 
stakeholder input along with national and local policy.

The figure presents the approach that has been 
undertaken to developing the strategy vision,  
objectives, themes and policies. 

The strategy vision presented in the Introduction  
will be realised through four objectives:

The Lincolnshire freight strategy will:

• Ensure that freight is better able to support national, 
regional and local carbon and air quality targets. 

• Ensure that freight is able to continue to contribute  
to Lincolnshire’s economic growth by supporting  
key sectors and as an employer in its own right. 

• Encourage modal shift to non-road freight where 
possible, contributing to better road safety, lower 
congestion, positive environmental impacts and  
less wear and tear on infrastructure.

• Ensure that the negative impacts of freight  
movements are mitigated where possible.

The objectives will be achieved through the 
implementation of a range of policies. 

These policies have been arranged into six themes:

• Resilience;

• Modal shift;

• Innovation;

• Collaboration ;

• Safety; and,

• Development.

The strategy policies sit within one of the themes  
and contribute to one or more of the four objectives.

The vision, objectives, themes and policies have been 
informed by the extensive evidence base, stakeholder 
engagement and policy review.

P
age 331



10 11

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 F
re

ig
ht

 S
tr

at
eg

y

The station has benefited from £10 million investment 
so far from a combination of public and private funding, 
including £1.5 million from Greater Birmingham and 
Solihull Local Enterprise Partnership. The facility will 
support the City in its commitment to reduce the levels  
of air pollution across the Birmingham. In April 2021,  
TEP will be refuelling 20 hydrogen double decker  
busses purchased by Birmingham City Council. 

The TEP refuelling station is part of the Birmingham 
Transport Plan, supporting the introduction and supply  
of cleaner fuels to improve air quality across the City.

Generally, supporting regional and national efforts to 
encourage innovation in the sector, such as autonomous 
vehicles, platooning and drones is also important and will 
encourage the sector to be more efficient and sustainable. 

Collaboration

Collaboration can help reduce inefficiencies and promote 
the sharing of knowledge and best practice. Collaboration 
between freight operators can help reduce empty running 
by combining loads into one consignment. 

Lincoln is likely to be the only population centre  
large enough to support a consolidation centre, where 
goods are brought to a location on the outskirts of an 
urban area and a dedicated vehicle(s) or cycle logistics 
transports consignments the ‘last mile’. However,  
smaller rural mobility/microhubs may be feasible  
in certain locations. 

This has the impact of reducing the number of freight 
vehicles in town and city centres. Consideration should  
be given to exploring the feasibility of this intervention. 

To ensure there are sufficient skills to support the  
sector, links between training and education providers  
and employers should be strengthened to enable  
the sector respond to the demands of the industries  
it supports and grow the counties economy. 

Consolidation Centres: Bristol

Consolidation Centres offer the opportunity to reduce 
freight vehicle movements in a particular area. This 
works by arranging for consignments destined for a 
retail centre of a town or city to be brought to a location 
on the outskirts of an area close to the strategic/major 
road network. This is usually an industrial unit or similar 
building. A dedicated vehicle(s) then shuttles between  
the consolidation centre and the area it serves, combining 
several consignments into one, reducing road miles 
and bringing environmental and road safety benefits 
(particularly if the vehicle is zero-emission). 

Bristol Freight Consolidation Centre was initially set  
up as a pilot scheme in 2004 with European funding  
to help alleviate issues associated with freight in 
Broadmead, Bristol. It was then known as Broadmead 
Freight Consolidation Scheme and was the first project  
of its kind in the UK. Bristol was one of a handful of 
European cities to have a consolidation centre and was 
seen as an example of best practice throughout Europe. 
Following on from the successful pilot, the operation  
grew and the service extended to retailers in other  
parts of the central Bristol area.

Bristol City Council continued to subsidise the  
operation through various funding streams until  
2017, when a variation to the contract was agreed  
by both parties. Once the contract with Bristol City  
Council came to its natural end in 2018, DHL continued  
to offer a freight consolidation service serving both  
Bristol and Bath from the Avonmouth/Severnside  
area on a commercial basis.

At its peak, a 70% to 80% reduction in the  
number of onward trips was seen by the  
freight consolidation scheme.6

Policies

Resilience

Congestion and journey time reliability were reported  
as key issues by those in the freight sector, affecting 
domestic and international movements of freight. 

In order to ensure that the road network is able to 
facilitate freight movements effectively, it is important  
to address locations which acerbate congestion  
and affect journey time reliability. 

In addition, locations where freight activity is  
impinging on the amenity of those who live and  
work in a particular location should also be addressed. 

This includes routes to key freight facilities such as  
those to major ports and the East Midlands Airport.  
Whilst East-West movements are important, a significant 
amount of freight is exported and imported through 
southern ports and Felixstowe.

Strengthening cross border links for transport 
infrastructure improvements such as those corridors  
to key demand / supply clusters and international 
gateways (ports, airports and rail terminals through 
Midlands Connect with its adjacent Sub National  
Transport Bodies) will boost the county’s economy  
and key sectors such as food production. 

Modal shift

Modal shift has the potential to reduce road freight 
movements, alleviating congestion and wear and tear  
on infrastructure, reducing emissions and improving  
road safety. Therefore, it is important that modal shift  
is encouraged where possible. 

Introducing infrastructure such as a rail terminal  
would encourage modal shift and help meet  
climate and air quality objectives as well as reduce 
congestion and dependency on road transport  
as would other measures to improve capacity.

Rail freight terminals

Rail freight terminals are essential to facilitating modal 
shift. With very few rail freight journeys being end-to-end  
it is important that terminals are located close to market 
so that the final leg (or ‘last mile’) is as short as possible. 

The Midlands is a key location for rail fright, with rail 
terminals such as Daventry Intermodal Rail Freight 
Terminal (DIRFT) BIRFT in Birmingham and Hams Hall 
Rail Freight Terminal playing an important role in the 
facilitation of the movement of goods by rail. 

These terminals help reduce the number of road  
freight movements on the strategic road network,  
with environmental, road safety benefits and less  
damage to infrastructure. 

Supporting efforts to enhance the number and size  
of ships that the Port of Boston can accommodate  
and widen the types of commodities it is able to handle, 
such as container will further strengthen the case  
for modal shift. 

Exploring the potential for wharves on the Trent  
to facilitate water freight in the region, such as  
at Gainsborough could encourage water freight

This could be delivered through the planning system  
by safeguarding locations for transfer of goods  
to and from vessels. 

Innovation

It is important that LCC supports regional and national 
efforts to provide a comprehensive network for charging 
and refuelling sites to enable the sector to transition to 
cleaner fuels. This could represent the proposed energy 
and transport hubs being explored by Midlands Connect.

Alternative fuels: Tyseley Energy Park (TEP)

TEP is the UK’s first multi-fuel, open access, low- and 
zero-carbon fuel refuelling station. Offering Hydrogen, 
Compressed Natural Gas, Biodiesel and Electrical Vehicle 
charging options. The unmanned facility is available 24/7 
for refuelling with integrated pay at the pump options  
that accept credit, debit and fuel card payments.

P
age 332



12 13

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 F
re

ig
ht

 S
tr

at
eg

y

Policy

Resilience

• Ensure the highway network supports the freight sector by providing journey time 
reliability and resilience. 

• Strengthen cross border links for transport infrastructure improvements such as 
those corridors serving key demand and supply clusters and international gateways.

• Ensure highway schemes look to address issues caused by freight movements.

• Ensure benefits to freight are properly reflected in RAP submissions.

Mode Shift

• Encourage modal shift for freight from road to more sustainable modes such  
as rail and water freight by supporting new and improved infrastructure to  
address capacity issues.

• Ensure applications to the LUF reflect the requirement for the freight sector  
to decarbonise whilst supporting key sectors.

Safety • Investigate factors influencing incidents involving freight vehicles in the county  
and deliver a safer network for all road users.

Collaboration
• Encourage initiatives which support collaboration in the freight sector,  

enhancing efficiencies and reducing negative impacts.

Innovation 

• Support regional and national efforts to encourage innovation in the sector,  
such as autonomous vehicles, platooning and drones.

• Work with the sector to maintain develop strong links between it and training  
and education providers. 

• Support initiatives to encourage uptake of alternatives fuels, such as charging 
infrastructure. 

Development
• Work with planners to promote developments that encourage sustainable  

freight and promote the development of Delivery and Servicing Plans and 
Construction Logistics Plans.

Safety

DfT data suggests we are experiencing a higher  
number of incidents involving freight vehicles  
than other authority areas. 

Therefore, potential causes of these incidents  
should be investigated, and remedial actions  
identified, which may include soft measures  
or highway infrastructure improvements. 

Development

When new developments are being proposed it is 
important to ensure that the associated construction  
and operation of these buildings does not impinge  
on the immediate area and the wider county. 

Therefore, developments need to be planned  
in such a way as to minimise the frequency of  
delivery and servicing activity and ensure that  
freight movements are appropriate and safe  
in the context of surrounding land use types.

Initiatives such as Construction and Logistics Plans  
and Delivery and Servicing Plans can help to manage 
freight movements at both construction and  
operational stages of development.

Delivery and Servicing Plans (DSPs)

A DSP is a tool for a development to reduce the  
impacts of delivery and servicing activity at a site.  
An effective DSP should incorporate a range of  
measures including those targeted at procurement, 
delivery booking systems, consolidation, re-timing, 
marketing and management measures.

By encouraging the development of DSPs, for new  
or existing buildings/developments the freight related 
impacts can be mitigated. Many local authorities and 
transport authorities have supported developers  
and organisations in creating effective DSPs.

P
age 333



14 15

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 F
re

ig
ht

 S
tr

at
eg

y

Delivery 

The delivery of the LTP 5 and its sub-strategies, such  
as this Freight Strategy, are primarily our responsibility.

Some of the policies included are solely our responsibility 
and will be delivered collaboratively by different teams  
in the Council.

However, to make this strategy happen and fully realise 
the Vision we have for freight, we will need to work with 
partner organisations in the delivery of many policies.  
We will seek to draw on partners’ experience, knowledge 
and authority in the delivery of policies and the 
achievement of our objectives. 

The following table summarises the delivery partners  
that have been identified as key to support each of  
the policies in the Freight Strategy.

Monitoring and measuring success

To ensure that this strategy is effective we will monitor 
performance and review the strategy on a regular basis. 
To monitor and measure success of this strategy we will:

• Review and report on our performance every year;

• Develop our thinking and approach based on 
performance, changing technology and other 
opportunities for innovation;

• Be open to challenge from partners and stakeholders;

• Actively monitor published data sources; and

• Identify appropriate technology and data sources  
to collect our own data across Lincolnshire.

The following monitoring framework presents how we  
will monitor the strategy against each of the objectives. 

Some of the sources are published data that we  
will access, and others will be generated specifically  
to support the monitoring of this Strategy.

We will seek out additional data sources that may  
be identified through the course of this strategy  
and be open to technological and methodological  
innovations to support our monitoring approach.

Freight implementation plan

Policy Working with

Ensure the highway network supports the freight sector  
by providing journey time reliability and resilience. • Highways England

Strengthen cross border links for transport infrastructure  
improvements such as those corridors serving key demand  
andsupply clusters and international gateways.

• Neighbouring 
authorities

• Highways England

Encourage modal shift for freight from road to more sustainable  
modes such as rail and water freight by supporting new and  
improved infrastructure to address capacity issues.

• Highways England

Work with district planning authorities to maximise  
funding opportunities related to new developments,  
such as Section 106 funding.

• Network Rail
• Great British Railways
• Canal and River Trust
• Port of Boston
• CRO Ports

Investigate factors influencing incidents involving freight vehicles  
in the county and deliver a safer network for all road users. • Highways England

Encourage initiatives which support collaboration in the freight  
sector, enhancing efficiencies and reducing negative impacts. • Wider freight sector

Support regional and national efforts to encourage innovation  
in the sector, such as autonomous vehicles, platooning and drones.

• Midlands Connect
• DfT

Work with the sector to develop strong links between it and  
training and education providers.

• Local education 
authority

• Road Haulage 
Association

• Logistics UK

Support initiatives to encourage uptake of alternatives fuels,  
such as charging infrastructure.

• Midlands Connect
• DfT

Work with planners to promote developments that encourage sustainable  
freight and promote the development of Delivery and Servicing Plans  
and Construction Logistics Plans.

• District authorities

Objective Indicator Source

Ensure that freight is better able  
to support national, regional and 
local carbon and air quality targets. 

Air quality monitoring • Defra

Ensure that freight is able  
to continue to contribute to 
Lincolnshire’s economic growth  
by supporting key sectors and  
as an employer in its own right.

Economic growth • Office for National Statistics

Employment figures • Office for National Statistics

Encourage modal shift  
to non-road freight where  
possible, contributing to  
better road safety, lower  
congestion, positive  
environmental impacts  
and less wear and tear  
on infrastructure.

Water freight tonnage • Port of Boston

Rail Freight tonnage movements • Network Rail
• Freight operating companies 

Continuing survey of road  
goods transport • DfT 

Ensure that the negative  
impacts of freight movements  
are mitigated where possible.

STATS19 – Incident data • DfT

Air quality monitoring • Defra

Congestion data • Highways England
• LCC

P
age 334



16 17

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 F
re

ig
ht

 S
tr

at
eg

y

References
1. Lincolnshire Physical Activity Taskforce (2019), Let’s Move Lincolnshire: 

A Blueprint for Creating a More Active Lincolnshire activelincolnshire.
com//wp-content/uploads/2019/05/FINAL-TO-PRINT.pdf

2. DfT Vehicle Statics

3.  Southeast Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-36:  
www.southeastlincslocalplan.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/Local-
Plan-text-March-201

4. DfT STATS19 Data

5. Lincolnshire LEP www.greaterlincolnshirelep.co.uk/priorities-and-plans/
sectors/agri-food-sector Accessed 28/5/21

6. Case Study: Freight Consolidation in Bristol, Travelwest

Glossary
CRP Community Rail Partnership. A group of local people,  

mostly volunteers, who promote and undertake small  
scale works at local stations of lines.

DfT Department for Transport – the Government body  
who buy most train services and fund Network Rail.

ECML East Coast Mainline, line accommodating fast services 
between the north and London passing through  
Doncaster and terminating at London Kings Cross.

EMR East Midlands Railways – local and regional services  
across the East Midlands and Long-distance high s 
peed services to London along the Midland Mainline.

GBR Great British Railway – the proposed future organisation  
to run England Railway, taking over from Network Rail,  
DfT and TOC’s. See Rail White Paper.

LCC Lincolnshire County Council.

LNER London North Eastern Railway. Operate Long-distance  
high-speed services to London along the East Coast Mainline.

LTP 5  The Lincolnshire County Council’s 5th Local Transport  
Plans (lasting 5 years to 2028/29).

MML Midland Mainline, line accommodating fast services between 
Yorkshire and London, starting at Sheffield  
and Nottingham/Lincoln and travelling to London  
St. Pancras via Leicester.

Northern Northern Trains – local and regional train company operating 
services across the north of England.

ORR Office of Rail Regulation who oversee Network  
Rail’s performance and report back to DfT.

RTB’s Regional Transport Bodies, including Transport for  
East Midlands/East Midlands Councils (TfEM/EMC), Midlands 
Connect, Transport for the North (TftN).

TOC Train Operating Company.

TPD Trains per day.

TPX Transpennine Express – inter-regional train company 
operating services across the north of England and  
into Scotland.

XC Cross Country – a train operator serving long-distance  
routes excluding London.

COVID-19 Coronavirus pandemic of 2019/20.

LTB Local Transport Boards.

RAP Route Action Plan.

HIAMP Highways Infrastructure Asset Management Plan.

SEA Strategic Environmental Assessment.

SA Sustainability Appraisal .

GVA Gross Value Added.

TfL Transport for London.

LENNON Latest Earnings Networked Nationally Overnight.

ATC Automatic Traffic Count.

EV Electric Vehicle.

DECC Department of Energy and Climate Change.

SUEs Sustainable Urban Extensions.

UKCRF UK Community Renewal Fund.

UKSPF UK Shared Prosperity Fund.

LUF Levelling Up Fund.

LATS Local Area Transport Strategies.

LCWIP Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan.

ROWIP Rights of Way Improvement Plan.

PRoW Public Rights of Way.

CPO Chargepoint Operator.

EVCP Electric Vehicle Charhepoint.

BAME Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic groups.

NTS National Travel Survey.

CBSSG COVID-19 Bus Services Support Grant.

JSNA The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment.

DLUHC  The Department for Levelling Up, Housing  
and Communities.

SIDP 21  Strategic Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2021.

P
age 335

https://activelincolnshire.com//wp-content/uploads/2019/05/FINAL-TO-PRINT.pdf
https://activelincolnshire.com//wp-content/uploads/2019/05/FINAL-TO-PRINT.pdf
http://www.southeastlincslocalplan.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/Local-Plan-text-March-2019.pdf
http://www.southeastlincslocalplan.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/Local-Plan-text-March-2019.pdf
https://www.greaterlincolnshirelep.co.uk/priorities-and-plans/sectors/agri-food-sector
https://www.greaterlincolnshirelep.co.uk/priorities-and-plans/sectors/agri-food-sector


18 19

Li
nc

ol
ns

hi
re

 F
re

ig
ht

 S
tr

at
eg

y

P
age 336



Lancaster House 
Lincolnshire County Council 
County Offices, Newland 
Lincoln, LN1 1YL

Page 337



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 25 November 2021
	4 Minutes of the meeting held on 16 December 2021
	8 Service Revenue and Capital Budget Proposals 2022/23
	9 Council Budget 2022/23
	9.1 Council Budget 2022-23 - Appendix 1 Executive report
	9.2 Council Budget 2022-23 - Appendix 1 Executive report Appendix A
	9.3 Council Budget 2022-23 - Appendix 1 Executive report Appendix B
	9.4 Council Budget 2022-23 - Appendix 1 Executive report Appendix C

	10 Performance of the Corporate Support Services Contract
	11 Scrutiny Committee Work Programmes
	12 Overview and Scrutiny Management Board Work Programme
	13 Local Transport Plan
	13.1 Information Only - Local Transport Plan 5 - Executive Report
	13.2 Information Only - Local Transport Plan 5 - Executive Report Appendix A
	13.3 Information Only - Local Transport Plan 5 - Executive Report Appendix B
	Front cover
	Contents
	Rising to Today's Challenges and Opportunities
	Building on Recent Achievements
	Supporting Our Priority Industry Sectors
	Supporting Economic Growth
	Future-ready Green Transport
	Promoting Thriving Environments
	Ensuring Safety and Health
	Promoting High Aspirations
	Improving Quality of Life
	Delivering Transport Investments
	Supporting Different Transport Modes
	Get Involved with The Consultation
	Contact Us
	Back cover

	13.4 Information Only - Local Transport Plan 5 - Executive Report Appendix C
	13.5 Information Only - Local Transport Plan 5 - Executive Report Appendix D
	13.6 Information Only - Local Transport Plan 5 - Executive Report Appendix E
	13.7 Information Only - Local Transport Plan 5 - Executive Report Appendix F
	13.8 Information Only - Local Transport Plan 5 - Executive Report Appendix G
	13.9 Information Only - Local Transport Plan 5 - Executive Report Appendix H
	13.10 Information Only - Local Transport Plan 5 - Executive Report Appendix I
	13.11 Information Only - Local Transport Plan 5 - Executive Report Appendix J


